
PEARL HARBOR





PEARL
HARBOR

The Story of the Secret War

GEORGE MORGENSTERN

1947 - Toe Devin -Adair Company - New York



C.. :
; .'

COPYRIGHT 1947 by George Morgenstern. All rights reserved. No part of
this book may be reproduced in any form without permission in writing
from the publisher, except by a reviewer ulho may quote brief passages or
reproduce not more than three illustrations in a review to be printed in a
magazine or newspaper. Manufactured in the United States of America.

PUBLISHED JANUARY, 1947



But one of the weightiest objections to a plurality in the Executive, and
which lies as much against the last as the first plan, is that it tends to con­
ceal faults and destroy responsibility. Responsibility is of two kinds-to
censure and to punishment. The first is the most important of the two,
especially in an elective office. Man, in public trust, will much oftener. act
in such a manner as to make him obnoxious to legal punishment. But the
multipHcation of the Executive adds to the difficulty of detection in either
case. It often becomes impossible, amidst mutual accusations, to determine
on whom the blame or the punishment of a pernicious measure, or series
of pernicious measures, ought really to fall. It is shifted from one to another
with so much dexterity, and under such plausible appearances, that the
public opinion is left in suspense about the real author. The circumstances
which may have led to any national miscarriage of misfortune are some­
times so complicated that, where there are a number of actors who may
have had different degrees and kinds of agency, though we may clearly
see upon the whole that there has been mismanagement, yet it may be im­
practicable to pronounce to whose account the evil which may have been
incurred is truly chargeable.

iiI was overruled by my council. The council were so divided in their
opinions that it was impossible to obtain any better resolution on the
point." These and similar pretexts are constantly at home, whether true or
false. And who is there that will either take the trouble or incur the odium
of a strict scrutiny into the secret springs of the transaction? Should there
be found a citizen zealous enough to undertake the unpromising task, if
there happen to be collusion between the parties concerned, how easy it is
to clothe the circumstances with so much ambiguity, as to render it uncer­
tain what was the precise conduct of any of those parties?

THE FEDERALIST (No. 70)-Alexander Hamilton.





FOREWORD

THIS BOOK is intended to give the facts and examine the meaning of
Pearl Harbor. The facts have come to the American public in dis·
jointed form, from many sources, and with many interpretations, over
a period of four and one-half years.

Pearl Harbor is already a chapter in history. Historians of World
War II cannot escape its implications. At this date, so soon after the
end of a victorious war, there has been a reluctance to appraise these
implications. The mores of a victorious nation dictate that the whole
of the war guilt be attached to the defeated adversary. Pearl Harbor,
as a study of war origins, is thus a national embarrassment.

For the United States World War II-"the most unpopular war
in history," to use the apt descriptive phrase of Lieut. Gen. Hugh A.
Drum1-officially began December 7, 1941, with the Japanese attack
upon Pearl Harbor. The assault which brought America into the
war was the greatest naval disaster in American history. It was origi­
nally investigated solely as a failure of the commanders of the fleet
and garrison at Hawaii. As more and more facts came to light, it
became clear that any balanced study of the events of December 7
could not be thus restricted.

Pearl Harbor was the terminal result of a complex of events mov­
ing in many parallel courses. National ambition and international
intrigue, diplomacy, espionage, politics, personalities, and the personal
responses of men to crisis-all of these were of equal or greater impor­
tance than purely military considerations. Finally, Pearl Harbor re­
duced itself to a study of the reasons for which the United States was
taken to war, the methods by which it was taken to war, and the
motives of those who determined that course.

Of some dozen investigations and studies of Pearl Harbor, most
were plainly partisan, undertaken either in defense of President Roose-
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VIII FOREWORD

velt and his administration or of certain members of the civil govern­
ment or of the Army and Navy high command.

An inquiry by Army intelligence for Mr. Roosevelt was so secret
that its existence is known only by hearsay.2 A second investigation
was authorized but never occurred. Col. Charles W. Bundy and
Lieut. Col. George W. Ricker of the War Department general staff,
who were commissioned to undertake the project, were killed while
flying to Hawaii when their plane crashed December 12, 1941, in the
Sierra Nevadas near Bishop, California.

Other investigations and studies were conducted by the late Sec­
retary of the Navy Frank Knox, by a Presidential Commission headed
by former Associate Justice Owen J. Roberts of the United States
Supreme Court, by an Army Board of Inquiry,3 by a Naval Court of
Inquiry/ by Adm. Thomas C. Hart,5 by Adm. H. Kent Hewitt, by
Maj. Gen. Myron C. Cramer, Army judge advocate general, by Maj.
Henry C. Clausen, by Col. Carter Clarke, and by a Joint Congressional
Committee.

Throughout these investigations the administration was in a stra­
tegic position, because of its control of Congress and the executive
departments, its control of records, its influence on rank and status in
the services, !ts po~er to initiate investigations, to appoint the investi­
gators and counsel, to define the limits and control the course of the
investigations, and, during the war and the continuing period of
emergency, to exercise powers of censorship.

The administration has done its utmost to discourage examina­
tion of the acts and intentions of the men who were in the vanguard
of the march toward war. It has suppressed relevant documents and
permitted important papers to "disappear" or be destroyed. It has
even sought legislation which, on threat of penal confinement and
heavy fines, would have forbidden discussion of the vital intelligence
which came into its possession as a result of penetrating the Japanese
code.

There could be no guaranty of impartiality and disinterestedness
when men who were in the position of defendants were empowered
to investigate and to appraise their own conduct and that of their
close associates. This generalization is particularly applicable to a
political party which is in the process of canonizing a party leader
whose name has had a peculiar efficacy in maintaining that party in
power.

Mr. Roosevelt was at pains to protect his reputation and political
tenure by forestalling any thorough examination and report during
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hIS lifetime. When the Army Pearl Harbor Board submitted embar­
rassing findings six months before his death, his Secretary of War,
resorting to the pretext of "national security," used the censorship to
suppress the entire report for ten months. When, after both Germany
and Japan were defeated, the report was finally released, 52 pages of
it were still suppressed. They were made public two and one-half
months later, when the hearings of the Joint Congressional Committee
provided a convenient diversion to obscure their meaning.

The congressional committee, through the enterprise and resource­
fulness of the minority members, made valid contributions to history,
but the course of this investigation in itself provides discouraging evi­
dence of the forces which were at work. On September 6, 1945, a
concurrent resolution calling for an investigation of the Pearl Harbor
disaster was submitted by Alben W. Barkley, the Senate majority
leader. The purpose was described in section 2:

The committee shall make a full and complete investigation
of the facts relating to the events and circumstances leading up
to or following the attack made by Japanese armed forces upon
Pearl Harbor in the Territory of Hawaii on December 7, 1941,
and shall report to the Senate and the House of Representatives
not later than January 3, 1946, the results of its investigation,
together with such recommendations as it may deem advisable.6

The spirit and intentions supposed to animate the inquiry were
described by Senator Barkley in his address. He said that reports of
previous investigations "are confusing and conflicting, when compared
to one another, and to some extent contain contradictions and incon­
sistencies within themselves." He referred to the "widespread confu­
sion and suspicion" that prevailed "among the American people and
among the members of Congress."

Senator Barkley said that the congressional investigation should
fix responsibility "upon an individual, or a group of individuals, or
upon a system under which they operated or co-operated or failed to
do either," and that it should determine what corrective action might
tend to prevent a recurrence of the disaster.

The inquiry, Barkley said,

should be conducted without partisanship or favoritism toward
any responsible official, military, naval, or civilian, high or low,
living or dead.... Congress itself should make it own thorough,
impartial, and fearless inquiry into the facts and circumstances
and conditions prevailing prior to and at the time of the Pearl
Harbor attack, no matter how far back it may be necessary to
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go in order to appraise the situation which existed prior to and
at the time of the attack.7

The resolution as so interpreted passed the Senate unanimously and
was concurred in by the House on September 11. The administration
then candidly confessed the partisan nature of the project by allotting
six of the ten places on the committee to members of its own party
and installing the Senate majority leader as chairman.* The majority
established committee rules retaining control in its own hands and
foreclosing important areas of inquiry. The effect of executive orders
promulgated by President Truman was to deny minority committee­
men the right to search government files.

Under these favorable auspices, witnesses with a direct concern in
the proceedings were permitted to absent themselves, while those
with a similar interest who appeared were emboldened to cover up
what they could. In a courtroom many would have been adjudged
reluctant if not hostile. The record of the hearings is filled with shabby
and transparent evasions, special pleading, changes in sworn testi­
mony, and unbelievable lapses of memory.8 In significant respects it
fails to satisfy the general standards of credibility. A minority of wit­
nesses displayed not only candor but courage, .but there were few who
did not have some particular ax to grind, who were not trying to
justify their actions or protect someone, or who had not been thor­
oughly coached in advance.

Any show of independence in searching out the facts during the
investigation provoked vituperative outbursts from New Deal spokes­
men and the pushbutton press. There was an evident fear that some­
one might pursue the facts to their logical conclusion. A campaign
was instituted to intimidate the minority with the argument that if
they gave an exact description of the methods and motives of Presi­
dent Roosevelt and his administration in following the road to war,
they could properly be pilloried as defenders of Hitler and Tojo. The
investigators were exposed to the threat that by imputing censure to
the nation's wartime leadership, they would be depicted as blaming
the United States for starting the war.

This defense was mercilessly exploited by the Roosevelt-Truman
administration. It was reduced to the lowest common denominator
by Senator James A. Tunnell of Delaware, who implied that any in-

·Democratic members of the committee were: Senator Barkley, chairman; Repre­
sentative Jere Cooper, vice-chairman; Senator Walter F. George, Senator Scott W.
Lucas, Representative J. Bayard Clark, and Representative John W. Murphy. Republican
members were: Senator Homer Ferguson, Senator Owen Brewster, Representative Frank
B. Keefe, and Representative Bertrand W. Gearhart.
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vestigation of Pearl Harbor must necessarily be partisan and an apol­
ogy for Japan.

"In their desperation," said Mr. Tunnell, "Mr. Roosevelt's oppo­
nents have in effect put on Japanese kimonos and said, 'Honorable
Roosevelt and Honorable Hull teased us into attacking.' "9

No one with the courage and capacity to confront facts need be
deterred by such abuse.

The committee reports,10 submitted July 20, 1946, constituted three
separate statements of opinion. The majority report was signed by all
six Democrats and was adhered to without express qualification by
Representative Gearhart. The minority report was submitted by
Senators Ferguson and Brewster. Representative Keefe, although
signing with th~ majority, filed a supplementary statement which, in
essential respects, placed him with the minority.11

The record of diplomacy which so vitally influenced the Pearl
Harbor tragedy is admittedly incomplete. It is, however, far more
complete than it would be if there had been no investigation.12 Some
day, when the passions of partisan apologists have cooled, when the
archives are opened and candid statesmen (if such there be) have pro­
vided a more adequate account of motives and events, more may be
known of the hidden history of our times. Enough of the truth is
known now so that judgments may be formed and conclusions offered.

With all of the elements at hand, the reader has the ingredients
of a mystery story. There are victims-3,000 of them in the Pearl
Harbor attack. There are a variety of clues. There are a multitude
of false leads. There are numerous possible motives. Innumerable
obstructions are put in the way of the discovery of truth. Many of
the characters betray guilty knowledge.

Only the writer of detective fiction, with full control over his plot
and his characters, can hope to achieve a complete examination of
motive and solve every subsidiary puzzle in the major mystery. The

. Pearl Harbor record ends with no signed confessions.

August 23, 1946
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Chapter One

WAR

AT 7:58 A.M. on Sunday, December 7,1941, a radio warning was broad­
cast to all ships in Pearl Harbor. "Air raid, Pearl Harbor!" the radio
screeched. "This is no drill! This is no drill!" Three minutes before,
Japanese warplanes had come in over the great naval base at Oahu,
launching their first torpedoes and dropping their first bombs.

Almost at once a second warning was broadcast by the commander­
in-chief of the Pacific fleet: "From Cincpac to all ships Hawaii area:
Air raid on Pearl Harbor. This is no drill." The Navy radio station
at Mare Island Navy Yard, San Francisco, intercepted this message.
The country soon knew that it was at war.

For a year and a half a debate had raged the length and breadth
of America over going to war or staying out. It was bitterly fought
in Congress, in the newspapers, over the radio, in public forums, in
private homes, by propagandists, by politicians, and by the plain peo­
ple-and all the words, if people had but known it, were futile. Long
before December 7 the United States was in fact at war. That deci­
sion had come at the policy-making level of the government and of
the Army and Navy high command, and it had been put into execu­
tion without anybody asking a vote from Congress or bothering to
let the people in on the secret.

For more than two years there had been war in Europe, and for
more than four years war in the Orient, but, so far as the people knew,
the United States was not a party to either war. In Europe, Germany
and Italy, with their satellites, were at war with Russia, Britain, and
the nations of the British commonwealth, supported by a group of
paper allies, the governments in exile of Poland, Norway, Belgium,
Yugoslavia, Greece, Ethiopia, Holland, and the De Gaullists of France.
In the Far East Japan and China had been fighting since July 7, 1937,
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4 PEARL HARBOR

but neither chose to call it a war. To the Japanese it was "the China
Incident." The Chinese didn't have a name for it until two days after
the attack on Pearl Harbor, when they finally declared war.

The debate over American intervention was emotional and none
too well informed. The totalitarian governments of Germany and Italy,
with their scurvy and cutthroat leadership, had nothing to commend
them, while the brutal efficiency of the German army terrified the
timid. The saber-rattlers of Tokyo were no more ingratiating. The
Japanese military, in the course of a long harassment of the inoffensive
mass of the Chinese people, had earned the condemnation of civilized
men, and, in such outbreaks of mass insanity and violence as accom­
panied the fall of Nanking, had aroused horror and revulsion.

On the other hand, the forces in opposition were hardly able to pin
the sanctions of high-minded morality or abstract justice to their ban­
ners. Even the Chinese, who had suffered long and had a legitimate
claim upon the sympathy of the outside world, were afflicted with a
corrupt, devious, and scheming central administration under the dom­
ination of a leader whose methods had frequently been discreditable,
exercising his will ineffectively through the one-party Kuomintang
government. China was disorganized, shot through with internal dis­
sension, and more an anarchy than an organized state.

The faults of Britain and France were of another order. The
French and British Munichmen had been guilty of the betrayal of
national self-interest-the cardinal sin in the conduct of statesmen­
and were now appealing to America to bail them out. They had sac­
rificed whatever hope there might have been in collective security by
their selfish and cynical policy, accepting the extinction in turn of
Austria, Ethiopia, Czechoslovakia, Albania, and the legal Spanish gov­
ernment, and calling these sell-outs "appeasement" and "pe~ce for our
time."l The judgment of Winston Churchill after Munich was pro­
phetic: "France and Britain had to choose between war and dishonor.
They chose dishonor. They will have war."

The Nazi and Fascist slave states were abhorrent to decent people,
but it was not easy to forget that the British Empire rested upon the
exploitation of hundreds of millions of natives, sweating out their lives
in the steaming mines of the Rand at 7 cents a day or in the jungles
6f New Guinea at less than 5!12 cents a day, or subsisting, as 400
million of them did in India, with famine always half a step from
the threshold.

Shocking as were Hitler's concentration camps, his calculated cam­
paign against the Jews, and his dictum that the conquered were "sub-
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human," fit only for slavery or the charnel house, the barbaric gov­
ernment by terror, purge, and enslavement conducted by Stalin over
his fellow-Russians was no more exemplary. The two tyrants had
had no scruples in striking a bargain on August 23, 1939, when the
ten-year "nonaggression" pact signed by them turned the German
army loose eight days later upon Poland and western Europe, and
permitted Stalin to roll up eastern Poland. Moral distinctions were
difficult to perceive between this pair.

For its part, Britain, in guaranteeing to defend the corrupt Polish
government of colonels and feudal gentry, had committed itself to a
decision which was on a par with all of the other stupidities achieved
in London. At any time up to the dismemberment of Czechoslovakia
on October 1, 1938, the British and French, if they had been so minded,
could have stopped Hitler.2 When they finally chose Poland as the
issue over which to fight a war, they assumed a task which was mili­
tarily impossible. They had waited too long and Hitler had grown
too strong. Moreover, their commitment was neither complete nor
candid.

Britain's guaranty to Poland was first announced in the House of
Commons March 31, 1939, by Prime Minister Neville Chamberlain.
The Prime Minister stated that consultations were in progress between
the two governments, but in the meantime, before their conclusion,
"I now have to inform the House that during that period, in the event
of action which clearly threatens Polish independence, and which the
Polish government accordingly considered it vital to resist with their
national forces, his Majesty's government would feel themselves bound
at once to lend the Polish government all support in their power."
Chamberlain added that the French government had adopted a paral­
lel policy.

On April 6 a communique released by Chamberlain stated that
"the two countries were prepared to enter into an agreement of a per­
manent and reciprocal character to replace the present temporary and
unilateral assurance given by his Majesty's government to the Polish
government."

"Like the temporary assurance," the communique stated, "the per­
manent agreement would not be directed against any other country
but would be designed to assure Great Britain and Poland of mutual
assistance in the event of any threat, direct or indirect, to the inde­
pendence of either."

On August 25, six days before Germany invaded Poland, the ten­
tative Anglo-Polish arrangement was converted into a formal agree-
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ment of mutual assistance, pledging each party to give the other "all
the support and assistance in its power" in the event of either "becom­
ing engaged in hostilities with a European power in consequence of
aggression by the latter against that contracting party." Eight articles
of the treaty were made public. The first seemed to be an unequivocal
pledge to fight any aggression. Such was not the fact.

Despite Chamberlain's statement in Parliament and the clear com­
mitment in the published articles that Britain would come to Poland's
defense in the event of aggression by any European power, it would
later be discovered that strings were attached to the British guaranty,
and that Britain had escaped from any commitment to defend Poland
against aggression by Russia or to rectify any grabs Russia might
subsequently make. It was finally disclosed on April 5, 1945, that the
first article of a secret protocol to the Anglo-Polish treaty of mutual
assistance provided, "By the expression 'a European power' employed
in the agreement is to be understood Germany."3 This escape clause
paved the way for the Yalta and Potsdam deals handing over eastern
Poland to Russia, thereby permitting Stalin the fruits of aggression
under his deal with Hitler in August, 1939.

As the capstone to this edifice of bad faith, Hitler and Stalin,
through the uneasy twenty-two-month existence of their "nonaggres­
sion" treaty, dickered for a full military alliance and a four-way part­
nership dividing up three continents among themselves, the Italians,
and the Japanese. All that prevented the consummation of this deal
was the cupidity of the tyrants in Berlin and Moscow, whose greed
and distrust confirmed the validity of the definition that an alliance
is "the union of two thieves ,vho have their hands so deeply inserted
in each other's pockets that they cannot separately plunder a third."4

The memoirs of Prince Konoye, who committed suicide on De­
cember 16, 1945, provide evidence that Russia late in 1940 agreed "in
principle" to broaden the tripartite alliance of September 27, 1940,
among Germany, Italy, and Japan into a four-power entente. Konoye
said that Iran and India were to be Russia's "future sphere of influ­
ence" under a secret agreement accompanying the proposed entente.
Japan was to receive the South Seas area, Germany would have taken
central Africa, and Italy northern Africa.

Konoye stated that Von Ribbentrop, Nazi foreign minister, ad­
vanced the plan for a four-power agreement, providing:

Firstly, the Soviet Union will declare that it agrees with the
principle of the tripartite pact in the sense of preventing war and
swiftly recovering peace.
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Secondly, the Soviet will recognize the leading position of
Germany, Italy, and Japan, respectively, in the new order in
Europe and Asia, and the three nations wilJpledge respect of
Soviet territory.

Thirdly, the three nations and the Soviet Union pledge not
to assist any nation being the enemy of the other, nor to join
such a group of nations.

The Japanese government promptly approved the plan, which was
handed to Foreign Commissar Molotov of Russia during his Berlin
visit in November, 1940. Then Tokyo heard nothing further until
March, 1941, when the Japanese foreign minister, Yosuke Matsuoka,
visited Berlin. Matsuoka was told that Molotov had agreed in princi­
ple, but proposed "exchange conditions of over 30 articles which Ger­
many could in no way recognize." By then, Matsuoka told Konoye
German officials were openly talking about the inevitability of a Nazi­
Soviet war.l5

Additional light on this cynical deal was supplied through captured
German documents, now in the possession of the American govern­
ment, tracing Molotov's conversations with Ribbentrop. These docu­
ments disclosed that Russia's appetite for more and yet more of the
earth's surface was all that prevented the formation of a Berlin-Mos­
cow-Tokyo-Rome plunderbund.8

These intrigues are sufficient to demonstrate that there was not a
major power involved in the mess in Europe or Asia that could come
to the United States with clean hands, or represent itself as either a
democracy or an exemplar of justice. The knowledge of all of this
chicanery was, of course, withheld from the American people until
after the war, and the debate on the question of intervention versus
nonintervention was thus not illuminated by any perceptible degree
of understanding or truth.

The American people, who thought that the issue of whether it
was to be peace or whether it had to be war was still subject to demo­
cratic debate, did not know in the closing months of 1941 that the
decision had long since passed them by. They did not know that
already a state of war existed by executive action. Not for four years
would they hear the admission from President Roosevelt's chief of
naval operations that by October, 1941, the American Navy was "in
effect, at war" in the Atlantic,7 and that this shooting war against
Germany and Italy constituted a direct invitation to Japan to attack
the United States under the tripartite pact.8

On December 7, 1941, the policy-makers and war-makers in Wash-
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ington were confidently awaiting the hour when their undeclared war
would be regularized by the logic of events. On that same December
7, the people were still hoping that the peace which had already been
lost could be preserved.

The previous day Pope Pius had said that the world needed faith
more than great statesmen. In one American city there was a Christ­
mas expression of such faith: a great "star of peace" emblazoned in
lights 132 feet wide and 150 feet high on the side of a skyscraper office
building. Even Lord Halifax, the British ambassador, had a kind word
for peace as he busied himself talking up war. Lasting peace, he said,
was foreshadowed "explicitly and implicitly" in the Atlantic Charter;9
but he implied that to catch up with the shadow Americans would
first have to fight; otherwise the professed objectives of the charter
could not be realized.

The war,. so far, had made little impact upon civilian life in Amer­
ica. The national debt, after eight and one-half years of the New
Deal, stood at 55 billion dollars. There were fifteen shopping days
until Christmas and the display advertisements told of peace-time
abundance. No one yet had imposed rationing, although some of the
more vocal proponents of war in and out of the administration were
impatient that consumer's goods were still available, when, so these
gentlemen thought, the nation's entire production should be devoted
to rearmament and lend-lease for Britain and Russia. Secretary of
Commerce Wallace was later to pay his peculiar tribute to American
industry and management, which outproduced all other belligerents
combined, friends and foes alike, by saying that plant managers were
"sheer Fascists" and that it had been necessary "to take industry by
the scruff of the neck" to get it into war.

If war crept into the advertisements, it was only in the form of
fifty-piece soldier sets offered as a Christmas gift for the children:
twenty-four soldiers, one cannon, twelve shells, a popgun, and twelve
corks-all for $1.

There was another kind of advertisement. The United States Army
Recruiting Service was calling for volunteers. The appeal said:

Throughout the regular Army, there are thrilling jobs to be
mastered-jobs that provide splendid technical training, com­
bined with adventure, useful service to your country, and the
opportunity to provide for a successful future career. More than
a third of all enlisted men volunteer because of the recommen­
dations of their friends in the Army. Most of them re-enlist
after their first three years.
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The actual war still seemed far away to those who read the
morning newspapers of December 7, telling of a million and a half
German troops, eight thousand tanks, and one thousand guns massed
before Moscow. Hitler was talking as if the fall of the Soviet capital
was a matter of a few days, if not of hours, and no one-least of all
the Japanese whom he had been at pains to impress-knew that his
armies had already been beaten by the terrible Russian winter and
were even then preparing to retreat.

What hints there were that America would soon be committed to
the slaughter were oblique. The people knew that relations with Japan
had been deteriorating, but knew nothing of the course of the seem­
ingly interminable diplomatic negotiations in Washington between
Secretary of State Cordell Hull and the Japanese emissaries, Adm.
Kichisaburo Nomura and Saburo Kurusu. Washington encouraged
the notion that as long as the negotiations continued, there was still
a substantial hope of achieving' a settlement and keeping the peace.
Not a word was let drop that the negotiations had come to an end
and that war was inevitable, though the leaders of our government
were fully aware of these facts.

True, Mr. Hull's pronouncements were not encouraging, and Pres­
ident Roosevelt's latest contribution-a personal appeal cabled Decem­
ber 6 directly to Emperor Hirohito-seemed, even for Mr. Roosevelt,
a little frantic and somewhat excessively flamboyant. On Saturday
Mr. Hull had acknowledged that relations with Japan were grave. He
had called the President's attention to the presence of an estimated
125,000 Japanese troops in French Indo-China, which Japan had effec­
tively taken over after the fall of France, and manifested disquiet be­
cause 18,000 of them were loaded aboard troopships in Camranh Bay.
That suggested that they were going somewhere, and the only places
to which they could go were the property of nations other than Japan.

Mr. Roosevelt, in an ill-advised moment in April, 1939, had ad­
dressed a personal message to Hitler asking him to pledge respect
for the territorial integrity of thirty of Germany's neighbors in Europe
and the Near East,lO only to be rewarded with a sarcastic response.
Hitler pointed out that although there were interlopers in many lands,
they were not Germans, and that although many peoples were op­
pressed, their complaints were directed, not against Germany, but
against nations which were prone to parade their virtue, among them
the United States.11

Despite the dubious success of this venture in personal diplomacy,
Roosevelt in his message to Hirohito followed virtually the same for-



10 PEARL HARBOR

mula, and laid himself open to much the same retort he had received
from Hitler. Hirohito's advisers, however, did not see fit to present
Roosevelt's message to the Emperor until twenty minutes before the
first bombs dropped at Pearl Harbor.12 If Hirohito thought anything
of Roosevelt's message, which in itself is doubtful, he probably re­
flected that the President didn't have much understanding of proto­
col, for not even presidents communicate with gods.

The State Department on the morning of December 7 did not dis­
close the nature of the note that Roosevelt had dispatched, but later
it would become known that the message had appealed for Hirohito's
aid in "dispelling the dark clouds" of a possible Japanese invasion of
Malaya, Thailand, the Dutch East Indies, and the Philippines. The
Japanese might have conceded Roosevelt's right to discuss the Philip­
pines, which were under the protection of the American flag, but
when the President also projected himself as the defender of British
and Dutch imperialism, he merely confirmed the Japs in a belief they
had entertained all along: that the United States would go to war to
preserve the white empires. Inasmuch as the time would never be
more propitious than the present, the new government of Gen. Hideki
Tojo had determined, in the general's own phrase, to answer Roose­
velt "by quick action, not words."1B

Mr. Roosevelt knew this quite as well as Gen. Tojo and the other
sword-rattlers in Tokyo. His appeal to Hirohito so late in the day
was dispatched with an eye toward the justification of history, al­
though originally the President had had another purpose in mind. A
few weeks earlier Roosevelt might easily have succeeded in avoiding
embroilment in a war with Japan, but by December both Tojo and he
were equally intent that there should be no turning back.

By the final month of 1941 the western proprietors of colonial em­
pires in East Asia and the Southwest Pacific were in no position to
safeguard their title. Japan had found how easy the pickings were
when, after the fall of France, Japanese forces had seized the defense­
less French holding of Indo-China. Holland, occupied by Germany,
was impotent to defend the Netherlands East Indies, while the Brit­
ish had been driven off the European continent and were on the de­
fensive in their home island and engaged in an inconclusive see-saw
war in North Africa. Britain could exact no great price from any
invader which went after its colonies in Southeast Asia and the Pa­
cific.

This, so it must have seemed to the Japanese militarists, was the
opportunity of a lifetime. More than avarice prompted a program
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of conquest. The Japanese military machine was bogged down in
China in a war now well into its fifth year. With the military needing
vast amounts of war material in order to continue functioning, the
United States had cut off critical supplies by embargoing the export
to Japan of oil and steel.* It had then frozen Japanese credits,t
threatening Japan with economic strangulation. Hull, although even
his countrymen did not know it, had set a stiff price if Japan was to
restore itself to the good graces of the United States. He demanded
nothing less than that Japan evacuate Indo-China, get out of China,
repudiate its alliance with Germany and Italy, and accept equality
and no more in the trade of the Far East.:I:

Such terms confronted Japan with a dilemma. All that had been
gained in four and one-half years of struggle in China would be lost
if Japan gave in. The Japanese war lords could look upon lands not
far removed which were possessed by the absentee white proprietor and
see all of the oil, rubber, tin, and other materials which were so highly
prized by a Japan which was denied them. The Japanese people,
bound in uncomplaining bondage to the military, could follow that
same glance and see rice and opportunity denied them in the home­
land.

In the last estimate, Japan was confronted with the option of strik­
ing out for a rich new empire or abandoning its conquests and resign­
ing itself to the future of a third-rate nation. It made the natural if
mistaken choice. Adm. Nomura and other intelligent Japanese knew
that the choice meant the ruin of Japan; yet, there certainly seemed
a chance of success in December, 1941, and a chance, which, very
likely, would never again be so favorable. Nomura's estimate proved
correct. Japan now is not a third-rate nation. It is, by the description
of a perspicacious general of B-29's, a fortieth-rate nation-a Bulgaria
or less.

The Japanese had hoped that the tripartite pact would serve to
warn the United States off the "Greater East Asia Co-Prosperity
Sphere" which Japan had staked out for itself. This alliance pledged
Germany and Italy to respect Japan's position of leadership in the
"new order" in East Asia, while Japan respected the ascendancy of
Rome and Berlin in Europe. More important, it specified that if any
of the partners was attacked by a nation not then involved in their
respective wars, the other two should render all possible military, eco­
nomic, and political assistance. Inasmuch as Russia had been specifi-
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cally excepted when the pact was executed, and the United States was
the only remaining powerful nation in the world, the alliance ob­
viously was intended to caution this country against interfering either
in Europe or the Pacific.

The purpose had failed, but at the time of the Pearl Harbor attack
the tripartite pact still offered considerable insurance to Japan, espe­
cially in view of Roosevelt's preoccupation with the task of defeating
Hitler and saving the British. The Japanese military government
knew that if it had to fight the United States, it would fight with the
support of a still powerful Germany, which could be expected to en­
gage a substantial proportion of the American Army, Navy, and Air
Force in a theater far distant from the Pacific.

Furthermore, the Japanese militarists determined that, if they must
fight America, they should seize every possible initial advantage, espe­
cially that of surprise. They had a precedent for their strategy. In
1904 Japan had broken off relations with Russia on February 5, but
war was not declared until February 10. Not even waiting for the
declaration, Adm. Togo sent his torpedo boats into Port Arthur the
night of February 8-9 and caught the Russian fleet by surprise in
harbor.

The Russians had played into Japan's hands by splitting their fleet,
and then splitting it again. Russia had a powerful fleet in the Baltic,
in addition to its Far Eastern fleet. If the two could unite, they would
decidedly outnumber the Japanese fleet, but the union was never per­
mitted to take place. Russia had further divided its Far Eastern fleet."
Four of its first-class cruisers were at Vladivostok, a fifth at Chemulpo,
and the remaining four at Port Arthur, so that the Russian Port Arthur
fleet under Vice-Adtrt. Starck was in no way equal to the fleet under
Togo', which promptly put Port Arthur under blockade.

In 1941 the Jap high command could not but notice a striking par­
allel to this situation when it contemplated the American fleet dis­
positions. Roosevelt and the high command not only had split the
fleet between the Pacific and the Atlantic, but had split the Pacific
fleet further into an Asiatic fleet based upon Cavite, in the Philippines,
and the main fleet body based upon Pearl Harbor. In the week preced­
ing the December 7 attack, the Pearl Harbor fleet was split again when
the only two carriers in Hawaii, with six heavy cruisers and fourteen
destroyers, were sent to ferry a few Marine Corps planes and crews to
Wake and Midway Islands, a mission which could easily have been
performed by freighters.

In addition, a third task force, consisting of one heavy cruiser and



WAR

five destroyer minesweepers, was off Johnston Island, 700 miles south­
west of Oahu, while one heavy cruiser and four destroyer mine­
sweepers were 2S miles south of Oahu. Meanwhile, the battleship
strength of the Pacific fleet was bottled up in Pearl Harbor. All that
had changed in the thirty-seven years since the Port Arthur incident
was that the airplane had replaced the torpedo boat as the instrument
of attack.

In the event of war, it was a foregone conclusion that the Japanese
would seek out the American adversary for surprise attack at whatever
place American fleet strength was concentrated.14 Pearl Harbor was
the only possible objective because that was where the fleet was. The
Japanese objective was simple. By attacking the fleet wherever it was
to be found, Japan would destroy the ships of greatest range and fire
power and thus prevent interference with its advance in Asia and the
Western Pacific.

With the exception of the British battleship "Prince of Wales" and
the battle cruiser "Repulse," which arrived at Singapore only a week
before Japanese planes were to seek them out and sink them as they
steamed without air cover in the East China Sea, the only element
that could possibly interfere with Japan's program of conquest was
the American fleet. Once it was immobilized, the Jap fleet and army
could move at will on their mission of capturing American possessions
and imperial colonies.

These strategic considerations alone were sufficient to have demon­
strated to Roosevelt and the high command that war against the United
States would be inaugurated by a Japanese surprise attack at Pearl
Harbor and no place else. For years afterward the story was carefully
cultivated that the Japanese attack was a treacherous surprise, launched
when there was no remotest reason for expecting it, and therefore a
great shock to the leaders of government. The excuse has been made
that Japan's success in attaining surprise was the result of striking at
a time when the administration was engaged in peaceful negotiation
and war was remote from its thoughts. And even if the administration
had known that war was coming, the apologists say, it could not have
known at what time or what place.

Nothing was then known of the interception by American intel­
ligence of Jap secret messages which, decoded, pointed unmistakably
to attack at Pearl Harbor December 7. Four years later it would be­
come known that the Jap secret code had been cracked many months
before Pearl Harbor, and that the men in Washington who read the
code intercepts had almost as good a knowledge of Japanese plans
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and intentions as if they had been occupying seats in the war councils
of Tokyo.-

But in the last month of 1941 the American people knew nothing
of this. If war was close-indeed, was here-the people were ignorant
of it. They had not read the intercepts, tracing the gradual deteriora­
tion of relations with Japan. They did not know of warnings sent
out by Tokyo to its diplomatic corps that after November 29 "things
were automatically going to happen,"t of statements that by the begin­
ning of December negotiations in Washington would be "de facto
ruptured,":I: of instructions to destroy code machines and burn ciphers
in the Japanese embassy in Washington,§ of Japanese confidences to
Hitler at the end of November that a Japanese war with the United
States might come "quicker than anyone dreams."11 They had never
heard then of "east wind rain."~ They knew nothing of last-minute
instructions to the Japanese emissaries to hand in their reply to Hull
at 1:00 P.M., Washington time, on December 7."·

Roosevelt, the inner circle of the war cabinet, and the Army and
Navy high command knew all of this and more, but the stage had
been set that December Sunday to convey the impression that no one
was more surprised than the President himself. That day Roosevelt
and Harry Hopkins, with whom he shared state secrets, were in the
oval study on the second floor of the White House. The scene has
been described by Forrest Davis and Ernest K. Lindley.l~ Their ac­
count runs:

Mr. Roosevelt had dedicated this day to rest. Today, tieless
and in shirtsleeves, he hoped to catch up with his neglected
stamp collection. The President might have been anyone of a
million Americans putting in a loafing Sunday with a crony
and a hobby. Mr. Roosevelt expected war-but not this week­
end.

That was the scene. That is the frame of mind which it was de­
sired that the American people would remember. The President him­
self vouched for the fact that this was his attitude and these his
thoughts.

All of the telephone lines through to Roosevelt had been shut off.
A "do not disturb" order had been placed with the switchboard. "Mr.
Roosevelt was topping his dinner with an apple," his personal chroni-
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clers report, "when his desk telephone jangled disobediently." It was
Secretary of the Navy Knox who had insisted on disturbing his tran­
quillity.

In his annual report, published that morning, Knox had been reas­
suring. He said:

I am proud to report that the American people may feel
.fully confident in their Navy. In my opinion, the loyalty, mor­
ale, and technical ability of the personnel are without superior.
On any comparable basis, the American Navy is second to none.

The international situation is such that we must arm as rap­
idly as possible to meet our naval· defense requirements-simul­
taneously in both oceans-against any possible combinations con­
certing action against us. Our aim always must be to have
forces sufficient to enable us to have complete freedom of action
in either ocean while retaining forces in the other ocean for
effective defense of our vital security.16

At Oahu the Japs were revising Secretary Knox's report, and now
the crestfallen secretary was obliged to call Roosevelt and make some
emendations.

"Mr. President," Knox began, "it looks like the Japanese have
attacked Pearl Harbor.... "

"No!" Roosevelt is supposed to have cried.17 The reaction would
suggest that he was surprised.



Chapter Two

MOUNT NIITAKA

THE NIGHT of December 5, 1941, the Japanese naval radio sent the code
message, "Climb Mount Niitaka." That message meant war.1 To the
1st Japanese air fleet, 800 miles north of Oahu in the Hawaiian Islands,
it meant that there was no turning back. To Vice-Adm. Chuichi
Nagumo, the fleet commander, it conveyed the order to attack Pearl
Harbor with his carrier planes at dawn the second day following.
Adm. Nagumo put on full steam, and all that night, all the next day,
and all the second night his powerful task force forged southward
at forced draft.

At 6:00 A.M. December 7, the Japanese striking force, then 200
miles north of Oahu, began launching its planes from six carriers­
the "Kaga," "Akagi," "Hiryu," "Soryu," "Shokaku," and "Zuikaku."
The planes, 351 in all,2 took off in three waves. All had cleared the
flight decks by 7:15. They rendezvoused to the south and then flew
in for co-ordinated attacks on Pearl Harbor and the Hawaiian air fields.

The 1st air fleet had left Hitokappu Bay, Etorofu Island, in the
southernmost part of the Kuriles, at 9:00 A.M., November 26, Japan
time-l :30 P.M., November 25, Hawaii time. The striking force, com­
manded by Adm. Nagumo, consisted of twenty-seven warships: the
six carriers, two battleships, the "Hiei" and "Kirishima"; two heavy
cruisers, the "Tone" and "Chikuma"; one light cruiser, the "Abu­
kuma," and sixteen destroyers. Eleven vessels were in the supply
train.

The Japanese 6th fleet, under command of Vice-Adm. Mitsumi
Shimizu, formed an advance expeditionary force. His fleet consisted
of two light cruisers, the "Isuzu" and "Yura"; one training light
cruiser, the "Katori," twenty submarines, five midget submarines of
45 tons, with a range of only 200 miles, and six vessels of the fleet train.

16
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The plan of attack had originally been proposed early in January,
1941, by Adm. Isoroku Yamamoto, commander-in-chief of the com­
bined imperial fleets. Rear Adm. Takijiro Onishi, chief of staff of
the 11th air fleet, had been ordered by Y·amamoto at that time to study
the requirements of such an operation. It is not to be supposed from
these facts that Japan even then was committed to war with the United
States. The United States, as is now known, had also prepared war
plans which were to be executed upon the decision to go to war, and
at one stage, by the statement of former Secretary of War Stimson,
even meditated a "sneak attack" such as the Japanese carried out at
Pearl Harbor.·

The basic Japanese plan for an attack upon Pearl Harbor had been
evolving ever since 1931. Its theoretical possibilities had been explored
by all graduates of the Japanese naval academy, who, each year were
asked on the final examination: "How would you carry out a surprise
attack on Pearl Harbor?"3 Ironically, however, it was the United
States Naval Planning Board which helped the Japs perfect the plan.

In 1932 an American battle force assembled in the Pacific to test
Pearl Harbor's defenses. One section of it was to attack, while the
other, with coast artillery, a division of troops, one hundred planes,
and a number of submarines, was to defend the naval base. The
attacking force, commanded by Adm. Harry E. Yarnell, an air-minded
officer who had made many flights with his squadrons-unusual in
the Navy of that day-revolutionized naval strategy by leaving behind
all his battleships and cruisers and using only two aircraft carriers, the
"Lexington" and "Saratoga," and four destroyers. This was the first
appearance of a new naval grouping, afterward to be known as a task
force.

When twenty-four hours off Oahu the attacking force encountered
heavy weather. This, from Adm. Yarnell's viewpoint, was all to the
good, for the weather conditions made it less probable that the shore
defenders, on the lookout for a great invasion fleet, would spot so
small a flotilla.

By the evening of February 6, a Saturday, Adm. Yarnell's force
was in a position to reach Oahu by dawn. Yarnell surmised that if
he attacked early on Sunday morning the defenders would be less
alert than usual. Thirty minutes before dawn on February 7, when
the carriers had approached within 60 miles of Oahu after a forced
run all night, they launched 152 aircraft-bombers, fighters, dive
bombers, and torpedo planes.

·Cf. pp. 294-96.



18 PEARL HARBOR

Adm. Yarnell's planes, coming in from the northeast, exactly as
the Japs were to do nine years later, were undetected until they darted
out of the clouds into clear weather over Pearl Harbor. Simulated
machine gun fire theoretically destroyed all defending planes on the
ground. Not one got into the air during the attack. All of the hypo­
thetical vessels in the harbor were "sunk."

Japanese observers watched the maneuver and forwarded full
details to Tokyo. It was evident that Yarnell's maneuver had upset
all existing naval concepts. Some American officers who participated
later in the critiques when the lessons of the operation were evaluated
argued that the Navy should be reorganized so that the striking force
of the fleet should be built around its air arm, and the battleship and
other surface craft relegated to the subordinate mission of protecting
the air striking force and its carriers. As might be expected, the
battleship admirals opposed, and, inasmuch as they held the positions
of power in the naval hierarchy, they won. It was left for Japan to
adopt Yarnell's brilliant concept.4

In late August, 1941, Adm. Yamamoto ordered all fleet com­
manders and key staff members to Tokyo for war games, prelimi­
nary to a final formulation of plans for a Pacific campaign which
comprehended a surprise attack on Pearl Harbor in the event of war.
Between September 1 and 12, the outline of a basic plan of operations
was drafted at the naval war college in Tokyo.

As early as October 5 part of the attack plan was revealed to officer
pilots of the task force who had been called together aboard the
carrier "Akagi" in Shikishi Bay. About one hundred pilots who
were present were told of the design to strike the American fleet at
Pearl Harbor. Adm. Yamamoto informed them that "although Japan
never wanted to fight the United States, the Japanese were forced to
do so or they would be defeated regardless." American aid to China
and the American embargo on oil shipments to Japan, the admiral
said, were seriously affecting the progress of the imperial arms in
the China war.

Yamamoto predicted to the pilots that the United States fleet
would take two or three years to recover from the intended attack
and that meanwhile Japan would occupy Sumatra, Java, and other
territories from which critically needed materials could be extracted.
The admiral described the American fleet as Japan's "greatest enemy."

Premier Prince Konoye's cabinet failed, so it was announced, to
"agree on national policy," and, upon Konoye's resignation October
16, War Minister Tojo received the imperial command to form a new
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cabinet. The war party was now fully in control, and, although there
was still a prospect of settling American differences with Japan, Tajo
was taking no chances. On October 17, without even waiting to form
his cabinet, he issued orders for the first and second squadrons of the
6th fleet's submarines to put to sea. This force represented some
fourteen of the submarines which were to be a part of Adm. Shimizu's
advance expeditionary force in the Pearl Harbor operation. That
night they left Kure under cover of darkness and advanced to Kwaja­
lein, in the Marshall Islands, where they found the cruiser "Katori."
Fearing discovery, the flotillas dispersed temporarily to nearby Wotje
and Maloelap, in the Marshalls.

On November 4 combined fleet top secret operation order No. 1
was promulgated to all fleet and task force commanders. It provided
for subsequent designation of Y-day as the approximate date for the
attack on Pearl Harbor, and of X-day as the actual date for execu­
tion. Operation order No.2, issued by Yamamoto November 6, set
Y-day as Dec. 7, Hawaii time.

On November 13 Yamamoto ordered the Pearl Harbor attacking
force to assemble in Hitokappu Bay and remain there until November
22 taking on supplies. On November 21 Adm. Osami Nagano, chief
of the naval general staff, instructed Yamamoto that fleet units in
Hitokappu Bay might use force if they encountered any interference
from British, Dutch, or American forces, but later the same day he
amended the order in certain significant respects.

Nagano's revised order read:

If American-Japanese negotiations are successful, forces will
be ordered back immediately. Use of force mentioned above
will be limited to three cases: if American, Dutch, or British
surface forces appear in Japanese waters for reconnaissance, if
same forces approach Japanese sea waters and jeopardize our
forces, if aggressive action is taken by same forces outside
Japanese territorial waters.

This was still far from reflecting an assumption that war was bound
to ensue. It indicated that Japan was hopeful that some diplomatic
compromise would enable a showdown to be avoided. By then, how­
ever, the hands of the clock of diplomacy were approaching mid­
night.

On November 24 the order was issued by Yamamoto to the strik­
ing force to leave Hitokappu Bay the following day and proceed in
secret to Hawaiian waters. The order read:
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(A) The task force, keeping its movements strictly secret
and maintaining close guard against submarines and aircraft,
shall advance into Hawaiian waters and, upon the very open­
ing of hostilities, shall attack the main force of the United States
fleet in Hawaii and deal it a mortal blow. The first air raid is
planned for dawn of X-day (exact date to be given by later
order).

Upon completion of the air raid the task force, keeping close
co-ordination and guarding against enemy counter-attack, shall
speedily leave the enemy waters and then return to Japan.

(B) Should it appear certain that Japanese-American nego­
tiations will reach an amicable settlement prior to the com­
mencement of hostile action, all the forces of the combined
fleet are to be ordered to reassemble and return to their bases.

(C) The task force shall leave Hitokappu Bay on the morn­
of 26 November (Japan time; 25 November, Hawaii time) and
advance to 42 degrees N. and 170 degrees E. (standing-by posi­
tion) on the afternooij. of 4 December (Japan time; 3 December,
Hawaii time), and speedily complete refueling.

The task force stood out to sea on November 25 and cruised east­
ward at 13 knots, held down by the low speed of the supply vessels.
Lookouts were posted, but no searches or combat air patrols were
flown. It had been calculated that North Pacific weather would cause
difficulty in refueling at sea; so those ships whose capacity was small
were loaded with oil in drums for emergency use. The weather, how­
ever, proved calm, and fueling from the tankers was carried out as
planned.

The progress of the striking force was skil£ully covered by a
barrage of false warship call signs, padding of radio circuits, and
similar deceptive tactics to simulate the presence of the principal
carriers and carrier air groups in the Inland Sea. So successful was
this program that in his intelligence roundup for December 1 Vice­
Adm. Theodore S. Wilkinson, chief of naval intelligence, said of
Japanese fleet dispositions, "Major capital ship strength remains in
home waters, as well as the greatest portion of the carriers." This
estimate could not have been more misleading to the fleet and Army
commanders in Hawaii.

In order further to allay American suspicions, Premier Gen. Tojo
announced that the Asama Maru would be sent to repatriate Jap
residents in Malaya and British Borneo, and that the Tatsuta Maru
would touch at Mexico to bring Japanese nationals back from the
United States. The captain of the "Tatsuta Maru" had orders to take
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an eastward course in North Pacific waters, and, on reaching 180
degrees longitude, to turn southward. On the morning of the attack
at Oahu his ship was back off Chosi, Japan.

Meanwhile, Japanese spies in Hawaii were busy feeding back re­
ports to Tokyo on the movements and disposition of the American
fleet. Although American intelligence was intercepting Tokyo's in­
structions to the spies, together with the responses of these agents,
the intelligence chiefs of our Army and Navy later professed to see
nothing alarming in Japan's preoccupation with the berthing of the
Pacific fleet.·

Twice after its departure from Hitokappu Bay the Jap striking
force received code messages from Tokyo giving dispositions of the
fleet in Pearl Harbor. The second of these was received three days
before the attack. In addition, an officer aboard the "Akagi" was de­
tailed to listen to Honolulu broadcasts and decode them for last­
minute information on fleet movements in and out of Pearl Harbor.
A broadcast that "the German attache has lost one dog" would mean
that a carrier had left the harbor. If the attache wanted a cook or a
house boy, that would mean that a battleship or a cruiser had entered.

The war council in Tokyo had recognized December 7 as suitable
for attack. Tuesday, December 9, was also considered suitable for a
dawn attack, because it would then be the dark of the moon. It was
expected, however, that the Pacific fleet, in accordance with its custom
during maneuvers, would enter the harbor on Friday and leave on
Monday. Adm. Yarnell's plan, moreover, had demonstrated that con­
ditions on a Sunday were propitious for attack. Therefore, Sunday
was chosen. Another consideration favoring an attack on Sunday
around 8:00 A.M., was, in the view of Adm. Nagano, that "American
officers were inclined to sleep late on Sunday morning."5

On December 1 an imperial naval order fixed X-day, stating that
"hostile action against the United States shall be commenced on 7
December." This order thereby confirmed the date originally fixed
in the Y-day order of November 6. On December 2, however, Nagano
again inquired if the fleet could be recalled in the event of a belated
settlement being reached in the Washington negotiations. He was
assured by Yamamoto that it could.6 That same day Adm. Yama­
moto fixed "Tora" as the code word by which the attacking fleet
would signal a successful outcome.

Upon receipt of the order setting December 7 as X-day, all ships
in the Japanese striking force were darkened and condition 2 (second

·Cf. p. 262.



22 PEARL HARBOR

degree of readiness, gun crews stationed) was ordered. On December
4 the rendezvous point about 2,350 miles east of Tokyo and 1,460
miles northwest of Pearl Harbor was reached. The combat ships of
the fleet fueled to capacity from the tankers, which were dropped that
night.

The task force then turned southeast at increased speed. The
carriers "Hiryu" and Soryu," whose fuel capacity was small, had
been oiled daily while in company of the tankers and now had to be
fueled by bucket brigade from the oil drums taken on board. The
cruise from the beginning had been uneventful. The route lay be­
yond the patrol sweeps of any American land-based planes. The
Great Circle route through the vast and lonely North Pacific, between
Midway and the Aleutians, was far from the commercial ship lanes
and well out of waters which American patrol ships might be ex­
pected to prowl. No ships or planes had been sighted and no false
alarms had been sounded.

Although the progress of the task force was unexpectedly smooth,
the Japs were fearful of failure almost to the last. According to an
official United States Navy account, the striking force, if detected
before X minus 2 day, was to withdraw without executing the attack.
In the event of being discovered on X minus 1 day, the question of
whether to make an attack or to return would have been decided in
accordance with local conditions and at Adm. Nagumo's discretion.

If contact had been made at sea with the main body of the United
States fleet, the Jap operational plan called for a reserve group of
heavy naval units to sortie from the Inland Sea of Japan to' support
the carrier striking force in a decisive engagement. The Japanese as­
sumed that, with 180 or more combat vessels in the Pacific as against
102 warships in the United States Pacific fleet, their numerical supe­
riority would be sufficient to bring them victory.

While the pilot and officer personnel of Adm. Nagumo's fleet
knew the objective was Pearl Harbor, the crews of the six carriers
thought until the day before the assault that they were on a training
cruise. When the men noticed that the bows were heading east,
according to the account of Capt. Mitsue Fuchida, commander of the
flight groups aboard the carriers, they began to wonder and speculate.
On December 3 the fleet personnel learned that Japan might enter
the war and "the men became kind of excited," but they ."calmed
down when given the order to attack."1

On the night of December 5 the task force received the "Mount
Niitaka" code signal. The run-in toward Hawaii the night of De-
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cember 6-7 was made at top speed, 26 knots. At 5:00 A.M. two Zero
reconnaissance planes were launched to survey Pearl Harbor and
Lahaina anchorage. They reached their destination an hour before
the arrival of the attack planes from the Japanese carriers, reported
that the "fleet was in," and completed their mission without having
been detected.

On the night before the attack the twenty large submarines of
Adm. Shimizu's advance expeditionary force had reached the waters
in the vicinity of Pearl Harbor under orders not to attack until the
carrier planes had made their assault. The five midget submarines
were launched from specially fitted fleet submarines between 50 and
100 miles off Pearl Harbor as a "special attacking force." Their task
was to prevent the escape of the American fleet through the harbor
entrance during the air raid, but two actually entered Pearl Harbor
before the attack. One of these made an extensive reconnaissance and
probably reported back to the fleet by radio.

Planes were launched from the large submarines after the .attack
to survey the extent of the damage. The operation plan provided
that if the American fleet was virtually destroyed, one Japanese sub­
marine division or less would be placed between Hawaii and the
west coast of the United States to destroy sea traffic. In fact, at least
one submarine was dispatched to the Oregon coast about December 14.

Weather was taken into consideration. Most of the winter the
trade wind in Hawaii blows steadily from the northeast against the
2,800-foot Koolau Range, where it discharges its moisture. An air
force which escapes being picked up by detection apparatus can ap­
proach hidden in the towering wall of rain clouds and then emerge
suddenly into clear weather over Pearl Harbor before defending planes
can rise to intercept. Adm. Yarnell's attacking force in 1932 had taken
advantage of these conditions, and the Japs also counted on this cover.

The weather at Pearl Harbor on December 7 was officially logged
by the Navy as: "Averaging partly cloudy, with clouds mostly over
the mountains. Cloud base at 3,500 feet, visibility good. Wind north,
10 knots." These conditions favored a surprise attack. The planes
bearing the Rising Sun were screened by the cumulus banks over the
mountains until the aircraft were ready to split up and make pre-
determined approaches on their targets. ,

The Japanese had expected to lose 33 per cent of all participating
units. Specifically, they thought they would lose at least one "Akagi"
class carrier and one "Soryu" class carrier. They also expected to lose
all of the midget submarin.es, whose "personnel had been prepared
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for death," and were correct in this estimate.8 No attempt was made
preliminary to the attack to reckon probable losses in planes, but losses
were far less than even the most optimistic estimate could have sug­
gested. Only twenty-seven aircraft failed to return to the - carriers.

At no time was a landing in Hawaii contemplated. The Japanese
high command believed that a landing operation would involve in­
superable problems in logistics. Troop transports and cargo vessels
carrying the huge volume of supplies necessary to sustain an expedi­
tionary force ,,,auld have required a great corivoy, while the progress
of the striking force would have been held to the pace of the slowest
vessel. If speed were sacrificed, it was thought unlikely that surprise
could be achieved.

The Japanese thought it impossible to follow up the air raid with
a landing in less than a month. They apparently had underestimated
the damage they would inflict and did not know how ill prepared
Hawaii was to resist a landing in strength following closely upon an
attack. After the surrender of Japan, Capt. Ryonosuke Imamura,
secretary of the naval ministry, said, "We had expected a much
greater defense at so important a base. We were amazed. Our fleet
was told to bomb and leave. We had no troops with which to make
a landing. If we had, perhaps we could have taken Hawaii, but we
had no plan to do so."g

On the first anniversary of the attack, Secretary Knox asserted that
the Japanese could have returned and taken Hawaii. tO The statement
must be regarded with a certain skepticism, inasmuch as Knox ad­
vanced it in justification of the concealment of American losses for a
full year. Mai. Gen. Walter C. Short, commander of Army forces in
Hawaii in 1941, estimated five years afterward that Japan would have
required a force of 200,000 men to have taken Hawaii, and thought
that, even so, the operation could have been successfully brought off
only if the American fleet were not present to help defend the island.ii

The Pearl Harbor attack was executed by Japan for the purpose
of immobilizing the American fleet while the Japs expanded south­
ward, and his fleet, in the opinion of Adm. Nagano, achieved "far
greater success" on this mission than had been expected.12 Gen.
George C. Marshall, wartime chief of staff, later testified,

If the attack had been repulsed successfully, the Japanese
would have had to proceed more conservatively. Instead of
striking south (to Malaya and the Dutch Indies) without pro­
tecting their lines of communication from flank attacks, they
would not have dared to proceed as they did-a major part of
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the United States fleet would still have been in effective con­
dition.is

There were other and graver mistakes in Japanese strategy than
failure to attempt to seize Hawaii. One was in the selection of the
very targets at Pearl Harbor. The Japs went after our battleships.
In order to carry out that attack without hindrance, they also went
after the planes parked on the Hawaii airdromes. Planes are easily
replaced, especially types which are obsolete or obsolescent, as most of
those at Pearl Harbor were. The battleships which were knocked
out were so old as to be of slight value. The records show that dur­
ing the entire course of the Pacific war battleships fired at other
surface craft on only four occasions.14

After the war Rear Adm. Husband E. Kimmel, who was in com­
mand of the Pacific fleet on December 7, said that proper Japanese
strategy would have knocked the fleet out of action for a long time
even if there had been no ships in harbor that day to attack. He
said:

Even if they had not sunk a ship, the Japs might have crip­
pled the base and destroyed all the fleet's fuel supplies, which
were in the open. The result might have been worse than it
actually was, because this would have forced the .fleet to return
to the West Coast. As it was, our fuel was left intact at Hawaii
and the base could still be used.1G

He added that the Japs failed to immobilize the fleet because his
three carriers and most of his fast cruisers-the most valuable vessels
of his command-were not in harbor.16

Vice-Adm. W. W. Smith, chief of staff to Kimmel, said that the
attack upon the fleet was Japan's "greatest mistake." The laps, he
said, knocked out only battleships, which were of less value than the
two carriers which were at sea and escaped damage. Adm. Smith
said that the laps could have crippled the Pacific fleet for months if
they had destroyed the oil supplies and machine shops at Hawaii
instead of the battleships. By doing so, he said, the base would have
been rendered untenable.11

Adm. Raymond A. Spruance, the present commander-in-chief of
the Pacific fleet, said that the attack demonstrated that the Japs did
not appreciate sea power as an offensive weapon. "Instead of follow­
ing up his initial successes," said Spruance, "the enemy diverted the
navy, which then far outclassed ours, to the Southwest Pacific. The
Japanese might have won a quick and decisive victory had the base
at Pearl Harbor been smashed."ls
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Another error was the failure of the Japs to seize Midway Island
in the first days of the war. They contented themselves with shelling
Midway the night of December 7, but the defending garrison scored
three hits on a destroyer with shore guns and at least two on a cruiser
before the attacking force withdrew. If the Japanese wanted to take
Midway, they would have found the island's defenses at their weakest
in the first few days or few weeks after Pearl Harbor. But not until
six months later did Japan make a serious effort to seize the island,
and by then it was too late. The crushing defeat imposed upon the
imperial fleet in the battle of Midway, June 4-6, 1942, was a turning­
point in the war and one of the decisive battles of history.

After the attack upon Pearl Harbor the Japanese striking force
was under orders to withdraw from Hawaiian waters with all pos­
sible speed. All except twenty-seven planes returned safely to their
carrier decks between 10 :30 A.M. and 1:30 P.M., and the task force
withdrew to the northwest. The carriers, according to the flight group
commander, Capt. Fuchida, had intended to bomb Midway on the
homeward journey, but changed plans because the weather grew bad.
On the way back to Japan, Fuchida said, two carriers left the fleet
to assault Wake Island, which fell to a Japanese landing force on the
evening of December 22, after a fifteen-day siege.

The remainder of the Pearl Harbor striking force returned to
Japan by a circuitous course, arriving at Kure on December 22. Japa­
nese officers said that there was no particular excitement or celebrations
aboard the ships, but that "the pilots had a good drink after return­
ing to their carriers." Any celebrations which might have seemed in
order would, in any event, have been short lived. Four of the carriers
which attacked Pearl Harbor-the "Kaga," "Akagi," "Soryu," and
"Hiryu"-were sunk six months later in the battle of Midway. The
"Shokaku" was sunk in the battle of the West Marianas, and the
"Zuikaku" in the second battle of the Philippine Sea. Fuchida said
he believed that he was the only flyer from the sneak attack group
who survived the war.
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THE RISING SUN

ON WEDNESDAY, December 3, the carrier "Enterprise," commanded by
Vice-Adm. William F. Halsey, Jr., was some 1,900 miles west of
Pearl Harbor. She was the flagship of a task force consisting of three
heavy cruisers and nine destroyers. The force had left Pearl Harbor
November 28 to deliver a dozen Marine fighter pilots in Grumman
Wildcats to Wake Island. The pilots had received such short notice
of their departure that some had reported aboard with only the clothes
they were wearing.

Adm. Halsey had enjoined radio silence and sailed with his ships
darkened. Not until the second day out did the task force learn that
its destination was Wake. On December 3 the Marines went into
Wake and the "Enterprise" turned and headed back toward Pearl
Harbor. Navy pilots aboard the carrier were flying scouting missions
in all directions from the ship. A young officer aboard the "Enter­
prise" who was keeping an unofficial log noted: "Vogt says he saw
a large fleet at the end of his scouting leg, but it was hazy and his
tanks were low, so he isn't sure. Some imagination!"l

Whatever Pilot Ensign John H. L. Vogt, Jr., saw through the over­
cast will never be known. He may have sighted the main Jap strik­
ing force en route to Pearl Harbor. If so, it was far off its charted
course. He may have seen part of Adm. Shimizu's advance expedi­
tionary force, although that seems equally unlikely. He may have
seen other Jap fleet units advancing for the attack on Wake. Because
of radio silence, no report of Vogt's statement was sent to Pearl Har­
bor. At dawn on December 7 Vogt took off from the "Enterprise"
and flew into a formation of enemy planes attacking Pearl Harbor.
He was killed.

There were other portents that something was afoot. The cruiser
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"Boise," convoying American merchantmen 3,400 miles from Pearl
Harbor, to the northeast of Guam, sighted a darkened ship at about
16,000 yards on the night of November 27. The "Boise" challenged,
but received no reply. On the following night the cruiser again sighted
a darkened ship, hull down, at 5:33 P.M. "She appeared to be 'Atago'
type [a class of Jap cruiser] ," the log stated.

Battle stations were manned and the "Boise's" speed and course
changed on each occasion, but the identity of the strange ships was
never confirmed, nor was any other action taken. The vessels sighted
were 1,400 miles off the reported course taken by the Jap task force
bound for Pearl Harbor. No report was radioed to the fleet base.2

On the night of December 6 the aircraft tender "Wright" sighted
another unidentified ship without lights west of Hawaii, but again
made no report because of orders to keep radio silence. The "Wright,"
a unit of Halsey's task force, challenged the strange vessel between
8:00 P.M. and midnight, but the ship did not respond and slipped out
of sight. It was later surmised that the vessel may have been a Japa­
nese submarine.8

Navy department records provide another mystery. On December
5, an American patrol ship was operating north of Hawaii directly in
the path of the Jap striking force. The Navy's chart of ship locations
for the following day omitted the patrol ship and no accounting has
ever been made for its "disappearance."4

While all of these incidents together might have suggested some
event out of the ordinary, they were not reported to Pearl Harbor
before the attack. Other contacts made by naval ships in the fleet­
operating area about Pearl Harbor in the early morning hours of
December 7 were reported.

The first of these was made at 3:58 A.M., when the minesweeper
"Condor" flashed a blinker signal to the destroyer "Ward" that a
suspicious object, believed to be a submarine, had been detected in
the darkness westward of her sweep area.5 Lieut. William W. Outer­
bridge, commanding the "Ward," sounded general quarters and
combed a wide pattern for nearly an hour, but found nothing.
Outerbridge returned to his bunk and Lieut. (j.g.) O. W. Goepner,
a reservist from the Northwestern University Naval R. o. T. C., took
over as officer of the deck.

At 6:37 A.M. Goepner awakened Outerbridge and pointed out a
submarine conning tower between the "Ward" and the target ship
"Antares," towing her raft to Pearl Harbor. A Navy PBY, returning
from patrol, dropped a smoke bomb to mark the submarine's location.
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The silhouette of the conning tower was unfamiliar, and for a good
reason. This was one of Adm. Shimizu's midget subs.

At 6:45 the "Ward," on Goepner's order, opened fire from its
number 1 gun in the· bow. Number 3 gun from the waist then
opened up and, at point-blank range of 75 yards, scored with its first
shot, striking the conning tower. The "Ward" followed up with four
depth charges dropped in pattern, but the number 3 gun had done
for the sub.

At 6:51 it was adjudged sunk, and Outerbridge radioed Pearl
Harbor, "We have dropped depth charges upon sub operating in de­
fensive area." In order to underscore this startling intelligence,
Outerbridge two minutes later sent a second message: "We have
attacked, fired upon, and dropped depth charges upon a submarine
operating in the defensive area." The operator at Bishop's Point
naval radio station acknowledged receipt.6

This was a full hour before the Japanese air attack on Pearl
Harbor. Two messages which should have warned the forces ashore
had already been dispatched, and a third report was now radioed by
the PBY flying boat which had circled overhead. This message was
received by Comdr. Knefler McGinnis, commander of patrol wing 1
at Kaneohe Naval Air Station. Alarmed lest an American submarine
had been sunk, McGinnis was still checking up an hour later when
planes bearing the Rising Sun insignia came in and shot up every
one of his flying boats in the bay or on the ramps. Only three patrol
planes still in the air escaped this first attack, and one was badly shot
up in landing.7

Outerbridge's message was received at 7 :12 f1.M. or earlier by the
Pearl Harbor base watch officer, who immediately notified his chief
of staff. No change to a higher condition of readiness, however, was
ordered as a result of the report. The Army Board of Inquiry which
investigated the disaster in 1944 observed, "This was one of the most
important of a succession of mistakes made during this fateful morn­
ing. The Navy admits that it did not advise Gen. Short as it should
have done."8

Meanwhile, the "Ward," inbound to Pearl Harbor, sighted a
motor-driven sampan which had no business in the restricted area.
As the destroyer charged down upon this craft, three Japanese came
to the rail, two with their hands in the air and the third waving a
white flag. These were the attitudes of surrender. They suggested
war. The sampan was taken in tow by a Coast Guard cutter, but no
further warning was dispatched to shore.9
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There was at least one other episode at sea which justified an all­
out alert if word had been passed to the base. While the "Enterprise"
was still 200 miles from Pearl Harbor, it launched its planes to fly
into Oahu. One of the flyers who took off was Ensign Manuel
Gonzalez, of bombing squadron 6. Somewhere the fringe of the
flight intercepted the course of the Japanese attacking formation. Back
on the carrier listeners heard the cry of Gonzalez over the radio,
"Don't shoot! This is an American plane." That was all. He was
shot down. Again no warning was radioed to the fleet base.10

Ashore there was a still more inexplicable failure. The Army
radar aircraft warning system had been operating between 4:00 and
7:00 A.M., the hour when the stations were to shut down on December
7. Two privates, Joseph E. Elliott and Joseph L. Lockard, were
manning the station at Opana, on Kahuku Point, clear across Oahu
from Pearl Harbor, at the extreme north of the island. Lockard was
operating the detector and Elliott was plotting the information.

Between 6:45 and 6:59 A.M. Lockard and Elliott spotted ten or
more unidentified planes northeast of Hawaii and 100 miles or less
distant. Elliott's recollection four years later was that these planes
had been reported to the Army Information Center/1 which that
morning was in charge of Lieut. Kermit A. Tyler, an Air Corps
pursuit officer, but if they were no action was taken.

When it was time for the two privates to go off duty, Elliott asked
that the station be kept open for further operation after 7:00 A.M., so
that he might learn to operate the detector. Lockard acquiesced and,
while adjusting the machine to begin the instruction, noticed on the
radar screen an unusual formatio~, suggesting the approach of a large
number of planes. These unknown planes, picked up at 7:02 A.M.,

were 137 miles distant and approaching Oahu from 3 degrees east of
north.12

Lockard reported the discovery within seven minutes to the In­
formation Center. Tyler was absent at the moment, but the switch­
board operator located him, and Tyler, within two or three minutes,
was listening to Lockard's report. "Tyler's answer," the Army Board
report stated, "was disastrous. He said, in substance, 'Porget it.' Ty­
ler's position is indefensible in his action, for he says that he was
merely there for training and had no knowledge upon which to base
any action; yet he assumed to give directions instead of seeking some­
one competent to make a decision~"18

Not only did Tyler fail to .act, hut the Army ·neglecteduntil two
days after the attack to inform Adm. Kimmel of recording·the ap-
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proach of the attacking force by radar. This threw Navy search planes
completely off the track when they attempted to trail the Jap striking
force. The search planes made their sweeps to the south and south­
west, not knowing that the enemy planes had come in from the
north.1

•

Meanwhile, Lockard and Elliott continued to follow and plot the
approaching aircraft until they came within 20 miles of Oahu at
about 7:35 A.M., when radar reception failed. From fifteen to twenty
minutes later the first enemy planes appeared over Hawaiian air
fields and burst through the clouds upon the Pearl Harbor base.

Tyler's subsequent explanation was that he believed that Lockard
and Elliott had picked up a flight of 12 B-17's which he knew were
coming in from Hamilton Field, California.15 Some of these planes
did, in fact, arrive during the attack and were destroyed by the Japa­
nese, but Tyler's defense took no account of the fact that if these had
been the planes spotted by the two privates, they would have been
flying 200 miles off their course at the time the formation was re­
ported from Opana.

The greatest error of all, however, was that the Army garrison
and fleet base had not been alerted properly against attack. The Army
on November 27 had put into effect its alert number 1-defense
against sabotage and uprisings; no threat from without. This was
farthest removed from an all-out war footipg of any of its three de­
grees of alert.16 The Navy had instituted its number 3 condition of
readiness, providing a means of opening fire with a portion of the
anti-aircraft and secondary batteries in case of surprise encounter.
This was the minimum degree of readiness possible under its three
standing classifications.1T

These limited conditions of readiness were in response to orders
from higher authority in Washington and represented what the
field commanders thought was required of them, but neither the
Army nor Navy in Hawaii was· prepared on December 7 to cope
with a determined surprise attack in force. The Army's preparations
against sabotage, in particular, played into the hands of the Japs. All
of its planes, with a few exceptions, were lined up wing to wing, in
order that they might be more easily guarded by a cordon of sentries.
They presented a perfect target for bombs and machine gun bullets.

The situation prevailing December 7 under the conditions of
readiness in effect was .thus sum~arized by the Army. Board:

No distanrreconnaissance'was being conducted by the Navy;
the usual four or five I?BY's 'were not out; the anti-aircraft artil-
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lery was not out on its usual Sunday maneuvers with the fleet
air arm; the naval carriers with their planes were at a distance
from Oahu on that Sunday; the aircraft were on the ground,
were parked, both Army and Navy, closely adjacent to one an­
other; the fleet was in the harbor with the exception of task
forces 9 and 12, which included some cruisers, destroyers, and
the two carriers "Lexington" and "Enterprise."

Ammunition for the Army was, with the exception of that
near the fixed anti-aircraft guns, in ordnance storehouses, and
the two combat divisions as well as the anti-aircraft artillery
were in their permanent quarters and not in battle positions.
Everything was concentrated in close confines by reason of the
[Army's] anti-sabotage alert number 1. This made of them
easy targets for an air attack. In short, everything that was done
made the situation perfect for an air attack and the Japanese
took full advantage of it.1s

In addition to sending reconnaissance planes over Pearl Harbor
one hour before the arrival of their attacking planes, the Japanese
resorted to submarine reconnaissance for last-minute information. The
log of a Japanese two-man submarine showed that the craft entered
the harbor and made a complete run around Ford Island. Entry
apparently was effected about 4:10 A.M., when the submarine net
across the harbor mouth was open to permit a garbage scow to leave
the harbor.

The submarine commander roughed in the ships at their berths
as well as he could in the uncertain pre-dawn light, but he failed to
identify a single vessel correctly. He completed the circuit of the
harbor at 4:30 and turned down the channel for the open sea. The
submarine net had been opened again at 4:58 to permit the entrance
of two minesweepers and remained open until 8:40, when it was
closed by order as a result of the attack; so the submarine had no
difficulty in getting out of the harbor.19

Because the plottings of fleet units in harbor and the positions
they occupied, as shown on the map of the submarine commander,
varied considerably from the ships actually in harbor December 7
and their true locations, there has been disagreement as to whether
the submarine made its run in the hours directly preceding the attack,
or on some day before December 7.20 Rear Adm. T. B. Inglis, chief
of naval intelligence, doubted in 1945 that the submarine ever entered
the harbor. He said "there was confusion in translating the Japanese
present and future tenses/' and that the log may have shown what
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the Jap commander intended to do, rather than what he had done.21

The admiral's statement, however, fails to explain why the Jap
officer, if he never made the harbor circuit, wrote at one point on his
chart, "I saw it with my own eyes!" when he thought he had located
the aircraft carrier "Saratoga."22 The "carrier" which he had erro­
neously identified was in reality the old battleship "Utah," which had
been stripped and converted into a target ship. The fact that it later
received special attention from Jap raiding planes suggests that the
enemy submarine not only did tour the harbor, but communicated its
findings by radio to the attacking force.

Another Japanese sub was indisputably in Pearl Harbor on Decem­
ber 7. It entered sometime after the anti-submarine net was opened
at 4:58. At 8:35 A.~I., 40 minutes after the attack had begun, it came
up for a look. Half a dozen ships opened fire on the conning tower,
and the craft was finished off when it was rammed and depth charged
by the destroyer "Monaghan" after surfacing under her bows. Later,
the submarine, with its crew of two still inside, was used as part of
the fill-in for a new landside pier at the Pearl Harbor submarine
base.28

The submarine believed to have made the circuit of Ford Island
later ran on a reef in the open sea near Bellows Field, southeast of
Kaneohe Bay. While it was stuck on the reef, a bomb dropped from
a Navy plane knocked the submarine over to the other side of the
reef. Gen. Short later said that Army troops threw a rope around
the craft and pulled it ashore, capturing both members of the crew,24
but Army intelligence four years after the attack acknowledged the
capture only of the commander, Sub-Lieut. Kazuo Sakamaki.25

The remainder of the five enemy midget craft all were lost, as
was confirmed by a subsequent Japanese citation granting "posthu­
mous" promotion to all ten men of the crews.26

Sunrise was at 6:26 A.M. on December 7 at Pearl Harbor.21 At
least three civilian planes were in the air early. Roy Vitousek, a law­
yer, suddenly found himself in formation with strange planes. Cornelia
Fort, a civilian instructor, was aloft with a student. James Duncan,
member of a flying club, was taking a lesson from Thomas Pomerlin,
a commercial pilot. All three planes got down safely under pelting
Jap machine gun fire.

The attacking force made three approaches. One group from the
north came directly across the island, attacking the Army's Wheeler
Field on its way to assault Pearl Harbor. A second force from the
east attacked the Navy's Kaneohe Bay flying boat base, the Bellows
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Field Army airdrome, and Pearl Harbor. The third Japanese force
made its approach from the south, attacking Pearl Harbor and Hickam
Field, the adjacent Army air field. The Marine air base at Ewa
Plantation was destroyed, apparently by the force which darted in
from the east on Kaneohe air station.

The enemy opened fire at Kaneohe about 7:50 A.M.
28 Five min­

utes later the attack hit Pearl Harbor. At Kaneohe the Japs knocked
out twenty-seven flying boats and an observation plane. At Ford
Island Naval Air Station twenty-six planes were destroyed on the
ground-nineteen patrol bombers, three scout bombers, and four
fighters. Only three planes were later able- to take to the air from
Ford Island. At Ewa, the Marine air base, nine fighters, eighteen
scout bombers, three utility planes, two transports, and one training
plane-thirty-three-were destroyed.29

At Hickam Field the Japs destroyed four B-17 bombers, twelve
B-18 bombers, and two A-20 light bombers--eighteen planes. Forty
pursuit and two observation planes were destroyed at Wheeler Field,
and an observation plane and two pursuit aircraft at Bellows Field.
Eleven planes of scouting squadron 8 which had flown in from the
"Enterprise" were shot down over Pearl Harbor, and of eighteen
dive bombers which left the carrier and flew into the attack five were
lost. Ten of the sixteen carrier planes lost were believed to have been
shot down or forced to crash by anti-aircraft fire from American
guns.so

The Hawaiian air fields were hit first in order to eliminate any
possible interference in the air. The attack was concentrated on the
aprons ,,,here the planes were parked, upon hangars, and upon re­
pair shops. Almost two hundred American aircraft were lost.s1

Only a few fighter aircraft at the Army's remote Haleiwa Field,
which was apparently unknown to the Japs, escaped the enemy attack.
A squadron was practicing short landings there on Sunday morning.32

Two flights, each consisting of four P-40's and on'e obsolescent P-36,
got into the air from this field to engage the Japs in combat. Maj.
(then Second Lieut.) George S. Welch and his wing man, Second
Lieut. Kenneth M. Taylor, both got their planes off the ground from
Haleiwa, Welch shooting down four enemy planes and Taylor two.

Enemy planes appeared over the Pearl Harbor fleet base at
7:55 A.M., just as the morning signal flag was being broken out from
the signal tower atop the Navy Yard water tank, calling for morning
colors to rise in five minutes·. From ··the tower all of Pearl Harbor
was spread out before the .'signalmen. That· morning there were
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ninety-four ships in harbor: eight battleships, two heavy cruisers, six
light cruisers, twenty-nine destroyers, five submarines, one gunboat,
eight destroyer mi~elayers, one minelayer, four destroyer mine­
sweepers, six minesweepers, and twenty-four auxiliaries.ss

The battleship "Pennsylvania" was in drydock number 1 with the
destroyers "Cassin" and "Downes." To the left, in drydock number
2, was the destroyer "Shaw." The light cruiser "Helena" was moored
alongside 10-10 dock, with the minelayer "Oglala" moored outboard
of her. The light cruiser "Honolulu" was in one of the yard berths
to the northeast of the "Helena."

In Battleship Row, on the south side of Ford Island, were dra,vn
up in order the "California," then "Neosho," a 21,000-ton oiler; the
"Oklahoma" and "Maryland," tied up in a pair; the "'West Virginia"
and "Tennessee," also paired; the "Arizona" and 9,400-ton repair ship
"Vestal," with the "Arizona" inboard, and, finally, the "Nevada."
On the north side of the island were moored the light cruiser
"Raleigh" and the target ship "Utah," with the seaplane tender "Cur­
tiss" across from the "Utah," off Peninsula Point.

Of these nineteen ships, only the "Neosho" came through the
Japanese attack unscathed.

Most of the damage, both to aircraft and ships, was done in the
first few minutes of the attack, which was over in pne hour and fifty
minutes. The attack developed in the following rough phases: I. 7:55­
8:25 A.M. Combined torpedo plane and dive bomber attack. II. 8:25­
8:40. Comparative lull. III. 8:40-9 :15. Horizontal bomber attack.
IV. 9:15-9:45 Dive bomber attacks. V. 9:45. Waning of attack and
completion of raid.s•

Twenty-one planes took part in the initial torpedo attack, covered
. by thirty dive bombers and fifteen high-level bombers. The Japanese

torpedo planes had been assigned definite targets among the heavy
fleet units and had been provided with torpedoes particularly adapted
to the shallow waters of Pearl Harbor. The torpedoes were fitted
with wooden vanes so that they would not sink too deeply when
launched from the planes, while detonators had been designed to
operate after a short run so that they would be effective in the
limited confines of the harbor.SG The warheads of the Japanese tor­
pedoes at that time were larger and more powerful than in any tor­
pedoes in use by other navies of the world.

All of the battleships moored .outboard. in Battleship· Row were
torpedoed,. while one torpedo passed· ·underneath the "Oglala" .and
exploded against the "Helena,'" the' blast caving in the' side plates of
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the "Oglala," which capsized an hour later. On the north side of
Ford Island the "Raleigh" was struck by one torpedo and the "Utah"
turned turtle after taking two. All of these attacks were made by
planes which came in at a height of 100 feet or less above the water
and launched their torpedoes at very short distances.

In the simultaneous dive-bombing runs, one Jap pilot put a bomb
down a stack of the "Arizona," whose forward boilers and magazine
blew up. Other successful attacks were made on the "Pennsylvania,"
"California," "West Virginia," "Tennessee," "Helena," "Shaw," "Cur­
tiss," and "Oglala." High-level bombers scored on the "California,"
"Utah," "Shaw," and Navy Yard docks. During the comparative lull
between 8:25 and 8:40 an estimated fifteen planes continued dive­
bomber attacks, directed against the "Pennsylvania," "Oklahoma,"
"Maryland," "Nevada," "Honolulu," "Helena," "Cassin," "Downes,"
"Shaw," and "Oglala."

The horizontal bomber attacks which followed were centered on
the "Pennsylvania," "West Virginia," "California," "Helena," "Oglala,"
and the three destroyers in drydock. About thirty planes participated
in these attacks, with eighteen dive bombers also in action. The dive
bombers registered hits on drydocks numbers 1 and 2, "Tennessee,"
"West Virginia," "Nevada;" and the three destroyers.

In the fourth phase, between 9:15 and 9:45, the three destroyers
were again attacked, as was the "Raleigh." Bombs also fell on in­
stallations on Ford Island, the battleships on the south side of the
island, and destroyers and other ships moored north of the island.
Twenty-seven dive bombers were estimated to have participated in
this closing phase. All enemy planes had retired by 9 :45.

In addition to the specially fitted torpedo, the enemy force was
provided with another novel weapon which produced unexpectedly
good results. This was a large armor piercing shell of 15 or 16 inches,
fitted for use by high-level bombers. Hits were scored with these
improvised bombs on the battleships "California" and "Tennessee"
and the light cruiser "Raleigh."36

One of these shells penetrated to the "California's" second deck,
where a large part of the ship's company was assembled. Many of the
men were killed and the explosion resulted in a raging fire between­
decks. Two more of these projectiles each struck main turrets of
the "Tennessee." One of the shells exploded and a fragment from it
mortally wounded Capt. Mervyn S. Bennion, commander of the
nearby "West Virginia." The other blew out its base plug and its
detonating charge burned out on the deck without exploding. Despite
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these hits, only five men aboard the "Tennessee" were killed. The
"Raleigh" was struck on the port side aft by a projectile which went
through several decks and came out through the side of the ship
to explode 50 feet away.

The defenders, although surprised and off balance, fought the
Japanese attack with great courage, but losses were high. The attack
cost the lives of 2,326 officers and men. The Navy's losses were 2,086
dead and 749 wounded, while the Army suffered 240 dead and 360
wounded. Total casualties thus were 3,435.37 Of fifteen congressional
medals of honor for heroism during the attack, eleven were posthu­
mous awards.

The damage to the fleet consisted of:
Sunk: Five battleships, the "Arizona," "Oklahoma," "West Vir­

ginia," "California," and "Nevada"; three destroyers, the "Cassin,"
"Downes," and "Shaw"; the target ship "Utah," the repair ship "Ves­
tal," the minelayer "Oglala," and floating drydock number 2.

Damaged but afloat: Three battleships, the "Pennsylvania," "Mary­
land," and "Tennessee"; three light cruisers, the "Helena," "Hono­
lulu," and "Raleigh," and the seaplane tender "Curtiss."*

After the attack the Japanese estimated they had sunk four battle­
ships and damaged four others and that they had wrecked about
half of the 900 planes they estimated to be on Oahu.39 They were
conservative in estimating warship losses but exaggerated the number
of American planes destroyed.

·Damage to these vessels individually is given in Appendix.38



Chapter Four

THE SCAPEGOATS

IN THE excitement and confusion on December 7, 1941, it was not
immediately noticed that the leaders of the Roosevelt administration
were frantically scurrying about proving their surprise and injury,
shouldering the blame for the disaster at Pearl Harbor away from
themselves. Events were moving too fast for citizens to detect that
the disengaging tactics of the politicians were far more successful than
had been those of the Pacific fleet.

The Japanese declaration of war was announced by imperial head­
quarters two hours and thirty-five minutes after the attack.* Premier
Shidehara explained after Japan's surrender four years later that an
"error in procedure" prevented the declaration from reaching the
State Department in Washington before the attack.1 Adm. Nagano,
commander of the combined imperial fleets, said the Japanese plan
was to send notification to the United States at 7 :30 A.M., Hawaii
time, on December 7, 1941. The necessary time lapse, he explained,
between dispatch of such a message, its decoding by the Japanese em­
bassy in Washington, and its delivery to the State Department, would
mean at best a notification virtually simultaneous with the attack.

"At first," Nagano said, "we were going to give a one-hour notice
before the attack, but the United States was fully prepared and its
communications excellent, so it was shortened to thirty minutes' no­
tice."2

On Monday Mr. Roosevelt sent his message to Congress calling for
a declaration of war. The declaration was approved by both houses
with one dissenting vote-that of Representative Jeanette Rankin of
Montana, who had also voted against war with Germany in 1917.8

·At 6:00 A.M., Dec. 8, Tokyo time: 10:30 A.M., Dec. 7, Hawaii time; 4:00 P.M.,

Dec. 7, E.S.T.-N. Y. Times, Dec. 8, 1:2.
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Britain, Canada, Australia, and Holland had already declared war
against the Japanese.4 On Thursday, December 11, Germany and
Italy, acting under their tripartite pact commitments to Japan, de­
clared war against the United States.5 The same day Congress passed
resolutions declaring the existence of a state of war with these two
nations6 after receiving a message in which President Roosevelt said:
"The long known and the long expected has taken place."7 This
equivocal expression implied that Germany and Italy had long been
meditating an attack upon the United States. Again the vote was
unanimous for war, with the exception of Miss Rankin, who voted
"present" in each instance.

Meanwhile, there had been ominous reports of the losses at Pearl
Harbor. The first Japanese claims were that the battleships "West
Virginia" and "Oklahoma" had been sunk and that four other
capital ships and four cruisers had been damaged.8 The first report
from the American government came from the White House on
December 8. About 3,000 casualties, equally divided between dead
and wounded, were acknowledged by Roosevelt, while it was said
that one old battleship had capsized, a destroyer had blown up, sev­
eral other smaller ships had been seriously damaged, a large number
of planes had been put out of commission, and several hangars de­
stroyed in the bombing of Army and Navy air fields.9

The President on December 7 knew the true extent of the losses.
Some of his alarm and dismay were communicated to the Cabinet
members and congressional leaders who attended him in the White
House that night. Roosevelt told them:

The casualties, I am sorry to say, were extremely heavy. I
cannot say anything definite in regard to the number of ships
that have been sunk. It looks as if out of eight battleships, three
have been sunk, and possibly a fourth. Two destroyers were
blown up while they were in drydock. Two of the battleships
are badly damaged. Several other smaller vessels have been
sunk or destroyed. The drydock itself has been damaged. . . .

Now I think that is all there is in the way of information,
but it has been suggested that the Army and Navy losses, and
the rather definite statements I have made about these ships,
could not be spoken of outside, because we must remember that
detailed military information, such as the damage to ships, or
even the loss of personnel-that information is of value" to an
enemy. I think that is a matter of discretion, which all of you
will accept.10
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The first "officiai" report on the damage was to come from Secre­
tary Knox. At 8:00 A.M., December 9, Knox left Washington in his
own plane, "conscious," as Davis and Lindley put it, "of his share in
the blame for the surprise attack at Pearl Harbor.... The Secretary
of the Navy regarded his mission as an expiation."ll

Upon his return to Washington, December 15, Knox hurried to
the White House and conferred with Roosevelt. Later he called the
press to his office and announced a total of 2,897 Army and Navy
dead, 879 wounded, and 26 missing. The "Arizona," "Utah," "Shaw,"
"Cassin," "Downes," and "Oglala," he said, had been sunk; the
"Oklahoma" was capsized but salvageable, and other vessels had suf­
fered damage requiring repairs of a week to several months.12

Knox's published report had been prepared with the assistance of
Comdr. Leland P. Lovette, whom the Secretary found at Pearl Har­
bor, where Lovette was commander of Destroyer Division 5, which
included the "Cassin," "Downes," and "Shaw," all of which had
been wrecked in the Jap attack.13 Lovette, subsequently to be named
director of Navy public relations by Knox, was an officer-author of
some reputation. The statement which he and Knox drew up for
submission to the public emphasized the heroism of the men at Pearl
Harbor, but carefully refrained from giving the American people any·
thing like a true accounting of the damage suffered by the fleet.

More important than what Knox chose to tell the people was the
decision which he and Roosevelt reached at their conference preced­
ing the release of the report. It would not be known for another four
years that, although Knox in a private report to Roosevelt at this very
meeting did not impute exclusive or even specific blame to the Ha­
waiian commanders,14 Kimmel and Short were then assigned the role
of scapegoats for the disaster. Adm. Stark, chief of naval operations
in 1941, testified at the Congressional investigation in 1945 that the
first thing Knox did after conferring with the President was to issue
orders for the removal of Adm. Kimmel as commander of the Pacific
fleet. Asked whether Knox's action was based on orders from Roose­
velt, Stark said, "You always need the President's permission to remove
a fleet commander."15

At his press conference, however, Knox made no admission that
any such action would be taken. "The United States services were
not on the alert against a surprise attack on Hawaii," his report stated.
"This fact calls for a formal investigation which will be initiated
immediately by the President. Further action is, of course, dependent
on the facts and recommendations made by this investigating board."
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Knox sought to create the impression that any assessment of blame
would await later investigation by an impartial commission. The
impression he gave the press and the nation was wholly disingenuous.
He and the President had already decided to put the onus on Kimmel
and Short. The commanders \\'ere relieved of their posts, but the
announcement was held up for two days, until December 17. Maj.
Gen. Martin, commander of the Army Air Forces in Hawaii, was
relieved at the same time.I6

On December 16 Roosevelt, moved by a rising tide of indignation
in Congress which made it apparent that an investigation by that
body was likely, forestalled independent inquiry by appointing his
own investigating commission.17 This was a five-man board of in­
quiry headed by Associate Justice Owen J. Roberts of the United
States Supreme Court, who had been a proponent of war as a means
of achieving world-go:vernment.18

The other members were two retired admirals, Rear Adm. Wil­
liam H. Standley, former chief of naval operations, and Rear Adm.
Joseph M. Reeves, former commander-in-chief of the United States
fIeet, Maj. Gen. Frank R. McCoy, retired, and Joseph T. McNarney,
a brigadier general on the active list of the Army Air Corps. McNarney
later was promoted to the rank of four-star general, became deputy
chief of staff, second only to Gen. Marshall in the Army hierarchy,
and, finally, commander of all occupation forces in Europe. The
selection of these men was not accidental. Reeves was the first com­
mander-in-chief of the fleet to take it to Pearl Harbor. He was there­
fore disqualified from criticizing the selection of Pearl Harbor as its
base. Standley, retired in 1937, was recalled to active duty March 6,
1941, and would not be disposed to criticize the decisions of the Navy
leadership in Washington, of which he had formerly been a ranking
member as chief of naval operations. McCoy, as president of the
Foreign Policy Association, per se was a staunch supporter of Roose­
velt's diplomacy. McNarney was a member of the Marshall clique
which ran the War Department. Since 1939 he had been a member
of the general staff, which was responsible for the failure to build up
the defenses of Pearl Harbor and which withheld knowledge of
Japanese designs and intentions from the field commanders.

Four of these men later were the recipients of honor and favors
from the Roosevelt administration. Five and one-half years after his
retirement with the rank of rear admiral, Reeves was promoted to
admiral on the retired list June 16, 1942. This was five months after
he had signed the Roberts report. Standley was decorated by Roose-
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velt with the Distinguished Service Medal after signing the report,
and was appointed ambassador to Russia, a post which he held in
1942 and 1943. McCoy was appointed chairman of the Far Eastern
Advisory Commission when allied control was established following
the surrender of Japan. McNarney's meteoric rise in the Army has
been described.

Roosevelt, in fixing jurisdiction, charged the commission with de­
termining whether "any derelictions of duty or error of judgment on
the part of United States Army or Navy personnel contributed to
such successes as were achieved by the enemy" in "the attack made
by Japanese forces upon the territory of Hawaii." These instructions
were intended to exclude consideration of the behavior of official
Washington.

Roosevelt had already tried the case. Without calling witnesses,
he found Kimmel and Short guilty, condemned them, and carried
out his sentence. He announced their removal from command the
very day that the Roberts Commission assembled in Washington.
Under the circumstances, it was hardly surprising that the President's
hand-picked commission should report findings to order. On January
24 it submitted a report to Roosevelt which held that Kimmel and
Short were guilty of "dereliction of duty."*19

The report ignored many vital considerations and its findings on
points of major importance were contradicted in both the Army and
Navy reports of a later day and in testimony before the Congressional
Investigating Committee. In addition, the findings of the commission
were based upon misinformation and errors in fact. The minority
report of the Joint Congressional Committee (p. 3) remarks:

It is extremely unfortunate that the Roberts Commission
report was so hasty, inconclusive, and incomplete. Some wit­
nesses were examined under oath; others were not. Much tes­
timony was not even recorded. The commission knew that
Japanese messages had been intercepted and were available,
prior to the attack, to the high command in Washington. The
commission did not inquire about what information these inter­
cepts contained, who received them, or what was done about
them, although the failure of Washington to inform the com­
manders in Hawaii of this vital intelligence bears directly on
the question of whether those commanders performed their full
duties. Mr. Justice Roberts testified before this committee: "I

·The record of the commission's proceedings and exhibits covers 2,173 printed
pages.20
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would not have bothered to read it [the intercepted Japanese
traffic] if it had been shown to us (Tr., Vol. 47, p. 8836)."

If it were necessary to do so, detailed examples of the many
short-comings of the Roberts Commission could be set forth....
It should be noted, however, that Justice Roberts had suffi­
cient legal experience to know the proper method of collecting
and preserving evidence which in this case involved the highest
interests of the nation. The facts were then fresh in the minds
of key witnesses in Washington. They could not then have
been ignorant of their whereabouts at important times or have
forgotten the details of events and operations. No files would
have been "lost" and no information would have been distorted
by the passage of time. The failure to observe these obvious
necessities is almost as tragic to the cause of truth as the attack
on Pearl Harbor itself was a tragedy for the nation.

For example, although the report did not mention that the United
States had cracked the J~panese code months before Pearl Harbor, the
commission had been informed by the chief of naval intelligence,
Adm. Wilkinson, that all of the information from Jap code intercepts
had been sent to the Hawaiian commanders. In fact, only a few of the
hundreds of these messages, and none of major importance, had been
relayed to Kimmel and Short. Four years later, when he was examined
by the congressional Pearl Harbor investigating committee, Wilkinson
"corrected" the statements he had given the Roberts Commission.21

The report held that Short's alert against sabotage "was not ade­
quate," but had only the gentlest sort of criticism for his superiors in
Washington, who had been informed by him of the action he had
taken and had not even responded, let alone ordered him to go on an
all-out alert. It criticized Kimmel for not taking "appropriate meas­
ures" in view of "war warnings," but held that in ordering attacks to
be made upon Japanese submarines found in operating areas around
Oahu, he had exceeded the authority given him by the Navy De­
partment.

The commission greatly emphasized such information as could be
construed to have given the Hawaiian commanders warning that war
was imminent, but it withheld reference to the far more vital intel­
ligence which was not transmitted to Hawaii. Of seven warning
messages from Washington to Short and Kimmel which were recorded
in the Roberts report, no less than four referred to the danger of sabo­
tage. Not one suggested the possibility of surprise air attack.

These so-called warnings were so qualified by hampering instruc­
tions that the Army Board of Inquiry in its report, drafted in October,
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1944, called them "do-don't" messages. The actual effect of the mes­
sages was to transfer responsibility from Washington to the field com­
manders if anything went wrong, but so to tie the hands of the com­
manders and restrict the course of action open to them that they were
in no position to meet the attack when it came. The Roberts report
devoted no attention to the fact that Washington had definite and
detailed intelligence in the days preceding the attack that war was
coming within predictable limits of time and had ample reason to
believe the Jap blow would fall on Pearl Harbor.

On December 7, Gen. Marshall had opportunity to warn the Ha­
waii commanders that all evidence available to Washington indicated
that an attack was coming. He sent a message, but its transmission
was so botched that it reached Gen. Short seven hours too late. The
Roberts report stated that at about 6:30 A.l\L, Honolulu time, Mar­
shall dispatched "an additional warning message indicating an almost
immediate break in relations between the United States and Japan."
It continued, "Every effort was made to have the message reach Ha­
waii in the briefest possible time, but due to conditions beyond the
control of anyone concerned, the delivery of this urgent message was
delayed until after the attack." The message, the report said, was
"intended to reach both commanders in the field at' about 7 :00 A.M.,

Hawaii time," but the report adds that even "if the message had
reached its destination at the time intended, it would still have been
too late" because dispositions made by Kimmel and Short "were in­
adequate to meet a surprise air attack." By such statements, the com­
mission glossed over Marshall's mishandling of a crucial dispatch
which could have averted much of the damage suffered at Hawaii.*

The commission, although charged with seeking derelictions of
duty and errors of judgment only among Army and Navy officers,
was at pains to state that Gen. Marshall, Adm. Stark, and Secretaries
Hull, Stimson, and Knox had discharged their responsibilities. In
Conclusion 17, however, it implied that these officials did bear some
responsibility, after all. It said that the dereliction of Kimmel and
Short consisted of failing to "consult and confer . . . respecting the
meaning and intent of the warnings" dispatched from Washington.
It need hardly be said that such action would not have been necessary
if the warnings were clear and precise.t By a curious exercise of in­
verted logic, the commission also advanced the contention that because
Washington was keeping them in the dark on the vital intelligence
obtained from Japanese code intercepts, Kimmel and Short by some

·Cf. pp. 238-39, 241, 253.
tCf. pp. 240-41.
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process of clairvoyance should have realized the necessity of placing a
more urgent degree of readiness in effect. The report said in this con­
nection, "Both commanders were handicapped by lack of information
as to Japanese dispositions and intent., The lack of such knowledge
rendered more urgent the initiation of a state of readiness for defense."
Kimmel and Short did not know until much later that Washington
even possessed information of the character which was being withheld
from them.

Adm. Kimmel said that the Roberts Commission had informed
him that he was not on trial. Kimmel, upon later inspection of the rec­
ord of his own testimony, said that he found so many errors in the rec­
ord that he spent two days correcting it, only to have the board refuse
to chang-e his statements as recorded originally. All that the investigators
would do finally was to attach the corrected statement to the minutes.
He said of the commission, "It permitted me to testify-that's all."22

Gen. Short said that upon his relief from command in Hawaii he
had reached Oklahoma City when he read the report of the Roberts
Commission in the press. He said:

When I read the findings of the Roberts Commission,
I was dumbfounded. To be accused of dereliction of duty after
almost 40 years of loyal and competent service was beyond my
comprehension. I immediately called Gen. Marshall on the
telephone. He was an old and trusted friend of 39 years' stand­
ing. I asked him what I should do-having the country and war
in mind should I retire? He replied, "Stand pat, but if it be­
comes necessary I will use this conversation as authority."

Short said that, having faith in Marshall's "judgment and loyalty,"
he wrote Marshall a personal letter and inclosed a formal applica­
tion for retirement, to be used only if Marshall thought it desirable.
His covering letter was not produced in evidence before the congres­
sional committee, but a memorandum from Marshall to Secretary
Stimson on January 26, 1942, reporting Short's telephone call of the
day before, stated, "I am now of the opinion that we should accept
Gen. Short's application for retirement today and do this quietly, with­
out any publicity at the moment. Adm. Stark has requested me to
advise him if we do this, as he proposes to communicate this fact to
Kimmel in the hope that Kimmel will likewise apply for retirement."
This correspondence demonstrates that, the day after reassuring Short,
Marshall took steps in secret to get rid of him.

The War Department's order accepting Short's application for re­
tirement was drafted after Stimson consulted Attorney General Fran-
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cis J. Biddle as to how it should be worded. As finally phrased,
Short's retirement was "accepted without condonation of any offense
or prejudice to any future disciplinary action." The implication of
this language was that Short faced court-martial action at some future
date, and its effect was to seal his lips and to prevent him from mak­
ing any defense of himself until he should be called for tria1.23

Once in possession of Short's resignation, Roosevelt, Knox, and
Stimson proceeded to use it as a lever to induce Kimmel to retire.
Adm. Stark notified him on orders from Secretary Knox that Short
had asked to be retired. "I took. this as a suggestion and I submitted
a similar request," Kimmel said. "Up to that time I never considered
retiring. It had not even entered my head, but I thought it over and
decided that if the Navy wanted it that way, I would not stand in
the way."

Kimmel thereupon forwarded a request for retirement to Wash­
ington' but two days after sending his application was informed by
Stark that the notification of Gen. Short's application was not meant
to influence him. Although he then modified his request for retire­
ment by telling the Navy he wanted to do whatever would best serve
the country, he received a letter from Knox on February 16 peremp­
torily ordering him to retire as of March 1, also "without condona­
tion of any offense or prejudice to future disciplinary action."

Six days afterward, in a letter to Stark, Kimmel said of this qual­
ifying clause,

I do not understand this paragraph unless it is to be pub­
lished to the country as a promise that I will be disciplined at
some future time. I stand ready at any time to accept the con­
sequences of my acts. I do feel, however, that my crucifixion
before the public has about reached the limit. I am in daily
receipt of letters from irresponsible people all over the country
taking me to task and even threatening to kill me. I am
not particularly concerned except as it shows the effect on the
public of articles published about me.

I regret the losses at Pearl Harbor just as keenly, or perhaps
more keenly, than any other American citizen. I wish that I
had been smarter than I was and able to foresee what hap­
pened on December 7, but I do think in all justice the depart­
ment should do nothing further to inflame the public against
me.24

Gen. Short expressed similar resentment before the congressional
committee. He said:
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I do not feel that I have been treated fairly or with justice
by the War Department. I was singled out as an example, as
the scapegoat for the disaster. My relatively small part in the
transaction was not explained to the American people until this
joint congressional committee forced the revelation of the facts.
I fully appreciate the desire of the War Department to preserve
the secrecy of the source of the so-called "Magic" [cracking
of the Japanese code], but I am sure that could have been done
without any attempt to deceive the public by a false pretense
that my judgment had been the sole factor causing the failure
of the army to fulfill its mission of defending the navy at Pearl
Harbor.

I am sure that an honest confession by the War Depart­
ment general staff of- their failure to anticipate the surprise
raid would have been understood by the public, in the long
run, and even at the time. Instead, they "passed the buck"
to me, and I have kept my silence until the opportunity of
this public forum was presented to me.25

Senator Ferguson asked him what meaning he wished to convey
when he said he had been made the "scapegoat."

"I meant just exactly what the common usage meant, that it was
some one that they saddled the blame on to get it off of themselves."

"In other words," suggested Ferguson, "they were in this position
-that some one had to take some blame for what happened at Pearl
Harbor, that certain people in Washington that you had named in
your opinion were to blame, that they shifted that blame over to
you as the commanding general at Hawaii, and therefore made you,
in the common language, a scapegoat?"

"That is exactly what I want to convey."26
Thus the Pearl Harbor commanders were driven in disgrace from

their professional careers, having been identified thoroughly in the
minds of the public as bearing the sole blame for the Pearl Harbor
disaster. The leaders of the Roosevelt administration and of its Army
and Navy high command, who were in possession of the untold story
of the catastrophe, saw to it that no hint of the concealed facts should
leak out. Censorship and the pretext of "national security" enabled
them for four years to suppress all facts which could damage them.

These men never confessed that they were in any way at fault
or that the slightest blame attached to them. None' of them resigned,
and in less than a year they went to the country in a national election
with the slogan that any political opponent "who had not been right
before Pearl Harbor" should be retired by the electorate.
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Representative Keefe, in "additional views" appended to the ma­
jority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (Maj., pp. 266-Q
to 266-S), said of the process employed in retiring the Hawaiian
commanders:

The President personally directed the method of handling
the requests for retirement of Kimmel and Short. On Jan. 29,
1942, he instituted a three-point program for dealing with the
matter. The Army and Navy were to act together. After a
week's waiting they were to announce that Kimmel and Short
had applied for retirement and that their applications were
under consideration. After another week had passed, public
announcement was to be made that the applications had been
accepted with the condition that acceptance did not bar sub­
sequent court-martial proceedings. Court-martial proceedings,
however, were to be described as impossible without the dis­
closure of military secrets. The wording of the condition in the
acceptance was troublesome to the administration. The President,
Secretary Stimson, Secretary Knox, and Attorney General Bid­
dle labored over the language (Tr., pp. 8462, 8464, Ex. 171). The
administration wanted to avoid public criticism for having
barred court-martial proceedings. On the other hand, it did
not wish to stimulate the public or the two officers to expect or
demand court-martial proceedings (Tr., p. 8464, 8467). Finally
language as suitable as possible was agreed upon. The phrase
to be used in accepting the retirement applications was "without
condonation of any offense or prejudice to future disciplinary
action." Adm. Kimmel and Gen. Short were each retired by
letters so worded, dated respectively, Feb. 16 and Feb. 17, 1942.
The Secretary of the Navy, in announcing the Navy's action,
stated that he had directed the preparation of charges for court
martial of Adm. Kimmel alleging dereliction of duty. The pub­
lic were informed that a trial could not be held until such time
as the public interest and safety would permit.

The public reaction was as planned. Kimmel and Short
were considered solely responsible for Pearl Harbor. The Roberts
report, considered by Justice Roberts as only an indictment, be­
came, in effect, a conviction. The two officers were helpless.
No court martial could be had. They had no way of defending
themselves. They remained in ignorance of what evidence the
Roberts Commission had heard. Adm. Stark wrote to Adm.
Kimmel on Feb. 21, 1942:

"Pending something definite, there is no reason why you
should not settle yourself in a quiet nook somewhere and let
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Old Father Time help the entire situation, which I feel he will
-if for no other reason than he always has (Ex. 121)."

The high civilian and military officials in Washington who
had skillfully maneuvered Kimmel and Short into the position
of exclusive blame knew at the time all the hidden facts about
Pearl Harbor, at least as much and probably more than this in­
vestigation has been able to uncover. As the two-year statutory
period for instituting court-martial proceedings was about to
expire, Kimmel and Short were requested by the Secretaries of
War and Navy to waive the Statute of Limitations. Adm. Kim­
mel did so but with the provision that any court martial be held
in "open court" (exhibit 171). Gen. Short did likewise (Tr., pp.
8496-99). Similar requests were not made of other officers, not
even of those who before this committee publicly accepted re­
sponsibility for certain failures of the high command in Wash­
ington.

In June of 1944 the Congress directed the Secretaries of War
and Navy to conduct investigations into the Pearl Harbor at­
tack. The War Department denied the Army Board of Investi­
gation access to the intercepted messages. Gen. Miles, director
of military intelligence at the time of Pearl Harbor, was ordered
by Gen. Marshall not to testify on the subject of the intercepts
(Tr., p. 11843). For a considerable period the Navy Court of
Inquiry was denied access to the same material (exhibit 195).
After repeated demands by Adm. Kimmel, the Navy Depart­
ment released this restriction upon its own court. The War
Department finally followed the same course. For the first
time, late in the board's proceedings, Army officers were per­
mitted to testify before the Army Board as to all details regard­
ing the intercepts (Tr., p. 12035)". But many important Army
witnesses had already testified under the limitations previously
ordered.

In the fall of 1944 the Army Board and Navy Court made
their reports to the Secretaries of the War and Navy. These re­
ports were critical of the conduct of Adm. Stark and Gen.
Marshall. The findings were not made public. The Navy
Court ex~nerated Adm. Kimmel. Adm. Kimmel's request to
read its report was refused by the Secretary of the Navy (Tr., p.
6811). The Secretaries of War and Navy instituted further secret
investigations dispensing with the services of the three-man
board and court previously established, and each entrusting the
conduct of proceedings to a single officer. Adm. Kimmel's re­
quest to be present at the further Navy investigation, to intro­
duce evidence, to confront and cross-examine witnesses, was
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denied by the Secretary of the Navy (Tr., p. 6812). The affi­
davits and testimony at the further investigations contain many
instances where witnesses gave evidence materially different
from that which they had previously sworn to before the army
board and the naval court. These changes were especially
marked in testimony of certain key witnesses on the subject of
the dissemination and evaluation of the intercepted messages in
Washington. Again, before this committee these same witnesses
further changed their testimony from that sworn to twice
previously, or pleaded lapses of memory.

The record of the high military and civilian officials of the
War and Navy Departments in dealing with the Pearl Harbor
disaster from beginning to end does them no credit. It will have
a permanent bad effect on the morale and integrity of the armed
services. The administration had ample opportunity to record
and preserve all the facts about Pearl Harbor, even if their pub­
lic disclosure needed to wait upon the war's end. This was not
done. The policy adopted was to place the public responsibility
for the disaster on the commanders in the field, to be left there
for all time. The policy failed only because suppression created
public suspicion, and the Congress was alert.



Chapter Five

THE BASING OF THE FLEET

WHY, AND at whose command, was the Pacific fleet based at Pearl
Harbor, within reach of the air striking arm of the Japanese navy?

The American fleet was started westward to the Pacific after
World War I by President Wilson. The creation ,of a separate Pacific
battle fleet was first announced in June, 1919. At the time it was
said that stationing a strong fleet in each ocean would stimulate a
spirit of rivalry within the service, and thus promote the efficiency of
the entire Navy. But even then the notion seemed to be entertained
that the fleet in the Pacific would constitute a "deterrent" to Japan,
whose star was rising with the acquisition, under League of Nations
mandate, of the German islands north of the equator.

By the end of 1919 the United States had assembled a fighting
fleet of two hundred units in the Pacific, a force almost as large as
the entire Japanese Navy of that day. Early in 1921 the Atlantic fleet
was sent to the Pacific for joint maneuvers. In June of that year, after
a Republican administration had returned to Washington, it was an­
nounced that it had been decided on the advice of naval authorities
to station most of our fighting ships permanently in the Pacific, but
to base them upon southern California.

In 1932 the security of the Pearl Harbor base was tested in Adm.
Yarnell's mock attack. Yarnell's surprise should have resulted in
serious misgivings as to the safety of the fleet while anchored in har­
bor.* In 1936, however, the American fleet was again taken to Pearl
Harbor by its commander, Rear Adm. Joseph M. Reeves, subsequently
a member of the Roberts Commission. On May 27 the battleship
divisions and supporting craft-a fleet of one hundred sixty-five ships
-moved into Pearl Harbor for a test of the base as an anchorage for
the entire fleet. Because the harbor entrance was being dredged, three

·Cf. pp. 17-18.
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carriers, the "Lexington," "Saratoga," and "Ranger," were left off­
shore. The Roberts report, to which Reeves subscribed, recognized
that there were diverse views respecting the basing of the entire fleet
at Pearl Harbor, but stated, "We feel that the national policy in this
matter is one that has been settled by those responsible for such de­
cisions and that it is not within our province."

In 1939 the fleet shifted its war games from the West Coast to
the Caribbean in what was regarded as a gesture of warning to Hitler
and Mussolini that the United States would stand behind the nations
opposing their ambitions. While the fleet was on the East Coast it
was planned to hold a grand review in connection with the New
York world's fair.

On April 16, 1939, however, the fleet unexpectedly was ordered
back to the Pacific without explanation. This was about a month
after Hitler had violated the Munich pact by absorbing all of Czecho­
slovakia, and eight days after Mussolini had marched into Albania.
The return of the fleet to the Pacific was regarded as evidence of an
agreement with Britain under which the British fleet would safeguard
the Atlantic in the event of war, while the American fleet stood watch
over the Pacific.

After its return from the Caribbean, the main body of the fleet
remained at San Diego until January, 1940, when it proceeded to
Hawaii for war games. On February 3 the first step was taken to
convert Pearl Harbor into the permanent base for a substantial num­
ber of fleet units. It was reported that the base would become the
home port for a Hawaiian detachment consisting of thirteen ships:
the heavy cruisers "Indianapolis," "Northhampton," "Houston,"
"Pensacola," "Salt Lake City," "Minneapolis," "Astoria," and "New
Orleans," the light cruiser "Raleigh," the destroyer tender "Dobbin,"
and the minesweepers "Kingfisher," "Partridge," and "Turkey."

On May 7, 1940, the Navy announced that the entire fleet would
remain at Pearl Harbor indefinitely. This represented a radical de­
parture in American naval policy. Until this time it had been the
Navy's policy to keep the fleet on the West Coast and to send it into
blue water only in a period of tension. Not until the congressional
investigation of 1945-46 would it be explained why this policy was
abandoned and at whose behest.

On May 10, three days after the announcement that the fleet would
be concentrated at Pearl Harbor, the German blitzkrieg in the west
roared over the frontiers of Holland, Belgium, Luxembourg, and
France. On the same day Winston Churchill succeeded Neville
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Chamberlain as prime minister. As the Germans surged on toward
completion of the conquest of all western Europe, it might have
seemed to Mr. Roosevelt that he had his fleet in the wrong ocean.
But he was inclined to dismiss the proposal for creation of a two­
ocean navy as a crackpot idea.

At his press conference on May 14 he said that a two-ocean navy
was "an entirely outmoded conception of naval defense."l He asked
Congress for 50,000 airplanes, authority to muster the National Guard
into federal service, and appropriations of a billion dollars for the
Army and Navy. After that, he said, Congress could adjourn.

Congress, however, insisted on staying in session. It voted 5 bil­
lion dollars for defense and, on July 19, authorized a two-ocean navy.
The Atlantic forces rapidly grew so large that a separate Atlantic
fleet was created. But, to bolster this fleet, which was soon to enter
into an undeclared war against Germany by executive order, the
Pacific fleet was stripped of many of its major units. Steadily
weakened, it still remained at Pearl Harbor-a temptation to Japan
when the time would be ripe. This policy of splitting the fleet was
severely criticized in 1941 by Capt. W. D. Puleston in his book, The
Armed Forces of the Pacific.

"Until the two-ocean navy is completed," Puleston said, "the
Navy should be concentrated in one fleet and kept in one ocean. At
their present strengths the Pacific and Atlantic fleets would need to
be brought together before undertaking a major campaign in either
ocean."2

In June, 1940, national attention was focused on the Pacific fleet
when it made a sudden and mysterious dash from its base. It is now
known that the high command in Washington, after losing radio
contact with the Japanese fleet, which unaccountably had gone into
radio silence, had secretly alerted the Hawaiian garrison against the
possibility of a trans-Pacific raid. Gen. Marshall, the Army chief of
staff, ordered the troops of Gen. Herron's Hawaiian command to go
on an all-out alert, occupying field positions with full equipment and
ammunition.·

The fleet, under command of Adm. J. O. Richardson, had put to
sea, not only to increase its security through freedom of maneuver,
but to intercept any enemy fleet which might be approaching. At the
end of a week the fleet returned to Hawaiian waters. The only ex­
planation offered for its unexpected departure was that it had been
engaged in routine training exercises. The Army, however, main-

·Cf. p. 246.
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tained its alert for more than six weeks, although the fact was not
made public for more than a year.

The congressional investigation in 1945 disclosed that the 1940
alert was based on the premise that an attack at any time on Hawaii
by Japan "could not be ruled out because a large part of the fleet was
based there." This estimate had been submitted to Chief of Staff
Marshall by Maj. Gen. George V. Strong, chief of Army war plans
in 1940.3 It reduced to its simplest terms the obligation of the high
command to put Hawaii on a full alert whenever available informa­
tion indicated that there was a possibility of a sudden stroke against
the fleet. Wherever the fleet was, so Gen. Strong reasoned, there
would the danger be greatest. The conclusion was obvious.' It per­
suaded Gen. Marshall in 1940, for he promptly directed an all-out
alert. Why, in November and December, 1941, when he knew the
danger to be far greater, he did not follow a similar course is one of
the unanswered mysteries.

Gen. Strong's view as to the inevitability of the place of attack
was echoed by Capt. A. H. McCollum, head of the Far Eastern sec­
tion of naval intelligence. He testified before the congressional com­
mittee that he had felt for many years that the Japanese would open
hostilities by attacking our fleet wherever it was.rs

The story of who sent the fleet to Pearl Harbor and why it was
ordered there was first explained in testimony before the congressional
committee in November, 1945, by Adm. Richardson.6 Richardson had
taken up his duties as commander-in-chief of the United States fleet
on January 5, 1940. The fleet at that time was based at the California
ports of San Diego, San Pedro, and Long Beach. It proceeded to sea
on spring maneuvers, arriving at Lahaina Roads in Hawaii on April
10. It was supposed to depart on May 9, but two days before the
scheduled date Richardson was notified by Adm. Stark that there
would be a delay of two weeks.

In explaining this decision, Stark wrote Richardson:

Just hung up the telephone after talking with the President
and by the time this reaches you, you will have received word
to remain in Hawaiian waters for a couple of weeks. When
the fleet returns to the coast (and I trust the delay will not be
over two weeks, but I cannot tell) the President has asked that
the fleet schedule be so arranged that on extremely short notice
the fleet will be able to return concentrated to Hawaiian waters.7

Stark explained that, with Italy expected to enter the European
war at any moment, nobody could guess what lay ahead, and that
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the decision to retain the fleet at Pearl Harbor was related to the
uncertainties of the situation. The letter shows that Roosevelt, using
his "commander-in-chief" powers, was making decisions for the
Navy, and that the order to keep the fleet at Oahu was his.

Richardson, in response to this communication, wrote Stark,

It seems that, under present world-conditions, the paramount
thing for us is the security of the western hemisphere. This, in
my opinion, transcends everything-anything certainly in the
Far East, our own or other interests.

South America is the greatest prize yet remaining to be
grabbed. Until the outcome in Europe can be more clearly seen,
security in the western hemisphere seems to be the most impor­
tant consideration to us.

I feel that any move west [toward Japan and Asia] means
hostilities. I feel that at this time it would be a grave mistake
to become involved in the west, where our interests, although
important, are not vital, and thereby reduce our ability to main­
tain the security of the western hemisphere, which is vital.

If the fleet is to go west it can only start, properly prepared,
from the West Coast where it can be docked, manned, stocked
and stripped, and a suitable train assembled.8

On May 22, still at Pearl Harbor, Richardson sent another letter
to Stark demanding to know why the fleet was being kept in Hawaii.
He asked:

Are we here primarily to influence the actions of other na­
tions by our presence, and if so, what effect would the carrying
out of normal training ... have on this purpose? . . . Are we
here as a stepping off place for belligerent activity? If so, we
should devote all our time and energies to preparing for war.
. .'. This could more effectively and expeditiously be accom­
plished by an immediate return to the West Coast. . . . As it
is now, to try to do both (train and prepare for belligerent ac­
tion) from here and at the same time is a diversification of
effort and purpose that can only result in the accomplishment
of neither.

Stark on May 27 replied to the question of why Richardson was
in the Hawaiian area by saying,

You are there because of the deterrent effect which it is
thought your presence may have on the Japs going into the
East Indies.... You would naturally ask-suppose the Japs do
go into the East Indies? What are we going to do about it?
My answer to that is, I don't know and I think there is nobody
on God's green earth who can tell you.
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On June 22 Stark advised Richardson that the fleet was to remain
. "tentatively" in Pearl Harbor. Richardson continued his protests

against retaining the fleet in Hawaii. On September 12 he filed a
memorandum with Stark listing his objections as follows:

1. Difficulty, delay, and cost of transporting men, munitions,
and supplies.

2. Inadequacy of Lahaina as operating anchorage because of
lack of security.

3. Inadequacy of Pearl Harbor as an operating anchorage
because of difficulties of entry, berthing, and departure of large
ships.

4. Congested and restricted operating areas in the air and on
f the surface.

5. Inadequate facilities for fleet services, training, recreation,
and housing.

6. Prolonged absence from mainland of officers and men in
time of peace adversely affects morale.

7. In case of war, necessary for fleet to return to mobilization
ports on west coast or accept partial and unorganized mobiliza­
tion measures, resulting in confusion and a net loss of time.

Richardson continued:

If the disposition of the fleet were determined solely by naval
considerations, the major portion of the fleet should return to
its normal Pacific coast bases because such basing would facili­
tate its training and its preparation for war.

If factors other than purely naval ones are to influence the
decision as to where the fleet should be based at this time, the
naval factors should be fully presented and carefully considered,
as well as the probable effect of the decision on the readiness
of the fleet. In other words, is it more important to lend strength
to diplomatic representations in the Pacific by basing the fleet
in the Hawaiian area, than to facilitate its preparation for active
service in any area by basing the major part of it on normal
Pacific coast bases?

In case our relations with another Pacific nation deteriorate,
what is the State Department's conception of our next move?
Does it believe that the fleet is now mobilized and that it could
embark on a campaign directly from Hawaii or safely conduct
necessary training from the insecure anchorage at Lahaina,
which is 2,000 miles nearer enemy submarine bases than our
normal Pacific coast bases?

Adm. Richardson felt so strongly about these matters that when
he was called to Washington, he took them up directly with the
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President. On October 8 he was received by Roosevelt for a White
House luncheon conference. Adm. William D. Leahy, then governor
of Puerto Rico, who later became Presidential chief of staff, was also
present.

Richardson had felt for a long time that the President's disposi­
tion to ignore competent professional advice and formulate his own
war strategy was dangerous to the nation and to the fleet. On Jan­
uary 26, before the fleet was ordered to Pearl Harbor, he had ex­
pressed himself vehemently in a private letter to Adm. Stark:

I strongly feel that you should repeatedly impress on the
boss that an Orange [Japanese] war would probably last some
years and cost much money, my guess is five to ten years, 3S
to 70 billion dollars. . . . We ought not to go into a thing like
this unless we expected to see it through.

I hesitate to write you because the written word is so easily
misunderstood. Also I do not know what your ideas are, what
you are telling the boss, what is the meaning of our diplomatic
moves, or our senators' talks, or our neutrality patrol. But you
are the principal and only Naval adviser to the boss and he
should know that our fleet cannot just sail away, lick Orange,
and be back home in a year or so. Also the probable cost of
any war should be compared [to] the probable value of win­
ning the war • . • •

All of this letter may be needless, but I know that if you
do not tell the boss what you really know and feel about the
probable cost and duration of an Orange war, NOBODY WILL.*

Asked before the congressional committee who "the boss" was,
Richardson retorted, "The President of the United States, known
by (sic) the Constitution as the commander-in-chief of the Army and
NavyP'9

Stark, in response to these promptings, made a half-hearted attempt
to talk sense to the commander-in-chief, but was rebuffed. Describ­
ing his lack of success, he said, "I asked the President several times
what our Navy's role would be if Japan made war on British posses­
sions. He just didn't answer. Once he said, 'Don't ask me those
questions'. I don't think he knew the answer."lO

Richardson was well aware when he came to Washington that
no one else had been able to deter Roosevelt from his career as a
one-man general staff, working through intuition. He determined,
however, to make one last attempt himself. The admiral said:

·The two words were capitalized and underscored.
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My mISSIon was primarily to find out what was back of
our intentions in the Pacific and to ascertain the duration of
the stay of the fleet in Pearl Harbor. I took up with the Presi­
dent the question of returning to the Pacific coast all of the
fleet except the Hawaiian detachment. The President stated
that the fleet was retained in the Hawaiian area in order to ex­
ercise a restraining influence on the actions of Japan.

I stated that in my opinion the presence of the fleet in
Hawaii might influence a civilian political government, but
that Japan had a military government which knew the fleet
was undermanned, unprepared for war, and had no train of
auxiliary ships, without which it could not undertake active
operations. Therefore, the presence of the fleet in Hawaii could
not exercise a restraining influence on Japanese action.

I further stated we were more likely to make the Japanese
feel that we meant business if a train were assembled and the
fleet returned to the Pacific coast, the complements filled, the
ships docked and fully supplied with ammunition, provisions,
stores, and fuel, and then stripped for war operations.

The President said in effect, "Despite what you believe, I
know that the presence of the fleet in the Hawaiian area has
had and is now having a restraining influence on the actions
of Japan."

I said, "Mr. President, I still do not believe it and I know
that our fleet is disadvantageously disposed for preparing for
or initiating war operations."

The President then said, "I can be convinced of the desir­
ability of returning the battleships to the West Coast if I can
be given a good statement which will convince the American
people and the Japanese government that in bringing the bat­
tleships to the west coast we are not stepping backwardsl"

Later I asked the President if we were going to enter the
war. He replied that if the Japanese attacked Thailand, or
the Kra Peninsula, or the Dutch East Indies, we would not enter
the war; that even if they attacked the Philippines he doubted
whether we would enter the war, but that they could not
always avoid making mistakes, and that as the war continued
and the area of operations expanded, sooner or later they would
make a mistake and we would enter the war.11

Within a month the nation would vote on Roosevelt's third-term
aspirations. He was telling Adm. Richardson that in the end Japan
"would make a mistake and we would enter the war," but three
weeks later he would address the parents of the nation and, in his
Boston broadcast, make his famous pledge, "I have said this before,
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but I shall say it again and again and again: Your sons are not going
to be sent into any foreign wars."12

Although he was now telling his fleet commander that the United
States would not even fight in defense of the Philippines, an Amer­
ican possession, let alone in defense of Siam or the British and Dutch
colonies, within three months he would commission his Army and
Navy high command to initiate staff conversations with the British
and Dutch which committed this country to fight in defense of their
colonies.·

He was frank only when he expressed belief that some Japanese
"mistake" would serve as the casus belli.

Two days after this meeting at the White House, Adm. Richard­
son learned more about Roosevelt's plans concerning the Pacific fleet.
He was summoned to a conference in the office of Secretary Knox,
together with Adm. Stark, Adm. Royal E. Ingersoll, deputy chief
of operations; Capt. C. M. Cook, of Stark's staff, and Comdr. Vincent
R. Murphy, Richardson's aide. Richardson related:

The Secretary stated that he had important information
bearing on the employment of the fleet. He stated that he had
just talked to the President and that the President was con­
cerned about the Japanese reaction to the British decision to
reopen the Burma road October 17.

In the event of drastic Japanese action, Knox said, the Presi­
dent was considering shutting off all trade between Japan and
America and establishing a patrol of light ships in two lines,
one from Hawaii west to the Philippines, and the other from
Samoa to the Dutch East Indies.

The question was raised whether this included stopping Jap
ships as well as others. The view was expressed that this would
be an act of war. I asked if the President was considering a
declaration of war. The Secretary said the President hadn't said.

"All I know is what I've been told," the Secretary said. I
was amazed at the proposal. I said the fleet was not prepared
to put such a plan into effect and war would be the certain
result of such a course of action. I said we would be certain
to lose many ships.

There was further discussion that such a line of ships would
disperse the units and leave them exposed to destruction. It
was said that the best way to control shipping would be to con­
trol the source of the trade by control of the relatively few
ports involved. I, in particular, protested.

The Secretary appeared displeased at the general reaction,
·Cf. pp. 104-16, 367-69.
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and mine in particular and said, "1 am not a strategist; if you
don't like the President's plan, draw up one of your own to
accomplish the same purpose." The interview ended with Adm.
Stark and 1 agreeing to draw up a tentative plan of operations
in connection with the reopening of the Burma road.ls

The plan drafted by Stark and Richardson provided for the trans­
fer to the Pacific of an aircraft carrier, planes, one or two cruisers, and
some destroyers. "Adm. Stark," said Richardson, "was not prepared
to approve the plan. He said he would talk with the President and
let me know later. When the plan was completed, both Secretary
Knox and the President were away from Washington. All 1 ever
heard of the plan after that was a directive from Adm. Stark to send
a copy of it to Adm Hart, commander of the Asiatic squadron."

This astonishing scheme to put Japan under blockade was ad­
vanced by Roosevelt three weeks before his "again and again and
again" speech and a month before the national election. He could
not have been unaware that it inevitably would have led to war.
Yet, while keeping such projects secret from the country, h:e was busy
assuring the electorate that he firmly intended to stay out of war.

The plan shows Roosevelt as a reckless amateur naval strategist
who thought that ships could be disposed about the oceans in the
way that a child places dominoes on a board. If the plan had ever
been put into effect, Japan would have been able to destroy the fleet
piecemeal, for it would have been so dispersed that no warship could
support any other. Hitler at his intuitive worst never engaged in such
fantasies.

While in Washington, Richardson related, he was subjected from
many sides to the theory that the fleet at Pearl Harbor was a deter­
rent to Japan. The State Department, it seemed to him, was the lead­
ing exponent of this school of thought. Secretary Hull, he said, "felt
we should take a very strong position in regard to Japan. And he
felt that the retention of the fleet in Hawaii reflected that strong
attitude."

Adm. Richardson said he gathered the impression from his Wash­
ington visit that Dr. Stanley Hornbeck, then adviser to the State
Department on Far East relations and now ambassador to Holland,
was regarded by the administration as the unofficial commander-in­
chief of the fleet. The admiral said:

Whether wrong or not, after talking with Dr. Hornbeck I
was distinctly of the impression that he was exercising greater
influence over the disposition of the fleet than I was. In my



THE BASING OF THE FLEET 61

notebook at the time I wrote my impression that he was "the
strong man on the Far East and the cause of our staying in
Hawaii, where he will hold us as long as he can." He was,
however, unwilling to accept the responsibility for the retention
of the fleet in Hawaii. I told him he was completely wrong,
even though he was the State Department's adviser on foreign
affairs and had written many books on the subject.1

'

The evidence is abundant that the State Department, together with
Roosevelt, was running the Navy, although it did not trouble to take
the field commanders who would be forced to bear the brunt of the
consequences of its action into its confidence by keeping them abreast
of diplomatic developments.·

Adm. Stark said that a year before the war began the State De­
partment wanted to extend its policy of using the Navy as a "deter­
rent" to Japan by sending a naval detachment to the Philippines. He
said that facilities were lacking in the Philippines to maintain a siz­
able naval force. "The Navy," he said at the time, "already is faced
with enough difficulty maintaining the Pacific fleet at Pearl Harbor."
In letters to Adm. Kimmel, he referred to State Department sugges­
tions as "childish."lcs

Stark said, however, that he did agree to a scheme cooked up in
combination by Roosevelt and the State Department to keep naval
vessels "popping up" at various points in the Western Pacific so that
the Japs would be left guessing.

"Did the State Department want to use the Navy in a diplomatic
way?" Stark was asked.

"They wanted to use it in supporting diplomacy in any way they
thought effective," the admiral replied.18

In a letter to Richardson on March 15, 1940, Stark indicated that
the State Department had had a hand in sending the original Hawai­
ian detachment of thirteen warships to Pearl Harbor. "I still think
that the decision to send the detachment to Hawaii under present
world-conditions is sound," he asserted. "No one can measure how
much effect its presence there may have on the Orange foreign policy.
The State Department is strong for the present setup and considers
it beneficial; they were in on all discussions, press releases, etc."

Sumner Welles, Undersecretary of State, said that the only dis-

·The irresponsibility of the State Department in military matters is reflected in the
statement in the minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (p. 29): "The
State Department seemed to labor under the impression that the United States could
defeat Japan in a few weeks." The minority adds that the same kind of thinking
permeated the annual report of Secretary of the Navy Knox, released December 6, 1941.
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cussion of Pearl Harbor in numerous State Department conferences
was of its strategic position in the Pacific. No one in the department,
he said, regarded Pearl Harbor as an object of attack, but he said he
recalled conversations with Richardson in which the fleet commander
expressed "grave concern" because the fleet was not secure in the base.

He said the State Department opposed Richardson's suggestion
that the fleet be moved to the Pacific Coast because such a step, in
the opinion of department officers, would have given the Chinese the
impression that we were withdrawing from the Pacific and would
have been an invitation to the Japanese to "move in." When he
talked to Richardson, Welles said, he did not believe that P'earl Har­
bor was in danger of attack. That, he said, was a question for the
President and the Navy Department to decide.

"So the President had the Navy Department and State Depart­
ment views before him and it was up to him to make the decision
about moving the fleet, basing it on the information before him?"
Welles was asked.

"That is correct," Welles said.11

Joseph C. Grew, former ambassador to Tokyo, also echoed the
State Department opinion that the fleet, in Hawaii, was a "deter­
rent." He said that he hadn't been consulted on the subject of basing
the fleet at Pearl Harbor, but that he did think it had a restraining
influence on Japan and was "more or less useful there."

"What restraining influence did it have on December 7, 1941?"
Grew was asked.

"Definitely no effect," he replied.
Grew explained that he did not know that the fleet was under­

manned, undersupplied, and totally unprepared for war, as Richard­
son testified, and that keeping it bottled up in harbor would have
no effect in deterring Japan from aggressive action.18

Under examination by members of the congressional committee,
Adm. Richardson was asked, "Was the fleet in Pearl Harbor a restrain­
ing influence, as the President contended?"

"I didn't think so when I was talking to him and I haven't
changed my mind!" Richardson responded.

"Did the Japs know the deficiencies of our Navy?"
"I never had any doubt that they did," Richardson replied. "The

Secretary of the Navy told me the Japs knew more about our fleet
than I did!"

"Was any definite order issued to keep the fleet in Pearl Harbor
after it arrived there from fleet maneuvers in May, 1940?"
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"There was never a definite order," Richardson replied. "We just
gradually drifted into staying."

"After your argument with the President in October, 1940, over
the basing of the fleet, when did you next hear from him?"

"I never heard from him again," the admiral said. "I never saw
him again."19

Returning to Hawaii, Richardson wrote a memorandum to Stark
from Bremerton, Washington, in which he said that he wanted to
stress his firm conviction that "neither the Navy nor the country
was prepared for war with Japan." He stated:

It now appears that more active, more open steps aimed at
Japan are in serious contemplation and that these steps, if taken
now, may lead to hostilities. The present Orange plan [for
attack against Japan] is believed beyond the present strength
of the United States fleet and beyond the present resources of
the United States Navy. The strength of the fleet is not suffi­
cient. We cannot at this time, even with Great Britain assum­
ing responsibility for our Atlantic interests, denude the ocean
of sufficient forces to protect our coastal trade and to safeguard
our more vital interests in South America. Nor can we neglect
the protection of our own and the interdiction of Japanese trade
in the Southeastern Pacific.

The Army is not now prepared and will not in the future
be prepared to support our western advance. The Fleet Marine
Force is not sufficient to support the necessary operations alone.20

A month later, on November 22, Stark wrote Richardson a letter
which was significant in that it conceded that the fleet at Pearl Har­
bor was vulnerable. "Much is being done by the Army, and by the
Navy in support of the Army, to maintain security of the Panama
Canal," the chief of naval operations stated. "Of at least equal im­
portance is the security of our fleet against sudden destructive attack.
And the fleet is, as usually must be the case, in a more exposed situa­
tion."

Adm. Richardson remained in his command only four months
after he took issue with Roosevelt. On February 1, 1941, after only
thirteen months in a post where the normal tour of duty was two
years, he was relieved. His successor, Adm. Kimmel, was designated
not only commander-in-chief of the United States fleet, but com­
mander-in-chief of the Pacific fleet, a new command created with his
accession.

Richardson reported in Washington to Secretary Knox on March
24, 1941. "When I saw the Secretary," he related, "I said, 'In all my
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experience in the Navy, I have never known of a flag officer being
detached in the same manner as I, and I feel lowe it to myself to
know why.' The Secretary said the President would send for me and
talk the matter over."

"Did the President ever send for you?" Richardson was asked.
"He did not."
"Did you seek a meeting with the President?"
"By no means."
"Did anything the Secretary say to you indicate to you why you

had been detached?"
"He told me, 'The last time you were here you hurt the Presi­

dent's feelings.' "21
Adm. Richardson was not alone in the belief that the fleet at Oahu

served no sensible purpose-that it could neither act as a "deterrent"
to Japan, as the administration believed, nor take the offensive from
its Pearl Harbor base.

Adm. Stark, said Richardson, supported him. The ousted com­
mander said:

It is my belief that had Adm. Stark been uninfluenced by
other considerations, he'd have agreed wholeheartedly with me
on that point. His letters show that in many instances. When
I was given permission to return one-third of the fleet at a
time to the Pacific coast for replenishment of supplies and ob­
taining additional men, Adm. Stark said that he gave the order
"with great pleasure."22

Stark, when called to testify, said that he agreed with Richardson
originally on the inadvisability of basing the fleet at Pearl Harbor,
but by the time Kimmel was appointed commander he was inclined
to believe that the fleet, at Hawaii, was a deterrent to Japan. He
said that he had had one conversation with Roosevelt in which the
question of withdrawing the fleet was discussed. One view, he said,
was that withdrawal to the coast, followed by a return to Hawaii,
would have diplomatic repercussions.

"Whenever I'm in doubt and don't know what is best," Stark
quoted Roosevelt as saying, "I find it best to sit tight."28

Roosevelt sat tight and the fleet stayed at Pearl Harbor.
Adm. Kimmel, who inherited command from Richardson, said

In his testimony before the Roberts Commission:

I knew that the Navy Department and the administration
in Washington insisted on keeping the fleet out here. I knew
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of the vulnerability of the fleet here. I thought it was appre­
ciated in the Navy Department as well as by me, but it was
one of the things I felt was beyond my power to change.

I had the choice of saying I would not stay and to get
another commander-in-chief, or to remain. Naturally, I wish
I had taken the other course at the present time, but I did not.24

Adm. Leahy testified that he "was in complete disagreement"
with the school of thought which contended that the fleet, in Hawaii,
could exercise a restraining influence on Japan. "It was certainly not
a restraining influence," Leahy said, "if it was not ready for war.
I'm in complete agreement with Adm. Richardson on that."2~

Adm. Kimmel said that, because of the depletion of fuel oil reserves,
and because he possessed no air cover which would safeguard the
fleet if it put to sea, he had no option except to keep his ships in
harbor after dispatching his two carrier forces to Wake and Midway
Islands on orders from Washington just before the Japanese surprise.·
It was also necessary to keep the ships in harbor, he said, so that they
could be altered in line with current war experiences.26

Adm. Stark, in turn, said he had no criticism of Kimmel for keep­
ing the remainder of the fleet, including eight battleships, in harbor.
There was a difference of opinion in naval circles, he said, as to
whether the fleet was safer at sea or in port, where there were harbor
defenses and short-range fighter planes for protection.27 From this
testimony, it is apparent that the fatal mistake was in sending the
fleet to Oahu in the first place. That decision was Roosevelt's. The
minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (pp. 49-53) ob­
served:

The decision to base the fleet at Pearl Harbor was made by
the President in March 1940, over the protest of Admiral Rich-
ardson. . . . .

When this decision to base the fleet at Pearl Harbor was
made, certain definite facts in relation to such base must be pre­
sumed to have been fully known and appreciated by the re­
sponsible command at Washington.

The base is a shallow-water base with limited base mobility,
with no chance for concealment or camouflage and without
·The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (p. 54) states: "The

fuel reserves were insufficient, limiting full use of the fleet at sea, required constant
augmentation from the mainland, and the location of such fuel supplies was such as
to make them vulnerable to any raiding attack. The fleet was required to come into
the base at frequent intervals to refuel. The facilities at the base made such refueling
slow. The fleet was without a sufficient supply of fast tankers to permit refueling at
sea, and there was ever present the inescapable fact that a destruction of the fuel supply
would necessarily immobilize the entire fleet."
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enough air beaches to properly park the necessary defensive air
equipment. Entrance to the base is by a narrow winding chan­
nel requiring sorties at reduced speed, and in single file, and
presenting the possibility of a blockade of the base by an air or
submarine attack on the entrance.

The base is surrounded by high land immediately adjacent
to the city of Honolulu, thereby affording full public famili­
arity with installations and movements within the base at all
times.

The base is located on an island where the population was
heavily Japanese, and where, as was well known, Japanese espi­
onage was rampant, and making it probable that any defensive
insufficiency of any kind or nature would be open to Japanese
information.

All of the fuel for the base must be transported, by tanker,
from the mainland more than 2,000 miles away, thus intensify­
ing the necessity for complete defensive equipment and sup­
plies for the base.

The waters about Oahu are of a depth facilitating the con­
cealed movement of submarines, and the near approach of sub­
marines to the shore, thereby favoring such methods of hostile
attack.

The approaches to Oahu cover a full circle of 360°, with
open sea available on all sides.

The situation thus confronting the Pacific fleet upon reach­
ing its Pearl Harbor base seems entirely clear. Before the base
could be a safe base, it must be supplied with adequate defense
facilities, which facilities must be in kind and amount in rela­
tion to the physical characteristics of the base above referred to.
An absence of adequate defensive facilities directly increased
the peril of the fleet. Since the decision to base the fleet at Pearl
Harbor was made at Washington, the responsibility for provid­
ing proper base defense for the fleet rested primarily upon
Washington. (See Stark letter, Nov. 22, 1940, Tr., Vol. 5, pp.
706 fI.) ....

The record discloses that with full knowledge of the defense
necessities inherent in the defense of the Pearl Harbor base, and
with full knowledge of the dangers and peril imposed upon
the fleet while based at the Pearl Harbor base, and with full
knowledge of the equipment essential to a proper protection
of the fleet at such base, it was decided by President Roosevelt
to remove the fleet from the mainland bases and base it at Pearl
Harbor....

We are forced to conclude, therefore, that in view of the
obligations assumed by the government in other military thea-
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ters, . . . . and the consequent inability of the government to
properly contribute to the safety of the fleet at Pearl Harbor,
that the only alternative left which might have relieved the fleet
from the resultant peril would have been to have changed the
original decision to base the fleet at Pearl Harbor, and thereupon
return the fleet to its several mainland bases. It appears obvious
that the safety of the fleet would have been helped by such re­
moval. The perimeter of a defense at a mainland base would
only be 1800 instead of 360 0

, thus permitting distant patrol re­
connaissance by one-half as many planes. The transportation
and supply facilities to the mainland base would be immensely
improved, as would all necessary communication facilities. The
mobility of the fleet at a mainland base would have been im­
proved and the concentration of the fleet in a single limited base
would have been avoided. We therefore are of the opinion that
the fleet should not have' been based at Pearl Harbor unless
proper base defenses were assured.

Since no such change in policy was approved, and the fleet
remained based at Pearl Harbor without the necessary defense
equipment to which we have referred-plus the fact that the
precise status of the defense weakness must be assumed to have
been open to the unusual Japanese espionage operating in Ha­
waii, and therefore that the Tokyo war office must be assumed
to have been cognizant of the status of affairs at Pearl Harbor,
we are forced to conclude that the failure to remove the fleet
from Pearl Harbor to the mainland must be viewed as an im­
portant relevant factor necessarily involved in the success of
the Japanese attack on Dec. 7.

When asked before the congressional committee whether he
thought the fleet, at Hawaii, was a deterrent to Japanese aggression,
Adm. Kimmel said the Jap attack on the fleet was a sufficient answer
to this theory. "They made an attack," he said. "The facts speak for
themselves."28
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THE FLEET suffered a crushing disaster on December 7, 1941, but the
Japanese attack produced one unexpectedly advantageous result. With
eight battleships knocked out, the fleet was forced to rely on carriers
and fast cruisers. The change which the battleship admirals had re­
jected nine years before after Adm. Yarnell's simulated carrier attack
on Oahu was thrust upon them by circumstances. At the time, how­
ever, few high officers viewed the matter in this light. In fact, a kind
of paralysis seized the high command, and with the exception of a
carrier raid by Adm. Halsey's task force in the Gilbert and Marshall
Islands on January 31, 1942, the Pacific fleet saw almost no action
for many months to come.

The attack on Pearl Harbor had demonstrated many flagrant errors
in the traditional concepts held by the Army and Navy. Pearl Har­
bor in itself was valuable only as an advance fleet and air base from
which American forces could sally forth to seek out an enemy and,
as a collateral effect, protect the security of the mainland. Lying
2,091 miles west of San Francisco and 3,397 miles from Yokosuka
naval base at Yokohama, it was strategically placed to serve as a
spring-board against Japan. Aside from the thesis of President Roose­
velt and the State Department that the fleet at Pearl Harbor served
as a "deterrent" to the Japanese, the fleet was at Hawaii for ho other
reason than to be able to take the offensive immediately war was
declared and to advance against the Japanese fleet and Japanese out­
posts in the Pacific.

It was necessary, of course, to prevent the Hawaiian Islands from
falling into the hands of the enemy and especially to safeguard the
fleet while it was in harbor. The division of responsibilities in achiev­
ing these purposes as outlined under the joint Army-Navy coastal
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frontier defense plan, which was approved April 11, 1941, was as
follows:

A. Joint Task-To hold Oahu as a main outlying naval base,
and to protect shipping in the coastal zone.

B. Army Task-To hold Oahu against attacks by sea, land,
and air forces, against hostile sympathizers, and to support the
naval forces.

c. Navy Task-To control the coastal zone and to control
and protect shipping therein, and to support the Army forces.!

The protection of the base and of the fleet was primarily the duty
of the Army, and for this purpose Oahu was garrisoned on December
7 by 40,469 men and 2,490 ofllcers.2 The Army operated the coast
defense guns, all anti-aircraft batteries except those on naval ships,
most of the pursuit aircraft on the island, an inshore air patrol extend­
ing 20 miles to sea, and the aircraft warning service. To the Navy
was assigned distance reconnaissance extending from 200 to 600 miles
to sea.'

The very fact that the fleet was in harbor increased the respon­
sibilities of the Army, because the fleet when tied up ,vas not in a
position to support the Army forces, either by reconnaissance or by
being at sea on an operational basis in the waters adjacent to the
islands. When· in harbor, the fleet was temporarily immobilized and
at its most vulnerable.

The Army and Navy had, as they thought, made adequate pro­
vision for the protection of the base and fleet, but latent in the thoughts
of the high command was the belief that Pearl Harbor was itself
invulnerable. This outlook was reflected in an aide memoire on the
defense of Hawaii which Gen. Marshall delivered to President Roose­
velt May 3, 1941. This memorandum stated flatly, "The island of
Oahu, due to its fortification, its garrison, and physical characteristics,
is believed to be the strongest fortress in the world."4 The memoran­
dum went on to say that any enemy force would be under constant
attack from the time it approached within 750 miles of Oahu. This
estimate presupposed that Hawaii had the necessary planes for long­
range reconnaissance and was using them for that purpose, whereas
neither fact was true.

When Adm. Kimmel took command of the Pacific fleet on Febru­
ary 1, 1941, he was "astounded at the then existing weakness" of the
Pearl Harbor defenses}) He consulted on these problems with Adm.
Richardson, whom he relieved as commander, and as a result a letter
under Richardson's signature was forwarded on January 25, 1941, to
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Secretary of the Navy Knox, who brought it to the attention of Henry
L. Stimson, the Secretary of War. The most flagrant deficiencies
pointed ~ut in this letter were:

(a) The critical inadequacy of A.A. guns available for the
defense of Pearl Harbor, necessitating constant manning of
ship's A.A. guns while in port.

(b) The small number and obsolescent condition of l.and­
based aircraft, necessitating constant readiness of striking groups
of fleet planes and use of fleet planes for local patrols.

(c) Lack of suitable local defense vessels for the Fourteenth
Naval district, etc.

(d) Lack of aircraft detection devices ashore.6

Although Washington promised to remedy these shortcomings,
very little was done in the months leading up to the Japanese attack.

Gen. Short also repeatedly complained to Washington of deficien­
cies in the, resources allotted him. From February 7 to December 7,
1941, he made requests to Washington for $22,953,697 to be used on
projects to improve the Hawaiian defenses. He proposed to use this
money for the installation of bunkers, military roads and trails, a
battery for Kaneohe Bay, the construction of ten airports, the improve­
ment of Wheeler Field, camouflaging airfields, bombproofing the air
depot at Hickam Field, and for materials necessary to these projects.

Of this requested sum, he was allowed by the War Department
only $350,000 for roads and trails. This grant represented only 1 Y2
per cent of what he had asked.7

Other difficulties were put in the way of the Army in organizing
an effective defense. This was especially demonstrated in Short's
struggle to obtain appropriate sites for the location of radar stations.
On March 6, 1941, Short wrote Chief of Staff Marshall begging for
prompt action in supplying modern aircraft detection units. He said
that the detection range of equipment then available was only 5
miles.8 He reiterated the critical shortage of long-range detector de­
vices in a second letter to Marshall on March 15. The chief of staff
on March 28 promised delivery of radar units in April or May.9

Three permanent radar sets were delivered on June 3 and six
mobile radar stations on August 1.10 Five of the mobile stations were
in operation December 7, but towers on which the permanent units
were to be placed were still lying on the docks at Oakland, Califor­
nia, when Pearl Harbor was attacked, so that these three fixed sets
were not operating December 7.11 Mayor LaGuardia and Mrs. Roose­
velt, running the Office of Civilian Defense, had been staging prac-
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tice blackouts in New York and other cities and crying up the danger
of transoceanic air raids on major American cities. One effect of this
was that modern radar units were installed in New York, San Fran­
cisco, and Seattle before they were provided for the bastion of Ha­
waii.*12

Additional obstruction was encountered from Secretary Harold
L. Ickes' Interior Department. The Park Service, which was a branch
of this department, was more concerned with preserving the beauty
of the landscape than with enabling Hawaii to defend itself. When
Gen. Short proposed to place a radar station on Mount Haleakala, the
National Park Service withheld approval of the request. Short protested
against Interior Department delays in his letter of March 6 to Mar­
shall, saying, "I believe that this matter is sufficiently important to be
brought to the attention of the Secretary of War to see if permission
cannot be obtained from the Secretary of the Interior to construct
the Haleakala installation without the necessity of submitting detailed
plans for consideration by the National Park Service."13

On March 15 Marshall wrote Short,
. -

It will be necessary to comply with certain fixed regulations
in those cases where facilities are to be established on lands
pertaining to the Department of the Interior. The National
Park Service officials are willing to give us the temporary use
of their lands when other lands are not suitable for the pur­
pose, but they will not waive the requirements as to the sub­
mission of preliminary building plans showing the architecture
and general appearance. They are also very definitely opposed
to permitting structures of any type to be erected at such places
as will be open to view and materially alter the natural appear­
ance of the reservation.14

Ickes' department also got in the way of the Navy when it was
endeavoring to construct a radio monitoring station at Winter Har­
bor, Maine, in order to intercept secret Japanese code messages. The

·Cf. minority report of Joint Congressional Committee (p. 55): "The installation of
the radar in Hawaii was inexcusably delayed. It was a method of defense peculiarly
essential in Hawaii. It was known that there were insufficient planes and insufficient
guns to protect the base, and this made the availability of radar all the more necessary.
It seems we could have priority for radar protection in New York and other mainland
points, where no attack was probable, but none in Hawaii, where radar information
was essential. The result was that fixed radio installations were not accomplished at all
prior to the Pearl Harbor attack, and such fixed installations would have furnished the
most distant services. The mobile sets available had, by reason of the delay, been
operating only on a short experimental basis. Ther was a scarcity of trained operators.
The operators were trying to learn and operate at the same time. The selected hours
of operation, which proved of vast importance, were not wisely fixed. Service stopped
at 7:00 A.M., the very time when the danger was acute."
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Winter Harbor station was on National Park land and, as with the
radar facilities in Hawaii, the Park Service would not permit trees
to be cut down or the landscape to be otherwise altered. As a con­
sequence, the Winter Harbor station was handicapped by high trees
around its antenna.15

Five radar stations, however, were operating on Oahu the morn­
ing of December 7. Although the stations had been operating every
day from 4:00 to 7:00 A.M., with continued operation of three sets for
training for a large portion of the day, they were ordered to close
down on December 7 at 7 o'clock. Through one of those coincidences
which bulked so large in the all-around lapse of defenses on Decem­
ber 7, a Signal Corps second lieutenant" Grove C. White, had obtained
permission from the control officer the preceding day to close down
the stations at that hour.16

Another failure of equal concern was the absence of distance re­
connaissance from Hawaii on the morning of the attack. This was
a Navy task. The Army on December 7 had only six B-17's in flyable
condition,17 while one hundred eighty were required under its plans
for search and attack upon the enemy. The Navy had forty-nine
patrol planes in flyable condition. 18 All of these planes had arrived
during the preceding four weeks. They were experiencing the shake­
down difficulties of new planes. New engine sections which had
cracked up required replacement. A program for the installation of
leakproof tanks and armor was under way. There were no spare
parts and no relief crews.

Adm. Kimmel testified before the Congressional Investigating
Committee:

To insure an island base against a surprise attack from fast
carrier-based planes, it is necessary to patrol the evening before
to a distance of 800 miles on a 3600 arc. This requires eighty­
four planes on one flight of 16 hours. Of course, the same
planes and the same crews cannot make that 16-hour flight every
day. For searches of this character over a protracted period, a
pool of 250 planes would be required....

It is clear that I did not have a sufficient number of planes
to conduct each day a 360 degree distant search from the island
of Oahu.... A search of all sectors of approach to an island
base is the only type of search that deserves the name.... The
Secretary of the Navy in his indorsement of the record of the
Naval Court of Inquiry has stated: "There were sufficient fleet
patrol planes and crews, in fact, available at Oahu during the
week preceding the attack to have flown, for at least several
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weeks, a daily reconnaissance covering 128 degrees to a distance
of about 700 miles."

This statement assumes that I could have used all the patrol
force for this type of search alone without keeping any planes
in reserve for emergency searches or to cover movements of
ships in and out of the harbor and in the operating area. . .. If
I instituted a di~tant search of any 1280 sector around Oahu on
and after November 27, within the foreseeable future I would
have deprived the Pacific fleet of any efficient patrol plane force
for its prescribed war missions.19

Kimmel emphasized that he had twice been directed to be pre­
pared to carry out raids on the Marshall Islands under the Navy's
war plan, which would become effective the moment that hostilities
began, and that his patrol planes were required for extended use from
advance bases under this plan. He had to decide what was the best
use of the patrol planes in view of the war tasks confronting him.
Had he directed their use for intensive distant reconnaissances from
Oahu, he faced the peril of having them grounded when the war
plan was executed. His decision was to conserve the planes in order
that he might go on the offensive in compliance with his standing
orders under the war plan.20

The Naval Court of Inquiry which investigated the Pearl Harbor
disaster in 1944 submitted this estimate of the decision reached by
Kimmel:

The task assigned the commander-in-chief, Pacific fleet, was
to prepare his fleet for war. War was known to be imminent­
how imminent he did not know. The fleet planes were con­
stantly being used in patrolling the operating areas in which
the fleet's preparations for war were being carried on. Diver­
sion of these planes for reconnaissance or other purposes was
not justified under existing circumstances and in the light of
available information.

If so diverted, the state of readiness of the fleet for war would
be reduced because of the enforced suspension of fleet operations.
The value of the fleet patrol planes to the fleet would be reduced
seriously after a few days because of the inability of planes and
crews to stand up under the demands of daily long-range recon­
naIssance.

The omission of this reconnaissance was not due to oversight
or neglect. It was the result of a military decision, reached after
much deliberation and consultation with experienced officers
and after weighing the information at hand and all factors
involved.21
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These were the reasons why Kimmel was not conducting distant
reconnaissance on December 6-7. First, he did not have the planes
to do so. Second, the planes available to him were earmarked for
tasks with the fleet under a predetermined war plan. On December
7 only a fe\v planes were up on the dawn patrol, all of them to the
south and west of Oahu, in the fleet operating area.

If Kimmel had possessed the requisite number of planes, both for
reconnaissance from Oahu and for patrol duty with the fleet, his task
would have been simple. The danger to be expected from air attack
had clearly been foreseen in at least two prophetic estimates. The
first was the product of Gen. ,Hugh A. Drum, former commander of
Army forces in Hawaii. In 1935 he submitted a memorandum to the
War Department in which he warned that Pearl Harbor, with its
oil and ammunition storage and air installations on the island of
Oahu, was "extremely vulnerable to air attack." He further warned
that "the first enemy hostile action will be attempted as a surprise."

"One Oriental power," Gen. Drum wrote, "is strong enough in
surface vessels and aircraft to execute successful air attacks against
these objectives unless intercepted in sufficient time and with sufficient
strength to defeat the attacks."

Gen. Drum asserted that first information of approaching carriers
must be obtained when they were at least 300 miles at sea to permit
bombers to attack them before they could launch their planes. He
recommended the establishment of air fields on the islands surround­
ing Oahu in order to reduce the flight time of intercepting bombers.22

A reply from Maj. Gen. E. T. Conley, then adjutant general of
the Army, drafted in April, 1936, estimated that enemy carriers' could
approach within 600 to 900 miles of Oahu by dusk of the day preced­
ing the attack, and then, after making a fast night run, launch their
planes from between 275 and 330 miles of the target. Gen. Conley
said that long-range search planes, not available at that time in suffi­
cient numbers, accordingly would have to patrol an arc with a
perimeter of 4,000 miles and would be faced with the difficult task
of tracking the carriers at night.23 Radar for the detection of ap­
proaching aircraft had not yet been developed.

The plan of attack which Gen. Drum outlined in 1936 was fol­
lowed almost exactly by the Japs on December 7.

The second prevision of the Jap attack was produced by Maj.
Gen. Frederick L. Martin and Vice-Adm. Patrick N. L. Bellinger,
commanders of the Army and Navy air forces on Oahu at the time of
Pearl Harbor. In an estimate drafted April 9, 1941, they said:
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In the past Orange [Japan] has never preceded hostile action
by a declaration of war.

A successful, sudden raid against our ships and naval instal­
lations on Oahu might prevent effective defensive action by our
forces in the Western Pacific for a long period.

It appears possible that Orange submarines and/or an Or­
ange fast raiding force might arrive in Hawaiian waters with
no prior warning from our intelligence service. . . . Orange
might send into this area one or more submarines, and/or one
or more fast raiding forces composed of carriers supported by
fast cruisers.... It appears that the most likely and dangerous
form of attack on Oahu might be an air attack. It is believed
that at present such an attack would most likely be launched
from Qne or more carriers, which would probably approach in­
side of 300 miles.... In a dawn air attack there is a high proba­
bility that it would be delivered as a complete surprise in spite
of any patrols we might be using and that it might find us in a
condition of readiness under which pursuit would be slow to
start.2

'
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This estimate also contained the significant line, "Any single sub­
'marine attack might indicate the presence of a considerable undis­
covered surface force, probably composed of fast ships accompanied
by a carrier." A submarine was, in fact, detected and sunk outside
of Pearl Harbor by the destroyer "Ward" a full hour before the at­
tack, but the report of this action failed to produce a justified general
alarm.

On April 14 Martin and Bellinger transmitted to Gen. Marshall
their estimate of the danger from surprise air attack, which the Army
Pearl Harbor Board termed "prophetic in its· accuracy and uncanny
in its analysis of the enemy's intention." This document stated:

The Hawaiian air force is primarily concerned with the de­
struction of hostile carriers in this vicinity before they approach
within range of Oahu where they can launch their bombard­
ment aircraft for a raid or attack on Oahu.

Our most likely enemy, Orange, can probably employ a
maximum of six carriers against Oahu....

. . . The early morning attack is, therefore, the best plan of
action open to the enemy.

The most favorable plan of action open to the enemy, and
the action upon which we should base our plans of operation
is the early morning attack in which the enemy must make
good the following time schedule:
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(1) Cross circle 881 nautical miles from Oahu at dawn of
the day before attack. . . .

(3) Launch his planes 233 nautical miles from Oahu at
dawn the day of the attack....

. . . The sole purpose of the existence of the military estab­
lishment on Oahu, ground, and air, is for the defense of Oahu
as an outlying naval base.

Then, in a sharp comment on Gen. Marshall's memorandum to the
President on the assumed strength of Oahu, the Martin-Bellinger
report remarked,

It has been said, and it is a popular belief, that Hawaii is
the strongest outlying naval base in the world and could, there­
fore, withstand indefinitely attacks and attempted invasions.
Plans based on such convictions· are inherently weak and tend
to create a false sense of security, with the consequent unpre­
paredness for offensive action.2G

If Martin and Bellinger had had the Japanese operations orders
before them, they could not have predicted the attack more accurately.
Their report proposed to forestall the enemy by employment of long­
range bombardment aviation to intercept a surface fleet. This, as
William Bradford Huie has pointed out in The Case against the
Admirals, was the very act which the Baker board appointed to sur­
vey the Army Air Corps in 1934 "had proclaimed could never be
performed; the very doctrine under which the general headquarters
air force had struggled to develop the B-17; the very principle which
the Navy command had railed against for 20 years and which they
refused to accept even then in 1941."26

Martin and Bellinger explained,

The key to this plan is found in the provision for, first, a
complete and thorough search of the Hawaiian area daily dur­
ing daylight; secondly, an aerial attack force available on call
to hit a known objective located as a result of the search; and
thirdly, if the objective is a carrier, to hit it the day before it can
steam up to a position offshore of Oahu where it could launch
its planes for an attack.

The report proposed a force of 180 B-17 Flying Fortresses for both
search and attack. It was said that this plane was suitable for both
functions and that, with 180 B-17's all possible approaches could be
swept every day up to a radius of 800 miles. The admiral and gen­
eral also asked for thirty-six long-range torpedo planes to supplement
this force. The report said:
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Our leading tacticians and strategists here concur in the
opinion that this plan will solve the defense of the Hawaiian
Islands, and in our knowledge it is the best and only means that
can be devised to locate enemy carriers and make attacks there­
on before said carriers can come within launching distance of
Oahu. We must ferret out the enemy and destroy him before
he can take action to destroy us. We must be prepared for
D-day at any time.

It is believed that a force of 180 four-motored aircraft with
36 long-range torpedo airplanes is a small force when compared
with the importance of this outpost. This force can be provided
at less cost to the government than the cost of one modern
battleship.27
What happened to this plan in Washington? The Army Air

Force indorsed it; the Navy refused even to consider it. Since 1935
the Navy had fought the Flying Fortress with every weapon it pos­
sessed. It had imposed a limitation that the Army should have no
bombers capable of going more than 300 miles to sea. It had thrown
the weight of the Navy lobby against every appropriation for land­
based bombardment planes. The plan reached Washington at a time
when the Navy was seeking huge appropriations for its new battle­
ship program. Accordingly, the Navy sought to prevent the plan
from being circulated among even the higher echelons of the War
and Navy departments, let alone the responsible committeemen in
Congress.

Gen. Martin was sacked after the Pearl Harbor disaster at the
same time as Gen. Short and Adm. Kimmel, but when the Roberts
Commission uncovered the Martin-Bellinger plan, they realized they
had the wrong man for their purposes. Martin was hastily restored
to duty and no further word of censure was breathed against him.

Thus, the responsibility for failure to provide the means of recon­
naissance and counter-attack which would without question have
saved Hawaii again comes home to Washington. Although aircraft
production was lagging in 1941, there was a sufficient number of patrol
planes to have assured the safety of Hawaii-if the planes had gone
to Hawaii, instead of to Britain and other countries under the Roose­
velt administration's policy. While the Hawaiian air commanders
were clamoring for planes to safeguard the base, 1,900 patrol planes
were being lend-leased to foreign countries between February 1 and
December 1, 1941. Of these, 1,750, or almost ten times the number
which would have rendered Oahu safe, went to Great Britain.28

Lend-lease was also the reason why Oahu was short of anti-
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aircraft weapons. Gen. Short had available 82 three-inch anti-aircraft
guns on December 7, while 98 were required by defense plans. He
had 20 37-mm. anti-aircraft guns, with 135 required. He had 109 .50
caliber machine guns, with 345 required! He pointed out that the
.50 caliber was the most effective weapon against planes coming in
low over the water. Other weapons could not be depressed sufficiently
to fire effectively on low flying planes. A year after the attack, Short
said, Hawaii was equipped with more than seven times the number
of these weapons he possessed.29

Replying to requests by Short for anti-aircraft weapons, Gen.
Marshall on March 15, 1941, said that 16 three-inch anti-aircraft guns
were not slated for arrival in Hawaii until December, and that 115
37-mm. anti-aircraft guns would not arrive until February, 1942.30

Despite this shortage of weapons, the Army had 60 mobile guns
and 26 fixed guns, in addition to its 37-mm. and .50 caliber anti-aircraft
guns.31 The fact is, however, that only four of the Army's 32 anti­
aircraft batteries ever opened fire on the Japs, according to the Army
Board, and the first of these to get into action-the detachment at
Sand Island-did not fire its first shots until 20 minutes after the raid
had begun. The next battery to get into action was Battery "G" at
Fort Weaver, which began to fire 35 minutes after the raid started.
It was followed by Battery "A" at Fort Kamehameha 39 minutes
after the beginning of the raid and Battery "F" at Fort Kamehameha
one hour after the raid had begun. The only battery which claimed
any enemy planes was that at Sand Island, which shot down two,
while with the exception of these four batteries no other was in posi­
tion ready to fire until well after the departure of the last of the
Japanese raiders.s2

The principal reason for this general ineffectiveness was that
ammunition had not been issued because the ordnance department
objected to having it out convenient to the guns for fear that it might
get dirty. Thus none of the 16 mobile guns was supplied with am­
munition on December 7. It required about six hours to g~t the
amm'unition broken out and distributed. The mobile guns had to
obtain their ammunition from Aliamanu Crater, 2 to 3 miles from
Army headquarters at Fort Shafter. Although the fixed batteries had
their ammunition in boxes adjacent to the guns, few of them got
into action because they were not manned. The Army Pearl Harbor
Board found that most members of the two Army divisions on Oahu
were in their quarters when the attack began, and that it took them
a number of hours to move out after the raid to their positions.33
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The lack of ammunition was illuminated by the statement of Maj.
Gen. Henry T. Burgin, commander of the Coast Artillery, that

it was almost a matter of impossibility to get your ammunition
out, because in the minds of everyone who has preservation of
ammunition at· heart it goes out, gets damaged, comes back in,
and has to be renovated. The same was especially true here.
It was extremely difficult to get your ammunition out of the
magazines. We tried the ordnance people without results. Gen.
Max Murray· and myself went personally to Gen. Short. Gen.
Murray pled for his ammunition for the field artillery. I asked
for ammunition for the anti-aircraft. We were put off, the
idea behind it being that we would have our ammunition in
plenty of time, that we would have warning Before any attack
ever struck.8

4:

In this hope Gen. Burgin was destined to be disappointed, but the
ultimate responsibility for the failure to give warning in sufficient
time rested with Washington, rather than with his immediate supe­
riors. As it was, the failure to supply the guns with ammunition can­
not be excused. The only utility of the guns in being in Hawaii at
all was to be able to meet an attack where and when it developed.
It is evident that the commanders thought if there were to be any
attack, it would come in the form of an attempted landing in force,
and in' this event they would have sufficient time to move the guns
and troops into position and to break out the ammunition. Like the
Navy, the last thing the Army was looking for was an air attack.

The anti-aircraft guns of the fleet were in a better state of readi­
ness to meet a surprise attack than were those of the Army, but there
was still room for improvement. Although Battle Report, the Navy's
semi-official account of the Pearl Harbor attack, stated that "American
guns were firing before the first of the invading planes had cleared
the scene of attack,"35 this was true only of a limited number of guns.
For example, the officer of the deck on the light cruiser "Helena,"
after sounding the general alarm, cried in the same voice, "Break
out service ammunition."36 The minimum of ready guns aboard fleet
units was placed at two .50-caliber guns, and, in most instances, two
S-inch dual purpose guns.37 Secretary Knox, in a secret report after
the attack, said that it was about four minutes before the first anti­
aircraft fire from the Navy began.3s

The battleship "Nevada," which was probably more successful
than any other ship in getting its guns into action quickly, had four

·Maj. Gen. Maxwell Murray commanded the 25th Infantry Division.



80 PEARL HARBOR

ready machine guns, two forward and two aft, which were able to
open fire at once. They were joined shortly by the ship's S-inch
anti-aircraft and broadside batteries, and, in combination, these weap­
ons claimed five enemy planes.39

While putting up a comparatively more heavy curtain of fire than
most of the other warships in Pearl Harbor, the "Nevada" could not
avoid taking one torpedo and six bomb hits. This damage was sus­
tained although the "Nevada" was the only warship in harbor to
move away from the docks. A naval reservist, Lieut. Comdr. Francis
J. Thomas, who was the senior officer aboard, is to be credited with
this attempt to save the "Nevada" by getting her to open water where
she could maneuver, but in the end the heavily damaged ship
grounded near floating drydock no. 2. She was moved from that
position by tugs and run aground in the shallow across from Hospital
Point.

As to volume of fire, the battleship "Pennsylvania" was credited
with firing more than 50,000 rounds of .50-caliber ammunition during
the attack, but, with this expenditure, could claim no more than two
Japanese planes and four probables.40

In the confusion attending the attack, American anti-aircraft crews
fired upon their own planes. Adm. Kimmel told of six planes from the
"Enterprise" being fired on as they came into Ford Island, and Rear
Adm. Robert A. Theobald said that eighteen scout bombers from the
same carrier were fired upon late in the evening of December 7.41

American planes seeking the Japanese striking force after the attack
also mistakenly bombed the cruiser "Portland" which was west of
Pearl Harbor, believing it to be a lap carrier, but fortunately damage
was slight.~2

The Navy Board of Inquiry said of the general state of prepared­
ness aboard ship, "On all ships inside Pearl Harbor a considerable
portion of the anti-aircraft guns was kept manned day and night and
with ammunition immediately at hand," but it qualified this finding
with the statement, "The anti-aircraft batteries installed on ships in
Pearl Harbor were incapable of a volume of fire at all comparable to
that of the batteries of the same ships today."·43

The primary reason for this was that the admirals had not yet
awakened to the danger of air attack, but in part the lack of weapons
was the result of administration policy which diverted material from
our own forces and sent it to other nations, particularly Great Britain
and Russia, under lend-lease. While the Pearl Harbor commanders

·There were 780 naval anti-aircraft guns, all ship-based (Maj., p. 67).
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were appealing for anti-aircraft, 1,900 anti-aircraft weapons were
sent to other nations between February and December, 1941, 1,500 of
them to the British.44

The underlying failure of the defenses on December 7 must be
attributed to the fact that the Army and Navy-both the high C001­

mand in Washington and the forces in the field-had still to catch
up with the lessons of modern war as demonstrated in Europe after
September 1, 1939. As usual, they were prepared to fight the war
before last. The early success of the Japanese grew out of the fact
that they, far more than our own services, had been willing to abandon
obsolete concepts and fight a 1941 war in 1941.

As was observed by the Associated Press reporter, Clark Lee,
"The Pearl Harbor attack was a psychological blow to many of our
admirals. They had put their faith in those 'elephants,' the battleships.
Stripped of their battleships they were as lost as a man suddenly de­
prived of his trousers in the middle of Fifth Avenue. Their instinct
was to cover up, to assume the defensive rather than to seek out the
enemy for a finish fight."45

At the time of the Pearl Harbor assault, despite a number of esti­
mates that the principal danger to the fleet would come from surprise
air attack, the Army was worried about sabotage and the Navy about
training ~nd danger from enemy submarines. Officers of both serv­
ices undoubtedly felt that the fleet, behind a submarine net and with
its own guns supplementing those of the base defenses, was safe.

The admirals still held that the primary function of airplanes was
to .serve as the eyes of the fleet and to subserve battleships, scouting
for them and protecting them while their 16-inch guns destroyed the
enemy. Even with the lessons of war in the Mediterranean before
them, the admirals were still accustomed to say that planes could in­
flict no great damage to battleships and were useful only in the de­
gree that they could serve as spotters and increase the accuracy of
battleship fire.

No one' in the American services had been warned of the danger
of aerial torpedo attack, although the British in their assault on the
Italian fleet at Taranto on November 11, 1940, had demonstrated the
deadly results which could be obtained with this weapon. British
torpedo planes, taking the Italian fleet by surprise, had sunk or seri­
ously damaged two battleships, two cruisers, a destroyer, and several
supply ships.

On January 24, 1941, Secretary Knox had listed an air torpedo
plane attack as one of the possible forms of hostile action against
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Pearl Harbor.46 Subsequently Adm. Stark, chief of naval operations,
forwarded to the Pacific fleet and Adm. Bloch, commandant of the
Fourteenth Naval District, detailed technical advice which practically
eliminated from consideration an air torpedo attack as a serious danger
to ships moored in Pearl, Harbor.

The shallowness of the water in the harbor, which was 30 feet or
less, except in the channels, where it was generally 45 feet, was thought
to exclude an attack of this kind. On February 15, 1941, Stark wrote
Kimmel with reference to the advisability of installing anti-torpedo
baffles for protection of the ships in harbor. Stark said:

It is considered that the relatively shallow depths of water
limit the need for anti-torpedo nets in Pearl Harbor.... A
minimum depth of water of 75 feet may be assumed necessary
to successfully drop torpedoes from planes. One hundred and
fifty feet of water is desired. The maximum height of planes
at present experimentally dropping torpedoes is 250 feet. Launch­
ing speeds are between 120 and 150 knots. The desirable height
for dropping is 60 feet or less. About 200 yards of torpedo run
is necessary before the exploding device is armed, but this may
be altered.

In this letter Stark emphasized that the depths of water in which
torpedoes were launched in the attack at Taranto were between 14
and 15 fathoms; that is, 84 to 90 feet of water.47

Stark expressed these opinions despite the fact that on November
22, 1940, just after the Taranto attack, he had written Adm. Richard­
son, "Since the Taranto incident, my concern for the safety of the
fleet at Pearl Harbor, already great, has become even greater."48

On June 13, 1941, Stark sent another letter to Kimmel and Adm.
Bloch reaffirming his belief that Pearl Harbor was safe from torpedo
attack.49 The Naval Court of Inquiry concluded that the torpedoes
launched by the Japanese at Pearl Harbor constituted, in effect, a
secret weapon unknown to the best professional opinion in Great
Britain and the United States at the time.50 Adm. King, war-time
commander-in-chief of the fleet, said in his indorsement of the find­
ings of the court, "It is evident in retrospect that the capabilities of
Japanese aircraft torpedoes were seriously underestimated."51

Secretary of the Navy Forrestal noted, however, that in April, 1941,
an intelligence report had been circulated in the Navy Department
describing demonstrations in England in which torpedoes equipped
with special wings had been launched in 42 feet of water, about the
same depth as in Pearl Harbor.52 No word of thes~ findings ever
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was sent to Adm. Kimmel, nor was Adm. Stark impressed by them
as he should have been.

Despite these facts, Forrestal, in overruling the findings of the
Navy board and putting the blame on Kimmel, said that "a due
appreciation of the possible effects of an air attack should have in­
duced Adm. Kimmel to take all practical precautions to reduce the
effectiveness of such an attack." Among the measures which Forrestal
said were "reasonably" open to Kimmel was to install anti-torpedo
nets to protect the larger vessels in port.53 In other words, Forrestal
wanted Kimmel to display ,a prescience which was not possessed either
by the chief of naval operations or the Navy Department in general,
and wanted him, moreover, to procure and install anti-torpedo nets or
baffles which the fleet in Hawaii did not have the facilities to manu-

facture.
On February 15, 1941, Stark informed Kimmel that existing tor­

pedo nets were so cumbersome that their installation at Pearl Harbor
would interfere with the movement of ships and ability of the fleet
to get away on short notice. He said, "There is apparently a great
need for the development of a light efficient torpedo net which could
be laid temporarily and quickly within protective harbors, and which
can be readily removed."54 Kimmel was later to state that if such a
net was ever developed by the Navy Department, he never heard of
it or received it. That neglect in taking proper precautions against
torpedoes was attributable to the Navy Department, rather than to
Kimmel, was admitted by Adm. King when he said in his indorse­
ment of the Navy board's report, "The decision not to install torpedo
batHes appears to have been made by the Navy Department."55

There was a great deal of wisdom after December 7 on the part
of responsible officials in Washington, but very little before the attack.
Secretary Knox, for example, in his report to President Roosevelt up­
on his return from an inspection trip to Pearl Harbor following the
attack, said that the principal fear of the Army had been sabotage
and that of the Navy submarine attack, and that neither was expect­
ing or sufficiently prepared to defend against air attack. The only
specific measure of protection against air attack taken by the Navy
was to disperse the ships in harbor so as to provide a field of fire
covering every approach from the air.56

Despite the many mistakes of omission and commission at Oahu
on December 7, the main deficiency of the Pearl Harbor defense was
the absence of a proper state of readiness to meet attack. These con­
ditions of readiness in Hawaii on December 7 were known to Wash-



PEARL HARBOR

ington and had its tacit approval. They were not countermanded,
nor were more forcible orders sent. The commanders in Hawaii had
been denied access to intelligence available in Washington which, as
the Army Board points out, conclusively established a condition of
"known impending war." If the degree of readiness prevailing at
Oahu did not satisfy the government and high command, they had
recourse to a simple remedy. All they needed to do was to issue orders
directing the Hawaiian commanders to institute an all-out alert. No
such orders ever were sent.

Four years after Pearl Harbor this ultimate responsibility on the
part of Washington was finally admitted by Gen. L. T. Gerow, chief
of Army war plans in 1941. He conceded that Gen. Short was justi­
fied in assuming his defense alert number 1 had the full approval of
the Army high command. This admission followed the reading to
the congressional committee of excerpts from the Staff Officers' Field
Manual, stating that the general staff is responsible for making sure
its instructions to field commanders are understood and for enforcing
execution of such instructions.57



Cbapter Seven

BACK DOOR TO WAR

FOR YEARS before Pearl Harbor Mr. Roosevelt had talked of peace.
For months he had schemed for war. His deeds belied his words.
These are some of the things he said, and some of the things he did:

At Chautauqua, New York, August 19, 1936, he said, "I hate
war."l

At the dedication of the Chicago Outer Drive bridge on October
5, 1937, he proposed a "quarantine" of aggressors.2

To students of the University of North Carolina on December 5,
1938, he denied that "you and your little brothers would be sent to
the bloody fields of Europe."3

On January 4, 1939, he urged repeal of the arms embargo and
resort to methods "short of war" but "stronger than words" to deter
aggressors.' ·

In the same month he told the Senate military affairs committee,
"The American frontier is on the Rhine."5

On April 15, 1939, he said that the only excuse for war was "self­
evident home defense ... [which] does not mean defense thousands
and thousands of miles away."6

In June, 1939, he received King George VI and Queen Elizabeth
of Great Britain at the White House when they made an unprece­
dented visit to the United States three months before war began in
Europe.

On October 26, 1939, almost two months after the start of the
European war, he described as "one of the worst fakes in current
history" protests against "sending the boys of American mothers to
fight on the battlefields of Europe."7

On November 4, 1939, after his fourth appeal to Congress in a

85
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year, neutrality legislation was revised to permit "cash and carry"
shipments of arms to belligerents.8

On June 10, 1940, when Belgium and Holland had capitulated,
the British army had fled from Dunkirk, and France was collapsing,
he described Italy's declaration of war as a stab in the back of France.9

On June 20 he enrolled the erstwhile Republicans, Frank Knox
and Henry L. Stimson, in his cabinet as secretaries, respectively, of
Navy and War, in order to further his third-term aspirations and
suggest coalition support of his war policy.10

During June he stripped American arsenals to re-equip the British
army, which had abandoned its arms at Dunkirk.11

On August 18, 1940, he executed a defense pact with Canada,t2 a
belligerent, encouraging Prime Minister Churchill of Britain to ob­
serve two days later that the empire and America were "somewhat
mixed up together."18

On August 28, Roosevelt mustered the National Guard into federal
service.1'

On September 2, 1940, by executive decree, he transferred fifty
American destroyers to Britain for rights to bases in British posses­
sions in the western hemisphere.1~

On September 16, he signed the first peacetime conscription bill
in America's history, under which 42 million men were enrolled
October 16 for military duty.16

At Boston, October 30, 1940, campaigning for the third term, he
assured parents, "I have said this before, but I shall say it again and
again and again : Your boys are not going to be sent into any foreign
wars."1T

On November 8, 1940, after his re-election, he allocated half of
American war production to Britain.18 The effect of the third­
term victory upon Britain was described by Adm. Stark in a letter
November 12, 1940, to Adm. Hart, commander-in-chief of the Asiatic
fleet. Stark reported: "Ghormley (Vice-Adm. Robert L. Ghormley,
naval observer in London) tells me that the British expected us to be
in the war a few days after the re-election of the President-which
is merely another evidence of their slack ways of thought and of their
non-realistic views of international political conditions and of our
own political system."19

On December 17, 1940, Roosevelt proposed lend-lease to eliminate
the "silly, foolish old dollar sign" in paying Britain's war bills.20
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On December 29, 1940, he announced that the United States was
to become "the arsenal of democracy," but told the people they could
"nail any talk about sending armies to Europe as deliberate untruth.,,21
Churchill on Feb. 9, 1941, echoed: "Give us the tools, and we will
finish the job."22

On January 24, 1941, Roosevelt ignored protocol by hastening to
Annapolis to greet Lord Halifax, the new British ambassador, who
had arrived on the battleship "King George V.,,23

On March 11, 1941, he signed the lend-lease act, which made the
United States, to all intents and purposes, a belligerent.24: More than
49 billion dollars in aid was to be granted under lend-Iease.25

On April 9, 1941, Mr. Roosevelt transferred ten Coast Guard cutters
to the British and assumed a protectorate over Greenland.26

On May 29, 1941, he permitted British airmen to train here.27

On June 14, 1941, he froze German and Italian funds and, on June
16, ordered consular staffs of the two nations out of the United
States.28

On June 22, he promised Russia support in its new war with
Germany."

On July 7, 1941, he ordered American Marines into Iceland to
relieve the British garrison.so

During the same month thousands of American workers streamed
into Londonderry, North Ireland, to build a great American naval
base.31

On August 14, 1941, Roosevelt and Churchill proclaimed the Atlan­
tic Charter after a meeting at sea off Newfoundland.32 The Selective
Service Act was extended on the same day and the previous limita­
tion that not more than 900,000 men should be in training at one
time was removed.ss

On September 11, 1941, after torpedoes were fired at the destroyer
"Greer" near Iceland, Roosevelt issued an order to the Navy to "shoot
on sight" if German or Italian warships were encountered.3•

On October 27, 1941, in his Navy Day speech, Roosevelt announced
to the country that "the shooting has started" and "we Americans
have cleared our decks and taken our battle stations."Sf>

On November 17, 1941, Roosevelt received authority to arm mer­
chant ships.s6

On November 24, he sent troops to occupy Dutch Guiana, source
of the bauxite for 60 per cent of America's aluminum production.s7
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These were the things he was doing and saying openly.* Here are
some of the things that he was doing secretly:

On April 21, 1941, he directed units of the Atlantic fleet to "trail"
German and Italian merchant and naval ships and aircraft and to
broadcast their movements in plain language at four-hour intervals
for the convenience of British and allied warships and planes.38

On May 22, 1941, he ordered Adm. Stark to prepare an expedition
of 25,000 men to seize the Azores from neutral Portuga1.89 Plans to
seize Martinique, French possession in the Caribbean, were laid at the
same time!O

On August 11, 1941, at the Atlantic conference, he revived the plan
to seize the Azores, which had been left in abeyance. Prime Minister
Churchill agreed at the same time that Britain would seize the Canary
Islands from Spain and the Cape Verde Islands from Portuga1.41

On August 25, Roosevelt ordered the Atlantic fleet to "destroy
surface raiders."42

On September 13, 1941, he ordered the fleet to protect ships of any
nationality between American ports and Iceland, and to escort con­
voys in which there were no American vessels.43

On September 14, the crew of the Coast Guard cutter "Northland"
seized a German trawler in Greenland waters and took the first pris­
oners of a war not yet acknowledged.44

On September 26, Roosevelt promulgated "Western Hemisphere
Defense Plan No.5," which, while assigning new tasks to the fleet,
stated that it must be recognized that "the United States is not at
war in the legal sense," and hence would have no belligerent rights
under international1aw.45

On October 11, 1941, he implemented this hemisphere defense
plan with an order assigning American warships to operations under
British and Canadian naval command and placing sixty British Royal
Navy and Royal Canadian Navy destroyers and corvettes engaged in
convoying "under the strategic direction of the United States."46

On November 7, 1941, a month before Pearl Harbor, Adm. Stark,
referring to this nondeclared war, wrote to Adm. Kimmel, "Whether
the country knows it or not, we are at war."47

Stark told the Congressional Investigating Committee that he was
thinking of the interchange of command among American, British,

·For a comprehensive and illuminating account of the foreign policy of the United
States as defined for public consumption by Roosevelt, Hull, Wendell Willkie, and other
politicians, see Charles A. Beard's American Foreign Policy in the Making: 1932-1940
(New Haven: Yale University Press, 1946).
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and Canadian warships and orders he had issued at the President's
direction to fire on German submarines. He said his own opinion was
that "the time had come for us to get in" the war.48

Representative Gearhart asked Stark, "It was because of action
which the President was directing from day to day against the Ger­
mans and the consequent exchange of fire with German submarines
that caused you to state we were at war in the Atlantic before Pearl
Harbor?"49

"That is correct," Stark replied. "Technically, or from an interna­
tional standpoint, we were not at war, inasmuch as we did not
have the right of belligerents because war had not been declared. But
actually, so far as the forces operating under Adm. King in certain
areas, it was war against any German craft that came inside that
area. They were attacking us and we were attacking them."50 He
said that American warships were considered to be enforcing the con­
gressional will to deliver lend-lease supplies.

"And there was no limit upon their belligerent rights in so far
as serving that objective, was there?" Gearhart inquired.

"It was not all-out," said Stark. "It was limited, but it was effective
and it was war, to my mind.... When you are shooting at the other
fellow and he is shooting at you, it to all intents and purposes is war,
even though of a restricted nature. We were not, for example, flying
planes over Germany."51

Citing the President's Navy Day speech, in which Roosevelt re­
counted that eleven members of the crew of the destroyer "Kearny"
had been killed by submarine action, Gearhart said, "That shows
that they were making war on us, too, doesn't it?"

"Yes it does," Stark said. "I am simply trying-"
"I know," Gearhart interrupted. "You are trying to point out the

legalistic differences."
Stark conceded under further examination by Senator Ferguson

that the orders for the nondeclared Atlantic war came from Roosevelt.
"Where we state, 'The President directs,' it was his directive," the

admiral said. "No one but the President, I would say, could direct
us to take the action indicated in those plans."52

"That would indicate, though," suggested Ferguson, "that con­
gressional approval was not considered necessary for an overt act."

"I do not know that you would call an act an overt act if you
considered it in self-defense or in defense of carrying out the con­
gressional will of getting material abroad," Stark responded.

Long before Pearl Harbor other high officers were also proceed-
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ing on the assumption that we would inevitably be fighting beside
the British before long. In an undated memorandum in the summer
of 1941, Gen. Marshall informed Roosevelt:

"Britain is reaching the limit of usable manpower. We must sup­
plement her forces. . . . Germany cannot be defeated by supplying
munitions to friendly powers and air and naval operations alone.
Large ground forces will be required."53

Maj. Gen. Sherman Miles, former chief of Army Intelligence, said
that throughout 1941 he considered that the European war repre­
sented "a much bigger picture" than any threat from Japan.5~ His
intelligence estimate for November 29, 1941, stated, "The United
States is contributing powerfully to the decision in the Battle of the
Atlantic by direct naval action." On December 5, two days before
the Pearl Harbor attack, his estimate contended that American naval
power and economic blockade "are primary deterrents against Jap­
anese all-out entry into the war."55

Adm. Ingersoll agreed that in the fall of 1941 the Navy knew it
was committing overt acts which could provoke Germany to declare
war.56 In that he echoed the statement of Adm. Stark, who, on Octo­
ber 8, 1941, in a memorandum to Secretary Hull, said that Hitler "has
every excuse in the world to declare war on us now if he were of a
mind to.,,57

Vice-Adm. Smith said that Washington thought that "the war was
in the Atlantic."58

As the Atlantic war mounted, the Pacific fleet was stripped of im­
portant units and trained personnel to support the operations in the
other ocean. When the Azores seizure was first planned in May, 1941,
practically all of the trained -and equipped Marines on the West Coast,
six transports, and some other small craft, were transferred from the
Pacific to the Atlantic.59 Gen. Marshall withheld fourteen Flying
Fortresses from Hawaii for the same operation.60

In April and May, 1941, one aircraft carrier, three battleships, four
cruisers, and eighteen destroyers-approximately one-fourth of the
fighting ships of the Pacific fleet-were transferred to the Atlantic.
Stark described these fleet units as "the first echelon of the Battle of
the Atlantic."61 In June, 1941, when he visited Washington, Adm.
Kimmel intervened personally with Roosevelt to save three more of
his battleships, four cruisers, two squadrons of destroyers, and an
aircraft carrier.62

According to Rear Adm. Inglis, the United States had 105 fighting
craft in the Pacific before the transfers in May, 1941, compared to 162
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in the Jap fleet.63 On December 7, Inglis said, American fleet dis­
positions were as follows:

VESSEL ATLANTIC PACIFIC

Battleships 6 9
Carriers 4 3
Heavy cruisers 5 12
Light cruisers 12 10
I>estroyers 97 54
Submarines 58 23
Mine layers ~ . . . 0 9
Minesweepers 37 26
Patrol vessels 5 13

Totals 224 159

ASIATIC

o
o
1
1

13
29
o
6

14
64

Although the computation of Adm. Inglis showed 159 units in the
Pacific fleet, we were actually outnumbered in the major categories
of surface craft, 162 to 78, on I>ecember 7.

The comparison follows:

VESSEL

Battleships .
Carriers .
Light and heavy cruisers .
Destroyers .

u.s.

9
3

22
S4

JAPAN

10
8

35
109

Almost all of the naval officers who testified before the congres­
sional committee conceded that because of transfers of fleet units and
lend-lease diversions to Britain and other nations, the defenses of
Pearl Harbor were seriously impaired and the fleet, in any encounter
with the Japanese, would have been defeated. The minority report
of the Joint Congressional Committee (Conclusion 17, pp. 49-50) says
on this point:

High authorities in Washington failed to allocate to the Ha­
waiian commanders the material which the latter often declared
to be necessary to defense and often requested, and no require­
ments of defense or war in the Atlantic did or could excuse
these authorities for their failures in this respect.

The first part of this conclusion calls for no special citations
of authority. In reports of the President's Commission, of the
Army Pearl Harbor Board, and of the Navy Court of Inquiry,
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three points in this respect are accepted as plain facts: (1) The
ultimate power to allocate arms, ammunition, implements of
war, and other supplies was vested in the President and his
aide, Harry Hopkins, subject to the advice of Gen. Marshall
and Adm. Stark; (2) Gen. Short and Adm. Kimmel made re­
peated demands upon their respective departments for addi­
tional material, which they represented as necessary to the effec­
tive defense of Pearl Harbor; and (3) Washington authorities,
having full discretion in this regard, made decisions against
Gen. Short and Adm. Kimmel and allocated to the Atlantic
theater, where the United States was at least nominally at
peace, materiel, especially bombing and reconnaissance planes,
which were known to be absolutely indispensable to efficient
defense of Pearl Harbor. (See Exhibits 106 and 53, request for
materials.)

The second part of this conclusion may be arguable from
the point of view of some high world strategy, but it is not
arguable under the Constitution and laws of the United States.
The President, it is true, had powers and obligations under the
Lease-Lend Act of March, 1941. But his first and inescapable
duty under the Constitution and laws was to care for the defense
and security of the United States against a Japanese attack,
which he knew was imminent; and, in the allocations of ma­
teriel, especially bombing and reconnaissance planes, he made
or authorized decisions which deprived the Hawaiian com­
manders of indispensable materiel they could otherwise have
had and thus reduced their defensive forces to a degree known
to be dangerous by high officials in Washington and Hawaii.

In a secret report to Roosevelt December 15, 1941, Secretary Knox
said that lack of an adequate number of fighter planes to defend
Hawaii against air attack "is due to the diversion of this type before
the outbreak of the war to the British, the Chinese, the Dutch, and
the Russians." He said there had been a "dangerous shortage" of
anti-aircraft artillery, "the next best weapon against air attack," through
no fault of Gen. Short.64 As has been seen, the United States in the
ten months before Pearl Harbor lend-leased 1,900 patrol planes and
1,900 anti-aircraft guns, of which 1,750 planes and 1,500 guns went to
the British.

In February, 1941, when this country was deficient 10,000 planes
in its 14,000-plane program, Britain was asking America to deliver
50,000 planes in 1942. At the time this request was made, Army plans
called for the dispatch of only eighty-one fighter planes to Pearl Har­
bor.65
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Col. Melvin W. Maas, of the Marine Corps Reserve, former Min­
nesota Congressman, said that when two hundred fifty patrol bomb­
ers necessary to bring Hawaii up to required minimum strength of
three hundred planes came off the production lines, Washington or­
dered them sent to Britain. When protests were made to Roosevelt,
he referred the admirals to Harry Hopkins, in charge of allocating
war materials.

"Hopkins received them as he lay in bed, nonchalantly smoking
a cigaret," said Maas. "He listened to them, then told them the
interview was over and that he had already made the allocation.
Adm. Kimmel told me if those two hundred fifty patrol planes had
been sent to Hawaii, the December 7 attack could never have suc­
ceeded, and probably would never have been attempted."66

Prime Minister Churchill made some acknowledgment of the ef­
fect of lend-lease in handicapping American defense when, in an ad­
dress to the United States Senate December 26, 1941, he said, "If the
United States has been found at a disadvantage at various points in
the Pacific Ocean, we know well that it is to no small extent because
of the aid which you have been giving us in munitions for the defense
of the British Isles and to the Libyan campaign, and above all, be­
cause of your help in the Battle of the Atlantic."G7

Capt. Edwin T. Layton, intelligence officer of the Pacific fleet,
asserted that if the fleet had been able to spot the approaching Jap
force before December 7 and had gone out to meet it, we would have
been beaten. Our battleships, he said, were too slow to have brought
the Jap vessels under gunfire, and the remainder of our fleet would
have "suffered severe damage if not defeat by reason of the great
[enemy] superiority in the air."68

Although Secretary of War Stimson promised to rectify Hawaii's
deficiencies in patrol bombers, fighter planes, anti-aircraft guns, and
aircraft warning equipment by June, 1941, Rear Adm. Bloch, Pearl
Harbor base defense officer, complained four months after the Secre­
tary's deadline had passed that "the only increment that had been
made to the local defense forces during the last year, exclusive of
[harbor] net vessels, was the U.S.S. "Sacramento," an old gunboat
of negligible gun power and low speed."69

Adm. Kimmel forwarded Adm. Bloch's letter on October 17, 1941,
with a complaint of his own concerning the "reluctance or inability"
of the Navy Department to provide him the vessels he asked. "A fleet,
tied to its base by diversions to other forces of light forces necessary
to its security at sea is, in a real sense, no fleet at all," Kimmel said.70
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Not only had the light screening units been diverted to patrol duty
in the Atlantic, and fifty highly useful "over-age" destroyers given to
the British by Roosevelt been lost to our fleet, but Kimmel had only
eleven tankers when seventy-five were necessary to keep his fleet at
sea.71 This fact, together with Washington's failure to maintain ade­
quate fuel deliveries for the fleet, condemned the Pacific commander
to a policy of keeping a substantial part of the fleet in harbor like
sitting ducks.

Thus President Roosevelt weakened the Pacific fleet and the Pearl
Harbor defenses to sustain the nondeclared war into which he had
plunged in the Atlantic. Although he was itching to get into the war
in Europe, Hitler would not oblige him with an incident of sufficient
gravity to take the nation to war.

Grand Adm. Karl Doenitz, testifying at the Nuernberg war crimes
trials, told the international tribunal that Hitler was so anxious to
keep the United States out of the European war that he overruled
the admiral's plans to mine North Atlantic shipping lanes carrying
lend-lease supplies to Britain. Doenitz said:

A 300 mile safety zone was even granted to America by
Germany when international law called for only a three mile
zone. I suggested mine fields at Halifax and around Iceland,
but the Fuehrer rejected this because he wanted to avoid con­
flict with the United States. When American destroyers in the
summer of 1941 were ordered to attack German submarines, I
was forbidden to fight back. I was thus forced not to attack
British destroyers for fear there would be some mistake.72

:1(:

The President's dilemma was frankly discussed by his sympathizers
of the war party. As early as June, 1941, Joseph Alsop and Robert
Kintner, a pair of columnists favored by the White House (Alsop
was a relative of the President), wrote,

In the last week, he [the President] has been repeatedly
urged to order immediate action. He has been warned that to
delay is to court disaster. He has been able to act, for all the
preparations for meeting the Germans' threat in the Battle of
the Atlantic have at last been completed.

Yet he has not acted, because he hopes to drive the Ger­
mans to shoot first. . . . The problem was mentioned in this
space in a recent discussion of the Atlantic patrol, in which it

·Doenitz received the lightest sentence of any of the twenty-two Nazi defendants at
the Nuernberg war crimes trial. The International Military Tribunal imposed a term of
ten years' imprisonment on him. This comparatively lenient treatment may, or may
not, reflect the court's belief in the credibility of his testimony.
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was pointed out that the President and the men around him pri­
vately hoped that the patrol would produce an incident. No
man can doubt the German high command will do everything
possible to avoid shooting first.

The writers attributed the President's hesitation to his many pledges
to stay out of war. "He does not feel he can openly violate them,"
they said. "But he can get around them the 'smart way.' "73 The
"smart way" was to provoke an attack.

The pact of Berlin, signed September 27, 1940, suggested a method
to the President. It pledged Germany, Italy, and Japan to "assist one
another with all political, economic, and military means when one
of the three contracting parties is attacked by a power at present not
involved in the European war or the Sino-Japanese conflict." Ger­
many was then committed to its uneasy nonaggression treaty with
Russia, while Japan had specifically excepted Russia from application
of the t~eaty. Inasmuch as the United States was the only other re­
maining power that need be reckoned with, the pact of Berlin obvi­
ously was directed against it.

The tripartite pact had, in the eyes of Roosevelt, a utility which its
authors had not intended. It offered a means of entering the war
in Europe by the back door, for war with Japan also meant war auto­
matically with Germany and Italy under the terms of the pact. Thus,
while the attention of the nation was almost wholly trained by official
acts and utterances upon the war in Europe, the President simulta­
neously precipitated a crisis with Japan.

The idea of a Japanese-American conflict was not viewed unsym­
pathetically in Berlin. The Nazis had doubts about the dependability
of their Asiatic ally. They did not want to chance Japan's response
under its tripartite pact commitments by initiating a war with Amer­
ica themselves, but if Japan could be induced to attack the United
States, Hitler could hope that the natural sense of outrage in the
United States would divert America's major effort to the Pacific, leav­
ing him free to complete his unfinished business.

On July 6, 1941, shortly after Germany went to war with Russia,
Ambassador Grew stated Hitler's strategy: "It is generally held that
what Germany most wants Japan to do is to take steps which will
tend to divert America's attention from Europe and that she is not
pressing Japan to intervene in Soviet Russia."7.

Accordingly, the Nazis began attempting to work a confidence
game on their Asiatic allies. These efforts to hoodwink the Japs were
continued unrelentingly up to the very moment that Japan attacked
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Pearl Harbor, hut they might not have been attended with success
if American diplomacy had not finally presented the Japanese with
the choice between fighting and capitulating.

On November 29 Joachim von Ribbentrop, the Nazi foreign minis­
ter, was found using all of his power of persuasion upon Maj. Gen.
Oshima, the Japanese ambassador in Berlin. Ribbentrop said,

It is essential that Japan effect the new order in East Asia
without losing this opportunity. There never has been and
never will be a time when closer co-operation under the tripar­
tite pact is so important. If Japan hesitates at this time, and
Germany goes ahead and establishes her European new order,
all the military might of Britain and the United States will be
concentrated against Japan.... If Japan reaches a decision to
fight Britain and the United States, I am confident that that
will not only be in the interest of Germany and Japan iointly,
but would bring about favorable results for Japan herself.

"Is your excellency indicating that a state of actual war is
to be established between Germany and the United States?"
Oshima asked.

Ribbentrop was reluctant to promise that his country be the first
to dive off the deep end. "Roosevelt's a fanatic," he cautiously replied,
"so it is impossible to tell what he would do."15

The view that a wary Germany employed all possible cunning to
entice Japan into an attack upon the United States is fully supported
hv the verdict of the International War Crimes Tribunal at Nuernberg.
The court found that Germany repeatedly urged Japan to attack the
British in the Far East after the Nazi attack upon Russia. It was
further stated in the verdict:

It was clear, too, that the German policy of keeping America
from the war if possible did not prevent Germany from promis­
ing support to Japan even against the United States.

The court referred to Ribbentrop's representations to Oshima and
said that the Nazi foreign minister was "overjoyed" when Japan
attacked Pearl Harbor. Hitler, the court stated, expressed approval
of Japan's tactics in striking without a declaration of war.15a

In Rome Mussolini promised that "Italy would give every military
aid she had at her disposal" if Japan were to fight Britain and Amer­
ica.16

To stiffen Japan's resolution, Hitler worked a huge military fraud
upon the Japanese. On December 6 Berlin was heralding the immi­
nent fall of Moscow. On December 8, the day after the Japanese
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attack on Pearl Harbor, Hitler's forces were in full retreat to a pre­
determined winter line.77

The Japs were taken in, with Germany unwittingly assisting the
President in attaining his objective. Davis and Lindley wrote,

The question perplexing many high officials was how, in
the absence of a direct Japanese attack on the American flag,
to summon the nation, divided as it then was on questions of
foreign policy, to the strong action which they believed essen­
tial. There had been considerable discussion of possible meth­
ods.... It was commonly supposed that the Japanese were too
smart to solve this problem for the President by a direct assault
on the American flag-especially at Hawaii, which even the
extreme isolationists recognized as a bastion of our security.

The Japanese were not smart enough.78

On November 29, 1941, at Warm Springs, Georgia, Roosevelt had
given intimations of war to come. "In days like these," he said, "our
Thanksgiving next year may remind us of a peaceful past; it is always
possible that our boys in the military and naval academies may be
fighting for the defense of these American institutions of ours."79

This was a pallid statement of the realities which he then knew
to exist. He knew for a certainty that war was not a matter of months
or a year, but of days. He knew that not only "our boys in the mili­
tary and naval academies" would be called to arms, but all able-bodied
young men. And he knew that the war would start, not in the Atlan­
tic, but in the Pacific.

Our stake in the Far East 'was not great. In recent years less than
3 per cent of our foreign trade had been with China, including the
British colony of Hong Kong, and trade with China amounted to less
than half of 'our trade with Japan, which had been America's third
best customer, taking 7.7 per cent of total American exports in 1938.
The United States, in turn, was Japan's best customer, 6.5 per cent
of our imports coming from there.80

The interests threatened by Japan in Asia and the Southwest Pacific
were, with the exception of China, almost wholly the interests of the
western empires, Britain, France, and Holland. None of them was
capable by the final month of 1941 of defending its colonial holdings.
It was clear to these nations long in advance of Pearl Harbor that the
United States was their one hope in resisting a Japanese rape of their
colonies.

By December 7, 1941, we had tolerated Japan's war against China
for fifty-three months. We might not like it, but the conflict was not
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regarded as of sufficient concern to send America into battle. It was
only when Japan began to impinge upon the prerogatives of the west­
ern imperialisms that the President began to display symptoms of the
moral outrage he usually reserved for Hitler and Mussolini.

On September 22, 1940, three months after the collapse of France,
the Japanese began to move in on the western empires. Japanese
troops were marched into French Indo-China and the colonial author­
ities acceded to Japan's demands for air bases.81 On July 21, 1941,
France acquiesced when Japan demanded military control of Indo­
China.82

This action was defended on the grounds that it was necessary to
provide for Japan's military security and to assure Japan a supply of
rice and other foodstuffs and raw materials. In Washington Ambas­
sador Nomura pleaded the severity of the food situation. Japan's
production of rice in 1941 was estimated at 297 million bushels, against
an annual consumption of 400 million bushels.83 Britain had embar­
goed the export of rice from Burma,84 while lack of fertilizer normally
obtained from Germany had cut down Japan's domestic production.
As a result, Japan was compelled to look to Indo-China for its supply.

In answer to these representations, Sumner Welles, Undersecretary
of State, told Nomura on July 23 that there was no basis for pursuing
further the diplomatic conversations which had been in progress since
March looking toward a peaceful settlement of America's differences
with Japan. Welles said that the United States "must assume that
the Japanese government was taking the last step before proceeding
upon a policy of totalitarian expansion in the South Seas and of con­
quest in the South Seas through the seizure of additional territories
in that region."8~

Relations between the United States and Japan had been deterio­
rating for four years before the seizure of Indo-China. Afterward the
process continued at an accelerated rate. The successive steps follow:

On December 12, 1937, three months after Roosevelt's "quarantine"
speech, Japanese warplanes bombed and sank the American gunboat
"Panay" in the .Yangtze River.86

On July 1, 1938, after the Japanese had bombed Nanking, Canton,
and other defenseless Chinese cities, the State Department asked for
a "moral embargo" on sales of aircraft which might be used in attacks
on civilians.8T

On July 26, 1939, Roosevelt gave notice that the Japanese-American
commercial treaty of 1911 would be abrogated as of January 26, 1940.88

Ambassador Grew remarked of this developing economic warfare,
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"I have pointed out that once started on a policy of sanctions we must
see them through and that such a policy may conceivably lead to
eventual war."89 Further American action manifested the intention
of seeing them through.

On July 2, 1940, Roosevelt licensed exports of machine tools, chem­
icals, and nonferrous metals.90

On July 25 he licensed exports of oil products and scrap meta1.91

On July 31 he licensed exports of aviation gasoline beyond the
western hemisphere.92

On September 25, 1940, he granted China a 25 million dollar loan
for currency stabilization.93

On September 26 he imposed an embargo, effective October 16,
on all exports of scrap iron and steel except to Britain and nations of
the western· hemisphere.9' Between 1933 and 1940, 10.16 million tons
of scrap had been shipped from this country to Japan.95 Japan termed
the embargo an "unfriendly act"96 and stated that further trade restric­
tions would make relations between the two countries "unpredict­
able."97

On October 8, 1940, American nationals were warned to leave the
Far East.98

On November 30, 1940, an additional 100 million dollar loan was
made to China.99

When Adm. Nomura came here as Japan's new ambassador early
in 1941, he said that he doubted that Japan would extend military
operations beyond their present sphere "unless the policy of increas­
ing embargoes by this country should force his government, in the
minds of those in control, to take military action."lOo

On March 11, 1941, with the enactment of lend-lease, material aid
was granted the Chinese as well as the British.lol

On April 26, 1941, the United States announced a monetary stabili­
zation accord with China. Lauchlin Currie, the President's adminis­
trative assistant, was dispatched to China to help straighten out its
finances.102

On July 25, 1941, four days after Japan occupied Indo-China, Roose­
velt froze Japanese assets of 130 million dollars in the United States,
thus ending trade relations.los Britain followed suit the next day.lo,

On July 26 the President nationalized the Filipino army, which
became part of a new command known as the United States Army
Forces in the Far East.loes

On August 26, 1941, an American military mission under Gen.
John A. Magruder was sent to China.loe
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American Army, Navy, and Marine flyers were permitted to fight
for China as an "American Volunteer Group" under Brig. Gen. Chen­
nault.lo

,

American engineers were sent to reorganize traffic over the Burma
Road in order to speed supplies to China.108 .

Generalissimo Chiag Kai-shek, on the President's recommendation,
accepted Owen Lattimore as his political adviser.109

The Panama Canal was closed to Japanese shipping.110

This series of actions finally made it extremely doubtful that the
peace could be kept. The only avenue remaining open was that of
negotiation. While Secretary Hull and Ambassador Nomura were
exploring the possibilities, Dr. E. Stanley Jones, a widely known mis­
sionary of long experience in the Orient, served as an unofficial medi­
ator between the Japanese and the White House.

Dr. Jones contradicts the Roosevelt administration thesis, advanced
by Hull in particular, that there ~ever was any hope of keeping the
peace. He says,

The idea that all the Japanese officials and people \vere united
in their approval of aggression and their plans for further con­
quests in the Orient, even to the point of war with the United
States, is commonly held. It has been carefully nurtur~d by
propaganda. The American citizen is supposed to believe that
a united Japan undertook world-conquest, with no inhibitions
and no internal opposition. But the idea is disastrously false.
From the time of the attack upon China, the Japanese nation
went through a deep struggle of mind and soul. . . .

It was a titanic grapple between the war party and the peace
party. It was touch and go as to which way the situation would
swing. The struggle continued to the fall of 1941. Then the
militarists triumphed. . . •

Had we been wiser we would have outplanned the militar­
ists. If we had lent aid and encouragement to the peace party
in their efforts to prevent war, we could have made Japan an
ally instead of an enemy. Certainly our course played into the
hands of the war party.111

As to the American attitude, Dr. Jones says,

I was not sure whether the highest officials in the executive
branch of our government really wanted peace. From the time
of the Atlantic conference between President Roosevelt and
Prime Minister Churchill in August, 1941, the official attitude
toward Japan had stiffened, bordering on belligerency....

The attitude of some of our officials seemed to be: "Well,
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we have Japan by the throat by this oil embargo and we'll
strangle her. If she kicks and there is war, well, we'll send a
few planes over from Vladivostok, burn up her inflammable
cities, and it will be all over in a few weeks."

They felt that Japan was mired in China, that she was at
the end of her resources, and that this anxiety for peace on the
part of her Washington representatives was because she was
weak and helpless in our hands. As Adm. Nomura said to me
one day, "Everything I propose is suspected as weakness."

Dr. Jones found that much of the agitation for war came from
the British, the Chinese, and the Dutch. When he suggested to Dr.
Hu Shih, the Chinese ambassador, that it was one thing for America
to feel sympathy for China and to endeavor to help China, but another
thing for us to be dragged into war because of China's refusal of
mediation, Dr. Hu replied, "This is all nonsense. You are already
at war!"

Dr. Jones continued:

Great Britain was obviously trying to get us into the Euro­
pean war, as Mr. Churchill later openly said, and was not ad­
verse to getting us in by the back door of a Pacific war. When
I urged Lord Halifax to mediate between us and Japan and
help avert a war in the Pacific, he replied, "You will find my
views in the enclosed speech I have made." The whole tenor
of the speech was: "America must fight."

The Netherlands shared that atitude.
The real issue of the war, Dr. Jones contends, was empire.

The Japanese suspected the United States of being willing
to fight in order to preserve the white empires of the Pacific.
That was correct, as time so amply proved. We did not go to
the defense of China when she was attacked by Japan. In fact,
we continued to send Japan our scrap iron and oil. But the
moment Japan threatened Indo-China-a French possession-
we were aroused. That touched a sensitive nerve-the preroga­
tives of the white nations' colonial possessions in the East.

Dr. Jones's own solution was to give Japan some unexploited area
where it could dispose of its surplus population. His choice was New
Guinea, a huge island owned by the British and Dutch, who had
made no real attempt to develop it and who did not need it for emi­
grants. The island had a population of only 300,000 natives of low
culture, but with proper development, Dr. Jones thought, could sus­
tain from 20 to 40 million people.
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Dr. Jones proposed that the United States pay 100 million dollars
to Holland and Australia to compensate such landowners as might
be dispossessed. He found the Australian minister in Washington
sympathetic. "If we don't do something now about Japan's surplus
population," the minister said, "we shall have to do it within ten
years." When Dr. Jones interviewed the Dutch minister, however,
he was told, "No part of the Dutch empire is for sale."

On November 18, 1941, three weeks before the Pearl Harbor at­
tack, Maxwell H. Hamilton of the State Department's Far Eastern

: section submitted the plan to Secretary Hull.112 Instead of consider­
ing this face-saving method of persuading Japan to abandon the pro­
gram of the militarists, Hull handed Nomura and Kurusu the Presi­
dent's ten-point statement of November 26, which, says Dr. Jones,
"could have no other interpretation than that of an ultimatum."

Even when confronted with the American demands, Dr. Jones
says that the Japanese representatives did not abandon hope that we
would grant them the means of reaching a peaceful solution. Two
days after the Hull ultimatum, Counselor Terasaki of the embassy,
in a note transmitted to Roosevc.lt by Dr. Jones, pleaded, "Don't com­
pel us to do things, but make it possible for us to do them. If you
treat us in this way, we will reciprocate doubly. If you stretch out
one hand, we will stretch out two. And we cannot only be friends,
we can be allies."

There was no response, nor any relaxation of the pressure. As
Dr. Jones says, "Our ultimatum ... put Japan in a box. She had to
knuckle under or else fight us."

In retrospect, Dr. Jones suggests that almost until the very end
Japan and the United States were very close to peace. During the
negotiations he was told by a member of the Senate foreign relations
committee, "It has all boiled down to two air bases in North China
-Japan wants to retain two air bases and we want her to get out
of China." Whether we were within two air bases of peace Dr. Jones
says he does not know for certain, but in one of their last conversa­
tions, Nomura told him that "it would be absurd for us to go to war
over two air bases in North China. It would be very expensive for
both of us."

In listing the causes of the war, Dr. Jones says a principal cause
was "the pressure of a war party that surrounded the President. A
Supreme Court justice said to us during the negotiations, 'We have
a war party as well as Japan. They are surrounding the President
and making it more and more impossible to see him.' "
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If it ~as surrounding him, Roosevelt .was also the center of it.
The testimony of Sumner Welles before the congressional committee
investigating Pearl Harbor showed that it was Roosevelt who was
running the show. Asked whether, when the fleet was moved to
Hawaii, the Navy was not being made an arm of the diplomatic
negotiations with Japan, Welles replied: "It was done as an integral
part of the over-all policy. You can't divorce the diplomatic field from
the military field. It was a policy moving along parallel roads."

"Who made the over-all policy decisions?"
"The President, of course," Welles replied.lls



Chapter Eight

A, B, C, D's

AMONG THE most important of the President's decisions was to
consummate secret war alliances with the British and Canadians in
the Atlantic and with the British and Dutch in the Pacific. News
that the United States was a partner in a full-blown war alliance be­
fore a shot had been fired burst upon the American people on De­
cember 6, 1941, one day before the Pearl Harbor attack.

A New York Times dispatch from Melbourne, Australia, stated,
"The Australian government has completed preparations, in concert
\vith Britain, the United States, and the Netherlands Indies, for action
in the event of a Pacific conflict. The four plan to match Japanese
action, move by move." The report warned of "powerful American
squadrons in the rear of any southward Japanese expedition."!

The Australian Associated Press said of the agreement, "Following
eleventh-hour conversations between the ABCD powers, a declaration
has been drawn up setting out their attitude to any Japanese aggres­
sion. This declaration reaffirmed the necessity for the four allies to
continue to stand together. 'We are fully alive to the Japanese threat
and are not afraid of it,' the statement was reported as saying."2

In Washington the State Department said it "did not know of
any joint declaration."3

This secret war alliance, so casually sprung upon the American
people, and denied by that people's own government, had been develop­
ing for years and had been in being for more than eight months. It
had not been executed, as the Constitution provides all treaties must be,
with the advice and consent of the Senate, nor had it been drafted
as an executive agreement-a means of by-passing the Senate which
Roosevelt on occasion was not reluctant to invoke. 1"'he President
had been sufficiently prudent not even to initial it.

1°4
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While Holland and China were listed among the "ABCD powers,"
Britain was the important partner taken under the American wing.
Collaboration between the two nations in the Pacific had begun at
the Washington naval conference in 1922, when Britain terminated
its 1902 alliance with Japan. Disregarding Japanese opposition, nine
battleships, six cruisers, thirty-four destroyers, and thirteen auxiliary
units of the American fleet visited Australia and New Zealand in 1925
to signalize the new Anglo-American bonds.

This visit was the precursor to another call by four American
cruisers to Australia in 1938. From there three of the cruisers pro­
ceeded to Singapore at the invitation of the British Foreign Office to
attend ceremonies opening Britain's new naval base. No other foreign
warships attended. The visit was obviously a demonstration of
American-British solidarity for the benefit of Japan.

In March, 1938, Roosevelt suddenly rediscovered Canton and
Enderbury Islands in the Phoenix group, 1,900 miles southwest of
Hawaii. He asserted formal claim on the basis of century-old Ameri­
can discovery. Britain had taken formal possession of the islands a
year before Roosevelt's proclamation of American sovereignty. In
August, 1938, the islands were placed under joint Anglo-American
control, and in April, 1939, the condominium was extended for fifty
years. Members of Congress asserted that the supposed dispute be­
tween Roosevelt and the British was merely a screen for collusive
action to intermingle the affairs of the two countries so that America
would be bound to Britain in the event of an Asiatic war.

In February, 1946, Adm. Ingersoll confirmed charges in Congress
at the time of the Canton-Enderbury deal that an agreement had been
reached as early as 1938 looking forward toward a Pacific war alliance
with the British. In December, 1937, when he was director of Navy
war plans, he was called to the White House and directed by Roose­
velt to go to London to explain to the British what the United States
could do in a war with Japan and to determine what contribution
Britain could make.4

A letter from Adm. Richardson to Adm. Stark on January 26, 1940,
Indicates that the Ingersoll conversations produced a secret under­
standing for joint Anglo-American use of the Singapore base against
Japan:

When the China Incident started and on every opportunity
until after I left the job as assistant chief of naval operations, I
used to say to Bill Leahy, "Be sure to impress on the boss that
we do not want to be drawn into this business unless we have
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allies so bound to us that they cannot leave us in the lurch."
There is a possibility that this constant repetition had some­

thing to do with the trip of Ingersoll.
When this understanding was reached, it had some value,

but under present conditions it has little value, as it affords us
the use of a base in exchange for an obligation to protect about
two and one-half continents."5

Chief of Staff Marshall, however, stated before the congressional
committee that the British first advanced the project of using Singa­
pore as a joint fleet base in November, 1941. "The British wanted us
to base a number of vessels at Singapore," Marshall said. "They felt
that if we would base part of our Navy there it would greatly
strengthen Britain's position in the Pacific without reducing her
naval forces in the Atlantic war with Germany." The general and
Adm. Stark refused the invitation on tactical grounds. They thought
that American vessels, if moved to Singapore, would be too far re­
moved from supply sources and would be vulnerable to air attack.6

Ingersoll said that his conversations in London in 1938 were ren­
dered obsolete when, in the spring of 1941, a new understanding was
reached between the United States and Britain. The British seem to
have begun agitating for a firmer alliance in the Far East as their
troubles multiplied in the European war. Thus, Adm. Stark, writing
to Adm. Hart on Nov. 12, 1940, remarked of Britain's overtures:

They have been talking in a large way about the defense of
the Malay barrier, with an alliance between themselves, us, and
the Dutch, without much thought as to what the effect would
be in Europe. But we have no id~a as to whether they would
at once begin to fight were the Dutch alone, or were we alone,
to be attacked by the Japanese. Then again, the copy of the
British Far Eastern war plan ... obtained at Singapore shows
much evidence of their usual wishful thinking. Furthermore,
though I believe the Dutch colonial authorities will resist an
attempt to capture their islands, I question whether they would
fight if only the Philippines, or only Singapore, were attacked.7

At length, however, Stark succumbed to British pressure and
agreed to convoke a joint staff conference in Washington.

"I did not ask the President's permission or that of Col. Knox,"
he told the congressional committee. "There was some dynamite in
the fact that we were holding conversations with the British.... I
informed [the President] in January, after the committee was here,
that I was going ahead with those conversations.... I told him that
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I would prefer to be panned for not being ready rather than be re­
proved when the time came and I was not ready, and he let it go
at that."

"What did he say?"
"Well, he did not pan me. Later on all those conversations, that

is, the boildown and the plans, were shown to him."8
The American representatives at the secret staff conversations,

held from January 29 to March 27, were Maj. Gen. Stanley D. Em­
bick, representing the joint United States-Canadian defense board;
Brig. Gen. Sherman Miles, chief of int~lligence for the Army general
staff; Brig. Gen. Leonard T. Gerow, war plans officer, general staff;
Col. Joseph T. McNarney, subsequently a member of the Roberts
commission, representing Army aviation; Rear Adm. Robert M.
Ghormley, American naval observer in England; Rear Adm. Rich­
mond K. Turner, naval war plans officer; Capt. A. G. Kirk, chief of
naval intelligence; and Capt. Dewitt C. Ramsey, representing the
Navy Bureau of Aeronautics.

The British representatives were Rear Admirals R. M. Bellairs
and V. J. Danckwerts, Maj. Gen. E. L. Morris, Air Vice-Marshal J.
C. Slessor, and Capt. A. W. Clarke.9

"The staff conference assumes," its report said, "that when the
United States becomes involved in war with Germany, it will at the
same time engage in war with Italy. In these circumstances, the
possibility of a state of war arising between Japan and an association
of the United States, the British commonwealth, and its allies, in­
cluding the Netherlands East Indies, must be taken into account."

The important word was "when." There was no "if."
"Since Germany is the predominant member of the Axis powers,"

the document continued, "the Atlantic and European area is con­
sidered to be the decisive theater. The principal United States effort
will be exerted in that theater, and operations in other theaters will
be conducted in such a manner as to facilitate that effort." The
United States was to use its fleet to weaken Japanese economic power
and "to support the defense of the Malay barrier by diverting Japa­
nese strength away from Malaysia," principally by raids into the
Marshall Islands.

Not only was Malaya to be protected, but the British stipulated
that they did not intend to let go of any of their Asiatic holdings.
"A cardinal feature of British strategic policy," this provision held,
"is the retention of a position in the Far East such as will insure the
cohesion and security of the British commonwealth."
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The plans for a war with Japan provided that the United States
should be responsible for the defense of a vast stretch of the Pacific­
the ocean areas from the coast of North and South America westward
to a short distance from the coast of Australia, and north of the equa­
tor to a line extending to the westward of the Marianas up to latitude
30 degrees north, where the area was extended to include the reaches
of the ocean all the way to the Asiatic continent.

A second staff conference was held in Singapore April 21-27 to
draft an American-British-Dutch war plan for the Pacific in con­
formity with the master plan for global war laid down at the Wash­
ington staff conference. The American representatives were Capt. W.
R. Purnell, chief of staff of the Asiatic fleet; Col. A. C. McBride, assis­
tant chief of staff of Gen. MacArthur's forces in the Philippines; Capt.
A. M. R. Allen, naval observer at Singapore; and Lieut. Col. F. G.
Brink, military observer at Singapore.

The principal British representatives were Air Chief Marshal Sir
Robert Brooke-Popham, commander-in-chief, Far East, and Vice­
Adm. Sir Geoffrey Layton, commander-in-chief, China. There were
six Australian representatives, six Dutch delegates, three New Zea­
landers, and one representative from India and from the British East
Indies. tO

On the basis of the previous Washington agreement, the United
States Pacific fleet was to operate against the Japanese mandated
islands and Japanese sea communications. The Asiatic fleet at Manila
was to employ only its submarines and its naval air and local naval
defense forces in support of the American Army in its defense of
Luzon, while cruisers and destroyers were to report at Singapore to
operate under strategic command of Adm. Layton. Submarine
tenders, destroyers, tankers, and flying boats were to be dispatched
to Singapore before the commencement of hostilities. Most of Adm.
Hart's cruisers and destroyers were eventually lost fighting in defense
of the British and Dutch colonial empires.

The security of Luzon was termed of "subsidiary interest" to the
security of Singapore and of sea communications. The Singapore
plan envisioned loss of the Philippines. "Upon the ultimate defense
area (which includes Corregidor and the entrance of Manila Bay)
becoming untenable," the agreement said, "all remaining naval and
naval air forces retaining combat value will ... retire southward, pass­
ing under the strategic direction of the commander-in-chief, China."

Chief of Naval Operations Stark testified before the congressional
committee that there was general agreement with the conclusion that
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the Philippines could not be held. He related that, in conversations
with the Japanese ambassador, Adm. Nomura, he had predicted that
the Japanese would score many early successes in a Pacific war, but
that they would eventually be beaten down.

"I'm inclined to think Nomura agreed with me," Stark said.
"Did you think we would lose the Philippines?"
"I hoped we could put up a good fight, but I always conceded we

· would lose them."
"Did you discuss this with the President?"
"Yes, he was thoroughly familiar with the picture."ll
The primary reason why the Philippines-and with them Guam12

-were written off at Singapore, however, was that the Pacific was
considered a secondary front. The staff conference agreed that "to
insure that we are not diverted from the major object of the defeat
of Germany and Italy, our main strategy in the Far East at the pres­
ent time must be defensive." Clark Lee, in They Call It Pacific,
asserts that "the dead of Bataan ... would have still been living if
the United States had not decided that the Pacific was a secondary
front."13

The defense of the Roosevelt administration later for entering a
war alliance through the Washington and Singapore staff agreements
was that the commitments assumed were not binding. The W ashing­
ton agreement nowhere provided for ratification by the Senate or
even that notification be given Congress that any such alliance ex­
isted. The Singapore agreement, while disclaiming that any political
commitment was implied, specified that the agreement was to imple­
ment the war plan previously adopted in Washington, which pro­
vided for no congressional approval.

The Washington agreement on the master war plan was approved
by Secretary Knox on May 28 and by Secretary Stimson on June 2.1

'

Adm. Stark appeared before the congressional committee with a pre­
pared statement saying that the plan was approved by the two secre­
taries "and by the President," but deleted the reference to Roosevelt.
He said he had learned to his' surprise just recently that while the
President had full knowledge of the military agreements, he had not
ratified them.ll~ Stark added, however, that the President had ap­
proved these plans, "except officially."·

Lieut. Col. Henry C. Clausen, who had taken a world-tour in 1944
to look for evidence in support of Secretary Stimson's thesis that
blame for the Pearl Harbor disaster solely attached to the commanders

·See Note 17, Appendix.
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on the spot, told the congressional committee that his inquiries led
him to the White House, but that he was discouraged from entering.

Clausen said that the statements of Army leaders convinced him
there was "an informal agreement but not a binding agreement" on
the part of the United States to fight Japan if the British or Dutch
were attacked.

"That may make sense to you; it didn't to me," he told the com­
mittee.

"I suggested that the inquiry would lead to the White House, but
I was told that it was beyond the scope of my function to investigate
there." He said that he was so informed by Col. William J. Hughes,
assistant to the Army judge advocate genera1.16

However strenuously it might be denied that the intention of Roose­
velt was to circumvent constitutional limitations/7 the indisputable
fact is that as soon as the staff agreements were drafted the Army and
Navy drew up supplementary Pacific war plans of their own designed
to carry out master strategy in concert with the British and Dutch.
The joint Army and Navy basic war plan, which bore the short title
"Rainbow No.5," was approved by Stimson and Knox on the same
dates upon which they approved the report on the Washington staff
conversations, which bore the short title "ABC-I."1s

On the basis of Rainbow 5, the Navy basic war plan, known as
"WPL-46," was promulgated May 25. The Pacific fleet's plan to sup­
port the basic Navy plan was distributed on July 25 and approved
September 9 by the chief of naval operations. It was known as
"WPPac-26." The Army also drew up a plan of operations to sup­
plem~nt Rainbow S. This was approved by Chief of Staff Marshall
on August 19.19

The objectives of the joint Army-Navy plan were described by
Adm. Turner, Navy war plans officer, in the following words:

The plan contemplated a major effort on the part of both
the principal associated powe~rs against Germany initially. It
was felt in the Navy Department that there might be a possibility
of war with Japan without the involvement of Germany, but
at some length and over a considerable period this matter was
discussed and it was determined that in such a case the United
States would, if possible, initiate efforts to bring Germany into
the war against us in order that we would be able to give strong
support to the United Kingdom in Europe/A: We felt that it was
incumbent on our side to defeat Germany, to launch our princi-

·1talics supplied.
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pal efforts against Germany first, and to conduct a limited offen­
sive in the Central Pacific, and a strictly defensive effort in the
Asiatic.20

The statements of other high-ranking American officers were
equally illuminating concerning the practical effects of the staff agree­
ments. They suggested that the reluctance of the American people
to be pulled into war was the real reason why the agreements were
drafted in secret and why they were kept secret from Congress.

Thus, while asserting that America's broad military objective was
the defeat of Germany, Marshall and Stark, in their instructions to
American representatives at the Washington staff conference, warned
that the American people desired to stay out of war.21* The same
conclusion was voiced by Lieut. Col. George W. Bicknell, assistant to
Gen. Short's G-2. In an intelligence estimate ~n October 17, 1941, Bick­
nell said that there was "no known binding agreement between the
British and Americans for joint military action against Japan" because
"the American public is not yet fully prepared to support such ac­
tion."22

In questioning Short, Senator Ferguson referred to Bicknell's
phrase "no known binding agreement" and asked, "What do you
understand by 'binding agreement'? Do you mean by treaty?"

"To be binding, it should be approved by the Congress, as I under­
stand it," Short replied. "He might have meant simply any agreement
that had been made and approved by the President, and not made
public."

"What was your understanding about that part of it that 'the Amer­
ican public is not yet fully prepared to support such action'?"

"I felt at that time," Short responded, "that the American public
would not have been willing to have an agreement ratified that we
would go to war to defend the Netherlands East Indies or Singapore."28

Adm. Kimmel testified that he was no better informed than Gen.
Short about American commitments to the British and Dutch. He
said that he had tried to find out what the United States would do
if the Japanese moved toward Singapore, Thailand, or Borneo, but
all the enlightenment he received was in a letter from Stark on No-

·The percentage of Americans favoring entry into the war from October, 1939,
until May, 1941, the month that the Washington master war plan and the joint Army­
Navy war plan were approved, was shown by the Gallup poll to be as follows:

October, 1939, 5 per cent; June 2, 1940, 16 per cent; June 14, 1940, 19 per cent;
July 6, 1940, 14 per cent; July 19, 1940, 15 per cent; October, 1940, 17 per cent;
December, 1940, 15 per cent; Feb. 2, 1941, 15 per cent; March, 1941, 17 per cent;
April, 1941, 13 per cent; May, 1941, 1-9 per cent.
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vember 25, 1941, ,mentioning reports that the Japanese were planning
aggressive moves in the Southwest Pacific. "I won't go into the pros
and cons of what the United States may do," Stark said, "I will be
damned if I know."24

Stark himself testified before the congressional committee that his
"honest opinion was that no one knew the answers to such ques­
tions."25 Under questioning of Senator Ferguson, he admitted that
there was "not so much" difference between the informal war alliance
with Britain in the Atlantic and the similar arrangement with the
British and Dutch in the Pacific. "We did not come to Congress,"
he said of both. Nor did he dispute Ferguson when the Senator
pointed out that "in the Atlantic, with what you call technical war,
we went in without Congress."26

Gen. Marshall was shown a memorandum in which he and Stark
advised Roosevelt on November 27, 1941, to take "military action"
if Jap forces moved into western Thailand or advanced southward
through the Gulf of Siam.

"Did you feel," asked Ferguson, "that a Japanese move against
British territory would inevitably involve the United States in war?"

"Yes," said Marshall.21

In carrying out its engagements under the Singapore pact, Mar­
shall admitted, the Army was building landing strips and accumulat­
ing bombs, gasoline, oil, and other material before December 7 at
Port Moresby, New Guinea; Darwin, Australia; Rabaul, New Britain;
Balikpapan, Borneo; and Singapore.28

Even after the drafting of ABC-I, Rainbow No.5, WPL-46, WP­
Pac-46, and the Army plan of operations for the Pacific, new joint
war plans were being worked up with the British and approved by
Washington almost to the very hour of the December 7 attack. On
November 11, for instance, Stark advised Adm. Hart that previous
joint plans were considered "dead." Hart was instructed to confer
with Adm. Tom S. V. Phillips, who was coming to Singapore as com­
mander of the British Far Eastern fleet, in drawing up a new joint
naval operating plan.!9

Hart subsequently reported that he and Phillips, after a secret con­
ference in Manila, had made an agreement to enlarge the harbor at
Manila for use as a base by British naval units. Phillips had brought
out the battleship "Prince of Wales" and the battle cruiser "Repulse"
-both to be sunk in a Jap air attack in the South China Sea on De­
cember 8-and Manila could not accommodate such large units. The
agreement was reported by Hart on December 6 and approved by
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Stark just before the attack upon Pearl Harbor the following day.
Although Hart was charged with perfecting joint war plans in the

Far East, even he did not know the full extent of aid which the White
House was pledging to the British. On December 7, a few hours be­
fore the attack on Oahu, Hart sent a message to Stark saying, "Learn
from Singapore we have assured British armed support under three
or four eventualities. Have received no corresponding instructions
froin yoU."30

Four years later Hart told the congressional committee that he had
been informed of these undertakings by Capt. John Creighton, Amer­
ican naval attache at Singapore, who had been told of them by Air
Marshal Brooke-Popham. Hart said that the attack at Pearl Harbor
intervened before he received any clarification from Washington.

Capt. Creighton, following Hart before the committee, produced
the message which Brooke-Popham had received from London setting
forth the terms for American aid. It read:

We have now received assurance of American armed sup­
port in cases as follows:

A) We are obliged to execute our plans to forestall Japanese
landing Isthmus of Kra or take action in reply to Nips invasion
any part of Siam.

B) If Dutch are attacked and we go to their defense.
C) If Japs attack us, the British therefore without reference

to London put plan in action if, first, you have good info Jap
expedition advancing with the apparent intention of landing in
Kra; second, if the Nips violate any portion of Thailand. If
N.E.!. attacked, put into action operation plans agreed upon
between British and Dutch.31

These contingencies did not provide that American aid should be
dependent upon a Japanese attack on any American possessions. The
conditions had the effect of giving the British commanders at Sing­
apore a blanket authorization to call American forces into war any
time the Japanese moved against British or Dutch possessions or even
against Siam. It is not known who in the British government sent
word to Brooke-Popham outlining the conditions under which the
United States would enter the war, but it is impossible to believe that
Britain would have instructed its commander-in-chief for the entire
Far East of such conditions if they had not been agreed upon.

Once the United States signed the Washington and Singapore
staff agreements, the British, Australians, Dutch, and Chinese pro­
ceeded on the assumption that this co~try was an outright ally and
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increased their pressure to hasten the day when America should be
formally at war. Secretary Hull described their attitude in a memo­
randum of a conference on November 24 with Lord Halifax, British
ambassador; Richard G. Casey, Australian minister; Hu Shih, Chinese
ambassador; and A. Louden, Netherlands minister. Hull noted:

They seemed to be thinking of the advantages to be derived
without any particular thought of what we should pay for them,
if anything. I remarked that each of their governments was
more interested in the defense of that area of the world [South­
west Pacific] than this country, but they expected this country,
in the case of a Japanese outbreak, to be ready to move in a
military way and take the lead in defending the entire area.32

Senator Ferguson asked Adm. Stark: "Isn't that exactly what hap-
pened, just what Mr. Hull prophesied would happen, that we would
have to defend the whole area and we would have to have the war
for the whole area?"

"We would have the major role," Stark replied.33

Japanese diplomatic messages show that America's role as a partner
of Britain, China, and Holland in a Pacific war alliance was not lost
upon the Japanese. Two messages sent by Ambassador Nomura from
Washington in the last month before hostilities began demonstrate
that the Japanese had suspected or somehow learned of this joint
military program. On November 10 Nomura advised Tokyo:

1. I sent [Frederick] Moore [legal adviser to the Japanese
embassy] to contact Senator [Elbert D.] Thomas [of Utah]
of the Senate Military Affairs Committee and Hull. His report
reads as follows:

"The United States is not bluffing. If Japan invades again,
the United States will fight with Japan. Psychologically the
American people are ready. The Navy is prepared and ready
for action."

2. Yesterday evening, Sunday, a certain Cabinet member, dis­
carding all quibbling, began by saying to me:

"You are indeed a dear friend of mine and I tell this to you
alone." Then he continued: "The American government is re­
ceiving a number of reliable reports that Japan will be on the
move soon. The American government does not believe your
visit on Monday to the President or the coming of Mr. Kurusu
will have any effect on the general situation."

I took pains to explain in detail how impatient the Japanese
have grown since the freezing; how they are eager for a quick
understanding; how both the government and the people do not
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desire a Japanese-American war; and how we will hope for
peace until the end.

He replied, however: "Well, our boss, the President, believes
those reports and so does the Secretary of State."34

Again, on December 3, Nomura notified Tokyo: "Judging from
all indications, we feel that some joint military action between Great
Britain and the United States, with or without a declaration of war,
is a definite certainty in the event of an occupation of Thailand."35

Other Japanese diplomatic messages showed that the Japanese had
a clear appreciation of Mr. Roosevelt's role as a protector of Britain,
Holland, and China. On November 24, a message from Tokyo to
Washington described the American President as "acting as a spokes­
man for Chiang Kai-shek."36

America's protective occupation of Dutch Guiana on November 24
aroused Japanese fears that Roosevelt contemplated similar action in
the Dutch East Indies. On November 27 Nomura expressed belief to
Tokyo that, "depending upon the atmosphere at the time the Jap­
·anese-U.S. negotiations break off, Britain and the United States may
occupy the Netherlands East Indies."37

Foreign Minister Togo, on December 6, drew a sardonic parallel
between America's occupation of Dutch Guiana and Japan's conduct
in Indo-China. "Based on an agreement with France," he said, "we
penetrated southern French Indo-China for joint defense. Scarcely
were our tracks dry, when along comes good old nonchalant America
and grabs Netherlands Guiana. If she needs any of the American
countries for her own interests, hiding under the camouflage of joint
defense, she will take them, as she has just proven."38

In two speeches after the Pearl Harbor attack had brought the
United States into the war, Prime Minister Churchill made it clear
that it had been his constant policy to entangle the United States in
any conflict Japan might bring upon Britain, and that in this object
he had the eager assistance of Roosevelt. His remarks show that the
staff agreements were considered binding by both Roosevelt and him­
self, and that the President had fortified their effect with additional
personal assurances.

On January 27, 1942, in a speech to the House of Commons,
Churchill said,

It has been the policy of the cabinet at almost all cost to
avoid embroilment with Japan until we were sure that the
United States would also be engaged.... But as time has
passed the mighty United States, under the leadership of Presi-
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dent Roosevelt, from reasons of its own interest and safety but
also out of chivalrous regard for the cause of freedom and de­
mocracy, has drawn ever nearer to the confines of the struggle.
And now that the blow has fallen it does not fall on us alone....

I have explained how very delicately we walked, and how
painful it was at times, how very careful I was every time that
we should not be exposed single-handed to this onslaught which
we were utterly incapable of meeting....

On the other hand, the probability, since the Atlantic con­
ference, at which I discussed these matters with Mr. Roosevelt,
that the United States, even if not herself attacked, would come
into the war in the Far East, and thus make final victory sure,
seemed to allay some of these anxieties. That expectation has
not been falsified by the event. . . . As time went on, one had
greater assurance that if Japan ran amok in the Pacific, we
should not fight alone. It must also be remembered that over
the whole of the Pacific brooded the great power of the United
States fleet, concentrated at Hawaii. It seemed very unlikely
that Japan would attempt the distant invasion of the Malay
Peninsula, the assault upon Singapore, and the attack upon the
Dutch East Indies, while leaving behind them in their rear this
great American fleet. "39

Again, on February 15, Mr. Churchill crowed in Commons,

When I survey and compute the power of the United States
and its vast resources and feel that they are now in it with us,
with the British commonwealth of nations all together, however
long it lasts, till death or victory, I cannot believe that there
is any other fact in the whole world which can compare with
that. This is what I have dreamed of, aimed at, and worked
for, and now it has come to pass."'o

The most straightforward estimate of Roosevelt's policy was pro­
vided by Capt. Oliver Lyttelton, British production minister in Church­
ill's cabinet. Speaking June 20, 1944, before the American Chamber
of Commerce in London, he asserted that "America provoked Japan
to such an extent that the Japanese were forced to attack Pearl Har­
bor. It is a travesty on history ever to say that America was forced
into war."41

Later he apologized for speaking the embarrassing truth that the
will to get into war came from this side of the water-from the White
House.



Chapter Nine

MEETING AT SEA

As EARLY as February, 1941, Prime Minister Churchill had begun
to press Mr. Roosevelt to take the lead in deterring Japan from seiz­
ing British possessions in the Far East. He besought the President
then to "instil in Japan anxiety" that any Japanese move toward Sing­
apore would mean war with the United States.! To the Atlantic con­
ference in August he brought renewed proposals that Roosevelt throw
down the gauntlet to Japan. Although Britain's hand in the Orient
was so weak that Churchill had been forced to shut down the Burma
Road only a year before in order to appease Japan, the Prime Minister
euphemistically referred to the proposed course as "parallel action"
by Britain and the United States.

More than four years after the Atlantic conference Sumner WelIes
told the congressional committee investigating Pearl Harbor the de­
tailed story of the conference. Welles's notes of conversations between
the two leaders on August 10 and 11 provided the fullest first-hand
account of the Charter meeting yet made public.2 Welles dealt at
length with the so-called "parallel declaration" to be made by the
United States, Britain, and Holland warning Japan against further
aggression in the Far East.

On Sunday, August 10, Welles wrote, he accompanied Roosevelt
to a conference with Churchill aboard the battleship "Prince of Wales."

Sir Alexander Cadogan [British permanent undersecretary for
foreign affairs] told me before lunch that in accordance with
the conversation which was had between the President, the
Prime Minister, Sir Alexander, and myself at the President's
dinner last night, he had made two tentative drafts covering
proposed parallel and simultaneous declarations by the United
States and British governments relating to Japanese policy in
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the Pacific and of a proposed joint declaration to be made by the
President and the Prime Minister when their present meeting
was terminated.

The draft of the "parallel declaration" to Japan read as follows:

Declaration by the United States government that:
1. Any further encroachment by Japan in the Southwestern

Pacific would produce a situation in which the United States
government would be compelled to take counter measures even
though these might lead to war between the United States and
Japan.

2. If any third power becomes the object of aggression by
Japan in consequence of such counter measures or of their sup­
port of them, the President would have the intention to seek
authority from Congress to give aid to such power.

Identical declarations were to be made by Great Britain and the
Netherlands, with the names of those nations and appropriate refer­
ences to their governments substituted for the United States and the
President. A notation at the bottom of the document read, "Keep
the Soviet government informed. It will be for consideration whether
they should be pressed to make a parallel declaration."

Welles's memorandum continued,

As I was leaving the ship to accompany the President back
to his flagship, Mr. Churchill ... impressed upon me his belief
that some declaration of the kind he had drafted with respect
to Japan was in his opinion in the highest degree important, and
that he did not think there was much hope left unless the
United States made such a clear-cut declaration of preventing
Japan from expanding further to the south, in which event the
prevention of war between Great Britain and Japan appeared
to be hopeless.

He said in a most emphatic manner that if war did break
out between Great Britain and Japan, Japan immediately would
be in a position through the use of her large number of cruisers
to seize or to destroy all of the British m·erchant shipping in the
Indian Ocean and in the Pacific and to cut the lifelines between
the British dominions and the British Isles unless the United
States herself entered the war. He pled with me that a declara­
tion of this character, participated in by the United States, Great
Britain, the dominions, the Netherlands, and possibly the Soviet
Union, would definitely restrain Japan. If this were not done,
the blow to the British government might be almost decisive.

On the following day Churchill was received by Roosevelt aboard
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the cruiser "Augusta." Churchill again brought up the subject of the
parallel declaration. Welles noted:

The Prime Minister then said that he desired to discuss the
situation in the Far East. He had with him a copy of a draft
memorandum, of which he had already given the President
a copy, and which suggested that the United States, British, and
Dutch governments simultaneously warn Japan that further mil­
itary expansion by Japan in the South Pacific would lead to the
taking of counter measures by the countries named, even though
such counter measures might result in hostilities between them
and Japan, and, second, provided that the United States declare
to Japan that should Great Britain go to the assistance of the
Netherlands East Indies as a result of aggression against the lat­
ter on the part of Japan, the President would request from the
Congress of the United States authority to assist the British and
Dutch governments in their defense against Japanese aggres­
sion.

After further discussion of proposals submitted by Ambassador
Nomura in behalf of the Japanese government to Secretary HuIl­
"all of which," Churchill remarked, "were particularly unacceptable"
-Roosevelt said that he would ask Hull by radio to inform Nomura
that he was returning to Washington the following Saturday or Sun­
day and that he desired to see the Japanese ambassador immediately
upon his return.

The President, Welles recorded, stated that in this interview he
would inform Nomura that if the Japanese would pledge themselves
to keep hands off the Southwest Pacific and to withdraw the troops
they then had in Indo-China, "the United States would in a friendly
spirit seek to explore the possibilities inherent in the various proposals
made by Japan for the reaching of a friendly understanding between
the two governments."

Roosevelt, however, was unwilling to assent to Japan's proposals
that, as conditions to any such pledge undertaken by Japan, the United
States abandon economic and financial sanctions, take no further mili­
tary measures in the Southwest Pacific in concert with the British and
Dutch, and "use its good offices for the initiation of direct negotia­
tions between the Japanese government and the Chiang Kai-shek
regime for the purpose of a speedy settlement of the China incident."

The President, WeUes continued, announced that he would

further state that should Japan refuse to consider this procedure
and undertake further steps in the nature of military expan-



120 PEARL HARBOR

sions, the President desired the Japanese government to know
that in such event in his belief· various steps would have to be
taken by the United States, notwithstanding the President's re­
alization that the taking of such further measures might result
in war between the United States and Japan.

Churchill, Welles reported.

immediately declared that the procedure suggested appeared to
him to cover the situation very well. He said it had in it an
element of "face saving" for the Japanese and yet at the same
time would constitute a flat United States warning to Japan of
the consequences involved in a continuation by Japan of her
present course.

Churchill's satisfaction was understandable. The position which
Roosevelt announced he intended to take was that Japan must clear

\ out of China and guarantee immunity to the British and Dutch colo­
nial holdings without getting anything in return except a promise
that the United States would continue to "explore" the possibilities of
a settlement. Such terms obviously would be unacceptable to Japan.
Therefore, the bite was at the finish of Roosevelt's proposed lecture
to Nomura: if the Japs moved against British and Dutch territory,
they would have a war with the United States on their hands.

The discussion then turned to whether the threat of American
action should be broadened to cover any aggressive steps by Japan
against Russia. Welles suggested that

the real issue which was involved was the continuation by
Japan of its present policy of conquest by force in the entire
Pacific region and regardless whether such policy was directed
against China, against the Soviet Union, or against the British
dominions or British colonies, or the colonies of the Netherlands
in the Southern Pacific area. I said it seemed to me that the
statement which the President intended to make to the Japanese
government might more adv'intageously be based on the ques­
tion of broad policy rather than be premised solely upon Jap­
anese moves in the Southwestern Pacific area.

The President agreed to this comprehensive enlargement of the warn­
ing.

Roosevelt, in calling for the withdrawal of Japanese troops from
Indo-China, proposed that that country and Thailand be neutralized
by a general agreement to which Japan should be a party. He said
that Japan might more readily acquiesce in this proposal if he could
state that he had been informed by the British government that Great
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Britain "had no aggressive intentions whatever" upon Thailand.
Welles suggested the addition that "the British government had in­
formed the United States government that it supported wholeheart­
edly the President's proposal for the neutralization of Indo-China and
of Thailand." Churchill authorized these statements, by means of
which Roosevelt undertook to carry the diplomatic ball for Britain.

"The President expressed the belief," WelIes said, "that by adopt­
ing this course any further move of aggression on the part of Japan
which might result in war could be held for at least thirty days."
Churchill said that the procedure gave a "reasonable chance" that
Japanese policy might be modified.

The thirty-day estimate is at variance with that given by Lindley
and Davis, who said that Roosevelt, in endeavoring to check Church­
ill's impetuous desire to bring a showdown with Japan at once, had
asked, "Wouldn't we be better oft in three months?" Churchill
agreed, but when he still professed doubt whether the respite would
be forthcoming, Roosevelt was quoted as saying in an airy, offhand
way, "Leave that to me. I think I can baby them [the laps] along
for three months."s

Whether it was one month or three, the President by either reck­
oning .was manifesting a conviction that war was inevitable. Once
he had taken that position, it is difficult to see· what meaning attached
to the negotiations for a peaceful settlement which were to go on in
Washington for another four months between Hull and Nomura.
The decisions which Roosevelt and Churchill reached at their meeting
at sea virtually precluded any constructive resolution of the problems
between the United States and Japan.

Having decided to warn Japan that further moves in any direction
meant a war with America, the conferees indulged in a curious par­
ley as to how much of this the Chinese should be permitted to know.
WelIes relates:

I said that while I felt very definitely that every effort should
be made to keep China closely informed of what was being
done in her interest by Great Britain and by the United States,
I wondered whether telling China of what the President in­
tended to state to the Japanese government at this particular
moment would not mean that the government at Chungking
for its own interests would make public the information so re­
ceived.

If publicity resulted, I stated I feared the extreme militaristic
element in Tokyo and that portion of the Tokyo press which
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was controlled by Germany would immediately take advantage
of the situation so created to inflame sentiment in Japan to such
an extent as to make any possibility remote, as it might any­
how be, of achieving any satisfactory result through negotiation
with Japan.

Cadogan, said Welles,

was entirely in accord and would be governed by these views.
He said, of course, I realized how terribly persistent the Chi­
nese were and that the present ambassador in London, Dr. Wel­
lington Koo, would undoubtedly press him day in and day out
to know what had transpired at the meeting between the Prime
Minister and the President with regard to China. He said he
felt that the best solution was for him merely tc say in general
terms that the two governments had agreed that every step
should be taken that was practicable at this time for China
and its defense and avoid going into any details.

Accordingly, the Chinese were left as completely uninformed about
what went on at the Atlantic conference as the American public.

Having disposed of Japan to his satisfaction, Churchill tackled the
problem of getting Roosevelt to sign an acknowledgment of Anglo­
American alliance in the Atlantic which could be waved in Hitler's
face. Roosevelt assented without making difficulties. The Atlantic
Charter was the product.'

On August 17, upon his return to Washington, Roosevelt sum­
moned Adm. Nomura to the White House and there read him what
was tantamount to an ultimatum. After reviewing Japanese penetra­
tion of Indo-China and charging Japan with having "continued its
military activities and its disposals of armed forces at various points
in the Far East," the President said:

Such being the case, this government now finds it neces­
sary to say to the government of Japan that if the Japanese
government takes any further steps in pursuance of a policy or
program of military domination by force or threat of force of
neighboring countries, the government of the United States will
be compelled to take immediately any and all steps which it may
deem necessary toward safeguarding the legitimate rights and in­
terests of the United States and American nationals and toward
insuring the safety and security of the United States.5

The oral warning which the President gave Nomura followed the
Churchill draft only as far as the beginning of the clause "compelled
to take counter-measures even though these might lead to war." Welles
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said that Roosevelt's revisions constituted a "watering down" of the
original statement.

"But the two instruments meant the same ~hing in diplomatic
language?" asked Senator Ferguson.

"That is correct," said Welles.*6
No public announcement was made by Roosevelt of the joint ac­

tion agreement, although he addressed Congress August 21 on his
meeting at sea, nor was it announced that the President had submit­
ted an ultimatum to Japan. Roosevelt reserved his confidences for
Churchill alone. On the day after addressing his statement to Nomu­
ra, he advised the Prime Minister that he had warned the Japanese
ambassador against further moves by Japan in the Pacific.

"I made to him," Roosevelt said, "a statement covering the posi­
tion of this government with respect to the taking by Japan of further
steps in th~ direction of military domination by force.... The state­
ment made to him was no less vigorous and was substantially similar
to the statement we had discussed."7

Under the parallel action agreement, Churchill and the Dutch
government were also obligated to follow Roosevelt in addressing
ultimatums to Japan, but they seem to have been content to let the
United States threaten the Japanese. State Department files do not
show that either Churchill or the Dutch gave warnings in the same
manner or form as the President had, although Churchill approached
a parallel declaration in his radio speech of August 24, when he re­
ported on the Atlantic conference.

After reviewing Japan's military adventures and discussing the
potential Japanese threat to Singapore, Siam, and the Philippines, he
said, "It is certain that this has got to stop. Every effort will be made
to secure a peaceful settlement.... But this I must say: that if these
hopes should fail we shall of course range ourselves unhesitatingly at
the side of the United States."s

On November 10 Churchill returned to this theme, stating that
"it is my duty to say, that, should the United States become involved
in war with Japan, the British declaration will follow within the
hour."9

In Tokyo, Ambassador Grew was much gratified. "It does one's
-As to the effect of this warning, the minority report of the Joint Congressional Com­

mittee says, "In his statement to the Japanese ambassador on Sunday, Aug. 17, immedi­
ately following his return from the Atlantic conference, President Roosevelt warned Japan
against further attempts to dominate 'neighboring countries,' not merely the possessions
of the United States, and used diplomatic language which, according to long established
usages, had only one meaning, namely, that such further attempts would result in a
conflict with the United States" (Min., p. 15).



124 PEARL HARBOR

heart good," he remarked, "to hear such an unqualified statement by
the British Prime Minister, leaving nothing to the imagination."lo

The only evidence that Churchill ever went beyond his public
speeches in taking parallel action against Japan is provided in a memo­
randum written November 27, 1941, by Dr. Stanley Hornbeck.II Horn­
beck, reviewing America's relations with Japan, said: "By August of
1941 the situation had become definitely threatening. Toward the
end of that month, the British government and the American gov­
ernment served on Japan a strong warning against further extending
of her courses of aggression."

When Senator Barkley, chairman of the investigating committee,
observed that "if such a protest or representation was made by Great
Britain, the document itself would prove what it contained," Senator
Ferguson reminded him, "Mr. Chairman, it is clear that the British
papers are not subject to our examination."12

That the effect of the Roosevelt warning of August 17 was that
of an ultimatum is attested by Welles, Capt. R. E. Schuirmann, the
Navy's liaison officer on diplomatic relations, and by the Japanese
themselves.

Senator Ferguson read Welles a press report from Tokyo dated
August 13, while Roosevelt and Churchill were meeting at sea, stating
that Japanese political sources believed America would match Japan
"move for move" and that the Japanese had "no doubt what the next
move would be."

"Doesn't that indicate parallel action had been taken?" asked Fer­
guson.

"Those would be the implications of the Atlantic Charter," Welles
replied.

"Didn't the parallel declaration by Churchill and Roosevelt at the
Atlantic conference commit us to 'take the lead' in the war?"

"It envisaged a possible conflict," conceded Welles. "My under­
standing of the document is that if Japan continued its aggression,
the United States would be obliged to take the necessary steps, which
would include military action."13

Capt. Schuirmann characterized the Roosevelt statement at a meet­
ing on November 5, attended by Gen. Marshall, Adm. Stark, and other
high-ranking officers, as "an ultimatum to Japan that it would be
necessary for the United States to take action in case of further Jap­
anese aggression."14

The Japanese also viewed the statement as an ultimatum. On No­
vember 28 Adm. Nomura cautioned Tokyo,
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What the imperial government must, of course, consider is
what Great Britain, Australia, the Netherlands, and China,
egged on by the United States, will do in case the imperial
forces invade Thailand. Even supposing there is no armed col­
lision with British forces, in the oral statement of President
Roosevelt on the 17th he prophesied that suitable action would be
taken immediately in case Japan carries on any further penetra­
tion beyond Indo-China.15

The President's statement was not the first ultimatum addressed
by American spokesmen to the Japanese, nor would it be the last.
The first had come from Counselor Eugene Dooman of the Ameri­
can embassy in Tokyo, who, on February 14, 1941, had informed
Chuichi Ohashi, the Japanese vice-minister for foreign affairs,

It would be absurd to suppose that the American people,
while pouring munitions into Britain, would look with com­
placency upon the cutting of communications between Britain
and the British. dominions and colonies overseas. If, therefore,
Japan or any other nation we~e to prejudice the safety of those
communications, either by direct action or by placing herself
in a position to menace those communications, she would have
to expect to come into conflict with the United States.16

Ambassador" Grew said he approved this statement.17 The im­
pression had been created in Japan, he told the congressional commit­
tee, that the United States was "isolationist, pacifistic, and too divided
to fight a war." The controlled press, he said, played up anti-war
speeches an"d strikes in the United States.

"Dooman was in the United States during the 1940 Presidential
campaign/' said Representative Keefe of Wisconsin. "Were his
5p:~eches played up in Japan?"

"I cannot recollect," said Grew.
"Well," said Keefe, "during that campaign there were a lot of

speeches made by nonisolationists, including the President himself,
indicating that we did not want to fight a foreign war."18

A second warning was given Japan by Adm. Turner, Navy chief
of war plans. Meeting Ambassador Nomura in July, 1941, Turner
told Nomura he thought "Congress would declare war" if Japan at­
tacked the Dutch East Indies or the British in Malaya. The admiral
said that his report of the conversation was relayed to Roosevelt.19

Welles's statement to Nomura on July 23 that Japan, by occupy­
ing Indo-China, had removed the basis for a "peaceful" settlement
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with the United States, had suggested that the only remaining alterna­
tive was a solution by resort to force.2o

The striking fact is that all of these statements promised Japan
war with the United States if the Japanese attacked territory not be­
longing to the United States. Dooman threatened war in behalf of
Britain and its dominions and colonies. Turner threatened war in
behalf of Dutch and British colonies. Welles ruled out prospects of
a peaceful settlement because Japan moved against Indo-China, then
the property of Vichy France. Roosevelt was thinking of the British
empire lifeline when he gave his all-inclusive warning. And, as will
be seen, Secretary Hull acted at the insistence of the Chinese when
he abandoned his own device to keep the peace and submitted terms
to Japan which brought on the Pearl Harbor attack and the war.

It was in this strange climate of the United States conducting its
foreign relations in the interest of everybody else that diplomatic
negotiations proceeded in the hope of averting a war between the
United States and Japan.



Cbapter Ten

THE LAST OF THE JAPANESE
MODERATES

WITH PREPARATIONS for war cut and dried, and the war itself already
fairly under way in the Atlantic, diplomatic negotiations supposed to
preserve peace in the Pacific went on in Washington. Ambassador
Grew, in a moment of optimism some two months before the Pearl
Harbor attack, had given a description of the mission of diplomacy.
After reviewing America's differences with Japan, he said:

In facing these difficult and highly complicated problems,
let us not forget that diplomacy is essentially our first line of
national defense, while our Navy is but the second line and our
Army, let us hope, the third line. If the first line, diplomacy, is
successful, those other lines will never have to be brought into
action, even although that first line is immeasurably strength­
ened by the mere presence of those other lines, the reserves be­
hind the front. It is the first line, diplomacy, that must bear the
responsibility for avoiding the necessity of ever using those re­
serves, and it is in that light that I look on my duties here in
Japan.1

American diplomacy, however, did not accomplish this purpose.
It failed even to delay the coming of war until the nation was pre­
pared. The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee
(p. 3) said of American-Japanese diplomatic negotiations:

The question of the wisdom of the foreign policy pursued
by the government of the United States is excluded by the terms
of the committee's instructions. In any case, to go into this
issue would involve the committee in the complexities of history
extending back more than 50 years and in matters of opinion

127
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which cannot be settled by reference to anything as positive and
definite as the Constitution, laws, and established administrative
practices of the United States government. To understand the
questions involved, however, an examination of our relations in
the Far East, and of the diplomatic negotiations leading up to
December 7, 1941, are part and parcel of the explanation of the
responsibilities involved in this inquiry.

Diplomacy failed because diplomacy was not employed to avert
war, but to make certain its coming. Grew himself has described his
mission to Tokyo as a labor of peace, but as early as December 14,
1940, when, as one Groton schoolfellow to another, he addressed a
"Dear Frank" letter to Mr. Roosevelt, he seems to have grown tired
of the struggle. In that letter he told the President that it was a
question of "when" we were to call a halt to Japan's expansion rather
than "whether."

"About Japan and all her works," he said. "It seems to me in
creasingly clear that we are bound to have a showdown some day,
and the principal question at issue is whether it is to our advantage
to have that showdown sooner or to have it later." He then expressed
the belief that "we are bound eventually to come to a head-on clash
with Japan."2

Replying on January 21, 1941, Roosevelt said, "I find myself in
decided agreement with your conclusions."g The President then spoke
of American policy in the Pacific in relation to the efforts of the
British in the war in Europe:

The British need assistance along the lines of our generally
established policies at many points, assistance which in the case
of the Far East is certainly well within the realm of "possibility"
so far as the capacity of the United States is concerned. Their
defense strategy must in the nature of things be global. Our
strategy of giving them assistance toward insuring our own
security must envisage both sending supplies to England and
helping to prevent a closing of channels of communication to
and from various parts of the world, so that other important
sources of supply will not be denied to the British and be added
to the assets of the other side.4

The President then proclaimed it to be the extraordinary duty of
the United States not only to support Britain in the European war,
but to accept a stewardship entailing the protection of Britain's colo­
nial empire while Britain was occupied in Europe. He said:

The conflict [in Europe] may well be long and we must
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bear in mind that when England is victorious she may not have
left the strength that would be needed to bring about a rear­
rangement of such territorial changes in the Western and South­
ern Pacific as might occur during the course of the conflict if
Japan is not kept within bounds.5

In order to preserve British imperialism in Asia and the Pacific,
therefore, the United States must see to it that Japan was "kept
within bounds." The subsequent course of American diplomacy in
dealing with Japan may be interpreted in this light.

"Is it fair to say," Senator Ferguson inquired of Grew before the
congressional committee, "that you foresaw war between the United
States and Japan?"

"I was doing all in my power to avert war," Grew said. "That
i~ the only position a diplomatic representative should take.... The
clash need not have been military. Economic measures might have
brought Japan to a position to deal with us."

"Was it your opinion that Japan would fight or that she was
bluffing?"

"I never thought Japan was bluffing," the ambassador replied. "I
thought they would fight under certain circumstances."6

In February, 1941, at a time when Grew was remarking, "The
outlook for the future of the relations between Japan and the United
States has never been darker,"7 Adm. Nomura arrived in Washington
as the new Japanese ambassador. Nomura" kno,vn as an admirer of
the United States and Britain, had inherited a difficult job. Facing
him were Americans who made no effort to conceal their skepticism of
his and Japan's intentions. At his back, in Tokyo, were the jingoist~

of the Japanese army and navy, who did not want any mission of
peace to succeed, and the agents of Hitler's Germany, spinning their
intrigues to involve Japan' and the United States in a war which would
take America off Germany's back and tie the untrustworthy Japanese
firmly to their Axis alliance.

When Nomura was sent to the United States, Grew noted that

the Germans here are doing everything possible to prevent Adm.
Nomura from going to Washington and to bring about a partial
or complete break in diplomatic relations with the United States,
and they are also about to intensify their efforts to embroil the
two countries and to propel the [Japanese] southward advance.8

Almost-at once upon his arrival in Washington, Nomura opened
negotiations looking toward a solution of Japan's difficulties with the
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United States. In his first interview with the President on February
14, the admiral referred to the chauvinistic military group in Japan
as being the chief obstacle to a moderate policy.9 He also pointed out,
according to a memorandum written by Secretary Hull on March 8,
that the people of Japan with few exceptions were very much averse
to getting into war with the United States.10

On April 9 an informal draft, outlining the basis of a cordial reso­
lution of the outstanding differences between the two nations was
presented to the State Department by private Japanese and American
individuals.11 It provided that the United States would request the
Chiang Kai-shek government to negotiate a peace with Japan which
would be based on the guaranty of an independent China, withdrawal
of Japanese troops, no indemnities or territorial changes, recognition
of Manchukuo, and coalescence of the Wang Ching-Wei Chinese
puppet government with that of Chiang.

The Japanese were to pledge "no large-scale concentrated immi­
gration of Japanese into Chinese territory" and the "Open Door" was
to be resumed. The draft agreement stipulated that if the Chinese
rejected a settlement tendered through President Roosevelt on these
terms, America was to discontinue supplying aid to Chiang's govern­
ment.

Japan was to undertake to limit the military grouping among
nations not then involved in the European war, and would execute
its commitments under the tripartite pact only if one of its partners
were "aggressively attacked" by a power not then involved. In re­
turn, the United States would pledge to stay out of any "aggressive
alliance" designed to assist one nation against another. Both Japan
and the United States were to guarantee the independence of the
Philippines.12

The draft of April 9 had been prepared by its private sponsors in
collaboration with Ambassador Nomura. Secretary Hull, after first
expressing skepticism that the time was opportune for it to be pre­
sented as a basis for negotiations, finally agreed that it could be used
as a framework for beginning discussions if it were supplemented
with the following points:

(1) Respect for the territorial integrity and the sovereignty
of each and all nations.

(2) Support of the principle of noninterference in the inter­
nal affairs of other countries.

(3) Support of the principle of equality, including equality
of commercial opportunity.



THE LAST OF THE JAPANESE MODERATES 131

(4) Nondisturbance of the status quo in the Pacific, except
as the status quo may be altered by peaceful means.13

On May 12 Nomura submitted an official revision of the April 9
draft to Secretary Hull, the principal changes being that the United
States was to pledge to take no "aggressive measures" against any other
nation, and was to acknowledge Premier Konoye's basis for a settle­
ment in China, providing for a neighborly friendship between China
and Japan" joint defense against communism, and economic co-opera­
tion not based upon any Japanese attempt to attain economic monop­
oly.14

Four days later the State Department submitted revisions of these
proposals, in which the American pledge to discontinue assistance to
China if Chiang refused the Japanese 'peace tender was rejected, the
Konoye principles were not stated in t\1e text, and the proviso that
China and Japan should undertake joint defense against communism
was rephrased to read "parallel measures of defense against subversive
activities from external sources." Recognition of Manchukuo was left
for later negotiations between China and Japan. Secretary Hull also
insisted that this country should not be bound to any course of action
which would limit all-out assistance to Britain in its fight with the
Axis partners in Europe, and Nomura was asked to state that Japan's
Axis commitments were not inconsistent with the policy of permitting
America to intervene against its partners in the tripartite pact.15

A week later, after Foreign Minister Matsuoka had stated Japan's
obligations to support Germany in the event of American entry into
the war in Europe, Hull informed Nomura that there could be little
progress in negotiations until Japan, in effect, agreed that we should
be permitted a free hand to give aid to Britain, even if that should
lead to the United States being drawn into the European war. No­
mura expressed the view that Matsuoka was talking for home con­
sumption. The ambassador said that Japan would make its own in­
dependent decision as to its Axis obligations, and that once the pro­
posed American-Japanese agreement was signed it "would cause a
weakening in the influence of the jingoes."16

On May 31 Hull again revised the draft basis for negotiations by
inserting the provision, "Obviously, the provisions of the pact do not
apply to involvement [in the European war] through acts of self­
defense." The "joint defense against communism" clause now be­
came "co-operative defense against injurious communistic activities,"
and was tentatively to provide for the continued presence of some
Japanese troops in China.17 Two days later Nomura informed Hull
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that he and his associates were in agreement \vith the document as
it stood, except for some changes in phraseology, but Hull remained
distrustful, even to the extent of questioning whether Japan sincerely
desired a settlement.18

The negotiations now stalled on the issue of whether Japan was
to permit the United States to carry intervention as far as it liked in
Europe without obliging Japan to honor its commitments under the
tripartite pact. On June 21 Hull handed Nomura a complete revision
of the American draft/9 and accompanied it with an oral statement
that it was illusory to expect substantial results from an agreement
between the two countries as long as certain Japanese leaders were
committed to the support of Germany.20

Nomura on July 15 expressed Japan's objections to the American
attitude in saying that "Japan could not give a blank check for any­
thing that America might call self-defense."21 Japan, however, did
take measures to meet the objections Hull had stated June 21 against
pro-German Japanese leaders when the Konoye cabinet was revised
on July 18 and Foreign Minister Matsuoka, who had signed the tri­
partite pact in behalf of Japan, was dropped.22

On July 2 representations were made by Tadao Wikawa, an offi­
cer of the Capital Cooperative Bank of Japan, to the State Department
that he had been informed by J. P. Morgan & Co. that diplomatic
conversations had already been closed by the United States, and that
Japanese funds in this country were soon to be frozen. 23 This intel­
ligence, which preceded by twenty-three days the actual issuance of
the freezing order, did not bring any tangible response from the State
Department. On July 25 the freezing order was issued,24 and Britain
followed suit the next day. On the same day, as has been noted before,
the United States also prohibited the export of petroleum, petroleum
products, and scrap metal without a specific license from the admin­
istrator of export control. These measures were supposedly taken in
retaliation for Japanese assumption of military control over Indo­
China, which occurred July 21, but in view of Wikawa's complaint
three weeks earlier about the impending freezing order, it seems clear
that they had been meditated for some time.

That the Roosevelt administration embarked upon its program of
economic sanctions against Japan with the clear understanding that
these measures might easily precipitate war is amply documented.
The question had been fully explored by Ambassador Grew in what
he called his "green light" dispatch of September 12, 1940, to the State
Department. After reviewing the trend of events in the Far East,
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the ambassador urged the United States to embark on a course of
economic sanctions in order to curb Japanese military expansion.

Of this message Mr. Grew remarked in his book, Ten Years In
Japan, "Another important event, from my point of view, was the
sending to Washington in September of what I can only call my
'green light' telegram, perhaps the most significant message sent to
Washington in all the eight years of my mission to Japan.;'25

Discussing the risks of adopting a policy of sanctions against
Japan, Grew remarked, in his message to the State Department,

I have expressed the opinion in previous communications
that American-Japanese relations would be set on a downward
curve if sanctions were applied by the United States. It is true
that measures are now justified by our new program of national
preparedness which need not fall within the category of out- '
right sanctions. On the other hand, the probability must be
contemplated that drastic embargoes on such important products
as oil, of which a super-abundance is known to be possessed by
the United States, would be interpreted by the people and gov­
ernment of Japan as actual sanctions and some form of retalia­
tion might and would follow. The risks would depend not so
much upon the careful calculations of the Japanese government
as upon the uncalculating "do or die" temper of the army and
navy should they impute to the United States the responsibility
for the failure of their plans for expansion. It may be that such
retaliation would take the form of counter-measures by the gov­
ernment but it would be more likely that it would be some
sudden stroke by the navy or army without the prior authoriza­
tion or knowledge of the government. These dangers constitute
an imponderable elem~nt which cannot be weighed with assur­
ance at any given moment. However, it would be shortsighted
to deny their existence or to formulate policy and adopt meas­
ures without fully considering these potential risks in determin­
ing'the wisdom of facing them squarely.

Grew said, however, that it was impossible to stand still when
Japan and its Axis partners represented a way of life which threatened
Britain and America as the "leaders of a large world-wide group of
English speaking peoples." He remarked,

In general, the uses of diplomacy are bankrupt in attempt­
ing to deal with such powers. Occasionally diplomacy may re­
tard, but it cannot stem the tide effectively. Only by force or
the display of force can these powers be prevented from attain­
ing their objectives.
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American interests in the Pacific are definitely threatened by
her [Japan's] policy of southward expansion, which is a thrust
at the British empire in the east. Admittedly America's security
has depended in a measure upon the British fleet, which has
been in turn and could only have been supported by the British
empire. If the support of the British empire in this, her hour
of travail, is conceived to be in our interest, and most emphati­
cally do I so conceive it, we must strive by every means to pre...
serve the status quo in the Pacific, at least until the war in
Europe has been won or lost.26

Before the Congressional Investigating Committee, Senator Fer­
guson asked Grew, "Why did you send the 'green light' telegram?"

"Because the time had come to apply economic measures," Grew
replied.27

That the American government and military services were well
aware that the imposition of oil sanctions would force Japan into
further aggressions was demonstrated at the congressional committee
hearings. For example, Senator Ferguson asked Adm. Stark, "About
the oil question, and your attitude toward Japan: Did you not testify
before the Navy Court that after the imposition of economic sanctions
upon Japan in the summer of 1941, you stated that Japan would go
somewhere and take it [oil], and that if you were a Jap you would?"

"I think that is correct," Stark responded. "I stated it, and I stated
in the State Department, as I recall, that if a complete shutdown was
made on the Japanese, throttling her commercial life and her internal
life, and her essential normal peace life by stopping her from getting
oil, the natural thing for a Jap was to say, 'Well, I will go down and
take it.' "28

Ferguson then asked whether Stark recalled a White House con­
ference on July 24, 1941, when Roosevelt said he had told Ambassador
Nomura that, should Japan attack to get oil by force, the Dutch and
British would go to war against her.

When Stark said he had no recollection of this statement, Ferguson
read the following transcript of the President's remarks to Non1ura:

The President said that if Japan attempted to seize oil sup­
plies by force in the Netherlands East Indies, the Dutch, with­
out a shadow of a doubt, would resist, the British would
immediately come to their assistance, war would then result
between Japan, the British and the Dutch, and, in view of our
own policy of assisting Britain, an exceedingly serious situation
would immediately result.29
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"Now," Ferguson said, "do you know whether or not shortly after
that, in fact, in about 48 hours, the embargo did go on?"

"The embargo went on, as I recall," Stark replied, "on the 26th.
This is the 24th. Yes, sir."30

Ferguson then read a memorandum of a conversation on July 25,
1941, between Arthur A. Ballantine, Assistant Secretary of State, and
Col. Iwakuro, Japanese military attache in Washington. Col. Iwakuro
stated that, in view of the imposition of the oil embargo, Japan would
have no alternative sooner or later but to go into Malaya and the
Dutch East Indies for oil and other materials.

"Now, Admiral," said Ferguson, "taking the high ranking officials
in our government, you said that you thought sanctions such as this
oil, etc., would bring war on ultimately. Who else agreed with you?"

Stark replied that he believed the State Department, Army leaders,
and practically all high officials in Washington took that position. He
read from Peace and War:

Practically all realistic authorities have been agreed that im­
position of economic sanctions or embargoes against any strong
country, unless that imposition be backed by a show of superior
force, involves serious risk of war. The President and heads of
the Army and Navy and Department of State were in constant
consultation through this period regarding all the aspects of the
diplomatic and military situation.sl

Ferguson then produced a covering letter written by Stark July 22,
1941, to Undersecretary of State Welles, attached to which was an
analysis of the expected effects of an oil embargo which had been
drafted by Adm. Turner. This analysis set forth the Navy's official
position on the advisability of imposing the embargo, as attested by
a notation from Stark to Welles saying, "I concur in general."32

Turner, in his analysis, said,

It is generally believed that shutting off the American supply
of petroleum will lead promptly to the invasion of the Nether­
lands East Indies. While probable, this is not necessarily a sure
immediate result.... Japan has oil stocks for about eighteen
months' war operations.

Turner said, 'however, that an

embargo on exports will have an immediate severe psychological
reaction in Japan against the United States. It is almost certain
to intensify the determination of those now in power to continue
their present course. Furthermore, it seems certain that, if Japan
should then take military measures against the British and



PEARL HARBOR

Dutch, she would also include military action against the Philip­
pines, which would immediately ~nvolve us in a Pacific war. \

In listing his conclusions, Adm. Turner said,

An embargo would probably result in a fairly early attack
by Japan on Malaya and the Netherlands East Indies, and pos­
sibly would involve the United States in early war in the Pacific.
If war in the Pacific is to be accepted by the United States, ac­
tions leading up to it should, if practicable, be postponed until
Japan is engaged in a war in Siberia. It may well be that Japan
has decided against an early attack on the British and Dutch,
but has decided to occupy Indo-China and to strengthen her
position there, also to attack the Russians in Siberia. Should
this prove to be the case, it seems probable that the United States
could engage in war in the Atlantic, and that Japan, would not
intervene for the time being, even against the British.

Turner's final recommendation was "that trade with Japan not be
embargoed at this time."33

Three days after the Navy counselled the State Department and
Roosevelt against the embargo, the President imposed it.

Four days before the freezing and embargo orders, Nomura, per­
turbed by the turn events were taking, endeavored to see in turn
Secretary Hull and Adm. Stark, but, unable to reach either, finally
called on Adm. Turner. Turner's report of this conversation depicts
Nomura as speaking with considerable frankness as one naval officer
to another:

Ambassador Nomura stated that for some weeks he had fre­
quent conferences with Mr. Hull, in an endeavor to seek a
formula through which the United States and Japan could re­
main at peace. He no longer hoped for 100 per cent agreement
on all points, but would be content if a partial agreement could
be reached which would prevent war between the two countries.
Such an agreement would necessarily be informal, since Japan
is now committed by treaty to Germany, and this treaty could
not be denounced at this time. However, he noted that the de­
cision as to when the military clauses of the treaty would come
into effect lies entirely in Japan's hands, and that these would
be invoked only if Germany were to be the object of aggression
by another power. He stated that Japan entered the Axis solely
because it seemed to be to Japan's interest to do so. Japan's
future acts will be dominated solely by Japan, and not by any
other power. Whatever military action Japan takes will be for
her own ultimate purposes.
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The ambassador also told Adm. Turner that, as a result of the
United States export restrictions, Japan's economic position was bad

• and steadily getting worse. American and British military support to
China, in contrast, was steadily increasing. Nomura informed Turner
that within the next few days Japan would occupy Indo-China. He
expressed himself as personally opposed to this move, and feared that
the United States would take further military and economic action
in reprisal. He proposed that if the United States could change its
policy in regard to the Japanese embargo and aid to China, and that
if it could bring itself to agree t9 permitting Japanese troop concen­
trations on the border of Inner Mongolia, whatever action was taken
by the United States in the Atlantic would not be of great concern
to Japan.

This was the Japanese proposal in its plainest form, and Adm.
Turner inferred that it would mean Japanese troop withdrawal from
the greater part of China.sf

On July 23, however, Welles, who was acting as Secretary of State,
told Nomura there was no basis for pursuing further the conversa­
tions between Japan and the United States.Sli This statement pro­
voked such profound concern in Tokyo that the new Japanese foreign
minister, Adm. Teijiro Toyoda, informed Grew on July 26 that he
had "hardly slept at all during recent nights."s6 Adm. Nomura, how­
ever, left Welles after expressing the hope that no hasty conclusions
would be reached and after voicing his own "belief that a friendly
adjustment could still be found."s7

President Roosevelt on July 24 proposed that if Japan would with­
draw its troops from Indo-China, he would make every effort to
obtain an agreement from the British, Dutch, and Chinese for the
neutralization of this area. Nomura responded that withdrawal, with
the attendant problem of saving face, presented difficulties that were
probably insuperable.s8 The fact that Roosevelt's suggestion was not
received in Tokyo until after news of the American freezing order,
thus increasing Japanese resentment, made it clear to Grew that the
proposal could not be favorably considered at that time.39

On August 6 Nomura informed Hull that Japan would pledge
that "it will not further station its troops in the Southwestern Pacific
areas except French Indo-China and that the Japanese troops now
stationed in French Indo-China would be withdrawn forthwith on
the settlement of the China Incident."

In return for these concessions, Japan asked that the United States
agree that Japanese citizens in the Philippines would not be dis-
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criminated against, that the United States would suspend its military
measures in the Southwest Pacific, and, on the successful conclusion
of the conversations, would attempt to induce Britain and Holland to "
take similar steps; that normal trade relations would be restored by
the United States; that both nations were to co-operate in assuring
free access to the natural resources of the Southwest Pacific and East
Asia, and that the United States was to "use its good offices for the
initiation of direct negotiations between the Japanese government and
the Chiang Kai-shek regime for the purpose of a speedy settlement of
the China Incident."4o Hull's formal reply termed these proposals
"lacking in responsiveness to the suggestion made by the President."41

Thus, when Roosevelt went off to the Atlantic conference, where
he promised Churchill that the United States would take an uncom­
promising position against Japan, even if it resulted in war, the nego­
tiations in Washington were stalemated.

When the President returned from his meeting at sea to present
Nomura with his warning of August 17 that America would fight,
the Japanese ambassador brought up the plan for a radical solution
of Japan's differences with this country. It was nothing less than that
Roosevelt should hold a Pacific conference with Premier Prince
Konoye" just as he had held an Atlantic conference with Churchill,
and that face to face the leaders of the two countries should achieve
a settlement once and for all.

Adm. Nomura told the President that Prince Konoye "feels so
seriously and earnestly about preserving [peaceful] relations that he
would be disposed to meet the President midway, geographically
speaking, between our two countries and sit down together and talk
the matter out in a peaceful spirit."42

This proposal was not new with the Japanese. It had first been
suggested in the formal draft of April 9 presented by nonofficial Japa­
nese and Americans to the State Department as the outline for reso­
lution of the strained relations between the two countries. It had
then been proposed that this meeting be held during May at Honolulu.
Thus the idea of a Roosevelt-Konoye meeting preceded the Atlantic
conference by four months.43

On August 8/4 two days before Roosevelt met Churchill off New­
foundland, and again on August 16,45 Nomura repeated his request
for a meeting between the President and Konoye to Secretary Hull,
but Hull gave him no encouragement. On August 17 Nomura sub­
mitted the plan directly to Roosevelt. The President made no direct
reply at the time.
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In Tokyo, Foreign Minister Toyoda, pressing Ambassador Grew
to support such a meeting, expressed high hopes that it would solve
all of the difficulties. Grew personally appealed for "very prayerful
consideration" of the proposal "for the sake of avoiding the obviously
growing possibility of an utterly futile war between Japan and the
United States." The ambassador wrote Secretary Hull,

Not only is the proposal unprecedented in Japanese history,
but it is an indication that Japanese intransigence is not crystal­
lized completely owing to the fact that the proposal has the
approval of the Emperor and the highest authorities in the land.
The good which may flow from a meeting between Prince
Konoye and President Roosevelt is incalculable!6
The hopes of the Japanese moderates were centered on this plan.*

They believed that the best hope of peace was for peace elements in
Japan to establish themselves firmly in control, as against the military
extremists, and to co-operate with the United States in shifting Pacific
relationships onto a new basis. It was believed, however, that a cer­
tain measure of immediate agreement was a prerequisite to establish­
ing the moderates in control, because it would form a counterweight
on Japanese public opinion against the pressures of the militarists and
of axis propaganda. Finally, on August 23, Roosevelt said that if such
a meeting was to be held, it might be arranged for about October 15,
but Nomura stressed the urgency of an earlier date!7

On August 27 Prime Minister Konoye sent a personal appeal to
Roosevelt for a meeting "as soon as possible."48 The President, al­
though willing to meet Churchill, now raised difficulties about getting
away for twenty-one days to go as far as Hawaii. He suggested that
if the meeting were held in Juneau, Alaska, it would require only
about two weeks of his time and would allow for about a three- or
four-day conversation!9 Nomura replied that Juneau was acceptable,
and that Konoye would get there in about ten days by warship. He
suggested the period between September 21 and 2S as most suitable
for the meeting.lSo

Hull took the position that all of the decisions to be reached at the
proposed meeting should be agreed to preliminary to it, and looked
upon Juneau as merely a ratification meeting. He brought up the

·The majority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (p. 48) states: "That
there were elements in Japan who desired peace is unquestioned. But for many years
the government of that nation had been divided into two schools of thought, the one
conceivably disposed to think in terms of international good will with the other domi­
nated by .the militarism of the war lords who had always ultimately resolved Japanese
policy."
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serious consequences to both governments if the meeting failed to
reach an agreement, but he did not give equal consideration to the
hazards of having no meeting at all. Nomura tried to allay his doubts,
particularly as to the crucial question of Japan's commitments under
the tripartite pact, by saying that this alliance would present no diffi­
culties at the conference because "the Japanese people regarded their
adherence to the Axis as merely nominal and ... he could not con­
ceive of his people being prepared to go to war with the United
States for the sake of Germany." He asserted, however, that for the
United States to demand that Japan grant America a blank check
for any action against Germany "was equivalent to asking for a
nullification of the tripartite pact," and that he did not think Japan's
leaders were willing to go that far as long as they were subject to
pressure, if not belligerent action, by a combination consisting of the
United States, Britain, and Holland.51

On September 3 Roosevelt submitted a formal reply to Konoye's
proposal for a meeting, adopting the view expressed by Hull that
preliminary agreements were necessary to insure a successful out­
come.52 But, at the same time, he said that such preliminary agree­
ments would have to be submitted to and discussed with the British,
Chinese, and Dutch before he could take them up in negotiations
with Konoye.53 This proviso not only made an early meeting a
practical impossibility., but reduced the possibility of arranging a con­
ference at all. It demonstrated unmistakably that this country al­
ready had an alliance, admitted or not, with China and the western
imperialisms and was conducting its diplomacy much more with the
view to protecting their interests than its own.

Prince Konoye, in his memoirs, stated that on August 28 Roosevelt
had summoned Nomura and told him, "I desire a meeting of about
three days with Prince Konoye." But something happened, Konoye
continued, and Roosevelt's enthusiasm cooled between then and
September 3.54 Although the conference project continued to be dis­
cussed, it had been rendered a dead letter by the President's attitude.
The American diplomatic representatives in Tokyo noted that, almost
until the very end, Konoye and the moderate element were willing to
go to almost any lengths to bring off the meeting and avert war.
Eugene Dooman reported on September 18 that an understanding had
been reached among influential elements in Japan enabling Konoye
to give Roosevelt direct oral assurance in regard to the tripartite pact
which "would be entirely satisfactory to the President."55

On September 27, Foreign Minister Toyoda again urged a Pacific
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conference in describing to Ambassador Grew his concern over the
growing tension in relations between Japan and America. He said
that he hoped for an adjustment, not only for the sake of the two
countries, but in the belief that such a step "would become the open­
ing wedge to bringing about peace throughout the world." Toyoda
said:

· Since assuming my post two months ago, I've been working
on the matter of adjusting Japanese-U.S. relations even to the
extent of almost forgetting to eat and sleep. It is with the same
objective that Premier Konoye ha~ expressed his willingness to
act as a leader in a conference with President Roosevelt.

Japan is connected to Germany and Italy by an alliance. The
fact that the premier of Japan had volunteered to meet the
President, in itself has given rise to much misunderstanding re­
garding her relations with Germany and Italy. Thus, there is
proof that Japan is making a supreme sacrifice. Moreover, the
history of Japan has no precedent of an instance where the pre­
mier himself has gone abroad in behalf of diplomacy. This fact
in itself should clearly show the sincerity of the government of
Japan in its expressed desire of adjusting the relationship be­
tween Japan and the United States, and, through that, of Inain­
taining peace in the Pacific, and, indeed, for the world.

Maintenance of peace is Japan's sole motivating power.
Should there be those who believe that Japan was forced to her
knees by u.S. pressure, it would indeed be a sad misconception
on their part. Japan desires peace; she is not succumbing to out­
side pressure. Moreover, Japan is not one to yearn for peace at
any prIce.

Toyoda said that the vessel to transport Konoye and his party to
the meeting had already been selected, and the personnel of the party,
including generals and admirals, had been decided upon. "Weare
in a position to start at any moment now," he said.56

Toyoda further told Grew,

Time, as I have often said, is a vital factor from both internal
and international viewpoints. The decision [whether to hold
the conference] must be made as soon as possible. So I desire
to ask for the most speedy and sincere consideration of the
American government. I may add that, as regards the date for
the meeting, October 10-15 will suit the Japanese government.

Finally, by way of a conclusion, I should like to say that
negotiations of this sort require sincerity and mutual confidence.
I need not dwell on the character, the convictions, and faith of
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Prince Konoye as well as his political position, all of which are
well known to Your Excellency. Without Prince Konoye and
the present cabinet under him, an opportunity for Japanese­
American rapprochement is likely to be lost for some time to
come. I wish to emphasize again the urgent necessity of hav­
ing the proposed meeting at the earliest possible date.57

On September 29 Grew sent a strong plea to Washington in behalf
of the meeting. He left no doubt of the alternative if Konoye's re­
quest were spurned.

In this message the American ambassador said that the advent of
the Konoye-Toyoda regime had given American diplomacy a new
lease on life. Expressing hope that "so propitious a period be not
permitted to slip by," Grew said that in his opinion the time had
arrived when "liberal elements in Japan might come to the top" if
encouraged. He said that the United States must choose between a
policy of economic strangulation or the method of constructive con­
ciliation.

If the Konoye proposal for a conference leading to rapprochement
were rejected, Grew continued, Konoye's cabinet would fall, a mili­
tary dictatorship would come into power, "unbridled acts" might be
expected, and a situation would result "in which it will be difficult to
avoid war." Grew said Konoye, while unable to renounce the Axis
alliance, would reduce Japan's adherence to "a dead letter." The
Roosevelt-Konoye conference, the ambassador concluded, presented
"the hope that ultimate war may be avoided in the Pacific."58

This forecast was prophetic. Roosevelt was being offered the
chance that might have avoided war. He chose to refuse it. Events
then followed their inevitable course.* .

After dispatching this message, Grew commented in his journal:

For a prime minister of Japan thus to shatter all precedent
and tradition in this land of subservience to precedent and tra­
dition, and to wish to come hat in hand, so to speak, to meet
the President of the United States on American soil, is a gauge
of the determination of the government to undo the vast harm

·President Roosevelt's responsibility in conducting diplomacy was described in the
minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (p. 12) as follows:

"The duty of conducting negotiations with foreign governments from March 4, 1933,
to Dec. 7, 1941, was vested in President Franklin D. Roosevelt, under the Constitution,
laws, and established practice of the United States, and he could delegate to the Secretary
of State, Cordell Hull, such correspondence and communications relating thereto as he
deemed fitting and proper. In respect of matters assigned to him it was the duty of
Secretary Hull to keep the President informed of all transactions that were critical in
nature and especially those involving the possible use of the armed forces of the
United States."
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already accomplished in alienating our powerful and progres­
sively angry country.59

Even in the face of such representations, Secretary Hull remained
obdurate and maintained that Japan's failure to make specific advance
commitments was a sign of insincerity and evidenced the intention
to continue a policy of aggression.60 In Japan such unwillingness to
compromise, Dooman observed, occasioned doubt whether the United
States ever intended to come to an agreement.61 Roosevelt and Hull
refused to act and matters drifted along until the outside date of
October 15.proposed by T oyoda for the conference had slipped by.
On the following day, October 16, the Konoye cabinet resigned and
Gen. Tojo and the militarists took over the government of Japan.

"Although I knew that the failure of progress in the American­
Japanese negotiations would almost certainly bring about Konoye's
fall sooner or later," Grew said, "I had not looked for it so soon."62

In an exchange of letters with Konoye the following day, Grew
warmly commended the former premier for his "distinguished official
service" to Japan.63 Later Grew commented:

The reason why I mentioned his outstanding service was the
fact that he alone tried to reverse the engine, and tried hard and
courageously, even risking his life and having a very close call
as it was. Whatever mistakes he made directing Japan's policy,
he had the sense and the courage to recognize those mistakes
and to try to start his country on a new orientation of friend­
ship with the United States.64

Konoye had indeed pursued his policy at the risk of his life. On
August 14, Baron Hiranuma, the 75-year old vice-premier in his
cabinet, had been struck by two bullets fired by a member of the
Black Dragon Society who found the moderation of the government
intolerable. The incident was interpreted as a warning that Konoye
and the moderates who were endeavoring to avert a war with the
United States must gO.65

Konoye~ facing an order from American military occupation head­
quarters for his arrest as a war criminal, ended his life with poison
December 16, 1945. In Oscar Wilde's De Profundis, one of the last
books Konoye had read, this passage was underlined: "Society as we
have constituted it will have no place for me, has none to offer; but
nature, whose swift rains fall on the unjust and just alike, will have
clefts in the rocks where I may hide, and secret valleys in whose
silence I may weep undisturbed."66 _

No one else wept for the lost peace.
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DIPLOMACY FOR D-DAY

DESPITE THE accession of Gen. T ojo and a military government, all
hope was not yet lost. Tojo started the war and has been brought
to dock as a war criminal, but he was not installed as premier with
the purpose of embarking upon a conflict with the United States
which would end in the ruin of Japan. The danger that the conflict
would materialize lay, as far as Japan was concerned, in the insensate
ambitions of the military extremists.1 The strategy of Hirohito and
his advisers was, therefore, to vest in a representative of this very ele­
ment responsibility for the policies and conduct of the Japanese gov­
ernment, in the hope that by so doing a restraining influence could
be exerted over the hotheads by one of their own number.

Ambassador Grew wrote in his journal October 20,

Despite the fact that, as anticipated, the Konoye government
was succeeded not by a civilian but by a military man, indications
of a willingness on the part of the Tojo government to proceed
with the conversations . . . would imply that it is premature
to stigmatize the Tojo government as a military dictatorship
committed to the furtherance of policies which might be ex­
pected to bring about armed conflict with the United States.

Noting that Tojo, as distinguished from previous Japanese mili-
tary prime ministers, was not a retired officer, but a full general in
active service, Grew observed, "It would be logical, therefore, to ex­
pect that Gen. Tojo, in retaining his active rank in the army, will as
a result be in a position to exercise a larger degree of control over
army extremist groups."2

As further encouragement to hopes for preserving peace, Grew re­
ported to the State Department that "a reliable Japanese informant"
had told him that

144
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just prior to the fall of the ~onoye cabinet a conference of the
leading members of the privy council and of the Japanese armed
forces had been summoned by the Emperor, who inquired if
they would be prepared to pursue a policy which would guaran­
tee that there would be no war with the United States. The
representatives of the army and navy who attended the confer­
ence did not reply to the Emperor's question, whereupon the
·latter, with a reference to the progressive policy pursued by the
Emperor Meiji, his grandfather, in an unprecedented action
ordered the armed forces to obey his wishes.

The Emperor's definite stand necessitated the selection of a
prime minister who would be in a position effectively to control
the army, the ensuing resignation of Prince Konoye, and the
appointment of Gen. Tojo who, while remaining in the active
army list, is committed to a policy of attempting to conclude
successfully the current Japanese-American conversations.3

There was, in fact, an active appreciation, especially on the part of
the Japanese navy, that it might well be an invitation to disaster to
undertake a war against the United States. Konoye, in his memoirs,
asserted that Adm. Isoroku Yamamoto, the commander-in-chief of
the combined imperial fleets, when asked what the chances were if a
war should develop, told him, "If they say it must be done, we will
run around at will for about half a year or a year, but if it stretches
into two or three years, I have no confidence in a successful ending."4

The Roosevelt administration had already kicked over the best
hope of preserving peace when it refused to strengthen the hand of
Konoye, and a plain warning of the consequences, embodying an
inferential criticism of the Roosevelt policy toward Japan, was dis­
patched by Ambassador Grew to Hull on November 3. Grew said
that if efforts at conciliation were to fail,

the ambassador foresees a probable swing of the pendulum in
Japan once more back to the former Japanese position or even
farther. This would lead to what he has described as an all-out,
do-or-die attempt, actually risking national hara-kiri, to make
Japan impervious to economic embargoes abroad rather than
to yield to foreign pressure. It is realized by observers who feel
Japanese national temper and psychology from day to day that,
beyond peradventure, this contingency not only is possible but
is probable.

. . . The view that war probably would be averted, though
there might be some risk of war, by progressively imposing dras­
tic economic measures is an uncertain and dangerous hypothesis
upon which to base considered United States policy and meas-
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ures. War would not be averted by such a course, if it is taken.
. . . The primary point to be decided involves the question
whether war with Japan is justified by American national ob­
jectives, policies, and needs in the case of failure of the first line
of national defense, namely, diplomacy, since it would be possible
only on the basis of such a decision for the Roosevelt adminis­
tration to follow a course which would be divested as much as
possible of elements of uncertainty, speculation, and opinion.
The ambassador does not doubt that such a decision, irrevocable
as it might well prove to be, already has been debated fully
and adopted, because the sands are running fast.5

Grew was here saying that Roosevelt and his administration had
already committed themselves to war, and that the policy of economic
strangulation and the refusal to support the Konoye government as
the one hope of peace were merely symptoms of the fundamental
decision already reached.

Grew continued,

The ambassador . . . does not at all mean to imply that
Washington is pursuing an undeliberated policy. Nor does he
intend to advocate for a single moment any "appeasement" of
Japan.... The ambassador's purpose is only to insure against
the United States becoming involved in war with Japan because
of any possible misconception of Japan's capacity to rush head­
long into a suicidal struggle with the United States. . . . He
points out the shortsightedness of underestimating Japan's ob­
vious preparations to implement an alternative program in the
event the peace program fails.

He adds that similarly it would be shortsighted for American
policy to be based upon the belief that Japanese preparations
are no more than saber-rattling, merely intended to give moral
support to the high-pressure diplomacy of Japan. Action by
Japan which might render unavoidable an armed conflict with
the United States may come with dangerous and dramatic sud­
denness.6

The Japanese government, however, would make one further en­
deavor to reach a solution. Even before the collapse of the Konoye
cabinet, it had been determined to dispatch Saburo Kurusu, an
experienced diplomat, to Washington to assist Nomura in this final
attempt to come to an understanding.7 Kurusu left Tokyo on his
mission November 5. With or without his knowledge-and Kurusu,
as well as Nomura, professed after the war that he had no advance
knowledge of the Pearl Harbor strokeS-the Tojo government had
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already set a deadline for reaching an understanding with the United
States. Upon his departure, Kurusu said that he refused to take a
later Clipper for "technical reasons."9 The obvious inference was that
he was working within a fixed time limit. Nor were the reasons for
this decision difficult to perceive.

By November the economic war initiated by the United States had
already reduced Japan to a desperate pass. Not only had Japanese
assets been frozen by the Americans" British, and Dutch, cutting off
trade with these countries, but the Panama Canal had been closed to
Japanese shipping. These actions, together with the trade stagnation
incident to the Russo-German war, had cut off about 75 per cent of
Japan's normal imports, causing a serious food shortage and weaken­
ing the general econo~y.l0 These dislocations were so severe that,
according to the information given Grew November 7 by "a leading
Japanese," the Tojo government had

decided the limits to which it will be possible to go in an en­
deavor to meet the desires of the United States, but neverthe­
less should these concessions be regarded as inadequate by the
government of the United States, it is of the highest impor­
tance that the Washington conversations be continued and not
permitted to break down.11

This insistence that the conversations be continued, even if there
were recognition of failure on both sides, again hints that a deadline
had already been established for agreement, after which any further
conversations would be merely for the purpose of deceiving the none
too prescient administration in Washington and its Army and Navy
command. The Japanese pretense of keeping up the conversations
after November 26 was, in fact, designed to stall for time until a
military plan already set in train could be executed.

When Grew complained to his informant of the bellicose tone of
the Japanese press, his visitor merely remarked that "frightened dogs
bark and the greater the fright the louder the bark," adding that "at
present the military party in Japan are frightened by the prospects
opening up before them."12

Even before Kurusu arrived in Washington, however, the new
Tojo government had displayed a disposition to strive for an under­
standing by authorizing Nomura to present to Secretary Hull on No­
vember 7 a memorandum dealing with the disposition of Japanese
troops on the Asiatic mainland and pledging that all troops, with the
exception of garrisons in North China and Inner Mongolia, would
be withdrawn from China within two years after the conclusion of a
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peace, and that Japanese troops would also be withdrawn from Indo­
China after the conclusion of the Chinese war.13 Three days later
Nomura again endeavored to satisfy President Roosevelt's concern
about Japan's commitments under the Axis pact by saying, "All I
have to ask you is to 'read between the lines' and to accept the formula
as satisfactory."14

In Tokyo Shigenori Togo, the new Japanese foreign minister, spoke
grimly to Grew on November 10 of America's refusal to display what
he termed "sincerity." Grew said that the minister stated:

The population of this country is steadily and rapidly in­
creasing; that it was now about 100 million; and it was neces­
sary to assure raw materials necessary for their existence. It
was his opinion that unless the American government realizes
this fact as among the realities of the situation, successful con­
clusion to the conversations would be difficult. During the con­
versations carried on for a period of more than six months, the
Japanese government had repeatedly made proposals calculated
to approach the American point of view, but the American gov­
ernment for its part had taken a more advanced position. Those
being the facts" "we in Japan are led to wonder what is the
degree of sincerity of the American government in continuing
with the conversations." He said that national sentiment will
not tolerate further protracted delay in arriving at some con­
clusion.

Later in the conversation Togo asserted that "the freezing by the
United States of Japanese assets had stopped supplies of many im­
portant raw materials to Japan. Economic pressure of this character
is capable of menacing national existence to a greater degree than the
direct use of force."

The minister also inquired of Grew why America took a holier­
than-thou attitude toward Japanese military activity, voicing "his im­
pression that the American government is now resorting, under the
plea of self-defense, to measures over and beyond those that are gen­
erally recognized by international law."15

All of these many months the American government had con­
sidered its discussions with the Japanese merely as preliminary and
exploratory conversations, but now the Japanese deemed that they
had advanced sufficiently to be raised to the level of "formal and
official negotiations."16 The Japanese also pleaded for more speed in
the negotiations, but were answered by Roosevelt with the statement
that the six months already consumed was but a short time to deal
with such important problems. He then counseled patience.17 For-
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eign Minister Togo was described as "shocked" on hearing from No­
mura that Hull and Roosevelt did not appreciate the urgency of the
negotiations and the necessity to bring them to an early successful
conclusion. Japan was so thoroughly subjected to militaristic propa­
ganda that Togo realized, like Konoye before him, according to the
statement of Grew, that he was endangering his position and even
his life by opposing extremist groups and keeping the negotiations
alive.18

On November 15, however, Secretary Hull said he would not even
enter the stage of negotiations until Great Britain, China, and the
Netherlands had been consulted, and that he objected to receiving
"ultimatums" on the question of speeding up the discussions because,
he said, the United States had been pursuing a peaceful course all
the while and the Japanese government was the one which had been
"violating law and order." He added that to reach an agreement
while Japan's obligations to Germany remained in force would cause
so much outcry in this country that he "might well be lynched."19

Hull now suggested a ne,v commercial agreement providing for
co-operation by the United States and Japan in reducing trade bar­
riers generally, and restoring normal trade between the two countries,
except as each might find it necessary to restrict exports for its own
security and self-defense.2o American embargo orders against Japan
had not mentioned that country by name but had generally prohibited
exports of certain products except to the western hemisphere and
Great Britain in the interest of "self-defense," so that resort to the
same phrase in Hull's new offer could be interpreted as constituting
an escape clause by which this country could give Japan a promise
but no tangible benefits.

Upon Kurusu's arrival in Washington November 17, Hull threw
cold water on his mission at the outset by insisting on an outright
Japanese disavowal of the tripartite pact before discussing anything
else, and expressing the opinion that Kurusu had nothing new to
offer.21 Hull, in continuing conference sessions, displayed no more
readiness to compromise, stating at a meeting November 18, "We
can go so far but rather than go beyond a certain point it would be
better for us to stand and take the consequences."22 Kurusu told Hull
that, while he could not say that Japan would abrogate the tripartite
pact, "Japan might do something that would 'outshine' the tripartite
pact."23 Hull was not impressed. When Kurusu then asked for a
State Department formula by which Japan could deal with her Axis
obligations, Hull dismissed the request with the statement that "this
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was a matter for Japan to work out."24 Nomura, also pressing for
some means to change Japan's course, pointed out that "big ships
cannot turn around too quickly, that they have to be eased around
slowly and gradually."25

To attain this end, the Japanese on November 20 and 21 made
what was to be their last offer. This was the so-called modus vivendi
which was to serve until some further agreement could be reached.
Hull asked whether the Japanese proposal was intended as a tem­
porary step to help organize public opinion in Japan and whether
the Japanese emissaries intended afterward to continue the conver­
sations, looking to the conclusion of a comprehensive agreement. Ku­
rusu replied in the affirmative.

According to the State Department account,

Mr. Kurusu said that some immediate relief was necessary
and that if the patient needed a thousand dollars to effect a cure,
an offer of $300 would not accomplish the purpose.... The sec­
retary replied that although the Japanese proposal was addressed
to the American government, he had thought it advisable to see
whether other countries would contribute and he found that
they would like to move gradually.

This view entirely discounted Kurusu's insistence that some kind of
speedy settlement, even of a stop-gap character, was necessary. "The
ambassador," Hull said, "explained that Japan needed a quick set­
tlement and that its psychological value would be great."26 But Hull
couldn't, or wouldn't, move that fast.

The Japanese proposals were as follows:

(1) The governments of Japan and the United States under­
take not to dispatch armed forces into any of the regions, ex­
cepting French Indo-China, in the Southeastern Asia and the
Southern Pacific area.

(2) Both governments shall co-operate with the view to secur­
ing the acquisition in the Netherlands East Indies of those
goods and commodities of which the two countries are in need.

(3) Both governments mutually undertake to restore com­
mercial relations to those prevailing prior to the freezing of
assets.

The government of the United States shall supply Japan
the required quantity of oil.

(4) The government of the United States undertakes not to
resort to measures and actions prejudicial to the endeavors for
the restoration of general peace between Japan and China.

(5) The Japanese government undertakes to withdraw
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troops now stationed in French Indo-China upon either the
restoration of peace between Japan and China or the establish­
ment of an equitable peace in the Pacific area; and it is pre­
pared to remove the Japanese troops in the southern part of
French Indo-China to the northern part upon the conclusion of
the present agreement.

As regards China, the Japanese government, while express­
ing its readiness to accept the offer of the President of the
United States to act as "introducer" of .peace bet,veen Japan
and China as was previously suggested, asked for an under­
taking on the part of the United States to do nothing prejudi­
cial to the restoration of Sino-Japanese peace when the two
parties have commenced direct negotiations.27

In regard to the Axis pact, Kurusu stated, Japan undertook to in­
terpret its commitments "freely and independently." He declared
that the Japanese government "would never project the people of
Japan into war at the behest of any foreign power; it [would] accept
warfare only as the ultimate, inescapable necessity for the maintenance
of its security and the preservation of national life against active in­
justice."28

This was as far as Japan had ever gone in disavowing the war threat
of the pact, but Hull noted that he "did not think this would be of
any particular help and so dismissed it."29 The Secretary also ob­
jected to the clause specifying that the United States wo~ld refrain
from "actions prejudicial to the endeavors for the restoration of gen­
eral peace between Japan and China." This clause apparently re­
quired suspension of American aid to Chiang, and the Secretary said
that the purpose of our aid to China was the same as that of our aid
to Britain8°-implying an all-out American support of Chinese vic­
tory, regardless of its effect upon relations with Japan. On November
22 Hull further insisted that Japanese troops be withdrawn not only
from southern Indo-China, ~ut from all of that country.31

On November 24 Grew reported from Tokyo that Foreign Min­
ister Togo expressed perplexity concerning the reasons of the Amer­
ican government for not accepting the Japanese proposal. Togo said
he did not expect American aid to China to be discontinued until
such time as negotiations bet"reen China and Japan were to begin,
at which time he assumed hostilities would have ceased. Grew con­
cluded from these remarks that this point in the Japanese proposal
was primarily intended to save face.32

Long after the event, Secretary Hull would describe the Japanese
proposals of November 20 and 21 as the "final Japanese proposition,
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an ultimatum."ss On November 26 he submitted the American
counter-proposal, and it meant war. Grew noted in his diary on No­
vember 29 that when Hull's proposals became known in Japan, most
Japanese leaders, among them Togo and Prince Konoye, were "very
pessimistic."s4 On December 5 he reported having received a letter
from a prominent Japanese who said that almost all of the people
with whom he had talked believe "that Washingto,n has delivered an
ultimatum to US."8~

On November 30 the Japanese state of mind was reflected in a
bellicose speech delivered by Premier Gen. Tojo under the auspices
of the Imperial Rule Assistance Association and Dai Nippon East Asia
League. The Premier asserted:

The fact that Chiang Kai-shek is dancing to the tune of
Britain, America, and communism at the expense of able-bodied
and promising young men in his futile resistance against Japan
is only due to the desire of Britain and the United States to
fish in the troubled waters of East Asia by pitting the East
Asiatic peoples against each other and to grasp the hegemony
of East Asia. This is a stock in trade of Britain and the United
States.

For the honor and pride of mankind, we must purge this
sort of practice from East Asia with a vengeance.S6

Hull's proposals of November 26 were clearly unacceptable to the
Japanese and were known to be so in advance by the Secretary. They
made it clear that the State Department had reached the end of nego­
tiations. On the day before submitting them to Nomura and Ku·
rusu, Hull expressed the belief at a meeting of the war council "that
there was practically no possibility of an agreement being achieved
with Japan, that in his opinion the Japanese were likely to break out
at any time with new acts of conquest by force; and that the ques­
tion of safeguarding our national security was in the hands of the
Army and Navy." He also expressed his judgment "that any plan
for our military defense should include an assumption that the Jap­
anese might make the element of surprise a central point in their
strategy and also might attack at various points simultaneously with
a view to demoralizing efforts of defense."37 In the light of these
opinions, Hull could not have expected much to come of his pro­
posals of the following day.

Roosevelt also had no misconceptions about what would hap­
pen when the proposals were tendered Japan. In a message to Prime
Minister Churchill on November 24, he stated, "I am not very hope-
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ful and we must all be prepared for real trouble, possibly soon."38
Again, at a meeting at the White House on noon of the 25th, the
day before Hull handed the President's counter-proposals to Japan,
Roosevelt "brought up the event that we were likely to be attacked,
perhaps [as soon as] next Monday."39

Hull stated before the Congressional Investigating Committee that
he conducted his diplomacy in close collaboration with the British,
Australian, Dutch, and Chinese governments, all of which were con­
sulted in the preparation of the November 26 note,40 and whose views,
particularly those of the Chinese, he accommodated, even though they
had a profound effect upon bringing on the war.

One of his memoranda, for instance, showed that on November
25, the day before he submitted the American terms to Japan, he con­
sulted Ambassador Halifax, who wanted the proposals to the Jap­
anese to include removal of all Jap troops and naval and air forces
from Indo-China, instead of permitting 25,,000 troops to remain, as
Hull had suggested. The American secretary amended his govern­
ment's terms to accommodate the British ambassador's view.41

Halifax also wanted Hull's relaxation of economic restrictions to
be amended to forbid export to Japan of all goods "of direct impor­
tance to the war potential, in particular, oil." Halifax said the Brit­
ish wer~ anxious to "facilitate Hull's difficult task," but said the Brit­
ish empire's economic structure was so complicated that Britain
considered it impracticable "to give carte blanche to diplomatic repre­
sentatives."42

In a message to Roosevelt on November 26, Churchill acknowl­
edged receipt from the President of a "message about Japan" inform­
ing the British government of Hull's submission of his ultimatum to
the Japanese envoys on that date. Churchill told the President, "It
is for you to handle this business."

"There is only one point that disquiets us," Churchill went on.
"What about Chiang Kai-shek? Is he not having a very thin diet?
Our anxiety is about China. If they collapse, our joint dangers would
enormously increase. We are sure that the regard of the United States
for the Chinese cause will govern your action. We feel that the Jap­
anese are most unsure of themselves."43

Churchill could have spared himself his worries about the Chinese.
They were taking care of themselves. The fact was brought out at
the congressional hearings that Hull cast away the last hope of avert­
ing war by yielding to their importunities.

Before he submitted his document of November 26, which the
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Army Pearl Harbor Board described as "touching the button that
started the war,"44 Hull had inclined toward the idea of submitting
a modus vivendi of his own to effect a three months' truce with Japan.
This scheme was in the forefront of his mind as late as the morning
of the 25th, as attested by Secretary of War Stimson. Sti.mson said:

At 9 :30 Knox and I met in Hull's office for our meeting of
three. Hull showed us the proposal for a three months' truce,
which he was going to lay before the Japanese today or tomor­
row. It adequately safeguarded all our interests, I thought as
I read it, but I did not think that there was any chance of the
Japanese accepting it because it was so drastic.45 In return for
the propositions which they were to do, namely, to at once evac­
uate and at once to stop all preparations or threats of action, and
to take no aggressive action against any of her neighbors, etc.,
we were to give them open trade in sufficient quantities only
for their civilian population. This restriction was particularly
applicable to oil. We had a long talk over the general situation.
We were an hour and a half with· Hull, and then I went back
to the department, and I got hold of Marshall.46

With the chief of staff, Stimson then went to the White House,
where, together with Secretaries Knox and Hull and Adm. Stark, they
heard the President make his prediction of a Japanese attack "perhaps
next Monday."

On the following day, November 26, Stimson learned that Hull
had determined to abandon the modus vivendi. Stimson recounted,

Hull told me over the telephone this morning that he had
about made up his mind not to make the proposition that Knox
and I passed on the other day to the Japanese but to kick the
whole thing over-to tell them that he has no other proposition
at all. The Chinese have objected to that proposition-when he
showed it to them; that is, to the proposition which he showed
to Knox and me, because it involves giving to the Japanese the
small modicum of oil for civilian use during the interval of the
truce of three months.

Chiang Kai-shek had sent a special message to the effect that
that would make a terrifically bad impression in China; that it
would destroy all their courage and that it would play into the
hands of his, Chiang's, enemies and that the Japanese would use
it. T. V. Soong had sent me this letter and has asked to see me
and I had called up Hull this morning to tell him so and ask
him what he wanted me to do about it. He replied as I have
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just said above-that he had about made up his mind to give up
the whole thing in respect to a truce and to simply tell the
Japanese that he had no further action to propose.47

When Adm. Stark was examined before the congressional commit­
tee, Representative Gearhart brought up the White House conference
at noon on the 25th and asked whether Hull at that time gave any
intimation that he proposed to abandon the proposal for a three
months' truce. Stark said he could not recall, but that Hull, in a
memorandum of November 27, mentioned that as early as the 25th
he was considering abandoning the modus vivendi and on the 26th
did abandon it.

"Well, weren't you very, very much disturbed, and wasn't Gen.
Marshall very much disturbed by the progress of that· conference in
the things that were said and the things that were being planned by
Mr. Hull?" asked Gearhart.

"We were disturbed because we thought things were heading up
so fast toward a showdown, if you will, and we wanted more time
and it began to look as though we were not going to get it," Stark
replied. "If you read the modus vivendi, it is nothing like so drastic
as the so-called ten-point note which he handed to the Japs on the
26th, but it is my understanding that the ten points mentioned in the
note on the 26th were the points which were going to be taken up,
perhaps one at a time, under the modus vivendi, and that the modus
vivendi would provide some weeks, or three months, to discuss these
particular points, and that then the modus vivendi was thrown over­
board and the points with which you are all familiar were handed to
the Japanese."

"It has been stated," Gearhart said, "that the modus vivendi was
abandoned because Chiang Kai-shek vigorously objected to it. Was
any mention made of Chiang Kai-shek's attitude toward the modus
vivendi in that meeting of the 25th?"

"I do not recall that it was," Stark replied. "I have an extremely
clear recollection of Mr. Hull telling me how he felt about the modus
vivendi separate from that meeting of the 25th."

"You heard the President say in the course of that meeting, in sub­
stance or in effect, that we were likely to be attacked, perhaps as soon
as next Monday?"

"Yes, I recall that."48

A memorandum by Secretary Hull to Roosevelt of November 26
was produced. It read:
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With reference to our two proposals prepared for submission
to the Japanese government:

1. A proposal in the way of a draft agreement for a broad,
basic, peaceful settlement for the Pacific area which is hence­
forth to be made a part of the general conversations now going
on, to be carried on if agreeable to both governments with a view
to a general agreement on this subject.

2. The second proposal is really closely connected with the
conversations looking towards a general agreement which is in
the nature of a modus vivendi intended to make more feasible
the continuance of the conversations. In view of the opposition
of the Chinese government and either the half-hearted support
or the actual opposition of the British, the Netherlands and
Australian governments, and in view of the wide publicity of
the opposition and of the additional opposition that will nat­
turally follow through utter lack of an understanding of the vast
importance and value otherwise of the modus vivendi, without
in any way departing from my views about the wisdom and
benefit of this step to all of the countries opposed to the aggressor
nations who are interested in the Pacific area, I desire very
earnestly to recommend that at this time I call in the Japanese
ambassador and hand to him a copy of the comprehensive basic
proposal for a general peaceful settlement and at the same time
withhold the modus vivendi proposal.49

Commenting upon Hull's change of mind, which resulted in the
abandonment of the modus vivendi, Stark said, "I think there was
boiling in Mr. Hull's mind the message from Chiang Kai-shek and
it jellied on the 26th."50

Stimson first heard of Hull's decision to substitute his ultimatum
for the modus vivendi on November 27, one day after the Secretary
of State's interview with the Japanese envoys. Stimson related,

The first thing in the morning I called up Hull to find out
what his finale had been with the Japanese-whether he had
handed them the new proposal which we passed on two or three
days ago, or whether, as he suggested yesterday he would, he
broke the whole matter off. He told me now that he had broken
the whole matter off. As he put it, "I have washed my hands
of it and it is now in the hands of you and Knox-the Army
and the Navy."

I then called the President. The President gave me a little
different view. He said they had ended up, but they ended up
with a magnificent statement prepared by Hull. I found out
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afterwards that this was not a reopening of the thing but a
statement of our constant and regular position.51

Adm. Stark said that he probably first heard on November 27 that
Hull had thrown over the modus vivendi and had submitted his
ten-point ultimatum. He said he recalled Hull's statement that "it was
now up to the Army and Navy" which, to his mind, "pointed clearly
to the fact that he [Hull] had no hope of reaching a satisfactory settle­
ment in the Pa~ific through further negotiations."

"When I learned of it, I considered it very important, particularly
as we were playing for time," Stark said.52

Returning to the influence exerted by the Chinese in inducing Hull
to abandon the modus vivendi, Senator Ferguson produced the mes­
sage transmitted to Secretary Stimson on November 2S by T. V. Soong,
Chiang Kai-shek's brother-in-law. Stark identified it as the message
which had disturbed Hull.

"Isn't it true that the Chinese government not only went to the
Secretary of State but they went to other agencies and Mr. Hull was
upset about it?" Ferguson asked.

"Very much upset."
Ferguson asked whether the Chinese had not put pressure even on

Congress to induce Hull to abandon the truce proposal.
"That is my understanding, and confirmed, without any question,

by Mr. Hull's statement to me that they were crying appeasement on
the Hill, another thing which greatly perturbed him."53

Ferguson then produced a memorandum by Hull of a conversation
he had had on November 2S with the Chinese ambassador, Dr. Hu
Shih, which bore the title, "Opposition of Generalissimo Chiang
Kai-shek to Modus Vivendi." Describing his conversation with Dr.
Hu, Hull said:

I said very recently that the Generalissimo and Mme. Chiang
Kai-shek almost flooded Washington with strong and lengthy
cables telling us how extremely dangerous the Japanese threat
is of attack to the Burma Road, to Indo-China, and appealing
loudly for aid, whereas practically the first thing this proposal
of mine and the President's does is to require the Japanese troops
to be taken out of Indo-China and thereby to protect the Burma
Road from what Chiang Kai-shek says is an imminent dan­
ger.54

Stark commented on this as follows: "I remember very clearly how
upset Mr. Hull was, of his telling me that even the Hill was crying
appeasement, that the Chinese themselves should have supported him,
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because he was doing this in their behalf, and that apparently they
didn't understand it. Also he pointed out that the British, he thought,
were only half-way supporting it."55

"Now, will you tell us why the modus vivendi was not sent?"
Ferguson asked Stark. "You were one of the top officials representing
the United States Navy, and this would be a naval war in the Pacific,
would it not?"

"Largely, yes. I always looked on it as largely a naval war."
Stark said that both he and Gen. Marshall were fighting for time,

"because the defense of the Philippines, which was an Army problem,"
required a greater state of readiness for war.56

Stark then referred to a memorandum of a conversation Novem­
ber 29 between Hull and Lord Halifax, in which Hull stated:

The British ambassador called at his request and I soon dis­
covered that he had no special business except to check on the
aftermath of the conversations between the President and my­
self and the Japanese, with special reference to the question of
the proposed modus vivendi. This caused me to remark in a
preliminary way that the mechanics for the carrying on of diplo­
matic relations between the governments resisting aggressor
nations are so complicated that it is nearly impossible to carry
on such relations in a manner at all systematic and safe and
sound. I referred to the fact that Chiang Kai-shek, for example,
had sent numerous hysterical cable messages to different cabinet
officers and high officials in this government other than the State
Department, and sometimes even ignoring the President, in­
truding into a delicate and serious situation with no real idea
of what the facts are.

I added that Chiang Kai-shek had his brother-in-law, located
here in Washington, disseminate damaging reports at times to
the press and others, apparently with no particular purpose in
mind; that we have correspondents from London who interview
different officials here, which is entirely their privilege to do,
except that at times we all move too fast without fully under­
standing each other's views, et cetera, et cetera. I stated that this
was well illustrated in the case of the recent outburst by Chiang
Kai-shek. In referring to this I remarked that it would have
been better if, when Churchill received Chiang Kai-shek's loud
protest about our negotiations here with Japan, instead of pass­
ing the protest on to us without objection on his part" thereby
qualifying and virtually killing ,vhat we knew were the individ­
ual views of the British government toward these negotiations,
he had sent a strong cable back to Chiang Kai-shek telling him
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to brace up and fight with the same zeal that the Japanese and
the Germans are displaying instead of weakening and telling the
Chinese people that all of the friendly countries were now striv­
ing primarily to protect themselves and to force an agreement
between China and Japan. Every Chinese should understand
from such a procedure that the best possible course was being
pursued and that this calls for resolute fighting until the under­
taking is consummated by peace negotiations which Japan in
due course would be obliged to enter into with China.57

"I felt the same way about the impropriety of flooding all of Wash­
ington in the manner in which Mr. Hull stated," Stark remarked.
"I thought they should have gone to him with all of their troubles
and not gone into the highways and byways."

"But after we are all through, it is apparent that Mr. Hull followed
just what the Chinese wanted ?" asked Senator Ferguson.

"He did. He broke off so far as the modus vivendi is concerned,"
replied Stark. "And he gives extensive reasons there for it. Perhaps
he may have agreed with some of Chiang Kai-shek's thoughts that
even a leak to the effect that the United States was going to let Japan
have oil or other materials or ease up on the freezing might be such
a blow to their morale as to make it impossible for them to continue.
He talked it over, I assume, with his Chief and he came to that con­
clusion."

"But, Admiral," said Ferguson, "isn't this true, that when you take
what Mr. Hull said about Chiang Kai-shek, it indicated that he was
not going to follow that route-rather that he was going to follow
what he wanted. It was a criticism of the Chinese stand, was it not?"

"I do not know if he criticized so much," Stark replied, "although
he may have criticized Chinese understanding in some respects. That,
I would say" could have been resolved and set straight between Mr.
Hull and the ambassador. But when it was broadcast, and Mr. Hull
gained the impression that even here at the capitol he was considered
guilty of appeasement, that may have influenced him in the action
which he took."

"Now, wait. Do I understand, then, that the opinion that Mr. Hull
was appeasing Japan may have had something to do with his throw­
ing out the modus vivendi and putting in the note of the 26th?"

"Whether or not that criticism which was being leveled at him in
official Washington had anything to do with his final decision only
Mr. Hull could answer," replied Stark. "I do know that it greatly
annoyed him."58
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This was the background when Nomura and Kurusu called at the
State Department at 5:45 P.M. on November 26, to be handed the
American terms. The Chinese had got under Hull's skin with their
shouts about "appeasement," and the Secretary of State, with Roose­
velt's blessing, responded by kicking peace out the window.59 The
proposals he submitted to Japan were as follows:

(1) The government of the United States and the govern­
ment of Japan will endeavor to conclude a multilateral non­
aggression pact among the British Empire, China, Japan" the
Netherlands, the Soviet Union, Thailand, and the United States.

(2) Both governments will endeavor to conclude among the
American, British, Chinese, Japanese, the Netherlands, and Thai
governments an agreement whereunder each of the govern­
ments would pledge itself to respect the territorial integrity of
French Indo-China and, in the event that there should develop
a threat to the territorial integrity of Indo-China, to enter into
immediate consultation with a view to taking such measures as
may be deemed necessary and advisable to meet the threat in
question. Such agreement would provide also that each of the
governments party to the agreement would not seek or accept
preferential treatment in its trade or economic relations with
Indo-China and would use its influence to obtain for each of the
signatories equality of treatment in trade and commerce with
French Indo-China.

(3) The government of Japan will withdraw all military,
naval, air, and police forces from China and from Indo-China.

(4) The government of the United States and the govern­
ment of Japan will not support-militarily, politically, econom­
ically-any government or regime in China other than the na­
tional government of the Republic of China with capital
temporarily at Chungking.

(5) Both governments will give up all extraterritorial rights
in China, including rights and interests in and with regard to
international settlements and concessions, and rights under the
Boxer Protocol of 1901.

Both governments will endeavor to obtain the agreement of
the British and other governments to give up extraterritorial
rights in China, including rights in international settlements
and in concession and under the Boxer Protocol of 1901.

(6) The government of the United States and the govern­
ment of Japan will enter into negotiations for the conclusion
between the United States and Japan of a trade agreement,
based upon reciprocal most favored nation treatment and reduc-
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tion of trade barriers by both countries, including an undertak­
ing by the United States to bind raw silk on the free list.

(7) The government of the United States and the govern­
ment of Japan will, respectively, remove the freezing restric­
tions on Japanese funds in the United States and on American
funds in Japan.

(8) Both governments will agree upon a plan for the stab­
ilization of the dollar-yen rate, with the allocation of funds ade­
quate for this purpose, half to be supplied by Japan and half
by the United States.

(9) Both governments will agree that no agreement which
either has concluded with any third power or powers shall be
interpreted by it in such a way as to conflict with the funda­
mental purpose of this agreement, the establishment and preser­
vation of peace throughout the Pacific area.

(10) Both governments will use their influence to cause other
governments to adhere to and to give practical application to the
basic political and economic principles set forth in this agree­
ment.60

Lindley and Davis candidly remark,

When the document was out of his hands, ... Mr. Hull
had a feeling that it somehow put an end to the grueling, anx­
ious year and a half since Sedan, the period of the diplomatic
defensive during which the White House and Department of
State, lacking military might, had deployed the country's moral
suasion and economic strength around the globe in an effort
to keep war from our shores. Mr. Hull regretfully thought he
might have kept the peace a little longer without sacrifice of vital
interests, but the issue of war or peace had been taken out of his
hands.61

Points 3, 4, and 9, requiring withdrawal of all Japanese troops from
China and Indo-China, Japanese recognition of the Chiang Kai-shek
regime, and abandonment of the Axis, were the most important of the
ten demands and promises. "After the Japanese had read the docu­
ments," Assistant Secretary of State Joseph W. Ballantine recounted,
"Mr. Kurusu asked whether this was our reply to their proposal for
a modus vivendi." Hull said that it was. Kurusu said he "did not
see how his government could consider paragraphs 3 and 4 of the pro­
posed agreem'ent and that if the United States should expect that Japan
was to take off its hat to Chiang Kai-shek and propose to recognize
him" Japan could not agree."
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After looking over the American terms further, Kurusu said that
when he and Nomura reported the American answer, their govern­
ment "would be likely to throw up its hands." He suggested that it
might be better if they did not refer the statement to Tokyo before
discussing its contents further, but Hull said that the proposal "was as
far as we would go at this time." When Hull repeatedly referred to
public opinion as conditioning his actions, asserting that he "might
almost be lynched if he permitted oil to go freely to Japan," Adm.
Nomura remarked that "sometimes statesmen of firm conviction fail
to get sympathizers among the public; that only wise men could see
far ahead and sometimes suffered martyrdom; but that life's span was
short and that one could only do his duty."

Kurusu said that he felt that the American response to the Jap­
anese proposals was "tantamount to meaning the end," and asked
again whether the United States were not interested in a modus vi­
vendi. Hull dismissed the question by saying, "We have explored
that."62

On the following day the two Japanese ambassadors called with
Hull on President Roosevelt. They expressed disappointment about
the failure of any agreement regarding a modus vivendi. The Presi­
dent refused to temper the American proposals and told the ambas­
sadors,

We remain convinced that Japan's own best interests will
not be served by following Hitlerism and courses of aggression,
and that Japan's own best interests lie along the courses which
we have outlined in the current conversations. If, however,
Japan should unfortunately decide to follow Hitlerism and
courses of aggression, we are convinced beyond any shadow of
doubt that Japan will be the ultimate loser.63

Replying to this, Kurusu, in an interview with Hull on December
1, "disclaimed on the part of Japan any similarity between Japan's
purposes and Hitler's purposes," while Nomura

pointed out that wars never settle anything and that war
in the Pacific would be a tragedy, but he added that the Jap­
anese people believe that the United States wants to keep Japan
fighting with China and to keep Japan strangled. He said
that the Japanese people feel that they were faced with the al­
ternative of surrendering to the United States or fighting. The
ambassador said that he was still trying to save the situation.64

Hull did not even profess still to be trying. On November 29, he
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told Lord Halifax that "the diplomatic part of our relations with Japan
was virtually over and that the matter will now go to the officials of
the Army and Navy." He said further that it would be

a serious mistake for our country and other countries interested
in the Pacific situation to make plans of resistance without in­
cluding the possibility that Japan may move suddenly and with
every possible element of surprise and spread out over consider­
able areas and capture certain positions and posts before the
peaceful countries interested in the Pacific would have time
to confer and formulate plans to meet these new conditions;
that this would be on the theory that the Japanese recognize
that their course of unlimited conquest now rene,ved all along
the line probably is a desperate gamble and requires the utmost
boldness and risk.65

These military moves were indeed in train. The day before Hull
submitted the President's ten-point program, the Japanese fleet which
would descend upon Pearl Harbor had already put to sea from Hito­
kappu Bay. In view of the irreconcilable attitude of both governments,
it was now almost beyond the bounds of possibility that the striking
force would be recalled from its mission, but even as late as Decem­
ber 2 Adm. Nagano again ascertained from Adm. Yamamoto that the
fleet could be turned in its course if a settlement should somehow
be attained.66 Although conversations continued in Washington off
and on during the ensuing ten days, they did not change the status,
and the fact that war was inevitable was apparent to both sides.

On December 2, for instance, Undersecretary Welles complained of
Japanese military activity in Indo-China and elsewhere, reading a state­
ment from Roosevelt conveying implied notice that the United States
would act under his warning of August 17 in the event of new Jap­
anese aggression. Mr. Roosevelt said:

The stationing of these increased Japanese forces in Indo­
China would seem to imply the utilization of these forces by
Japan for purposes of further aggression.... Such aggression
could conceivably be against the Philippine Islands; against the
many islands of the East Indies; against Burma; against Ma­
laya, or either through coercion or through the actual use of
force, for the purpose of undertaking the occupation of Thai­
land. Such new aggression would, of course, be additional to
the acts of aggression already undertaken against China, our
attitude toward which is well known, and which has been re­
peatedly stated to the Japanese government.67
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To this Nomura, foreshadowing the final Japanese answer, replied,

The Japanese people believe that economic measures are a
much more effective weapon of war than military measures; ...
they believe they are being placed under severe pressure by the
United States to yield to the American position; and that it is
preferable' to fight rather than to yield to pressure.68

On December 5 Adm. Nomura told Hull that the Japanese were
"alarmed over increasing naval and military preparations of the ABCD
powers in the Southwest Pacific area, and that an airplane of one of
those countries recently had flown over Formosa. He said that our
military men are very alert and enterprising and are known to believe
in the principle that offense is the best defense."69 If the ambassador
was waxing sardonic, the effect was lost upon Hull. The Secretary
of State remarked after some further discourse that "we were not look­
ing for trouble but that at the same time we were not running away
from menaces."70

The only other development preceding the outbreak of war was
President Roosevelt's direct appeal to Hirohito on December 6,
which, as Hull later remarked, was "for the record."71 The message
was withheld from Ambassador Grew for ten and a half hours and
was finally placed in the hands of the Emperor at 3:00 A.M., Tokyo
time, December 8" twenty minutes before the attack on Pearl Har­
bor.72 In the course of his remarks Roosevelt stated:

During the past weeks it has become clear to the world that
Japanese military, naval, and air forces have been sent to south­
ern Indo-China in such large numbers as to create a reasonable
doubt on the part of other nations that this continuing concen­
tration in Indo-China' is not defensive in its character. . .. The
people of the Philippines, vf the hundreds of islands of the East
Indies, of Malaya, and of Thailand itself are asking themselves
whether these forces of Japan are preparing or intending to make
attack in one or more of these many directions. . . . It is clear
that a continuance of such a situation is unthinkable. None of
the people whom I have spoken of above can sit either indefi­
nitely or permanently on a keg of dynamite.73

The first response vvas at Pearl Harbor. The second came at 6:00
A.M., Tokyo time, December 8, when Japanese imperial headquarters
announced that a state of war existed with the United States and
Great Britain.7

• The third came several hours after the attack had be­
gun when Foreign Minister Togo made an oral statement "as a reply"
from the emperor to the President to the effect that establishment of
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peace "in the Pacific and consequently of the world has been the
cherished desire of his Majesty, for the realization of which he has
hitherto made the government to continue its earnest endeavors."75

In W ashington
"

Adm. Nomura asked for an appointment with
Secretary Hull on December 7 at 1:00 P.M. (7:30 A.M., Hawaii time),
but later telephoned and asked that the appointment be postponed to
1:45, as he was not quite ready. He and Kurusu arrived at the State
Department at 2:05 and were received by Hull at 2:20. The attack on
Pearl Harbor had begun at 1:20 P.M., Washington time. Nomura
stated that he had been instructed to deliver at 1:00 P.M. the document
he handed Hull, but that decoding had prevented him from fulfilling
his orders.76 The document which was handed Hull was Japan's reply
to the American statement of November 26.

Although the Japanese ambassadors did not know it, the contents
of this document were fully known to leaders of the American gov­
ernment and the military and naval services in advance of the inter­
view.* The Japanese reply was a long statement which rejected every
thesis in the Hull proposals and accused the American government
of adopting a course of action which "menaces the empire's existence
itself and disparages its honor and prestige."

In the course of this reply, the Japanese government said,

Whereas the American government ... objects to Japanese
attempts to settle international issues through military pressure,
it is exercising in conjunction with Great Britain and other na­
tions pressure by economic power. Recourse to such pressure
as a means of dealing with international relations should be
condemned, as it is at times more inhumane than military pres­
sure.

It is impossible not to reach, the conclusion that the Ameri­
can government desires to maintain and strengthen, in coalition
with Great Britain and other powers, its dominant position it
has hitherto occupied not only in China but in other areas of
East Asia. It is a fact of history that the countries of East Asia
for the last hundred years or more have been compelled to ob­
serve the status quo under the Anglo-American policy of im­
perialist exploitation and to sacrifice themselves to the prosperity
of the two nations. The Japanese government cannot tolerate
the perpetuation of such a situation since it directly runs counter
to Japan's fundamental policy to enable all nations to enjoy each
its proper place in the world....

Obviously, it is the intention of the American government

~c£. pp. 194, 196.
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to conspire with Great Britain and other countries to obstruct
Japan's effort toward the establishment of peace through the
creation of a new order in East Asia" and especially to preserve
Anglo-American rights and interests by keeping Japan and
China at war. This intention has been revealed clearly during
the course of present negotiations. Thus, the earnest hope of
the Japanese government to adjust Japanese-American relations
and to preserve and promote the peace of the Pacific through
co-operation with the American government has finally been
lost.

The Japanese government regrets to have to notify hereby
the American government that in view of the attitude of the
American government it cannot but consider that it is impossible
to reach an agreement through further negotiations.77

Hull, who had word of the actual attack half an hour before he
received the Japanese emissaries, expressed great indignation to them
over their government's language in rejecting his terms. He told
them:

I must say that in all my conversations with you during the
last nine months I have never uttered one word of untruth. This
is borne out absolutely by the record. In all my fifty years of
public service I have never seen a document that was more
crowded with infamous distortions and falsehoods; infamous
distortions and falsehoods on a scale so huge that I never im­
agined until today that any government on this planet was
capable of uttering them.78

The need for politeness was over. It was war.
In a statement to the press later that day, Hull stated,

Japan has made a treacherous and utterly unprovoked at­
tack upon the United States. At the very moment when repre­
sentatives of the Japanese government were discussing with
representatives of this government, at the request of the former,
principles and courses of peace, the armed forces of Japan were
preparing and assembling at various strategic points to launch
new attacks and new aggressions upon nations and peoples with
which Japan was professedly at peace, including the United
States.... It is now apparent to the whole world that Japan
in its recent professions of a desire for peace has been infamously
false and fraudulent.79

In his message to Congress December 8 requesting a declaration
of war, Roosevelt used similar language, referring to December 7 as
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"a date which will live in infamy," stating that the Japanese had at­
tacked "suddenly and deliberately," again describing the attack as
"unprovoked and dastardly/' and asserting, "Always will we remem­
ber the character of the onslaught against us." The pretense of sur­
prise was emphasized in the statement, "While the [Japanese] reply
[of December 7] stated that it seemed useless to continue the existing
diplomatic negotiations, it contained no threat or hint of war or armed
attack."80

This high-flown condemnation is customary under the circum­
stances, but it is hard to see how the attack at Pearl Harbor could
have been regarded as a completely unprovoked and unexpected act
of treachery, for both governments had resigned themselves to war,
and it was just a question of time when one of them should take the
step that led to open hostilities. What was not known at the time, and
would not be known until almost four years later, was that Hull,
Roosevelt, the Secretaries of War and Navy, and the Navy high com­
mand and Army general staff had clear and indisputable evidence
long before December 7 that Japan was going to fight, and that it
would open the war on the date that it did at the place that it did.
All of the professions of Roosevelt and Hull, therefore, that the Jap­
anese assault was a totally unforeseen event were" to this degree,
counterfeit, while the diplomacy they had pursued had made war in­
evitable, as both well knew.81

On the night of December 7, Prime Minister Churchill later would
recall, he was sitting with John G. Winant, the American ambas­
sador, at his country residence, Chequers, listening to a news broad­
cast. "Quite casually," he said, "came an item that the Japanese had
attacked United States shipping in the Pacific. It passed almost with­
out our realizing it, and then suddenly we realized what had hap­
pened."

Churchill obtained a connection with the White House on the
trans-Atlantic telephone.

"We are all in the same boat now," said the President.82

The United States was in the war-not only against Japan but "all
the way," as Roosevelt triumphantly announced in his radio address
to the nation on the night of December 9.83



Chapter Twelve

MAGIC

DIPLOMATIC NEGOTIATIONS, as often as not, serve to mask the real mo·
tives and the real intentions of the governments conducting them.
On any point of issue, the governments which are parties to a dispute
endeavor to conceal their real aims by invoking language which will
present them in the most favorable light and emphasize their pas­
sionate dedication to justice and international morality. This gener­
ality undoubtedly applies to both the United States and Japan in their
discussions in Washington between February and December, 1941.

What the Japanese government did not know all the time these
conversations were in progress, and what the American people would
not know until four years later, was that months before the Pearl
Harbor attack the American government, by a stroke of unmatched
good fortune, had been placed in possession of a priceless weapon.
Our intelligence had cracked the Japanese code relating to ship move­
ments and the Japanese ultra code used in advising its diplomatic
corps throughout the world. With this knowledge in their possession,
President Roosevelt, the State Department, and the Army and Navy
were privy to all of Japan's plans and intentions. They knew what
the Japanese were saying among themselves, what they were think­
ing, and what they were planning to do. Our officials could not have
been better informed if they had had seats in the Japanese war council.
So like a gift of the gods did our leaders consider the breaking of the
Japanese code that they referred to cryptanalysis as "Magic."

The first intimation that the American government had broken
the Jap code came on August 29, 1945, when President Truman re­
leased the reports of the Army and Navy boards of inquiry which
had investigated the Pearl Harbor disaster. The Navy Court had re­
ported its findings to the Secretary of the Navy on October 19, 1944,
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and the Army Board to the Secretary of War on October 20, 1944.
At that time the nation was still at war with Germany and Japan,
and, by resorting to the convenient pretext of national security, the
secretaries labeled the reports "Top Secret" and suppressed them for
ten months. When they were finally released, large sections were still
withheld, but there were enough hints in the text made public to sug­
gest that the United States was in possession of the code secret before
Pearl Harbor.

The Army Board, for instance, significantly stated,
Information from informers, agents, and other sources as to

the activities of our potential enemy and its intentions in the
negotiations between the United States and Japan was in posses­
sion of the State, War, and Navy departments in November
and December of 1941. Such agencies had a reasonably com­
plete knowledge of the Japanese plans and intentions, and were
in a position to know their potential moves against the United
States. Therefore, Washington was in possession of essential
facts as to the enemy's intentions and proposals.

This information showed clearly that war was inevitable,
and late in November absolutely imminent. It clearly demon­
strated the necessity for resorting to every trading act possible
to defer the ultimate day of breach of relations to give the Army
and Navy time to prepare for the eventualities of ,var.

The messages actually sent to Hawaii by the Army and
Navy gave only a small fraction of this information. It would
have been possible to have sent safely information ample for the
purpose of orienting the commanders in Hawaii, or positive di­
rectives for an all-out alert.

Under the circumstances, where information has a vital bear­
ing upon actions to be taken by field commanders, and cannot
be disclosed to them, it would appear incumbent upon the War
Department then to assume the responsibility for specific direc­
tives to such commanders.

[Gen.] Short got neither form of assistance after November
28 from the War Department, his immediate supervising
agency. It is believed that the disaster of Pearl Harbor would
have been lessened to the extent that its defenses were available
and used on December 7 if properly alerted in time. The fail­
ure to alert these defenses in time by directive from the War
Department, based upon all information available to it, is one
for which it is responsible. The War Department had an abun­
dance of vital information that indicated an immediate break
with Japan. All it had to do was either get it to Short or give
him a directive based upon it. Short was not fully sensitive to
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the real seriousness of the situation, although the War Depart­
ment thought he was. It is believed' that knowledge of the in­
formation available in the War Department would have made
him so.

General discussion of the information herein referred to
follows:

The records show almost daily information on the plans of
the Japanese government. In addition to that cited above and
in conjunction therewith the War Department was in posses­
sion of information late in November and early in December
from which it made deduction that Japan would shortly com­
mence an aggressive war in the South Pacific; that every effort
would be made to reach an agreement with the United States
government which would result in eliminating the American
people as a contestant in the war to come; and that failing to
reach the agreement the Japanese government would attack
both Britain and the United States. This information enabled
the War Department to fix the probable time of war with Japan
with a degree of certainty.

In the first days of December this information grew more
critical and indicative of the approaching war. Officers in rela­
tively minor positions who were charged with the responsibility
of receiving and evaluating such information were so deeply
impressed with its significance and the growing tenseness of
our relations with Japan, which pointed only to war and war
almost immediately, that such officers approached the chief of
the war plans division rGen. Gerow] and the secretary of the
general staff rCol., now Lieut. Gen., Walter Bedell Smith] for
the express purpose of having sent to the department com­
manders a true picture of the war atmosphere which, at that
time, pervaded the War Department and which was uppermost
in the thinking of these officers in close contact with it. The
efforts of these subordinate officers to have such information
sent to the field were unsuccessful. They were told that field
commanders had been sufficien~ly informed. The secretary to
the general staff declined to discuss the matter when told of the
decisions of the war plans division.

Two officers then on duty in the War Department are men­
tioned for their interest and aggressiveness in attempting to
have something done. They are Col. R. S. Bratton and Col.
Otis K. Sadder.

The following handling of information reaching the War
Department in the evening of December 6 and early Sunday
morning, December 7, is cited as illustrative of the apparent
lack of appreciation by those in high places in the War Depart-
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ment of the seriousness of this information which ,vas so clearly
outlining the trends that were hastening us into war with Japan.

At approximately 10:00 P.M. on December 6, 1941, and more
than fifteen hours before the attack at Pearl Harbor, G-2 de­
livered to the office of the war plans division and to the office
of the chief of staff of the Army information which indicated
very emphatically that war with Japan was a certainty and that
the beginning of such war was in the immediate future. The
officers to whom this information was delivered were told of
its importance and impressed with the necessity of getting it
into the hands of those who could act, the chief of staff of the
Army and the chief of the war plans division.

On the following morning, December 7, at about 8:30 A.M.,

other information reached the office of G-2, vital in its nature
and indicating an almost immediate break in relations between
the United States and Japan. Col. Bratton, chief, Far Eastern
section, G-2, attempted to reach the chief of staff of the Army
in order that he might be informed of the receipt of this mes­
sage. He discovered that the general was horseback riding.
Finally, and at approximately 11 :25 A.M., the chief of staff
reached his office and received this information. Gen. Miles,
then G-2 of the War Department, appeared at about the same
time. A conference was held between these two officers and
Gen. Gerow of the war plans division, who himself had come
to the office of the chief of staff. Those hours when Bratton
was attempting to reach some one who could take action in
matters of this importance and the passing of time without
effective action having been taken, prevented this critical in­
formation from reaching Gen. Short in time to be of value to
him.

About noon a message was hastily dispatched to overseas de­
partment commanders, including Short in the Hawaiian de­
partment. This message ... came into Short's possession after
the attack had been completed.1

These were matters which the Roosevelt-Truman administration
did not want to have explored, for they would lead into embarrassing
avenues. In March, 1945, when it had become apparent that there
would be further investigation of the Pearl Harbor catastrophe after
the end of the war, Senator Elbert D. Thomas of Utah, chairman of
the Committee on Military Affairs, introduced Senate Bill 805 in be­
half of the administration. This measure provided that the disclo­
sure of any cryptographic information, either our own or that of any
other government, allied or enemy, should be punishable by a sen-
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tence of ten years in prison or a fine of $10,000, or both. This meas­
ure went to the committee with an indorsement from Secretary of
War Stimson and from H. Struve Hensel, acting Secretary of the
Navy, who said that enactment of the proposed legislation "is con­
sidered essential in the interest of national defense and security."
Senator Thomas, elaborating on this theme, said,

With respect to cryptanalysis, an even greater degree of se­
crecy is required. Such activities, of vital importance in time of
war and also essential in time of peace in order to be ready
for war, require even a greater degree of security because the
enemy or potential enemy has it within his absolute power to
deprive us of any information from this source if he suspects
we are getting it.2

This excuse of national security was invoked by many of the principal
figures who testified before the Congressional Pearl Harbor Investi­
gating Committee in extenuation of their failure to alert the Hawaiian
commanders in accordance with the decoded information in their
possession.

The Thomas bill was slipped through the Senate April 9, 1945,
but, because of the vigilance of Senator Ferguson, it was recalled and
modified so that "any regularly constituted committee of the Senate
or House" was exempted from its provisions. Ferguson had detected
at once that the purpose of the bill was to stifle any prospective in­
vestigation of the Pearl Harbor debacle. The following October,
when the bill was brought up for consideration in the House, it en­
countered so much opposition even in its amended form that it was
w=th~rawn.3

On November 6, 1945, Representative Gearhart, a member of the
four-man Republican minority on the ten-member congressional
committee which three weeks before had been appointed to investi­
gate Pearl Harbor, took the floor of the House and for the first time
revealed the nature and content of some of the most important Japa­
nese secret code messages intercepted and decoded in 1941.4 It was
apparent immediately why the administration had gone to such
lengths to endeavor to suppress these messages for all time.

Gearhart stated that the messages he was reading were outlined
in a "Memorandum of the Judge Advocate General of the Army for
the Secretary of War." The messages set forth in this document all
pointed unmistakably to war-and even to the time and place of the
initial attack.
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The Japanese code intercepts were finally disclosed in full on
November 15, 1945, the opening day of the congressional investigation.
More than seven hundred of them were produced, of which more
than two hundred, dating back to December 2" 1940, dealt with ship
movements. The report of the decoded diplomatic messages began
on July 2, 1941.5

In response to the American order freezing Japanese assets, For­
eign Minister Toyoda radioed Ambassador Nomura in Washington
July 31, 1941,

Commercial and economic relations between Japan and third
countries, led by England and the United States, are gradually
becoming so horribly strained that we cannot endure it much
longer. Consequently, our empire, to save its very life, must
take measures to secure the raw materials of the South Seas.
Our empire must immediately take steps to break asunder this
ever strengthening chain of encirclement which is being woven
under the guidance and with the participation of England and
the United States, acting like a cunning dragon seemingly
asleep. That is why we decided to obtain military bases in
French Indo-China and to have our troops occupy that terri­
tory.

Toyoda continued,

I know that the Germans are somewhat dissatisfied over our
negotiations with the United States, but we wish at any cost to
prevent the United States from getting into war, and we wish
to settle the Chinese Incident.6

On August 7 Nomura reported to Tokyo,

There is no doubt whatsoever that the United States is pre­
pared to take drastic action depending on the way Japan moves,
and thus closing the door on any possibility of settling the situ­
ation.... It is reported that the President, accompanied by high
Army and Navy officials, is meeting with Churchill. This indi­
cates that careful preparations are being made to counter our
every move without falling back a single time.7

On August 16, two days after the announcement of the Roosevelt­
Churchill meeting at sea, Nomura reported t~ Tokyo,

I understand that the British believe that if they could only
have a Japanese-American war started at the back door, there
would be a good prospect of getting United States to participate
in the European war.8
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On September 27 Toyoda sent Nomura a digest of a conversation
which he had had with Grew the same day in which he said that
Japan's paramount policy was to keep peace with the United States.
He said:

Should the United States and Japan come to blows, the Pa­
cific, too, would be immediately thrown into the chaos that is
war. World-civilization would then come crashing down. No
greater misfortune could befall mankind.... If, at this time,
Japanese-U.S. relations were to be adjusted so as to promote
friendship between them, the effects would be felt not only by
the United States and Japan, but would indeed contribute
greatly to a world-peace. The imperial government desires the
adjustment of Japanese-U.S. relations not only for the sake of
Japan and the United States" but hopes that at the same time
such a step would become the opening wedge to bringing about
peace throughout the world.

All through the dispatches of this period Tokyo kept expressing
its hopes that the proposed conference between Roosevelt and Prime
Minister Konoye would provide a solution to all problems in the
Pacific. On August 26 Tokyo informed Nomura, "Now the inter­
national situation as well as our internal situation is strained in the
extreme and we have reached the point where we will pin our last
hopes on an interview between the Premier and the President."lo As
the Konoye government entered upon its final weeks of life, the
urgency of a Pacific conference was increasingly stressed. A message
to Washington on October 1 stated, "Time is now the most important
element. Whether this matter materializes or not has a direct and
important bearing on peace in the Pacific and even of the' world."l1

Again, on October 3, a message to Nomura informed him that
the British ambassador to Japan, Sir Robert Craigie, was so impressed
with the need of jogging Washington into action in order to avoid
a Pacific war that he had cabled Foreign Minister Anthony Eden
and Lord Halifax as follows:

Among the difficult points in the materialization of a Japa­
nese-United States conference, is that with Japan speed is re­
quired.... By pursuing a policy of stalling, the United States
is arguing about every word and every phrase on the grounds
that it is an essential preliminary to any kind of an agreement.
It seems apparent that the United States does not comprehend
the fact that by the nature of the Japanese and also on account
of the domestic conditions in Japan, no delays can be counte-
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nanced. It would be very regrettable indeed if the best oppor­
tunity for the settlement of the Far Eastern problems since I
assumed my post here were to be lost in such a manner. Prince
Konoye is sincerely desirous of avoiding the dangers which
Japan may face through her connections in the tripartite pact
and in the Axis, for which the prince, himself, feels responsi­
bility. Opposition within the country to the prince's reversal of
policy is fairly strong. Therefore, unless the Japanese-U.S. con­
versations are held in the very near future" the opportunity will
probably be lost. Moreover, if by some chance, meetings fail
to materialize, or if they are unduly delayed, the Konoye cabi­
net will be placed in a precarious position.

The British ambassador was further quoted to the effect that both
Grew and he felt it would be "a foolish policy if this superb oppor­
tunity is permitted to slip by assuming an unduly suspicious atti­
tude."12

The American government was thus apprised through the am­
bassador of a country which it already considered its ally of the critical
importance of bringing about the meeting between Konoye and
Roosevelt if the moderate element in Japan was to be kept in power
and peace preserved. The sentiments of Ambassador Craigie, how­
ever, were as unavailing as those of the Japanese statesmen themselves
in prevailing upon Roosevelt and Hull to seize this chance of keeping
the peace.

On October 8, Toyoda, in a long dispatch to Nomura, reviewed
the entire course of Japan's recent relations with other powers, par­
ticularly the United States. He said that while the war between Ger­
many and Russia was reaching a deadlock, "all the while England
and the United States were strengthening their net about us and we
could see no means of concluding the Sino-Japanese affair." As a
consequence, he said, the Japanese government decided upon diplo­
matic negotiations to terminate the struggle with the Chinese, and,
he added, "We feel that it is necessary to open the way for a compro­
mise in our relations with the United States."

The Japanese foreign minister further said, "The only placid ex­
panse of water on earth is the Pacific. Under these circumstances, it
is felt that it is up to both nations to probe into the causes of the
trouble between their respective governments and to assure the har~

mony of the Pacific."13 This message sufficiently expressed the Japa­
nese dilemma of having got too many bears by the tail at once, so
that Japan's principal interest now was to discover a means of letting
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go. On October 13 Tokyo advised Nomura that "circumstances du
not permit even an instant's delay."14

On October 16, in a message to Tokyo, Nomura reported a con­
versation which Mr. Terasaki, the counselor of the Japanese embassy,
had had the preceding evening with Adm. Turner. Terasaki at this
meeting stated the Japanese position as follows:

The United States is exceedingly idealistic concerning the
Far East. Aiding China might be called a question of principle,
but if I may say so, this talk of principles is a sort of hobby
among the rich. If it's not a question of principle, all I can
conclude is that you all are determined to make us fight with
China until we are exhausted. On the other hand, you have
followed a very, very realistic policy in Central America. For­
getting the history of Panama for a moment, we can find plenty
of present examples proving what I say. Well, China is not an
over-simplified question of principle with us Japanese. It is a
question of our life. We have already fought there for four
years. You went to Japan on the "Astoria." I am sure you know
something of the temperament of the Japanese. Once a Japa­
nese is in a corner, he will forget all interest in life and death
and fight back with fury. I know that we are much poorer than
you Americans in material things. I don't know what the re­
sult of a Japanese-American war might be, but even though we
lost, I can tell you we would put up an awful fight. If we do
not achieve what we are trying to do, it may come to that.
Now if you Americans would only extend your hand in friend­
ship to us a little, you could have our lasting amity; otherwise,
we may turn out to be permanent enemies.Hi

From the secret dispatches, which the Japanese did not know were
being read, the American government knew that the Konoye cabinet
was approaching a crisis, with the probability that any successor gov­
ernment which would come to power in Japan would probably be
far more intransigent and offer little likelihood of avoiding war. On
October 16, when it was already known that the Konoye cabinet had
resigned, Hull spent two hours telling Mr. Wakasugi of the embassy
staff, "The United States is certainly not playing along with a policy
of procrastination. I earnestly wish to see peaceful and normal politi­
cal relations re-established between Japan and the United States." He
knew" of course, that his best hope of attaining that end had gone
with the downfall of the Konoye government, but he and the Presi­
dent had done nothing in months of discussions to enable Konoye to
reach the settlement which he sought.
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When Hull asked Wakasugi what outlook there was for the new
cabinet, the Japanese representative told him,

No matter what sort of cabinet it is, ... it is impossible to
leave Japanese-American relations in their present state. The
world being in its present condition, particularly faced by the
China problem, our people cannot continue undecided as they
now are in the face of American opposition. They demanded a
government that would take a definite stand either to the right
or to the left. There is no mistake about that. If no unanimity
can be discovered between our two nations, it would be hard
to say in which direction the wind will blow.16

On the 17th Wakasugi again related Japan's position to Hull as
follows:

Japan occupies only a small corner of what is known as the
Far East; moreover, she has been occupied for over four years
with the China Incident. She has, therefore, a number of cir­
cumstances which are peculiar to herself. So though she may
want to comply with all of what the United States suggests, it
is impossible for her to immediately do so.... Even if we tried
to comply with the basic principles advanced by the United
States, we could not do so overnight....17

In its last message to Washington, announcing its resignation, the
Konoye cabinet directed Nomura~

Regardless of the make-up of the new cabinet, negotiations
with the United States shall be continued along the lines al­
ready formulated.1s

Although Tokyo was still leaving the door open in the hope of
achieving a settlement, Nomura was discouraged and apparently saw
the drift to war as almost inevitable. On October 18 he attempted to
resign, reporting to the new government in Tokyo that he "was not
able to do anything useful," and suggesting that he be recalled be­
cause "it should be fairly clear that I, with my limited ability, shall
not be able to accomplish much in the future."19 On October 21,
however, the Tojo government informed the ambassador,

The new cabinet differs in no way from the former one in
its sincere desire to adjust Japanese-United States relations on
a fair basis. Our country has said practically all she can say in
the way of expressing of opinions in setting forth our stands.
We feel we have now reached a point where no further positive
action can be taken by us except to urge the United States to
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reconsider her views. We urge, therefore, that, choosing an
opportune moment, either you or Wakasugi let it be known
to the United States by indirection that our country is not in
a position to spend much more time discussing this matter.20

Here was a clear indication that time was running out, and that,
if a settlement could not soon be arranged, matters would pass out
of the sphere of diplomacy.

At this juncture, Nomura reported to Tokyo, statements with the
effect of inflaming public opinion were made by Senator Pepper and
Secretary Knox, who, on October 24, according to the ambassador,
said in effect that a "Japanese-American war is inevitable and the
clash of the two countries is only days ahead."21 On October 29
Wakasugi reported to Tokyo that "U.S.-Japanese relations are now
fast approaching a critical crossroad," but, he added, "If we choose
to good naturedly continue these talks, I am of the opinion that all
is not hopeless."22

On November 2 the new Japanese foreign minister, Shigenori
Togo, advised Nomura that the government expected "to reach a
final decision" on policy relative to the United States at a meeting on
the 5th. "This will be our government's last effort to improve diplo­
matic relations,," he said. "The situation is very grave. When we
resume negotiations, the situation makes it urgent that we reach a
decision at once."2::i

On November 4 another message from Tokyo said,

Well, relations between Japan and the United States have
reached the edge, and our people are losing confidence in the
possibility of ever adjusting them.... Conditions both within
and without our empire are so tense that no longer is procrasti­
nation possible, yet in our sincerity to maintain pacific relation­
ships between the empire of Japan and the United States of
America, we have decided . . . to gamble once more on the
continuance of the parleys, but this is our last effort. Both in
name and spirit this counter-proposal of ours is, indeed, the last.
I want you to know that. If through it we do not reach a
quick accord, I am sorry to say the talks will certainly be rup­
tured. Then, indeed, will relations between our two nations be
on the brink of chaos. I mean that the success or failure of the
pending discussions will have an immense effect on the destiny
of the Empire of Japan. In fact, we gambled the fate of our
land on the throw of this die.

The message referred despairingly to the long protracted negotia­
tions, during which" it was said,
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We have 'already gone far out of our way and yielded and
yielded.... Bearing all kinds of humiliating things, our gov­
ernment has repeatedly stated its sincerity and gone far, yes,
too far, in giving in to them [the Americans]. There is just
one reason why we do this-to maintain peace in the Pacific.
There seem to be some Americans who think we would make
a one-sided deal, but our temperance, I can tell you, has not
come from weakness, and naturally there is an end to our long­
suffering. Nay, when it comes to a question of our existence
and our honor, when the time comes we will defend them with­
out reeking the cost. . . . This time we are showing the limit
of our friendship; this time we are making our last possible
bargain, and I hope that we can thus settle all our troubles
with the United States peaceably.2'

The meaning of this ominous message was made doubly clear by
the statement that "the cabinet has been meeting with the imperial
headquarters for some days in succession." In other words, if diplo­
macy failed, the alternative would be military action then being
worked out by the cabinet in conjunGtion with the Japanese army
and navy.

On the same day Tokyo forwarded to Washington the terms
whic~, with some amendment, were submitted to the American gov­
ernment on November 20. So certain was the Japanese government
that the settlement would be given American approval that Nomura
was instructed to have it drav;n up as an executive agreement so that
it could take effect immediately and would not require the delay of
Senate ratification.25

It was emphasized that "it is absolutely necessary that all arrange­
ments for the signing of this agreement be completed by the 25th of
this month"26-that Japan was working against a deadline, the mean­
ing of which was still obscure.

On November 4 and 6 Nomura was advised that Kurusu had
been sent to assist him in the negotiations, but that he brought with
him no new instructions.27 It was emphasized that "now that we
are on the last lap of these negotiations, I do hope that he can help
you in unravelling this bewildering maze, and through co-operation
lead to a solution, and that right soon."28

On November 10 Nomura visited Roosevelt and urged upon him
the view that although Japan had made many concessions, the United
States "has shown no willingness to respond to our compromises."
He further stated that the Japanese people regarded the freezing of
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funds as a kind of economic blockade, adding that "there seem to be
some who say that modern warfare is not limited to shooting alone."
He told the President that the reports from Japan were serious and
threatening and that the only solution was to come to an agreement
without further delay. The President, according to Nomura, con­
tinued to temporize, but stated the necessity of discovering a modus
vivendi, by which Nomura inferred that he meant some kind of
provisional agreement.29

In a meeting with Hull November 12, Nomura again explained
the Japanese proposals,30 but the Secretary, as noted by Tokyo, seemed
still to assume that the talks were of a preliminary nature. Nomura
was asked to correct Hull's impression, and other messages inter­
cepted by American authorities reinforced the point that the situation
could not be more urgent.31

A message from Tokyo to Hong Kong on November 14 showed,
indeed, that there would be war if the discussions led nowhere. This
message stated,

Though the imperial government hopes for great things
from the Japan-American negotiations, they do not permit opti­
mism for the future. Should the negotiations collapse, the in­
ternational situation in which the empire will find herself will
be one of tremendous crisis. Accompanying this, the empire's
foreign policy, as it has been decided by the cabinet, is:

a) We will completely destroy British and American power
in China.

b) We will take over all enemy concessions and enemy im­
portant rights and interests (customs and minerals, etc). in
China.

c) We will take over all rights and interests owned by enemy
powers, even though they might have connections with the new
Chinese government, should it become necessary.

In realizing these steps in China, we will avoid, insofar as
possible, exhausting our veteran troops. Thus we will cope
with a world-war on a long-time scale. Should our reserves for
total war and our future military strength wane, we have de­
cided to reinforce them from the whole Far Eastern area.32

No one could possibly misinterpret this message. It meant that
war had been decided upon if the negotiations failed, and it referred
to Britain and America as "the enemy."

Although under instructions to reach an agreement by November
25, Nomura on November 14 cautioned "patience for one or two
months in order to get a clear view of the world-situation." He stated,
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As I told you in a number of messages, the policy of the
American government in the Pacific is to stop any further moves
on our part either southward or northward. With every eco­
nomic weapon at their command, they have attempted to achieve
their objective, and now they are contriving by every possible
means to prepare for actual warfare. In short, they are making
every military and every other kind of preparation to prevent us
from a thrust northward or a thrust southward; they are conspir­
ing most actively with the nations concerned and rather than
yield on this fundamental political policy of theirs in which they
believe so firmly, they would not hesitate, I am sure, to fight us.
It is not their intention, I know, to repeat such a thing as the
Munich conference which took place several years ago and
which turned out to be such a failure. Already, I think" the
apex of German victories has passed. Soviet resistance persists,
and the possibility of a separate peace has receded, and hereafter
this trend will be more and more in evidence.

Nomura spoke of the suspicion in this country that Japan was
ready "to stab the United States right in the back." He said that if
Japan carried out

a venture southward for the sake of our existence and our lives,
it naturally follows that we will have to fight England and the
United States, and chances are also that the Soviet will partici­
pate. Furthermore, among the neutral nations, those of Central
America are already the puppets of the United States, and as
for those of South America, whether they like it or not, they
are dependent for their economic existence on the United States
and must maintain a neutrality partial thereto.

It is inevitable that this war will be long, and this little vic­
tory or that little victory, or this little defeat or that little defeat,
do not amount to much, and it is not hard to see that whoever
can hold out till the end will be the victor.33

Thus" as plainly as he could, Nomura attempted to dissuade the
war lords of Tokyo from embarking upon a course which would
bring the might of the United States down upon them. He urged
that a peaceful solution continue to be sought through the Washington
conversations. "I believe that I will win out in the long run in these
negotiations," he said.3~

The following day Nomura reported that Hull was still standing
pat on his demand that the tripartite pact "shall become a mere scrap
of paper." Although Nomura again endeavored to persuade the
Secretary that there need be no clash between a Japanese-American
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peace and the continued existence of the Axis pact, Hull's unyielding
attitude compelled him to look ahead if relations "should unfortu­
nately break down, that, as a consequence, we pursue an unrestricted
course." He inquired if Japan had made arrangements for a neutral
power to take over its interests in the United States, and whether an
exchange of embassy and consular staffs was being planned. In dis­
cussing an exchange of nationals, Nomura said, "Dependence on ships
of neutral register ... would be an exceedingly precarious undertak­
ing should war actually be declared."35

On November 16 an ominous note was introduced in another
Tokyo message to Washington which conveyed detailed instructions
for the destruction of code machines "in the event of an emergency."36

On the same day Tokyo advised Nomura that

the fate of our empire hangs by the slender thread of a few
days, so please fight harder than you ever did before. . . . In
your opinion we ought to wait and see what turn the war takes
and remain patient. However, I am awfully sorry to say that
the situation renders this out of the question. I set the deadline
for the solution of these negotiations ... and there will be no
change.37

On November 17 Kurusu arrived by plane in Washington and was
received by Hull and Roosevelt. When the special envoy had landed
at San Francisco, he had optimistically expressed the hope of "making
a touchdown" in his talks in Washington. His first statement to
Roosevelt, however, emphasized that conditions in the Pacific were
strained. He said:

The situation is so tense that we cannot tell when an explo­
sion would occur and, even if it occurred, of what benefit would
such a situation be to the United States and Japan? To be sure,~

Japan wishes that the Japanese-American negotiations would
prove to be a success. However, the time element must be taken
into consideration. Delaying the solution avails Japan nothing,
since, in the meantime, conditions, both militarily and econom­
ically, would become less favorable to her if she is to defend
herself.

In his conversation with the President, Kurusu said that Japan's
adherence to the tripartite pact, one of the principal stumbling-blocks
to a settlement, meant that Japan alone would determine its obliga­
tions to go to war. The United States, he continued, "apparently in­
terprets this to mean that Japan will wait until the United States is
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deeply involved in the battle on the Atlantic and then stab the United
States in the back." Kurusu said that the impression was erroneous,
that Japan was not Germany's tool, and that a settlement between
Japan and the United States "would far outshine the tripartite pact."
Hull expressed the hope that Kurusu could attack the general problem
from a different angle. He said that he and Nomura "always seem
to come back to a certain point and then start going around and around
the same circle."38

In new instructions November 17, Tokyo twice emphasized to its
Washington emissaries that America seemed intent on disregarding
Japan's "sacrifices" during the four and one-half years of the China
war.S9 The disillusion which had long since overtaken Nomura now
began to creep over Kurusu. When Hull, on the 18th, spoke of the
necessity of removing "the fundamental trouble,," Kurusu remarked,
"If something is impossible to do, it simply can't be done, regardless
of what fancy words may be used to dress it Up."40 Nevertheless, the
next day in a message to Tokyo, he expressed hope of achieving some
settlement, and counseled against "forming a hasty conclusion."41

On November 19, however, Tokyo stated in terms stronger than
ever before that a complete breakdown in relations was impending.
In its message to Washington, it stated:

In case of emergency (danger of cutting off our diplomatic
relations), and the cutting off of international communications,
the following warning will be added in the middle of the daily
Japanese language short wave news broadcast:

(1) In case of Japan-U.S. relations endangered: Higashi No
Kazeame (east wind rain).

(2) Japan-U.S.S.R. relations: Kitanokaze Kumori (north
wind cloudy).

(3) Japan-British relations: Nishi No Kaze Hare (west
wind clear) .42

In another message the same day, Tokyo advised that if diplomatic
relations were becoming dangerous it would add at the beginning
and end of Japan's intelligence broadcast the word "Higashi," signi­
fying that relations with America were imperiled; "Kita," applying
to a rupture of relations with Russia, and "Nishi," if relations with
Britain, including Thailand, Malaya, and the Netherlands East Indies,
were affected.48

Nomura, also reporting on November 19, said that of the three
courses before the empire in relation to America-maintaining the
status quo, breaking the deadlock by force of arms, or achieving a
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mutual nonaggression agreement-he was endeavoring to bring about
the third. He said:

After exhausting our strength by four years of the China In­
cident, following right upon the Manchuria Incident, the pres­
ent is hardly an opportune time for venturing upon another
long-drawn-out warfare on a large scale. I think it would be
better to fix up a temporary "truce" now in the spirit to "give
and take" and make this the prelude to greater achievements
to come later.44

On November 22 Tokyo sent a significant message to Nomura and
Kurusu urging them to work hard and try to bring about a solution
and again stressing that they were working against a deadline. The
dispatch said:

It is awfully hard for us to consider changing the date we
set.... You should know this. However, I know you are work­
ing hard. Stick to our fixed policy and do your very best. Spare
no efforts and try to bring about the solution we desire. There
are reasons beyond your ability to guess why we wanted to settle
Japanese-American relations by the 25th, but if within the next
three or four days you can finish your conversations with the
Americans; if the signing can be completed by the 29th (let me
write it out for you-twenty-ninth); if the pertinent notes can be
exchanged; if we can get an understanding with Great Britain
and the Netherlands; and in short if everything can be finished,
we have decided to wait until that date. This time we mean it,
that the deadline absolutely cannot be changed. After that things
are automatically going to happen.*45

All of these communications were known to the leaders of the
American government and to the Army and Navy high command
almost as soon as or sooner than they were ~nown to the Japanese
representatives in Washington. They showed how far Japan was will­
ing to go in reaching an agreement, and the point beyond which it
felt that it could not go. From the middle of November on, certain
of the messages showed a new and dangerous drift. They indicated
that if an agreement were not soon reached, there would be a rupture
of diplomatic relations, the usual prelude to an outbreak of hostilities.
Finally, they showed that an irrevocable deadline had been fixed, and
that after that things were "automatically going to happen."

Responsible American officials might not be expected to guess ex­
actly what would happen, but they had been given adequate warning

·1talics supplied.
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of war in the event of a breakdown of negotiations and they knew
that some Japanese plan undoubtedly pointing to a surprise belligerent
stroke had been set in train, and that after the 29th it would be im­
possible for Japan to turn back. These inferences were to be drawn
from any careful and reasonably intelligent reading of the code in­
tercepts.

The duty therefore devolved upon the men who had taken it upon
themselves to evaluate these intercepts either to reach an agreement
with Japan, or, if for moral or political reasons that were regarded as
impossible, to take all possible defensive precautions against Japanese
belligerent action, and to be on the alert against a surprise blow from
whatever quarter. The agreement could either have been in the na­
ture of the discarded nlodus vivendi, designed to buy time until our
Pacific forces could assume a proper posture of defense" or it could
have been a settlement of the kind envisioned by Ambassador Grew
-just arid equitable, entered in a spirit of conciliation, and not par­
taking of "so-called appeasement."46

The leaders of the American government followed neither course.
They were then left with the responsibility-even more clearly and
starkly etched by the Tokyo messages intercepted after November 22
-to serve unequivocal notice on the field commanders to stand ready
to repel attack.



Chapter Thirteen

THE WRITING ON THE WALL

ALTHOUGH DIPLOMATIC exchanges continued in Washington up to
the very moment of the December 7 attack, and even beyond it, they
became hopeless after Secretary Hull's submission of his proposals of
November 26, and apparently were so regarded in the State Depart­
ment even before that. On November 22, for instance, Ballantine
asked Nomura and Kurusu the rhetorical question whether it were
not the duty of every politician to "strive for peace up to the day before
war is found to be unavoidable."l

Meanwhile, other messages between Tokyo and its diplomatic out­
posts throughout the world which Army and Navy intelligence con­
tinued to intercept showed that the crisis was fast approaching. The
sequence of these messages, with the interpretation which military in­
telligence might logically have placed upon them, was as follows:

NOVEMBER 24

Tokyo advised its Washington ambassadors that the deadline pre­
viously set for reaching an agreement was in Tokyo time, November
29-November 28 in Washington.2

Interpretation: After the 28th things were "automatically going
to happen."

NOVEMBER 25

Japanese representatives in Hanoi, Indo-China, informed Tokyo:

We are advised by the military that we are to have a reply
from the United States on the 25th. If this is true, no doubt the
cabinet will make a decision between peace and war within the
next day or two.... Should ... the negotiations not end in a
success, since practically all preparations for the campaign have
been completed, our forces shall be able to move within the day.s
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Interpretation: Hanoi, although not advised of the extension of
the deadline to November 29, reported that troops were prepared to
begin military action in a matter of hours.

Another message from Bangkok, Siam, discussed the "empire's
taking decisive action in a southward advance," indicating that this
attack would be directed against Burma and Malaya and would in­
volve the occupation of Thailand.·

Interpretation: Objectives of the Japanese attack in that quarter
now known to Washington. They violate Roosevelt's warning of
August 17 and require the President to give military assistance to
Britain under his parallel action obligations.

NOVEMBER 26
This was the day on which Hull submitted the American terms

to Japan. The Japanese envoys in Washington were sent a new word
code to be used in telephone reports to Tokyo in order to save time.
Roosevelt was to be designated as "Miss Kimiko" and Hull as "Miss
Fumeko." "The child is born" would be interpreted as the arrival
of a crisis or the decision to go to war.5 Upon receipt of this code,
Kurusu telephoned Kumaicho Yamamoto, head of the American sec­
tion of the Japanese foreign office, and expressed a feeling of hopeless­
ness concerning any successful outcome of the negotiations.6

Interpretation: The "child" would soon be born.
Reporting that same evening on Hull's submission of the ten points,

Nomura said that he and Kurusu had been "dumbfounded" at the
terms and felt they could not even report them to Tokyo. "Why,"
he asked, "did the United States have to propose such hard terms as
these? Well, England, the Netherlands, and China doubtless put her
up to it."1

Interpretation: Hull's terms were unacceptable. America's ABCD
partners were thrusting America forward to force a showdown with
Japan.

In a later message Nomura said that the American government
was endeavoring to cast "the responsibility for the rupture of negotia­
tions" upon Japan, and implied that white the negotiations were still
technically in progress, Japan should not "deliberately enter into our
scheduled operations."s

Interpretation: Matters had passed out of the realm of diplomacy,
and, with military operations in the making, each country was now
endeavoring to fasten "war guilt" upon the other.
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NOVEMBER 27
Tokyo forwarded Washington a .. series of hidden word signals to

be used if other means of communication failed. 9

Interpretation: This step was obviously in anticipation of hostilities.
That night Kurusu used the telephone code established the pre­

vious day in a call to Yamamoto, who told him that although a crisis
seemed imminent, he was not to break off negotiations. The army,
Yamamoto said, "is champing at the bit."lO

Interpretation: The Japanese military had now taken over and were
impatient to start operations. Diplomacy henceforward would be use­
ful only to mask military intentions and moves.

In a code message that night, Nomura told of having gone with
Kurusu to see Roosevelt. The President told them that at the Atlantic
conference he and Prime Minister Churchill had agreed that "our re­
spective basic policies coincided."ll

Interpretation: Under the parallel action agreement, Japan would
be forced to fight both Britain and the United States.

Tokyo sent a message of the utmost importance to its emissaries
in Washington. Nomura and Kurusu were told,

NOVEMBER 28

Well, you two ambassadors have exerted superhuman efforts,
but, in spite of this, the United States has gone ahead and pre­
sented this humiliating proposal. This was unexpected and ex­
tremely regrettable. The imperial government can by no means
use it as a basis for negotiations. Therefore, with a report of the
views of the imperial government on this American proposal
which I will send you in two or three days, the negotiations will
be de facto ruptured. This is inevitable. However, I do not wish
you to give the impression that the negotiations are broken off.
Merely to say to them that you are awaiting instructions .
From now on do the best you can.12

Interpretation: This message, intercepted and decoded ten days
befor~ the Japanese handed in their reply to Hull coincident with the
Japanese attack on Pearl Harbor, showed that the Japanese govern­
ment had already rejected Hull's terms. The deadline after which
things were "automatically going to happen" had now passed. The
ambassadors were instructed to stall from then until the finish, which
would occur whenever that which was "automatically going to hap­
pen" did happen. The American government thus had a clear warn-
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ing to direct its forces to go on an all-out alert in preparation for cer­
tain war.

Tokyo then began to notify it~ diplomatic and consular representa­
tives in Hawaii, Indo-China, Argentina, and other countries that
Hull's counter-proposal "overlooks all we stand for; therefore, of
course, we disregard it," and that relations with the United States and
Britain would soon be broken off. The message to Honolulu stated
significantly: "Do not destroy the codes without regard to the actual
situation in your locality, but retain them as long as the situation
there permits and until the final stage is entered into."13

Interpretation: Whatever was "automatically going to happen" was
approaching a "final stage," in which Hawaii would have such an
important role that codes ,vere to be retained for transmission of last­
minute information until hostilities should present the danger that the
codes would be confiscated.

A message from Hsinking, Manchukuo, to Tokyo discussed in
detail the policy to be followed in dealing with British and American
nationals in the Japanese puppet state when war came. It was reported
that plans had been made to intern 81 American citizens and 339 Brit­
ish subjects until they could be exchanged, and that other "obnoxious
characters with pro-British and American leanings are to be suitably
taken care of."l~

Interpretation: War with the United States and Britain.

NOVEMBER 29
A message from Berlin to Tokyo related a conversation between

the Japanese ambassador and Von Ribbentrop, the Nazi foreign min­
ister, in which Ribbentrop drew a highly optimistic picture of the
course of the Nazi war with Russia and predicted eventual defeat of
Britain, whether Germany should be compelled to land its army in
England or not. Ribbentrop urged the Japanese to press for the "new
order" in the Far East and pledged, "Should Japan become engaged in
a war against the United States, Germany, of course, would join the
war immediately."15

Interpretation: Hitler urges Der Tag with deceptive estimates of
Germany's military situation. The three partners of the Axis would
all be at war with the United States' if Japan took the plunge.

NOVEMBER 30
In response, Tokyo advised its Berlin ambassador that the Wash­

ington conversations "now stand ruptured-broken." The ambassador
was directed to inform Hitler and Ribbentrop that
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lately England and the United States have taken a provoca­
tive attitude, both of them. Say that they are planning to move
military forces into various places in East Asia and that we will
inevitably have to counter by also moving troops. Say very se­
cretly to them that there is extreme danger that war may sud­
denly break out between the Anglo-Saxon nations and Japan
through some clash of arms and add that the time of the break­
ing out of this war may come quicker than anyone dreams.*16

Interpretation: Unmistakable. Negotiations were over. Military
movements would begin. War would come soon-"quicker than any
one dreams."

This reading is sustained by further remarks in a later message.
It was said that the Japanese government had decided to discontinue
negotiations with the United States because "a continuation of nego­
tiations would inevitably be detrimental to our case." The American
proposal of November 26 was termed "insulting" in that it attempted
to obtain a disavowal from Japan of its commitment to assist Germany
and Italy if the United States intervened in the European war. Amer­
ican consultation with England, Australia, the Netherlands, and China
during the course of the negotiations was cited as proof of "collusion,"
and it was said that all of these powers regarded Japan, as well as
Germany and Italy, as an enemy.17

In a telephone conversation the same day with American Division
Chief Yamamoto, Kurusu noted that until a few days before his gov­
ernment had been insistent that the negotiations be brought to a con­
clusion, but that "now you want to stretch them out." He said that
Tokyo could help him in this undertaking if Premier Tojo and For­
eign Minister Togo could be persuaded to adopt a more temperate
tone in their speeches.18

Interpretation: As made unmistakably clear in Tokyo's November
28 message to Nomura and Kurusu, the continuing conversations in
Washington were now playacting, intended to cover some movement
which would not take effect until after a further lapse of time. Hull,
on December 7, would complain of Japanese tr'eachery in attacking
"at the very moment when representatives of the Japanese government
were discussing with representatives of this government ... principles
and courses of peace." Roosevelt, in his message to Congress Decem­
ber 8, asking a declaration of war, would decry the Japanese attack

·"The President regarded this message as of such interest that he retained a copy
of it, contrary to the usual practice in handling the intercepted messages" (Min., pp.
21-22).
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as coming "when the United States was at peace with that nation
and ... still in conversation with its government and its emperor
looking toward the maintenance of peace in the Pacific." How could
either have been sincere in such statements? They knew that after
November 28 Japan continued the conversations only in an endeavor
to throw dust in the eyes of the American government.

DECEMBER 1
Tokyo again advised its Washington ambassadors of the necessity

of stalling. This message said:

The date set [November 28, Washington time] ... has
come and gone, and the situation continues to be increasingly
critical. However" to prevent the United States from becoming
unduly suspicious, we have been advising the press and others
that though there are some wide differences between Japan and
the United States, the negotiations are continuing.19

Interpretation: As above. The deadline was past. Japan's plan
had been set in motion. The stalling in Washington was to allay sus­
picion. Told this in so many words, Washington should have ordered
American forces everywhere to exercise the utmost vigilance. But
Washington manifested no suspicion, so far as its actions and orders
show.

Another message to Washington the same day said that when
faced with the necessity of destroying codes, the embassy should ob­
tain chemicals for that purpose which were on hand at the office of
the Japanese naval attache.20 Other messages that day directed Lon­
don, Ho"ng Kong, Singapore, and Manila to destroy their code ma­
chines and burn their codes.21 Still another message to Hsingking
said that "Manchuria will take the same steps toward England and
America that this country w~ll take in case war breaks out."22

Interpretation: War against Britain and the United States, and
quickly. Code and code machine destruction was the penultimate
step.

Nomura, reporting a conversation December 1 with Hull, said that
the Secretary had expressed objections to new Japanese army and navy
movements in Indo-China and said that as long as Japan acted in this
fashion "there is absolutely no way of bringing about a settlement."23

Interpretation: Hull, who should have known that the game was
up, was still talking as if peace could be saved if the Japanese reformed.

In response, Nomura said to Hull"

Peace between Japan and China could not be attained
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through any such terms as were contained in your most recent
proposal. We hear your argument to the effect that you cannot
stand by and do nothing while China dies. The converse of
that argument should be even stronger. That is, that it is of the
utmost importance for us to avoid standing by and watching
our own respective countries die, just because of the China
problem.24

Interpretation: Hull was directly informed that his November 26
terms could not be accepted.

DECEMBER 2
The Japanese embassy in Washington was ordered by Togo to de­

stroy one of its two code machines and to burn most of its codes.25

Similar instructions as to the destruction of codes and secret documents
were sent to consular and diplomatic officers in the American repub­
lics, Hawaii, and Canada.26

Interpretation: War now very close. Washington's retention of its
one remaining code machine was to receive the Japanese reply to the
American November 26 proposal, which obviously would coincide
with the beginning of hostilities.=If:

A supplementary "hidden word" code was sent to Singapore, Chile,
and Brazil the same day, so that information could be communicated
to Tokyo concerning the arrival of American military planes, the
identity of British and American merchantmen docked in port, and
similar data useful only for military purposes.27

Interpretation: Hostilities assumed within a short time.
Also on December 2, Canton advised Tokyo that

if hostilities are to begin, we here are all prepared. The army
has completed all preparations to move immediately on Thai.
Should the British resist to the bitter end, it is understood that
the army is prepared to go so far as to militarily occupy the
country.28

Interpretation: Plain. Jap forces in South China ready. Thailand
to be seized in defiance of Roosevelt's warning of August 17 that the
United States would be compelled to act in this event.

DECEMBEk 3
The Japanese ambassadors in Washington were advised that it

was "inappropriate" to renew the suggestion that a meeting take place

·"It is well known in diplomatic and military circles that destruction of codes, code
machines, and secret documents is usually the last step before breaking off relations
between governments. War does not necessarily have to follow, but it may follow either
simultaneously or close on the heels of the destruction of codes" (Min., p. 60).
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between the President and the Japanese premier. They wereinstructed
to stand on the Japanese proposals for a settlement tendered Novem­
ber 20.29

Interpretation: Tokyo no longer interested in diplomatic solutions.
The ambassadors informed Tokyo in response that "we feel that

some joint military action between Great Britain and the United
States" with or without a declaration of war, is a definite certainty in
the event of an occupation of Thailand."30 Nomura strengthened this
by stating, "There is no saying but what the United States government
will take a bold step, depending upon how our reply is made."3l

Interpretation: Nomura and Kurusu in a last admonition that the
steps apparently contemplated by Tokyo would bring American
counter-action.

A message from the Japanese ambassador in Rome depicted Mus­
solini on December 3 as pledging support to Japan under the tripartite
pact when war came and saying he was not surprised that the Wash­
ington negotiations had failed.32

Interpretation: The negotiations having failed, the United States
would find itself at war with all three members of the Axis.

Another message to Tokyo from Peking on December 3 referred
to the "coming war" on two occasions and, on another, to the "next
war," and stressed the necessity of attracting the native' peoples of
Southeast Asia to the Japanese cause "against the United States and
Britain."33

Interpretation: A war of races to be proclaimed against the United
States and Britain, with Japan offering leadership to all Asiatics.

DECEMBER 4
The Washington embassy was given additional instructions on

burning codes.34 The same day Tokyo sent a code message to diplo­
matic posts in China that "when Japan enters a war, ... Manchukuo
shall treat Great Britain, the United States, and Netherlands Indies
as enemy countries." It was directed, however, that in view of the
existence of a neutrality treaty between Japan and Russia, Russian>
citizens were to be excepted and that Manchukuo was to "take every
precaution so as not to provoke Soviet Russia."35 Another message
the same day to Japanese representatives in China and Manchukuo
referred to attitudes to be adopted toward the Dutch government
when war should ensue.36 Still the same day a third message to
Hsingking again designated England, the United States, and the
Netherlands as enemies in the impending war.31 Meanwhile, the
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evacuation of staff members of the Japanese embassies in London
and Washington was discussed in other messages.38

Interpretation: War against the United States, Britain, and Hol­
land, but peace with Russia.

DECEMBER 5
The Washington embassy reported to Tokyo: "We have com­

pleted destruction of codes, but since the U.S.-Japanese negotiations
are still continuing, I request your approval of our desire to delay for
a while yet the destruction of the one code machine."39 (This was
approved the following day.)40

Interpretation: War to be measured in hours from this date.
Peking, in a message to Tokyo,. said that "concurrent with opening

war with Britain and America, we have considered Holland as a semi­
belligerent"; and" "In case war breaks out with Holland, we will take
the same steps toward that country that we have taken with Britain
and America."41 The same day Peking discussed with Shanghai the
question of obtaining a neutral third power as custodian of the in­
terests of Britain, America, and Holland in North China when war
broke out.42 The Navy later contended that it did not translate these
messages until four days after the Pearl Harbor attack.

Interpretation: War against the United States, Britain, and Holland
a certainty.

'DECEMBER 6
Tokyo advised the ambassadors in Washington that it had drafted

a very long reply to Secretary Hull's proposal of November 26 which
would be transmitted in fourteen parts. The ambassadors were di­
rected to withhold the reply from the American government pending
arrival of a separate message setting the time it was to be presented.43

Capt. Laurance F. Safford, naval communications intelligence chief,
said that Tokyo had advised its Washington emissaries between 11:00
and 12 :00 A.M. on December 6 that its final reply was on the way.
This "pilot" message, he said, was translated by the Navy Department
before 11 :50 A.M. The first thirteen parts of the final message started
coming in shortly after noon and were translated and ready for de­
livery by 9:00 P.M. Safford said he regarded the first thirteen parts as
"highly important" because of the abusive language that was em­
ployed.44

Interpretation: Under the Axis pattern, first set by Japan in the
Russo-Japanese war, the end of diplomatic relations would coincide
with the inauguration of a state of hostilities. Remember Port Arthur!



THE WRITING ON THE WALL 195

In another message December 6 Tokyo transmitted word to its
Berlin ambassador that Japan did not contemplate hostilities with
Russia, that it would not stop shipments of American lend-lease ma­
terial to Russia if carried in Soviet merchantmen, but that "in case
we start our war with the United States we will capture all American
ships destined for Soviet Russia."45 The Army says that this message
was not translated until December 8.

Another dispatch directed Japanese authorities in Canton to ad­
vise the British and American consuls that the imperial army would
assume control of public property of "hostile nations," consulates, and
buildings!6 The Army says that it did not translate this message
until December 9.

Another message on the 6th, from Tokyo to Bankok, was of an
importance which can scarcely be exaggerated. The Army" however,
says that it was not translated until December 8. As submitted to the
congressional committee, the message was in the following form:

The ( ) a day (X Day) decided by the b liaison
conference on the 6th (?)C is the 8th and the day on which the
notice is to be given is the 7th (?) (Sunday). As soon as you
have received this message, please reply to that effect.

The Navy listed "translator's assumptions" as follows:

a "Proclamation" or "declaration."
b "Ambassadorial" or "China."

, c This worg is garbled and could be either the word "6th"
or the word "November."47

The tentative translations given tended to obscure the meaning of
the message. Here, if it had been admittedly recognized and decoded
in time, was the Japanese statement that the opening of hostilities de­
creed on November 6 by Adm. Yamamoto, commander of the com­
bined imperial fleets, would be December 8, Japan time (December
7, Hawaii time), and the day on which the Japanese reply to Hull's
November 26 proposals would be submitted was Sunday, December
7, Washington time" the two dates coinciding.·

Many of the messages of the preceding ten days individually served
notice upon the American officials who were reading them that war
was distant only a few days at most, and all of them. together could
be read in no other light. The first thirteen parts of the Japanese final
reply to Hull were couched in such language as to demonstrate that
the hour when Japan would resort to arms was at hand. •

·Cf. pp. 19, 21.
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DECEMBER 7
About 5:00 A.M. on December 7 the fourteenth and final part of the

Japanese message breaking off relations with the United States and
heralding the advent of war was intercepted. It was decoded and
available for distribution to all of the leaders of the government and
of the Army and Navy top command by 9:00 A.~I.48 The language
was clearly menacing:

Obviously it is the intention of the American government to
conspire with Great Britain and other countries to obstruct
Japan's efforts toward the establishment of peace through the'
creation of a new order in East Asia, and especially to preserve
Anglo-American rights and interests by keeping Japan and
China at war. This intention has been revealed clearly during
the course of the present negotiations. Thus, the earnest hope
of the Japanese government to adjust Japanese-American rela­
tions and to preserve and promote the peace of the Pacific
through co-operation with the American government has finally
been lost.

The Japanese government regrets to have to notify hereby
the American government that in view of the attitude of the
American government it cannot but consider that it is impos­
sible to reach an agreement through further negotiations.49

f nterpretation: The "peace of the Pacific" having "finally been
lost," no other alternative except war was possible. It would be war
at once.

Of such extreme importance did Tokyo consider its final reply to
the American government that just as soon as it had finished sending,
the Japanese Foreign Office instructed Nomura not to use a typist or
any other person in copying out the note for submission to Hull. "Be
most extremely cautious in preserving secrecy," the ambassador was
admonished.50

Interpretation: This warning was unique and testified to the im­
portance attached to the fourteen-part response by the Japanese gov­
ernment. In no other instance were such cautionary instructions dis­
patched to Washington.

Then, between 9:00 and 9:30 A.M., the key Tokyo message disclos­
ing Japan's intentions to attack the United States at 1:00 P.M., Wash­
ington time, that day, was intercepted and translated.51 Thus, at least
three hours and fifty-five minutes before the attack on Pearl Harbor,
the time for the outbreak of the war was in the hands of the Ameri­
can government. It was fixed in a message to Nomura, stating, "Will
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the ambassador please submit to the United States government (if
possible, to the Secretary of State) our reply to the United States at
1:00 P.M. on the 7th, you time."52

Interpretation: The Japanese attack would come at that hour­
dark night over East Asia, 2:00 A.M. at Manila, but 7:30 A.M., one
hour and four minutes after sunrise, at Hawaii. It is a military axiom
that sunrise is the most favorable hour for surprise air attack. There­
fore, the attack would be on Hawaii, and no place else.
. Two subsequent messages expressed thanks to Nomura and Ku­

rusu and the members of the embassy staff for the efforts they had
made during the negotiations, and regret that "matters have come to
what they arenow"-the situation being referred to as an "unprece­
dented crisis."53 The embassy was then instructed to destroy its re­
maining cipher machine, all machine codes, and all secret docu­
ments.5

'

Interpretation: Everything was now over and done with. All
that remained was the Jap attack that would open the war.

Subsequent messages to representatives in Japanese and Japanese
occupied territory directed how "enemy subjects" and "enemy prop­
erty" were to be handled.55

Interpretation: U.S., British, and Dutch nationals now enemy
aliens.

Washington shortly reported back to Tokyo that it had embarked
on the destruction of its codes and, upt>n the dispatch of this final
message, would begin the demolition and destruction by fire of its
last code machine and remaining ciphers.56

Interpretation: No further diplomatic business to transact. H-hour,
D-day, now at hand.

This completes the record of significant intercepts. The process
and products of decoding were known as "Magic." Certainly, no
magic ':!se was made of them. With a full insight into Japanese in­
tentions-fuller, as will be seen, than the evidence already spread
upon the record would indicate-the men in Washington permitted
the blow to fall at Oahu.



Chapter Fourteen

EAST WIND RAIN

THE JAPANESE government had arranged on November 19 that if a
secret decision should be made to go to war with the United States,
its diplomatic corps throughout the world would be notified by in­
sertion of the false weather report, "east wind rain," in the middle
of the daily Japanese language short-wave news broadcast. If Japan
was to make war on Britain, including Thailand, Malaya, and the
Netherlands East Indies, the signal "west wind clear" would be broad­
cast; while if Russia were to be subjected to attack the signal would
be "north wind cloudy."l

For four years the Roosevelt administration suppressed public
knowledge that any Japanese secret messages had been intercepted
and decoded. When that news finally leaked out, after the death of
Roosevelt, the administration exerted every effort to prove that, no
matter what other enemy messages had been intercepted, the "winds"
message had no existence.

When fifty-two suppressed pages of the Army Pearl Harbor Board
report were finally made public December 11, 1945, after the congres­
sional investigation had been in progress twenty-one days, it was
found that the board had stated,

The "winds" message was one that was to be inserted in the
Japanese news and weather broadcasts and repeated with a defi­
nite pattern of words, so as to indicate that war would take
place either with Great Britain, Russia, or the United States,
or all three.

Such information was picked up by a monitoring station.
This information was received and translated on December 3,
1941, and the contents distributed to the same high authority
(White House, Army and Navy high commands).

198
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The Navy received during the evening of December 3, 1941,
this message, which when translated said, "War with the United
States, war with Britain, including N.E.I., except peace with

Russia."
This "winds execute" has now disappeared from the Navy

files and cannot be found despite extensive search for it. It was
last seen by Comdr. [Laurance F.] Safford when he collected
the papers together with. Comdr. [Alwin D.] Kramer and
turned them over to the director of naval communications for
use as evidence before the Roberts-Commission.

There, therefore, can be no question that between the dates
of December 4 and 6, the imminence of war on the following
Saturday and Sunday, December 6 and 7, was clear-cut and

definite.

Again referring to the disappearance of the "winds" message, the
Army Board said,

This original message has now disappeared from the Navy
files and cannot be found. It was in existence just after Pearl
Harbor and was collected with other messages for submission
to the Roberts Commission. Copies were in existence in various
places but they have all disappeared.

The board further stated,

The radio station logs, showing the reception of the message,
have been destroyed within the last year. Capt. Safford testified
that this message, and everything else they got from November
12 on, was sent to the White House by the Navy. It was a
circulated copy that circulated to the White House and to the
admirals of the Navy.

It was this message which the Army witnesses testified was
never received by the Army. It was a clear indication to the
United States as early as December 4. The vital nature of this
message can be realized.2

President Truman, Secretary of War Stimson, and Secretary of
the Navy Forrestal, before releasing the suppressed comments on the
"winds" signal, busied themselves trying to discredit the existence of
this message and endeavoring to prevail upon witnesses who had
previously testified to having seen it or handled it to change their
stories. Stimson, after receiving the Army Board report and suppress­
ing it in October, 1944, undertook three personal investigations to
achieve this purpose.

He first commissioned Maj. Gen. Myron C. Cramer to prepare a
precis of the 'most damaging evidence against himself and the Roose-



200 PEARL HARBOR

velt administration. He then directed Maj. Henry C. Clausen, a
lawyer in civil life, to make a trip around the world, seeking out
witnesses, even if he had to approach them in the middle of battle.
Guided by Cramer's outline, Clausen would then "refresh" their
memory and submit affidavits for them to sign, altering their previ­
ous testimony on relevant points. No small part of the beclouding of
the Pearl Harbor record is to be attributed to this mission.3

Clausen, later promoted to lieutenant colonel, said he was directed
by Stimson to make his inquiry because of discrepancies in evidence
before the Army Board and because the board had not taken testi­
mony from most witnesses on code intercepts.4 Chief of Staff Mar­
shall, commenting on the irregularity of Clausen's activities, said he
had never known any other instance of a junior officer investigating
actions or statements of superior officers.

Senator Ferguson asked Marshall, "Do you know of any other case
where an investigation was taken away from a board of general offi­
cers and given to a major?"

"I don't recall a similar situation," Marshall said.
"Is it a custom in the War Department to have officers of equal

rank investigate other officers?"
"In the case of general officers, yes."5
The Clausen investigation, Marshall said, was controlled by the

"civilian side" of the War Department6-that is, by Stimson. Senator
Ferguson charged that Clausen drafted affidavits which set forth what
he and Stimson wanted witnesses to say, and then submitted them
for signature. One statement obtained from Gen. MacArthur while
he was preparing for the Leyte campaign misspelled the general's
name, an error which MacArthur himself could not have committed
if he had written the affidavit or even read it over carefully.7

Clausen's principal achievements were to change previous testi­
mony before the Army Board concerning delivery of the first thirteen
parts of the final Jap reply to high officers of the Army on the night
of December 6, and to obscure the previously established fact that a
"winds" message had been intercepted several days before the attack.

On the strength of Clausen's report, Stimson, in a statement ap­
pended to the Army Board report when he finally released it, was
able to state that a witness, Col. R. S. Bratton, "corrected his testi­
mony" of having delivered the Japanese thirteen-part message to
three of Marshall's principal aides on the night of December 6.8

Clausen also induced Col. Otis E. Sadtler, who had previously
testified that a "winds" message had been received, to recant this
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statement. Two other officers who were persuaded by Clausen to deny
the existence of the "winds" message were Col. Harold Doud, in
charge of the code and cipher section of the Army Signal Corps intel­
ligence service, and Col. Rex W. Minckler, who was in charge of the
signal intelligence service.9 N either of these officers was called as a
witness before the Congressional Investigating Committee. The Clau­
sen report disputed the findings of the Army Board on other cardinal
points in addition to the "winds" message.

Gen. Cramer, in addition to briefing Clausen, made two other
reports to Stimson on Pearl Harbor.lo His principal authority in
disputing the existence of the "winds" signal was Clausen-the tool
of Stimson and himself. On the basis of the affidavits gathered by
Clausen, Cramer came to the conclusion that the evidence failed to
show that this message was "ever received by the War Department."ll
This finding dodged the issue, because all witnesses who had testified
to the existence of the "winds" message were in agreement that it had
been intercepted by a Navy monitoring station, translated by Navy
communications intelligence, and distributed by the same naval
agency. So, to deny that it was "ever received by the War Depart­
ment" merely established a point which was disputed by no one.

A third independent Army investigation was undertaken in be­
half of Gen. Marshall by Col. Carter W. Clarke, subsequently pro­
moted to brigadier general. Not until November, 1945, when Mai.
Gen. Sherman Miles informed the Congressional Investigating Com­
mittee of Clarke's activities, was it known that there ever had been
such an inquiry.12 Gerhard Gesell, associate counsel for the com­
mittee, then said that the Clarke report was in his hands, but that it
contained "Top Secret" information which the Army did not want
to get out.lS

It was disclosed that during the 1944 Presidential campaign Clarke
had carried two secret letters from Gen. Marshall to Gov. Thomas E.
Dewey. Marshall had got wind of the fact that the Republican candi­
date knew that American intelligence had cracked the Japanese code
before the Pearl Harbor attack, and the general's letters appealed to
Dewey to make no use of this information during the campaign, on
the ground that the Japs would then be given knowledge that we
were in possession of their code secrets. Dewey refused to receive the
first letter, but did read the second. Throughout the campaign he
made no mention that the enemy code had been cracked and never
referred to the Pearl Harbor scandal.14

Although Marshall twice stated in the letter which Dewey did
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read that he was making his appeal without the knowledge of the
President or Secretary of War Stimson, he could not have been un­
mindful that Pearl Harbor would have been a damaging issue against
the Roosevelt administration, especially if Dewey had disclosed that
no adequate warning had been sent the Hawaiian commanders de­
spite the wealth of cryptographic information pointing to war which
the Roosevelt circle possessed during the weeks before the attack.

Marshall's case for keeping secret the fact that the United States
had cracked the enemy code was seriously weakened when Adm.
Wilkinson asserted that the Germans knew as early as May, 1941,
that the United States was breaking Japan's code and had so warned
the Japanese.15 William D. Mitchell, committee counsel, then produced
eight Jap code messages of April and May, 1941, in which the Japa­
nese discussed their suspicions that their secret material was being
intercepted.16 If the enemy had this information three years before
the 1944 campaign, it is difficult to see what purpose except a political
one could have been served by persuading Dewey not to raise the
Pearl Harbor issue.

Upon receipt of the report of the Navy Court of Inquiry into the
Pearl Harbor disaster, Secretary Forrestal initiated a private investi­
gation. This inquiry was intrusted to Adm. H. K. Hewitt,t7 but
again a junior officer, Lieut. Comdr. John Sonnett, actually ran the
investigation.1s Sonnett for years after his graduation from law school
had held New Deal jobs. He was first appointed executive assistant
to the United States attorney for the southern district of New York,
but in the fall of 1943, apparently for special service in connection
with the Pearl Harbor investigation, he went to the Navy Department
on loan from Attorney General Francis Biddle to serve as special
counsel to Secretary Forrestal. On January 15, 1944, when it appeared
that Congress would demand a further Pearl Harbor investigation,
he resigned from the Department of Justice and, at the age of 32, was
commissioned a lieutenant commander. He held his commission for
only about a year, during which he performed the same duties for
Forrestal that Clausen performed for Stimson. His job completed,
he was released to inactive duty early in 1945. He continued to serve
in the Navy Department as a civilian until September of that year,
and the following month was rewarded with appointment as an assis­
tant attorney general.19

The key witness on the "winds" message, Capt. Safford, received
special attention from Sonnett and Hewitt, but steadfastly stuck to
his story that the "winds" signal had been intercepted, that he had
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handled it, and that he had seen that it reached his superiors. Safford
charged before the congressional committee that Sonnett had acted
as "counsel for the defense" for the late Secretary Knox and Adm.
Stark, rather than as a legal assistant to Adm. Hewitt, the investigat­
ing officer.20 Safford said,

His purpose seemed to be to refute testimony before earlier
investigations that was unfavorable to anyone in Washington,
to beguile "hostile" witnesses into changing their stories, and
to introduce an element of doubt where he could not effect a
reversal of testimony. Above all, he attempted to make me re­
verse my testimony regarding the "winds" message and to make
me believe I was suffering from hallucinations.21

Safford said the first attempt by Sonnett to make him change his
story occurred on May 11, 1945, ten days before he was to testify at a
special investigation conducted by Adm. Hewitt. Sonnett, failing on
this occasion, tried again on May 18, and a third time a day or two
later. Safford said that Sonnett tried hard to persuade him there was
no "winds"· message and that the captain's mind had been "playing
him tricks." Sonnett suggested, Safford said, that he change his testi­
mony to reconcile discrepancies.

"I distinctly recall," Safford stated, "Sonnett making the following
statement to me: 'You are the only one who seems to have even
seen the "winds execute" message. How could the "winds execute"
message be heard on the East Coast of the United States and not at
any other places nearer Japan? It is very doubtful that there ever
was a "winds" message.'"

Sonnett, according to Safford, then said" "It is no reflection on
your veracity to change your testimony. It is no reflection on your
mentality to have your memory play you tricks after such a long
period. Numerous witnesses that you have named have denied all
knowledge of a 'winds execute' message. You do not have to carry
a torch for Adm. Kimmel."

Adm. Hewitt sat by while his junior assistant was delivering this
harangue. Later, after completing his testimony before Hewitt, Saf­
ford said he asked Hewitt off the record if there was still any doubt
in the admiral's mind that the "winds" message had been sent by
Japan and disseminated in the War and Navy departments.

"The admiral looked startled," Safford said. "Before he could
reply, Sonnett broke in, saying: 'Of course, I am not conducting the
case, and I do not know what Adm. Hewitt has decided, but to me
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It IS very doubtful that the so-called "winds execute" message was
ever sent.' "

Safford then quoted Hewitt as saying to him, "You are not en­
titled to my opinion, but I will answer your question. There is no
evidence of a 'winds execute' message beyond your unsupported
testimony. I do not doubt your sincerity, but I believe you have con­
fused one of the other messages containing the name of a wind with
the message you were expecting to receive."

"For my part," said Safford, "I do not doubt Adm. Hewitt's in­
tegrity, but I do believe that Sonnett has succeeded in pulling the
wool over his eyes. I also believe that Sonnett employed similar tactics
on other witnesses whose testimony had favored Adm. Kimmel."22

Despite all this pressure upon him, Safford, when he was called
as a witness before the congressional committee on February 1, 1946,
opened his statement with the flat assertion: "There was a 'winds'
message. It meant war-and we knew it meant war."23

Safford said that the "winds" message was part of a Japanese over­
seas news broadcast from station J-A-P in Tokyo on Thursday, De­
cember 4, 1941, at 8:30 A.M., Washington time. It was intercepted, he
said, by the big Navy radio receiving station at Cheltenham, Mary­
land. It was recorded on the special typewriter developed by the
Navy which types Roman letters equivalent to Japanese characters.
The "winds" message was forwarded to the Navy Department by
teletype transmitter from the intercept receiving-room at Cheltenham
to the page printer in the Navy Department communication intelli­
gence unit under Safford's command.

"I saw the 'winds' message typed in page form on yellow teletype
paper," Safford said, "with the translation written below it. I immedi­
ately forwarded this message to my commanding officer, Rear Adm.
Leigh Noyes [chief of naval communications], thus fully discharg­
ing my responsibility in the matter."

Safford said that when Tokyo first informed its representatives
overseas of the "winds" code, Adm. Wilkinson immediately sent word
to him that the communication intelligence organization should make
every effort to intercept any message sent in accordance with the
"winds" code. Safford said that the November 29 deadline fixed by
Tokyo indicated that the "winds" code might be used to notify over­
seas officials concerning "things which would automatically begin to
happen," and that the previous messages setting up the code to give
notification of war with the United States, Britain, or Russia indi­
cated to him what would happen.
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He then gave a technical description of the means used to prepare
for interception, and his reasons for believing that the best chance of
picking up the message was presented by the stations at Cheltenham
and Bainbridge" Maryland.

On December 1 Safford was shown a Tokyo circular advising that
,London, Hong Kong, Singapore, and Manila had been ordered to
destroy their code machines, but instructing Washington to retain its
machine regardless of other instructions.

"The significance of the 'winds' message now became very clear
to me," Safford said, "and I began to take the matter most seriously.
So did Col. Sadtler, over in the War Department. The only means
by which Tokyo could announce its decisions of peace or war to its
overseas diplomatic representatives who had destroyed their regular
codes was by means of the emergency 'winds' code. This applied to
London and the Far East, but not to Washington."

Safford said that although the original Japanese notification estab­
lishing the "winds" code had indicated that this signal would be
given on a voice broadcast, "there is no basis for assuming that the
'winds' message had to be sent" in that form. The Japanese govern­
ment, he said, was sending out general information broadcasts as
well as Domei news reports to its diplomatic and consular officials in
foreign lands. This was done partly to give speedier service, partly
to permit Japanese use of the Morse code and the Kata-Kana form
of written Japanese, and partly to be independent of foreign com­
munication systems in emergency. Each office had its own Japanese
radio operator and its own short-wave receiving set. This was com-­
mon practice, for the American government was doing the same thing
itself, with a Navy radio operator serving at each post, and the Ger­
mans were following a similar method, except that they were using
machine reception.

"We expected that the 'winds' message would be sent in Morse
code-and it was," Safford said. "If the 'winds' message had been
sent on a voice broadcast, the U. S. Navy would have missed it, un­
less it came on a schedule receivable at Pearl Harbor or Corregidor."
This, he explained, was because of conditions of reception.

Safford said that the "winds" message as finally broadcast on the
so-called European schedule of Tokyo's big broadcasting station J-A-P
was intended for London. "We know," Safford explained, "that the
Japanese ambassador in London had destroyed his secret codes three
days previously: this was the only way that Tokyo could get news
to him secretly. Reception or nonreception at other points was irrele-
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vant. Tokyo knew full well, before the 'winds' message was sent,
that it probably would not be received in Washington or in Rio. That
was immaterial-the 'winds' message was intended for London."

Safford said that he saw the "winds" message a little after 8:00 A.M.

on December 4. It was about two hundred words long, with the
code words previously prescribed by Tokyo appearing in the middle
of the message, as Tokyo in its instructions of November 19 had said
would be the position of the signal. All three code phrases were used,
but the expression "north wind cloudy," which would have been the
signal for war with Russia, was in the negative form. Safford reported:

When I first saw the "winds" message it had already been
translated by Lieut. Comdr. Kramer, in charge of the transla­
tion section of the Navy Department communication intelli­
gence unit. Kramer had underscored all three code phrases on
the original incoming teletype sheet. Below the printed mes­
sage was written in pencil or colored crayon in Kramer's hand­
writing, the following f~ee translations:

"War with England (including N.E.!., etc.).
"War with the U. S.
"Peace with Russia."

I am not sure of the order; but it was the same as in the broad­
cast and I think England appeared first. I think Kramer used
"u. S." rather than "United States." It is possible that the
words "No war," instead of "Peace," were used to describe
Japan's intentions with regard to Russia.

"This is it!" said Kramer, as he handed me the "winds"
message. This was the broadcast we had strained every nerve
to intercept. This was the feather in our cap. This was the tip­
off which would prevent the u.S. Pacific fleet being surprised at
Pearl Harbor the way the Russians had been surprised at Port
Arthur. This was what the Navy communication intelligence
had been preparing for since its establishment in 1924-war with

Japan!
I immediately sent the original of the "winds" message up

to the director of naval communications (Rear Adm. Noyes) by
one of the officers serving under me and told him to deliver this
paper to Adm. Noyes in person, to track him down and not
take "no" for an answer, and if he could not find him in a rea­
sonable time to let me know. I did not explain the nature or sig­
nificance of the "winds" message to this officer. In a few minutes
I received a report to the effect that the message had been de-

livered.
It is my recollection that Kramer and I knew at the time that
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Adm. Noyes had telephoned the substance of the "winds" mes­
sage to the War Department, to the "Magic" distribution li~ in
the Navy Department, and to the naval aide to the President.
For that reason, no immediate distribution of the smooth trans­
lation of the "winds" message was made in the Navy Depart­
ment. The six or seven copies for the Army were rushed over to
the War Department as rapidly as possible: here the Navy's
responsibility ended. The individual smooth translations for
authorized Navy Department officials and the White House
were distributed at noon on December 4, 1941, in accordance
with standard operating procedure. I have no reason for believ­
ing that the Army failed to make a prompt distribution of its
translations of the "winds" message.

I am thoroughly satisfied in my own mind that Adm. Noyes
telephoned to everyone on his list without delay: I cannot bring
myself to imagine otherwise. There is some question as to
whether the admiral was understqod, but this only shows the
unreliability of telephone messages. Any misunderstanding of
what Adm. Noyes said was of negligible effect, because written
translations of the "winds'" message were distributed within two
or three hours of his telephone calls. In fact, it was not until
1944 that any suggestion or criticism was offered that any official
on the "Magic" distribution list-Navy, Army, State Depart­
ment, or White House-had not been notified that the "winds"
message had been received or that the "winds" message had
been translated in any terms other than war and peace.

My final verification of the fact that the "winds" message
translation was typed and distributed lies in the fact that about
December 15, 1941, I saw a copy of it in the special folder of
messages which were being assembled for Adm. Noyes to pre­
sent to the Roberts Commission. I checked these over with
Kramer for completeness as well as for the elimination of irrel­
evant material. Kramer told me in 1944 that he had shown
Assistant Secretary Forrestal a special set of pre-Pearl Harbor
messages about December 10, 1941, when Secretary Knox was
making his personal investigation at Pearl Harbor, and that
he discussed those messages with Mr. Forrestal for about two
hours. This set of messages was apparently the basis and possibly
the identical file that was given Adm. Noyes and shown to the
Roberts Commission via Adm. Wilkinson. This was the last
time I saw the "winds" message. I believe that the translation
of the "winds" message was given the JD-l serial number of
7001, because this number is missing and unaccounted for, and
comes within the range of messages translated on December 3
and 4, 1941.
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The distribution of the "winds" message was the respon­
sibilty of naval intelligence and not naval communications. I
had no responsibility in the matter after forwarding the original
message to Adm. Noyes and after checking Kramer's folder to
see that the messages were presented in a logical and under­
standable order.

The action taken immediately by Adm. Noyes after the "winds"
message was sent to him by Safford indicated that he had received
the message and understood its import. His first response was to call
Safford and say that directions ought to be sent to Guam to burn ex­
cess codes and ciphers. As a result of the "winds" message and this
conversatio~, Safford prepared five dispatches to be sent to naval sta­
tions and bases in the Pacific, clearing four of them with Capte Joseph
R. Redman, Noyes's assistant. One of these instructed Guam and
Samoa to destroy at once their existing ciphers and made a new
cipher effective. This message was released by Adm. Noyes himself.

Noyes toned down another of the dispatches which Safford had
prepared, instructing Guam to destroy excess cryptographic aids and
other secret matter. Safford said his intention was to insure that
Guam "stripped ship" before a Japanese commando raid from Saipan,
100 miles away, would result in the capture of a complete set of codes
and ciphers.

These two messages, Safford said, helped establish the date the
"winds" message was intercepted, as well as the time and date that

· a warning message was prepared by Capt. A. H. McCollum. McCol­
lum's message, submitted for dispatch to Adm. Kimmel and other
commanders in the Pacific, cited the "winds" message as proof that
war was imminent, Safford said. Before the congressional committee
four years later, McCollum admitted drafting a warning December
4, but said that he made no reference to the "winds" signal because
he had not seen it. The warning which he prepared was killed by
Adm. Wilkinson and Adm. Turner-according to McCollum, on the
supposition that Kimmel already had been sufficiently warned.24

The Navy translations given the congressional committee of the
two Japanese messages notifying diplomatic agents on November 19
of the establishment of the "winds" code translated the code signals
as meaning "danger of cutting off our diplomatic relations" with the
United States, Britain, or Russia, with the alternative rendering, "Our
diplomatic relations are becoming dangerous" with these countries.
Safford said that a dispatch from Adm. Hart dispelled any doubt as
to whether a stronger translation, meaning war, was not warranted.
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Hart's message contained the official British translation, furnished by
Singapore, reading, "NISHI NISHI ENGLAND INCLUDING OCCUPATION OF

THAI OR INVASION OF MALAY AND N.E.I."

"That means war, no matter how worded," Safford said. "No one
disputed this British translation in November-December" 1941; in fact,
our own translation was considered consistent with it."

Two confirmations of the British rendering came from the Nether­
lands East Indies government translations of the Jap messages of No­
vember 19 establishing the "winds" code for use in future to give
notification of war. Col. Thorpe, senior Army intelligence officer in
Java, sent a dispatch on December 3 to Gen. Miles, chief of G-2. The
dispatch advised:

Japan will notify her consuls of war decision in her foreign
broadcasts as weather report at end.

East wind rain, United States.
North wind cloudy, Russia.
West wind clear, England, with attack on Thailand, Malay,

and Dutch East Indies.

The second confirmatory dispatch that the "winds" message was
to be read as meaning war was sent on December 4, Java time (De­
cember 3, Washington time), by Consul General Foote, senior Amer­
ican diplomatic representative in the Netherlands East Indies. This
dispatch read:

When crisis leading to worst arises, following will be broad-
cast at end weather reports:

1. East wind rain" war with United States.
2. North wind cloudy, war with Russia.
3. West wind clear, war with Britain, including attack on

Thailand or Malaya and Dutch East Indies.

Referring to the alternative Jap "winds" signal, Foote reported:

When threat of crisis exists, following will be used five times
in texts of general reports and radio broadcasts:

1. Higashi east, America.
2. Kita north, Russia.
3. Nishi west, Britain, with advance into Thailand and at­

tack on Malaya and Dutch Indies.

Safford said:

My own evaluation of the foregoing, on December 4, 1941,
was about as follows:

(A) The basic Japanese war plan was divided into three
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categories or provided for three contingencies, any or all of which
might be followed, namely:

(1) War with the United States.
(2) War with Russia.
(3) War with England, including the invasion of Thailand

and the capture of Malaya and the Dutch East Indies.
(B) The "winds" message gave us the answer in all three

cases: Affirmative for the first and third categories, and negative
for the second.

(C) The "winds" message was probably a "signal of ex­
ecute" of some sort.

The "signal of execute" theory received strong confirmation
from a secret message received from the Philippines in the early
afternoon of December 4, 1941. This message informed us that
the Japanese navy had introduced a new cipher system for its
so-called "Operations Code" at 0600 GCT that date. This time
was seven and a half hours before the "winds" message was
broadcast. I might add that there was only one J-A-P European
broadcast per day, so the times coincided as closely as possible.
I would like to add also that my subordinates on Corregidor
spotted and reported this change only nine hours after it was
made.... The unusual hour and unusual date at which the Jap­
anese navy changed its "Operations Code," combined with the
"winds" message and other collateral information available in
the Navy Department, made this message highly significant as
the probable "signal of execute" to the Japanese navy.

The analysis leaves those who denied that the "winds" signal was
ever broadcast with these facts to explain away: First, if that signal,
meaning war, was not transmitted on December 4, why should both
the Japanese navy and the American Navy have changed their codes
on that day? Second, why should the American Navy Department
have radioed instructions to isolated Pacific posts and garrisons to de­
stroy excess codes and ciphers for fear that they might be captured di­
rectly by Japan? Third, why should the Navy's expert on Far Eastern
intelligence have been so gravely disturbed on December 4 that he im­
mediately prepared an outright war warning for transmission to the
Pacific fleet commanders? It is impossible to believe that critical action
i~ so many different directions would have been taken without mo­
tivation. The "winds" signal provides the motivation.

After receipt of the "winds" message, Capt. Safford stated, only
one unknown factor remained. That was the day on which the Jap­
anese would attack. Safford said that the Army and Navy had esti­
mated as far back as April, 1941, that any attack would come on a
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week-end or national holiday.25 The War Department, he said, over­
emphasized the imminence of war as forecast by Japan's message fix­
ing a deadline of November 29, after which things were "automatically
going to happen," and predicted that the Japanese would strike during
the week-end of November 29-30. The Navy Department, he said,
estimated the situation more accurately. The Japanese armada which
had been concentrating for an invasion of Thailand and Malaya was
too far from any conceivable objective to reach it by the week-end of
the 29th-30th, while Japanese covering naval forces were not yet de­
ployed. Safford said:

The next week-end, December 6-7, 1941, was just the reverse.
The "winds" message and the change of the [Japanese] naval
operations code came in the middle of the week: two days to
Saturday and three days to Sunday. It was unthinkable that the
Japanese would surrender their hopes of surprise by delaying
until the week-end of December 13-14. This was not crystal gaz­
ing or "intuition"-it was just the plain, common sense accep­
tance of a self-evident proposition. Col. Sadder saw it, and so
did Capt. Joseph R. Redman, USN, according to Col. Sadtler's
testimony in 1944 before the Army Board of Investigation. The
Japanese were going to start the war on Saturday, December
6, 1941, or Sunday, December 7, 1941. The War and Navy de­
partments had been given 72 hours' advance notification of the
attack on Pearl Harbor by the Japanese themselves.26



Chapter Fifteen

"IMPRISON'D IN THE VIEWLESS
WINDS"

THE CHIEF corroborating witness as to the existence of the "winds"
message was, until the congressional investigation, Lieut. Comdr.
(later Capt.) Alwin D. Kramer, senior language officer for Navy com­
munication intelligence. Excerpts from Kramer's testimony before
the Navy Pearl Harbor Board, which were not made public until
February 5, 1946, showed that he had testified before the board in
1944 that he saw a plain language Japanese message in Capt. Safford's
office December 3 or 4, 1941, containing the Japanese for "east wind
rain." He told the Naval Court he recognized the phrase as the code
signal the Navy had been looking for, but that Safford "carried the
ball" from there.1

On the same day that Kramer's previous testimony was released,
the congressional committee received evidence that Adm. Ingersoll
had told Adm. Thomas C. Hart, who conducted a Pearl Harbor in­
quiry for the Navy in 1944, that he recalled seeing, on or about De­
cember 4, 1941, a copy of a "winds execute" broadcast indicating that
Japan was about to attack the United States and Britain.2

That day the congressional committee also was given other sup­
pressed testimony before the Naval Court of Inquiry that Adm.
Turner remembered getting a telephone call "about December 6, 1941,"
from Adm. Noyes about the "winds" signal. Turner said Noyes told
him that "the 'winds' message came in or something like that." Asked
what he thought at the time that this meant, Turner told the court
he interpreted it as meaning a break in relations with Japan and
"probably war."s

The committee further learned of an affidavit that Col. Moses Pet-

212
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tigrew, of Army intelligence, had given on February 13, 1945, to Maj.
Clausen. Pettigrew stated that about December 5, 1941, he was shown
a file of records containing an intercepted message which showed that
"United States-Japanese relations were in danger." He said he thought
that this was an implementation of Japan's prearranged "winds" code.4

By the time these four officers testified before the congressional
committee, they were by no means as certain as they had once been
that there was a "winds" message, or that, if it existed, it had the
meaning they had previously assigned to it.

Kramer's story to the congressional committee was that he saw a
"winds" message on December 5 when a naval communications officer
had asked him to verify the interpretation of the coded words. He
said that he verified that the words coincided with the previously ar­
ranged signal of "east wind rain," but he said that he would not have
translated the message to mean "war," but "strained relations."

"However," Kramer said" "the fact that the code was to be used
only in the event of failure in regular communications might have
resulted in a deduction that war was indicated."

Kramer then said he was "not positive" that he had written any­
thing on the message, but that he had certainly translated it in his own
mind, and to the best of his recollection only one country was involved.

"What country?" he was asked by committee counsel.
"To the best of my belief," Kramer replied, "the country was Eng­

land."5
In his testimony the following day Kramer denied that he was

badgere,d or otherwise subjected to pressure to change his original
story given the Naval Court, which agreed in all principal points with
that of Capt. Safford. He said that he was not positive whether the
message he saw referred to the United States. Asked by a committee
member, Representative Clark, whether the message was not of such
importance as to have made an indelible impression upon his mind, he
replied, "I can't make a positive statement on reconstruction." He
said that, although he had told the Naval Court in 1944 that the
United States was named, he now believed the message referred to
Great Britain.6

On the third day of his testimony, Kramer indicated that his
change of mind as to what country Japan had designated as its enemy
in the coming war dated from 1945, when he was interviewed con­
cerning his previous testimony to the naval board by Lieut. Comdr.
Sonnett. He told also of being summoned in September, 1945, to a
luncheon conference at the home of Adm. Stark to discuss Pearl Har-
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bor.7 Stark had just been censured by Forrestal in the Secretary's
indorsement of the Naval Court's report, directing that Stark was not
in future to hold any position in the Navy "which requires the ex­
ercise of superior judgment."s Also present at the luncheon were
Rear Adm. Roscoe E. Schuirmann and Capt. A. H. McCollum.

On the fourth day of his testimony Kramer admitted that he
modified his recollections concerning the "winds" message as a result
of this luncheon conference. He said that while Stark did not suggest
that he change his story, the meeting had "refreshed" his memory on
certain details.9

He acknowledged once more that he had seen a "winds" message
during the week preceding the Pearl Harbor attack, and that he had
considered it authentic at the time, but said that his recollection was
that the message was received December 5, and not on December 4,
as testified by Safford. He said that the disappearance of the message
from Navy files could be accounted for on the theory that the Navy,
may never have made any official recording of the receipt of the signal. .
He said that a special system had been devised for handing the warn­
ing if it were received, under which all regular recording and filing
procedure normally used for Japanese intercepts was bypassed by the
Navy. Under this plan, Kramer said, the message was to be taken
to Adm. Noyes immediately upon its receipt, without going through
the regular filing channels.

Kramer made one other significant statement. He said that it was
"obvious" on the morning of December 7 that the Japanese were go­
ing to attack the British in the Far East and that simultaneous attacks
on the United States could be expected. He explained that intercepted
messages for weeks had indicated. a Japanese move toward British
possessions and that "it was believed the United States would be in­
volved." The tipoff, he said, was the December 7 message instructing
Ambassador Nomura that the Japanese final reply be submitted to
Secretary Hull at 1:00 P.M.10

On the final day of his testimony, Kramer changed his story yet
again by saying that he now considered the "winds" message' a
"phony."ll While he was busy delivering this dictum, the Navy was
awarding the Legion of Merit, one of its highest decorations, to the
unpopular Capt. Safford, who had upset the applecart by insisting
that there was a "winds" message, the existence of which everybody
else in Washington wanted to forget. The citation was peculiar in
that, although Safford was intercepting all of the Japanese code mes­
sages throughout 1941, the medal was given for his services during
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the period from March, 1942, to September, 1945. The citation said
that the officer, whose testimony his own superiors and colleagues had
done their utmost to discredit, "was the driving force behind the de­
velopment of the perfected machines which today give the United
States Navy the finest system of encipherment in the world."12

Meanwhile, Adm. Ingersoll took the stand before the congressional
committee and said there was a "winds" message in December, 1941,
but that he did not recall whether he had been told of it before or
after the Pearl Harbor attack. He said he recalled that some officers
came to his office with "a piece of paper" which was a message putting
the Japanese weather code into effect.

"However," said Ingersoll, "inasmuch as it came in after we had
sent messages to our commanders telling them the Japanese had or­
dered destruction of their codes, it was of no importance. It merely
confirmed what we already were aware of."

Ingersoll said that the code destruction orders pointed more to war
than any message announcing a break in relations, which was the
interpretation he placed on the "winds" c.ode.13

The next witness to testify to the interception of the "winds" mes­
sage was Col. Sadtler, who was in charge of codes and ciphers for the
Army Signal Corps in 1941. Sadtler's story was that on the morning
of December 5 he was notified by telephone by Adm. Noyes that the
"winds" message had been intercepted and that it announced a break
in Japanese-British relations.

"I knew it was very easy to get only a part of a message," Sadtler
said. "I thought probably the intercepting station had missed a ref­
erence to the United States and that the message must certainly mean
a break with the United States as well."

Sadtler said he went directly to Gen. Miles who asked for verifica­
tion of the message. Sadtler then c~lled Noyes, but the admiral was
leaving his office for an appointment and asked if Sadtler would call
back later.

"In view of previous messages indicating a break was imminent
and because the 'winds' message was the most important I ever re­
ceived," he related, "I went to Gen. Gerow. Gerow said the overseas
commands had been adequately warned.

"I then went to Col. Smith [now Lieut. Gen. Walter Bedell Smith],
secretary to the general staff. When he heard that I had already
talked with Gen. Miles and Gen. Gero~, he said he did not want to
discuss the matter further."

Sadtler told committee members that there was Army gossip that
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key Pearl Harbor records had been destroyed or lost. "At Fort Bragg
in 1943," he said, "Gen. Isaac Spaulding told me nothing could be done
about Pearl Harbor because the records had been destroyed. He said
he got his information from Col. J. T. Bissell."14 (Spaulding in 1941
was in the Army personnel section and Bissell in intelligence.)

The next witness, Rear Adm. Noyes, contended that he had no posi­
tive recollection that a true "winds" message was delivered to him,
as previous witnesses had testified, but remembered only that several
"false 'winds' messages" were brought to his attention during the first
week in December. He said that these messages did not conform to
the prearranged code because they did not use all the specified words
or, in other cases, did not use them in the prescribed pattern. When
challenged on his statement that he did not receive the message in the
face of positive testimony from three other witnesses that it went to
him, Noyes said, "I would have remembered it, and there would have
been at least thirty copies made for distribution. There are no copies
of it in the files."

Noyes was reminded of testimony by Safford that Army and Navy
files for December, 1941, which would contain the key document had
been destroyed. He asserted he never ordered any official files de­
stroyed but explained that he left his Washington post in February,
1942. Nor did he dispute the fact that the files had been destroyed.15

Safford had testified that in 1943, when the Navy inquiry into the
Pearl Harbor disaster was planned, he went to the Navy files in
search of the "winds" note. "We searched the files of intercepts," he
said. "There was not only no 'winds' message, but there were no
copies of any intercepts from East Coast monitoring stations for De­
cember, 1941. The men in charge of the files didn't know these records
had been destroyed, had no record of the destruction, and had been
given no orders to destroy them."

Safford said that Capt. E. E. Stone, then in charge of naval com­
munications, sought to locate the missing files, but found they had
"vanished from the face of the earth." Safford then sought informa­
tion on the "winds" document from Army files, but found records
there on the subject were "completely gone."16

Safford was questioned before the congressional committee about
his statement during Adm. Hewitt's inquiry that he had "third-hand"
reports that all copies of the "winds" message had been destroyed by
Col. Bissell on direct orders from Chief of Staff Marshall. Safford
had told Hewitt that he had been told this by W. F. Friedman, chief
Army cryptanalyst. Safford explained that he had given this testimony
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reluctantly, only because Hewitt pressed him for a lead as to what had
happened to the missing messages.

Asked by Seth W. Richardson, committee counsel, whether he now
believed it true that Gen. Marshall ordered the records destroyed, Saf­
ford said, "That is a questi9n I prefer not to answer." Neither Bissell
nor Friedman was ever called as a witness by the New Deal majority
of the congressional committee.17

Safford also said that several days after the attack in 1941, orders
came from Adm. Stark to section heads in the Navy Department to
destroy all personal memoranda about events leading up to the attack
and to make no statements about the attack until called as witnesses
at formal inquiries. Safford said that this was a verbal order which was
passed on to communications section heads by Adm. Noyes at a meet­
ing in his office the morning of December 11 or 12, 1941. Noyes was
quoted as saying:

There are altogether too many rumors in the Navy Depart­
ment. People are running to the papers and to radio commen­
tators saying wrong things about Admirals Kimmel and Bloch.
We've got to stop this. Above all, start no rumors. If anyone
wants to talk, wait to be called as a witness at a formal inquiry.
Furthermore, if anyone has any written memos, destroy them
or they may fall into the wrong hands.

Safford said that no order was given to destroy any official files or
documents.18

Commenting on these orders, Noyes said he did not recall any
direction to communications officers to destroy their personal mem­
oranda. "I may have issued such instructions," he said. "After the
war started, it was standard procedure to have all officers in secret
work destroy unofficial notes and memoranda in the interest of secu­
rity."

Noyes said he agreed with Adm. Ingersoll that information more
vital than the "winds" tipoff had been received on December 3, when
Jap intercepts showed Tokyo had ordered its envoys abroad to destroy
their codes. He said:

That made the "winds" message less important, even if we
got it, because a code destruction order was a positive indica­
tion of a trend toward war, but we were still interested in any
execution of the "winds" code as a further indication of the
trend, and I am certain no true "execute" came to me before
December 7.19

Two other versions of the "winds" message were given by Adm.
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Turner and Capt. McCollum. Turner said he never saw the "winds"
message, but that Noyes called him on December 5 and said, "The
message is in-'north wind clear,'" which would have meant war
with Russia.20 McCollum said that he, too, had not seen a message
indicating that Japan had intended to attack the United States, but
he said that such a message might have gone "direct to higher-ups"
without passing through his hands. This would not have been un­
usual, he said, because, although he was charged with. the duty of
evaluating Japanese intentions, much relevant information was not
supplied him. For instance, he said, he was never informed by the
State Department about the progress of its negotiations with Japan
or told what notes ·it was communicating to the Japanese representa­
tives. He said that he got most of his information on American di­
plomacy by intercepting and decoding outgoing Japanese messages
from Washington to Tokyo.

McCollum said that on December 4 or 5 a Jap weather broadcast
was intercepted indicating that the "winds" code was being used by
Tokyo to predict war with Russia, but that he and Capt. Kramer
decided upon further study that the broadcast was actually a regular
weather report.21

Thus, a number of witnesses agreed that there had been a "winds"
message, but no two of them agreed when it was received or what
meaning it had. Some who were willing to admit that the message
had been intercepted were unwilling to concede that it was directed
against the United States, contending that it meant war by Japan
upon Britain. Others suggested that it had the meaning of war with
Russia-a meaning that Tokyo could never have conveyed because
Japan had no intention of fighting Russia, while it did intend to fight
the United States, the British, and the Dutch.

Although at various times and before various investigating groups,
Capt. Safford and Capt. Kramer, the two witnesses best qualified to
testify concerning the existence of the signal and its meaning, had been
in agreement that it meant war with the United States, Safford at the
last was the only witness who stuck to his original story. He said that
the "winds" signal had the meaning it necessarily must have possessed
if it were received-that Japan intended to go to war with the three
powers with which in fact it did go to war. Kramer and Adm. Inger­
soll agreed with him that the message had been received, but after
originally stating that the message meant war with the United States
and Great Britain, both finally took the position that it applied only
to war with the British.
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By any rule of evidence, Safford was the most competent witness.
He was the man best gualified to know the facts. Safford was the
commanding officer of the division whi'ch was charged with monitor­
ing the message, translating it, and of conveying it to Adm. Noyes.
He would have handled the message directly, and he says that he did
handle it. He would have had it translated, and he says that he did
have it translated. He would have seen that it reached his responsible
superior, and he says that he saw to that. It was not his duty to draft
orders to the field once the message was received, but many of his
superiors who testified concerning the "winds" message and professed
to be unable to recall whether it was received, when it was received,
or what it meant, did have that responsibility, and they did not dis­
charge it. No warning based upon the "winds" intercept went to
Pearl Harbor. If these men admitted the existence of the "winds"
message, they knew they would be confessing their own dereliction
and guilt.

Capt. Safford said that when he was unable to find the "winds"
message in the Navy files of 1943, he became "suspicious of a con­
spiracy." Asked by committee counsel why he thought anybody would
want to destroy the message, he responded, "Because it was the un­
heeded warning of war." Asked why anyone should fail to make use
of the messag~ the moment it came in, if it meant war, he replied,
"That question has puzzled me for four years. I don't know the
answer."

But, Safford observed, it is clear that no use was, in fact, made
of the message, and the only logical explanation for its subsequent
destruction and the administration's persistent endeavors to muddy
waters that were originally clear is that these actions were intended
"to cover up a mistake." That mistake, according to Safford, was
"that no war warning was sent-that an attempt to send a warning
was suppressed in the Navy Department December 4," when McCol­
lum's draft was killed.22 Whether higher authority than Admirals
Turner and Wilkinson was responsible for killing this vital message
which could have averted the disaster three days later-and how high
that authority might have been-are questions so far unanswered.
Enough has been uncovered to provide the shadowy outline of a mon­
strous, unbelievable conspiracy.

The only other theory advanced, except the untenable administra­
tion argument that there never was any "winds" message, is that of
Capt. Kramer and Adm Ingersoll: that the message meant war with
Great Britain, but not with the United States. But, from America's
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commitments to the ABCD powers under the Washington and Sing­
apore staff agreements, from Roosevelt's warning of August 17, and
from the warnings addressed to Japanese officials by Turner and
Counselor Dooman of the Tokyo embassy that a Jap attack upon
British possessions would bring America into the war" it will be seen
that a "winds" signal forecasting a Japanese war with Britain would
also have meant that Japan inevitably must fight the United States.
Thus, all efforts of the Roosevelt administration to get out of the draft
from the "winds" collapse.

The application of the "winds" message to Roosevelt's engage­
ments under the ABCD alliance had been convincingly emphasized
in the memorandum of Maj. Gen. Cramer, giving Maj. Clausen in­
structions as to what he was to investigate on the world-tour he was
undertaking for Stimson.

Cramer directed that Clausen, in seeking to determine the validity
of the "winds" message, explore "whether Gen. Miles, Adm. Noyes,
Col. Bratton, or Capt. Safford knew about the Anglo-Dutch-U.S. Joint
Action Agreement, in which case they would have known that a 'war
with Britain' message would necessarily have involved the United
States in war."

In further study of the "winds" message, Cramer suggested that
Clausen look into "whether the partial implementation 'war with
Britain' was brought to Adm. Stark's or Gen. Marshall's attention, it
being clear that the chief of naval operations and the chief of staff
did know of the Joint Action Policy."2:1

The leads which Gen. Cramer listed indicated the belief of the
Army's chief legal officer that there was a Joint Action Agreement
among the United States, Britain, and Holland, that it was known
to Gen. Marshall and Adm. Stark, the chief officers of the Army and
Navy" and that Roosevelt was clearly aware of the provision of this
agreement that the United States was bound to attack Japan if Japan
attacked British or Dutch territory when, at the urging of Churchill,
he delivered his ultimatum to Adm. Nomura on August 17 warning
Japan against further encroachments in the Pacific.

It was on the basis of Roosevelt's commitments to Britain and Hol­
land under the Joint Action Agreement that Gen. Cramer made the
point that a "winds" signal in which Japan warned of hostilities against
Britain, even if it conveyed no similar declaration of intention as re­
gards the United States, would have obliged America to enter the war
on Britain's side.

Another lead suggested by Cramer to Clausen was whether Gen.
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(then Col.) Kendall J. Fielder, chief of intelligence to Gen. Short in
Hawaii, "actually received the message directing him to contact Comdr.
Rochefort, whether he did so, and whether there is substance to the
hypothesis that he and Short were relying upon the warning they
would expect to receive when the second or implementing 'winds' mes­
sage would be intercepted, thus giving advance notice of hostilities."24

Gen. Short, during his testimony before the congressional com­
mittee, said he could shed no light on this particular question.

"I never heard of the 'winds' code until I read the Roberts report
here some time in August, 1944," the general said. "That was the first
time I knew there was such a thing."

"You never knew, then, that Comdr. Rochefort had known that
there was intercepted a 'winds' or implementing message?" asked
Senator Ferguson.

"No, sir, I never heard of it."
"So, then, you were not waiting, as a matter of fact, on an im­

plementing 'winds' message in order that you might be given ad­
vance notice of hostilities?"

"I was not."25
Adm. Kimmel was also kept in the dark concerning the "winds"

message. In his testimony before the congressional committee, how­
ever, he expressed his conviction that it had been intercepted, citing in
proof statements in the still-secret findings of the Naval Court of In­
quiry in 1944. He said:

The interception of the false weather broadcast was con­
sidered by the Navy Department to be of supreme importance.
Every facility of the Navy was invoked to learn as speedily as
possible when the false weather broadcast from Japan was heard
and which of the significant code words were used. Extra­
ordinary measures were established in the Navy Department
to transmit the words used in the broadcast to key officers as
soon as they were known. The Naval Court of Inquiry heard
substantial evidence from various witnesses on the question of
whether or not Japan gave the signal prescribed by the winds
code. The Naval Court of Inquiry found the facts on this mat­
ter to be as follows:

"On December 4 an intercepted Japanese broadcast employ­
ing this code was received in the Navy Department. Although
this notification was subject to two interpretations, either a break­
ing off of diplomatic relations between Japan and the United
States, or war, this information was not transmitted to the com­
mander-in-chief, Pacific fleet, or to other commanders afloat.
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"It was known in the Navy Department that the com­
manders-in-chief, Pacific and Asiatic fleets, were monitoring
Japanese broadcasts for this code, and apparently there was a
mistaken impression in the Navy Department that the execute
message had also been intercepted at Pearl Harbor. No attempt
was made by the Navy Department to ascertain whether this
information had been obtained by the commander-in-chief, Pa­
cific, and by other commanders afloat.

"Adm. Stark stated that he knew nothing about it, although
Adm. Turner stated that he himself was familiar with it and pre­
sumed that Adm. Kimmel had it. This message cannot now be
located in the Navy Department."26

Thus, the Army Pearl Harbor Board and the Naval Court of In­
quiry both agreed that the "winds" message was intercepted, as Capt.
Safford maintained and the Army judge advocate general implied,
and that in 1944 there was substantial agreement among witnesses as
to this fact, as well as to the plain meaning of the signal.27 The wit­
nesses began to develop loss of memory only after the Secretary of
War and the Secretary of the Navy started bringing pressure upon
them. This campaign of intimidation, especially effective against
Army and Navy officers sensitive to prospects of promotion and status,
was launched only after tangible evidence of nonfeasance in the high­
est circles of the services and of the civilian government had been
adduced.

To this scandalous conduct must be added the disappearance of the
relevant intercepts from the Army and Navy secret files, the destruc­
tion of the logs of the Navy monitoring stations for the whole first
week of December, 1941, ostensibly to "make filing room,"28 and the
attempt to jam through Congress legislation which would forever
have suppressed the code-cracking evidence under penalties so severe
as to prohibit publication or even discussion.



Cbapter Sixteen

"DO-DON'T" WARNIN'GS

WASHINGTON, IN blaming Kimmel and Short for the disaster of De­
cember 7, contended that they had been adequately warned of the
imminence of war. The first warning which was supposed to have
guided the field commanders was a letter from Knox to Stimson on
January 24, 1941, in which the Secretary of the Navy said, "If war
eventuates with Japan, it is believed easily possible that hostilities
would be initiated by a surprise attack upon the fleet or the naval
base at Pearl Harbor."!

Although the Roberts report cited this letter against Kimmel and
Short, the commission failed to state that in the ten months which
intervened before the attack, neither Knox nor anyone else in Wash­
ington indicated in any warning dispatched to Hawaii that there
was any likelihood of an attack upon Oahu. After the attack, the
Army Board noted, none of the principal figures admitted the least
suspicion that Pearl Harbor should have been the objective. The
board said:

The contrast between the written statements of many of the
responsible actors prior to Pearl Harbor and after Pearl Harbor,
as to their estimate of an air attack by Japan on Oahu is star­
tling. When the Secretary of the Navy arrived in Hawaii a few
days after, December 7, Adm. Pye* testified his first remark
was: "No one in Washington expected an attack---even Kelly
Turner."t 2

·Vice-Adm. William S. Pye on December 7, 1941, was commander, battle force
(Task Force 1), of the Pacific fleet. Upon the relief of Adm. Kimmel as commander-in­
chief of the fleet on December 17, 1941, he was temporarily placed in command of the
fleet. On December 31, 1941, he was succeeded by Adm. Chester W. Nimitz.

tRear Adm. Richmond Kelly Turner, chief of Navy war plans at the time of
Pearl Harbor, was reckoned among the Navy's most bellicose and suspicious officers in
regard to Japan.

223
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On October 16, 1941, the first of the so-called war warnings was
dispatched to Adm. Kimmel by Adm. Ingersoll. It read:

The resignation of the Japanese cabinet has created a grave
situation. If a new cabinet is formed, it will probably be strongly
nationalistic and anti-American. If the Konoye cabinet remains,
the effect will be that it will operate under a new mandate
which will not include rapprochement with the United States.
In either case, hostilities between Japan and Russia are a strong
possibility. Since the United States and Britain are held respon­
sible by Japan for her present desperate situation, there is also
a possibility that Japan may attack these two powers. In view of
these possibilities, you will take due precautions, including such
preparatory deployments as will not disclose strategic intention
nor constitute provocative actions against Japan.3

The conflict in this message is apparent. Hawaii was notified that
if Japan embarked upon hostilities, a war with Russia was probable.
This was qualified by mention of the "possibility" of an attack upon
the United States and Britain. The Hawaiian commanders were to
take "due precautions" and to make "preparatory deployments," but
not to "disclose strategic intention" or engage in "provocative actions."

Adm. Ingersoll said that these instructions were sent both to Adm.
Kimmel and to Adm. Hart, and that the order to execute a "pre­
paratory deployment" applied to the Asiatic fleet rather than to Kim­
mel's Pacific fleet. He said:

I think the preparatory deployment that would not consti­
tute provocative action or disclose strategic intentions against
Japan referred more to the withdrawal of certain units of the
Asiatic fleet from the China Sea area toward the southern
Philippines than to any particular deployment of the Pacific
fleet, with the possible exception of sending out submarines for
observation.4

Ingersoll, who released the order, was here in conflict with Adm.
Turner, who asserted that Kimmel, under the order to execute a
preparatory deployment, should have "taken his fleet to sea."5

Senator Ferguson pointed out the confusion arising from sending
messages to two or more outposts, with certain instructions intended
for one outpost and not for another.

On October 20 Short was sent the following War Department
estimate of the Japanese situation : "Tension between United States
and Japan remains strained but no, repeat no, abrupt change in Japa­
nese foreign policy appears imminent."6 Therefore, the Hawaiian
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commanders were told that Japan was still relying upon efforts to
achieve a diplomatic settlement with the United States, and that bel­
ligerent action was not foreseen.

On November 24 Adm. Kimmel received the following message
from Adm. Stark, concurred in by Gen. Marshall:

There are very doubtful chances of a favorable outcome of
negotiations with Japan. This situation, coupled with state­
ments of Nippon government and movements of their naval
and military force, indicate, in our opinion, that a surprise
aggressive movement in any direction" including an attack on
the Philippines or Guam, is a possibility. The chief of staff has
seen this dispatch and concurs and requests action. Inform
senior Army officers in respective areas. Utmost secrecy is
necessary in order not to complicate the already tense situation
or precipitate Japanese action.7

The effect of this message was to persuade Kimmel and Short that
if Japan moved, it would not be toward Hawaii, but against the Philip­
pines or Guam. They were restricted to a course of action which
would maintain secrecy "in order not to complicate the already tense
situation or precipitate Japanese action."

On the next day, November 25, Adm. Stark confused the directions
in this message and diluted its effectiveness by sending a letter to
Adm. Kimmel concluding,

I won't go into the pros and cons of what" the United States
may do. I'll be damned if I know. I wish I did. The only thing
I do know is that we may do most anything and that's the
only thing I know to be prepared for; or we may do nothing
-I think it is more likely to be "anything."8

On November 27 Stark sent Kimmel a "war warning" which the
Pacific fleet commander showed to Short. It read:

Consider this dispatch a war warning.· The negotiations
with Japan in an effort to stabilize conditions in the Pacific
have ended. Japan is expected to make an aggressive move
within the next few days. An amphibious expedition against
either the Philippines, or Kra Peninsula or possibly Borneo is
indicated by the number and equipment of Japanese troops and
the organization of their naval forces. You will execute a de­
fensive deployment in preparation for carrying out the tasks
·"The use of the term 'war warning' in constant reference to this message of Nov.

27 to Adm. Kimmel creates a wrong impression. The entire message is of the utmost
importance and should be read as a whole rather than adopt two words from it which
when taken alone create the wrong impression." (Min., pp. 41-42.)
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assigned in WPL 46. Guam, Samoa, and continental districts
have been directed to take appropriate measures against sabo­
tage. A similar warning is being sent by the War Department.
Inform naval district and Army authorities. British to be in­
formed.9

Whereas the message of November 24 indicated a possible attack
on Guam, Washington now had decided that any Japanese move­
ment would be directly south. Guam, and, by inference, Oahu, were
to be on guard only against sabotage. While the message was termed
a "war warning," it did not place in effect Navy War Plan 46, but
directed only that a defensive deployment be executed in preparation
for carrying out the tasks assigned to the Pacific fleet under that
plan. These tasks were entirely offensive, involving raids against the
Japanese mandated islands. It was indicated that later directions
would be received if it became necessary to carry out this plan.

On November 27 a message was dispatched to Short under the
signature of Gen. Marshall which, the Army Board said, was so
ambiguous and contained so many conflicting instructions that it
could only be characterized as a "Do-or-Don't" message. It read:

No. 472. Negotiations with the Japanese appear to be termi­
nated to all practical purposes with only the barest possibilities
that the Japanese government might come back and offer to
continue. Japanese future action unpredictable but hostile ac­
tion possible at any moment. If hostilities cannot, repeat can­
not, be avoided the United States desires that Japan commit the
first overt act. This policy should not, repeat not, be construed
as restricting you to a course of action that might jeopardize
your defense. Prior to hostile Japanese action, you are directed
to undertake such reconnaissance and other measures as you
deem necessary, but these measures should be carried out so as
not, repeat not, to alarm the civil population or disclose intent.
Report measures taken. Should hostilities occur, you will carry
out the tasks assigned in Rainbow Five so far as they pertain
to Japan. Limit the dissemination of this highly secret informa­
tion to minimum essential officers.1o

This message, although bearing Marshall's signature, had in fact
been drafted by Secretary Stimson and Gen. Gerow with some assis­
tance from Co!. Charles W. Bundy of the general staff.11 Marshall
was in North Carolina observing Army maneuvers on November
27.12 During the drafting of this dispatch, Stimson also consulted
Secretary Knox, Adm. Stark, and Gen. William Bryden, deputy chief
of staff.1s From Stimson's own statements, it is apparent that the
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message was drafted primarily to guide Gen. MacArthur in the
Philippines.

Describing his conference with Knox, Stark, and Gerow, the
Secretary stated:

The main question at this meeting was over the message that
we shall send to MacArthur. We have already sent him a quasi­
alert or the first signal for an alert; and now, on talking with
the President this morning over the telephone, I suggested and
he approved the idea that we should send the final alert, namely,
that he should be on the qui vive for any attack, and telling
him how the situation was. We were sending the messages to
four people; not only MacArthur, but Hawaii, Panama, and
Alaska.14

Stimson himself drafted the first sentence of the dispatch. As
originally written, the first sentence read, "Negotiations with Japan
have been terminated." This was softened after Stimson consulted
Secretary Hull by telephone.15 As revised, it read, "Negotiations with
Japan appear to be terminated to all practical purposes with only the
barest possibilities that the Japanese government might come back
and offer to continue." The next sentence, "Japanese future action
unpredictable but hostile action possible at any moment," was put in
by Gerow or Bundy.16

The sentence, "If hostilities cannot, repeat cannot, be avoided, the
United States desires that Japan commit the first overt act," was thus
phrased because, Gerow explained, "the President had definitely stated
that he wanted Japan to commit the first overt act."11 Gen. Marshall
added, "It was included on specific instructions from the President."1s
Roosevelt apparently was very mindful of his pledge not to send
Americans into foreign wars "unless we are attacked."19

The n~xt sentence, "This .policy should not, repeat not, be con­
strued as restricting you to a course of action that might jeopardize
your defense," was inserted by Gerow or Bundy.20 In directing Short
to engage in reconnaissance, Stimson and the general staff were mani­
festing ignorance that distance reconnaissance was a Navy duty in
Hawaii and that Short had only six planes capable of distance flights.21

The Army Board report remarks that the drafting of the message
was "the composite work of a number of people, which may account
for its confusing and conflicting tenor." The report adds,

It is equally obvious that the November 27 message was the
only message that attempted to translate the long and tempes­
tuous course of events terminating in the counter-proposals of
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the 26th of November to Japan. No other picture of the situa­
tion was given to Short except in this message. It is apparent
that the message of November 27 was entirely inadequate to
properly and adequately translate to Short's mind the back­
ground of events that had been taking place. While this does
not excuse Short, it does necessitate an assessment of the re-

sponsibility of others.
The three principal major generals who were commanders

under Short have testified that they received substantially
nothing by way of information as to the international situation
except what they read in the newspapers. The fact that the
newspapers were urgent and belligerent in their tone was dis­
counted by them, because they were not receiving any confirma­
tory information from the War Department through Short.
Information that was of tremendous value both as to content
and substance, which the Secretary of State, Secretary of War,
chief of staff, and other high officers of the War Department
had, was not transmitted to Short. The only summary of this
information was the brief and conflicting tone of the message
of November 27, which was but a faint echo of what had actu-

ally occurred.
It is significant that the Japanese upon the termination of

negotiations by the counter-proposals of the 26th, considered by
them as an ultimatum, were thereby in full possession of all the
information, which our ultra-secrecy policy did not permit of
full transmission to field commanders. The Japanese knew
everything. The War and Navy departments transmitted to
Short only so much of what they knew as they judged necessary.

It is also significant that the Secretary of War had to go and
call Mr. Hull to get the information on what amounted to the
practical cessation of negotiations, which was the most vital
thing that had occurred in 1941.22

Analyzing the dispatch, the Army Board said that the first two
sentences, that negotiations "appear to be terminated," with only a
bare possibility that they would be resumed, and that Japan's action
was "unpredictable, but hostile action possible," were inadequate and
misleading. "The War Department was convinced then that war
would come," the board states.23 The statement that Japanese action
was "unpredictable" did not square with the Navy warning, which
Kimmel had shown to Short, that an attack, if it came, would be in
the Kra Peninsula or elsewhere in the Far East.24 In any event,
Hawaii was not warned of attack.

In addition, Short was told that Japan must commit the first overt
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~ct and that he must not alarm the civilian population or disclose in­
tent. He was told that these instructions were·not to restrict his de­
fense, but they could have no other effec: .

The Army Board dismisses this "war warning" with the sharp
comment:

Had a full war message, unadulterated, been dispatched or
had direct orders for a full, all-out alert been sent, Hawaii could
have been ready to have met the attack with what it had. What
resulted was failure at both ends of the line. Responsibility lay
both in Washington and in Hawaii.25

Gen. Short commented:

The impression conveyed to me by this message was that the
avoidance of war was paramount and the greatest fear of the
War Department was that some international incident might
occur in Hawaii and be regarded by Japan as an overt act.26

That this opinion was in accordance with the views of Gen.
Marshall is shown by the following quotation from his testi­
mony:

"So far as public opinion was concerned, I think the Japanese
were capitalizing on the belief that it would be very difficult to
bring our people into a willingness to enter the war. That,
incidentally, was somewhat confirmed by the governmental
policy on our part of making certain that the overt act should
not be attributed to the United States, because of the state of
the public mind at the time. Of course, no one anticipated that
that overt act would be the crippling of the Pacific fleet."27

No mention was made of a probable attack on Hawaii since
the alert message of June 18, 1940. An examination of the vari­
ous military intelligence estimates prepared by G-2 shows that
in no estimate did G-2 ever indicate the probability of an attack
upon Hawaii. There was nothing in the message directing me
to be prepared to meet an air raid or an all-out attack. "Hostile
action at any· moment" meant to me that as far as Hawaii was
concerned the War Department was predicting sabotage. Sabo­
tage is a form of hostile action.28

The only additional information received by Short after message
No. 472 of November 27 was contained in three messages on Novem­
ber 27 and 28 concerning possible danger from sabotage and subver­
sive activities. The first of these, from Gen. Miles of G-2 to Short's
intelligence section, read: "Japanese negotiations have come to practi­
cal stalemate. Hostilities may ensue. Subversive activities may be
expected. Inform commanding general and chief of staff only."29
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As a warning in any real sense, this message failed. It was highly
conditional: hostilities "may" ensue, subversive activities "may" be
expected. Hostilities or inimic tl activities may be "expected" at any
time. Further, the message inJicated that if there were hostilities in
Hawaii they would take the form of subversive activities.

Short replied as follows to the radiogram of November 27 bearing
Marshall's signature: "Reurad (re your radio) four seven two 27th:
Report department alerted to prevent sabotage. Liaison with the
Navy."30

The commander of the Hawaiian department received no reply
from Washington, either approving the measures he had taken or
directing him to institute a higher degree of alert. He interpreted
this silence as approval of the measures he had taken. His report was
initialed or rubber stamped by Gen. Marshall, Secretary Stimson, and
Gen. Gerow. If they were dissatisfied with his action, all they needed
to do was give him an order. They did nothing.3!

Gen. Short attributed the lack of reaction in Washington to the
fact that "all who read the message believed the action was correct.,,32
He cited Gen. Marshall's testimony before the Army Pearl Harbor
Board in support of this thesis. Marshall testified:

We anticipated, beyond a doubt, a Japanese movement in
Indo-China and the Gulf of Siam, and against the Malay Pen­
insula. We anticipated also an assault on the Philippines. We
did not, so far as I can recall, anticipate an attack on Hawaii;
the reason being that we thought, with the addition of more
modern planes, that the defenses there would be sufficient to
make it extremely hazardous for the Japanese to attempt such
an attack.33

On November 28 Short received the following message, relating
entirely to sabotage and subversive activities, from the adjutant gen­
eral:

482 28th Critical situation demands that all precautions be
taken immediately against subversive activities within field of
investigative responsibility of War Department. Also desired
that you initiate forthwith all additional measures necessary to
provide for protection of your establishments, property, and
equipment against sabotage, protection of your personnel against
subversive propaganda and protection of all activities against
espionage. This does not, repeat not, mean that any illegal
measures are authorized. Protective measures should be confined
to those essential to security, avoiding unnecessary publicity and
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alarm. To insure speed of transmission identical telegrams are
being sent to all air stations but this does not, repeat no~ affect
your responsibility under existing instructions.34

Because of the emphasis that was again placed on protection against
sabotage and subversive activities, Short was fortified in his convic­
tion that he had instituted the kind of alert which Washington
wanted. He thought the adjutant general's dispatch had been pre­
pared after consideration had been given, to his message reporting
that he had alerted his command to prevent sabotage.

During his examination before the congressional committee, Short
was asked by Representative Keefe, "Now, when you received that
telegram of the 28th, after Washington had received your message in
which you stated you were alerted against sabotage, did that tend to
influence you in your thinking that the alert which you had was the
proper alert, the alert that Washington wanted?"

"It did,," said Short. "I thought it was an answer to my radio­
gram and [the adjutant general] wanted to emphasize the question
of legality."35

Accordingly, to reassure the War Department as to the legality of
his actions, Short explained in his reply to the adjutant general No­
vember 29 that his measures against subversive activities and sabotage
were countenanced by the organic act of Hawaii and by an ordnance
of the city and county of Honolulu.36 He received no reply from the
War Department and considered Washington's failure to comment as
implying further tacit agreement that the measures he had taken
were all that were intended or desired by the War Department. Short
reported:

When the War Department was informed that the Hawaiian
department was alerted against sabotage, it not only did not in­
dicate that the command should be alerted against a hostile sur­
face, subsurface, ground, or air attack, but replied emphasizing
the necessity for protection against sabotage and subversive meas­
ures. This action on the part of the War Department definitely
indicated to me that it approved of my alert against sabotage.
The War Department had nine more days in which to express
its disapproval. The action of the War Department in sending
unarmed B-17's from Hamilton Field, California, on the night
of December 6 to Honolulu confirmed me in my belief that an
air raid was not probable.37

.

Hawaii, Short explained, was a focal point in transporting troops,
B-17's, and air crews to the Philippines. The planes were always sent
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to Hawaii unarmed, but when sending them out to "the more danger­
ous area of the Philippines, we were to arm them."

None of the planes which left Hamilton Field December 6 was
equipped with ammunition or defensive armament. The machine
guns were cosmolined and had not been bore-sighted. Ferry crews
were skeletonized, consisting of pilot, co-pilot, navigator, engineer,
and radio operator. Such crews were incapable of manning the ma­
chine guns even if the guns had been properly prepared for combat
and supplied with ammunition. Short said:

It cannot be imagined that the War Department wished to
send these planes to Honolulu unarmed when they already had
information of a pending Japanese attack. The only inference
that can be drawn is that while the War Department had infor­
mation of a pending attack, Gen. [H. H.] Arnold, the chief of
air corps, who ordered these planes to Honolulu, and who I
understand was present at Hamilton Field at the time of their
departure, did not know of the critical situation in the relations
between the United States and Japan.3S

Confirmation of my view that the War Department's silence
and failure to reply to my report of November 27 constituted
reasonable grounds for my belief that my action was exactly
what the War Department desired is contained in Gen. Mar­
shall's testimony before this joint committee on December 11,
1945.

Short then cited the following colloquy:

S;nator Ferguson: "Well, would this be true from an Army
viewpoint, that when an overseas commander is ordered to take
'such measures as he deems necessary and to report such meas­
ures to you,' is he correct in assuming that if his report is not the
kind of action that you had in mind that you would thereafter
inform him specifically of this difference?"

Gen. Marshall: "I would assume SO."39

On November 28 Gen. Arnold sent Gen. Martin, chief of the Army
Air Forces in Hawaii, still another message relating entirely to sabo­
tage and subversive activities, similar in tone to the dispatch of the
same day from the adjutant general to Short. Again the Hawaiian
command was cautioned to avoid unnecessary publicity and alarm
and confine protective measures to those essential to security, and that
illegal measures were not authorized. Martin was instructed to report
his action under these orders by December 5.40

On December 4 Short and his air general sent a detailed report to
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Arnold of measures taken by them against sabotage and subversive
activities. They underlined the prevailing condition of alert in Hawaii
by stating, "This entire department is now operating and will con­
tinue to operate under an alert for prevention of sabotage."41 The
Hawaiian department received no reply disagreeing in any way with
the action reported.·2

The Martin-Short repor~, the final message from Hawaii to Wash­
ington, was dispatched only three days before the attack. Although
Washington then had an abundance of information pointing to war
almost at once, it was still talking as if the principal and only danger
to Hawaii was from sabotage and subversive activities, and it was
accepting without comment reports from the Hawaiian command
which showed a complete misapprehension as to the gravity of the
situation which Washington knew to exist.

In their message of December 4, for example, Martin and Short
were suggesting to Washington that their troops could be kept from
threatened disaffection by educational talks on the status of the
soldier as a citizen, the ideals of the founders of the Republic, and the
dangers of Fascism. The report stated:

Entire subject of protection recently received and continues
to receive detailed and comprehensive attention... .Instructions
issued to expedite overhauling of pass system, civilian and mili­
tary, now in progress.... Secrecy discipline given all emphasis
practicable through official and quasi-official agencies.

With .reference to counter-propaganda, the problem is edu­
cational rather than regulatory and at present is being dealt
with through the medium of squadron talks. Need is felt for
a War Department publication suitably arranged and worded
for use of relatively inexperienced personnel, dealing with status
of soldier as citizen, ideals and doctrine influencing founders of
American government, structure of government, place of mili­
tary establishment in structure, national objectives, both domestic
and international, together with discussion of those forms of
government inimical to democratic form!S

This, be it remembered, was the same day that Washington knew
from the intercepted "east wind rain" message that war had already
been decreed against the United States without a formal declaration.
No message was sent to Short or Martin to correct their misapprehen­
sions founded on ignorance of the facts known in Washington.

Meanwhile, on November 27, the day on which he received the
"war warning," Adm. Kimmel received two other dispatches from
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Adm. Stark which convinced him that Washingtori had no expecta­
tion of an attack upon Hawaii. One of these proposed that Kimmel
load twenty-five army pursuit planes on each of his two aircraft car­
riers and send them to Wake and Midway islands. The other pro­
posed the reinforcement of Marine defense battalions on Wake and
Midway with Army troops. Two days later Gen. Short received a
dispatch from the War Department which stated that the Army pro­
posed to take over the defense of these two islands from the Marines.
Thus the dispatches sent from the War and Navy departments were
in disagreement on the very fundamentals of the project.44

Kimmel told the congressional committee that it was not feasible
to exchange Army troops for Marines on the outlying bases. The Army
had no artillery or anti-aircraft weapons to equip any troops which
might relieve or reinforce the Marines, and if the Marines had with­
drawn, leaving their equipment and arms for the Army, Kimmel had
no means of re-equipping or re-arming them. In addition, the Army
had nothing in its organization comparable to a Marine defense
battalion, so that the Army garrisons would have required a new
table of organization.
. Not only would the defense of Midway and Wake have been dis­
rupted during the period the garrisons were being changed, but at
Wake there were no harbor facilities or anchorage. Material and
personnel had to be landed from ships under way in an open seaway,
and at times bad weather had delayed unloadings at the island for as
long as twenty-eight days. It was not unusual for a ship to require a
week to unload. Extensive unloading of men and material from ships
at Wake, in the face of any enemy operation, would be impossible.

"I believe," said Kimmel, "that responsible authorities in Wash­
ington would not plan or propose a project for shifting garrisons under
such circumstances, if they considered that enemy action against these
outlying bases was imminent." Accordingly, he recommended to
Stark that the Marine garrisons remain until Army troops had been
adequately equipped and trained to replace them.

The admiral also said that Washington's proposal to replace
Marine planes on Wake and Midway with Army pursuit planes was
impracticable.* Gen. Martin stated that the Army pursuit planes could

·Adm. W. W. Smith testified: "He [Adm. Kimmel] had a shock, though, in the
week preceding Pearl Harbor, when we had orders from the Navy Department, and
Gen. Short had orders from the War Department, to prepare a plan immediately for
bringing all the Marines off the outlying islands, and replacing them with soldiers and
with Army planes, and, as I remember it, practically the entire week before Pearl
Harbor was spent with the two staffs together. The Army was undecided whether to
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not operate more than IS miles from land, nor could they land on a
carrier. Consequently, once they were landed on one of the outlying
islands they would be frozen there, while their IS-mile limit of
operation radically restricted their usefulness in island defense.

The Army pursuit planes which it was proposed to send to Wake
and Midway from Oahu on November 27, the same day that Kimmel
was being given the so-called war warning applicable to Hawaii, con­
stituted approximately SO per cent of the Army's pursuit strength on
Oahu. Kimmel stated:

The very fact that the War and Navy departments proposed
their transfer from Hawaii indicated to me that responsible
authorities in Washington did not consider an air raid on Pearl
Harbor 'either imminent or probable. In brief, on November 27,
the Navy Department suggested that I send from the immedi­
ate vicinity the carriers of the fleet which constituted the fleet's
main striking defense against an air attack. On Nov. 27,
the War and Navy departments suggested that we send from
the island of Oahu SO per cent of the Army's resources in pur­
suit planes. These proposals came to us on the very same day
of the so-called "war warning." In these circumstances, no rea­
sonable man in my position would consider that the "war warn­
ing" was intended to suggest the likelihood of an attack in the
Hawaiian area.~6

Short, under orders November 29 from the War Department, was
instructed to put into effect a plan whereby the Army garrison in
Hawaii would be depleted. The plan would have required him to
garrison Christmas and Canton islands, and later to take over the
outlying islands-Palmyra, Johnston, and Samoa. The troops he was
supposed to send to these islands would be replaced by fresh troops
from the mainland.47 This testimony showed that Washington was
not looking for any attack on Hawaii after sending Short the warn­
ing of November 27; otherwise it would not have directed him to re­
duce his garrison.

put P-39's or P-40's on these islands. We told them that any planes they put on
Wake would remain there for the duration, in case of war, because they would have
to be taken off from a carrier and could not come back, and we had no means of
putting a ship in there to bring them off, and during the discussion of this with Gen.
Short and his staff, the commanding general of the Army Air Force (Gen. Martin)
and Adm. Pye were present, and also Adm. Wilson Brown, the war plans officer, the
operations officers and I believe Adm. Bloch. Adm. Kimmel said, 'What can I expect
of Army fighters on Wake?' And Gen. Martin replied, 'We do not allow them to go
more than 15 miles off shore.' That was a shock to all of us and Adm. Kimmel '5

reply was, 'Then, they will be no damn good to me.' The exchange was never made
because the war broke b€£ore-hand."45

/
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On November 29 Adm. Stark sent a message to Kimmel which
was in substance a quotation of the Army "war warning" of Novem­
ber 27 to Short. In addition, it conveyed the following direction:

WPL 52 is not applicable to the Pacific area and will no1: be
placed in effect in that area except as now in force in Southeast
Pacific sub area and Panama naval coastal frontier. Undertake
no offensive action until Japan has committed an overt act. Be
prepared to carry out tasks assigned in WPL 46 so far as they
apply to Japan in case hostilities OCCUr.

48

Kimmel explained:

WPL 52 was the Navy Western Hemisphere Defense Plan
No.5. Under this plan the Atlantic fleet had shooting orders.
It was charged with the task of destroying German and Italian
naval, land, and air forces encountered in the area of the West­
ern Atlantic. The Southeast Pacific subarea covered approxi­
mately 700 miles of the Pacific Ocean, off the coast of South
America. Here the Southeast Pacific naval force had similar
shooting orders and a similar task.

In the dispatch of November 29, the chief of naval operations
informed me that WPL 52 was not applicable to the Pacific.
This was to impress upon me the fact that I did not have
shooting orders and that I was not to shoot until Japan had com­
mitted an overt act!9

On November 30 the Navy Department sent Kimmel, for informa­
tion, a dispatch addressed to Adm. Hart, stating that there were indi­
cations that Japan was about to attack points on the Kra Isthmus.
Hart was ordered to scout for information but to avoid the appearance
of attacking.50 On December 1 Kimmel received for information
another Navy Department dispatch addressed to Hart, describing a
proposed Japanese intrigue designed to draw British forces over the
border of Thailand in order to give Thailand a pretext for calling
upon Japan for aid. This would have facilitated the Japanese entry
into Thailand as a full-fledged ally and have given Japan air bases on
,the Kra Peninsula in order to carry out further operations.51

"In short," Kimmel said, "all indications of the movements of
Japanese military and naval forces which came to my attention con­
firmed the information in the dispatch of Nov. 27-that the Japanese
were on the move against Thailand or the Kra Peninsula in South­
east Asia."52

On December 1 the fortnightly Navy intelligence summary issued
by Stark, under the heading "The Japanese Naval Situation," informed
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Kimmel, "Major capital ship strength remains in home waters, as
well as the greatest portion of the carriers."53 This estimate could not
have been more disastrously wrong.

Three more messages were sent by the Navy Department to
Kimmel in the days preceding the attack. The first, on December 3,
stated that Japanese consular and diplomatic posts at Hong Kong,
Singapore, Batavia, Manila, Washington, and London had been or­
dered to destroy "most of their codes and ciphers"-not all-a point
noted by Kimmel and his staff at the time. "This information,"
Kimmel said, "seemed to fit in with the information we had received
about a Japanese movement in Southeast Asia."55

Kimmel told the congressional committee that he did not know
that warnings had been given to Japan as early as July, 1941, that
Japanese moves against British and Dutch possessions in the South­
west Pacific would compel the United States to "take steps" to protect
its rights. Consequently, he testified, when definite reports were re­
ceived late in November that the Japanese were concentrating forces
for their southward move, he was not aware that such action was in
violation of specific warnings from the American government.

The only thing he knew, he said, was that his war plans called
for raids against the Marshall Islands to draw the Japanese away from
the Malay barrier, but only in the event of war between Japan and
an association of the United States and Great Britain.56

Two other dispatches were received by Kimmel on December 4
and 6. Of these the Army Board remarks,

This record does not provide either a true copy or a para­
phrase copy of the messages of December 4 or December 6. The
information we have is no better than that contained in the
Roberts report, which reads as follows:

"The message of December 4, 1941, instructed the addressee
to destroy confidential documents and means of confidential
communication, retaining only such as were necessary, the latter
to be destroyed in event of emergency [this was sent to the
commander-in-chief of the Pacific fleet for information only];
and the message of December 6, directing that in view of the
tense existing situation the naval commands on the outlying
Pacific islands might be authorized to destroy confidential
papers then or later, under conditions of greater emergency,
and that those essential to continued operations should be re­
tained until the last moment."57

The dispatch of December 4 was apparently that drafted by Capt.
Safford to be sent to Guam following receipt of the "winds" signal.
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Gen. Short denied that he ever saw the three messages of Decem­
ber 3, 4, and 6.58 The Roberts report commented,

The foregoing messages did not create in the minds of re­
sponsible officers in the Hawaiian area apprehension as to prob­
able imminence of air raids. On the contrary, they only served
to emphasize in their minds the danger from sabotage and sur­
prise submarine attack. The necessity for taking a state of war
readiness which would have been required to avert or meet an
air attack was not considered.59

The Army Board remarked,
"There is a serious question raised why the War Department did

not give instructions to Short direct which would have put him on
his guard as to the tenseness of the situation."60

The final message from Washington to Hawaii was drafted by
Gen. Marshall at 11 :58 A.1\1. December 7, one hour and twenty-seven
minutes before the Japanese attack began on Oahu, and was dis­
patched to Gen. Short at 12:18 P.M., Washington time (6:48 A.M.,

Honolulu time), one hour and seven minutes before the first bombs
and torpedoes were launched by the Japanese. The message read:

Japanese are presenting at 1:00 P.M., Eastern Standard Time,
today what amounts to an ultimatum. Also they are under
orders to destroy their code machine immediately. Just what
significance the hour set may have we do not know but be on
alert accordingly. Inform naval authorities of this communica­
tion.61

This message did not carry a "priority" classification and was not
marked "urgent." Early in the morning the Army radio in Hawaii
had had difficulty in maintaining communication with the War De­
partment in Washington. Because the War Department message
center was dubious about getting through to Hawaii on its own set,
it was decided to send this vital message by RCA commercial radio.

Marshall had on his desk a scrambler telephone-which renders
conversations a hash of meaningless sounds, which are unscrambled at
the receiving end-with which he could have reached Gen. Short in a
matter of minutes. The chief of staff later explained that he hesitated
to use this device because it was known that German agents had
tapped scrambler telephone conversations between President Roose­
velt and Prime Minister Churchill, and because they had also tapped
communications from William Bullitt when he was serving as am­
bassador to France.62 Marshall said that "there was a possibility of a
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leak which would embarrass the State Department" if the Japanese
had tapped any warning he telephoned Short.63 Since the Japanese
intended to embarrass the whole nation with their attack upon Pearl
Harbor" the explanation is curious.64

The chief of staff also had at his disposal the powerful Navy De­
partment and FBI radio transmitters over which his message, if
marked for priority handling, could have been sent to Hawaii in a
very short period. Adm. Stark, who was with him when the last
minute warning was drafted, offered Marshall the use of the Navy
radio.65 Marshall, however, did not choose to use either the Navy or
FBI sets.

His message was brought to the code room of the War Depart­
ment signal office by Col. Bratton. Col. French, in charge of the
traffic operations branch, had it typed for clarity.* It was then en­
coded.66 The message was received by RCA in Honolulu at 7:33 A.M.,

twenty-two minutes before the attack on Pearl Harbor. When the
Jap assault began, a bicycle messenger boy was carrying it through
the streets of Honolulu. It was not actually delivered to the Army
signal office at Fort Shafter until 11 :45 A.M., two hours after the last
Jap plane had retired. Because it was not marked "priority," other
messages which were so marked were decoded first at the signal office.
The message was finally placed in the hands of the decoding officer
at 2:40 P.M. It was decoded and delivered to Col. Dunlop, adjutant
general of the Hawaiian department, at 2:58 P.M. Dunlop turned it
over at 3 :00 P.M. to Gen. Short's aide, Capt. Trueman, who delivered
it to Short. The warning thus was in Short's hands eight hours and
twelve minutes after being filed for transmission and seven hours and
five minutes after the attack had begun.67

These were the messages which Washington called "war warn­
ings" and which the leaders of government and of the Army and
Navy high command said should have put the Hawaiian commanders
on guard against a surprise attack upon Pearl Harbor. All of them
sent previous to December 7 were termed by the Army Board "Do­
Don't" messages, which told the commanders in Hawaii to prepare
for defense but to do nothing in preparing that might precipitate
trouble with the large Japanese population or excite the public. The

·Col. French testified (Maj., p. 225, APH Top Secret, pp. 189-205) that he had
not considered using the telephone; that the telephone was never used by the signal
center; that it was unsuitable for a classified message; and that, in any event, "if they
wanted to use the telephone that was up to the individuals themselves, chief of staff,
or whoever was the individual concerned." In other words, the decision as to whether
to use the telephone was up to Gen. Marshall as the originator of the message and

operating chief of the Army.
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commanders were to prepare to take the offensive, but also to take
the first punch: "The United States desires that Japan commit the
first overt act." They were warned by Washington against sabotage
and subversive activities, but were held responsible when a disaster
resulted from an air attack which no one in Washington had fore­
seen. They were told that hostilities would begin in Southeast Asia,
but were blamed when the Japs crossed up the brain trust in Wash­
ington by attacking Hawaii.

The message of December 7 might have served to convey some
sense of danger if it had not been so horribly bungled in transmission,
but it was scarcely less ambiguous than its predecessors. Although
Marshall stated that he did not know the significance of the 1:00 P.M.

deadline and other Jap actions, he nevertheless instructed the Hawaiian
commanders to "be on alert accordingly." In accordance with what?
He did not suggest against what they were to be on the alert.

The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (Con­
clusion 13, pp. 38-40) appraises all of these warnings as follows:

The messages sent to Gen. Short and Adm. Kimmel by high
authorities in Washington during November were couched in
such conflicting and imprecise language that they failed to con­
vey to the commanders definite information on the state of
diplomatic relations with Japan and on Japanese war designs
and positive orders respecting the particular actions to be taken
-orders that were beyond all reasonable doubts as to the need
for an all-out alert. In this regard the said high authorities
failed to discharge their full duty.

We content ourselves with presenting the following facts in
respect to the conflicting, imprecise, and insufficient character of
these messages.

It should be here observed that Washington had taken unto
itself such a minute direction of affairs as regards outposts that
the usual discretion of outpost commanders was narrowly
limited.

First of all, it is to be noted that the four reports by the
Army and Navy boards created to investigate Pearl Harbor
found the warning messages insufficient to put the Hawaiian
commanders on a full war alert; and the President's commission
on Pearl Harbor, while finding the commanders guilty of dere­
liction of duty, itself places neglect on the part of the War De­
partment, in respect to such orders, as among the contributory
causes of the catastrophe at Pearl Harbor, thus qualifying its
own conclusions.

The President's commission, though limited by his instruc-
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tions to a search for derelictions of duty and errors of judgment
on the part of the Army and Navy personnel, made a point of
declaring that the Secretary of State, the Secretary of War, and
the Secretary of the Navy had fulfilled their obligations with
regard to matters bearing on the situation at Pearl Harbor and
that the chief of staff and the chief of naval operations had ful­
filled their command responsibilities in issuing warning mes­
sages to the two commanders.

But the commission includes among the grounds for charg­
ing Gen. Short and Adm. Kimmel with dereliction of duty their
failure "to consult and confer" with each other "respecting the
meaning and intent of the warnings." Thus the commission in
effect concedes that the war warning messages were couched in
language so imprecise that the commanders would have to con­
sult and confer in order to discover what the messages meant.

Having made this statement, the commission goes on to lay
some of the blame for the Pearl Harbor catastrophe on the War
Department and the Navy Department (that is, upon Secretary
Stimson, Secretary Knox, and/or Gen. Marshall and Adm.
Stark, whom the commission had earlier in its report excul­
pated). The commission declared that among the-

"causes contributory to the success of the Japanese attack were:
Emphasis in the warning messages on the probability of aggres­
sive Japanese action in the Far East and on antisabotage meas­
ures. Failure of the War Department to reply to the message
relating to the antisabotage measures instituted by the com­
manding general, Hawaiian department."

Had the commission been in a mind to do so, it might have
added: Failure of the War and Navy Departments to mention
in these messages the probability of an attack on Pearl Harbor.

Finally, it is to be noted that the commission also places
among the "contributory causes" the "nonreceipt by the inter­
ested parties, prior to the attack, of the warning message of
Dec. 7, 1941." As a matter of fact the "nonreceipt" of this warn­
ing message was due to inexcusable delays of high authorities in
Washington.

Hence, it appears that the President's commission, by direct
statements and by implication" admits definitely that the war­
warning messages to Gen. Short and Adm. Kimmel were im­
precise, indefinite, and constituted no sufficient warning for an
all-out alert, particularly the messages to Gen. Shor.t, whose
primary duty it was to defend Pearl Harbor and protect the
fleet while in the harbor.

The Army Pearl Harbor Board, after a careful examination
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and comparison of the war-warning messages, concluded that
the messages of Nov. 27 were "conflicting" and that the state­
ments in the message to Gen. Short were "inadequate" and
"misleading." The Army Board also criticized the War De­
partment for failure to send "specific directives" to outpost com­
manders.

Despite its conclusion that Gen. Short had displayed lack of
judgment, the Army Board laid against him no charge of dere­
liction of duty and made no recommendations in that respect.
The Navy Court of Inquiry likewise criticized the war-warning
messages for lack of directives as to actions at Pearl Harbor
and concluded that "no offenses have been committed nor seri­
ous blame incurred on the part of any person or persons in the
naval service." It recommended no further proceedings be had
in the matter.

In the testimony and other evidence presented to this com­
mittee there is no proof that warrants traversing the judgment
reached by the President's commission, the Army Pearl Harbor
Board, or the Navy Pearl Harbor Court to the effect that the
war-warning messages were not in fact clear and unmistakable
directives for an all-out alert against a probable Japanese attack
on Pearl Harbor.

Again (Conclusi0n 18, p. 59), the minority report states:

Whatever errors of judgment the commanders at Hawaii
committed and whatever mismanagement they displayed in pre­
paring for a Japanese attack, attention to chain of responsibility
in the civil and military administration requires taking note of
the fact that they were designated for their posts by high au­
thorities in W ashington-all of whom were under obligation to
have a care for competence in the selection of subordinates for
particular positions of responsibility in the armed forces of the
United States.

This conclusion is s~lf-evident, especially in view of all that
goes before, and needs no comment.



Chapter Seventeen

"KNOWN IMPENDING WAR"

THE UTILITY of the warnings sent to Hawaii may be judged in the
light of how the Hawaiian commanders reacted. Short thought he
was being warned against sabotage and subversion. He prepared his
defenses against them. Kimmel thought he was being warned to get
ready for offensive action against the Marshall Islands under the Navy
war plan. He prepared himself for his mission, conserving his long­
range reconnaissance planes and their crews for the tasks ahead.
Neither commander was given to understand that there would be an
attack anywhere except in Southeast Asia or the Southwest Pacific-
certainly not against Hawaii. .

The effectiveness of the messages may also be judged in the light
of what Washington knew. The Army Board stated that "the mes­
sages actually sent to Hawaii gave only a small fraction"l of the
information Washington possessed. Adm. Kimmel called the dis­
patches he received "a pale reflection of actual events."2 The report
of the Navy Court of Inquiry commented upon the need in Hawaii
for "information indicating that an attack was to be expected within
narrow limits of time,"3 paraphrasing this again to say that defense
plans were "ineffective because they necessarily were drawn on the
premise that there would be advance knowledge that an attack was
to be expected within narrow limits of time, which was not the case
on that morning."4

Washington had knowledge of the narrow limits of time within
which the attack was to be expected. After November 26 the only
possible description of the situation was, in the phrase of the Army
Board, "known impending war."5 That the time and place of the
attack were revealed in the fourteen-part Japanese reply of December
6-7 and the 1:00 P.M. pilot message of December 7 is attested by the

243



244 PEARL HARBOR

statement of the Naval Court, "In the early forenoon of December 7,
Washington time, the War and Navy Departments had information
which appeared to indicate that a break in diplomatic relations was
imminent and, by inference and deduction, that an attack in the
Hawaiian area could be expected soon."6

None of this knowledge possessed by Washington was imparted
to Kimmel and Short. They were denied three principal categories of
intelligence:

1. Knowledge of the conduct of America's side of the diplo­
matic negotiations, showing that Japan had been put in a box
where it must knuckle under or fight.

2. Knowledge of hundreds of significant Japanese diplomatic
code intercepts informing Roosevelt and his circle not only that
Japan would fight, but when war was coming.

3. Knowledge of messages to and from Tokyo and its corps
of spies in Hawaii, pointing precisely to Pearl Harbor as the
target for attack.7

That the various so-called war warnings transmitted to Hawaii
constituted any sort of real warning was bitterly disputed by Kimmel
and Short. Kimmel, in his defense before the congressional com­
mittee, said that he realized that information about America's rela­
tions with Japan and the plans of the Japanese government were of
supreme importance to him. "The Pacific fleet," he said, "was de­
pendent upon the Navy Department in Washington for information
derived from intercepted Japanese diplomatic messages."

In February, 1941, soon after he took command of the Pacific fleet,
he was told by Vice-Adm. Wilson Brown, just then arrived in Hawaii
from Washington, that there was confusion in the Navy Department
as to whether he was to be furnished secret information by naval
operations or by naval intelligence. On February 19 Kimmel wrote
to Adm. Stark, calling his attention to the situation and asking, "Will
you kindly fix that responsibility so that there will be no misunder­
standing?"8 Stark replied March 22 that "aNI is fully aware of its
responsibility of keeping you adequately informed."g

On May 26 Kimmel returned to the subject, saying that he was
in a very difficult position, "far removed from the seat of government,
in a complex and rapidly changing situation." Without full informa­
tion from Washington, he said, he would be left in a state of uncer­
tainty, unable to evaluate the situation confronting him. He suggested
that it be made a cardinal principle that he "be immediately informed
of all important developments as they occur and by the quickest secure



"KNOWN IMPENDING WAR"

means available." He took this letter with him to Washington in June
and handed it to Stark, receiving an assurance that he would be given
all information.10

In July Kimmel received from Stark at least seven dispatches quot­
ing intercepted Japanese diplomatic messages. The Jap messages
were referred to by numbers assigned them in Tokyo and the dis­
patches gave the verbatim text.11 By such means Washington won
Kimmel's confidenc~. He felt that he was receiving all of the code
intercepts which had any bearing on his course of action. Washington
did ··not disabuse him.

As late as the week preceding the Pearl Harbor attack Washington
was still giving the appearance of relaying everything to the admiral.
On December 1 Stark sent him a dispatch quoting the Japanese am­
bassador in Thailand on contemplated activities against the British.12

On December 3 Kimmel received another dispatch quoting by number
Tokyo's "circular 2,444" to diplomatic agents. On the same day still
another dispatch was forwarded apprising Kimmel of instructions
sent to Jap diplomatic and consular postS.13 True, these intercepts
had no bearing on his own situation at Pearl Harbor, but they en­
couraged him to believe that Washington was, if anything, overzealous
in keeping him abreast of all developments. Not until after the sudden
Japanese blow against the Pacific fleet did he finally learn how com­
pletely he had been deceived. Kimmel said:

The Navy Department thus engaged in a course of conduct
calculated to give me the impression that intelligence from im­
portant intercepted Japanese messages was being furnished to
me. Under these circumstances a failure to send me important
information of this character was not merely a withholding of
intelligence. It partook of the nature of an affirmative mis­
representation. I had asked for all vital information. I had been
assured that I would have it. I appeared to be receiving it. My
current estimate of the situation was formed on this basis. Yet,
in fact, the most vital information from the intercepted Japanese
messages was not sent to me. This failure not only deprived
me of essential facts. It misled me.Hi

Kimmel said that throughout 1941 he received dispatches and
letters from Adm. Stark which might be broadly described as "war
warnings." These hazarded many guesses as to where Japan might
strike, but the only one which mentioned Pearl Harbor was a quota­
tion from the message which Ambassador Grew telegraphed the
State Department on January 27, 1941, almost eleven months before
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Japan attacked. Grew reported that the Peruvian mInIster had in­
formed a member of his staff that he "has heard from many sources,
including a Japanese source., that in the event of trouble breaking out
between the United States and Japan, the Japanese intend to make a
surprise attack against Pearl Harbor with all of their strength and
employing all of their equipment."l6 Grew said that the Peruvian
n1inister himself considered the rumors fantastic, but felt that he
should convey them to Grew's staff.

In relaying this report to Kimmel, Stark said, "The division of
naval intelligence places no credence in these rumors. Furthermore,
based on known data regarding the present disposition and employ­
merit of Japanese army and naval forces, no move against Pearl Harbor
appears imminent or planned for in the foreseeable future." Kimmel
observed that this estimate as to the improbability of a move against
Pearl Harbor was never withdrawn.17

The commander of the Pacific fleet stated that when the War and
Navy departments wished to put the forces in Hawaii on alert against
attack, they could and did use appropriate language to that end. In
evidence, he cited the dispatch of June 17, 1940, from Chief of Staff
Marshall to Gen. Herron which directed, "Immediately alert complete
defensive organization to deal with possible trans-Pacific raid."1s

This alert in 1940 lasted six weeks. It was then suspended, but was
later reinstated for a further period. It was an all-out alert in which
troops occupied field positions with full equipment and ammunition.
Gen. Herron said that it occasioned no disturbance of the civilian
population. This alert was invoked when Gen. Marshall was chief of
staff under conditions which in no degree were comparable to the
known existing danger in November and December of 1941, when
Marshall was still chief of staff. He could have issued his orders then
in language equally clear if convinced that Hawaii was in immedi­
ate peril.*

Kimmel said:

It is one thing to warn commanders at a particular base of
the probable outbreak of war in theaters thousands of miles
away, knowing and expecting that they will continue their as­
signed tasks and missions after the receipt of such warning, and
that the very nature of the warning emphasizes to them the
necessity for continuing such tasks and missions.

·The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (p. 43) points out that
in contrast to the "war warnings" of November, 1941, the language of the Herron
alert was "crystal clear."
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It is quite another thing to warn commanders at a particular
base of an attack to be expected in their own locality. In 1941,
we of the Pacific fleet had a plethora of premonitions, of gen­
eralized warnings, and forebodings that Japan might embark
on aggressive action in the Far East at anyone of the variously
predicted dates. After receipt of such warnings, we were ex­
pected to continue with renewed intensity and zeal our own
training program and preparations for war rather than to go on
an all-out local alert against attack....

Throughout 1941, the Navy Department had several courses
open. It could furnish me directly with the best evidence of
Japanese intentions and plans-the intercepted Japanese military
and diplomatic messages. This would have given me an oppor­
tunity to judge for myself the gravity and intensity of the crisis
as December 7, 1941, approached, and the probability of a Japa­
nese attack on Hawaii. The Navy Department failed to do this.
The Navy Department did not permit me to evaluate for my­
self the intercepted Japanese military and diplomatic messages.

Another course of action then remained. That was to issue
an order which would have directed dispositions of the fleet to
guard against an attack in Hawaii. The message of June 17,
1940, "Be on the alert against hostile overseas raids," was such
an order. It would have had the same effect in December of
1941 as it had in June of 1940. Such an order was not given.
It then remained for the War and Navy departments to order

Short and himself to execute their joint coastal frontier defense plan,
or to order the fleet and Army to mobilize under the Pacific war plan,
which would have placed the fleet on a war basis without authorizing
acts of war. Neither of these was done.19

Discussing the so-called "war warning" of November 27, Kimmel
said,

The phrase "war warning" cannot be made a catch-all for
all the contingencies hindsight may suggest. . . . The state­
ment . . . that negotiations had ceased on November 27 was
a pale reflection of actual events; so partial a statement as to
be misleading. The parties had not merely stopped talking.
They were at swordspoints. So far as Japan was concerned, the
talking that went on after November 26 was play-acting. It
was a Japanese stratagem to conceal a blow which Japan was
preparing to deliver. The stratagem did not fool the Navy
Department. The Navy Department knew the scheme. The
Pacific fleet was exposed to this Japanese stratagem because the
Navy Department did not pass on its knowledge of the Japa­
nese trick.20
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In six separate dispatches, on November 5, 11, 15, 16, 22, and 24,
Japan specifically established a deadline of November 25, later ad­
vanced to November 28, Washington time, by which its ambassadors
in Washington were to have concluded an agreement with the United
States for a settlement of Pacific problems. On November 22 Tokyo
advised the ambassadors that if no such agreement were reached by the
time of the deadline, "things are automatically going to happen." Mes­
sages from November 28 on, which were intercepted and decoded, in­
formed the American government that Hull's proposal of November
26 was completely unsatisfactory to Japan and that an actual rupture
of negotiations would occur upon receipt of the Japanese reply. The
dispatches showed that Japan attached great importance to the con­
tinuance of negotiations to conceal from the United States whatever
plan automatically took effect on- November 28.

As time went on after November 28, Japanese insistence that the
ambassadors keep up the pretense of negotiating to divert the sus­
picion of the United States constituted evidence that the operation
which Japan had put into effect on November 28 would require a
substantial time interval before its results became apparent to the
American government, and that in its initial phases the Japanese
evidently believed that it could be effectively concealed.

There was another category of intelligence available in Washing­
ton which would have pointed directly to Pearl Harbor as the objec­
tive of this mysterious plan.* These were the spy messages between
Tokyo and Hawaii. No word of them was sent to Kimmel or Short.

On September 24 the Japanese government instructed Consul
General Nagoa Kita in Honolulu to divide the waters of Pearl
Harbor into five sub-areas in reporting on warships at anchor or tied
up at wharves, docks, or buoys. Area "A" was the term prescribed to
delineate the waters between Ford Island and the arsenal; "B" the
waters south and west of Ford Island; "C," East Loch; "D," Middle
Loch; and "E," West Loch and communicating water routes.

"With regard to warships and aircraft carriers," the consul was
instructed, "we would like to have you report on those at anchor
(these are not so important), tied up at wharves, buoys, and in docks.
(Designate types and classes briefly. If possible we would like to have

·"In the days immediately preceding Pearl Harbor, Japan made no effort to conceal
the movements or presence of her naval forces in South East Asia (Tr., Vol. 3, p. 453).
The movements of her troops in Indo-China at that time were the subject of diplo­
matic exchanges between the United States and Japan (For. ReI. II, p. 779). Yet the
intercepts showed that some Japanese plan went into effect automatically on Nov. 29,
from which Japan hoped to divert American suspicion by a pretext of continued
negotiations" (Min., p. 26).
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you make mention of the fact when there are two or more vessels
alongside the same wharf.) "21

On September 29 Kita replied to this dispatch by listing a detailed
system of symbols to be used thereafter in designating the location of
vessels in Pearl Harbor.22 On November 15 Tokyo sent the follow­
ing dispatch to Honolulu, "As relations between Japan and the United
States are most critical, make your 'ships in harbor report' irregular
but at the rate of twice a week. Although you already are no doubt
aware, please take extra care to maintain secrecy."23 On November 18
another Tokyo message directed Honolulu: "Please report on the
following areas as to vessels anchored therein: Area N, Pearl Harbor,
Mamala Bay (Honolulu), and the areas adjacent thereto. (Make
your investigation with great secrecy.)"24

On November 18 the Japanese consul general in Honolulu reported
in detail to Tokyo the ships in harbor and the course and speed of
vessels entering the harbor, and their distances apart.25 On November
20 Tokyo instructed Honolulu to make a comprehensive investigation
of flee~ bases in the neighborhood of the Hawaiian military reserva­
tion.26

The most significant of these instructions to Honolulu agents con­
cerning the berthing of the fleet was sent on November 29. It said,
"We have been receiving reports from you on ship movements, but
in future will you also report even when there are no movements.":fF27

The date of this dispatch was the same as that on which Tokyo had
stated that "things are automatically going to happen." What was
happening was that the Japanese fleet was bearing down on Pearl
Harbor for the attack, and Tokyo wanted assurance that the warships
of the Pacific fleet would be found where they were expected to be
-set up as stationary targets at their harbor moorings.

On December 2 the spies in Hawaii were informed:

In view of the present situation, the presence in port of war­
ships, airplane carriers, and cruisers is of the utmost importance.
Hereafter, to the utmost of your ability, let me know day by
day. Wire in each case whether or not there are any observation
balloons above Pearl Harbor or if there are any indications that
any will be sent up. Also advise me whether or not the war­
ships are provided with anti-mine nets.28

At 7:22 P.M., December 6, the night before the Japanese carrier
assault on Pearl Harbor, American intelligence intercepted this re­
port by the spies to Tokyo:

·Italics supplied.
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The following ships were observed at anchor: nine battle­
ships, three light cruisers, three submarine tenders, seventeen
destroyers, and in addition there were four light cruisers and
two destroyers lying at the docks. The heavy cruisers and air­
plane carriers have all left. It appears that no air reconnaissance
is being conducted by the fleet air arm.29

At 12 :42 A.M., December 7, American intelligence intercepted an­
other message from Kita which was a clear give-away. After dis­
cussing the lack of balloon barrage defense, the consul at Honolulu
reported as follows to Tokyo:

However, even though they have actually made preparations,
because they must control the air over the water and land run­
ways of the airports in the vicinity of Pearl Harbor, Hickam,
Ford and Ewa, there are limits to the balloon defense of Pearl
Harbor. I imagine that in all probability there is considerable
opportunity left to take advantage for a surprise attack against
these places.3o

On December 4, Washington intercepted the "east winds rain"
code report that apprised Roosevelt that Japan had determined upon
a state of war with the United States, omitting a formal declaration.
After the decoding of the long series of messages from the Jap spies
telling of the fleet disposition in Pearl Harbor, there could be no ques­
tion where the attack would come. The spy message of December 6
set up our warships in harbor for the attack of the following day.
Yet no word of warning went from Washington to Kimmel and
Short until too late.

Washington's excuse is that the last two messages were not decoded
until December 8.31 They were intercepted by the Army monitoring
station at San Francisco and copies were mailed to Washington.
When the Army signal intelligence service heard they were on the
way, San Francisco was ordered to put them on a teletype which had
been installed that very day. Army translators were called back on
duty in Washington that night, but spent their time decoding Jap
diplomatic messages.

Although the information in the messages had been requested by
Tokyo in a message intercepted at Hawaii on December 2, the request
for this intelligence was forwarded to Washington by air mail for
decoding and did not arrive there until December 23. Army intelli­
gence thus was deprived of the tipoff that the responses from Hono­
lulu would point to Japanese intentions to attack the fleet and base.32

A third message of similar purport was translated in the rough
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at Washington by 1:00 P.M. on Saturday, the 6th. This message was
sent from Honolulu on December 3 by Consul General Kita. The
message arranged light signals to be shown in windows at night which
could only have served to guide an enemy offshore attacking force.
Testimony was given by Army cryptographers that they were in­
structed to hold up distribution of the translation until they achieved
a "smooth translation.,,33

"If you could have had that information," Senator Ferguson asked
Gen. Short, "it would have indicated an attack on Hawaii, would it
not?"

"Yes, sir," Short agreed.
Referring to the message of December 6 stating that there were no

barrage balloons up and that there was opportunity for a surprise
attack, Ferguson asked Short, "If that had been decoded and sent to
you, or the information from it, would that have meant anything to
you?"

"That would practically have meant a surprise attack was in store
for us or was a certainty," Short said.

"And would that alone have alerted you?"
"Very decidedly."34
Adm. Kimmel testified before the congressional committee that in

the volume of intercepted Japanese dispatches eliciting and obtaining
information about American military installations and naval move­
ments, the dispatches concerning Pearl Harbor, on and after Septem­
ber 24, stand out, apart from all others. He said:

No other harbor or base in American territory or possessions
was divided into sub-areas by Japan. In no other area was the
Japanese government seeking information as to whether two or
more vessels were alongside the same wharf.... With the dis­
patch of September 24 and those which followed, there was a
significant and ominous change in the character of the informa­
tion which the Japanese government sought and obtained. The
espionage then directed was of an unusual character and out­
side the realm of reasonable suspicion. It was no longer merely
directed to ascertaining the general whereabouts of ships of the
fleet. It was directed to the presence of particular ships and
particular areas; to such minute detail as what ships were dou­
ble-docked at the same wharf.

In the period immediately preceding the attack, the Jap con­
sul general in Hawaii was directed by Tokyo to report even
when there were no movements of ships in and out of Pearl
Harbor. These Japanese instructions and reports pointed to an
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attack by Japan upon the ships in Pearl Harbor. The informa­
tion sought and obtained, with such painstaking detail, had no
other conceivable usefulness from a military viewpoint. Its
utility was in planning and executing an attack upon the ships
in port. Its effective value was lost completely when the ships
left their reported berthings in Pearl Harbor.

No one had a more direct and immediate interest in the secu­
rity of the fleet in Pearl Harbor than its commander-in-chief.
No one had a greater right than I to know that Japan had
carved up Pearl Harbor into sub-areas and was seeking and
receiving reports as to the precise berthings in that harbor of
ships of the fleet. I had been sent Mr. Grew's report earlier in
the year with positive advice from the Navy Department that
no credence was to be placed in the rumored Japanese plans for
an attack on Pearl Harbor. I was told then that no Japanese
move against Pearl Harbor appeared "imminent or planned for
in the foreseeable future." Certainly I was entitled to know
when information in the Navy, Department completely altered
the information and advice previously given to me.S5

The irony of Kimmel's predicament was that the information
which the Roosevelt administration denied the commander-in-chief of
the United States fleet was being freely given to the British all through
1941. Gen. Miles testified that the secret American process for decod­
ing Japanese communications was given to Britain as early as Janu­
ary.S6

Kimmel told the congressional committee that he, as commander­
in-chief of the fleet, was just "as entitled to receive copies of intercepted
Japanese communications as the British Admiralty."s7 Knowledge of
these dispatches, the admiral said, would have radically changed his
estimate of the situation in the Pacific and would even have afforded
an opportunity to "ambush the Japanese striking force as it ventured
to Hawaii."

Gen. Short protested against receiving the same kind of treatment.

While the War Department G-2 may not have felt bound to
let me know about the routine operations of the Japanese in
keeping track of our naval ships, they should certainly have let
me know that the Japanese were getting reports of the exact
location of the ships in Pearl Harbor, which might indicate
more than just keeping track, because such details would be
useful only for sabotage, or for air and submarine attack, in
Hawaii. As early as October 9, G-2 in Washington knew of
this Japanese espionage. This message, analyzed critically, is
really a bombing plan for Pearl Harbor.ss
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The Hawaiian commanders, as has been seen, were also denied
knowledge of the final Jap diplomatic note of December 6-7, followed
by the pilot message directing that the statement be handed in to Hull
at 1:00 P.M. The Army Board has shown that there could have been
no misconception as to the meaning to be read into these dispatches.
"It was well known," the report states,

that Japan's entry into all wars of the past has been character­
ized by p the first overt act of war coming simultaneously with
the declaration. The services, both Army and Navy, were well
aware of this Japanese characteristic. It was, therefore, to be
expected that an unexpected attack would be made by Japan as
the first indication of a breach of relations.39

The breach of relations would come at 1:00 P.M., Washington time.
Therefore, that was the hour for war and the first overt act. Kimmel
asserted:

All this information was denied to Gen. Short and me. Had
we not been denied this many things would have been different.
Had we been furnished this information as little as two or three
hours before the attack, which was easily feasible and possible,
much could have been done.40

What Kimmel could have done in those crucial two hours has been
told by Adm. Wilkinson. He testified that Kimmel could have sent
his major fleet units out of Pearl Harbor and into the open sea at ten­
minute intervals, with destroyers and other smaller craft leaving si­
multaneously. In two hours Kimmel could have got twelve major ships
and as many as twelve to fourteen smaller vessels out of the confined
harbor, where they were trapped by the Jap torpedo and bombing
planes.41

Gen. Short's testimony showed how helpless the fleet was, moored
to its berthings in harbor. He said that the Japs' low-flying torpedo
planes probably would have been able to get through our anti-aircraft
barrage even if the harbor defenses had been on a full alert, because
our anti-aircraft was ineffective against low-flying aircraft.42

If. the ships had left harbor, however, the story, Adm. Kimmel
says, would have been different. In the open sea they would have
been dispersed, they would have been able to maneuver against at­
tack, they would have been expecting attack, and they would have
been on a full alert, with battle stations manned and all guns firing.
A good number of the planes based on Hawaiian fields would have
been in the air to meet the oncoming attack force. Kimmel said:
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I surely was entitled to know of the hour fixed by Japan for
the probable outbreak of war against the United States. I can­
not understand now-I have never understood-I may never
understand-why I was deprived of the information available
in the Navy Department in Washington on Saturday night and
Sunday morning. . . . The Pacific fleet deserved a fighting
chance. It was entitled to receive from the Navy Department
the best information available. Such information had been ur­
gently requested. I had been assured that it would be furnished
me. We faced our problems in the Pacific confident that such
assurance would be faithfully carried out. . . .

If this investigation succeeds in preserving for the future the
pertinent facts about Pearl Harbor, I shall be content. History,
with the perspective of the long tomorrow, will enter the final
directive in my case. I am confident of that verdict.43

Gen. Short faced the congressional committee with a similarly
resolute spirit. He said:

As a matter of the interests of the country and as a loyal
soldier, I maintained a steadfast silence for four years and I
bore the load of public censure during this time and I would
have continued to bear it so long as I thought the question of
national security was involved. However, the war is now
ended!4

Short was especially severe in his criticism of Washington for
failing to correct his anti-sabotage alert and then blaming him for
not having instituted a higher degree of readiness:

When any department of the Army has issued an order on
any matter of importance, it has performed only one-half of its
function. The follow-up to see that the order has been carried
out as desired is at least as important as issuing the order. The
War Department had nine days in which to check up on the
alert status in Hawaii and to make sure that the measures taken
by me were what was desired, which it did not do. The check­
up would have required no more than a reading of my report
of measures taken.

I felt, and still feel, that if the chief of staff wanted an all­
out alert in Hawaii, he would have ordered it himself and not
expected me to make the decision, knowing as he did how rela­
tively limited was my information as compared to that available
to him!l5

Marshall himself, when examined before the congressional com­
mittee, inferentially conceded the justice of this complaint. He was
questioned by Representative Keefe as follows:
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KEEFE: When you issued the alert on the 17th of June, 1940,
you used the language, "To deal with possible trans-Pacific
raid."

MARSHALL: That is correct, sir.
KEEFE: Yes. Well, now, then, let us put it this way without

splitting words: Gen. Marshall, on the morning of the 28th of
November you had tremendously more information as to the
possibility of an attack by the Japanese than you had in June,
1940?

MARSHALL: That is correct, sir.
KEEFE: If you had information in June, 1940, as to the pos­

sibilities of a trans-Pacific raid, you had a mountain of evidence
on the 27th of November, did you not, to the same effect?

MARSHALL: That is correct.46

Marshall was interrogated by Keefe as follows concerning his
responsibility to check up on the measures taken by Short and re­
ported by him in response to War Department message No. 472:

KEEFE: So we get down to the simple fact that here is a
message from your commanding general in the bastion of de­
fense in the Pacific to which all of our defenses, as you have
testified, were tied, in which he tells you that he is alerted to
prevent sabotage; liaison with Navy. Now in all fairness, Gen.
Marshall, in the exercise of ordinary care as chief of staff ought
you not to have proceeded to investigate further and give further
orders to Gen. Short when it appeared that he was only alerted
against sabotage?

MARSHALL: As I stated earlier, that was my opportunity to
intervene and I did not do it.

KEEFE: Well, now, you say that was your opportunity. That
was your responsibility, was it not?

MARSHALL: You can put it that way, sir.
KEEFE: Well, I don't want to put it that way. I am asking

you. You used the words "that was your opportunity," I do not
want an opportunity to arise in the future discussion of this
matter to have a conflict of words and not to be able to under­
stand just what you meant. Do I understand that your use of
the word "opportunity" is synonymous with responsibility?

MARSHALL: Mr. Keefe, I had an immense number of papers
going over my desk every day informing me what was happen­
ing anywhere in the world.... I noted them and initialed them;
those that I thought the Secretary of War ought specifically to
see I put them out for him to see, to be sure that he would see
it in case by any chance he did not see the same message.



PEARL HARBOR

I was not passing the responsibility on to the Secretary of
War. I merely wanted him to know.

Now the same thing related to these orders of the War De­
partment. I was responsible. I was responsible for the actions
of the general staff throughout on large matters and on the small
matters. I was responsible for those, but I am not a bookkeep­
ing machine and it is extremely difficult, it is an extremely diffi­
cult thing for me to take each thing in its turn and give it
exactly the attention that it had merited.

Now in this particular case a very tragic thing occurred,
there is no question about that, there is no question in regard
to my responsibility as chief of staff. I am not attempting to
evade that at all" but I do not think it is quite characterized in
the manner that you have expressed yourself.

KEEFE: Well, now, let me put it in another way. You have
now stated it was your· responsibility as chief of staff to see to it
that Gen. Short out there in Hawaii, which you have described
as being your bastion of defense, to see tha,t he was alerted, and
if he misinterpreted your order to see that that order was carried
out.

MARSHALL: That is my 'responsibility, sir.
KEEFE: Now, I have stated it correctly, haven't I?
MARSHALL: Yes, sir, you have.4:7

Gen. Gerow admitted that there had been a failure to follow up
the warning sent to Short November 27. "If there was any responsi­
bility to be attached to the War Department for failure to send an
inquiry to Gen. Short," he said, "the responsibility must rest on war
plans divisions, and I accept that responsibility as chief of war plans
division."48

When Representative Keefe asked Marshall about Gerow's as­
sumption of responsibility, the chief of staff stated, "He had a direct
responsibility and I had the full responsibility."49

"The War Department," commented Short, "had four years to
admit that a follow-up should have been made on the November 27
message and on my report of the same date, but no such admission
of responsibility was made public until Gen. Gerow and Gen. Mar­
shall testified before this committee."5o

As to his conclusion that sabotage was the principal danger, Short
said that 37 per cent of the population of Hawaii (about 161,000
persons) was of Japanese descent. Of these 40,000 were aliens. Many
lived in close proximity to air fields and defense installations.51 Mar­
shall himself on May 3, 1941, had described sabotage as the primary
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danger in Hawaii. In an aide memoire to President Roosevelt, the
chief of staff said: "In point of sequence, sabotage is first to be ex­
pected and may, within a very limited time, cause great damage. On
this account, and in order to assure strong control, it would be highly
desirable to set up a military control of the islands prior to the likeli­
hood of our involvement in the Far East."52

Marshall, writing Short on February 7, 1941, just after the general
had assumed command in Hawaii, said, "The risk of sabotage and
the risk involved in a surprise raid by air and by submarine constitute
the real perils of the situation."53

Short said:

I felt that I had a right to expect the War Department to
inform me by the most rapid means possible if a real crisis
arose in Japanese relations. I did not expect that when the crisis
arose the message would remain in the hands of Gen. Miles and
Col. Bratton without action from 9:00 A.M. till 11 :25 A.M., and
that when action was finally taken the desire for secrecy would
be considered more important than the element of time. Had
the message in regard to the Japanese ultimatum and the burn­
ing of their code machines been given me by telephone as an
urgent message in the clear without loss of time for encoding
and decoding, delivery, etc., or if I had been directed by tele­
phone to go on an all-out alert for a dawn trans-Pacific raid,
without being told the reason, I would have had approximately
four hours to make detailed preparations to meet an immediate
attack.

In that time, Short said, he could have warmed up his planes and
got them into the air, just as Kimmel could have put to sea with his
ships. Short continued:

My decision to put the Hawaiian Department on an alert to
prevent sabotage was based upon a belief that sabotage was our
gravest danger and that air attack was not imminent. I realize
that my decision was wrong. I had every reason to believe,
however, that my estimate of the situation coincided with that
of the War Department general staff, which had the signal ad­
vantage of superior sources of intelligence as to enemy inten­
tions.

I know it is hindsight, but if I had been furnished the in­
formation which the War Department had, I do not believe
that I would have made a mistaken estimate of the situation.
To make my meaning clear, I want to add that I do not believe
that my estimate was due to any carelessness on my part or on
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the part of the senior Army and Navy officers with whom I
consulted. Nor do I believe that my error was a substantial
factor in causing the damage which our Pacific fleet suffered
during the attack.54

Senator Ferguson contrasted the hampering restrictions laid by
the November 27 warning upon the Pacific fleet and Hawaii garrison
with the original Roosevelt administration theory that the fleet, at
Pearl Harbor, would constitute a "deterrent" to Japan.

Ferguson asked Short how he could have committed an "overt
act" against Japan. The general said that he could have committed
it only by sending out his long-range bombers, with a subsequent
attack by them upon a Japanese ship or submarine, or by arresting
consular agents or Japanese nationals and thus occasioning offense to
Tokyo.

Short said that the "overt act" restriction in the November 27
warning "meant to me simply that the War Department was extremely
anxious to avoid war, and they did not want any international inci­
dent to happen in Hawaii that might provoke war or might give the
Japanese an opportunity to claim that we had started the war."

Senator Ferguson recalled that "we had put the fleet in Hawaii in
order that we might show Japan our strength, and we were backing
up our diplomacy by the fleet being out there." He asked why, then,
with a strong army in Hawaii, the United States should have in­
structed it to act as if "we were weak and afraid."

Emphasizing the contradiction, Ferguson said to Short,

In one case, we put the Navy in there as a symbol of strength,
and in the other case-in your case-we tried to conceal the fact
that you had a strong army and you were ready for anything
that might happen.

Now, would it have been possible that if we had a full mo..
bilization of the Army-some 40,000 men in Hawaii-if we had
shown that we were on the alert for anything that might come,
we would never have had an attack at Pearl Harbor?

Short replied:

I think it quite probable that if that had been reported to the
Japanese, they would have turned back the attacking force.

Ferguson asked Short if the warning of November 27 had omitted
the restrictions against alarming the public or disclosing intent, and
if Short had then fully alerted his command, with the soldiers under
arms, the machine guns manned, the radar working twenty-four hours
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a day, "then would you have come to the conclusion, in your opinion
as an Army general, that they would have turned back?"

"There would have been a very excellent chance that they would
have turned back," said Short. "That would have been the tendency,
because they would have felt, or they would be sure, that they would
take heavy losses. Surprise was the only opportunity they had to
succeed."55

Ferguson then asked Short to assess the blame for having given
the Japanese the inestimable advantage of surprise. The Senator re­
called that Short had said, "I do not feel that I have been treated
fairly or with justice by the War Department. I was singled out as
an example, as the scapegoat for the disaster."

"You are covering very broad ground when you use the words
'War Department,'" said Ferguson. "I wish you would be specific
and tell me who you had in mind."

"I had in mind the general staff in particular,," Short replied, "be­
cause they were primarily responsible for the policies pursued by the
War Department."

"And the general staff was headed by whom?"
"Gen. Marshall."
"And who else would be in there?"
"Gen. Gerow as head of the war plans division had the direct re­

sponsibility of keeping me informed. Gen. Miles, the head of G-2,
had a very direct responsibility."

"What about the Secretary of War?" asked Ferguson. "Is he in­
cluded there in the words 'War Department?'"

"As far as technical things went, I would not have expected him
to be as fully aware of the significance of technical things. I would
expect him to be fully aware of any policy."

"So, as far as the policy was concerned, he would be included in
that?"

"Yes, sir."56
It is time to consider the policy-makers.



Chapter Eighteen

THE LIGHT THAT FAILED

THE ARMY Operations Manual in use on December 7, 1941, makes
the following pertinent observation:

From adequate and timely military intelligence the com­
mander is able to draw logical conclusions concerning enemy
lines of action. Military intelligence is thus an essential factor
in the estimate of the situation and in the conduct of opera­
tions.1

In his statement to the congressional committee, Gen. Short said,

There was a vast amount of highly significant information
available in the War Department which no responsible military
man could exclude from consideration in forming an estimate
of the situation. The War Department was aware of the fact
that I did not have this information and had already decided that
I should not get this information. It was therefore their duty
not only to make the estimate of the situation but to make the
decision as to what military action it required, and to give me
orders to go on an all-out alert instead of permitting my sabo­
tage alert to stand. This was in line with their centralized peace­
time control system.2

That Washington withheld the vital intelligence in its possession
from the Hawaiian commanders was admitted by Gen. Miles. "It
was not considered necessary that the commanding generals know
the day-to-day diplomatic developments," he said, "but only informa­
tion which might call for military action on their part."3

Discussing the information denied Kimmel and himself, Short
said,

If this information is connected up with the knowledge
gained of the definite Japanese intention to expand southward,
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it is clear that the War and Navy departments must have known
that war was a certainty, and that they, with this exclusive in­
telligence, wanted to make the estimate and decision as to
American military defensive action. This explains their care in
ordering me not to disclose intent, alarm the population, or do
anything which Japan could use as propaganda that the United
States had provoked war.'

This policy permitted a small circle in Washington to restrict the
"Magic" intelligence to themselves, to interpret it, and to issue direc­
tives to the field in the light of their evaluation. The evidence was
abundant and its meaning clear. Jap spying was extensive and effec­
tive, but in the competition for information American intelligence
had a great edge over the Japs. Our intelligence failure was not in
acquiring the information; it was in evaluating it, and, most of all,
in transmitting orders based on the known situation to the com­
manders who would be forced to meet the coming assault. This
failure was in Washington.

The tragedy of December 7 is the measure of Washington's fail­
ure. That failure was confessed when .the Manual of Army Field
Regulations was revised June 29, 1942. A section of this manual which
was not in effect on December 7 reads:

In time of strained relations, the War Department must ex­
haust every possible source of information to keep itself and
commanders of field forces advised of air, military, and naval
dispositions and movements of potential enemies and of the
trend of diplomatic relations.

This section, taking further cognizance of the Pearl Harbor defeat,
added that field commanders must keep informed of the "possibility
of a surprise attack" prior to a war declaration, and "must dispose
their forces so that a sudden attack will be defeated."5

Who was responsible for the failure? Gen. Miles has supplied the
answer. He told the congressional committee that the Japanese code
intercepts went to only nine persons: President Roosevelt, Secretary
of War Stimson, Secretary of the Navy Knox, Secretary of State Hull,
Chief of Staff Marshall, Chief of Naval Operations Stark, Gen. Gerow,
Col. R. S. Bratton, and Miles himself.6

To these Capt. Alwin Kramer, the Navy's custodian of secret ma­
terial in trips to the White House, added Harry Hopkins, the Presi­
dent's confidant. Kramer testified7 that although Hopkins was not on
the official list of recipients, he regularly saw the decoded messages.
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Kramer's instructions to show "Magic" to Hopkins came from Chief
of Naval Operations Stark. The captain said that he even made two
special trips to the naval hospital at Bethesda to deliver files of inter­
cepts to Hopkins while the latter was a patient.

Not even the existence of the messages, Miles said, was known to
Gen. Short and Adm. Kimmel in Hawaii. Miles said that Gen. Mar­
shall's policy was to confine knowledge that the United States was
decoding Japanese communications to a very few persons in order to
conceal a "military secret of incalculable value."

"Who made the decision that these messages should not be sent
to Hawaii as they were intercepted and translated, as far as the Army
is concerned?" Miles was asked.

"That followed from the general policy laid down by the chief of
staff that these messages and the fact of the existence of these mes­
sages or our ability to decode them should be confined to the least
possible number of persons; no distribution should be made outside
of W ashington."8

The emphasis given by Miles was to secrecy for secrecy's sake. It
was considered more important to preserve the secret that the mes­
sages were being intercepted and decoded than to make intelligent
use of the information thus provided. A similar admission was made
by Marshall in explaining his failure to telephone the warning of
December 7 to Hawaii. As Gen. Short remarked, "There was a feel­
ing still at that time that secrecy was more important than the time
element in getting the information to us as rapidly as possible."9

Miles made the astonishing statement to the congressional com­
mittee that the Army and Navy top command attached no particular
significance to the intercepted messages pointing to an attack on Pearl
Harbor. It was a regrettable error, he confessed, in view of what hap­
pened, but it was "perfectly normal" for the Japs to be seeking and
acquiring such information at the time. Only "hindsight," he re­
marked, gave the decoded messages their significance as preparations
for a surprise attack.10

The naval communications intelligence division and the signal in­
telligence unit of the Army intercepted, decoded, and translated the
messages, Miles said, and then delivered them to G-2. Col. Bratton
supervised the transmission of the texts to those on the distribution
list.

Gen. Miles said that the intercepts were conveyed in locked pouches
to the nine persons intrusted with their contents, the copies for Presi-
dent Roosevelt being delivered to Maj. Gen. Edwin M. Watson, Presi-
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dential aide. After being read, the copies were returned to Army
intelligence and burned, one file copy being retained.

Elaborating on his explanation of the necessity for strict secrecy
in handling the code intercepts, Miles said that he was aware that in
July, 1941, the Navy stopped sending summaries of the intercepts to
Adm. Kimmel.

"I remember clearly," Miles said, "that in that summer a joint
policy was developed of closing in on the secret."!1

Kimmel and Short were not advised of the policy, Miles said. It
restricted circulation of the significant intercepted messages to a hand­
ful of high officials.

Here is conclusive evidence that Mr. Roosevelt and the little circle
of Washington insiders had decreed that no one except themselves
should have access to the crucial information which was coming into
their hands, unknown to the Japs and to our own field commanders.
In reaching that decision they could not escape the responsibility that
went with it. It was their duty, and theirs alone, to evaluate the in­
telligence they were getting, to come to proper decisions on the basis
of it, to adopt a reasonable program to defend the country and its
outposts against the hostile action that was explicit in the decoded
messages, and, above all, to transmit to the responsible field com...
manders who would be compelled to meet the coming attack such
information and orders as it was absolutely essential for them to have
if they were to discharge their duties.

In assuming these responsibilities, the White House circle relieved
Adm. Kimmel and Gen. Short of the duty of making their own de­
cisions. They had no information on which to do so. The commanders
were as much in the dark as the public as to what was going on.
They depended upon Washington for guidance and they didn't get it.

The completeness of the failure in Washington to discharge the
duties imposed by accepting "Magic" responsibility was forcibly
pointed out to the congressional committee by two witnesses, Adm.
Smith, chief of staff to Adm. Kimmel, and Capt. E. M. Zacharias,
Navy expert on Japan. Smith said:

There was entirely too much secrecy before Pearl Harbor in
all branches of government connected with national defense.
I can see no reason for breaking ciphers in Washington unless
some use is going to be made of the contents. Adm. Kimmel
never saw those messages. I never learned of them until this
committee started its inquiry. We should certainly have had
this information.
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I think it was generally conceded that not all the Navy's
brains were in Washington at that time. Adm. Kimmel had a
competent staff, and he and his subordinates were concerned
with what was happening, or what might happen, in the Pa­
cific.12

Senator Ferguson, in examining Capt. Zacharias, pointed out that
decoded copies of intercepted Japanese communications had been fur­
nished "in the raw" to President Roosevelt and other high officials
charged with determining the national policy, that is, without evalu­
ation by intelligence officers. Zacharias observed that this procedure
"took the responsibility away from intelligence officers."13 The corol­
lary was that Roosevelt and his amateur associates, in taking the re­
sponsibility away from specialists trained to make a proper evaluation
of enemy intelligence, assumed that responsibility themselves.14 This
was made clear by Zacharias in saying that the system "resulted in
evaluation by persons not knowing the background of Japanese his­
tory, philosophy, and intentions."15

These men could not read the Japanese intercepts with an undi­
vided mind. They were preoccupied with procurement, training, and
the hundred and one details of getting ready for the war into which
they were rushing the country. They did not stop to take stock of the
effects of their policy.

A bald judgment on the stupidity of the evaluation given the code
intercepts was delivered by Maj. Gen. Cramer in one of his three
secret reports to Secretary Stimson.

The most that can be said relative to the Top Secret informa­
tion available in Washington is that a keener and more incisive
analysis by the intelligence sections of either service of the over­
all picture presented by these intercepts ... might have led to
an anticipation of the possibility, at least, of an attack on Pearl
Harbor at or about the time it actually occurred.16

Gen. Cramer was especially severe in discussing the shortcomings
of Gen. Gerow, who was responsible for keeping Short informed.
Referring to the Army Board's criticism of Gerow, Cramer said:

But since we know in retrospect that Short was not, appar­
ently, fully alive to an imminent outside threat and since the
war plans division had received substantial information from
the intelligence section, G-2, the [Army] Board argues that
had this additional information been transmitted to Short it
might have convinced him not only that war was imminent
but that there was a real possibility of a surprise air attack on
Hawaii.
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In retrospect it is difficult to preceive any substantial reason
for not sending Short this additional information or, in the
alternative, checking to see whether Short was sufficiently alive
to the danger. Gen. Gerow did neither. In my opinion Gen.
Gerow showed a lack of imagination in failing to realize that
had the Top Secret information been sent to Short it could not
have had any other than a beneficial effect.

Gen. Gerow also showed lack of imagination in failing to
make the proper deductions from the Japanese intercepts. For
instance, the message of September 24 from Tokyo to Honolulu
requesting reports on vessels in Pearl Harbor and dividing Pearl
Harbor into various subdivisions for that purpose, coupled with
the message of November 15 to Honolulu to make "the ships in
harbor report" irregular, and the further message of November
29 to Honolulu asking for reports even when there were no ship
movements, might readily have suggested to an imaginative
person a possible Jap design on Pearl Harbor.

Failure to appreciate the significance of such messages shows
a lack of the type of skill in anticipating and preparing against
eventualities which we have a right to expect in an officer at the
head of the war plans division. If this criticism seems harsh, it
only illustrates the advisability of Gen. Gerow transmitting the
Top Secret information to Short.17

Despite this castigation, coming on top of the Army Board's find­
ing that Gerow was guilty of signal failure in the discharge of his
duties as war plans officer/8 Gerow was rewarded after Pearl Harbor
with appointment as commander of the 15th Army and later was
named commandant of the command and general staff school at Fort
Leavenworth, the Army's postgraduate school.

Senator Ferguson asked Gen. Short whether intelligence was not
to be used for two functions: First, to determine when war might
come; second, to determine where war might come. Gen. Short said
that these were the duties of intelligence, but that he would add a
third duty-to determine the strength that the prospective enemy
might bring to bear on its adversary at the point of attack.

Ferguson then asked Short whether the five so-called warning
messages which he received from the Army high command before
December 7 told him when war was coming. Short replied that the
message of November 27 indicated that war would be coming reason­
ably soon, although it left open a possibility that hostilities would be
avoided.

"Did they tell you where war was coming?"
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"At no time after July 8 did a War Department message directed
to me ever point in any direction," Short replied.

"Would you say that the alert of June 17, 1940, told Gen. Herron
where war was coming?"

"It told him definitely that they were afraid of a trans-Pacific raid
on the island of Oahu," Short responded.

"And that was definite information?"
"Absolutely."
"Not the date, but definite information as to where?"
"Yes, sir."
"Did you have any such warning?" Ferguson asked.
"I did not."19
Of all the high officials in Washington who knew the course of

the Japanese-American diplomatic negotiations and were able to in­
terpret it in the light of "Magic," Secretary Hull alone showed some
dim discernment of the outcome. On November 7 he told a cabinet
meeting that relations with Japan were extremely critical and that
there was "imminent possibility" that Japan might at any moment
start a new military movement of conquest by force.2o Again, at a
meeting of the war cabinet on November 21, Hull told the President,
Stimson, and Knox to be on guard lest the Japanese "stampede the
hell out of our scattered forces in the Pacific."21 As D-day grew closer,
however, Mr. Hull's clairvoyance diminished in proportion, so that
finally, on December 7, when the intelligence of the last few days
had left no question of what was coming, he professed to be shocked.22

It is now known that it was clear to President Roosevelt on the
night of December 6 that war was at hand. The story of the Presi­
dent's response to the first thirteen parts of the Japanese reply. to Hull's
counter-proposals of November 26 was finally told to the congressional
committee on February 15, 1946, by Comdr. L. R. Schulz, assistant
naval aide at the White House in the closing months of 1941.

For four years, through successive investigations, no one had ever
sought out Schulz or tried to learn what went on in the White House
the night before the Pearl Harbor attack. On February 12, 1946,
Senator Ferguson succeeded in having Schulz called as a witness be­
fore the congressional committee. The commander was then serving
on the battleship "Indiana," which put into San Francisco and landed
him in response to the congressional subpoena. Schulz boarded a
plane and arrived in Washington a few hours before giving his testi­
mony.

It developed that Capt. Kramer delivered the thirteen parts to
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Schulz at the White House about 9:30 P.M. on December 6. Schulz
took the pouch containing the Japanese note to Roosevelt's second­
floor study, where he unlocked it with a key given him by Capt. John
R. Beardall, the President's naval aide~ who had gone off duty that
afternoon after telling Schulz an important message was coming from
the Navy Department that Roosevelt should see at once.

The President read the message at his desk while his confidential
adviser, Harry Hopkins, paced the floor. Roosevelt handed the mes­
sage to Hopkins, who also read it. The President then exclaimed,
"This means war!"

Hopkins agreed with Roosevelt's statement. The President's con­
fidant then said, "Since war is to come at the convenience of the Japs,
it is too bad we can't strike the first blow and avert a Japanese sur­
prise attack."

The President nodded and said, "No, we can't do that. We are a
democracy. We are a peaceful people. We have a good record."23

The situation had been so managed that now America was to be
attacked and perforce would be in the war. Roosevelt would then be
absolved of his promises that Americans were not to be sent into
foreign wars.

From Schulz's account, it is known that Roosevelt reached for the
telephone and attempted to get Adm. Stark. He was informed that
the chief of operations was at the National Theater, where "The Stu­
dent Prince" was playing. He decided not to have Stark paged, lest
the action alarm the public. He stated that he would get the admiral
later. Comdr. Schulz then left.

What went on at the White House and among the officials of the
government and of the Army and Navy high command that night is
a mystery which still awaits solution. The night of December 6 was
the most important in the lives of the President and the men who were
charged with the defense of America. It is almost inconceivable that
the witnesses still alive can have forgotten what happened, but Gen.
Marshall and Adm. Stark repeatedly testified under oath that they
cannot remember.

These men, with everyone else who had a pipe line into Tokyo's
thinking, had absolute knowledge that war was at hand.* Yet, aware

·"The evidence indicated that the first thirteen parts were read on the evening of
Dec. 6 by, particularly, the President, Mr. Harry Hopkins, Secretary Knox, Adm. Inger­
soll, Adm. Turner, Adm. Wilkinson, Adm. Beardall, Gen. Miles, Capt. Kramer, and
Col. Bratton.

"Owing to the practice of making decisions by war cabinets, councils, joint com­
mittees, and individuals, official responsibility of each man was so blurred that each
man became indifferent to his own individual responsibility. A good example of this
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as they were that they were living in an hour of crisis, they professed
not to be able to recall where they were, what they did, and whom
they saw.

What Comdr. Schulz had overheard suggested that Roosevelt had
the intention of calling a war conference later that night. Did he
eventually bring Stark, perhaps Gen. Marshall, Hull, Secretary Knox,
and Secretary Stimson to the White House?

Stark and Marshall deny it. Stark, after being informed of Schulz's
evidence that he was at the theater, professed still to be uncertain
about how he had spent the evening. When he read a newspaper
account of a party given by the Canadian minister the afternoon of
the 6th which listed Adm. and Mrs. Stark as guests, he denied that
either he or his wife had attended. He could not remember a single
thing.24 This crucial day in his life was a blank.

More than three months after concluding its hearings, the congres­
sional committee reopened the record to take testimony that Stark,
after returning from the theater, had received a telephone call from
Roosevelt. The admiral's recollection was refreshed to this extent by
Capt. Harold D. Krick, who had been with him that night.

Krick, who was Stark's flag lieutenant, said that when Stark re­
turned to his quarters, he was informed that there had been a call
from the White House during his absence. The admiral went to his
upstairs study, where he stayed five or ten minutes.

"What, if anything, did he say to you when he came down?"
Krick was asked.

"Only that conditions in the Pacific were serious-that connections
with Japan were in a serious state," Krick replied. "That was the sub­
stance of it."

The captain said that while he did not recall Stark telling him
that he had talked with Roosevelt, he had "a distinct impression"
that the admiral's conversation was with the President. He left the
Stark home at 11 :30 P.M.

Stark could add nothing to Krick's information. He said he had
talked frequently with Roosevelt in the days of crisis, and that there
would have been nothing unusual in a conversation with the Presi­
dent that night. He said he could only assume that Roosevelt men­
tioned something to him about the Japanese note.

"I thought it was nothing that required any action from me," he

is Adm. Turner's assumption that so long as Adm. Wilkinson, Adm. Ingersoll, and
Secretary Knox had seen the thirteen-part message, 'I did not believe it was my func­
tion to take any action.' No one took action that night; all waited for the next day"
(Min., p. 34).
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said, "and I took none. If he had said anything about the imminence
of war, or anything requiring action, it would have stirred me into
action."

Stark said that he had searched his memory in an attempt to re­
member the conversation, but added, "I can only repeat I do not
recall it."25

At 9:00 A.M. on December 7, Capt. Kramer delivered the complete
fourteen-part Jap message to Stark at his office. After reading it, the
admiral is supposed to have cried, "My God! This means war. I
must get word to Kimmel at once."26 He did not do so. He spent
two and a half hours attempting to reach Gen. Marshall, and it was
not until 11 :58 A.M. that they drafted the message to be sent to Short.
Stark himself made no effort to communicate with Kimmel. Thus
the original mystery of what he did the night of the 6th yields to the
larger mystery of his inertia on the 7th.

The committee ran into the same kind of stone wall when it
questioned Gen. Marshall about the night of December 6. The
general said he had no recollection of having left his quarters at Fort
Myer, Virginia. Mrs. Marshall, he stated, was convalescing after an
illness, which, he said, made him doubly certain he had not left
home.21 At an earlier hearing of the committee, he said that he, or
an orderly, was at home during the entire evening.28 If only an
orderly was there part of the time, Marshall himself was absent some
of the time. In all of his accounts, however, he insisted that the first
thirteen parts of Japan's final reply were not brought to his attention
on December 6.29

If Marshall did not get this vital information, it was because of
the strange apathy displayed by Col. (now Lieut. Gen.) Walter Be­
dell Smith as secretary of the general staff.

The Army 'Board of Inquiry which investigated Pearl Harbor
makes clear in its report that Gen. Smith was indifferent or derelict
in the handling of the thirteen-part Jap message the night of the 6th.
Smith's behavior was the more incomprehensible, the board empha­
sized, because it was utterly clear to all responsible officers of govern­
ment and the services by December 6 that war was close at hand.
The report states:

The record shows that from informers and other sources
the War Department had complete and detailed information of
Japanese intentions. Information of the evident Japanese inten­
tion to go to war in the very near future was well known to the
Secretary of State, the Secretary of War, the chief of staff of the
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Army, the Secretary of the Navy, and the chief of naval opera­
tions. It was not a question of fact; it was only a question of
time. The next few days would see the end of peace and the
beginning of war.

When decoded Jap messages indicating immediate hostilities
"reached G-2 of the War Department not later than 9 o'clock the
evening of Dec. 6," the report further states, it was Smith in whose
hands they were placed. This intercepted information was transmitted
at once to Smith by Col. Bratton with a warning as to its extreme
importance. What did Smith do? He did nothing.

"Whatever was the reason of Col. Smith for not conveying this
message to Gen. Marshall on the night of Dec. 6, it was unfortunate,"
the report wryly remarks. "This information could have been sent
to Gen. Short on the afternoon (Honolulu time) of Dec. 6." Had
that been done, Short and Kimmel, would have had clear warning of
the probability of impending attack from twelve to eighteen hours in
advance of the Jap carrier assault. They would have been able to go
on a full alert and to make every possible preparation for defense.
Instead, they were left in the dark.

The Army Board is unequivocal on this point. Its report states:

Action [by the War Department], would have been sufficient
to have alerted the Hawaiian Department. It was in possession
of the information which was the last clear chance to use the
means available to meet an attack. It had the background of the
full development of the Japanese preparation for war and its
probable date.so

But nothing was done.
In the light of this disastrous failure, Gen. Smith's remarks before

the British Royal Service Institution on October 10, 1945, are of more
than passing curiosity. Smith said that American headquarters were
"a bit short on planning" and declared that if he were organizing
another headquarters again he would get "my intelligence officers and
my planners from the British War Office, if they would let me have
them."3l The Army report concurred in by three general officers had
kind words for the intelligence section which Smith disparaged in his
speech.

"Within the scope of its activities," the report said, "this division
performed well. It gathered much valuable and vital data."32

Four years later Smith is found to have been installed in one of
the top jobs of the Army as Gen. Eisenhower's chief of staff, and
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given the further distinction of being assigned to a diplomatic post
requiring the highest degree of judgment, tact, and ability-ambas­
sador to Russia. Col. Bratton and a colleague, Col. Otis T. Sadtler,
also on duty in the War Department in December, 1941, who dis­
played the same ability as Bratton to recognize a hawk from a hand­
saw in those crucial days;, still are colonels in minor posts despite the
fact that the Army Board singled them out for "interest and aggres­
siveness in attempting to have something done."33 Their conduct
stands in marked contrast to that of Smith, but he has been given
the promotions while they were consigned to oblivion.

There are mysteries here which shout for clarification. Was Smith
promoted because he withheld the warning until the blow had fallen?
The war hawks of the Roosevelt administration wanted a Pearl Har­
bor or something very much like it to push this country into war. "It
was desired," said they, "that the Japanese be permitted to commit the
first overt act." Smith's conduct almost automatically insured the
commission of the act.

Why were Colonels Bratton and Sadtler denied advancement when
they had so faithfully and intelligently recognized their responsibilities
and attempted to execute their duties ? Were they on the outside,
while Smith and the others later so greatly favored were the insiders
in a calculated plan to invite the attack that meant war?

The tender questioning of Secretary Hull before the congressional
committee failed to dispel the murk that overhung the events of the
night of December 6. Testimony was incontrovertible that the thir­
teen-part Jap message was delivered that evening to the duty officer
of the State Department, and it is inconceivable that the contents
would not have been communicated to Hull at once. It was established
by Capt. Kramer that the thirteen parts were delivered the night of
the 6th to Secretary Knox, who "made a phone call or two, presum­
ably including one to Secretary Hull,"34 and then told Kramer to
bring the Japanese note to the State Department at 10:00 A.M. the next
day.

Knox is dead and Stimson, after standing up to the routine of
office for five years, suddenly discovered himself ill when the con­
gressional committee began its hearings. Not a single spoken ques­
tion was addressed to him, although he was without doubt one of the
most important living witnesses.

The most tantalizing suggestion of what might have gone on the
night of December 6 is supplied by witnesses who talked to Knox
shortly after the attack upon Pearl Harbor. Adm. Kimmel related
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that when Knox arrived in Hawaii the week after the attack, the
first question he asked was whether Kimmel had received "our" dis­
patch the night before the attack.

Kimmel told Knox he had not. He then quoted Knox as saying,
"Well, we sent you one-I'm sure we sent one to the commander of
the Asiatic fleet [Adm. Hart]." Kimmel said he checked his files but
found n~ record of any dispatch from Knox the night of December 6.

"If such a message ever was originated, it must have bogged down
in the Navy Department," Kimmel suggested.35

Adm. Smith corroborated the story that Knox had inquired of
Kimmel and his chief subordinates whether they had received the
message on the night of the 6th. When told that no such message was
received, Knox said, according to Smith, "That's strange. I know the
message went to Adm. Hart and I thought it was sent to Hawaii."
Smith said that he had since learned that no such warning was re­
ceived by Adm. Hart.s6

The committee subsequently questioned Rear Adm. Frank M.
Beatty, naval aide to Knox in 1941, and Maj. John H. Dillon, confi­
dential civilian assistant to Knox in 1941, and later Marine Corps aide
to the Secretary. Beatty said that he had the "impression" in late
December, 1941, that there was a "midnight warning" on December
6, but that he may have confused it with the belated warning sent to
Hawaii at noon the following day by Chief of Staff Marshall. Dillon
gave similar testimony about the "lost" message.37

The best evidence would seem to be that of Knox himself. When
his recollection of events was fresh just after the attack, he made a
report on Pearl Harbor to President Roosevelt on December 15, 1941.
In this report Knox twice mentioned the "midnight warning" of the
6th,S8 but whereas he had implied to Kimmel and Smith that it had
been transmitted by the Navy, he stated in the report that it was a
"message of warning sent from the War Department on Saturday
night at midnight, before the attack," and that it had been direct~d to
Gen. Short. There is no evidence that Roosevelt disputed that there
was such a message.

If the warning were sent on December 6, it was undoubtedly
drafted and dispatched after consultation among all of the leaders of
the administration and the Army and Navy high command-Roose­
velt, Hull, Stimson, Knox, Stark, and Marshall-but none still avail·
able as a witness will admit it ever existed. So little light, after three
months of investigation, was the congressional committee able to shed
on one of the prime mysteries of Pearl Harbor.
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So events drifted toward doomsday. The next morning in Wash­
ington there still was time to have dispatched a clear warning to
Hawaii. At 9 o'clock on December 7, Col. Bratton, apparently de­
spairing of getting any action from Col. Smith, attempted himself to
reach Gen. Marshall and inform him of the all-important intercepted
Jap message, now complete in all fourteen parts, announcing that re­
lations between Japan and the United States were terminated.39 "It
was well known that Japan's entry into all wars of the past had been
characterized by the first overt act of war coming simultaneously with
the declaration."40

The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee rein­
forces this view:

Judging by the military and naval history of Japan, high
authorities in Washington and the commanders in Hawaii had
good grounds for expecting that in starting war the Japanese
government would make a surprise attack on the United States.

There is no evidence in the record before the committee that
President Roosevelt, Secretary Hull, Secretary Stimson, and/or
Secretary Knox expected at any time prior to Dec. 7 a formal
declaration of war on the United States by Japan in case the
diplomatic negotiations came to a break. Indeed, all the evi­
dence bearing on expectations in Washington as to Japan's
probable methods of making war point to the belief of the ad­
ministration that Japan would begin with a surprise attack.

For example, Secretary Hull on Nov. 25 and Nov. 28 at a
meeting of "high officials," when he stated that the matter of
safeguarding our national security was in the hands of the Army
and Navy, "expressed his judgment that any plans for our
military defense would include the assumption that the Japa­
nese might make the element of surprise a central point in their
strategy, and also might attack at various points simultaneously
with a view to demoralizing efforts of defense and of coordina­
tion for purposes thereof" (Peace and War, 1943, p. 144).

Speaking to Ambassador Halifax on Nov. 29, Secretary Hull
said that it would be a-
"serious mistake ... to make plans of resistance without includ­
ing the possibility that Japan may move suddenly and with
every possible element of surprise ... that the Japanese recog­
nize that their course of unlimited conquest . . . is a desperate
gamble and requires the utmost boldness and risk." (Peace and
War, 1943, pp. 144-145).

Ambassador Grew reported to Hull on Nov. 3-
"Japan may resort with dangerous and dramatic suddenness
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to measures which might make inevitable war with the United
States" (Peace and War, p. 775) .41

But the commanders in Hawaii did not have the information that
war was at hand. Washington did. The duty of Washington to warn
the Pacific outposts was therefore clear and immediate.

When Hull, Stimson, and Knox gathered at 10 :30 in the office of
the Secretary of State, they had the complete message.42 They knew
what it meant. Stimson later admitted he was "not surprised" that
the beginning of hostilities should accompany the break of relations.43

But none of the three secretaries did anything.
Stimson, on December 7, noted in his diary that "everything in

'Magic' indicated that they [the Japanese] had been keeping the time
back until now in order to accomplish something hanging in the air."
What was hanging in the air was the Japanese assault upon Oahu.
"Hull," said Stimson, "is very certain that the Japs are planning some
deviltry and we are all wondering where the blow will strike."

There is good reason to believe that Stimson knew not only that
war was coming, but that he knew that it would break out at Pearl
Harbor. Preparing for the State Department meeting on the morn­
ing of the 7th, he ordered on the night of the 6th that he be supplied
at the conference with the following information: "Compilation of
men-of-war in Far East: British, American, Japanese, Dutch, Russian;
also compilation of American men-of-war in Pacific fleet, with loca­
tions, with a list of American men-of-war in the Atlantic without
locations."*44

Admirals Stark and Ingersoll and Secretary Knox were consulted
about this request. Knox directed that the information be compiled
and delivered before 10 o'clock Sunday, December 7.45 This was
done. The compilation showed that practically all the major units of
the Pacific fleet were in Pearl Harbor.

Representative Keefe observed :46

At this time the information available in Washington
showed that war was only hours away. Yet the two secretaries
and the high command made no effort to direct any change in
the dispositions of the fleet as shown in the Navy Department
summary. They took no steps to furnish Adm. Kimmel the
information which they possessed as to the imminence of war.
Consequently they deprived him of any chance to alter his dis­
positions in the light of that information. I conclude that
Secretaries Stimson and Knox and the high command in Wash-

·Italics inserted.
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ington knew that the major units of the fleet were in Pearl
Harbor on December 6-7, 1941, and were satisfied with that
situation.
Why were they satisfied? Because they knew that an attack upon

the fleet would at last produce the long-sought overt act?
Roosevelt also knew that a break in relations meant the opening

act of war. The night before, with all but one part of the final Japa­
nese note before him, he had said, "This means war!" Now, on the
morning of December 7, at 10 :00 A.M., the final section was delivered
to him in his bedroom by Adm. Beardall. The President looked up
and said, "It looks as if the Japanese are going to bre~k off relations."47
The message plainly told the President that Japan was announcing
the break. The President knew that that meant a simultaneous act of
war. Indeed, when Beardall delivered intercepted messages to him on
December 4 and 5, the President had turned to him and asked:

"When do you think it will happen?"
"Most any time," Beardall replied.48

Col. Bratton, with the fourteen-part message now complete, also
knew. He frantically called Gen. Marshall at his home, only to learn
from an orderly that the chief of staff had picked that morning of all
mornings to vanish on a leisurely two and a half-hour horseback ride.

Between 9:00 and 9:30, the "pilot" message instructing Nomura
and Kurusu to hand in the fourteen-part note to Hull at 1:00 P.M.,

was delivered to Bratton.
"When I saw the message," he told the congressional committee,

"I dropped everything, as it meant to me that Japan planned to at­
tack the United States at some point at or near 1 o'clock that day."49

Marshall did not reach his office until 11 :25. The pilot message
lay in the War Department for two hours and a half before any warn­
ing was dispatched to Hawaii-a warning so delayed that it might
just as well have never been sent.

Two Navy officers at least partially apprehended the Japanese in­
tention even before seeing the pilot message. They were Adm. Wil­
kinson and Capt. McCollum. Together they went, at about 9:15, to
the office of Adm. Stark with the complete fourteen-part note.

"I pointed out to Adm. Stark the seriousness of the language,"
Wilkinson related, "and advised that the Pacific fleet be notified."

Stark tried to reach Marshall, Wilkinson said, but the general was
still out on his canter, so Stark did nothing. Wilkinson left Stark's
office, returning between 10:30 and 10:40. By this time the 1:00 P.M.

message was in Stark's hands. Wilkinson said that it "indicated that
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the Japs planned action sooner than we expected."50 McCollum said
that Capt. Kramer had prepared a chart showing the relative times
in each overseas area, in comparison to Tokyo and Washington times,
and that he gave it to the chief of operations.51 A general discussion
of the time factor followed, but Stark still did nothing.

A report made to Secretary Stimson on November 25, 1944, by Maj.
Gen. Cramer asserted that Kramer had been even more explicit. The
report stated:

Capt. Safford testified that Comdr. Kramer told him in 1943
that when he submitted ... the message to the Jap ambassadors
to present the Japanese reply at 1:00 P.M. to Secretary Knox, he
sent along with it a note saying in effect, "This means a sur­
prise attack at Pearl Harbor today and possibly a midnight at­
tack on Manila."52

Kramer's report supposedly was in the hands of Knox at approxi­
mately 10:00 A.M., but the Secretary of the Navy failed to act, although
in his secret report to President Roosevelt on December 15, 1941, he
stated that the meaning of the 1 o'clock deadline was clearly known
to the leaders of the administration. Knox said in this report:

Neither Short nor Kimmel, at the time of the attack, had
any knowledge of the plain intimations of some surprise move,
made clear in Washington, through the interception of Japanese
instructions to Nomura, in which a surprise move of some kind
was clearly indicated by the insistence upon the precise time of
Nomura's reply to Hull, at 1 o'clock on Sunday.53

Although Knox immediately after the attack thus confessed that
the meaning of the 1:00 P.M. delivery was clear, Kramer himself later
denied that he had ever pointed out the significance of the time to
Knox. He told the congressional committee that the only comment
he made on the meaning of the 1:00 P.M. message was in telling Capt.
McCollum and a State Department secretary that the message indi­
cated a move toward Thailand and the Malay Peninsula.54 It devel­
oped, however, that extraordinary pressure had been put on Kramer
by the Navy Department to induce him to deny that the original
estimate credited to him was ever submitted to Knox.55

At 11 :25 A.M., when Marshall finally wandered into his office,
everyone in Washington who had knowledge of "Magic" was sitting
around waiting for an attack known to be coming in two more hours,
but not a soul was doing anything about it.56 Roosevelt and Harry
Hopkins were shortly to closet themselves in the oval study of the
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White House, with all incoming telephone calls shut off. The tableau
could not have been more innocent-Roosevelt with his stamp collec­
tion laid out before him, Hopkins lounging in sweater and slacks on
a couch, toying with Fala, the White House Scottie.

Marshall's blunder in transmitting his last-minute warning to
Hawaii by only one medium, and that the slowest available, by a
round-about route, and without even assigning it a priority, was
ass~yed by Gen. Short as follows:

It is standard staff procedure and doctrine that all important
or emergency messages should be sent by all available means
of communication, which in this case would have included the
scrambler telephones which had been frequently used between
the War Department and Fort Shafter. Col. Phillips [Short's
chief of staff] and Gen. Marshall did confer by scrambler phone
later in the day on December 7. If security would be violated
by sending the information by phone, then the War Department
should have issued the necessary alert orders which they would
have known that I would have issued at once if I had the infor­
mation which they possessed.fi7

Short then cited the War Department field manual on signal com­
munication in support of his position:

Choice of the means employed in each instance depends on
the situation. Exclusive reliance upon anyone means is unwise
because special and unforeseen circumstances may render that
means inoperative when most needed. Plans of all commanders
will make advance provision for prompt employment of effec­
tive and reliable alternate means; and the simultaneous opera­
tion of several means will minimize the ill effects of complete
interruption in any one.fiS

The Army Board criticized Marshall severely for his handling of
the December 7 message. Despite Marshall's excuse that he feared "a
leak" if he used the scrambler phone to reach Short, messages by
scrambler phone were made frequently between Hawaii and Wash..
ington later in the day. Col. Fielder, Short's G-2, twice talked to
Washington by this means, and himself received a call from Wash­
ington on the same phone.fi9 Col. Phillips, as mentioned, communi­
cated with Marshall by scrambler phone while the attack was in

. progress.
The Army Board said:

It is important to observe that only one means of communi­
cation was selected by Washington. That decision violated all
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rules requiring the use of multiple means of communication in
emergency. In addition to the War Department telephone, there
also existed the FBI radio, which was assigned a special fre­
quency between Washington and Hawaii and over which it
took 20 minutes to send a coded message from Hawaii to
Washington or vice versa.... We find no justification for a
failure to send this message by multiple secret means either
through the Navy radio or FBI radio or the scrambler telephone
or all three.60

Senator Ferguson developed in examInIng Short that the War
Department was guilty of the same laxity that characterized the
handling of its December 7 warning to Hawaii in alerting American
forces at the Panama Canal. If the Canal, instead of Pearl Harbor,
had been the objective of the Jap attack, the results might have been
equally disastrous.

On December 5 Gen. Miles drafted a message to Gen. Frank M.
Andrews, commander of the Panama defenses, which stated, "U.S.­
Japanese relations strained. Will inform you if and when severance
of diplomatic relations imminent." Miles failed to mark the message
with a priority, so that in the normal handling of Army communica­
tions it was transmitted after all priority or urgent messages had been
sent. This dispatch actually left Washington two days later, on
December 7, after the fourteen-part Jap note and the 1:00 P.M. pilot
message left no question of strained relations.61 In the Japanese note
it was plainly stated relations were broken off, and the pilot message
set the hour for the first shot of the war.

Not until December 9, the Tuesday following the Sunday of the
Oahu attack, did the War Department seek to ascertain why Mar­
shall's December 7 warning went astray. When it finally acted, it
provided a fine example of locking up the stable after the horse had
been stolen. Whereas the vital December 7 message was not even
stamped "Priority," the check-up dispatch was marked "Extra Ur­
gent."62

Marshall's explanation that he refrained from using the scrambler
telephone for fear of causing "a leak that would embarrass the State
Department" is illogical for at least two reasons. The first is that if
the Japs had overheard him talking to Short, they would have been
left with the same two alternatives they already had in the absence
of such a conversation; either to carry through the attack as planned,
or to abandon it. The second is that, despite Roosevelt's caution
against committing any overt act, the War Department on November
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27 had issued orders which, if carried out before December 7, would
almost certainly have led to hostilities.

Intelligence had heard reports of a considerable concentration of
Japanese warships at Jaluit in the Marshall Islands. These ships and
submarines were, in fact,' part of Adm. Shimizu's advance expedi­
tionary force which was to support the Pearl Harbor attack. Adm.
Hart had suggested a reconnaissance over Jaluit to verify the reports
that there was a Tap concentration there.63 Gen. Arnold presented
orders for the flight, which Secretary Stimson promptly approved.64

Short was notified by radiogram of the project. He said,

The War Department had ordered me to equip two B-24
airplanes for a special photographic reconnaissance mission over
Truk and Jaluit, with particular attention to the location of
naval vessels, submarines, airfields, airplanes, barracks, and
camps. If attacked, the crews were directed to use all means in
their power for· self-preservation. These planes were to be sent
to Honolulu unarmed, but I was directed to insure that both
were "fully equipped with gun ammunition upon departure."
The first of these two planes did not arrive in Hawaii until
December 5. Presumably, had the War Department in the
meantime decided that Hawaii was a zone of danger, they
would have armed the plane before sending it to me. Gen.
Martin wired back a request that the second B-24 bring neces­
sary equipment other than the guns and ammunition which we
could supply.65

"How could the use of a telephone be considered an overt act in
comparison with this flight?" Senator Ferguson asked Marshall.

"It was a matter of judgment," Marshall replied.66

Gen. Short was asked by Representative Keefe how long it took
to get a message through normally from Honolulu to Washington by
scrambler telephone.

"The times I used it," Short said, "I would say ten or fifteen
minutes. On the morning of the attack, along about 8:15, I directed
CAll. Phillips to call Gen. Marshall because I was going to my field
command post. I believe that he got the connection at 8:22. I think
it took seven minutes."

By way of emphasizing that seven minutes is somewhat quicker
than seven hours, Keefe asked, "Do I understand that that morning,
right while the attack was going on, Col. Phillips called Gen. Mar­
shall on the scrambler telephone and got a connection in about seven
minutes?"
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"And told him," Short asserted, "if he would listen, he could hear
the bombs."

Keefe also observed that he had been advised by J. Edgar Hoover
that Robert L. Shivers, the FBI agent in charge at Hawaii, reached
him in New York by direct telephone connection in just a few min­
utes while the attack was going on. Hoover, Keefe said, told him
the connection was so clear that over the telephone he could hear the
explosion of bombs.

"Well, if you could get the telephone message while this attack
was going on, in just a few minutes," Keefe said, "there wouldn't be
any reason why the line was not clear so a message could come from
the other way, from Washington to Honolulu?"

"There wouldn't appear to be," Short said.
Keefe then questioned Short about other means of communication

between Washington and Hawaii. Short said that in addition to the
Army lO-kilowatt station, the Navy had a 25-kilowatt station, the FBI
had a station of about equal power, and there were also commercial
radio and commercial cable. He said that the Army station was not
functioning well on the morning of the attack.

"Well, do you know about the Navy or the FBI?"
"I am sure that they could have gotten through."
Keefe then recalled that in the conference in Marshall's office pre­

ceding the dispatch of the warning to Short, Adm. Stark offered the
use of the Navy radio, but that it was refused. Short said:

The War Department, if not conscious at that time that
more than one means of communication could be used, became
fully conscious at the time they issued the order to relieve me.
I got that order three different ways within thirty to forty min­
utes. I received a radiogram first. Ten or fifteen minutes later
Gen. Emmons got off of a plane with a printed order. Fifteen
or twenty minutes later the secretary of the general staff called
Col. Phillips to ask if I had received the order.

Keefe said, "So you got it in-"
"Three different ways," Short interjected.
"-in three different ways?"
"Yes."
"To make sure that you got it?"
"Yes, sir."67

Keefe then brought up the hypothetical question of whether, if
Short had been warned by Washington some time before the attack,
he would have been awakened in order to act on the information.
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Short responded that he could have been reached within a minute
or two.

"Well," Keefe said, "the story has gone around the country that
you were all drunk out there that night; that you were drunk and that
Kimmel was drunk and eyerybody else was drunk, and that every­
body was asleep out there at Pearl Harbor, sleeping off a jag. That
is the way it has been told out around the country. Now, is there
any truth in that, Gen. Short?"

"There is absolutely no truth in it."68
Short told Keefe that better radar equipment and proper inter­

pretation of the showing on the radar screen that a large flight of
planes was approaching would have made little difference in the out­
come of the attack. "What we needed," he said, "was information
from Washington giving us time to go into an alert."

"You could have done a pretty good job with the stuff you had
out there if you had been on the alert and had been expecting an
attack?" Keefe inquired.

"Yes, sir."
"And the slow torpedo planes that came in there and did most of

the damage to the battleships in the harbor were pretty easy targets
for your fast fighters, were they not?"

"If you knew where they were coming from, they would have been
very easy."

"Now," continued Keefe, "all during this war the element of sur­
prise has been a thing that has been involved in almost everything
that has been done on both sides out there in the Pacific, isn't that
true?"

"All over the world," Short agreed. "It is always the most impor­
tant element."

"It is always the attempt on the part of a commander to involve
his adversary in surprise, isn't that true?"

"That is correct."
"And as far as an air attack itself is concerned," Keefe went on,

"our experience has been that regardless of the fact whether an attack
is known or not, a lot of these planes-some of them, at least-get
through and cause damage, isn't that true?"

"That is correct."
"That was true at Okinawa, was it not?"
"Yes, sir."
"Now, when we think of the exploits at Midway and the magnifi­

cent job that our Navy did in sinking the lap navy, it was possible
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because of intelligence, was it not, and the fact that our Navy was
informed and had the facts and knew what to do?"

"That is correct."
"And when they shot down Adm. Yamamoto, that was possible

because they got an intercept which put them on notice and gave
them some information?"

"That is correct. Gen. Marshall and Adm. Wilkinson have pointed
out that the security of our cryptanalytic ability was risked for the
slight, temporary exultation of shooting down Yamamoto's plane.
Surely, then, supplying the data to me and to Adm. Kimmel would
not have been inconceivably risky."

"I refer to these two incidents," said Keefe, "because it correctly
illustrates the idea that intelligence is necessary and fundamental, is
it not?"

"Yes, sir."
"And when intelligence fails, you are likely to have serIOUS re­

sults?"
"Yes, sir."
"Now, your pOSItiOn in this case IS that intelligence, so far as

Washington was concerned, failed?"
"A hundred per cent."
"And thus Pearl Harbor occurred. Is that your defense?"
"Yes, sir."69



Chapter Nineteen

JAPAN SOLVES THE DILEMMA

IN THE complex of events from November 25 through December 7,
1941, Japanese policy shaped itself in conformity with the desires of
President Roosevelt. The President wanted to get in the war.* Pri­
marily he wanted to fight Germany, but when Hitler would not
accommodate him with the pretext for asking a declaration of war,
he turned to the Pacific and to Japan to achieve a back-door entry
into the war in Europe, knowing that the tripartite pact made it cer­
tain that if we went to war with one of the three Axis partners, we
should be at war with all of them.

Hitler, suspicious of the reliability of the Japs, did not want to
fight the United States as long as the chance remained that Japan
might leave him in the lurch. An attack by Japan upon the United
States, however, would serve his purposes. The Japs would then be
fully committed, and Hitler could hope that American power would
be tied up in the Pacific until he had cleared the board in Europe.

Mr. Roosevelt seems long to have doubted, despite the overwhelm­
ing weight of evidence to the contrary, that Japan would be sufficiently
foolhardy to make a direct attack upon the American flag. Accord­
ingly, he followed an alternative plan on the assumption that Japan
might fail to fulfil the prediction he had made long ago to Adm.
Richardson that the Japanese "could not always avoid making mis­
takes and that, as the war continued and the area of operations ex­
panded, sooner or later they would make a mistake and we would
enter the war."

·At any time after 1936 it was evident that a European war would not be unwel­
come to the administration at Washington; largely as a means of diverting public
attention from its flock of uncouth economic chickens on their way home to roost, but
chiefly as a means of strengthening its malign grasp upon the country's political and
economic machinery."-Albert Jay Nock, Memoirs of a Superfluous Man, p. 248.
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First, the President tightened the screw. Japan was reduced to
desperation by embargoes and the freezing of its foreign assets. Then
it was deprived of hope that any solution could be achieved through
the diplomatic negotiations in Washington. Finally, the President
threw over the scheme to obtain a breathing spell of from three to
six months by means of a modus vivendi which would have provided
some stopgap solution. He told Secretary Hull to go ahead and pre­
sent the ten counter-proposals of November 26. The Japanese were
ordered to abandon all their ill-gotten gains and become a probation­
ary "peace-loving" nation. To a people so addicted to "face," the
confession of error implicit in any such retreat would have been even
more galling than the surrender of the tangible acquisitions of con­
quest.

Roosevelt knew that Japan would fight. The only question was
whether Japan would fight the United States. If the Japanese limited
the attack to the colonial empires of Britain and Holland, an excruci­
ating dilemma would be posed to the administration. On the one
hand, the President was bound by his secret commitments under the
Washington and Singapore staff agreements, and by his secret engage­
ments to Prime Minister Churchill, to go to war if British or Dutch
territory were attacked. On the other, he was restricted by his repeated
pledges that Americans were not going to be sent into foreign wars
"except in case of attack."* In his "again and again and again" speech
at Boston, he had not even made that reservation. It was because of
these promises that the President kept insisting that Japan commit
the first overt act.

In casting about for means to extricate himself from this quandary,
Roosevelt hit upon a desperate expedient. This was nothing less than
to execute a "Pearl Harbor" in reverse-to attack Japan without wait­
ing for Japan to strike. Before acting, however, the President felt it
necessary to prepare public opinion. The personal message he dis­
patched on December 6 to Hirohito, although eventually sent as an
appeal to history for moral justification, had originally been intended
as part of this conditioning. An address to Congress, and perhaps a
speech to the nation, were to follow. Events moved so fast that this
program could not be carried out; but they moved to the President's
liking, for they saved him from a constitutional crisis.

In pursuing his war policy, Roosevelt forced a two-front war upon
an unready nation over the objections of his high command. On

·Speech at Teamsters Union convention, Washington, Sept. 11, 1940; speech at
Philadelphia, Oct. 23, 1940.
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November 5, and again on November 27, Gen. Marshall and Adm.
Stark addressed joint memoranda to the President appealing for de­
lay. In the earlier memorandum they urged that "no ultimatum be
delivered to Japan."l They said that American naval forces in the
Pacific were inferior to the Japanese fleet and could not undertake an
unlimited offensive; that the Philippines were only then being rein­
forced, and that not until March, 1942, would air and submarine
strength in the Western Pacific constitute a "positive threat."

Referring to this memorandum, Senator Ferguson asked Marshall,
"Were we in a position at that time to back up any additional warn­
ings to Japan with military force?"

"We were not," said the chief of staff.2

The plea of November 27 came too late, Hull having given the
Japanese his unacceptable conditions the day before. The Army Board
observes:

This is the memorandum asking the President not to pre­
cipitate an ultimatum with the Japanese and to give the Army
and Navy more time within which to prepare; but it was too
late, as the die had been cast by the Secretary of State in hand­
ing the ten-points counter-proposals to the Japanese on the pre­
vious day, which was, as the Secretary of State remarked,
"washing his hands of the matter."s

Again, the board stated,

Undoubtedly the Secretary of State had been frequently ad­
vised during the meetings of the war council of the inadequate
status of the defenses of the United States. Our Army and
Navy were not ready for war, and undoubtedly the Secretary
of State had been advised of that fact. . . .

This memorandum was addressed directly to the President,
according to the testimony of Gen. Marshall. It contained two
things: first, a statement that the most essential thing from the
United States viewpoint was to gain time and to avoid precipi­
tating military action so long as this could be done consistent
with the national policy, because of the fact that the Army and
Navy were not ready for war; and, second" attention was called
to the desirability of counter-military action against Japan in
event she engaged in specific acts of aggression. The memoran­
dum recommended among other things that "steps be taken
at once to consummate agreements with the British and Dutch
for the issuance of warnings to the Japanese against taking such
aggressive actipn."·

The memorandum and the question of the need for further time
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were discussed on the 27th at a conference among Secretary of War
Stimson, Secretary of the Navy Knox, Adm. Stark, and Gen. Gerow.
Marshall had left the preceding afternoon for maneuvers in North
Carolina.5 During the congressional investigation, Representative
Gearhart suggested that Marshall and Stark drafted the memorandum
the afternoon of November 25, before the departure of the chief of
staff, after it became apparent to them from discussion at a meeting
of the war cabinet in the White House at noon that the President was
crowding the country toward war. There were three telephone calls
between the general and the admiral that afternoon, but Stark pro­
fessed inability to recall whether the appeal had been drafted before
Hull's terms were tendered and then withheld until it could serve no
purpose.6

Hull, with the assent of the President, went ahead, "kicking the
whole thing over," as he said, and stating to Stimson, "I have washed
my hands of it" and it is now in the hands of you and Knox, the
Army and the Navy."7 The Army Board censured Hull for this con­
duct. Said the board:

The action of the Secretary of State in delivering the counter­
proposals of November 26, 1941, was 'used by the Japanese as
the signal to begin the war by the attack on Pearl Harbor. To
the extent that it hastened such attack, it was in conflict with
the efforts of the War and Navy departments to gain time for
preparations for war. However, war with Japan was inevitable
and imminent because of irreconcilable disagreements between
the Japanese empire and the American government.8

The inevitable and imminent war, however, was the product of
American diplomacy so managed that war could neither be averted
nor delayed until the Army and Navy were ready.* As late as No­
vember 6 Roosevelt favored a modus vivendi that would delay hos­
tilities. Secretary Stimson, who kept a contemporaneous record of
events, relates that on that day he discussed the Far Eastern situation
for an hour with the President. He states:

The thing uppermost in his mind was how we could gain
more time. I quote from my notes: "The President outlined

·"An 'incident' can always be arranged or manufactured or better yet, provoked,
as we have often seen; and then the fat is in the fire. In recent years, as far as I can
remember, every pretext for war has been carefully hand-tailored.... As for the pres­
ent war, the Principality of Monaco, the Grand Duchy of Luxemburg, would have
taken up arms against the United States on receipt of such a note as the State Depart­
ment sent the Japanese government on the eve of Pearl Harbor."-Albert Jay Nock,

. Memoirs of a Superfluous Man,p. 249.
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what he thought he might say.t He was trying to think of
something that would give us further time. He suggested he
might propose a truce in which there would be no movement
or armament for six months and then if the Japanese and
Chinese had not settled their arrangement in that meanwhile,
we could go on on the same basis."9

On November 25, one day before he tendered the Japanese the de­
mands which they found unacceptable, Hull was still considering
what Stimson called "the proposal for a three months' truce." Over­
night, however, he and the President changed their minds. On the
26th Hull told Stimson that the Chinese had objected strenuously to
the modus vivendi and that he "had about made up his mind to give
up the whole thing in respect to a truce and to simply tell the Japa­
nese that he had no further action to propose."lO That same day Hull
not only "gave up the whole thing" but handed Nomura and Kurusu
the conditions which he and the President knew they were certain to
reject.

Stimson had been unsympathetic to the truce proposal when the~
President was considering it. He was still unsympathetic when he \,
discussed the belated appeal for delay of Marshall and Stark on No- \
vember 27 with Stark, Knox, and Gerow. "There was a tendency,
not unnatural, on the part of Stark and Gerow to seek for more time,"
he wrote in his diary. "1 said that 1 was glad to have time but 1
didn't want it at any cost of humility on the part of the United States
or of reopening the thing, which would show a weakness on our
part."11

A memorandum of this conversation prepared for Gen. Marshall
by Gerow stated that Stimson "wanted to be sure that the memoran­
dum would not be construed as a recommendation to the President
that he request Japan to reopen the conversations. He was reassured
on that point." Later the memorandum was submitted to Stimson,
who made some changes.12

Thus the Secretary of War, seeing that the United States was head­
ing toward an inevitable conflict with Japan, issued orders to forestall
any possibility that war would be headed off by conciliatory action on
the part of the Roosevelt government. He issued these orders although
fully aware of the unpreparedness of the Army and Navy to go to
war, and this is among the many responsibilities which must be
charged to him.

So far as the record shows, Roosevelt and Secretary Hull aban-

tTo Kurusu, who was coming from Japan.
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doned the modus vivendi because of the cries of "appeasement" which
were coming from the Chinese and British. Beyond that, it seems
clear that both were ready for war, even if the Army and Navy were
not. Significantly, their momentous decision to submit the counter­
proposals of November 26 does not appear to have been influenced by
new Japanese troop movements which might have served as a con­
venient pretext.

On the afternoon of the 25th intelligence reports to Stimson showed
five Japanese divisions moving southward by transport from Shan­
tung and Shansi toward Indo-China. Stimson communicated the
news to Hull and sent a copy of the intelligence summary to the
President.13 The following day Hull told Stimson of the decision to
submit the ten points to Japan. He mentioned Chinese pressure in
explaining his intention, but did not refer to the Japanese troop move­
ment.14

Roosevelt, who had already approved the Secretary of State's deci­
sion to "kick over~' the modus vivendi} had not received Stimson's
report of the movement of the transports southward when Stimson
telephoned him shortly after talking to Hull. The President reacted
violently to the news. Stimson relates:

He fairly blew up-jumped up into the air, so to speak, and
said he hadn't seen it [the report] and that that changed the
whole situation, because it was an evidence of bad faith on the
part of the Japanese that while they were negotiating for an en­
tire truce-an entire withdrawal [from China]-they should be
sending this expedition down there to Indo-China.15

~

! 'But the Hull proposals had already "changed the whole situation."
i Both the President and the Secretary of State knew it. Hull conceded
l\Jhat the following day when he told Stimson that the effect of his

terms was to put matters "in the hands of you and Knox-the Army
and the Navy."16

After November 26 and the submission of the Hull ulti~, the
attention of the Roosevelt administration was focused upon t e move­
ment of the Japanese expedition steaming southward. It now was
apparent that the time was fast approaching when the President would
have to honor the secret commitments which he had assumed at the
Atlantic conference and which his staff officers had undertaken at the
Washington and Singapore conferences.17 The Roosevelt administra­
tion knew that once it met Japan in head-on collision, the nation would
be in a global war. Its policy had been predicated upon this very
knowledge.
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This consideration was manifest in a statement given by Adm.
Ingersoll when he was examined during the course of an independent
investigation conducted by Adm. Hart for the Navy Department.
Hart asked Ingersoll what meaning the Navy Department attached
to the "war warning" dispatched to Kimmel November 27. "Was
consideration given to the -thought that mention of Western Pacific
objectives only might tend to reduce the vigilance of the Pacific fleet
in the Hawaiian area?" Hart inquired. Ingersoll answered:

I am sure that the drafting of the dispatch was not meant to
give such an impression. The impression it was intended to
give was that events were moving in such a fashion in the Far
East that the United States would become involved in war in
a few days and that consequently the United States forces else­
where in the Pacific and also in the Atlantic would find them­
selves at war with the Axis when the clash actually took place
in the Asiatic waters/~18

The feeling in Washington was that the United States must fight
even if there were no attack upon this country and Japanese belligerent
actrorrwereconfihed fo British, Dutch, or even neutral territory. This
view was reflected in the intense preoccupation of the administration
leaders and the high command with the idea that if Japan crossed a
certain line in the Pacific, the United States would be bound by its
secret underta.kings to go to war. Again and again this concept entered
th~tiiT;king'of the principals.

The deadline was first mentioned by Lindley and Davis in their
description of the Atlantic conference:

The crisis in the Far East claimed first attention, resulting,
as we have seen, in Churchill's agreement to the President's
policy of delaying hostilities without invoking a "deadline."
That agreement represented a unifying of English-speaking
policy in the Pacific. In the discussions about a deadline, it was
generally held that the geographical limit should be set at the
south of Cam Ranh Bay....19

The Singapore staff conference, in its secret report of April 27,
1941, stated:

It is agreed that any of the following actions by Japan would
create a position in which our failure to take active military
counter-action would place us at such military disadvantage,
should Japan subsequently attack, that we should then advise
our respective governments to authorize such action:
·Italics supplied.
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(a) A direct act of war by Japanese armed forces against
the territory or mandated territory of any of the associated
powers. It is not possible to define accurately what would con­
stitute "a direct act of war." It is possible for a minor incident
to occur which, although technically an act of war, could be
resolved by diplomatic action. It is recognized that the decision
as to whether such an incident is an act of war must lie with
the government concerned.

(b) The movement of the Japanese forces into any part of
Thailand to the west of 100 degrees east or to the south of 10
degrees north.

(c) The movement of a large number of Japanese warships,
or of a convoy of merchant ships escorted by Japanese warships,
which from its position and course was clearly directed upon
the Philippine Islands, the east coast of the Isthmus of Kra or
the east coast of Malaya, or had crossed the parallel of 6 degrees
north between Malaya and the Philippines, a line from the
Gulf of Davao to Waigeo Island, or the equator east of Waigeo.

(d) The movement of Japanese forces into Portuguese
Timor.

(e) The movement of Japanese forces into New Caledonia
or the Loyalty Islands.20

In his secret warning to Ambassador Nomura August 17, Roosevelt
had served notice that any move by Japan anywhere in the Pacific
would compel the United States "to take immediately any and all
steps which it may deem necessary toward safeguarding the legitimate
rights and interests of the United States and American nationals and
toward insuring the safety and security of the United States."21 As
Undersecretary of State Welles said, this warning, in diplomatic lan­
guage, meant the same thing as a promise to go to war:.

Senator-ctaiiQe' Pepper of Florida, frequently an administration
spokesman, also gave notice of the existence of a deadline when, in an
interview at Boston on November 24, 1941, he said that 'the United
States was not far from a shooting war with Japan and that "we are
only waiting for Japan to cross a line before we start shooting."

"I don't know exactly 'where "that' line is," Pepper said, "and I'm
not sure the President knows exactly where it is, but when they cross
it we'll start shooting." Pepper added that "actual declaration of war
is a legal technicality, and such technicalities are being held in abey­
ance as long as those brigands [the Japanese] continue in force."22

Chief of Staff Marshall conceded that war was known to be immi­
nent at least eleven days before Pearl Harbor when Army intelligence
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reported five Jap divisions in thirty to forty transports moving south
from Shanghai. This information, Marshall said, clearly indicated
that Japan was moving "to cross the line" which, in his opinion,
would have pulled us into war, regardless of Pearl Harbor, in order
to protect the Philippines.23

Secretary of the Navy Knox, in a memorandum the morning of
December 7, stated:

I think the Japanese should be told that any movement in a
direction that threatens the United States will be met by force.
The President will want to reserve to himself just how to define
this. The following are suggestions to shoot at: Any movement
into Thailand; or any movement into Thailand west of 100 de­
grees east and south of 10 degrees north-this in accordance
with the recommendations of the British and Dutch and United
States military authorities in the Far East; or any movement
against British, Dutch, United States, Free French, or Portu­
guese territory in the Pacific area.24

Secretary Stimson, in a written statement to the congressional com­
mittee, said,

Our military advisers had given the President their formal
advice that, if Japan attacked British Malaya or the Dutch East
Indies or moved her forces west of a certain line in Indo-China,
we would have to fight for the sake of our security.25

Again, he said,

The opinion of our top military and naval advisers was that
delay was very desirable, but that nevertheless we must take
military action if Japan attacked American, or British, or Dutch
territory or moved her forces in Indo-China west of 100 degrees
east or south of 10 degrees north.26

Describing a meeting November 28 of the war cabinet, Stimson
relates in his diary that the probable objectives of the Japanese expedi­
tion moving south along the China coast were discussed. He says:

It was now the opinion of everyone that if this expedition
was allowed to get around the southern point of Indo-China
and to go off and land in the Gulf of Siam, either at Bangkok
or further west, it would be a terrific blow at all of the three
powers, Britain at Singapore, the Netherlands, and ourselves in
the Philippines.

It was the consensus of everybody that this must not be
allowed. Then we discussed how to prevent it. It was agreed
that if the Japanese got into the Isthmus of Kra, the British
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(
" would fight. It was also agreed that if the ~ritish foug~t, we

wquld have to fight. And it now seems clear that if this expedi­
tion was allowed to round the southern point of Indo-China,
this whole chain of disastrous events would be set on foot of
going.

It further became a consensus of views that rather than strike
at the force as it went by without any warning on the one hand,
which we didn't think we could do; or sitting still and allowing
it to go on, on the other, which we didn't think we could do;
that the only thing for us to do was address it a warning that
if it reached a certain place, or a certain line, or a certain point,
we should have to fight.27

In his statement to the congressional committee, Stimson said,

If war did come, it was important, both from the point of
view of unified support of our own people as well as for the
record of history, that we should not be placed in the position
of firing the first shot, if this could be done without sacrificing
our safety, but that Japan should appear in her true role as the
real aggressor.28

Referring to the "war warning" to Short on November 27, Stim­
son says,

If there was to be war, moreover, we wanted the Japanese
to commit the first overt act. . . '. In Hawaii, because of the
large numbers of Japanese inhabitants, it was felt desirable to
issue a special warning so that nothing would be done, unless
necessary to the defense, to alarm the civil population and thus
possibly precipitate an incident and give the Japanese an excuse
to go to war and the chance to say that we had committed the
first overt act.29

/' Thus, the defense of the Hawaiian commanders was circumscribed
\ in the interest of making good Roosevelt's campaign pledges.

In his diary entry of November 25, thirteen days before the Pearl
Harbor attack, Stimson expressed the dilemma in its baldest terms.
Describing the war cabinet meeting in the White House, he stated:

( There the President . . . brought up entirely the relations
f with the Japanese. He brought up the event that we were likely

to be attacked, perhaps [as soon as] next Monday, for the Japa­
nese are notorious for making an attack without warning and
the question was what we should do. T he question was how
we should maneut'er them into the position of firing the first
shot without allowing too much danger to ourselves.*so
*Italics supplied.
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Gen. Marshall later made the illuminating comment: "Of course,
no one anticipated that that overt act would be the crippling of the
Pacific fleet.,,31 In other words, Roosevelt and his associates wanted
a little surprise; they were not looking for a major disaster.

The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee says
of the administration's intention:

In the diplomatic documents, exhibits, and testimony before
the committee there is a wealth of evidence which underwrites
the statement that the tactics of maneuvering the Japanese into
"the position of firing the first shot" were followed by high au­
thorities in Washington after Nov. 25, 1941. Examples of such
tactics are afforded by-

(a) Secretary Hull's decision, with the approval of President ,
Roosevelt, to discard the proposal for a temporary agreement
with Japan without notifying the Secretary of War or the Brit­
ish and Australian representatives in Washington who had col­
laborated in working out a draft of a memorandum with a view
to reaching such an agreement if possible.

(b) The substitution for the proposed modus 'vivendi of the
note of Nov. 26 to Japan, which, as Secretary Hull knew and
said at the moment, practically put an end to negotiations with
Japan and passed over to the Army and Navy the burden of /
safeguarding the security of the United States. . ..

(c) The rejection of appeals made to President Roosevelt by
Gen. Marshall and Adm. Stark on Nov. 5 and also later on
Nov. 27, 1941, for a delay in bringing about a breach with Japan
-appeals based on their belief that the Army and Navy were
not then ready for war with Japan.

(d) The orders of the Secretary of War to the effect that )
Gen. Marshall and Adm. Stark should not put into their memo- ~

randum appealing for delay, signed Nov. 27, anything that
could be "construed as a recommendation to the President that
he request Japan to reopen the conversations" (Tr., Vol. 20, p.
3325).

According to Secretary Hull, the tactics of waiting for the
Japanese to fire the first shot was, in a measure, forced upon
the administration by the attachment of a large part of the
American people to neutrality as expressed in the neutrality
legislation of Congress and by their opposition to involvement
in war in the Far East as well as elsewhere.

This view Secretary Hull expressed in his statement to the
committee (Tr., Vol. 7, pp. 1096 fI.) and it is set forth more
fully by other documents before the committee, particularly the
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State Department's publication: Peace and War: United States
Foreign Policy 1931-41, especially chapter 1.

In this chapter the State Department explains that the Presi­
dent and Secretary Hull were hampered in the pursuit of the
foreign policy they had "c~early" decided upon-at a date not
fixed by the Secretary -on account of the opposition by "much
of public opinion" in the United States. In this chapter the
State Department also explains that-
"Our foreign policy during the decade under consideration
(1931-41) necessarily had to move within the framework of a
gradual evolution of public opinion in the United States away
from the idea of isolation expressed in 'neutrality' legislation.
. . . The pages (in the volume) which follow show the slow
march of the United States from an attitude of illusory aloofness
toward world-wide forces endangering America to a position in
the forefront of the United Nations that are now (1943) making
common cause against an attempt at world conquest unparal­
leled alike in boldness of conception and in brutality of opera­
tion."

It is a serious question whether the President and his advisers
were justified in making the conclusions that the country would
support them for war; and whether actions taken by them upon
their own opinion without placing the matter before Congress
was in violation of their responsibilities under the Constitution
and laws of the land.32

The problem, as viewed by the President and his war council, was
to discover "the basis on which this country's position could be most
clearly explained to our own people and to the world."33 Roosevelt's
first attempt to reconcile his pledges to the British, the Dutch, and
the Chinese with his promises to the American people was made at
the weekly cabinet meeting on November 7. Stimson relates:

The President at the meeting undertook to take an informal
vote of the cabinet as to whether it was thought the American
people would back us up if it became necessary to strike at
Japan, in case she should attack England in Malaya or the
Dutch in the East Indies. The cabinet was unanimous in the
feeling that the country would support such a move.34

Roosevelt, with a jocular reference to a vote taken at one of Lincoln's
cabinet meetings, remarked, "This time the vote IS unanimous. I
feel the same way."35

At the meeting of the war cabinet on November 25, Stimson under­
took to persuade Roosevelt that the President's warning of August 17
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to Ambassador Nomura constituted sufficient warrant for him to order
military action if Japan so much as crossed into neutral Thailand. He
said:

I pointed out to the President that he had already taken the
first steps toward an ultimatum in notifying Japan way back
last summer that if she crossed the border into Thailand she
was violating our safety and that therefore he had only to point
out [to Japan] that to follow any such expedition [to the south]
was a violation of a warning we had already given.36

Three days later the President made up his mind. Stimson de­
scribed the radical solution proposed as follows:

The first thing in the morning of the next day-Friday,
November 28-1 received information from G-2 of such a for­
midable character with regard to the movements of the Japa­
nese forces along the Asiatic coast that I decided to take it to
the President before he got up.

I saw him while he was still in bed, and we discussed the
situation. He suggested that there were three alternatives, as my
notes show: First, to do nothing; second, to make something in
the nature of an ultimatum, stating a point beyond which we
would fight; or, third, to fight at once.

I said that I felt to do nothing was out of the question and
the President agreed with me. As to the other two alternatives,
the desirable thing to do from the point of view of our own
tactics and safety was to take the initiative and attack without
further warning. It is axiomatic that the best defense is offense.
It is always dangerous to wait and let the enemy make the first
move. I was inclined to feel that the warning given in August
by the President against further moves by the Japanese toward
Thailand justified an attack 'Yithout further warning, particu­
larly as thcir neW-movement I. southward '-indicated that they
were about to violate that warning. On the other hand, I real­
ized that the situation could be made more clear cut if a further
warning were given.37

At the war cabinet meeting that noon, the mechanics of preparing
the country to accept war were decided upon. Stimson says:

We decided, therefore, that we could not just sit still and
do nothing. On the other hand, we also decided that we could
not attack without a further warning to Japan, and we discussed
what form that warning should take. The President suggested
a special telegram from himself to the emperor of Japan. After
some discussion it was decided that he would send such a letter
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to the emperor, which would not be made public, and that at the
same time he would' deliver a special message to Congress report­
ing on the danger and reporting what we would have to do if
the danger happened.3s

Stimson's report of the decision in his diary reads,

I pointed out . . . that he had better send his letter to the
emperor separate as one thing and a secret thing, and then make
his speech to the Congress as a separate and more understand­
able thing to the people of the United States. This was the final
decision at that time and the President asked Hull and Knox
and myself to try to draft such papers.39

After the meeting Roosevelt left for Warm Springs. "The rest of
the weekend," said Stimson, "was largely taken up with preparing a
suggested draft of a message for the President to deliver to Congress,
in which Secretary Knox and I co-operated with Mr. Hull and his
associates in the State Department."40 Hull completed the draft by
noon on November 29/1 but events moved with such speed that it
was unnecessary for the President to deliver the message.

Stimson later said that the President at this time was "undoubtedly
considering" an attack on lap forces threatening Southeast Asia.4~

His position, however, was that Roosevelt, by ordering a message to
"condition" Congress, showed that he was not presuming to usurp
the war-making power.

A strange light is cast upon this explanation by a covering note
sent to Roos~velt by Hull with the draft message to Congress. In his
memorandum, Hull said, "I think we agree that you will not send
message to Congress until the last stage of our relations, relating to .
actual hostilities."43 Thus, only after war was an accomplished fact
-only after events had passed beyond recall-was Congress-to.- be
callec!~upon to ratify the actual existence of hostilities by JU!Dping
through the administration's hoop with a declaration of war.

On November 29 Roosevelt cut short his holiday at Warm Springs
after a telephone summons from Hull. He returned to Washington
December 1. The following day Stimson saw him and was encouraged
to believe that he would go full speed ahead with the program to
prepare the country to enter the war even if there were no attack by
Japan on the United States. Stimson said: "

The President went step by step over the situation and I
think has made up his mind to go ahead. He has asked the
Japanese through Sumner Welles what they intend by this new
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occupation of southern Indo-China-just what they are going to
do-and has demanded a quick reply. The President is still de­
liberating the possibility of a message to the Emperor, although
all the rest of us are rather against it, but in addition to that he
is quite settled, I think, that he will make a message to the Con­
gress'and will perhaps back that up with a speech to the country.
He said that he was going to take the matters right up when
he left us."

After this there was only one more mention of the President's
program to condition public opinion against American entry into the
war in the event that Japan withheld a direct attack upon the United
States. It was disclosed that on the afternoon of December 6 Roosevelt
had informed the Australian government of the steps he intended to
take if Japan had not taken belligerent action by the following Wed­
nesday, December 10.

Information regarding Roosevelt's maneuvers was supplied the
Joint Congressional Committee May 26, 1946, by the Australian lega­
tion in Washington. The letter to the committee from the legation
referred to a telegram from the Australian minister for external af­
fairs in Canberra to the British secretary of state for dominion affairs
in London. The legation said of this telegram:

The telegram contains the substance of a message which the
Australian minister for external affairs had received from the
Australian minister at Washington. This message was dis­
patched from Washington at 9:30 P.M. on Dec. 6, 1941. The
information contained therein regarding the procedure to be
followed by the President had come orally from the President i

late in the afternoon of December 6.45

The paraphrase of the Australian minister for external affairs' telegram
is as follows:

Subject to conditions that President gives prior approval to
text of warning as drafted and also gives signal for actual de­
livery of warning, we concur in draft as a joint communication
from all His Majesty's governments. I point out that message
from Australian minister at Washington just received notes that,

1. President has decided to send message to Emperor.
2. President's subsequent procedure is that if no answer is

received by him from the Emperor by Monday evening,
(a) he will issue his warning on Tuesday afternoon or eve-

ning, ,
(b) warning or equivalent by British or others will not £01-
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low until Wednesday morning, i. e., after his own warning has
been delivered repeatedly to Tokyo and Washington.46

It is only curious that as late in the day as this Roosevelt should
still have been worrying lest the Japanese fail to provide the necessary
incident.

By December 1 it was clear to the President that his fears were
groundless that Japan might begin hostilities against Britain and Hol­
land without shooting at the United States. Decoded Japanese inter­
cepts told Roosevelt what he wanted to know. Japan's Washington
envoys were advised that the November 28 deadline for a diplomatic
solution had come and gone. From now on things were "automatically
going to happen." The ambassadors were instructed to keep talking
in order to lull American suspicions. Assurances were given to Ger­
many and Italy that, "quicker than anyone dreams," Japan would
be fighting the United States. Assurances were given in turn by
Germany and Italy that they would fight at Japan's side.

No one could have misread these messages, nor did Roosevelt
misread them. On the night of December 7, when he summoned
cabinet members and congressional leaders to the White House to
tell them of the Pearl Harbor attack, he said, "We have reason to
believe that the Germans have told the Japanese that if Japan declares
war, they will too. In other words, a declaration of war by Japan
automatically brings...."

The President was interrupted at that point, but he had said enough
to show that he had read the Japanese code intercepts and that he
knew what they meant.47 A long report from the Japanese ambassa­
dor in Berlin on November 29 and a shorter dispatch from Tokyo to
Berlin on November 30, both of which were translated December 1,
had told Roosevelt that Germany would join Japan in war with the
United States.

So, while Nomura and Kurusu kept up their sham conversations
with Hull, Roosevelt and the leaders of the administration were busy
practicing the same sort of deception on their countrymen.

Stimson, in his statement to the congressional committee, said,

From some of the comments quoted in the public press, one
would get the impression that the imminent threat of war in
October and November, 1941, was a deep secret, known only to
the authorities in Washington, who kept it mysteriously to them­
selves. Nothing could be further from the truth."48
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He then cited speeches by Knox, Welles, and Roosevelt~' none de­
livered after November 11, as proof that the people and Congress
had been adequately warned of "the imminence of war with Japan."

Nowhere did Stimson say that not a whisper of Roosevelt's August
17 ultimatum ever reached Congress"or the people, that instead it had
b~hi(fden under the smoke screen of the Atlantic Charter; that in
none of these speeches was there an inkling that the United States had
been committed to war if Japan moved against anybody anywhere in
the <Pa-Clfi~';th-a't the true nature and course of the American-Japanese
conversations were not disclosed until after the war was in progress;
that the last of the 'so-called warning speeches was made more than two
weeks before the definite, final crisis of November 26; and that after­
ward that crisis was concealed until the attack on Oahu struck the
people as- amonstrous, shocking surprise.

This surprise was carefully prepared by the devious statements and
actions of the men in Washington who knew that war was at hand.
At Warm Springs on November 29 Roosevelt suggested the possi­
bility that "next year ... our boys of the military and naval academies
may be fighting." He knew that all of America would be at war
within days. At his press conference December 2 he referred to Japan
as "a friendly power with which the United States is at peace"49
when he knew from "Magic" of Japan's announced intention to fig~t

the united States.
secretary Hull December 3 emphasized that diplomatic negotia­

tions with Japan were still in progress. He called Nomura and Ku­
rusu his "friends" and said insistently that the conversations he was
having with them were "exploratory" and tentative.50 He knew that
Japan cons!gered them final and formal, that Japan's decoded mes­
sages- ~ho'~ed them "ruptured and broken" as a consequence of his
proposals of November 26, that the conversations were being continued
only to mask developing military action, and that Japan had told its
diplomatic representatives and its Axis partners that it would soon
be fighting the United States.

On December 4, the very day that Japan announced through the
"winds" signal that a state of war had already been secretly decreed
against the United States, Britain, and Holland, Stimson abandoned
his post of duty and flew up to New York to see his dentist.~l No
one would have gathered from this behavior that any tasks confronted
the military establishment. Nor did Stimson at a press conference
December 5 offer more enlightenment. He stated, "with some hu­
mor," that he had been out of touch with the news, because, having
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assurance that "the conversations with Japan were still in progress,"
he had spent the preceding day at his dentist's in New York.52

A curious sidelight on the professed ignorance of Stimson and the
Washington insiders that war was coming was provided before the
congressional committee by Lieut. Col. Clausen. The knowledge that
was supposed to be lacking in Washington was possessed in compara­
tively obscure quarters elsewhere, Clausen discovered.

While in Honolulu, he said, he saw a copy of a cable from Col.
G. H. Wilkinson, a sec~et Briti~.h.ag~nt in Manila, to the commercial
firm in Honolulu whkh-"Wiikinson ~epresented. Wilkinson on De­
cember 3 cabled John E. Russell, president of Theodore H. Davies
& Co., Ltd., a British sugar firm in Honolulu, stating his intelligence
indicated the Japanese were rushing the building of railroads and air
fields in Indo-China. The cable went on to say: "Our considered
opinion concludes that Japan envisages early hostilities with Britain
and the United States. Japan does not intend to attack Russia at pres­
ent, but will act in south."

Clausen said that Wilkinson's message bore all the earmarks of
having been prompted by independent interception of the Japanese
'\vinds" message.58

Clausen also obtained an affidavit from Maj. Gen. C. J. Willoughby,
intelligence officer for Gen. MacArthur in the Philippines, stating that
Wilkinson had approached MacArthur's headquarters with a request
that he be attached as liaison officer representing Britain. Gen. Wil­
loughby said that the British agent represented himself as having the
backing of Prime Minister Churchill. Willoughby said that Wilkin­
son "combined the status of a respected business man with that of a
secret agent."

Describing Wilkinson and others of his type, Willoughby said,
"This net of potential spies is world-wide. I find them loyal to no
one but themselves and the empire."54

'I-f'the nation were warned of war, as Stimson says, why did the
Senate, on the afternoon of December 4, adjourn on the motion of
Senator Lucas of Illinois* until December 8, the day after the attack
on Oahu? Why, on December 5, should the House have adjourned
until December 8 after a protracted session in which not one word
,,'as uttered about war at any moment with Japan?55

There was one flaw in the general picture of Washington's una­
wareness. On December 4 Maxwell Hamilton of the State Depart-

·Appointed four years later as a New Deal majority member of the Joint Congres­
sional Committee to investigate Pearl Harbor.
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ment's Far Eastern section was busy discussing plans with the British
embassy to arrange with the Japanese for the exchange of civilian
nationals when war came.56

Stimson says that the "people had been slow to recognize the
danger."51 The man who, having been given repeated notice of war,
responded by going off to his dentist, also condemns Gen. Short. He
contends that his message of November 27 gave Short the precise
situation.58 However well or badly Short was informed of the situa­
tion on the 27th" that situation changed, by Stimson's own statement,
on November 28 and December 1, 2, and 6. Short, however, was left
uninformed for the last ten days before the attack.

The President, Stimson, and the war cabinet had determined on
November 28 that if the Japanese expedition steaming down the China
Coast entered the Gulf of Siam, the United States would be at war with
Japan. On December 1 there were reports that the expedition was
landing near Saigon, Indo-China, instead of continuing into the gulf.
"This appeared to give us a little respite," Stimson says.59 Roosevelt,
believing the report of the landing was valid, demanded of the Japa­
nese on December 2 what "they intended by this new occupation of
southern Indo-China."60

If Japan was not going to force a war, the President was quite
willing to do so. Adm. Ingersoll told the congressional committee
that this same day Roosevelt ordered three small vessels dispatched
into the Gulf of Siam as a "defensive information patrol." A dispatch
sent by the chief of naval operations to Adm. Hart commenced with
this unusual statement: "President directs that the following be done
as soon as possible and within two days if possible after receipt this
dispatch."6l

Rep. Keefe said of this project:

The President's directions were that the commander-in-chief
of the Asiatic fleet was to charter three small vessels to form a
"defensive information patrol." The minimum requirements to
establish these ships as United States men of war would suffice
in manning them. These requirements were: command by a
naval officer and the mounting of a small gun and one machine
gun. The employment of Filipino crews with the minimum
number naval ratings was authorized. The ships were to ob­
serve and report by radio Japanese movement in the West China
Sea and Gulf of Siam. The President prescribed the point at
which each vessel was to be stationed. One vessel was to be
stationed between Hainan and Hue; one between Camranh Bay
and Cape St. Jaques; one off Pointe De Camau (Ex. 37, p. 39).
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All these points were clearly in the path of the Japanese advance
down the coast of Indo-China, and towards the Gulf of Siam.
The Navy Department did not originate this plan (Tr., 11351).
The Navy Department would not have directed it to be done
unle~!._the President had sp~cifically ordered it (Tr., 11351).
Acfin: "Mart was already conducting reconnaissance off that coast
by planes from Manila (Tr., p. 11350). So far as the Navy De­
partment was concerned, sufficient information was being re­
ceived from this air reconnaissance (Tr., p. 11351). Had the
Japanese fired upon anyone of these three small vessels, it
would have constituted an overt act on the part of Japan (Tr.,
p. 11352).62

This was only one of the long series of attempts by Roosevelt to
create an "incident" "which would plunge the United States into war.
Representative Keefe submits the following comment on the pro­
gram:63

The concept of an "incident" as a factor which would unify
public opinion behind an all-out war effort either in the Atlan­
tic or Pacific had influenced the thinking of officials in Wash­
ington for a long time. Many pla~s which might have produced
an incident were from time to' time discussed and considered.
As early as Oct. 10~ 1940, Secretary Knox had advised Adm.
Richardson, then commander-in-chief of the Pacific fleet, of a
plan the President was considering to shut off all tra~e between
Japan and North and South America. This would be accom­
plished by means of a patrol of American ships in two lines
extending from Hawaii westward to the Philippines, and from
Samoa toward the Dutch East Indies (Tr., p. 792). This plan
was to be instituted in the event Japan retaliated against Great
Britain upon the reopening of the Burma Road scheduled for
Oct. 17, 1940 (Tr., p. 792). Adm. Richardson was amazed at this
proposal and stated that the fleet was not prepared to put such
a plan into effect, nor for the war which would certainly result
from such a course of action (Tr., p. 793).

On Feb. 11, 1941, the chief of naval operations in a memo..
randum for the President, described the President as consider­
ing a plan to send a detachment of vessels to the Far East and
perhaps to permit a "leak" that they were going out there (Ex.
106). He quoted the President in the same memorandum as
stating that he would not mind losing one or two cruisers, but
that he did not want to take a chance on losing five or six.
Again, in a letter of April 19, 1941, the chief of naval operations
quoted the President as sayi~g to him:

"Betty, just as soon as those ships come back from Australia
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and New Zealand, or perhaps a little before, I want to send
some more out. I just want to keep them popping up here and
there and keep the Japs guessing" (Ex. 106).

On May 24,1941, Adm. Stark wrote Adm. Kimmel-
"Day before yesterday the President gave me an overall limit

of 30 days to prepare and have ready an expeditio,n of 25,000 men
to sail for and to take the Azores. Whether or not there would
be opposlt!oii-r-ao notkfiow' but we have to be fully prepared
for strenuous opposition" (Ex. 106).

On July 25, 1941, the chief of naval operations wrote Adm.
Kimmel to the effect that he might be called upon to send a
carrier-load of planes to Russia via one of the Asiatic Russian
ports (Ex. 106). "I don't know that you will, but the President
has told me to be prepared for it, and I want you to have the
thought." Adm. Kimmel replied to this suggestion as follows:

"I entertain no doubt that such an operation, if discovered
(as is highly probable), will be tantamount to initiation of a
Japanese-American war. If we are going to take the initiative
in commencing such a war, I can think of more effective ways
for gaining initial advantage. In short, it is my earnest convic­
tion that use of a carrier to deliver aircraft to Asiatic Russian
ports in the present period of strained relations is to invite war.
If we have decided upon war it would be far better to take di­
rect offensive action. If for reasons of political expediency, it
has been determined to force Japan to fire the first shot, let us
choose a method which~wi11 be more advantageous to'ourselves"
(Ex. 106).

On July 31, 1941, Adm. Stark sent Adm. Kimmel a copy of
a letter to Capt. Charles M. Cooke as follows:

"Within 48 hours after the Russian situation broke I went
to the President, with the Secretary's approval, and stated that on
the assumption that the country's decision is not to let England
fall, we should immediately seize the psychological opportunity
presented by the Russian-German clash and announce and start
escorting immediately, and protecting the Western Atlantic on
a large scale; that such a declaration, followed by immediate'
action on our part, would almost certainly involve us in the war
and that I considered every day of delay in our getting into the
war as dangerous and that much more delay might be fatal to
Britain's survival. I reminded him that I had been asking this
for months in the State Department and elsewhere, etc., etc., etc.
I have been maintaining that only a war psychology could or
would speed things up the way they should be speeded up; that
strive as we would it just is not in the nature of things to get
the results in peace that we would, were we at war.
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"The Iceland situation may produce an 'incident.' You are
as familiar with that and the President's statements and answers
at press conferences as I am. Whether or not we will get an
'incident' because of the protection we are giving Iceland and
the shipping which we must send in support of Iceland and our
troops, I do not know-only Hitler can answer" (Ex. 106).

Reverting to the Japanese troop convoy steaming down the coast
of Indo-China, Roosevelt and his colleagues in Washington learned
definitely on December 6 that the report of the landing near Saigon
was in error and that the Japanese expedition had in fact crossed the
line which the administration had determined would pull the United
States into war. That information came in two messages from Am­
bassador John Winant in London. The first reached Roosevelt and
Hull at 10 :40 A.M., December 6, almost twenty-seven hours before the
Japs struck Hawaii. This message, marked "Triple priority and most
urgent" and "Personal and secret to the Secretary and the President,"
stated:

British Admiralty reports that at 3:00 A.M., London time,
this morning two parties seen off Cambodia Point, sailing slowly
westward toward Kra, 14 hours distant in time. First party 25
transports, 6 cruisers, 10 destroyers. Second party 10 transports,
2 cruisers, 10 destroyers.64

This dispatch~ read in the light of the unanimous decision of the
war cabinet on November 28 that the United States would fight if
and when Japan entered the Gulf of Siam, meant to Roosevelt, Hull,
Stimson" Knox, Marshall, and Stark that the .United Stat~swas at
waras.of 10:40 A.M. that day. The actual Japan~se att~ck on'Th~1ra~d,
the-Isthmus of Kra, and Malaya would come in fourteen hours.

During cross-examination of Gen. Marshall, Senator Ferguson re­
ferred to the joint memorandum of November 27 in which Stark and
Marshall recommended "military action" if Jap forces moved into
western Thailand or advanced southward through the Gulf of Siam.

"According to your memorandum to the President," Ferguson
said, "a Jap advance into Kra called for military action by us. So
Winant's message meant war with Japan, didn't it?"

"It meant an attack by Japan in a military sense," Marshall lamely
replied, "but the question of going to war was up to the two govern­
ments [the United States and Japan]."65

Winant's second dispatch of December 6, again marked "Triple
priority and most urgent" and "Personal and secret for the Secretary,"
reached Hull at 3:05 P.M. This message read in part:
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Again from Cadogan. Admiralty conference on information
just forwarded, Cadogan attending. They were uncertain as to
whether destination of parties is Kra or Bangkok. Latter would
not be reached before Monday.

Note a discrepancy in time reported by me and time reported
in our naval dispatch, latter stating 3:00 A.M. Greenwich time,
by dispatch as given me 3:00 A.M. London time.. Believe former
correct.

British feel pressed for time in relation to guaranteeing sup­
port Thailand fearing Japan might force them to invite inva­
sion on pretext protection before British have opportunity to
guarantee support but wanting to carry ot!!... preside~t.~.s. \'yi~h~s

in message transmitted by Welles to Halifax. . . . -
I am having lunch with the Prime Minister tomorrow at his

usual place in the country and will be constantly in contact with
the embassy over private wires in case you wish to communicate
with me.66

Efforts were made at the congressional hearings to learn from
Welles the nature of the "President's wishes" as conveyed to Lord
Halifax. Welles said that there was no written record of the message.
He was unable to achieve any satisfactory recall.67 Another of Roose-
velt's maneuvers thus is concealed. .

ThecIfspatches from American representatives in the Southwest
Pacific which came into Washington following Winant's messages
show clearly, however, that the British and Dutch now considered the
United States bound to come to their assistance. Adm. Hart radioed
for confirmation of the British assertion at Singapore that America
had assured armed support if Japan landed in the Kra Isthmus, vio­
lated any part of Thailand, or attacked the Dutch East Indies.*

The paraphrase of a second secret message from Hart, received at
the War Department at 4:29 P.M. December 6, stated,

[Lieut. Col. F. G.] Brink [American military observer at
Singapore] advises that at one o'clock in the afternoon, follow­
ing a course due west, were seen a battleship, five cruisers, seven
destroyers, and twenty-five merchant ships; these were seen at
106 degrees 8 minutes east, 8 degrees north; this was the first
report.

The second report was that ten merchant ships, two cruisers,
and ten destroyers were seen following the same course at 106
degrees 20 minutes east, 7 degrees 3S minutes north.

Both of the above reports came from patrols of the Royal
Air Force.68

·See Chap. VIII.
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These movements were in violation of paragraphs (b) and (c) of
the deadline provisions of the Singapore conference, and the British
were bringing them to American attention because they automatically
required action by us.

When Adm. Stark was examined by Senator Ferguson about this
message,--he candidly admitted, "The presumption which we instilled
into the dispatch was war."69

On December 6 Adm. Hart was already acting under the ABCD
pact. Adm. Sir Tom Phillips, who had arrived at Singapore Decem­
ber 2 with the battleship "Prince of Wales" and the battle cruiser
"Repulse," conferred in Manila with Hart on the 6th. Phillips had
brought with him only four destroyers and utterly lacked carrier air
cover for his big units. Hart agreed at this conference the day before
the Pearl Harbor attack to assign Phillips four American and six
Dutch destroyers to supplement his covering force, but before they
could be sent to his assistance the Japanese caught and sank the
"Prince of Wales" and "Repulse" December 10 in a combined bomb­
ing and aerial torpedo attack off Kuantan on the east coast of Ma­
laya.70

The Australian government on December 6 held up still another
message in which Col. Merle-Smith, American military attache at
Melbourne, sought to address a reminder from Dutch authorities in
the East Indies that the United States was now committed to come
to their assistance. Merle-Smith's message, addressed to the War De­
partment and to Gen. Short, was dated December 6, but did not
arrive in Washington until 7:58 P.M. December 7, twelve hours after
the attack on Pearl Harbor, having been held up for seventeen hours
by the Australians. '

Merle-Smith said Dutch intelligence had reported that a Jap fleet
was moving toward Ambon or Menado in the Dutch Indies, which
would carry it across the Davao-Waigeo line established at the Singa­
pore staff conference, and that, as a result, the Dutch high command
in the Pacific had ordered the execution of "Plan A-2." This was the
Dutch portion of Rainbow No.5, the master war plan, calling for joint
American-British-Dutch deployment against Japan.

Col. Merle-Smith's assistant, Lieut. Robert H. O'Dell, said that he
and his superior were summoned to a conference the afternoon of
December 5 with Air Chief Marshal Sir Charles S. Burnett, com­
mander of the Australian air force, and Comdr. Saom, Dutch liaison
officer at Melbourne. There they were told of the Jap fleet movement
and of Dutch action. Merle-Smith prepared a radiogram that night
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to warn Hawaii and Washington of the developments, but Burnett
asked Merle-Smith to "wait twenty-four hours" before sending it, and
Merle-Smith "reluctantly agreed."

O'Dell further related that the Dutch action in executing their
portion of the war plan "called for joint operations by the Australians,
Dutch, and our navy, if nothfng else."71
, Upori -ErSt sIghting ffie~"-ippioach of this fleet, the Dutch had con­

sulted Secretary Hull as to the advisability of addressing a warning
to Japan. Hull asked the advice of Stark, who said that if the Dutch
wanted to give the Japs a warning, it should be in the form of a decla­
ration that Japanese naval vessels or expeditionary forces crossing a
line running between Davao and Waigeo would be considered hostile .
and would be attacked.72 Asked if he had drawn up the memorandum .
without informing Roosevelt, Stark responded, "I don't think I would
have without consulting the President."78

The Dutch had ordered a comprehensive mobilization of forces in
the East Indies on December 1, and the same day British troops at
Singapore were also alerted for war. The eyes of the partners in the
secret ABeD alliance were turned upon the United States. On De­
cember 6, in Melbourne, the four powers issued a -statement in which
it was promised that they would'match Japan, "move by move." The
State TIepartmenf in Washington promptly denied that American
adherence to any such manifesto was authorized.7'

During the week Prime Minister Churchill had been importuning
Roosevelt to convey a stiff warning to Japan. The President agreed
to send a message to Hirohito, and, if no reply came from the emperor
by Monday evening, December 8, to "issue his warning on Tuesday
afternoon or evening." This was to be followed by a warning on
Wednesday from the British and possibly the Dutch. A British draft
of the warning, sent by Churchill December 7 to Roosevelt "for com­
ment," warned Japan against invading Thailand.71S

"Should hostilities unfortunately result," it read, "the responsibility
will rest with Japan."78

As "Magic" had shown, this strategy was superfluous, for the Jap
attack was certain to intervene. The administration, with war only a
few hours away, with the intercepts and the Japanese spy messages
pointing to an attack upon Pearl Harbor, suddenly began protesting
a passion for peace.

Roosevelt, for the record alone, sent his message to Hirohito the
night of the 6th;" when he 't~ne~ it was much too late to avoid war.
Now that it no longer mattered, he did not insist that a settlement be
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based on Hull's ten points of the memorandum of November 26, which
had served as the final goad in bringing Japan to war. He did not
even mention the November 26 conditions. He knew that they were
no longer relevant, just as he knew that his ",hole message was with­
out meaning. It was released for publication to Monday morning
papers, the day after the attack, and in the confusion of the hour
seemed to confirm the administration's aggrieved cries about the du­
plicity of the Japs. With what is now known about Roosevelt's diplo­
macy, the appeal to Hirohito becomes merely the act of a politician
pulling the wool over the eyes of his own countrymen.

On Sunday, December 7, when the complete fourteen-part final
Japanese reply to Hull and the pilot message instructing that it be
handed in at 1:00 P.M. had announced that the hour was about to
strike, the pretense of innocence was maintained to the last. Roosevelt
and Hopkins arranged the tableau in the White House study. Hull,
Stimson, and Knox gathered in the morning in the State Department,
where Stimson muttered that "something" was hanging in the air and
Hull voiced the obvious conclusion that the Japs were up to "some
deviltry." Stimson wrote in his diary,

The main thing is to hold the main people who are inter­
ested in the Far East together-the British, ourselves, the Dutch,
the Australians, the Chinese. Knox also had his views as to
the importance of showing immediately how these different na­
tions must stand together.77

The prudent Stimson had Hull and Knox dictate their views on
the spot78-more contributions for the record, to be produced at an
opportune time, as they were produced when the congressional com­
mittee at length began nosing around. Stimson states:

The messages we were receiving now indicated that the Jap­
anese force was continuing on in the Gulf of Siam, and again
we discussed whether we would not have to fight if Malaya
or the Netherlands were attacked and the British or Dutch
fought. We all three thought that we must fight if those na­
tions fought.79

At 2 o'clock, while he was at lunch, Stimson was telephoned the
news by the President that the Japs were bombing Hawaii. Stim­
son's description of his reception of this news was significant. He
confided to his diary, "We three [Hull, Knox, and Stimson] all
thought that we must fight if the British fought. But now the laps
have solved the uJhole thing by attacking us directly in Hawaii."*80

f

-Italics supplied.



JAPAN SOLVES THE DILEMMA 309

Japan had obligingly provided the solution for President Roosevelt's
dilemma.

Stimson expressed his reaction to the Jap attack which was costing
3,000 American lives with the utmost frankness. He wrote in his
diary:

When the news first came that Japan had attacked us my
first feeling was of relief that the indecision was over and that
a crisis had come in a way which would unite all our people.
This continued to be my dominant feeling in spite of the news
of catastrophes which quickly developed. For I feel that this
country united has practically nothing to fear; while the apathy
and divisions stirred up by unpatriotic men had been hitherto
very discouraging.81

In other words, Stimson's view was that it was patriotic to go to war
for the British and Dutch empires, and unpatriotic to try to stay at

"'_." ' ''.

peace.
-- That night, at the White House meeting of cabinet members and

congressional leaders, Roosevelt wonderingly observed again and
again that now the nation was at war, and that war had come from
an overt act on the part of Japan.

"Well," he said, "we were attacked. There is no question about
that."82

Again, he said, "The fact is that a shooting war is going on today
in the Pacific. Weare in it."83

It was almost as if he couldn't quite believe it.
The Roosevelt policy which took the United States to war has

been aptly described as resembling a river which occasionally dis­
appears underground only to emerge nearer the sea-in this instance,
the sea of total war. The Japanese attack upon Pearl Harbor averted
a serious constitutional crisis in the United States. This crisis was
precipitated by Roosevelt's policy of using his "commander-in-chief"
powers to push through action in the field of foreign affairs which
had it~_ full intended effect before Congress could be consulted.8~



Chapter Twenty

WHO WAS GUILTY?

THE ATIACK by Japan upon Pearl Harbor provided the long-sought
incident that put the United States into the World War. The Japa­
nese, however, had exceeded the Roosevelt administration's specifica­
tions that, in firing the first shot, they should not "allow too much
danger to ourselves." Pearl Harbor was more than a mere token act
of hostilities. The Japanese had kept on firing until 2,326 Americans
were dead and the Pacific fleet was a wreck. Other disasters were
accumulating and were foreseeable. The isolated garrisons of Wake,
Guam, and Luzon were soon sacrificed to the Washington war plan.

A catastrophe of such dimensions, if admitted, might have an
effect other than rallying a divided country to fight a hard and costly
war which more than 80 per cent of the people hadn't wanted. If
admitted, it might have diminished the willingness of the people to
forget the provocative course by which the President had by-passed
Congress in inviting hostilities. There might have been an attitude
of serious questioning toward the acts and the wisdom of Mr. Roose­
velt and the men around him. That was the last thing the "com­
mander-in-chief" wanted or could afford.

Soon the administration strategy was clarified. The tremendous
defeat at Hawaii was first ascribed to treacherous Japan, launching an
attack at the very time that the American government was trying to
lead the erring war lords of Nippon into the ways of peace. The
administration conveniently forgot to remind the American people of
the part played in bringing about the result of December 7 by its
campaign of economic warfare, its secret diplomacy, its covert mili­
tary alliances, the submission of demands which Japan found "humili-

'; ating," and its own complete abandonment of neutrality in favor of
\nondeclared war.

310
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When it became apparent, a few days after Pearl Harbor, that the
manifest failures which contributed to the crushing defeat at Oahu
could not be blamed solely on the Japanese, Roosevelt and his associ­
ates in the civilian government and high command inven,ted some
new villains to divert the guilt from themselves. For 'the defeat at
Pearl Harbor the blame-all of the blame, not part of it-was appor­
tioned between Adm. Kimmel and Gen. Short. Secretary Knox said
they were not on the alert. Roosevelt dismissed them from their com­
mands. The Presidential commission headed by Justice Roberts con­
firmed the sentence by finding them guilty of dereliction of duty.
They were retired. It was announced that some time in the future
they would be court martialed. Under such charges, they had no
recourse except to keep silent.

So the matter stood for almost four years. With all of the apparatus
of wartime censorship and propaganda to support them, the admin­
istration leaders felt safe. In 1944, when the clamor for a fair investi­
gation of Pearl Harbor forced Secretary Knox and Secretary Stimson
to convoke a Navy Court and an Army Board of Inquiry, the admin­
istration's thesis that Kimmel and Short alone were to blame was
badly shaken.

The findings of the Army Board reached into the President's cabi­
net and the high command in assessing the blame. It charged offenses
to Secretary of State Hull, Chief of Staff Marshall, and Chief of War
Plans Gerow, in addition to Short.1 President Truman and Secretary
Stimson, now that suspicion was beginning to be directed toward
Roosevelt's official circle and the administration's service pets, felt
constrained to overrule the Army Board. Stimson termed the criti­
cism of Hull "uncalled for" and that of Marshall "entirely unjusti­
fied."2 Truman endeavored to court martial the American people.' ..

"The country," he said, "was not ready for preparedness.... I
think the country is as much to blame as any individual in this final
situation that developed in Pearl Harbor."3

The Navy Court's report was as distasteful to the administration as
had been the Army Board's. The court refused to adopt the postulate
that Kimmel was guilty of anything. "Based upon the facts estab­
lished," the report stated, "the court is of the opinion that no offenses
have been committed nor serious blame incurred on the part of any
person or persons in the naval service.'"

Adm. King, commander-in-chief of the fleet, and Secretary of the
Navy Forrestal could not let that stand. They appended supplemental
statements of their own to the court's report which had the effect of
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overruling their own investigators. They decreed that Adm. Kimmel
was not to hold any post in the Navy "which requires the exercise of
superior judgment." In order not to make too glaring a demonstra­
tion of prejudice, they threw Adm. Stark to the wolves, returning the
same specification against him.5

Finally, Congress stepped into the Pearl Harbor controversy. An
investigation could not be forestalled, so the administration decided
the prudent thing was to make the inquiry its own. The majority party
initiated the investigation, decreed its conditions, and controlled its
course. Public hearings could not be avoided, nor could Kimmel and
Short be bound to their four-year silence. For the first time testimony
was taken in the open, and for the first time the Hawaiian com­
manders were able to submit a defense to the public.

Adm. Kimmel, tracing the involutions of previous investigations,
said of the Roberts inquiry, "I had no way of knowing what evidence
had been given the commission other than my own testimony. It was
more than two years after the commission concluded its proceedings
before I was permitted to know what evidence had been presented to
the commission." When he did read the record, Kimmel said, he
found substantial inaccuracies and misrepresentations.6

Of the proceedings of the Navy Court the admiral said:

I was present at all hearings, was represented by counsel,
introduced evidence, examined, and cross-examined witnesses.
This proceeding was the only one of the secret investigations of
Pearl Harbor in which these basic American rights were ac­
corded to me.

The Naval Court of Inquiry found unanimously that there
was no ground for criticism of my decisions or actions. The
findings of the Naval Court were not made public, however,
until August 28, 1945. When they appeared in the press, I
learned for the first time that the Naval Court of Inquiry had
found that I was not guilty of any dereliction of duty or errors
of judgment.

On February 6, 1945, I wrote to the Secretary of the Navy
requesting permission to read the findings of fact, opinions, and
recommendations of the Naval Court. On February 13, 1945, the
Secretary of the Navy denied,my re,quest.

In May of 1945, long"after'the Naval Court of Inquiry had
filed its report, the Secretary of the Navy detailed Adm. Hewitt
to conduct a further secret investigation into Pearl Harbor. I
learned from the public press that the investigation had begun.
On May 8" 1945, I wrote to the Secretary requesting permission
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to be present at the hearings before Adm. Hewitt, to introduce
evidence, to confront and cross-examine witnesses. The Secre­
tary of the Navy denied my request in a letter of May 14, 1945.

On May 24, 1945, I wrote again to the Secretary requesting
that he reconsider his decision to exclude me from the Hewitt
investigation. The Secretary of the Navy never replied. The
Hewitt investigation went ahead in secret.

On the basis of this s~cret investigation, the Secretary, in
effect, set aside the verdict of the Naval Court of Inquiry.7

The even more devious history of the endeavor of Secretary Stim­
son to make . charges stick against Gen. Short was traced during the
congressional hearings by Senator Ferguson and Representative Keefe.

The War Department bureau of public relations on February 28"
1942, issued a press release entitled "Retirement of Gen. Short Ap­
proved." This release read:

The Secretary of War announced today the acceptance, effec­
tive February 28, 1942, of the application for retirement of Maj.
Gen. Walter C. Short "without condonation of any offense or
prejudice to any future disciplinary action."

The Secretary of War announced at the same time that,
based upon the findings of the report of the Roberts Commission,
he had directed the preparation of charges for the trial by court
martial of Gen. Short, alleging dereliction of duty. The Secre­
tary of War made it clear, however, "that the trial upon these
charges would not be held until such time as the public interest
and safety would permit."s

"I understand, then, from that, that the Secretary of War indicated
that upon the basis of the Roberts report you would be court martialed
at some time?" Senator Ferguson said to Short.

"He at least stated that he had directed this to be drawn," Short
replied.

"Now, did you ever do anything in any way to prevent that court
martial-the charges being filed?"

"I did not," Short responded. "In fact, I signed a waiver that I
would agree to a court martial within six months after termination of
hostilities'"

"Now, have you ever made any direct request for a court martial
trial? "

~'I have not."
"And you have done nothing, as I understand it, to prevent such

a trial?"
"I have not."
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"You are prepared, then, to defend any trial that the government
may start? Is that the way it stands?"

"That is the way it stands."g
Ferguson then developed that on April 20, 1942, the judge advo­

cate general's office, acting on instructions from Secretary Stimson,
prepared court martial charges against Short alleging violation of the
96th Article of War, with eleven specifications. A memorandum dated
November 27, 1944, which was attached to the judge advocate's speci­
fications of two and a half years before, stated, "The above charges
were merely tentative and possible charges and were never approved
by the judge advocate or transmitted to the Secretary of War. Of
course, they were never made public."lO

This indicated that Stimson had done his best to hang something
on Short, but that the Army's chief legal officer considered the case so
weak that he did not even bring it to the attention of the Secretary,
let alone to public trial. Senator Ferguson then read the specifications
to Short and asked him to plead them. Short pleaded not guilty to
each of them in turn.11

Ferguson asked Short whether he had any knowledge or opinions
as to why independent investigations were undertaken for Secretary
Stimson by Maj. Gen. Cramer, Maj. Clausen, and Col. Clarke.

As to the Clausen inquiry, Short said, "I think that there is an
explanation of that. You have to read between the lines."12 The gen­
eral, as an aid to interlinear reading, referred to a memorandum relat­
ing to the findings of the Army Pearl Harbor Board which Judge
Advocate General Cramer sent to Stimson November 25, 1944.

Cramer suggested to Stimson that the board report had raised
certain questions which "might advantageously be pursued." He
continued" "I do not mean to suggest that the board should be recon­
vened for this purpose; the work could be done by an individual
officer familiar with the matter."18

Short remarked that Gen. Marshall had testified that in all of his
service he had never heard of a reviewing officer, if he were dissatis­
fied with the findings of a court martial or a board, taking such action
as Cramer had here recommended. Marshall had said that the normal
action was to refer the proceedings back to the board and direct that
additional evidence be taken, if that were desired, or to direct that a
review. of their findings be made by the board, after which the review
would then be returned to the reviewing officer. Short remarked:

In this case the judge advocate general goes out of his way to
state he does not want it referred back to the board, but suggests
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an officer who had been on duty with the board. . .. Lieut. Col.
Clausen, who was a major at the time, was assistant recorder of
the board. Unquestionably Gen. Cramer had in his mind the
recommending of Col. Clausen at the time he made that recom­
mendation, which would have taken the further investigation
out of the hands of the Army Board and placed it in the hands
of a selected individual.

"Now, in your experience in the Army, did you ever know of that
[happening]?" Senator Ferguson asked.

"I have never known of it."
"Now, as I understand it, before a real review of these findings

was made, they sent Maj. Clausen out?"
"I think the review had been made, but it was not what they

wanted."
"Oh. Now, that is what you are reading between the lines, that

when they read this report they were not satisfied and they used the
words 'certain personnel' in there?"

"And they apparently did not believe they could get what they
wanted out of the Army Board," Short said.14

Short said that even after Clausen had done his service in attempt­
ing to tear down the Army Board report, the judge advocate general
was still constrained to inform Secretary Stimson that he could not
prove any offense against Short.15 This opinion had been held by the
judge advocate general's office ever since January 27, 1942, three days
after the Roberts Commission had accused Short of dereliction of duty.
In a memorandum of that date, the judge advocate general informed
Stimson:

Gen. Short's nonfeasance or omissions were based on an esti­
mate of the situation which, although proved faulty by subse­
quent events, was, insofar as I am able to ascertain from the
report of the commission, made or concurred in by all those offi­
cers in Hawaii best qualified to form a sound military opinion.
That estimate was that an attack by air was in the highest de­
gree improbable.16

On' November 25, 1944, two days after Clausen had submitted his
special report, Judge Advocate General Cramer again admitted that
nothing had been turned up which would incriminate Short. He in­
formed Stimson,

I suggest, therefore, that a public statement be made by you
giving a brief review of the board's proceedings and pointing
out that Gen. Short was guilty of errors of judgment for which
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he was properly removed from command, and that this consti­
tutes a sufficient disposition of the matter at this time. In the
event further investigation should disclose a different situation,
the matter could later be re-examined in the light of such addi­
tional evidence.1T

Ferguson developed that, the Clausen investigation having proved
a flop from the viewpoint of Secretary Stimson and the administration,
they tried again-this time by dispatching Col. Carter Clarke to con­
duct still another inquiry. Clarke had been of previous service as a
go-between to Governor Dewey when Gen. Marshall, by crying up
"national security," had steered Dewey off the subject of Pearl Harbor
during the 1944 Presidential campaign.

"How do you account for that investigation by Carter Clarke after
Clausen got through?" the Senator asked Short.

"It is pretty difficult to say just what they were attempting to do,"
Short responded. "They were apparently wanting to find out exactly
what every man holding an important position in G-2 would say about
their estimates, and so forth, and it was a very difficult report to get
ahold of."

"And do you know whether or not it indicated in any way that
there had been an investigation by G-2 for the President and that there
had been some changes made in it by Gen. Marshall?"

"Somewhere-I have forgotten whether it was in that report or not,
but somewhere-I have run across something of that kind."

At this point Representative Murphy of Pennsylvania interjected,
"Isn't it fair to say that after reading it, there is a man named Fried­
man and several other witnesses and a Gen. Spalding and others who
had some kind of a rumor going about that Marshall was supposed
to have destroyed papers, and that was unequivocally" absolutely, and
positively contradicted?"

"But there is also more in it," Ferguson rejoined. "I think at some
time Carter Clarke should appear and give us the reason for it."18

Clarke was never summoned as a witness to explain what he knew
about the charge that Marshall had tampered with evidence relating
to the Pearl Harbor disaster.

Short rendered an oblique judgment on the process by which Stim­
son and high officers in the War Department had endeavored to
fasten all of the blame for the Pearl Harbor attack upon him when
he remarked, "I would like to say that I would never at any time try
to pass the buck to any single subordinate. My decision was made on
the information that the War Department had furnished me, and I
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had no desire and absolutely never took any steps to pass the buck to
some individual man below me."19

Ferguson, referring to the opinion Cramer had submitted to Stim­
son, read the following passage,

There is also in cases like this the historic precedent of Presi­
dent Lincoln's refusal to rebuke Secretary of War Simon Cam­
eron for a gross error of judgment. I am therefore forced to
conclude that if Gen. Short is tried and if such trial should re­
sult in his conviction, there is considerable likelihood the court
would adjudge his sentence less than dismissal and might well
adjudge nothing beyond a reprimand.

"Would that lead us to believe, then," Ferguson inquired, "that he
was of the opinion that he was concerned with the sentence, and they
were concerned with that alone?"

"I would say they were greatly concerned with the effect on public
opinion," Short responded, "and that they wanted to be very careful
and not try me on something where they would fail and the effect
would bounce back on them.,,20

Gen. Cramer, in a memorandum to the chief of staff and Secre­
tary of War on the advisability of court martial proceedings, stated,
"As to whether Gen. Short should be tried at any time, a factor to be
considered is what sentence, in the event of conviction, the court
would adjudge."

"Why," asked Ferguson, "would the judge advocate be concerned
in advance and before he had filed the charges as to what the court
would give as a penalty?"

"It would look like he was thinking of the possible effect on public
opinion," Short replied. "If I were tried and found not guilty, or
given a very mild sentence, the public would tend to feel that there
had been no justification. That is the only conclusion I can draw."

Cramer's memorandum went on,

As I have already indicated, upon any charge of neglect of
duty, or of his various duties, Gen. Short would have the for­
midable defense that he responded to the request to report
measures he had taken with a message, incomplete and am­
biguous as it may be, but which should have prompted doubt
as to the sufficiency of the action taken.

My experience with courts martial leads me to the belief that
a court would be reluctant to adjudge a severe sentence in a
case of this kind where the general picture would be clouded by
a claim that others were guilty of contributory causes.
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Senator Ferguson said, "I want to ask you this question in relation
to that: Couldn't that have been cured by trying all that were guilty
of contributory causes?"

"Yes, sir," Short agreed.
"Do you know whether or not the War Department has ever con­

sidered the question of trying all that were guilty of contributory
causes, or causes, of the disaster at Pearl Harbor?"

"I am quite sure," Short responded, "they have never made a
public statement to that effect."21

The Joint Congressional Committee, after conducting hearings for
seventy days and compiling a record of 10 million words, finally was
ready to render judgment. The majority party, naturally, wrote the
majority report. It rehearsed the familiar theme that Kimmel and
Short were to blame, but conceded that "the errors of the Hawaiian
commands were errors of judgment and not derelictions of duty."
The War Plans Division of the War Department and the Intelligence
and War Plans Divisions of both the War and Navy Departments
were criticized incidentally, with no individuals named.2s Inasmuch
as the majority party showed every desire to continue soaring to elec­
tion victories on Roosevelt's magic carpet, the late commander-in­
chief was dealt with tenderly.2.

The minority report of Senators Ferguson and Brewster, dismissing
the majority report as "illogical and unsupported by the preponder­
ance of the evidence," named some new names. For the first time in
any investigation, Roosevelt, Knox, and Stimson were flatly accused
of responsibility, and Secretary Hull was inferentially accused. The
report concluded:

Having examined the whole record made before the Joint
Committee and having analyzed the same in the foregoing con­
clusions of fact and responsibility, we find the evidence supports
the following final and ultimate conclusion:

The failure of Pearl Harbor to be fully alerted and prepared
for defense rested upon the proper discharge of two sets of inter­
dependent responsibilities: (1) the responsibilities of high au­
thorities in Washington; and (2) the responsibilities of the
commanders in the field in charge of the fleet and of the naval
base.

The evidence clearly shows that these two areas of responsi­
bilities were inseparably essential to each other in the defense
of Hawaii. Th~ commanders in the field could not have pre­
pared or been ready successfully to meet hostile attack at Hawaii
without indispensable information, materiel, trained manpower
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and clear orders from Washington. Washington could not be
certain that Hawaii was in readiness without the alert and ac­
tive cooperation of the commanders on the spot.

The failure to perform the responsibilities indispensably
essential to the defense of Pearl Harbor rests upon the follow­
ing civil and military authorities:

FRANKLIN D. ROOSEVELT-President of the United States and \
Commander-in-Chief of the Army and Navy. \

HENRY L. STIMSON-Secretary of War. !

FRANK KNox-Secretary of the Navy.
GEORGE C. MARSHALL-General, Chief of Staff of the Army.
HAROLD R. STARK-Admiral, Chief of Naval Operations.
LEONARD T. GERow-Major General, Assistant Chief of Staff.

of War Plans Division.
The failure to perform the responsibilities in Hawaii rests

upon the military commanders:
WALTER C. SHoRT-Major General, Commanding General,

Hawaiian Department.
HUSBAND E. KIMMEL-Rear Admiral, Commander in Chief

of the Pacific Fleet.
Both in Washington and in Hawaii there were numerous

and serious failures of men in the lower civil and military eche­
lons to perform their duties and discharge their responsibilities.
These are too numerous to be treated in detail and individually
named.

Secretary of State, CORDELL HULL, who was at the center of
Japanese-American negotiations, bears a grave responsibility for
the diplomatic conditions leading up to the eventuality of Pearl
Harbor but he had no duties as a relevant link in the military
chain of responsibility stemming from the commander-in-chief
to the commanders at Hawaii for the defense at Pearl Harbor.
For this reason and because the diplomatic phase was not com­
pletely explored we offer no conclusions in his case.25

In support of these conclusions, the minority report26 submitted a
classic statement of the responsibilities of Roosevelt in the exercise of his
duties, charging him not only with failure in discharging those duties
as they bore on the events of December 7, but emphasizing that his re­
sponsibility encompassed the acts of his subordinates. The report stated:

The President of the United States was responsible for the fail- '\
ure to enforce continuous, efficient, and appropriate co-operation ,
among the Secretary of War, the Secretary of the Navy, the
chief of staff, and the chief of naval operations, in evaluating
information and dispatching clear and positive orders to the
Hawaiian c~mmanders as events indicated the growing immi-
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nence of war; for the Constitution and laws of tIle United States
vested in the President full power, as Chief Executive and Com­
mander-in-Chief, to compel such co-operation and vested this
power in him alone with a view to establishing his responsi­
bility to the people of the United States.

As to the power, and therefore of necessity, the responsibility
of the President in relation to the chain of events leading to the
catastrophe at Pearl Harbor, there can be no doubt. The terms
of the Constitution and the laws in this respect are clear beyond
all cavil.

The Constitution vests in the President the whole and indi­
visible executive power subject to provisions for the approval of
appointments and treaties by the Senate.

The President, by and with the advice and consent of the
Senate, appoints high officers, civil and military.

He is chief magistrate in all civil affairs, including those re­
lated to the maintenance and operation of the military and
naval establishments.

Under the law he conducts all diplomatic negotiations on
behalf of the United States, assigning to his appointee, the Sec­
retary of State, such duties connected therewith as he sees fit,
always subject to his own instructions and authorizations.

Under the Constitution the President is Commander-in-Chief
of the armed forces of the United States, and with the approval
of the Senate he appoints all high military and naval officers.
He assigns them to their duties in his discretion except in the
case of the chief of staff and chief of naval operations-these
appointments must be approved by the Senate.

And why did the framers of the Constitution vest these im­
mense powers in one magistrate-not in a directory or a single
official checked by a council, as was proposed in the Convention
of 1787?

The answer to this question is to be found in No. 70 of The
Federalist. The purpose of establishing a single rather than a
plural Executive was to assure "energy in the execut~ve," "a due
dependence on the people," and "a due responsibility." A plural
executive, it is there argued, "tends to deprive the 'people of the
two greatest securities they can have for the faithful exercise
of any delegated power, first, the restraints of public opinion
· . . ; and, secondly, the opportunity of discovering with facility
and clearness the misconduct of persons they trust ...."

The acts of Congress providing for the organization, opera­
tions, powers, and duties of the military establishments under
the President particularized the powers and duties of the Presi­
dent in relation to them; in brief, they empowered him to issue
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orders and instructions to the civil secretaries and also directly
to the chief of staff and the chief of naval operations.

Such are the terms of the Constitution and the laws relative
to the chief executive.

From March 4, 1933, to December 7, 1941" Franklin D.
Roosevelt was President and Commander-in-Chief of the armed
forces of the United States and in him were vested all executive
powers und~r the Constitution and the laws.

He appointed Cordell Hull as Secretary of State in 1933 and
retained him in that office during this period.

He appointed all the Secretaries of War and of the Navy
during this period.

He selected, or approved the choice of, all chiefs of staff and
chiefs of naval operations during this period.

He selected, or approved the choice of, all the men who
served as military and naval commanders in charge of the Ha­
waiian area and he assigned them to their posts of duty.

In support of the doctrine that the President is entrusted
with supreme executive responsibility and cannot divest himself
of it, we have more recent authority. Speaking at a press con­
ference on December 20, 1940, on a subject of administrative
actions, President Roosevelt said: "There were two or three
cardinal principles; and one of them is the fact that you cannot,
under the Constitution, set up a second President of the United
States. In other words, the Constitution states one man is re­
sponsible. Now that man can delegate, surely, but in the dele­
gation he does not delegate away any part of the responsibility
from the ultimate responsibility that rests on him" (Papers,
1940, p. 623).

Although there were two departments for the administra­
tion of military and naval affairs during this period, they were
both under the supreme direction of the President as chief
executive and Commander-in-Chief in all matters relative to
separate and joint planning for defense and war, to disposition
of forces and materiel, to preparedness for operation in case of

. an attack. In respect of the President's power, the two depart­
ments were one agency for over-all planning and operational
purposes.

The President had power to issue directions and orders to
the Secretary of War and the Secretary of the Navy and also
directly and indirectly to the Chief of Staff and the Chief of
Naval Operations and on occasions used this power.

Furthermore, under the Reorganization Act of 1939, Presi­
dent Roosevelt had enjoyed the power, by grant of Congress, to
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reorganize the Department of War and the Department of the
Navy if he deemed it necessary in the interest of efficiency and
more effective cooperation between the departments. Since he
did not reorganize the two departments under that act, he must
have deemed them properly constructed as they were.

By virtue of the powers vested in him the President had,
during this period, the responsibility for determining the re­
ciprocal relations of diplomatic decisions and war plans.

In fine, Secretary Hull, Secretary Stimson, Secretary Knox,
General Marshall, Admiral Stark, General Short, and Admiral
Kimmel were all men of President Roosevelt's own choice-not
hang-over appoint~es from another administration to which in­
competence may be ascribed-and the President had ample
power to direct them, coordinate their activities, and bring about
a concentration of their talents and energies in the defense of
the United States.

Thus endowed with power and in full charge of diplomatic
negotiations, the President decided long before December 7, at
least as early as the Atlantic Conference in August, that war
with Japan was a matter of a few weeks or months, was so
highly probable and so imminent as to warrant a dedication of
his abilities to preparation for that war. Having decided against
an appeal to Congress for a declaration of war and having re­
solved that he would avoid even the appearance of an overt act
against Japan, the President chose the alternative of waiting for
an overt act by Japan-an attack on territory of the United
States. Possessing full power to prepare for meeting attack and
for countering it with the armed forces under his command, he
had supreme responsibility for making sure that the measures,
plans, orders" and dispositions necessary to that end were taken.

During the weeks and days preceding the Japanese attack on
December 7, 1941, the President and his chief subordinates held
many meetings, discussed the practical certainty of an attack,
and, jointly or severally, made decisions and plans in relation to
the coming of that attack-or overt act. Yet when the Japanese
attack came at Pearl Harbor the armed forces of the United
States failed to cope with the attack effectively.

In view of all the evidence cited in support of the preceding
conclusions and more of the same kind that could be cited, this
failure cannot all be ascribed to General Short and Admiral
Kimmel, nor to their immediate superiors, civil and military.
Those authorities had their powers and corresponding responsi­
bilities but the ultimate power and responsibility under the Con­
stitution and the laws were vested in the President of the United
States.
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Specifically, the report said of the culpability of Roosevelt and his
associates in failing to place American forces in Hawaii on an all-out
alert when war was known to be at hand:

The decision of the President, in view of the Constitution,
to await the Japanese attack rather than ask for a declaration of
war by Congress increased the responsibility of high authonOties
in Washington to use the utmost care in putting the com­
manders at Pearl Harbor on a full alert for defensive actions
before the Japanese attack on December 7, 1941 •

The difficulty of coping effectively with the menace of Japa­
nese hostilities by the method of maneuvering and waiting for
an attack or attacks was recognized by the President and his
immediate ·subordinates. They knew that the power to declare
war was vested in Congress alone by the Constitution. Prime
Minister Churchill, who had referred to this matter at the At­
lantic Conference, again suggested to President Roosevelt, on
November 30, 1941, that the President inform the Japanese that
further aggression on their part would compel him "to place the
gravest issues before Congress" (Tr., Vol. 8, p. 1253). President
Roosevelt must have given serious thought to the constitutional
difficulty during the several days prior to December 7, while he
was considering plans for a special message to Congress.

After it was decided, therefore, that no message be sent to
Congress it then became all the more incumbent upon the Presi­
dent and the Secretary of War, the Secretary of the Navy, the
Chief of Staff, and the Chief of Naval Operations to make
doubly certain that war warning messages to General Short and
Admiral Kimmel be so clearly formulated as to mean to them
an all-out alert of the forces under their command.21

Having decided to abide Japanese action to open the war, the re­
port continues, "the appropriate high authorities in Washington ...
had every opportunity to make sure that identical and precise instruc­
tions warranted by the imminence of war went to the Hawaiian
commanders." The report states :28

For the purpose of taking concerted actions in fulfillment of
the duties imposed upon them, authorities in Washington
formed two groups or organizations with a view to co-ordinat­
ing the operations of the civil and military branches of the
executive department. If these groups were so loosely consti­
tuted as not to deserve the name of organizations" this was due
to a failure on the part of the members to make them effective
bodies for the discharge of their co-ordinating responsibilities.

The first of these two groups consisted of the Secretary of
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State, Secretary of War, Secretary of the Navy, the chief of staff,
and the chief of naval operations. Sometimes it was called col­
loquially the "War Council."

The second group included the President, Secretary of State,
Secretary of War, Secretary of Navy, usually the chief of staff
and the chief of naval operations, and .occasionally commanding
general of Air Force, General Arnold. This group was some­
times colloquially called the "War Cabinet."

The use of these terms-"War Council" and "War Cabinet"
-while the country was still at peace seems to indicate that
high civil and military authorities in Washington were think­
ing in terms of war and should have been more alert to the
probable events of war such as an attack upon our most impor­
tant outpost and fleet in the Pacific.

Each of these groups or organizations-
"was a sort of clearinghouse for information, a gathering place
for discussion of policies, so that each of the independent actors
in the scene would know what was going on and would have
information to guide him in making his own decisions that
were more or less independent, but at the same time somewhat
dependent on the action of other members of the group." (Italics
supplied.)

If it be argued that these groups were loosely constituted
and met irregularly and informally and hence were not organi­
zations in the strict sense of the term [they met once a week at
least and had other irregular and additional meetings], it re­
mains a fact that they existed for the purposes described.
Furthermore, if, owing to their loose constitution, they did not
discharge their duties efficiently, it also remains a fact that the
President had the power, and the corresponding duty, to trans­
form either or both of these groups into positive organizations
with positive obligations in respect of exchanging information,
making decisions, co-ordinating the civil and military branches
of the executive department, and framing orders to outpost com­
manders.

At all events, these groups had every opportunity to make
sure that identical and precise instructions warranted by the
imminence of war went out to the Hawaiian commanders and
the President had the power and duty to see that this was done
directly or through the agency of these groups, especially the
second-the "War Cabinet."

For this nonco-operation and mismanagement, high authori­
ties in Washington were fully responsible....

These conclusions are underlined by the following :29



WHO WAS GUlLTY ?

These instances of failure on the part of high authorities in
Washington to perform acts of duty and judgment required by
their respective offices, and many others that could be cited,
merely point to the greatest failure of all, namely, the failure of
those authorities to organize for the war they regarded as im­
mediately imminent. Here the conclusions reached by the Army
Pearl Harbor Board as to the War Department apply to the
whole executive department of which it was a part:

"A few men, without organization in a true sense, were at­
tempting to conduct large enterprises, take multiple actions, and
give directions that should have been the result of carefully di-

_rected commands, instead of actions taken by conference. We
were preparing for war by the conference method. We were
directing such preparations by the conference method; we were
even writing vital messages by the conference method, and arriv­
ing at their content by compromise instead of by command...."

To this comment, the Army Pearl Harbor Board should have
added that powerful individuals among these authorities were
reaching decisions on their own motion and taking actions of
a dangerous nature on their own motion, despite all the con­
ferring, talking, and compromising, were proceeding as if there
was no organization in the government of the United States
that was charged with preparing for and waging war.

Nor is this confusion and pulling at cross-purposes to be ex­
plained away by any such vague assertion as the Army Pearl
Harbor Board offered: "that it was a product of the time and
conditions due to the transition from peace to war in a democ­
racy." Failures to perform duties commensurate with the
powers vested in officials by the Constitution and the law can­
not be justified by appeals to any overriding requirements of
democracy. Provisions for organizing the executive department
and the supreme command of the armed forces of the United
States were incorporated in the Constitution and the law, and
adequate powers to organize and unify for operating purposes
all subsidiary agencies were vested in the President of the United
States.

As to President Truman's attempt to saddle the blame for Pearl
Harbor upon the American people, Senators Ferguson and Brewster
observe:3o

The contention coming from so high an authority as Presi­
dent Truman on August 3, 1945, that the Itcountry is as much
to blame as any individual in this final situation that developed
in Pearl Harbor," cannot be sustained because the American



PEARL HARBOR

people had no intimation whatever of the policies and opera..
tions that were being undertaken. . . .

How could the American people be held responsible for the
secret diplomacy of Washington authorities? They were never
advised of the many secret undertakings by Washington authori­
ties. Indeed, the high authorities in Washington seemed to be
acting upon some long-range plan which was never disclosed
to Congress or to the American people.

A nation in mortal danger is entitled to know the truth
about its peril. If foreign policy and diplomatic representations
are treated as the exclusive secret information of the President
and his advisers, public opinion will not be enlightened. A
people left in the dark by their leaders cannot be held responsi­
ble for the consequences of their leader's actions.

On December 1, 1941, it was known to the Secretary of War
and to the President and his close advisers that Japan had in­
formed. Hitler on December 1 that war was imminent....

The Secretary of War, the President and his advisers also
were fully aware that Japanese military movements were under
way and that. these movements would involve the United States
in war.

Notwithstanding his intimate· knowledge of the imminence
of war, the Secretary of War told the American people as late
as Deceinber 5 that the negotiations with Japan were still in
progress. Also, despite the extreme gravity of the situation,
known fully to the "War Cabinet," the President permitted the
Senate and House of Representatives to adjourn on December
4 and 5 respectively until noon of December 8 without having
informed them of the impending danger to the· country. This
seems to follow consistently the understanding observed by Mr.
Hull when he gave to the President a proposed draft of ames­
age to Congress which was never used. Mr. Hull said: "I think
we agree that you will not send message to Congress until the
last stage of our relations, relating. to actual hostilities." (JCC,
Ex. 19).

How could the American people be responsible for the war­
like operations conducted from Washington over which the
people had no control and about which they were never in­
formed?

In the future the people and their Congress must know ,how
close American diplomacy is moving to war so that they may
check its advance if imprudent and support its position if sound.
A 'diplomacy which relies upon the enemy's first overt act to
insure effective popular support for the nation's final war deci-
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sion is both outmoded and dangerous in the atomic age. To
prevent any future Pearl Harbor more tragic and damaging
than that of December 7, 1941, there must be constant close
co-ordination between American public opinion and American
diplomacy.

Eternal vigilance is still the price of liberty even in the atomic
era. Whether or not the Pearl Harbor tragedy could have been
avoided by diplomatic means is a most appropriate matter for
consideration by all concerned with the 3,,000 American boys
who lost their lives....

In our opinion, the evidence before this committee indicates
that the tragedy at Pearl Harbor was primarily a failure of men
and not of laws or powers to do the necessary things, and carry
out the vested responsibilities. No legislation could have cured
such defects of official judgment, management, co-operation,
and action as were displayed by authorities and agents of the
United States in connection with the events that culminated in
the catastrophe at Pearl Harbor on December 7, 1941.·

Certainly the United States was neither informed nor alerted
when Roosevelt and the men whose intentions coincided with his
(because their fortunes rode with him) were warping the nation into
war in 1941. The motives of these men are to this day obscure. They
are even more obscure in the light of the default of all promises con­
cerning the objectives of World War II.

Failure of the administration's domestic policy can account for the
desire to go to war. Roosevelt's personal ambition and his urge to
win a place in world-history can account for it. The opportunities
afforded by wartime regimentation to tighten a political hold upon
the country can account for it. Subservience to foreign interests can
account for 'it.

Desire for glory and enhanced status could have contributed to it.
Men in the regular establishments of the Army and Navy who saw
the vision of spectacular commands and stars upon their shoulders after
years of humdrum duty in offices, posts, and barracks would hardly
oppose the politicians, whatever their motives. All of them were en­
listed, long before Pearl Harbor, in Roose.yelt's conspiracy to fight an
unacknowledged and unconstitution~lw~·~- i~' the Atlantic. All' of them
were~oreD'ecember 7, 1941; in his secret war alliance with
the British and Dutch in the Pacific. '"

·The 21 conclusions of the minority in building an integrated case against those
whom it held responsible for the catastrophe at Pearl Harbor will be found in the
Appendix.a
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But, given the benefit of every doubt, credited with a sincere be­
lief that the United States was in deadly peril and that it must fight
if it were to stand, all of these men still must answer for much. With
absolute knowledge of war, they refused to communicate that knowl­
edge, clearly, unequ'ivocally, and in time, to the men in the field upon
whom the blow would fall. The silence in Washington can yield to
no other explanation than a desire to do nothing that would deter or
forestall the attack which would produce the overt act so long and
so fervently sought. When the price of silence proved to be 2,326
lives, it was necessary to add two more victims to the list-Adm.
Kimmel and Gen. Short.

In the course of the years, however, there was a significant change
in assaying responsibility for the disaster of December 7. It became
apparent that the attempt to explain away Pearl Harbor as the con­
sequence of purely local command failures would not succeed. Na­
tional policy, as directed by the Roosevelt administration in its pro­
gram of steering the country into war, came under searching scru­
tiny. It became increasingly clear that this policy was neither open
nor honest, and that the commanders in Hawaii twere hoodwinked
no more an-d no less than the American people had been-that they
were ignored, as Congress was ignored, until they were presented with
the consequences of that policy on December 7 and the attempt was
then made to render them accountable for it.

By subtle gradations, however, the men who had most confidently
asserted the guilt of the Hawaiian commanders were driven at length
into the defense of themselves. The accusers became the accused.
Finally, in an unsolicited "Summary of My Views as to the Responsi­
bility of Members of the Army," submitted to the congressional com­
mittee, Stimson is found querulously apologizing for Mr. Roosevelt,
himself, and the rest of the war-makers. He states:

Many of the discussions on this subject indicate a failure to
grasp the fundamental difference between the duties of an out­
post commander and those of the commander-in-chief of an
army or nation and his military advisers. The outpost com­
mander is like a sentinel on duty in the face of the enemy. His
fundamental duties are clear and precise. He must assume that
the enemy will attack at his particular post; and that the enemy
will attack at the time and in the way in which it will be most
difficult to defeat him. It is not the duty of the outpost com­
mander to speculate or rely on the possibilities of the enemy
attacking at some other outpost instead of his own. It is his
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duty to meet him at his post at any time and to make the best
possible fight that can be made against him with the weapons
with which he has been supplied.

On the other hand, the commander-in-chief of the nation
(and his advisers)-particularly of a nation which has been as
habitually neglectful of the possibility of war as our own-has
much more difficult and complex duties to fulfill. Unlike the
outpost commander, he must constantly watch, study, and esti­
mate where the principal or most dangerous attack is most
likely to come, in order that he may most effectively distribute
his insufficient forces and munitions to meet it. He knows that
his outposts are not all equally supplied or fortified and that
they are not all equally capable of defense. He knows also that
from time to time they are of greatly varying importance to the
grand strategy of the war.

For all these reasons he is compelled to give account and
close attention to the reports from all his intelligence agencies
in order that he may satisfactorily solve the innumerable prob­
lems which are constantly arising in the performance of the
foregoing duties}~2

Stimson's intention is plain enough. He is still trying to persuade
the American people that Pearl Harbor is purely a matter of military
responsibility. But no amount of excuses will palliate the conduct of
President Roosevelt and his advisers. The offense of which they
stand convicted is not failure to discharge their responsibilities, but
calculated refusal to do so.

They failed-with calculation-to keep the United States out of\
war and to avoid a clash with Japan. They reckoned with cold de­
tachment the risk of manipulating a delegated enemy into firing the
first shot" and they forced 3,000 unsuspecting men at Pearl Harbor
to accept that risk. The "warnings" they sent to Hawaii failed-and
were so phrased and so handled as to insure failure.

Pearl Harbor provided the American war party with the means of
escaping dependence on a hesitant Congress in taking a reluctant
people into war. Then the very scale of the disaster gave Roosevelt
and his advisers the opportunity to distract attention from the policy
which had produced the disaster. By cleverly leading the people to
regard December 7 as a purely military calamity and by inciting the
public to fix the blame for it upon the field commanders, Roosevelt
and his administration hoped that the policy of which Pearl Harbor
was the inevitable product would never be questioned.

Pearl Harbor was the first action of the acknowledged war, and
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the last battle of a secret war upon which the administration had
long since embarked. The secret war was waged against nations
which the leadership of this country had chosen as enemies months
before they became formal enemies by a declaration of war. It was
waged also, by psychological means, by propaganda, and deception,
against the American people, who were thought by their leaders to
be laggard in embracing war. The people were told that acts which
were equivalent to war were intended to keep the nation out of war.
Constitutional processes existed only to be circumvented, until finally
the war-making power of Congress was reduced to the act of ratifying
an accomplished fact.
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The island oj Oahu, Territory oj Hawaii, showing objectives oj the Japanese attack
oj December 7, 1941, which brought the United States into World War II. lThis and
succeeding maps were drawn by GARY SHEAHAN.]
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Pearl Harbor, showing berthings of the Pacific Fleet when the Japanese attacked on
December 7, 1941. Warships indicated in black were sunk; those in black and white
damaged but afloat.
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Under the Washington conference agreement, the United States was made solely
responsible for the defense of a huge stretch of the Pacific Ocean (shaded area). Amer·
ican naval forces were to support British forces and operate under British strategic
direction in the Southwest Pacific east of Australia. Britain was to exercise strategic
direction in the Far East area.
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This map depicts various "deadlines" established by agreement of the United States,
Britain, and Holland to contain lapanese expansion. Any movement of lapanese forces
beyond these prescribed limits would compel joint resistance by the associated powers.
These plans for joint action were approved by President Roosevelt months before Pearl
Harbor, IIexcept officially."



WITNESSES APPEARING BEFORE THE JOINT
CONGRESSIONAL COMMITTEE TO INVESTIGATE THE
ATTACK ON PEARL HARBOR AND THEIR ASSIGNMENTS

AS OF DECEMBER 7,1941

Beardall, John R., Rear Adm., naval aide to President Roosevelt.
Beatty, Frank E., Rear Adm., aide to Secretary of the Navy Frank

Knox.
Bellinger, P. N. L., Vice-Adm., commander Hawaiian naval base air

force (commander, patrol wing 2).
Bicknell, George W., Col., assistant chief, military intelligence service,

Hawaiian Department.
Bratton, Rufus S.'1 Col., chief, Far Eastern section, military intelligence

service, War Department.
Clausen, Henry C., Lieut. Col./ judge advocate general's office, assist­

ing army Pearl Harbor board and conducting supplemental in­
vestigation for secretary of war.

Creighton, John M., Capt., USN, naval observer, Singapore.
Dillon, John H., Maj., USMC, aide to Secretary Knox.
Elliott, George E., Sergt., operator at Opana radar detector station,

Oahu, T. H.
Gerow, Leonard T., Maj. Gen., chief, war plans division, army gen-

eral staff, War Department.
Grew, Joseph C., United States ambassador to Japan.
Hart, Thomas C., Adm., commander-in-chief, Asiatic fleet.
Hull, Cordell, Secretary of State.
Ingersoll, Royal E., Adm., assistant chief of naval operations, Navy

Department.
Inglis, R. B., Rear Adm./ presented to committee Navy summary of

Pearl Harbor attack.
Kimmel, Husband E., Rear Adm., commander-in-chief, United States

fleet; commander-in-chief, Pacific fleet.
Kramer, A. D., Comdr., section chief, division of naval communica­

tions, handling translations and recovery of intercepted Japanese
codes.

Krick, Harold D., Capt., USN, former flag sec~etary to Adm. Stark.
Leahy, William D., Adm., chief of staff to the President.
Layton, Edwin T., Capt., USN, fleet intelligence officer, Pacific fleet.

IDenotes witness whose connection with this investigation relates to his assignment
after Dec. 7, 1941.

337



PEARL HARBOR

Marshall, George C., Gen., chief of staff, United States army, War
Department.

McCollum, Arthur N., Capt., USN, chief, Far Eastern section, office
of naval intelligence, Navy Department.

Miles, Sherman, Maj. Gen., chief, military intelligence service, Army
general staff, War Department.

Noyes, Leigh, Rear Adm., chief, office of naval communications, Navy
Department.

Phillips, Walter C., Col., chief of staff to Gen. Short.
Richardson, J. 0., Adm., former commander-in-chief, United States

fleet and Pacific fleet.
Roberts, Owen J., Mr. Justice, chairman, Roberts Commission.
Rochefort, Joseph John, Capt., USN, communications intelligence offi­

cer, Pacific fleet.
Sadtler, Otis K., Col., chief, military branch, Army Signal Corps, War

Department.
Safford, L. F., Capt., USN, chief, radio intelligence unit, office of

naval communications, Navy Department.
Schukraft, Robert E., Col., chief, radio intercept unit, Army Signal

Corps" War Department.
Schulz, Lester Robert, Comdr., assistant to Adm. Beardall.
Short, Walter C., Maj. Gen., commanding general, Hawaiian De­

partment.
Smith, William W., Rear Adm., chief of staff to Adm. Kimmel.
Sonnett, John F., Lieut. Comdr.,! special assistant to the Secretary of

the Navy, and assistant to Adm. H. K. Hewitt in his inquiry.
Stark, Harold R., Adm., chief of naval operations, Navy Department.
Stimson, Henry L., Secretary of War (sworn statement and sworn re­

plies to interrogatories only).
Thielen, Bernard, Col.,! presented to committee Army summary of

Pearl Harbor attack.
Turner, Richmond K., Rear Adm., chief, war plans division, Navy

Department.
Welles, Sumner, Undersecretary of State.
Wilkinson, T. S., Rear Adm., chief, office of naval intelligence, Navy

Department.
Zacharias, Ellis M., Capt., USN, commanding officer, USS Salt Lake

CityJ Pacific fleet.

OTHERS REFERRED TO IN THIS BOOK
Allen, A. M. R., Capt., USN, naval observer at Singapore and Ameri­

can delegate to the Singapore staff conference.
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Alsop, Joseph, newspaper columnist.
Andrews, Frank M., Lieut. Gen., head of United States Caribbean

defense command.
Arnold, H. H., Gen., commanding general, Army Air Forces.
Ballantine, Arthur A., Assistant Secretary of State.
Barkley, Alben M., United States Senator, chairman of the Joint Con­

gressional Committee to investigate the attack on Pearl Harbor.
Bellairs, R. M., Rear Adm., RN, British representative at the Wash­

ington staff conference.
Bennion, Mervyn S." Capt., USN, commander of U.S.S. "West Vir­

ginia."
Biddle, Francis J., attorney general of the United States.
Bissell, John T., Col., executive officer, counter-intelligence group,

military intelligence division, War Department.
Bloch, Claude C., Adm., commandant of 14th Naval District, Pearl

Harbor base defense officer.
Brewster, Owen, United States Senator, minority member of the Joint

Congressional Committee to investigate the attack on Pearl Harbor.
Brink, F. G., Lieut. Col., American military observer at Singapore,

American representative at the Singapore staff conference.
Brooke-Popham, Sir Robert, Air Chief Marshal, British commander­

in-chief, Far East; British representative at Singapore staff con­
ference.

Brown, Wilson, Rear Adm., commander, Task Force 3, Pacific fleet.
Bryden, William, Maj. Gen., deputy chief of staff, War Department.
Bullitt, William B., American ambassador to France.
Bundy, Charles W., Col., War Department general staff.
Burgin, Henry T., Maj. Gen., commanding Hawaii coast artillery

command.
Cadogan, Sir Alexander, British permanent undersecretary for foreign

affairs.
Chamberlain, Neville, prime minister of Great Britain.
Chiang Kai-shek, Generalissimo, head of the Kuomintang govern­

ment of China.
Churchill, Winston, prime minister of Great Britain.
Clark, J. Bayard, Rep., congressman from North Carolina, member of

the Joint Congressional Committtee to investigate the Pearl Har­
bor attack.

Clarke" A. W., Capt., British representative at Washington staff con­
ference.
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Clarke, Carter, Brig. Gen., appointed by Gen. George C. Marshall to
make a special investigation of the Pearl Harbor attack.

Conley, E. T., Maj. Gen., adjutant general of the army.
Cooper, Jere, Rep., congressman from Tennessee, vice-chairman of the

Joint Congressional Committee to investigate the Pearl Harbor
attack.

Craigie, Sir Robert, British ambassador to Japan.
Cramer, Myron C., Maj. Gen., judge advocate general of the Army.
Danckwerts, V. J., Rear Adm., RN, British representative at Wash-

ington staff conference.
Davis, Forrest, author.
Dewey, Thomas E., governor of New York.
Doenitz, Karl, Grand Adm., German navy.
Dooman, Eugene, Counselor of the American embassy in Tokyo.
Doud, Harold, Col., chief of the code and cipher section of the Army

Signal Corps intelligence service.
Drum, Hugh A., Lieut. Gen., former commander, Hawaiian depart­

ment, United States Army. .
Duncan, James, civilian student pilot in Honolulu.
Embick, Stanley D., Maj. Gen., American representative at Washing­

ton staff conference.
Ferguson, Homer, United States Senator from Michigan, minority

member of the Joint Congressional Committee to investigate the
Pearl Harbor attack.

Fielder, Kendall J., Col., chief of the military intelligence division,
Hawaiian Department.

Foote, Walter A., American consul general in Batavia, Java.
Forrestal, James V., Secretary of the Navy.
Fort, Cornelia, civilian flying instructor in Honolulu.
French, Edward F., Col., in charge of the traffic division and signal

center, Signal Corps, War Department.
Friedman, William F., principal cryptanalyst, signal intelligence serv­

ice, Signal Corps, War Department.
Fuchida, Mitsue, Capt., flight group commander, 1st Japanese air

fleet.
Gearhart, Bertrand W., Rep., congressman from California, minority

member of the Joint Congressional Committee to investigate the
Pearl Harbor attack.

George, Walter F., United States Senator from Georgia, member of
the Joint Congressional Committtee to investigate the Pearl Har­
bor attack.
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Gesell, Gerhard, associate counsel, Joint Congressional Committee.
Ghormley, Robert L., Vice-Adm., American naval observer in Lon­

don.
Goepner, o. W., Lieut. (j.g.), USNR, deck officer of the U.S.S.

"Ward."
Gonzalez, Manuel, Ens., USNR, pilot on U.S.S. "Enterprise."
Halifax, Lord, British ambassador to United States.
Halsey, William F., Adm., commander of aircraft battle force (task

force 2), Pacific fleet.
Hamilton, Maxwell M., chief of the division of Far Eastern affairs,

State Department.
Hensel, H. Struve, Assistant Secretary of the Navy.
Herron, Charles D., Maj. Gen., former commanding general, Hawai­

ian Department.
Hewitt, H. Kent, Adm., appointed by Secretary of the Navy Forrestal

to conduct a special investigation into Pearl Harbor.
Hiranuma, Baron Kiichiro, vice-premier of Japan.
Hirohito, emperor of Japan.
Hitler, Adolf, chancellor of Germany.
Hoover, J. Edgar, director of the Federal Bureau of Investigation.
Hopkins, Harry, confidant of President Roosevelt, head of the lend-

lease program in 1941.
Hornbeck, Stanley K., adviser on foreign relations, State Department.
Hu Shih, Dr., Chinese ambassador to United States.
Hughes, William J., Col., assistant judge advocate general.
Ickes, Harold L., Secretary of the Interior.
Imamura, Ryonosuke, Capt., secretary of Japanese naval ministry.
Iwakuro, Takeo, Col., Japanese military attache in Washington.
Jones, E. Stanley, Dr., missionary and unofficial mediator in Japanese-

American diplomatic discussions.
Keefe, Frank B., Rep., congressman from Wisconsin and minority

member of the Joint Congressional Committee to investigate
Pearl Harbor.

King, Ernest J., Adm., commander-in-chief, United States fleet.
Kintner, Robert, newspaper columnist.
Kirk, A. G., Capt., USN, chief of naval intelligence during part of

1941, American representative at Washington staff conference.
Kita, Nagoa, Japanese consul general in Honolulu.
Knox, Frank, Secretary of the Navy.
Konoye, Prince Fumimaro, prime minister of Japan.
Koo, Wellington, Chinese ambassador to Great Britain.
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Kurusu, Saburo, Japanese special emissary to the United States.
La Guardia, Fiorello, mayor of New York and chief of the office of

civilian defense.
Lattimore, Owen, political adviser to Chiang Kai-shek.
Layton, Edwin, Capt., USN, intelligence officer, Pacific fleet.
Layton, Sir Geoffrey, Vice-Adm., RN, British commander-in-chief,

China station; British representative at Singapore staff conference.
Lee, Clark, Associated Press reporter.
Lindley, Ernest K., author.
Lockard, Joseph L., Pvt., operator at Opana radar station, Oahu.
Louden, A., Dutch ambassador to United States.
Lovette, Leland P., Capt., USN, director of Navy public relations.
Lucas, Scott W., United States Senator from Illinois, member of the

Joint Congressional Committee to investigate Pearl Harbor.
Lyttelton, Oliver, Capt., British production minister. .
Maas, Melvin W., former congressman from Minnesota; colonel,

USMCR. .
MacArthur, Douglas, Gen., commanding general, United States Army

Forces in the Far East.
Martin, F. L., Maj. Gen., commanding general, Hawaiian air force.
Matsuoka, Yosuke, Japanese foreign minister.
McBride, A. C., Col., assistant chief of staff, USAFFE; American

representative at Singapore staff conference.
McCoy, Frank R., Maj. Gen. (retired), member of the Roberts Com­

mission to investigate the Pearl Harbor attack.
McGinnis, Knefler, Comdr., USN, commander, patrol wing 1, naval

air station at Kaneohe Bay.
McNarney, Joseph T., Gen., member of the Roberts Commission to

investigate Pearl Harbor.
Merle-Smith, Van S., Col., military attache, American legation, Mel­

bourne, Australia.
Minckler, Rex W., Col., chief of Army Signal Corps intelligence

serVIce.
Mitchell, William D., chief counsel, Joint Congressional Committee to

investigate Pearl Harbor.
Molotov, Vyacheslav, Russian foreign commissar.
Moore, Frederick, legal adviser to Japanese embassy in Washington.
Morris, E. L., Maj. Gen., British representative at Washington confer-

ence.
Murphy, John W., Rep., congressman from Pennsylvania, member of

the Joint Congressional Committee to investigate Pearl Harbor.
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Murphy, Vincent R., Comdr., USN, aide to Adm. J. o. Richardson.
Murray, Maxwell, Maj. Gen., commander, 25th Infantry Division.
Mussolini, Benito, dictator of Italy.
Nagano, Osami, Adm., chief of Japanese naval general staff.
Nagumo, Chuichi, Vice-Adm., commander, 1st Japanese air fleet.
Newton, John Henry, Vice-Adm., commander, cruisers scouting force,

Pacific fleet.
Nimitz" Chester W., Adm., commander-in-chief, Pacific fleet.
Nomura, Kichisaburo, Adm., Japanese ambassador to the United

States.
O'Dell, Robert H., Lieut., assistant military attache, American lega-

tion, Melbourne, Australia.
Ohashi, Chuichi, Japanese vice-minister for foreign affairs.
Onishi, T akijiro, Rear Adm., chief of staff" Japanese 11th air fleet.
Oshima, Hiroshi, Maj. Gen., Japanese ambassador to Germany.
Outerbridge, William W., Lieut., USN, commander, V.S.S. "Ward."
Pepper, Claude, United States Senator from Florida.
Pettigrew, Moses W., Col., executive officer, intelligence group, mili­

tary intelligence division, War Department.
Phillips, Sir Tom S. V., Adm., RN, commander, British Far Eastern

fleet.
Phillips, Walter C., Col., chief of staff to Gen. Walter C. Short.
Pius XII, Pope.
Pomerlin, Thomas, commercial pilot in Hawaii.
Puleston, W. D., Capt., USN, naval writer.
Purnell, W. R., Capt., USN, chief of staff, Asiatic fleet; American

representative at Singapore staff conference.
Py~, William S., Vice-Adm., commander, battle force (task force 1),

Pacific fleet; temporary commander, Pacific fleet.
Ramsey, Dewitt C., Capt., USN, American representative at Wash­

ington staff conference.
Rankin, Jeanette, Rep., member of Congress from Montana.
Redman, Joseph R., Rear Adm., assistant director, office of naval com­

munications, Navy Department.
Reeves, Joseph M., Adm., USN (retired), former commander-in-chief,

United States fleet; member of Roberts Commission to investigate
Pearl Harbor.

Ribbentrop, Joachim von, German foreign minister.
Richardson, Seth W., chief counsel of Joint Congressional Committee

to investigate Pearl Harbor, succeeding William D. Mitchell.
Ricker, George W., Lieut. Col., War Department general staff.
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Roosevelt, Franklin D., President of the United States.
Sakamaki, Kazuo, Sub-Lieut., commander of Japanese midget sub-

marIne.
Schuirmann, R. E., Rear Adm., Navy liaison officer with State De-

partment.
Shidehara, Baron Kijuro, prime minister of Japan, 1945.
Shimizu, Mitsumi, Adm., commander, Japanese 6th fleet.
Shivers, Robert L., agent in charge, FBI, Honolulu.
Slessor~ J. C., Air Vice-Marshal, RAF, British representative at Wash­

ington staff conference.
Smith, Walter Bedell, Lieut. Gen., secretary of War Department gen­

eral staff, American ambassador to Russia.
Soong, T. V., brother-in-law of Chiang Kai-shek, named Chinese

foreign minister while in Washington.
Spalding, Isaac, Gen., attached to personnel section, War Department.
Spruance, Raymond A., Adm., USN, commander-in-chief, Pacific

fleet.
Standley, William H., Adm., USN, member of Roberts Commission

to investigate Pearl Harbor.
Starck, Vice-Adm., commander of Russian Port Arthur fleet in Russo-

Japanese war. -
Stimson, Henry L., Secretary of War.
Stone, E. E., Capt., USN" in charge of naval communications in 1941.
Strong, George V., Maj. Gen., chief of Army war plans in 1940.
Taylor, Kenneth M., Second Lieut., Army fighter pilot.
Terasaki, .Hindenari, counselor, Japanese embassy, Washington.
Theobald, Robert A." Rear Adm., USN.
Thomas, Elbert D., United States Senator from Utah, chairman of

Senate military affairs committee.
Thomas, Francis J., Lieut. Comdr., USNR.
Thorpe, C. A., Col., senior Army intelligence officer in Java.
Togo, Heihachiro, Adm., commander of Japanese naval forces In

attack upon Port Arthur, 1904.
Togo" Shigenori, Japanese foreign minister.
Tojo, Hideki, Gen., Japanese prime minister.
Toyoda, Teijiro, Adm., Japanese foreign minister.
Trueman, Capt., aide to Gen. Walter C. Short.
Truman, Harry S., President of the United States.
Tunnell, James A., United States Senator from Delaware.
Tyler, Kermit A., Lieut. Col., in charge of the radar center, Oahu, on

Dec. 7, 1941.
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Vitousek, Roy, civilian pilot in Honolulu.
Vogt, John H. L. Jr., Ens., USN, pilot aboard U.S.S. "Enterprise."
Wallace, Henry A., secretary of commerce.
Watson, Edwin M., Maj. Gen., aide to President Roosevelt.
Welch, George S., Second Lieut., Army fighter pilot.
White, Grove C., Second Lieut., signal corps.
Wikawa, Tadao, officer of the Capital Cooperative Bank of Japan.
Wilkinson, G. H., Col., British secret agent in Manila.
Willoughby, C. A., Maj. Gen., chief of the military intelligence divi-

sion on Gen. MacArthur's staff.
Wilson, Woodrow, President of the United States.
Winant, John G., American ambassador to Great Britain.
Yamamoto, Isoroku, Adm., commander-in-chief, Japanese combined

imperial fleets.
Yamamoto, Kumaicho, head of the American section, Japanese for­

eign office.
Yarnell, Harry E., Adm., USN.



NOTES

This book was completed before publication by the Government Printing Office of
the official proceedings of the Joint Congressional Committee to investigate the attack
upon Pearl Harbor. Where the transcript of committee proceedings was available, cita­
tions of testimony are referred to the transcript; otherwise, references are to the specific
dates of hearings on which testimony was given. These may be checked against the
daily hearings as published by the Government Printing Office.

Other sources, with abbreviations employed in the Appendix, are as follows:
AP-Associated Press
APH-Army Pearl Harbor Board: Text as printed in extra number of the United States

News, Sept. 1, 1945.
Atlantic-Battle Report: The Atlantic War, by Comdr. Walter Karig, USNR; Lieut. Earl

Burton, USNR, and Lieut. Stephen L. Freeland, USNR (Farrar and Rinehart, Inc.,
New York, 1946).

BR-Battle Report: Pearl Harbor to Coral Sea, by Comdr. Walter Karig, USNR, and
Lieut. Wellbourn Kelley, USNR (Farrar and Rinehart, New York, 1944).

Chron.-Events Leading Up to World War II: Chronological History, 1931-1944
(House Document No. 541, United States Government Printing Office, Washington,
1944).

CR-Congressional Record
CT-The Chicago Tribune
Fed. Reg.-Federal Register
For. ReI. 1 and ll-Papers Pertaining to Foreign Relations of the United States: Japan,

1931-1941. Two volumes (House Document No. 339, United States Government
Printing Office, Washington, 1943).

Grew-Ten Years in lapan, by Joseph C. Grew (Simon and Schuster, New York, 1944).
Submitted before the Joint Congressional Committee on the Investigation of the
Pearl Harbor Attack as Exhibit 30.

Hart Report-Investigation of the Pearl Harbor Attack by Adm. Thomas C. Hart, USN,
retired.

How War Came-How War Came, by Forrest Davis and Ernest K. Lindley (Simon
and Schuster, New York, 1942).

Huie-The Case against the Admirals, by William Bradford Huie (E. P. Dutton, New
York, 1946).

Intercepts-Pearl Harbor: Intercepted Japanese Diplomatic Messages, Joint Congressional
Committee, Exhibit 1.

TCC-Joint Congressional Committee on the Investigation of the Pearl Harbor Attack:
daily hearings.

Kimmel-Statement of Rear Adm. Husband E. Kimmel, USN, retired, to Joint Con­
gressional Committee, Jan. 15, 1946; 108 pages (mimeograph).
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Maj.-Majority Report of the Joint Congressional Committee (United States Government

Printing Office, Washington, 1946).
Min.-Minority Report of the Joint Congressional Committee (United States Govern­

ment Printing Office, Washington, 1946).
NCI-Report of the Naval Court of Inquiry which investigated the Pearl Harbor attack:

Text as printed in extra number of the United States News, Sept. 1, 1945.
NYT-Tne New York Times
Papers-Public Papers and Addresses of Franklin D. Roosevelt: 1936 Volume~ Random

House, New York; 1937-1940 Volumes, Macmillan, New York.
Peace-Peace and War: United States Foreign Policy, 1931-1941 (United States Gov­

ernment Printing Office, Washington, 1943).
Puleston-The Armed Forces of the Pacific, by Capt. W. D. Puleston, USN (Yale Uni­

versity Press, New Haven, 1941).
R.-Report of the Presidential Commission to Investigate Pearl Harbor, headed by Asso­

ciate Justice Owen J. Roberts.
Safford-Statement of Capt. L. F. Safford, USN, to Joint Congressional Committee,

Feb. 1, 1946 (22 pages, mimeograph). Incorporated in transcript of the committee,
pp. 9622-54.

Stimson-Statement of former Secretary of War Henry L. Stimson to Joint Congres­
sional Committee, March 21, 1946 (68 pages, mimeograph). Incorporated in volume
70 of the committee transcript.

Tr.-Report of Proceedings before the Joint Committee on the Investigation of the
Pearl Harbor Attack (Ward and Paul, Washington, official reporters).

NOTES ON FOREWORD
1. Brittanica Book of the Year, 1938-1942, p. 1511.
2. Tr., p. 8693.
3. The Army Pearl Harbor Board was appointed pursuant to the provisions of Public

Law 339, Seventy-eighth Congress, approved June 13, 1944, and 'by order dated
July 8, 1944, of the adjutant general, War Department. The board was directed
"to ascertain and report the facts relating to the attack made by Japanese armed
forces upon the Territory of Hawaii on Dec. 7, 1941, and to make such recom­
mendations as it may deem proper." The board held sessions beginning July 20,
1944, and concluded its investigation on Oct. 20, 1944. Its record and exhibits
cover 3,357 printed pages. Members of the board were Lieut. Gen. George Grunert,
president; Maj. Gen. Henry D. Russell, and Maj. Gen. Walter A. Frank.

4. The Navy Court of Inquiry was appointed pursuant to the provisions of Public Law
339, Seventy-eighth Congress, approved June 13, 1944, and by order dated July
13, 1944, of the Secretary of the Navy James Forrestal. The court was ordered to
"inquire into the attack made by Japanese armed forces on Pearl Harbor, Territory
of Hawaii, on 7 December 1941 ... and will include in its findings a full state­
ment of the' facts it may deem to be established. The court· will further give its
opinion as to whether any offenses have been committed or serious blame incurred
on the part of any person or persons in the naval service, and in case its opinion
be that offenses have been committed or serious blame incurred, will specifically
recommend what further proceedings should be had." The court held sessions be­
ginning July 24, 1944, and concluded its inquiry on October 19, 1944. The record
of its proceedings and exhibits covers 1,397 printed pages. Members of the court
were Adm. Orin G. Murfin, retired, president; Adm. Edward C. Kalbfus, retired,
and Vice Adm. Adolphus Andrews, retired.

5. The inquiry conducted by Adm. Thomas C. Hart, United States Navy, retired,
was initiated by precept dated Feb. 12, 1944, from Secretary of the Navy Frank
Knox to Adm. Hart "For an Examination of Witnesses and the Taking of Testi­
mony Pertinent to the Japanese Attack on Pearl Harbor, Territory of Hawaii,"
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The precept stated U Whereas certain members of the naval forces, who have
knowledge pertinent to the foregoing matters, are now or soon may be on danger­
ous assignments at great distances from the United States ... it is now deemed
necessary, in order to prevent evidence being lost by death or unavoidable absence
of those certain members of the naval forces, that their testimony, pertinent to the
aforesaid Japanese attack, be recorded and preserved, . . " This inquiry was
commenced on Feb. 12, 1944, and was concluded on June 15, 1944. The record
of its proceedings and exhibits covers 565 printed pages.

6. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 8.
7. CR, p. 8480, Sept. 6, 1945.
8. The majority report of the committee stated, ClAn effort was made to elicit all facts

having an immediate or remote bearing on the tragedy of Dec. 7, 1941. It is be­
lieved the committee has succeeded through its record in preserving for posterity
the material facts concerning the disaster" (Maj., p. XIV).

The minority report differed. ClWhen all the testimony, papers, documents,
exhibits, and other evidence duly laid before the committee are reviewed," it said,
"it becomes apparent that the record is far from complete" (Min., p. 3).

The difficulties under which the committee prosecuted its investigation are out­
lined as follows in the minority report:

"The committee did not have an opportunity to cross-examine any of the high
civil executive principals in the Pearl Harbor affair. President Roosevelt and Sec­
retary Knox had died before the committee was created. Harry Hopkins, who was
intimately and officially associated with President Roosevelt, died shortly after the
committee began its work. The ill health of Secretary of War Stimson and Secre­
tary of State Hull prevented the committee from getting the full benefit of their
knowledge, except for the information they voluntarily furnished....

ClThese difficulties were supplemented by even greater ones stemming from
Presidential restraints on the committee and from the partisan character of the
committee itself.

"Even before the committee commenced its work, it was confronted with an
order issued on Aug. 28, 1945, and signed by President Truman, which severely
limited the power of the committee to gain access to the full facts. The order is
as follows (Tr., Vol. 1, p. 26):

'AUGUST 28, 1945.
'Memorandum for- The Secretary of State.

The Secretary of War.
The Secretary of the Navy.
The Attorney General.
The Joint Chiefs of Staff.
The Director of the Budget.
The Director of the Office of War Information.

'Appropriate departments of the government and the joint chiefs of staff are
hereby directed to take such steps as are necessary to prevent release to the public,
except with the specific approval of the President in each case, of-

'Information regarding the past or present status, technique or procedures, de­
gree of success attained, or any specific results of any cryptanalytic unit acting
under the authority of the United States government or any department thereof.

HARRY S. TRUMAN."

'Restricted.
celt was not until Oct. 23, 1945, that President Truman made the order less

stringent by a new order. The modification left much to be desired.
"The application of the new order was limited to the State, War, and Navy

Departments. It relaxed the secrecy of records only so far as 'the Joint Committee'
was concerned, while it continued to prevent 'individual' members of the commit­
tee from searching records as responsible members of Congress either alone, in



APPENDIX 349
~roups, or even when accompanied by committee counsel. By one way or another,
control over papers, records, and other information remained in the hands of the
majority party members.

"The President's October order also contained the unfortunate phrase 'any in·
formation in their possession material to the investigation,' which provided a cloak
for those reluctant to yield information requested by members of the committee.
It was always possible to confront individual members with the view that the
papers, data, and information desired was not 'material to the investigation.' De·
cisions were made by the majority ruling out evidence as 'not material to the in·
vestigation' without members of the committee ever seeing the material about which
the decision was made.

"No subsequent modifying orders wholly removed these restrictions. In an
order of Nov. 7, 1945, President Truman relaxed restraints on executives of the
government in order that they may speak freely to individual members of the com­
mittee, but the order closed with the direction: 'This does not include any files or
written material.'

"In this fashion every facility and concession afforded to members of the joint
committee was hedged about with troublesome qualifications and restraints. The
relaxation of restraints was often publicized while the continuing qualifications
were but little discussed. The effect was to restrict individual members of the
committee in practice while the appearance of their freedom of operations was held
out to the public. In justice to committee counsel and to individual majority mem·
bers of the committee, efforts made by them to overcome these restrictions should
be recognized. It is a great tribute to their fairness that the committee did not
break up over this issue but continued to work despite the handicaps which were
never wholly removed.

"The plain fact that an investigation could not be an investigation if committee
members remained mere spectators, persuaded some members that restraints on their
freedom were not justified. The flimsiness of the argument for restrictions became
even more evident when permission to search files and other records was denied
by majority vote to individual members even when accompanied by committee
counsel. Rightly or wrongly it was inferred from this that there was a deliberate
design to block the search for the truth.

"Such a view was supported by the knowledge that restrictions on individual
members of congressional investigatory bodies were contrary to the best practices
in other investigations. Some celebrated instances were recalled. Speaking in the
Senate on Nov. 9, 1945, during one of the discussions on committee powers, the
Senator from Montana (Mr. Burton K. Wheeler) observed:

cc 'I concur in what the Senator from Illinois has said with reference to the
authorizing of a single member of the committee to hold hearings. I have served
on a good many investigations since I have been a member of the Senate, and
some very important ones. I assisted to quite an extent in the Teapot Dome in­
vestigation carried on by my colleague, Senator Walsh, of Montana, and likewise I
carried on the investigation of the Department of Justice. I was a minority member
of the committee.

u'In all my experience with any investigating committee, I have never known
of anyone member of a committee not being permitted to go and look over the
files in any department of the government of the United States. This is the first
time I have ever known anything of that kind being questioned....

U ' ••• I call attention to the fact that in the Daugherty investigation I sent for
files myself, I asked for files from the attorney general of the United States, Mr.
Daugherty. He refused to give them to me. I have forgotten the ground he stated,
but at any rate he refused to give them to me. When he did so, the President of
the United States, Mr. Coolidge, called him in and asked for his resignation, and
Mr. Daugherty was eliminated from the office of attorney general. After that time,
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when the new attorney general was appointed, every single file I ever asked for,
as a minority member of the committee, was furnished to me.

u c••• As I have stated, my colleague, Senator Walsh, of Montana, was a min­
ority member of the committee investigating the Teapot Dome situation. I know
of my own personal knowledge that he got from the department, and from officials
in the department, information which he afterward used, and if he had not been
permitted to do that, and if I had not been permitted to do it, I am sure there
would have been a complete failure of the investigation of the Department of
Justice. (Congressional Record, Vol. 91, No. 198, November 9, 1945, p. 10755.)'

uAnother instance is the more recent one in which President Truman himself is
well versed. As Senator, Mr. Truman headed a distinguished committee bearing
the popular designation 'The Truman Committee' (now the Mead Committee).
The cardinal principle of the Truman Committee in the four years during which
it won the respect and confidence of the American people, rested on the proposi­
tion that every individual member of the committee was wholly free to search for
any information deemed by him to be relevant wherever and whenever he thought
it could be found. Never once did the chairman or the majority of the committee
refuse to recognize that right and that responsibility of each individual member.

UUntrammeled freedom of individual committee members in these instances
did not produce chaos or disorder as was argued would be the case in the Pearl
Harbor inquiry. On the contrary, the procedure and results in each case did honor
to the committees concerned and proved salutary for the nation. Complete con­
currence with the most admirable outline of the purposes and scope of the investi­
gation of the events leading up to Pearl Harbor and our entry into the World War
as presented to the Senate by the author of the resolution at the time of its intro­
duction and hearty approval of much that has been done by the committee must
not blind us to the extent to which the investigation lived up to its advance billing
by its distinguished sponsor.

UAt the very inception the tested practices in investigations of this character
that had demonstrated such extraordinary success in the entire history of the Tru­
man Committee were very definitely rejected and neither of the two members of
the committee who had received rather extended training under the then Senator
Truman was allowed to follow the course in the investigation of Pearl Harbor that
had repeatedly produced most gratifying results in his earlier experience.

uThis firm refusal by the committee majority, consisting of six Democrats as
against four Republicans, at the very outset to allow the scope to individual mem­
bers even with every safeguard proposed against the alleged danger of abuse was
both unfortunate and disquieting.

UEverything that has since developed must be viewed in the light of this iron
curtain that was thus imposed.

"Permission was asked to conduct exploration for certain missing records. Vig­
orous and public denial was made-presumably on executive authority-that any
records were missing. Subsequently it developed that several records were missing
and most inadequate explanations were supplied. How any public interest could
possibly have been prejudiced by affording any opportunity to examine the manner
of keeping records of this character has never been satisfactorily explained.

uThese incidents revealed a disquieting determination to keep entire control
of the investigation in the hands of the committee majority who were thus put in
the unusual position of arrogating to themselves the capacity to conduct an im­
partial and adequate investigation of their own administration. The history of
human conduct furnishes few precedents to justify such confidence.

"Some of the effects of majority decision as well as gaps in the data and testi­
mony due to other causes illustrate the great difficulty surrounding the work of
the committee.
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"Secretary Stimson declined to appear on the ground that his health did not
permit him to undergo strain. Access to his diary was denied by majority vote.

ceTo accommodate Secretary Stimson because of his illness, Senator Ferguson
on March 6, 1946, submitted 176 questions as part of the official record for Secre­
tary Stimson to answer as if propounded in open hearing of the committee (Tr.,
Vol. 70, pp. 14437 if.).

"Secretary Stimson did not answer any of these questions, and the committee
made no effort to insist upon his answering these questions, which were highly
pertinent to the inquiry.

"Later, Senator Ferguson submitted a supplementary list of 61 questions to be
answered in the same manner (Tr., Vol. 70, p. 14476). Secretary Stimson an­
swered these questions in writing, and his answers are part of the record. These
answers did not, however, make up for the deficiencies in the failure to answer
the earlier list of 176 questions.

"Secretary Hull made three appearances, in the course of which he gave his
official version of the matters before the committee and was briefly examined by
the counsel, but minority members of the committee were not permitted to cross­
examine him. When his answers to written interrogatories from committee mem­
bers proved unresponsive, there was no way to secure further information from
him.

"The diary of former Ambassador Joseph C. Grew was likewise denied to the
committee. The assertion of its confidential character was somewhat belied by its
submission for examination to certain individuals with a view to its commercial
publication.

"The denial to the committee of the Stimson and Grew diaries was particularly
obstructive because these principles placed excerpts of the diaries in the record and
withheld the rest. This was contrary to the prime rule in American law that if
part of a document is put into the record by a witness in his own behalf, the court
is entitled to demand the whole of the document. Concerning each of these dia­
ries the committee, by majority vote, refused to issue subpenas for their production.

"Many messages, probably several hundreds, between Winston Churchill and
President Franklin D. Roosevelt received prior to Dec. 7, 1941, were not available
to the committee, although there is good reason to believe that they bore on the
gathering crisis. Other messages between Mr. Churchill and the British embassy
and American authorities were made available to the committee, but our govern­
ment replies or action taken were not so available.

"The former Prime Minister of Great Britain was in this country not on official
business while hearings of this committee were going on. His intimate knowledge
of affairs leading up to Pearl Harbor would have cleared up many gaps in the evi­
dence. By majority vote, a request for the appearance of Mr. Churchill was refused.

cepresident Roosevelt's secretary, Miss Grace Tully, was permitted to determine
for herself and the committee and the country what portions of the official corres­
pondence of the late President had any relevancy to Pearl Harbor. This could
hardly be a satisfactory substitute for the responsibility placed upon this committee.

"One of the very important questions concerning the defense of Hawaii dealt
with the delays in building airfields and the failure to install radar and other warn­
ing devices. Members of the committee sought to inquire into the performance of
one Col. Theodore Wyman in this connection, but the committee decided against it.

"The whole question of whether or not it would have been possible to avoid
war by proper diplomatic action and thus avert the Pearl Harbor tragedy was left
largely unexplored.

"We are permitted only occasional glimpses into this realm but these are fasci­
nating••••

ceIn short, the committee labored under great difficulties and was not in pos­
session of the full historical record pertinent to the case before it. Nevertheless an
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investigation was made and an amazing amount of material was developed in the
limited time allowed to cover such a vast field. It is the duty of the committee to
render a report, regardless of the inadequacies of evidence, if sufficient facts are
at hand to pass on the issues of responsibility for the catastrophe at Pearl Harbor.
A careful review of the evidence is convincing enough that these issues can be
decided now" (Min., pp. 3-8).

Representative Keefe, in a statement of "additional views" appended to the
majority report, said:

"This investigation has not brought to light all the facts about Pearl Harbor.
We have been denied much vital information. Mr. Stimson did not answer cer­
tain important interrogations which, in consideration of the state of his health, were
submitted to him in writing. He has also denied to the committee his diary
entries for the days Dec. 2 to Dec. 6, 1941. These were significantly omitted from
his written statement. Mr. Hull's health permitted only a brief appearance before
us and no examination by the minority members of the committee. Written in­
terrogatories were submitted as to when he first saw or obtained information as to
the contents of certain vital intercepted messages, including the 1:00 P.M. message.
Mr. Hull answered: 'I do not recall the exact times that I first saw or learned of
the contents of the messages you cite' (Tr., 14316). 'I do not recall' was an an­
swer frequently received from other important witnesses. Messrs. Maxwell Hamil­
ton, Eugene Dooman and Stanley Hornbeck, State Department officials who played
important roles in 1941 in our Far Eastern diplomacy, have not testified. 'Ve
have been denied Ambassador Grew's diary. In December, 1941, Gen. Bedell
Smith was secretary to the general staff of the Army. He did not t~stify. His
possible knowledge of the distribution of intercepted messages to Gen. Marshall on
Saturday evening, Dec. 6, was not investigated. Adm. (then Capt.) Glover was
the duty officer in the office of the chief of naval operations on Dec. 6, 1941. His
log for that night contained the vital information about Mr. Stimson's interest in
precise locations of the ships of the Pacific fleet. Adm. Glover ient the committee
a telegram but did not testify. Mr. Welles's memoranda of Atlantic Charter con­
ferences was obtained from State Department only after his oral testimony before
us had been completed" (Maj., pp. 266 Sand T).

9. CT, Nov. 21, 1945, 2:6.
10. Senate Document No. 244.
11. In his statement of additional views, Representative Keefe said (Maj., p. 266-A):

"Throughout the long and arduous sessions of the committee in the preparation
of the committee report, I continuously insisted that whatever 'yardstick' was
agreed upon as a basis for determining responsibilities in Hawaii should be applied
to the high command at Washington. This indicates in a general way my funda­
mental objection to the committee report. I feel that facts have been marshaled,
perhaps unintentionally, with the idea of conferring blame upon Hawaii and mini­
mizing the blame that should properly be assessed at Washington.

"A careful reading of the committee report would indicate that the analysis of
orders and dispatches is so made as to permit criticism of our commands in Hawaii
while at the same time proposing a construction which would minimize the pos­
sibility of criticism of those in charge at Washington.

"I think that the facts in this record clearly demonstrate that Hawaii was always
the No. 1 point of danger and that both Washington and Hawaii should have
known it at all times and acted accordingly. Consequently I agree that the high
command in Hawaii was subject to criticism for concluding that Hawaii was not
in danger. However, I must insist that the same criticism with the same force and
scope should apply to the high command in Washington. It is in this respect that
I think the tenor of the committee report may be subject to some criticism.

eel fully agree with the doctrine relating to the placing of responsibility Qn
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military officers in the field and their resulting duty under such responsibilities.
I agree that they must properly sustain this burden in line with the high and
peculiar abilities which originally gave them their assignments.

"In the execution of their vitally important duties, however, the officers at the
front in the field are fairly entitled to all aids and help and all information which
can reasonably be sent to them from the all-powerful high staff command in
Washington. If both commands are in error, both should be blamed for what
each should have done and what each failed to do respectively. The committee
report, I feel, does not with exactitude apply the same yardstick in measuring re­
sponsibilities at Washington as has been applied to the Hawaiian commanders. I
cannot suppress the feeling that the committee report endeavors to throw as soft a
light as possible on the Washington scene."

12. The Joint Congressional Committee conducted hearings on 70 days between Nov.
15, 1945, and May 31, 1946, receiving 183 exhibits and taking 15,000 pages of
testimony from 43 witnesses. Testimony and exhibits of seven previous investiga­
tions were available to the committee: the inquiries of the Roberts Commission,
Adm. Hart, the Army Pearl Harbor Board, the Navy Court of Inquiry, Col. Clarke,
Maj. Clausen, and Adm. Hewitt. The records of these investigations total 9,754
printed pages of testimony from 318 witnesses, and 469 exhibits were filed with
them. The records of these proceedings have been incorporated in the record of the
Joint Congressional Committee, which encompasses approximately 10 million words
(Maj., p. XIV).

NOTES ON CHAPTER I: WAR

1. Neville Chamberlain, Sept. 30, 1938.
2. See testimony of Baron Constantin von Neurath, former German foreign minister,

at Nuernberg war crimes trials, reported in AP dispatch, June 24, 1946. Neurath
asserted that signers of the Munich pact could have halted Hitler's aggressions even
after the absorption of Czechoslovakia.

3. Poland No.1, 1945: His Majesty's Stationery Office, Cmd. 6616, p. 4.
4. Ambrose Bierce, The Devil's Dictionary (Tower Books Edition), p. 22.
5. AP dispatch from Tokyo, Dec. 19, 1945. (Konoye memoirs introduced as ICC

Ex. 173.)
6. See dispatch of L.S.B. Shapiro, NYT, March 19, 1946, 10:4. Mr. Shapiro reported:

"The key to Russia's expansion program in Europe and the Near East has fallen
into the hands of the State Department in Washington. Captured German docu­
ments detailing the final conversations between Russian Foreign Minister Vyaches­
lav Molotov and German Foreign Minister Joachim Ribbentrop in the spring of
1941 have been collated and compared with the reports of American envoys and
military attaches in European capitals at that time, with the result that Washington
now possesses exact pictures of the aims and desires that lie behind the current
Soviet troop movement, and diplomatic pressures.

"A few weeks before Germany attacked Russia in June, 1941, Mr. Molotov
traveled to Berlin in a final effort to divert the Wehrmacht spearheads, which were
then clearly gathering for a thrust to the east. The transcript of these last con­
versations between Mr. Molotov and Ribbentrop became, in 1945, the chief objec­
tive of intelligence teams of every victorious nation scouring the ruins of the
Third Reich.

"This correspondent has learned, on reliable authority, that the prized tran­
script was in a batch of captured German documents that were dispatched to
Washington during the winter. From sources in an undisputable position to know
the facts, I have learned that the salient points of the transcript are as follows:
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"Mr. Molotov w~s coldly received by Ribbentrop, who interrupted the conver­
sations abruptly at frequent points to consult with Hitler. The latter arranged his
affairs to make himself quickly available to Ribbentrop at all stages of the con­
versations.

"The Soviet emissary arrived with authorization from the Kremlin to offer to
Germany full military alliance in return for certain territorial concessions after
victory, which were permanent possession of all Polish territory then occupied by
Soviet force~; incorporation of Lithuania, Estonia, Latvia, and the Karelian Isthmus,
Bessarabia and Bukovina into the Soviet Union; complete control of the Dardanelles,
a free hand in Iraq and Iran, and enough of Saudi Arabia to give the Soviets con­
trol of the Persian Gulf and the Gulf of Aden guarding the approaches to the
Red Sea.

"Ribbentrop questioned Mr. Molotov closely on whether he would interpret the
terms of a full military alliance as necessarily meaning joining the war in the west.
Russia would guarantee Germany's eastern and southeastern flanks, and her own
military program in the Near East would constitute military aid of an important
nature.

"After numerous conferences with Hitler, Ribbentrop arrived at certain private
conclusions. The first was that Russia's territorial demands were too great for
acceptance. Secondly, Ribbentrop felt that even if these were suitable, he could
not accept Russia's friendly assurances at face value and that Germany would still
require a huge force on her eastern frontiers to watch Russia's every move.

"These decisions were put to Mr. Molotov in an extremely stormy final session
and the conference broke up shordy thereafter.

"In the light of current Russian moves, this transcript has now assumed im­
portance. American diplomats have known for several months that the apparently
confusing Russian pressure all over the globe would be consolidated finally in a
push toward the Persian Gulf."

7. JCC, Jan. 3, 1946.
8. Ibid., Jan. 4, 1946.
9. CT, Dec. 7, 1941, 13:2.

10. Papers, 1939 vo1., pp. 201-5.
11. Address to Reichstag, April 28, 1939.
12. Grew, p. 493.
13. Brittanica Book of the Year, 1938-1942, p. 1385.
14. Capt. A. H. McCollum testified before the Joint Congressional Committee (Tr., p.

9260) that "I had ... for many years felt that in the event of an outbreak of
hostilities between the United States and Japan that the Japanese would make a
very definite attempt to strike the fleet at or near the commencement time of those
hostilities."

The following committee examination of Capt. McCollum (Tr., pp. 9275-6)
develops the same theme:

Question: "And you always felt that if the laps were going to strike with
her fleets the place to start was by attacking our fleet?"

Captain McCollum: "That is correct."
Question: "The place they would start would be by attacking the fleet."
Captain McCollum: "They not only would do that, but that there was

historical precedent, if the Japanese wished to start a war with us. Their
war with China in 1895 was started that way; their war with Russia in 1907
was started that way; their war against Germany in Tsingtao in 1914 was
started in that way.... Attacking their fleet and timing a declaration of
war on presentation of the final notes."

15. How War Came, p. 4.
16. NYT, Dec. 7, 1941, 1:4.
17. How War Came, p. 5.
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attacked by 105 Jap planes (testimony of Adm. Inglis, Tr., p. 145). The United
States Army estimates that 105 enemy planes also attacked army targets on Oahu
(testimony of Col. Bernard Thielen, Tr., p. 145). The total of enemy planes thus
would be 210. From Japanese sources, Adm. Inglis testified that the attacking force
consisted of 361 planes, supplemented by a combat patrol of 18 fighters launched
before the takeoff of the attacking force (Tr., pp. 453-4). Three Zero type float
planes were assigned to pre-dawn reconnaissance, according to Japanese accounts
(Tr., p. 454). Capt. Mitsue Fuchida, commander of the flight groups in the attack,
stated (AP dispatch from Tokyo, Oct. 16, 1945) that 350 planes participated.

3. Richard E. Lauterbach, "Secret Jap War Plans," Life Magazine (March 4, 1946),
p. 18.

4. Edwin Mueller, "Inside Story of Pearl Harbor," Reader's Digest, (April, 1944),
pp. 25-27.
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7. AP dispatch from Tokyo, Oct. 16, 1945.
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9. AP dispatch from Tokyo, Sept. 8, 1945.
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14. William Bradford Huie, The Case against the Admirals (E. P. Dutton, 1946),

pp. 153-54.
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on the ground that no entry concerning the matter appeared in the "Ward's"
administrative log. No direct testimony was taken from the commander or crew
of the destroyer.

10. BR, p. 15.
11. JCC, Feb. 20, 1946.
12. Radar operations at Oahu are reported extensively in Tr., pp. 75-82, and APH,
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20. APH, p. 35.
21. Tr., pp. 233-36.
22. BR, p. 26.
23. APH, p. 197; BR, pp. 27 and 36.
24. JCC, Jan. 24, 1946.
25. JCC, Ex. 100. It still is not clear whether Sakamaki reconnoitered the harbor be-

fore his submarine came to grief.
26. Tr., p. 456; APH, p. 45.
27. Tr., p. 50.
28. BR, pp. 28-29.
29. Adm. Inglis (Tr., p. 90) estimates that the first attack was at Ewa, at 7:53 A.M.

30. BR, p. 42. Also see pp. 18-19 and 38.
31. Estimates on American plane losses vary. Adm. Inglis (Tr., p. 460) gives Navy

losses at 102 aircraft, and Col. Thielin (ibid.) Army losses at 96.
32. APH, p. 43.
33. JCC, Nov. 15, 1945, Navy ex., item 9.
34. Tr.,.p. 87; BR, p. 30.
35. Tr., p. 91; NCI, p. 67; BR, p. 32.
36. Tr., p. 98; BR, pp. 36, 57, 73.
37. Tr., pp. 130-31.
38. The following tabulation of damage to the fleet is based upon Navy ex., item 15,

introduced before JCC, Nov. 15, 1945:
"Arizona," 33,100 tons: sank at her berth after being hit by one or more air­

craft torpedoes and about eight heavy bombs. One bomb, estimated at 2,000
pounds, exploded the forward magazines. The ship was considered to be a total
wreck except for material which could be salvaged.

"California," 32,600 tons: sank at her berth as a result of two aircraft torpedo
hits and one or more near-bomb misses. Also hit on starboard upper deck by a
large bomb which caused a powder fire. Resting on bottom after attack with
quarterdeck under 12 feet of water and port side of forecastle under three feet of
water.

"West Virginia," 31,800 tons: sank ather berth after four or fi ve aircraft tor­
pedo hits and at least two bomb hits. Rested on bottom with all spaces flooded
up to two or three feet below main deck.

"Oklahoma," 29,000 tons: capsized at her berth within eight to eleven minutes
after receiving four aircraft torpedo hits. The hull was 20 to 30 degrees from be­
ing upside down, with a considerable portion of the bottom and starboard side
above water.

"Nevada," 29,000 tons: ran aground and was subsequently beached after being
struck by one or more aircraft torpedoes and eight bombs. Two other bombs were
near misses, causing rupturing of the hull on the port and starboard bows, respec­
tively. Superstructure wrecked.

"Utah," 19,800 tons: capsized at berth after being struck by two, and possibly
three, aerial torpedoes. Ship was within a few degrees of being exactly upside down.

"Cassin," 1,500 tons: struck by one bomb, while a second exploding aft be­
tween her and the "Downes" knocked her partly off the drydock blocking and
caused her to capsize against the "Downes" in a crazy mass of twisted metal. This
resulted in a serious structural failure amidships. Fires swept the ship; the hull,
besides showing more than 200 holes, was wrinkled by extreme heat.

"Downes," 1,500 tons: struck by two bombs and left ablaze from stem to stern,
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the resultant heat causing oil in her bunkers to reach the flash point and explode.
Torpedo warheads in the starboard tube were set off and blew out the main deck
and starboard side of the vessel in that area, damaging boilers and engines. A
serious oil fire following the explosion caused extensive damage to both the
"Downes" and "Cassin." The hull of the "Downes" was riddled with more than
400 holes.

"Shaw," 1,500 tons: hit by one bomb while docked in floating drydock numher
2 and by many fragments from another bomb which struck the drydock. Fire
followed, resulting in blowing up of forward magazine and breaking of the ship's
back just ahead of the number 1 stack. When the drydock settled at a IS-degree
list, the "Shaw's" upper works were still above the surface.

"Vestal," 9,435 tons: struck by two bombs. One hit forward and caused no
great damage. The other struck aft and exploded in the hold, causing a large
number of fragment holes through the shell. Flooding aft caused the after part
of the vessel to submerge to the main deck. The "Vestal" was beached to prevent
further sinkage.

"Oglala," 6,000 tons: sunk by one aircraft torpedo which passed under the ship
and exploded against the starboard side of the "Helena." Vessel sank slowly and
capsized against 10-10 dock about an hour and a half later.

Floating drydock number 2: this large drydock took five bomb hits. It was set
afire and its watertight compartments holed by more than 150 fragments. It settled
with one side of the drydock still above water.

"Pennsylvania," 33,100 tons: one bomb hit near the starboard side 5-inch gun.
Damage from the explosion was considerable but did not extend below the second
deck. One gun was put out of commission.

"Maryland," 31,500 tons: two bomb hits in the forecastle. One of these bombs
passed through the port side of the ship about 12 feet under water and exploded,
wrecking flats and bulkheads in that area.

"Tennessee," 32,300 tons: two 15-inch shells fitted with fins for use as aerial
bombs struck numbers 2 and 3 turrets. Flames spreading from the oil fire on the
nearby "Arizona" caused serious damage aft.

ccHelena," 10,000 tons: hit on starboard side by aircraft torpedo, causing flood ..
ing of numbers 1 and 2 firerooms and forward engine room. The starboard engine
was seriously damaged.

"Honolulu," 10,000 tons: damaged by large bomb which passed through deck
and exploded 15 or 20 feet from the port side, causing considerable damage to the
hull and resulting in flooding- of storerooms and magazines.

"Raleigh," 7,050 tons: hit by one aircraft to"rpedo amidships on port side, flood ..
ing the forward half of the machinery plant. Also hit by one bomb which passed
through three decks and out the ship's side, exploding about 50 feet away. Serious
flooding occurred on the port side aft.

"Curtiss," 13,880 tons: struck on starboard crane by Japanese airplane out of
control. This resulted in some wreckage and fire damage. One bomb struck the
forward end of the port side hangar, exploding on the second deck. The explosion
and resulting fire caused a great amount of wreckage and loss of material.

39. Tr., pp. 458-59.
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1. Papers, 1940, pp. 193-94.
2. Puleston, pp. 214-15.
3. JCC, Dec. 19, 1945.
4. That simple logic dictated an attack upon the fleet at Pearl Harbor is attested by

the minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (pp. 28-30):
"The fleet was stationed at Pearl Harbor in a large measure, if not entirely, for

the purpose of exercising a deterring effect on the aggressive propensities of the
Japanese government during the diplomatic negotiations and of making the govern­
ment more likely to yield to the diplomatic representations of the United States in
matters of policy. This was done contrary to the advice of the commander-in-chief
of the U. S. Fleet, Adm. Richardson (who was removed because of protest on that
issue), and with which Adm. William D. Leahy, former chief of naval operations
agreed (Tr., Vol. 6, p. 916). The fleet could produce this effect only as an instru­
ment of war that constituted a potential threat to the Japanese; that is, a powerful
instrument which could be used effectively to strike Japanese armed forces if they
moved too far southward in the direction of British, Dutch, and/or American pos­
sessions in that region.

"Having determined to move far southward and having moved far on the way
early in December toward that region, the Japanese were warned by every principle
of sound naval strategy to destroy, if possible, the American fleet at Hawaii on
their left flank.

"High authorities in Washington definitely knew from a message received from
Ambassador Winant in London at 10:40 A.M. Dec. 6, 1941 (Washington time) that
two large Japanese forces had been seen sailing toward the Kra Peninsula and
were distant only fourteen hours in time (Ex. 21). Washington authorities should
have known, therefore, that this would bring the strategic principle of what to do
about Hawaii into immediate military calculations. They took no steps to alert
Hawaii.

"The Japanese were fully aware of this strategic principle in December, 1941,
as their attack on Pearl Harbor demonstrated....

"Judging by the testimony and documents before the committee, most of the
high authorities in Washington, especially after the Atlantic conference in August,
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1941, so concentrated their attention on American-British-Australian-Dutch plans
for combined actions against the Japanese in Southeastern Asia that they failed to
give sufficient, if any, careful consideration to the strategic principle which enjoined
the Japanese to destroy, if they could, the American fleet at Hawaii on their left
flank before advancing too deeply into southeastern waters....

"The whole raison d'etre of the powerful naval and military installations in
Hawaii, as publicly announced, was defense against a Japanese attack. Preparations
for defense against attack necessarily implied the possibility of an attack....

"Witnesses before the committee, it may be noted, in extenuation of their lack
of emphasis on the probability of an attack on Pearl Harbor, called attention to the
fact that Japanese agents were also reporting on the military and naval installations
of the United States at Panama, the Philippines, the West Coast, and other points.
But to men, competent, careful, and watchful, men alert on their all-around and
indivisible responsibility, this fact provided no excuse whatever for minimizing the
probability of an attack on Pearl Harbor any more than at any other American out­
post. Nor does it excuse the failure of Washington authorities to note that far
greater detail was being asked for by the Japanese about Hawaii at a time when
Japanese movements in the Southwestern Pacific had to contend with the strategic
position of Hawaii where the real American striking force, the fleet, rested.

UA full review of the testimony and documents before the committee confirms
the conclusion reached by the Army Pearl Harbor Board after its survey of rele­
vant facts: 'We must therefore conclude that the responsible authorities, the Secre­
tary of the Navy and the Chief of Staff in Washington, down to the generals and
admirals in Hawaii, all expected an air attack hefore Pearl Harbor (that is Dec. 7,
1941).' As a general statement, when testifying after the Pearl Harbor attack, they
did not expect it. Apparently the only person who was not surprised was the Sec­
retary of War, Mr. Stimson, who testified: 'Well, I was not surprised!' U
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of the committee were concluded, the facts on this subject were confused by admis­
sion of committee exhibit 172, a War Department memorandum to committee
counsel. The representations made in this document were seized by the committee
majority in its report (pp. 164-65) in order to advance the argument that lend­
lease did not affect the state of the Hawaii defenses. The majority report states:

"In the case of 210 B-I7's and B-24's, Army heavy bombers adaptable for dis­
tant reconnaissance, delivered between Feb. 1 and Nov. 30, 1941, none were shipped
under lend-lease and a total of 113 were sold for cash to foreign countries; 12
B-I7's were shipped to Hawaii and 35 to the Philippines.

"With respect to Navy planes, there were no lend-lease transfers of long-range
patrol bombers or scout bombers during the same period. Of a total of 835 Navy
planes of all types delivered during this period, Feb. 1 to Nov. 30, 582 were de­
livered to the Navy and 253 to foreign countries (Britain, Canada, Australia, the
Netherlands, and Norway) under cash transactions. Of the 582 planes delivered
to the Navy, 218 were sent to the Hawaiian area, 146 of the planes being assigned
to carriers.

"It appears that of 3,128 Army and Navy planes of various types delivered be­
tween Feb. 1 and Nov. 30, 1941, only 177 were shipped under lend-lease to foreign
countries and none of these were capable of performing distant reconnaissance.
The record is clear, therefore, that the chief of staff and the chief of naval operations
did not prejudice our own defenses in approving excessive allocations to foreign
governments."

The minority report (pp. 50-55) arrives at entirely different conclusions:
"It becomes important, therefore, to consider what defensive equipment was

essential to protect the Pearl Harbor base, whether such defensive equipment was
supplied, and, if not, the reasons for such failure.

"The character of the defensive equipment necessary for the defense of the
Pearl Harbor base is not seriously in dispute. The base most essential, being lo­
cated on an island, approachable from all directions, the first protective equipment
necessary was a sufficient number of long-distance patrol planes to permit proper
distance reconnaissance covering a 360 0 perimeter. The evidence indicates that to
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supply such a reconnaissance program would require approximately 200 patrol
planes, with a sufficient supply of spare parts to keep the planes in operation, and
a sufficient number of available. crews to permit a continuous patrol.

"Base defense also required sufficient fighter planes to meet any attack which
might be considered possible. This would require approximately 175 planes.

"The second class of essential defense equipment was a suitable number of anti­
aircraft batteries with suitable and sufficient ammunition and sufficient experienced
crews for ready operation.

"The third class of defense equipment were torpedo nets and baffles. It would
be necessary for a considerable portion of the fleet to be in Pearl Harbor at all
times, fueling and relaxation of men together with ship repairs requiring the ships
in the fleet to have constant recourse to the base at more or less regular intervals.
The mobility of the Pearl Harbor base was limited, and ships using the base were
in a more or less defenseless situation except for the defense power of their own
ship batteries•..•

"Approximately four-fifths of the damage to the fleet upon the attack was the
result of torpedoes fired by torpedo-bombing planes attacking the base at low alti­
tudes. Against such an attack, anti-torpedo baffles and nets would have been of
extraordinary value. . • •

"The fourth class of defense equipment for the base lay in the newly dis­
covered device known as radar, which before Dec. 7 had been sufficiently perfected
to permit the discovery of approaching planes more than 100 miles away....

"The record discloses that from the time the fleet arrived at Pearl Harbor un­
til the attack on Dec. 7, the high command at Hawaii, both in the Army and the
Navy, frequendy advised the military authorities at Washington of the particular
defense equipment needs at the Pearl Harbor base (Exhibits 53 and 106). Nowhere
in the record does any dissent appear as to the reasonableness, or the propriety, of
the requests for defense equipment made by the high command in Hawaii. On
the contrary, the necessity for such equipment was expressly recognized and the
only explanation given for a failure to provide the equipment was that by reason
of unavoidable shortages, the requested defense equipment at Hawaii could not be
supplied.

"It was asserted that more equipment had been provided for Hawaii than for
any other base, and this is probably correct. The trouble with such an explanation
is that Hawaii was the only nonmainland base charged with the defense of a major
part of our Pacific fleet, and the equipment supplied to Hawaii was admittedly in­
sufficient. The Philippines received much equipment which might well have gone
to Hawaii, because Hawaii could have been defended, whereas no one expected
the Philippines to be able to stand a direct Japanese onslaught. Gen. Marshall re­
ported to the President in March, 1941 (Exhibit 59), that 'Oahu was believed to
be the strongest fortress in the world' and practically invulnerable to attack and
that sabotage was considered the first danger and might cause great damage.

"The government made the Atlantic theater the primary theater and the Pacific
theater a secondary and a defense theater. We raise no issue as to the propriety of
such decision, but we cannot fail to point out that such decision resulted in the
failure of the military authorities in Washington to supply the Pearl Harbor base
with military defense equipment which everyone agreed was essential and necessary
for the defense of the base and the fleet while in the base. As we have said, such
a more or less defenseless condition imposed increased peril upon the Pacific fleet,
so long as it was based at Pearl Harbor....

"The record discloses that the Army and Navy had available, between Feb. 1
and Dec. 1, 1941, an abundance of long distance patrol planes suitable for recon­
naissance purposes. Exhibit 172 shows that the Army received between Feb. 1 and
Dec. 1, 1941, approximately 600 long distance bombers capable of flying loaded
missions of 1,250 miles or more. Of these 12 went to Hawaii and 35 went to the
Philippines. During the same period the Navy received approximately 560 similar
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long distance bombers, of which approximately 175 were assigned to carriers in
the Pacific. During the same period the Army received approximately 5,500 anti­
aircraft guns, of which 7 went to Hawaii and 100 to the Philippines. If it be true
that it was found necessary to send this equipment elsewhere, as we assume, still
it would seem that Hawaii instead of having high priority, occupied a subordinate
position.••.

"The fleet itself had been depleted by assignments to the Atlantic theater, and
the man supply for plane service had likewise been used as a reservoir from which
to supply reserve demands for that theater.•..

"The lack of material does not appear to be the fault of a failure of appropri­
ations by Congress to the Army and Navy..••

"The fatal error of Washington authorities in this matter was to undertake a
world campaign and world responsibilities without first making provision for the
security of the United States, which was their prime constitutional obligation."

The record of Congress in providing for the nation's defense between the ad­
vent of President Roosevelt and Pearl Harbor is described by Representative Keefe
in his statement of additional views appended to the majority report of the Joint
Congressional Committee (pp. 266-U and V):

"The record clearly demonstrates how the Army and Navy get the funds needed
for national defense. The Army and Navy are required to submit their respective
estimates each year to the Bureau of the Budget. This bureau acting for the Presi­
dent conducts hearings and finally makes recommendations to the President as to
the amounts to be recommended to the Congress for appropriation. The Congress
is in effect the people of America. The record discloses that in the fiscal years 1934
to 1941, inclusive, the Army and Navy jointly asked for $26,580,145,093. This
is the combined total of Army and Navy requests made to the Bureau of the Budget.
In the same period the President recommended to the Congress that it appropriate
to the combined services $23,818,319,897. The Congress actually made available
to the Army and Navy in this period $24,943,987,823. Thus it is apparent that
the President himself recommended to the Congress in the fiscal years 1934 to 1941,
inclusive, that it appropriate for the Army and Navy $2,761,826,033 less than
had been requested by the Army and Navy. The people's representatives in the
Congress gave to the Army and Navy in the form of appropriations and authoriza­
tions for expenditure $1,256,667,926 more than the President had recommended
in his budget messages to the Congress.

"The mere recital of these undisputed figures should dispose of the contention
that 'the country is as much to blame as any individual in this final situation that
developed in Pearl Harbor.' "

Representative Keefe submitted for ready reference a complete statement:

Asked Budget Congress

1934 ................................................. $320,900,513 $280,746,841 $280,066,381
1935 ................................................ 305,271,321 288,960,155 283,862,094
1936 .....-........................-................• 361,351,154 331,799,277 363,224,957
1937 .................................................. 467,022,915 391,065,510 401,914,645
1938 .................................................... 468,204,851 436,495,336 439,872,423
1939 ................................................ 630,803,130 598,016,016 611,848,391
1940 ....................................................... 1,019,342,730 995,442,760 970,822,098
1941 ................................................ 13,612,977,763 13,067,553,812 13,487,184,058

Total .......................................... 17,185,874,377 16,390,079,707 16,828,795,047

Total both services ............{ 17,185,874,377 16,390,079,707 16,828,795,047
9,394,271,553 7,428,240,190 8,115,192,776

26,580,145,930 23,818,319,897 24,943,987,823

Roosevelt cut: $2,761,826,033.
Congress restored: '1,256,667,926 of the Budget cut.
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Representative Keefe, in his statement of additional views attached to the ma­
jority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (pp. 266-V and W), states:

"Another subject that has been bandied about the country for a number of
years relates to what has been frequently referred to as the failure or refusal of
Congress to fortify the island of Guam. The contention has been made that Con­
gress refused to appropriate money to fortify the island of Guam and that as a
result of such failure the entire war in the Pacific in its initial stages was lost to
the Japanese.

"The fact is that no proposal was ever submitted to the Congress involving the
fortification of Guam. The Navy did request an appropriation of five million dol­
lars for the purpose of dredging the harbor at Guam (Stark testimony, Tr., pp.
6546-47). The first request of the Navy was rejected by the Congress. Thereafter,
the appropriation requested by the Navy was passed with only one vote against it.
The dredging operation was being carried on when war broke out with Japan.

"It is interesting to note that 'Rainbow No.5,' which is the Joint Chiefs of
Staff world-wide war plan, placed the island of Guam in Category 'F' (Tr., p.
6535). The following questions and answers tell the story:

Mr. KEEFE. Now, I would like to ask a question which bothered me with re­
spect to your Rainbow No.5, which places the island of Guam in what is called
Category F.

Adm. STARK. I have the category here.
Mr. KEEFE. Now will you state for the record what Category F means?
Adm. STARK. Yes, sir. We have that, I am sure. This is out of Joint Action,

Army and Navy, and refers to degrees of preparation, and they are put in cate­
gories of defense, A, B, C, D, E, and F.

Mr. KEEFE. Well, take Guam to start with. That is in F. Now give us what
Category F means.

Adm. STARK. Category F: "Positions beyond the continental limits of the
United States which may be subject to either minor or major attack for the purpose
of occupation but which cannot be provided with adequate defense forces. Under
this category the employment of existing local forces and local facilities will be con­
fined principally to the demolition of those things it is desirable to prevent falling
into the hands of the enemy."

Mr. KEEFE. Then, so far as Guam was concerned, at the time this basic war
plan was devised it was the considered opinion of both the Army and Navy that
it could not be defended and it therefore was placed in Category F that required
those on the island, through demolition or otherwise, to destroy anything of value
to the enemy and to permit it to be taken?

Adm. STARK. Yes, sir.
Mr. KEEFE. And to surrender?
Adm. STARK. Yes, sir.
Mr. KEEFE. That is right, is it not?
Adm. STARK. That is correct, yes, sir (Tr., p. 6537).
Mr. KEEFE. Now, at the time of the attack on Guam and the capture of Guam

by the Japs were improvements on the harbor being made at that time or had they
been completed?

Adm. STARK. They had ndt been completed. Of course, I recall very clearly
the legislation with regard to that. I do not know just what their status was at
this moment. I had obtained from Congress the appropriation, I believe it was
$6,000,000, for certain improvements to the harbor. You recall the first year I
lost it by six votes, and the following year it went through almost unanimously,
only one vote being opposed to it. Just how far we had gotten along with that I
do not recall at the moment.

Mr. KEEFE. With those improvements completed, Guam would still be in Cate­
gory F, would it not?
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Adm. STARK. In the same category, Category F. The improvements were not
such as improved the defense of Guam but very litde.

Mr. KEEFE. Even with the improvements that were requested and contemplated
the Island of Guam, in the opinion of the Joint Army and Navy Board, could not
be successfully defended due to the power that Japan had in the mandated islands
surrounding it, is that right?

Adm. STARK. That is correct (Tr., p. 6547).
"These simple facts as disclosed to the public for the first time in these hearings

should effectively dispose of the contention that 'Congress refused to fortify the
Island of Guam, and hence the United States suffered tremendous loss in the in­
itial stages of the war with Japan.' "

13. p. 245.
14. JCC, Ex. 49, B-1, p. i.
15. Tr., pp. 5573-74.
16. ICC, Feb. 12, 1946.
17. Of these agreements the majority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (pp.

168-71) remarks:
"A great deal of inquiry was made during the course of proceedings to deter­

mine whether the government of the United States had entered into an agreement
with Great Britain and the Netherlands committing this nation to war upon Japan
in the event British or Dutch possessions were attacked by the Japanese. It is clear
from evidence before the committee that no agreement was entered into in this
regard. The President and his Cabinet, while momentarily expecting an attack by
Japan, recognized and observed the constitutional mandate that this government
could only be committed to war by a declaration of the Congress.

"Recognizing the inevitable consequences of the tripartite pact, representatives
of the War and Navy departments participated during 1941 in a series of staff con­
versations with military and naval experts of Great Britain, Canada, and the
Netherlands. The first of these, meetings, initiated by the chief of naval operations
and limited to American and British representatives, was held in Washington from
Jan. 29 to March 27, 1941. The official report of the conversations, referred to as
'ABC-I,' points out specifically that the discussions were held with a view 'to de­
termine the best methods by which the armed forces of the United States and
British Commonwealth, with its present allies, could defeat Germany and the
powers allied with her, should the United States be compelled to resort to war.'
The report states clearly that' th~ plans to accomplish this purpose, as embodied in
the report, were subject to confirmation by the highest military authorities in the
United States and Great Britain and by the governments of both countries as well.
This was in accord with the joint statement of the position the American repre­
sentatives would take, made by the chief of naval operations and the chief of staff
on January 27 at the outset of the conversations.

" 'ABC-I' was approved by the chief of naval operations and the Secretary of the
Navy and by the chief of staff and the Secretary of War, thereafter being submitted
to the President on June 2, 1941. On June 7 the President returned 'ABC-I' with­
out formal approval, pointing out that since the plan had not been finally approved
by the British government, he would not approve it at that time but that in case
of war the report should be returned to him for approval.

. "Shordy after the staff conversations in Washington military and naval repre­
sentatives of the United States, Great Britain, and the Netherlands conferred in
April of 1941 at Singapore in order to draft a plan for the conduct of operations
in the Far East based on 'ABC-I.' In the instructions sent the commander-in-chief
of our Asiatic fleet prior to the Singapore conversations it was emphatically pointed
out that the results of such conversations were likewise subject to ratification by the
governments concerned and were to involve no political commitment by the United
States. The report of the conversations, referred to as 'ADB,' explicitly recognized
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that no political commitments were implied. Nevertheless, the chief of naval opera­
tions and the chief of staff withheld their approval feeling that some of the state­
ments in the report had political implications. One of the proposals of the Singapore
conference, however, was subsequently incorporated as a recommendation in the
joint memoranda of Nov. 5 and 27 which the chief of staff and the chief of naval
operations submitted to the President; i. e., that military counter-action should be
undertaken in the event Japan attacked or directly threatened the territory or man­
dated territory of the United States, the British Commonwealth, or the Netherlands
East Indies, or if the Japanese moved forces into Thailand west of 100 0 east or
south of 10 0 north, Portuguese Timor, New Caledonia, or the Loyalty Islands....

"From all of the evidence, as earlier indicated, there is no basis for the con­
clusion that an agreement had been effected committing the United States to war
against Japan in the event of an attack by her upon the British or the Dutch. It
is indisputable that the President and his Cabinet contemplated presenting the
problem to the Congress should our position in the Far East become intolerable.
Further, the reports of the 1941 staff conversations contain clear disclaimers of any
political commitments and the voluminous records relating to these conversations
will be searched in vain for any suggestion that an agreement binding the United
States to go to war was made. Additionally, all the witnesses who were questioned
on the point-including the ranking military and naval leaders of the country at
the time-testified that in these nzeetings the constitutional prerogative of the Con­
gress to declare war was scrupulously respected. The preliminary planning done at
these conferences manifested commendable foresight and indeed our military leaders
would have been inexcusably negligent had they not participated in these conversa­
tions in the face of the clear pattern of conquest mapped out by the Axis. This
planning saved precious time and lives once Japan struck.

"While no binding agreement existed, it would appear from the record that the
Japanese were inclined to the belief that the United States, Britain, and the Nether­
lands would act in concert. . . ."

The reader may compare this easy dismissal of the effect of the agreements with
the findings of the minority (pp. 12-14):

"There is additional evidence for the conclusion that in January, 1941, Presi­
dent Roosevelt then became convinced that the war was a global war and that his
decisions as chief executive and commander-in-chief must thenceforward be made
with reference to that conviction. This evidence is as follows: Beginning in Janu­
ary, 1941, representatives of the American armed forces and representatives of Brit­
ish and Dutch armed forces on the suggestion of the United States started a series
of conversations in respect of cooperation against Japan in the Far East. Out of
these subsequent conversations were developed American-British-Dutch war plans
for combined operations against Japan if Japanese armed forces started hostile ac­
tions against British, Dutch, or American possessions in the Far East. President
Roosevelt approved these plans, 'except officially,' as Adm. Stark testified.

"The President's commitment to Great Britain was foreshadowed by understand­
ings previously reached between American; British, and Dutch military authorities.
In a memorandum to the President dated Nov. 27, 1941 (Ex. 17), Gen. Marshall
and Adm. Stark stated:

" 'After consultation with each other, United States, British, and Dutch military
authorities in the Far East agreed that joint military counteraction against Japan
should be undertaken only in case Japan attacks or directly threatens the territory
or mandated territory of the United States, the British Commonwealth, or the
Netherlands East Indies, or should the Japanese move forces into Thailand west of
100 0 East or south of the 10° North, Portuguese Timor, New Caledonia, or the
Loyal ty Islands:

"The agreement referred to by Adm. Stark and Gen. Marshall, was reached
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at conferences in Singapore in April, 1941, between United States, British, and
Dutch military authorities in the Far East....

"While the President did not approve written agreements on these understand­
ings he and the high authorities in Washington acted with the British and Dutch
just as if a binding pact had been made. Likewise the Japanese acted upon the
same belief that the United States, Britain, and Netherlands East Indies were work­
ing together. There is ample evidence in the record to this effect. (Ex. I, p. 205­
Tokyo to Berlin dispatch: Id. p. 227, Washington to Tokyo dispatch.)

"Subsequent American diplomatic negotiations with Japan were based upon the
principle of cooperation with Great Britain, the Dutch Netherlands, China, and
Australia. No separate over-all plan for the simple defense of American possessions
against Japan was developed by the armed forces of the United States between
January, 1941, and Dec. 7, 1941, with a view to safeguarding American interests
separately. After the Japanese attack on Dec. 7, American, British, Dutch, and
Australian operations in the Pacific theater were conducted on the cooperative prin­
ciple which had governed the military and naval conversations and planning be­
tween January and December, 1941. . . ."

18. Kimmel, p. 9.
19. Ihid.; TCC, Ex. 44 E.
20. Kimmel, p. 10.
21. JCC, Dec. 5, 1945.
22. Tr., p. 8555.
23. Ibid., p. 8557.
24. Kimmel, p. 41.
25. JCC, Dec. 31, 1945.
26. Tr., p. 6321.
27. JCC, Dec. 10, 1945.
28. Tr., p. 6291.
29. Ibid., pp. 6312-14; JCC, Dec. 20, 1945.
30. Tr., p. 6315.
31. JCC, Feb. 20, 1946.
32. Tr., p. 6198.
33. Ibid., p. 6204.
34. Intercepts, p. 111.
35. Ibid., p. 227.
36. Ibid., p. 173.
37. Ibid., p. 192.
38. Ibid., p. 238.
39. Address to Commons, NYT, Jan. 28, 1942, 1:4.
40. Radio address, NYT, Feb. 16, 1942, 1:3.
41. AP dispatch from London, June 21, 1944, in CT, same date, 1:2.

NOTES ON CHAPTER IX: MEETING AT SEA
1. JCC, April 9, 1946.
2. Welles's "Memorandum of Conversation," upon which this account of the Atlantic

conference is based, was introduced before the JCC as Exhibits 22-B, 22-C, and
22-D on Nov. 23, 1945.

3. How War Came, p. 10.
4. The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (pp. 14-15) emphasizes

a subsidiary agreement reached at the Atlantic conference:
"The danger of war with Japan formed a principal theme of discussion between

President Roosevelt and Prime Minister Churchill at the Atlantic conference in
August, 1941, and agreements or understandings reached by President Roosevelt and
Prime Minister Churchill at that conference were based on a common program for
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dealing with Japan and close cooperation between the United States and Great
Britain in diplomatic, military, and naval affairs in respect of the Far East as well
as the Atlantic. Their chief understandings as thus far disclosed by official records
were three in number:

"(1) Common diplomatic actions warning Japan against taking any further
steps in dominating neighboring countries by force or threat of force.

"(2) Occupation of the Azores by the armed forces of the United States
with protective assistance by British armed forces in guarding against a pos­
sible Nazi thrust from the mainland.

"(3) Cooperation between the United States and Great Britain in 'the po­
licing of the world' during a transition period following the close of the war....
"It is scarcely thinkable that in his discussions with Prime Minister Churchill

at the Atlantic conference in August, 1941, President Roosevelt would have assumed
that the United States was to cooperate with Great Britain in 'the policing of the
world' for a transition period after the war unless he was then certain that at some
stage in the development of the war the United States would become involved in
it."

5. Peace, p. 714.
6. JCC, Nov. 24, 1945.
7. Ibid., Dec. 15, 1945.
8. Radio address, NYT, Aug. 25, 1941, 1:8.
9. NYT, Nov. 11, 1941, 1:1.

10. Grew, p. 478.
11. Tr., pp. 6298-6303.
12. The majority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (pp. 304-5) debates this

question inconclusively:
"The evidence before the committee does not show whether or not the British

government took 'parallel action' to the warning given Japan by President Roosevelt.
Undersecretary Welles testified before the committee that he took it for granted
that the British government took such parallel action and that the records of the
State Department would probably show that (Tr., p. 1279), but Secretary Hull testi­
fied, and the State Department has advised the committee, that its files contain no
record of any such action (Tr., p. 14, 306; 4480). Furthermore, as late as Nov. 30
(Washington time), Prime Minister Churchill sent a message to the President saying
that 'one important method remains unused in averting war between Japan and
our two countries, namely a plain declaration, secret or public as may be thought
best, that any further act of aggression by Japan will lead immediately to the
gravest consequences.... We would, of course, make a similar declaration or share
in a joint declaration' (Ex. 24); and the evidence further shows that on Dec. 7 the
Prime Minister submitted to President Roosevelt a draft of a proposed warning to
Japan (Tr., pp. 13738-40). On the other hand, on Aug. 25, 1941, in an address
reporting to Parliament on the Atlantic conference, the Prime Minister said:

"'But Europe is not the only continent to be tormented and devastated by
aggression. For five long years the Japanese military factions, seeking to emulate
the style of Hitler and Mussolini, taking all their posturing as if it were a new
European revelation, have been invading and harrying the 500,000,000 inhabitants
of China. Japanese armies have been wandering about that vast land in futile
excursions, carrying with them carnage, ruin and corruption, and calling it "the
Chinese incident." Now they stretch a grasping hand into the southern seas of
China. They snatch Indo-China from the wretched Vichy French. They menace
by their movements Siam, menace Singapore, the British link with Australasia, and
menace the Philippine Islands under the protection of the United States.

" 'It is certain that this has got to stop. Every effort will be made to secure a
peaceful settlement. The United States are laboring with infinite patience to arrive
at a fair and amicable settlement which will give Japan the utmost reassurance for
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her legitimate interests. We earnestly hope these negotiations will succeed. But
this I must say: That if these hopes should fail we shall, of course, range ourselves
unhesitatingly at the side of the United States (Tr., 1355-56; 4480-4481).'

"While Secretary Hull testified that he knew of no parallel action taken by
the British other than this address (Tr., 14306), which was broadcast by radio,
Undersecretary Welles testified that in his opinion this address did not constitute
'parallel action' of the kind proposed by Mr. Churchill to the President, and that
in Mr. Welles's judgment such action would necessarily have had to have been in
the form of an exchange of diplomatic notes (Tr., 1356).n

Again (p. 302) the majority report says:
"The evidence before the committee is conflicting as to whether or not Prime

Minister Churchill promised President Roosevelt that the British government would
take action parallel to that to be taken by the United States government.

"The only contemporaneous records of the Atlantic conference before -the com­
mittee are three memoranda prepared by Undersecretary Welles (Ex. 22-B, 22-C,
22-D). Those memoranda show that the procedure outlined by President Roosevelt
differed substantially from that envisaged in Prime Minister Churchill's proposal.
As there described by Mr. Welles, the President's procedure did not call for parallel
action by either the British or Dutch governments, or for keeping Russia informed,
as Mr. Churchill had proposed. Nor, as in the case of Mr. Churchill's proposal,
was the precise phraseology of the warning to Japan prescribed, it being left en­
tirely up to the President. Mr. Welles testified that the promise given by the Presi­
dent to Mr. Churchill 'was limited to the fact that a warning would be given' (Tr.,
p. 142), and that the only agreement reached between the President and the Prime
Minister was 'that the President made the promise to Mr. Churchill that the gov­
ernment of the United States, in its own words and in its own way, would issue
a warning to the Japanese government of the character which actually was made
by the President on Aug. 17' (Tr., p. 1428).

"While it is true that Mr. WdIes testified that the promise made by President
Roosevelt was to 'take parallel action with the British government in warning the
Japanese government' (Tr., p. 1235-6) and that he 'took it for granted Mr. Churchill
must have made that statement' (i. e., promised to make a parallel warning) to
the President (Tr., 1446), it is also true that when asked directly whether the Presi­
dent had told him that Mr. Churchill had promised to make a parallel warning-,
Mr. Welles said, 'The President in his conversation with me, so far as I remember,
did not make that specific statement' (Tr., p. 1446). Moreover, as previously noted,
the Welles' memoranda neither state nor indicate that any such promise was made
by Mr. Churchill (Ex. 22-B, 22-C, 22-D), and there is no evidence before the com­
mittee showing that action parallel to the President's warning to Japan was ever
taken by the British government. On the other hand, both 'Peace and War' (Ex.
28, p. 129) and 'Foreign Relations of the United States, Japan 1931-1941' (Ex. 29,
vol. II, p. 345) refer to an 'agreement' to take parallel action made by President
Roosevelt and Prime Minister Churchill, though, of course, neither of these purports
to be a contemporaneous account of the Atlantic conference. Likewise, in his testi­
mony before the committee, Secretary Hull referred to such an 'agreement,' though
again Secretary Hull did not attend the Atlantic conference (Tr., p. 1116)."

13. JCC, Nov. 24, 1945.
14. Ibid., Nov. 27, 1945.
15. Intercepts, p. 197. (In this message Nomura used the phrase "on the 17th of this

month," but evidently was referring to the warning of Aug. 17. Neither the ac­
count in For. ReI. II (pp. 740-43) or in Intercepts (pp. 141-43) of the conversa­
tion of the Japanese emissaries and Roosevelt on Nov. 17 shows the President to
have voiced any additional warning.)

16. For. ReI. IT, p. 139.
17. Ibid., p. 143.
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18. TCC, Nov. 28, 1945.
19. Ibid., Dec. 21, 1945.
20. For. ReI. II, pp. 525-26.
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1. The ambitious designs of the Japanese militarists were described in the majority
report of the Joint Congressional Committee (pp. 295-6) as follows:

ICOn June 22, 1941, Germany had invaded Russia. The German attack upon
Russia had precipitated a series of events in Japan which were to have far-reaching
effects upon Japanese-American relations. It had quickened the appetites of those
in the Japanese government who believed that then, or never, Japan's destiny was
in her own hands. Intensive consideration had immediately been given in Tokyo
to the question whether Japan should not attack Russia at once (Ex. 173, Konoye
Memoirs, p. 16). Foreign Minister Matsuoka in particular had urged this course.
According to the memoirs of Prince Fumimaro Konoye, the Japanese Premier at
the time, the attention of the government became so centered upon this question
that the American counter-proposal of June 21, which by that time had been re­
ceived in Tokyo from the Japanese ambassador in Washington, became completely
side-tracked until after an Imperial Conference with Emperor Hirohito on July 2
(Japan time) (Ex. 173, Konoye Memoirs, pp. 16, 18). At that conference the
question of war with Russia had been temporarily shelved in favor of 'an advance
into the southern regions,' and it had been decided that, first of all, the plans
'which have been laid with reference to French Indo-China and Thai will be
prosecuted, with a view to consolidating our position in the southern territories'
(Ex. 173, Konoye Memoirs, p. 70; cf. Ex. 1, pp. 1-2). It is now known that at
the Imperial Conference on July 2 (Japan time) it was also decided that, in case
the diplomatic negotiations with the United States should break down, 'prepara­
tions for a war with England and America will also be carried forward;' that all
plans, including the plan to use Japan's military strength to settle the Soviet ques­
tion if the German-Russian war should develop to Japan's advantage, were to be
carried out-
IC'in such a way as to place no serious obstacles in the path of our basic military
preparations for a war with England and America';
and that-
U 'In case all diplomatic means fail to prevent the entrance of America into the Euro­
pean war, we will proceed in harmony with our obligations under the tripartite
pact. However, with reference to the time and method of employing our armed
forces we will take independent action' (Ex. 173, Konoye Memoirs, p. 71).
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"The following report of the Imperial Conference on July 2 (Japan time) had
been cabled by the Japanese foreign minister to the Japanese ambassadors in the
United States, Germany, Italy, and Russia, the same day:

" '(National Secret)
" 'At the conference held in the presence of the Emperor on July 2 "The Prin­

cipal Points in the Imperial Policy for Coping with the Changing Situation" were
decided. This Policy consists of the following two parts. The first part "The
Policy" and the second part "The Principal Points." (I am wiring merely the gist
of the matter.) Inasmuch as this has to do with national defense secrets, keep the
information only to yourself. Please also transmit the content to both the naval and
military attaches, together with this precaution.

" 'The Policy.
"'1. Imperial Japan shall adhere to the policy of contributing to world peace by

establishing the Great East Asia Sphere of Co-prosperity, regardless of how the
world situation may change.

" '2. The Imperial Government shall continue its endeavor to dispose of the
China incident, and shall take measures with a view to advancing southward in
order to establish firmly a basis for her self-existence and self-protection.

" 'The Principal Points.
" 'For the purpose of bringing the CHIANG Regime to submission, increasing pres­

sure shall be added from various points in the south, and by means of both propa­
ganda and fighting plans for the taking over of concessions shall be carried out.
Diplomatic negotiations shall be continued, and various other plans shall be speeded
with regard to the vital points in the south. Concomitantly, preparations for south­
ward advance shall be re-enforced and tIle policy already decided upon with refer­
ence to French Indo-China and Thailand shall be executed. As regards the Russo­
German war, although the spirit of the Three-Power Axis shall be maintained,
every preparation shall be made at the present and the situation shall be dealt with
in our own way. In the meantime, diplomatic negotiations shall be carried on with
extreme care. Although every means available shall be resorted to in order to pre­
vent the United States from joining the war, if need be, Japan shall act in accord­
ance with tlu Three-Power Pact and shall decide when and how force will be
employed (Ex. 1, pp. 1-2).'

"I t is worthy of note that this intercepted Japanese message, which was trans­
lated and available in Washington on July 8 (Washington time), did not mention
the decisions at the Imperial Conference respecting the United States.

"Commencing immediately after the Imperial Conference, Japan had proceeded
with military preparations on a vast scale, calling up from one to two million re­
servists and conscripts, recalling Japanese merchant vessels operating in the Atlantic
Ocean, imposing restrictions upon travel in Japan, and carrying out strict censor­
ship of mail and communications."

Although Ambassador Nomura described the occupation of Indo-China as
necessary to safeguard Japan's food supplies and to frustrate foreign powers bent
upon encircling Japan, a diplomatic message of July 14, 1941, from Canton to
Tokyo (Ex. 1, p. 2) stated:

"Subsequent information from the military officials to the Attaches is as fol­
lows:

"1. The recent general mobilization order expressed the irrevocable resolution
of Japan to put an end to Anglo-American assistance in thwarting her natural
expansion and her indomitable intention to carry this out, if possible, with the
backing of the Axis but, if necessary, alone. Formalities, such as dining the ex­
peditionary forces and saying farewell to them, have been dispensed with. That is
because we did not wish to arouse greatly the feelings of the Japanese populace
and because we wished to face this new war with a calm and cool attitude.

"2. The immediate object of our occupation of French Indo-China will be to
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achieve our purposes there. Secondly, its purpose is, when the international situa­
tion is suitable, to launch therefrom a rapid attack. This venture we will carry out
in spite of any difficulties which may arise. We will endeavor to the last to occupy
French Indo-China peacefully but, if resistance is offered, we will crush it by
force, occupy the country and set up martial law. After the occupation of French
Indo-China, next on our schedule is the sending of an ultimatum to the Nether­
lands Indies. In the seizing of Singapore the Navy will play the principal part.
As for the Army, in seizing Singapore it will need only one division and in seizing
the Netherlands Indies, only two
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3. For. ReI. II, p. 697.
4. AP dispatch from Tokyo Dec. 18, 1945, in CT Dec. 19.
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"1. The government of the United States and the government of Japan, both
being solicitous for the. peace of the Pacific, affirm that their national polices are
directed toward lasting and extensive peace throughout the Pacific area and that
they have no territorial designs therein.

"2. They undertake reciprocally not to make from regions in which they have
military establishments any advance by force or threat of force into any areas in
Southeastern or Northeastern Asia or in the southern or the northern Pacific area.

"3. The Japanese government undertakes forthwith to withdraw its forces now
stationed in southern French Indo-China and not to replace those forces; to reduce
the total of its force in French Indo-China to the number there on July 26, 1941;
and not to send additional naval, land, or air forces to Indo-China for replacements
or otherwise.

"The provisions of the foregoing paragraph are without prejudice to the position
of the government of the United States with regard to the presence of foreign
troops in that area.

"4. The government of the United States undertakes forthwith to modify the
application of its existing freezing and export restrictions to the extent necessary
to permit the following resumption of trade between the United States and Japan
in articles for the use and needs of their peoples:

"(a) Imports from Japan to be freely permitted and the proceeds of the sale
thereof to be paid into a clearing account to be used for the purchase of the exports
from the United States listed below, and at Japan's option for the payment of
interest and principal of Japanese obligations within the United States, provided
that at least two-thirds in value of such imports per month consist of raw silk.
It is understood that all American owned goods now in Japan, the movement of
which in transit to the United States has been interrupted following the adoption
of freezing measures shall be forwarded forthwith to the United States.

"(b) Exports from the United States to Japan to be permitted as follows:
"(i) Bunkers and supplies for vessels engaged in the trade here provided

for and for such other vessels engaged in other trades as the two governments
may agree.

"(ii) Food and food products from the United States subject to such
limitations as the appropriate authorities may prescribe in respect of com­
modities in short supply in the United States.

"(iii) Raw cotton from the United States to the extent of $600,000 in
value per month.

"(iv) Medical and pharmaceutical supplies subject to such limitations as
the appropriate authorities may prescribe in respect of commodities in short
supply in the United States.

"(v) Petroleum. The United States will permit the export to Japan of
petroleum, within the categories permitted general export, upon a monthly
basis for civilian needs. The proportionate amount of petroleum to be ex­
ported from the United States for such needs will be determined after con­
sultation with the British and the Dutch governments. It is understood that
by civilian needs in Japan is meant such purposes as the operation of the
fishing industry, the transport system, lighting, heating, industrial and agri­
cultural uses, and other civilian uses.

"(vi) The above stated amounts of exports may be increased and addi­
tional commodities added by agreement between the two governments as it
may appear to them that the operation of this agreement is furthering the
peaceful and equitable solution of outstanding problems in the Pacific area.

"5. The government of Japan undertakes forthwith to modify the application of
its existing freezing and export restrictions to the extent necessary to permit the
resumption of trade between Japan and the United States as provided for in para­
graph 4 above.
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"6. The government of the United States undertakes forthwith to approach the
Australian, British, and Dutch governments with a view to those governments tak­
ing measures similar to those provided for in paragraph 4 above.

"7. With reference to the current hostilities between Japan and China, the
fundamental interest of the government of the United States in reference to any
discussions which may be entered into between the Japanese and the Chinese gov­
ernments is simply that these discussions and any settlement reached as a result
thereof be based upon and exemplify the fundamental principles of peace, law,
order, and justice, which constitute the central spirit of the current conversations
between the government of Japan and the government of the United States and
which are applicable uniformly throughout the Pacific area.

"8. This modus vivendi shall remain in force for a period of 3 months with
the understanding that the two parties shall confer at the instance of either to
ascertain whether the prospects of reaching a peaceful settlement covering the en­
tire Pacific area justify an extension of the modus vivendi for a further period."

(JCC, Ex. 18).
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59. The influence of other governments upon the decision to reject the modus vivendi

was discussed by Secretary Hull as follows:
"The Chinese government violently opposed the idea. The other interested gov­

ernments were sympathetic to the Chinese view and fundamentally were unfavor­
able or lukewarm. Their cooperation was a part of the plan. It developed that
the conclusion with Japan of such an arrangement would have been a major blow
to Chinese morale" (Tr., p. 1146).

The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee says of these events:
"A modus vivendi was under discussion with Japan in November 1941 to run

for three months. This had been strongly urged by the War and Navy authorities
in order to supply absolutely essential time for preparation. Secretary Stimson and
Knox went over the terms of this document and advised Secretary Hull that it
adequately protected our interest.

"Suddenly the modus vivendi was dropped from the agenda and there was
substituted the Hull message which was followed shortly after by the attack on
Pearl Harbor.

"Early on the morning after the delivery of the Hull message Lord Halifax
arrived at the State Department. He found Mr. Welles in charge and asked him
what has become of the modus vivendi. Mr. Welles replied that it was dropped
because of Chinese lack of interest. Lord Halifax intimated a continuing British
interest and Mr. Welles significantly replied: 'That is not the way London sounded
yesterday.'

"The message from Churchill of the preceding day certainly bears out the
Welles observation. The committee was told by the State Department that there
is no record of any telephone conversations between Mr. Churchill and President
Roosevelt. This certainly invites inquiry.
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"The Halifax early morning VISIt In apparent ignorance of the Churchill mes­
sage of the day before and of the decision to drop the modus vivendi is not in tune
with usual British diplomatic procedure.

"Whether or not the Japanese would have accepted the modus vivendi must
remain a matter of opinion.

"Whether or not it should have been submitted is a matter on which light
might well be shed.

"Particularly is this the case when we have the testimony of Gen. George C.
Marshall that a delay by the Japanese from December, 1941, into January, 1942.
might have resulted in a change of Japanese opinion as to the wisdom of the at­
tack because of the collapse of the German front before Moscow in December, 1941.

"Whether or not such a development would have been one to be desired must
remain for future investigation when more of the diplomatic history of the closing
months of 1941 can be more thoroughly explored" (Min., pp. 7-8).

A more extended comment on the modus vivendi follows:
"Besides the President's instructions or suggestions, Secretary Hull had before

him the 'outline of a proposed basis for agreement between the United States and
Japan,' which had been carefully prepared by Henry Morgenthau Jr., secretary of
the treasury. Henry Morgenthau's 'outline' with a covering note, dated Nov. 19,
1941, was presented to Secretary Hull, initialled M. M. H. (Maxwell M. Hamil­
ton, chief of the division of Far Eastern affairs). The covering note informed Sec­
retary Hull that all the senior officers of the division concurred with Mr. Hamilton
in the view that 'the proposal is the most constructive one I have seen.' Mr. Ham­
ilton urged Secretary Hull to give most careful consideration to the proposal
promptly, and suggested that the Secretary make copies of the proposed 'outline'
available to Adm. Stark and Gen. Marshall and arrange to confer with them as
soon as they had had an opportunity to examine the 'outline' (Exhibits 18, 168).

"With the President's instructions or suggestions and Secretary Morgenthau's
'outline' before him, Secretary Hull considered the terms of a possible agreement
with Japan as the basis of a general settlement or an indefinite continuation of
negotiations in connection with the Japanese proposal for a modus vivendi. This
is no place to give a fifty-page summary of the record of the events connected with
Secretary Hull's operations. Nor is it necessary to discuss the merits of the case.
But the following recital of facts illustrates the confusion and lack of cooperation
that prevailed in administration circles.

"Secretary Hull drafted a memorandum for at least a kind of truce with Japan.
"Secretary Hull discussed his proposals with British, Dutch, and Australian

representatives in Washington.
"Secretary Hull had a conference on the proposals with Secretary Stimson and

Secretary Knox at his office on Nov. 25. Of this conference Secretary Stimson
noted in his diary:

'Hull showed us the proposal for a three months' truce, which he was going
to lay before the Japanese today or tomorrow. It adequately safeguarded all our
interests, I thought as I read it, but I don't think there is any chance of the Japa­
nese accepting it, because it was so drastic' (Tr., Vol. 70, p. 14417).

"The next day, Nov. 26, Secretary Hull told Secretary Stimson over the tele­
phone that he had about made up his mind not to give the proposal for the three
months' truce to the Japanese but 'to kick the whole thing over.' Under pressure
coming from Chiang Kai-shek, Winston Churchill, and others, relative to the
modus vivendi, Secretary Hull refrained from making an independent decision on
this important step and it appears he was led to decide it without thought of the
military capacities necessary to back up our diplomatic position. On that day, Nov.
26, Secretary Hull, with the approval of President Roosevelt, kicked the whole thing
over and sent to the Japanese the now famous memorandum which Japan treated
as an ultimatum. Tn taking this action Secretary Hull gave no advance notice to
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Gen. Marshall and Adm. Stark, who were then preparing their second careful
memorandum to the President begging for a postponement of war with Japan un­
til the Army and Navy could make better preparation for waging it. Moreover, it
should be noted that Secretary Hull did not give to the British and Australian
representatives any advance information about his sudden decision 'to kick the
whole thing over.'

"When Secretary Hull, with the approval of President Roosevelt, made this
decision on Nov. 26 and handed his memorandum to the Japanese ambassadors on
Nov. 26, he was practically certain that the Japanese government would reject his
proposals and that a break in relations would be a highly probable consequence of
his action.

"For this statement there is sufficient evidence from Secretary Hull himself. In
his account of the meeting with the Japanese representatives, when he presented
the memorandum to them, Secretary Hull reported that, after reading the docu­
ment, Mr. Kurusu said 'that when this proposal of the United States was reported
to the Japanese government, that government would be likely to "throw up its
hands"; that this response to the Japanese proposal (the so-called modu.s vivendi
proposal from Tokyo) could be interpreted as tantamount to the end of the negoti­
ations.' So certain was Secretary Hull of the coming breach that, according to his
account, he declared on Nov. 25 and Nov. 28 at a meeting of 'high officials' that
'the matter of safeguarding our national security was in the hands of the Army
and Navy' (Peace and War, 1931-1941 [1943, p. 144]). Some exchanges with the
Japanese occurred after Nov. 27, 1941, but none of these exchanges altered in any
respect the situation created by Secretary Hull's memorandum of Nov. 26 to Japan"
(Min., pp. 7-8).

In a fuller development of its views on this subject, the minority report (pp.
67-69) said:

"Of the many instances showing failures of Washington authorities to cooperate
and keep one another duly informed when such acts of duty were vital to the
interests of the United States, none was more fateful than actions on the so-called
modus vivendi proposed by Japan on Nov. 20, 1941.

"Item 1 of the Japanese proposal read:
" 'Both the governments of Japan and the United States undertake not to make

any armed advancement into any of the regions in the Southeastern and Southern
Pacific area excepting the part of French Indo-China where Japanese troops are
stationed.'

"Item 2 read:
" 'The J~panese government undertakes to withdraw its troops now stationed in

French Indo-China upon either the restoration of peace between Japan and China
or the establishment of an equitable peace in the Pacific area.'

"Wholly apart from the merits or demerits of these and other items in the
Japanese proposal of Nov. 20, here was an opportunity at least to prolong 'the
breathing spell' for which Gen. Marshall and Adm. Stark were pleading in their
efforts to strengthen the armed forces of the United States for war. On Nov. 5,
Gen. Marshall and Adm. Stark presented a strong plea to the President begging for
time in which to make the Army and Navy ready for war. While the Japanese
proposal for a modus vivendi was under consideration by the President and Secre­
tary Hull, Gen. Marshall and Adm. Stark prepared another plea for the postpone­
ment of the breach with Japan so that the Army and Navy could be made stronger
in striking or defensive power. They did not ask for any surrender of American
principles; they merely called for delay.

"The Japanese proposal for a modus vivendi offered an opportunity to stop for
a few weeks the advance of Japanese armed forces into the Southeastern and
Southern area-the advance which, according to American war plans, made in
cooperation with British and Dutch officers) provided for American action against
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Japan or American participation in a war against Japan. It is true that President
Roosevelt had not committed the United States officially to these plans but, accord­
ing to the testimony of Adm. Stark, 'the President, except officially, approved of'
the basic principles of these plans (Tr., Vol. 35, pp. 6370-72). American official
War Plan WPL 46 was based on them. Whether written in binding agreements or
not, American, British, and Dutch authorities acted in concert just as if binding
pacts had been made. The Japanese, as Washington clearly learned from the inter­
cepts, also acted upon the assumption that American, British, and Dutch agree..
ments for concerted action existed.

"President Roosevelt evidently deemed it both feasible and desirable to reach
some kind of modus vivendi with Japan with a view to a possible settlement in
general or in any event a prolongation of negotiations with Japan until American
armed forces were better prepared for war. Proof of this was found in a pencilled
memorandum written by the President for the Secretary of State 'not dated but
probably written shortly after Nov. 20, 1941,' that is, after the receipt of the Japa­
nese proposal (Exhibit 18).

"President Roosevelt's memorandum for Secretary Hull with regard to the
possible terms of the modus vivendi with Japan read:

"'6 MONTHS

" '1. U. S. to resume economic relations-some oil and rice now-more later.
"'2. Japan to send no more troops to Indo-China or Manchurian border or any

place South (Dutch, Brit. or Siam).
"'3. Japan not to invoke tripartite pact even if the U. S. gets into European war.
" '4. U. S. to introduce laps to Chinese to talk things over but u.S. to take no

part in their conversation.
• • • • •

" 'Later in Pacific agreements.' "
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when the peaceful elements of the now defeated enemy nation were begging for
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was implicitly admitted by an American spokesman at the Tokyo war crimes trial.
Frank S. Tavenner, deputy prosecutor, said that Germany for months had been
egging on Japan to seize Singapore so that Britain would be weakened in her war
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with Hitler. The Germans, before their own invasion of Russia, also sought to
induce the Japs to attack Russia. Tavenner asserted, however, that there was sus­
picion and distrust between Germany and Japan.

Early in 1941, Tavenner said, the Japs not only postponed a decision on the
Nazi request to fight Russia in the north, but went so far as to notify Hitler that
Japan would not fight immediately even if the United States entered the war in
Europe. Some time after July, 1941, Tavenner stated, "something as yet undis­
closed" prompted a change in policy in Tokyo. The Japanese decided to strike at
the United States. Instead of adopting Singapore as the initial objective in a
Pacific war and leaving American territory inviolate, the Japanese concluded that
they must launch their attack upon Pearl Harbor.

Thus, the American government through an official spokesman subscribes to
the thesis that as late as the end of July-four months and a week before the
Pearl Harbor attack-there was still a strong chance that peace could be kept be­
tween the United States and Japan. Tavenner contends that "something as yet un­
disclosed" changed the mind of the Japanese, but it requires no great prescience
to achieve the explanation which the American prosecutor says has eluded him.

Near the end of July American policy toward Japan stiffened until it bordered
on belligerency. Welles' statement of July 23 that there was "no longer any basis"
for a peaceful solution was followed by the drastic measures of the oil embargo and
credit freeze of July 25. Then Roosevelt met with Churchill at sea and adopted
the "parallel action" policy. That was followed by Roosevelt's refusal to meet
with Konoye, and by the fall of the Konoye government. The Hull ultimatum of
Nov. 26 was the finishing touch. These disclosed facts account for the change in
Japanese policy which led to Pearl Harbor. (See CT, Sept. 20, 1946, 22 :1.)
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have added nothing to what was already known concerning the critical character
of our relations with the empire of Japan."
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9. JCC, Feb. 9, 1946.
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13. JCC, Feb. 11, 1946.
14. Ibid., Feb. 15, 1946.
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18. Ibid., Feb. 1, 1946.
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20. Ibid., Dec. 20, 1945.
21. Ibid., Jan. 30, 1946.
22. Ibid., Feb. 2, 1946.
23. Memorandum of Gen. Cramer, dated Nov. 23, 1944, introduced before JCC Jan.

26, 1946: Tr., Vol. 46, pp. 8621-28.
24. Ibid.,.p. 8627.
25. Ibid.
26. Kimmel, p. 97.
27. Cf. minority views of the Joint Congressional Committee (Min., pp. 31-32):

"Although the knowledge gained from these and other items of information
[Japanese spy and diplomatic intercepts] was sufficient to warn high authorities
in Washington that Japan was on the verge of starting hostilities, reference should
be made in this connection to the so-called 'winds' messages concerning which there
had been much dispute and no litde mystery. The story, though long, may be
abbreviated here. .

"Col. Otis Sadder testified before the Army Pearl Harbor Board that about Nov.
20, 1941, a Japanese message was intercepted notifying nationals that another mes­
sage was to come indicating whether war, if launched, would be against the United
States, Great Britain, or Russia or any combination of them. The first message
stated that the second or 'activating' message to come would indicate by reference
to the directions of the winds and weather the names of the countries against which
war would be started. The Army Pearl Harbor Board also had evidence to the
effect that the second or 'activating' message from Japan had come and that it
meant 'War with England, War with America, Peace with Russia.' According to
the board's report:

" 'This original message has now disappeared from the Navy files and cannot be
found. It was in existence just after Pearl Harbor and was collected with other
messages for submission to the Roberts Commission. Copies were in existence in
various places but they have all disappeared' (Top Secret, p. 8).

"The evidence before this committee bearing on the interception of the activat­
ing message from Tokyo and on the contention that it indicated hostilities between
Japan and the Anglo-American combination covers hundreds of pages. Admittedly
the evidence is confusing and conflicting, but after reviewing it, Adm. Royal E.
Ingersoll, deputy to Adm. Harold Stark, testified before the Hart inquiry to ques­
tions 68 and 69:

"'68. Q. During November or December, '41, were you cognizant of a special
code which the Japanese had arranged, under which they were to inform their
nationals concerning against what nations they would make aggressive movements,
by means of a partial weather report?

"'A. Yes; I do recall such messages.
"'69. Q. Do you recall having seen, on or about 4 December, the broadcast di­

rective, thus given, indicating that the Japanese were about to attack both Britain
and the United States?

"'A. Yes.'
"Adm. Ingersoll, deputy to Adm. Harold Stark at Washington, and Adm.

Turner, Navy operations officer at Washington, both stated they did not know un­
til 1945 about the allegation that there had been no wind execute message. Even
if the wind execute message they saw was a false one they believed it true at the
time and should have acted accordingly.

"If, however, the receipt of the activating 'winds' message be wholly discounted,
such discounting in no way affects the other items of unmistakable evidence which
demonstrate that high authorities in Washington had sufficient knowledge of Japa­
nese designs to convince them before the attack that war with Japan was an immi­
nent certainty."

28. Memorandum by William D. Mitchell, CR, Nov. 6, 1945, p. 10431.
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3. JCC, Ex. 37, p. 18; Kimmel, pp. 38-39; Tr., Vol. 42, p. 7923.
4. Hart Report, p. 423; Tr., Vol. 46, p. 8535.
5. ICC, Dec. 20, 1945.
6. Tr., Vol. 42, p. 7923.
7. Kimmel, p. 41; JCC, Ex. 37, p. 32.
8. JCC, Ex. 106.
9. Kimmel, p. 42; JCC, Ex. 37, p. 36.

10. Tr., Vol. 42, pp. 7927-28; ICC, Ex. 32, p. 7.
11. APH, pp. 27-28.
12. Ibid., p. 27.
13. Ibid.
14. Ibid.
15. Ibid., p. 28; Tr., pp. 4247, 4270.
16. APH, p. 27.
17. Ibid., p. 28; Tr., pp. 4251-52.
18. JCC, Dec. 11, 1945.
19. The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (p. 42) states:

"Two points in the message of Nov. 27 to Gen. Short deserve special consider­
ation. It informed him that 'the United States desires Japan to commit the first
overt act,' if hostilities cannot be avoided. And it also informed him that such
measures as he deemed necessary to adopt 'should be carried out so as not to alarm
the civil population or disclose intent.' A limitation on dissemination was to
'minimum essential officers.'

"As to 'overt act,' it is to be emphasized that an all-out alert for defense against
a possible or probable attack by an enemy is not an overt act of war. Nor did
the government of the United States regard it as such, for, on the basis of reports
respecting a probable Japanese attack, Gen. Marshall, on June 17, 1940, instructed
Gen. Herron, the commanding general in Hawaii, to order an all-out, full, war
alert and the armed forces were set in motion immediately and kept alerted for six
weeks (testimony Tr., Vol. 17, pp. 2775 ff.)."

Representative Keefe (Maj., p. 266-K) adds:
"The message sent to Gen. Short by Gen. Marshall on Nov. 27, 1941, shows

the other feature of the administration's plan of action-to make sure that the
Japanese would strike first so that the offensive by the fleet would be approved by
the American public."

20. APH, p. 28.
21. JCC, Dec. 31, 1945.
22. APH, p. 29.
23. Ibid.
24. Ibid.
25. Ibid., p. 54.
26. As to the psychology of this cautious attitude, Representative Keefe (Maj., pp.

266 M and N) observes:
"On Nov. 27, 1941, the information which Gen. Marshall had showed a far

more severe crisis in Japanese-American relations than existed in June of 1940. As
his letter to Gen. Herron shows, he felt that this all-out alert in Hawaii in 1940
may have discouraged the Japanese from attacking that area. Yet he did not repeat
on Nov. 27, 1941, his message of June 17, 1940, to Hawaii with its clear-cut order:
'Immediately alert complete defensive organization to deal with possible trans­
Pacific ,·aid.' He assigned as a reason for not doing so, the fact that in the message
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of Nov. 27, 1941, 'you had to include instructions of the President regarding overt
acts' (Tr., p. 3975).

"Mr. Stimson describes the preparation of the Army message of Nov. 27 to
Gen. Short as follows:

" '1£ there was to be war, moreover, we wanted the Japanese to commit the first
overt act. On the other hand, the matter of defense against an attack by Japan
was first consideration. In Hawaii because of the large numbers of Japanese inhab­
itants, it was felt desirable to issue a special warning so that nothing would be
done, unless necessary to defense, to alarm the civil population and thus possibly
precipitate an incident and give the Japanese an excuse to go to war and the chance
to say that we had committed the first overt act' (Stimson statement, pp. 21-22)....

"The same fear of publicity, alarm, or anything which might savor of a first
overt act by the United States, rather than by Japan, is reflected in the President's
message to High Commissioner Sayre in the Philippines on Nov. 26, 1941. After
describing the crisis in Japanese-American relations, the President directed Mr.
Sayre to impress upon the president of the Philippines 'the desirability of avoiding
public pronouncement or action since that might make the situation more difficult'
(Tr., pp. 13861-62)."

27. Tr., p. 7928. Representative Keefe in statement of additional views appended to
majority report of Joint Congressional Committee (p. 266-1) says:

"I have pointed out that during the critical period prior to the attack, the ad­
ministration in Washington made certain over-all policy decisions as to how to
deal with the Japanese crisis. One decision was that Japan should commit the first
overt act against the United States and thus resolve the dilemma in which the
administration's secret diplomacy had placed it. The other was to be in instant
readiness to strike at Japan to check her further aggression against the British and
Dutch in Far East Asia. Certainly the information and orders sent to Gen. Short
and Adm. Kimmel prior to the attack reflected the policy adopted in Washington.

"Gen. Short and Adm. Kimmel were not informed about the most important
diplomatic steps in 1941. They were not informed of the parallel action agreement
at the Atlantic conference or the warning to Japan which followed. They were
not informed of the significant terms of the American note to Japan of Nov. 26.
They were not informed of the commitment made to Great Britain, as set forth
in the Brooke-Popham telegram of Dec. 6. [See Chap. XIX.] They did not re­
ceive the vital intercepted Japanese messages or any condensation or summary of
them."

28. Tr., pp. 7928-29.
29. JCC, Ex. 32, p. 10.
30. Ibid., p. 12.
31. The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee states of the failure

of Washington officials to react to Gen. Short's message:
"The chief of the war plans division of the Army, Gen. Leonard T. Gerow,

saw Gen. Short's reply, noted, and initialed it (Ex. 46). Gen. Marshall saw Gen.
Short's reply, initiakd the document to which it was appended, and routed it to
the Secretary of War (Ex. 46) (Tr., Vol. 22, pp. 3722-23). The Secretary of War
saw, noted, and initialed Gen. Short's reply (Ex. 46)....

"To Gen. Short's response, the War Department made no answer whatever.
The President's commission on Pearl Harbor took note of this failure on the part
of the War Department and placed it among the contributory causes of the catas­
trophe. In their testimony before this committee, Gen. Marshall and Gen. Gerow
admitted that the failure to inform Gen. Short immediately as to the insufficiency
of his anti-sabotage alert was a mistake on their part and Gen. Marshall took full
responsibility upon himself for this failure (Tr., Vol. 19, pp. 3126 and 3164).
Reasonably conclusive evidence that the war warning messages which had been
sent to Gen. Short and Adm. Kimmel on Nov. 27 were insufficient to constitute a
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proper and adequate war warning is provided by Gen. Marshall's decision to send
another warning message to Gen. Short on the morning of Dec. 7, despite the in­
sistence of other high authorities in Washington that the previous messages were
sufficient..••

"The fact is that the War Department and Navy Department did not instruct
Gen. Short and Adm. Kimmel to put into effect an all-out war alert, and the War
Department was informed by Gen. Short that he had actually put into effect the
alert against sabotage. . . .

"The War Department failed to reply to Gen. Short's anti-sabotage report. It
failed to give him further instructions for a stronger alert. These failures, it is
reasonable to say, contributed heavily to the unpreparedness existing at Pearl Har­
bor when the Japanese struck.

"It could reasonably follow from this failure that the Army airplanes, instead
of being scattered, were bunched together wing to wing; ammunition, except that
near the fixed anti-aircraft guns, was in storehouses; anti-aircraft artillery and two
combat divisions were in their permanent quarters and not in combat positions....

"This was known to the War Department by Gen. Short's reply to the message
of Nov. 27, but the department took no action.

"The President's lack of power under the Constitution to meet the Japanese
menace by an attack without a declaration of war by Congress increased the re­
sponsibility of high authorities in Washington to use the utmost care in putting
the commanders at Pearl Harbor on a full alert for defensive actions before the
Japanese attack on Dec. 7, 1941. This they did not do."

32. Tr., pp. 7930-31.
33. Ibid., p. 7931.
34. JCC, Ex. 32, p. 13.
35. Tr., p. 8660.
36. JCC, Ex. 32, p. 17.
37. Tr., pp. 7993-94.
38. Ibid., p. 7969.
39. Ibid., p. 7994.
40. JCC, Ex. 37, p. 14.
41. JCC, Ex. 32, p. 19.
42. Tr., p. 7934.
43. JCC, Nov. 29, 1945.
44. Kimmel, pp. 42-44.
45. Hart inquiry, pp. 40-41.
46. Kimmel, pp. 44-47.
47. Tr., pp. 7935, 8656-57.
48. Kimmel, pp. 53, 55.
49. Ibid., p. 55.
SO. JCC, Ex. 78, p. 2.
51. Kimmel, p. 47.
52. Ihid., p. 48.
53. JCC, Ex. 80.
54. JCC, Dec. 21, 1945.
55. Kimmel, p. 49.
56. JCC, Jan. 21, 1946.
57. APH, p. 31.
58. Ihid.
59. R, Section IX.
60. APH, p. 32.
61. Ihid.
62. JCC, Dec. 8, 1945.
63. APH, p. 32.
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64. The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (pp. 33-34) comments:
"The fact that Gen. Marshall decided on the basis of the intercepts of Japanese

messages made available on or before 11 :25 o'clock on the morning of Dec. 7, to
send an urgent war warning to the outpost commanders is itself evidence that,
despite previous messages to outpost commanders, Washington authorities recog­
nized that their knowledge of these intercepts and their minute direction of affairs
placed an obligation on them to convey precise information to outpost commanders
and to make sure that they were on an all-out alert for war. Owing to inexcus­
able delays in Washington this final warning to Gen. Short did not reach him
until after the Japanese attack.

"Gen. Marshall failed to use the scrambler telephone on his desk to call Gen.
Short in Hawaii on Sunday morning, Dec. 7, nearly two hours before the attack,
and give him the same information which he sent in the delayed telegram which
reached Gen. Short after the attack. Gen. Marshall testified that among the possible
factors which may have influenced him against using the scrambler telephone was
the possibility that the Japanese could construe the fact that the Army was alerting
its garrisons in Hawaii as a hostile act (Tr., Vol. 20, pp. 3389-3390).

" 'The Japanese would have grasped at most any straw to bring to such portions
of our public that doubted our integrity of action that we were committing an act
that forced action on their part' (Tr., Vol. 19, p. 3193).

"This explanation is no excuse for the failure to put the Hawaiian commanders
on the full alert for defense. Such an alert could not be considered a hostile or
aggressive act on the part of the United States."

65. Tr., pp. 5676 and 8682.
66. APH, p. 32.
67. Tr., pp. 8529-30.

NOTES ON CHAPTER XVII: "KNOWN IMPENDING WAR"

1. APH, p. 36.
2. Kimmel, p. 54.
3. NCI, p. 66. '
4. Ibid., p. 70.
5. APH, p. 54.
6. NCI, p. 69. Representative Keefe states: "Despite the elaborate and labored argu­

ments in the [majority] report and despite the statements of high ranking military
and naval officers to the contrary, I must conclude that the intercepted messages
received and distributed in Washington on the afternoon and evening of Dec. 6
and the early hours of Dec. 7, pointed to an attack on Pearl Harbor" (Maj., p.
266-F).

7. The majority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (p. 47) concedes the
importance of -'Magic," stating, "This material not only indicated what Japan and
her ambassadors were saying but literally what they were thinking."

The minority report (pp. 20-21) said of this information:
"Through the Army and Navy intelligence services extensive information was

secured respecting Japanese war plans and designs, by intercepted and decoded
lapanese secret messages, which indicated the growing danger of war and increas­
ingly after Nov. 26 the imminence of a lapanese attack.

"With extraordinary skill, zeal, and watchfulness the intelligence services of
the Army Signal Corps and Navy office of naval communications broke Japanese
codes and intercepted messages between the Japanese government and its spies
and agents and ambassadors in all parts of the world and supplied the high au­
thorities in Washington reliable secret information respecting Japanese designs, de­
cisions, and operations at home, in the United States, and in other countries.
Although there were delays in the translations of many intercepts, the intelligence
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services had furnished to those high authorities a large number of Japanese mes­
sages which clearly indicated the growing resolve of the Japanese government on
war before Dec. 7, 1941.

"Incidentally, it was a matter of great imprudence for the State and War
Department to permit so large a number (200) of Japanese consular representatives
at so important a naval base as Hawaii. Much of the espionage involved in the
intercepts emanated from this consular group in Hawaii.

"Four volumes laid before the committee contain hundreds of these messages
-including in some cases comment and interpretations:

"(1) Pearl Harhor: Intercepted Diplomatic Messages. Ex. 1 (253 pp.);
"(2) Tapanese Messages Concerning Military Installations, Ship Movements, etc.

(of the United States) (mimeograph, Ex. 2); and
"(3) Army Pearl Harhor Board: Top Secret Testimony, Report and Official

Memoranda (mimeograph).
"(4) The Navy Court of Inquiry Top Secret Testimony and Report.
UNo person has any intellectual or moral right to pass judgment on the ques­

tion of responsibility for Pearl Harbor who has not read, compared, studied, and
interpreted all of these documents....

"There was abundant evidence in the intercepted messages that Japan intended
to attack the United States.

8. Kimmel, p. 78.
9. Ihid., pp. 78-9.

to. Ihid., pp. 79-80.
11. Ihid., p. 80.
12. Ihid., pp. 80-81.
13. Ibid., p. 81.
14. Ihid.
15. Ihid. The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (Conclusion 12,

pp. 36-38) states:
ItInasmuch as the knowledge respecting Tapanese designs and operations which

was in the possession of high authorities in Washington differed in nature and
tJolume from that in the possession of the Pearl Harhor commanders it was espe­
cially incumhent upon the former to formulate instructions to the latter in language
not open to misinterpretation as to the obligations imposed on the commanders hy
the instructions.

"Since Washington authorities knew that vital information in their possession
-diplomatic, military, and naval-was not being sent to Gen. Short and Adm.
Kimmel, and that this was because of Washington's own decision, it was obligatory
for them to give particular care to the formulation of messages to the commanders
which revealed the growing war tension, the menacing imminence of the breach
in American-Japanese relations, and the resolve of those high authorities to wait
for an attack, while still carrying on maneuvering.

"The increasing assumption of the detailed direction of affairs by high authori­
ties in Washington added to the obligation of those high authorities to give precise
instructions to the outpost commanders...•

"But it is beyond all question that Washington authorities had a large volume
of information, particularly as to vital diplomatic decisions and Japanese intentions
which was not transmitted to the Hawaiian commanders. This withholding of
information from Gen. Short and Adm. Kimmel was in part due to a general policy
adopted in Washington. . . .

"The exceptional practice of sending the substance in some messages was stopped
in July, 1941, and Gen. Miles testified that, so far as he knew, Gen. Short and
Adm. Kimmel were not notified of this change-this discontinuance of sending
even the substance of some intercepts (Tr., Vol. 13, pp. 2140-42)....

"From among the numerous items of crucial information in possession of Navy
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intelligence and Washington authorities and not transmitted to Gen. Short one
may be selected as particularly pertinent to Pearl Harbor. Through its intelligence
sources in the Fourteenth Naval District at Pearl Harbor and in Washington, the
Navy discovered the presence at Jaluit, in the Marshall Islands, of a Japanese fleet
composed of aircraft carriers and other vessels, but lost track of it about Dec. 1.
Jaluit is 1,500 miles nearer to Pearl Harbor than is the mainland of Japan. The
Japanese fleet there was a strong force capable of attacking Hawaii. Information
about this Japanese fleet was delivered to the War Department, but it was not
transmitted to Gen. Short. Gen. Short testified during the Army Board hearings
on Pearl Harbor that knowledge of the Japanese fleet at Jaluit would have mate­
rially modified his point of view and actions."

16. JCC, Ex. 15.
17. Kimmel, p. 34.
18. JCC, Ex. 52, p. 1.
19. Kimmel, pp. 36-38. The obligation of Roosevelt and his official circle to warn the

outpost commanders on the basis of information in their exclusive possession is
stated in the minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (Conclusion 10,
p. 30) as follows:

"The knowledge of Japanese designs and intentions in the hands of the Presi­
dent and the Secretary of State led them to the conclusion at least ten days before
Dec. 7 that an attack by Japan within a few days was so highly probable as to
constitute a certainty and, having reached this conclusion, the President, as Com­
mander-in-Chief of the Army and Navy, was under obligation to instruct the
Secretary of War and Secretary of the Navy to make sure that the outpost com­
manders put their armed forces on an all-out alert for war.

"Besides the knowledge of Japanese designs and operations which the President
and the Secretary of State acquired from their diplomatic negotiations with Japan,
they also had the knowledge of Japanese designs and operations made available to
them by the Army and Navy intelligence services. This additional knowledge could
only serve to fortify the conviction alfeady reached as early as Nov. 25, namely,
that a Japanese attack was near at hand, or, to use President Roosevelt's own words,
'we were likely to be attacked perhaps as soon as Monday' (Dec. 1)."

20. Kimmel, pp. 43, 54-55.
21. JCC, Ex. 2, p. 12.
22. Ibid., p. 13.
23. Ibid.
24. Ibid., p. 15.
25. Ihid., p. 14.
26. Ihid., p. 15.
27. Ibid.
28. JCC, Ex. 2.
29. Ibid., p. 29.
30. Ibid., p. 27.
31. The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (Conclusion 15, pp.

44-45) states:
liThe failure of Washington authorities to act promptly and consistently in

translating intercepts, evaluating information, and sending appropriate instructions
to the Hawaiian commanders was in considerahle measure due to delays, misman­
agement, nonco-operation, unpreparedness, confusion, and negligence on the part
of officers in Washington.

"The record before this committee is crowded with items of evidence which
sustain this conclusion.

"As to delays, take for example section B of Japanese Messages Concerning
l\lilitary Installations, Ship Movements, Etc. [Ex. 2]. Pages 16-29 give 'messages
translated after Dec. 7, 1941.' Here are messages exchanged by the Japanese gov-
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ernment and its agents which were intercepted by American intelligence services
before Dec. 7, but not translated until after Dec. 7. Special attention should be
drawn to the message from a Japanese agent in Honolulu to Tokyo on Dec. 6,
1941, listing the ships at anchor in Pearl Harbor on that day and reporting to
Tokyo: 'It appears that no air reconnaissance is being conducted by the fleet air
arm-t a fact with which high authorities in Washington were not acquainted,
if the testimony before this committee is accepted as accurate and comprehensive."

32. JCC, Feb. 13, 1946.
33. Ibid., Feb. 11, 1946; Ex. 2, p. 22.
34. Tr., pp. 8691-92.
35. Kimmel, pp. 84-85; Tr., pp. 6779-80.
36. JCC, Dec. 4, 1945.
37. Ibid., Jan. 19, 1946.
38. Tr., p. 7989. The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee says of

these intercepted spy messages:
"The probability that the Pacific fleet would be attacked at Pearl Harbor was

clear from the 'bomb plof available in Washington as early as Oct. 9, 1941, and
related Japanese messages.

"The 'bomb plot' message, and those messages relating to Pearl Harbor which
followed it, meant that the ships of the Pacific fleet in Pearl Harbor were marked
for a Japanese attack. No other American harbor was divided into sub-areas by
Japan. And no other American harbor had such a large share of the fleet to pro­
tect.

"In no other area did Japan seek information as to whether two or more ves­
sels were alongside the same wharf. Prior to the 'bomb plof message Japanese
espionage in Hawaii was directed to ascertain the general whereabouts of the
American fleet, whether at sea or in port. With the 'bomb plof message Japan
inaugurated a new policy directed to Pearl Harbor and to no other place, in which
information was no longer sought merely as to the general whereabouts of the
fleet, but as to the presence of particular ships in particular areas of the harbor.
In the period immediately preceding the attack Japan required such reports even
when there was no movement of ships in and out of Pearl Harbor. The reports
which Japan thus sought and received had a useful purpose only in planning and
executing an attack upon the ships in port. These reports were not just the work
of enthusiastic local spies gathering meticulous details in an excess of zeal. They
were the product of instructions emanating from the government of Japan in
Tokyo. Officers of the high command in Washington have admitted before us that
the 'bomb plot' message, if correctly evaluated, meant an attack on ships of the
Pacific fleet in Pearl Harbor (Tr., Vol. 18, p. 3026; Vol. 23, p. 4014; Vol. 27, p.
4874; Vol. 12, p. 2100-2102; Vol. 59, p. 11313-11314; Vol. 35, p. 6390, 6394;
Vol. 30, p. 5378)....

"Military intelligence through Col. Bratton delivered the 'bomb plot' message
to the Secretary of War, the chief of staff, and the chief of the war plans division
(Tr., Vol. 62, p. 12083). The message was discussed several times by Col. Bratton,
chief of the Far Eastern section, military intelligence division, War Department
general staff, with his opposite numbers in the Navy Department (Tr., Vol. 62, p.
12105). They discussed possible significance of the message, as indicating a plan
for an air attack on ships in Pearl Harbor (Tr., Vol. 62, p. 12105). In the course
of these discussions officers in naval intelligence stated that the Japanese were wast­
ing their time in getting such meticulous detail about the location of ships in Pearl
Harbor because the fleet would not be in Pearl Harbor when the emergency arose.

"Simple reason in evaluating these bomb plot messages should have discovered
their significance.

"I. Such meticulous detail was not needed to enable Japan to keep
track of the American Beet for general purposes.
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"2. The messages were sent to Tokyo obviously for use originating from
there-air or sea attack.

"3. The messages couldn't be for sabotage. Sabotage is an on-the-spot
affair. Saboteurs have to be in Hawaii. They get their information direct
by local observation. Therefore, they needed no bomb plot.

"4. The only purpose could be for air attack, submarine attack, direct
invasion-all external operations.

"5. Had Washington so evaluated this bomb plot, it could have seen
this significance and warned the commanders at Hawaii. Washington au­
thorities failed to do so or if they did in fact evaluate it, they failed to
pass the information on to the Hawaiian commanders.

"The commander of a fleet (in this case Adm. Kimmel) has custody of the
fleet; he is at all times materially interested in its safety. The commander of a
naval base (in this case Gen. Short) has the duty of protecting the fleet when it
is at his base. Any information showing specific hostile interest in that fleet or in
the harbor where the fleet is anchored is basic information for the commander of
the fleet and the commander of the naval base.

"In Washington, long prior to Dec. 7, 1941, Army and Navy intelligence offi­
cers, the chief of naval operations, the Army chief of staff, and other high author­
ities gained vital information (the bomb-plot messages) from intercepted Japanese
communications affecting the fleet and the defense of the naval base at Hawaii.
They gained it from sources of information not available to Adm. Kimmel and
Gen. Short.

"In these circumstances, it was the express duty of the Washington authorities
to pass this information in its original form on to Adm. Kimmel and Gen. Short.
The information was of such a specific character and so direcdy related. to the
fleet and naval base that Washington authorities were not justified in keeping it
to themselves or in evaluating it in any manner which would dilute or generalize
the significance of the messages in their original form. Washington authorities
failed in this, a prime responsibility in their relations with the outpost commanders.

"In the days immediately preceding Pearl Harbor, Japan made no effort to
conceal the movements or presence of her naval forces in South East Asia (Tr.,
Vol. 3, p. 453). The movements of her troops in Indo-China at that time were the
subject of diplomatic exchanges between the United States and Japan (Foreign
Relations of the United States, Japan, 1931-41, II, p. 779). Yet the intercepts
showed that some Japanese plan went into effect automatically on Nov. 29, from
which Japan hoped to divert American suspicion by a pretext of continued negotia­
tions. The Pearl Harbor 'bomb plot' messages gave some hint of what might
follow 'automatically.'

"Only the President and his top advisers in Washington had this information."
The majority report (p. 190) contains the following remarks:
"It cannot be forgotten that a surprise attack by air on Pearl Harbor had been

listed and understood, both in Washington and Hawaii, as the greatest danger to
that base. We must assume that military men realized that in order to execute
successfully such an attack the Japanese would necessarily need detailed informa­
tion as to dispositions at the point of attack. It would seem to be a natural conse­
quence that if Japan undertook an attack on Pearl Harbor she would seek to
acquire such detailed information and in point of time as nearly as possible to
the hour of such attempt.

"We are unable to conclude that the berthing plan and related dispatches
pointed direcdy to an attack on Pearl Harbor, nor are we able to conclude that
the plan was a 'bomb plot' in view of the evidence indicating it was not such.
We are of the opinion, however, that the berthing plan and related dispatches
should have received careful consideration and created a serious question as to
their significance. Since they indicated a particular interest in the Pacific fleet's
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base this intelligence should have been appreciated and supplied the commander
in chief of the Pacific fleet and the commanding general of the Hawaiian Depart­
ment for their assistance, along with other information and intelligence available
to them, in making their estimate of the situation."

Representative Keefe observes (Maj., p. 266-£):
"The reports which Japan thus sought and received had a useful purpose only

in planning and executing an attack upon the ships in port. Those reports were
not just the work of enthusiastic local spies gathering meticulous details in an
excess of zeal. They were the product of instructions emanating from the gov­
ernment of Japan in Tokyo. Officers of the high command in Washington have
admitted before us that this message, if correcdy evaluated, meant an attack on
ships of the Pacific fleet in Pearl Harbor (Tr., pp. 3036, 4014; 4874; 2100-2102;
11313-14; 6390, 6394; 5378)."

39. APH, p. 6. The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (Conclusion
8, p. 27) says relevant of this consideration:

"ludging hy the military and naval history of lapan, high authorities in Wash­
ington and the commanders in Hawaii had good grounds for expecting that in
starting war the lapanese government would make a surprise attack on the United
States.

"There is no evidence in the record before the committee that President Roose­
velt, Secretary Hull, Secretary Stimson, and/or Secretary Knox expected at any
time prior to Dec. 7 a formal declaration of war on the United States by Japan in
case the diplomatic negotiations came to a break. Indeed, all the evidence bearing
on expectations in Washington as to Japan's probable methods of making war
point to the belief of the administration that Japan would begin with a surprise
attack.

"For example, Secretary Hull on Nov. 25 and Nov. 28 at a meeting of 'high
officials,' when he stated that the matter of safeguarding our national security was
in the hands of the Army and Navy, 'expressed his judgment that any plans for
our military defense would include the assumption that the Japanese might make
the element of surprise a central point in their strategy, and also might attack at
various points simultaneously with a view to demoralizing efforts of defense and
of coordination for purposes thereof' (Peace and War, p. 144).

"Speaking to Ambassador Halifax on Nov. 29, Secretary Hull said that it would
be a-
" 'serious mistake ... to make plans of resistance without including the possibility
that Japan may move suddenly and with every possible element of surprise . . .
that the Japanese recognize that their course of unlimited conquest . . . is a
desperate gamble and requires the utmost boldness and risk' (Peace and War, pp.
144-45).

"Ambassador Grew reported to Hull on Nov. 3-
II 'Japan may resort with dangerous and dramatic suddenness to measures which

might make inevitable war with the United States' (Peace and War, p. 775)."
40. Testimony by Adm. Kimmel before Roberts Commission, supplied to JCC Dec. 31,

1945.
41. JCC, Dec. 18, 1945.
42. Testimony by Gen. Short before Roberts commission, supplied to JCC Dec. 31,

1945.
43. Kimmel, pp. 101, 104.
44. Tr., p. 8706.
45. Tr., pp. 7965-66.
46. Tr., p. 3713.
47. Tr., pp. 1420-22.
48. Tr., pp. 2726-29.
49. Tr., pp. 3727-28.
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50. Tr., p. 8007. Representative Keefe in his statement added to the majority report
(pp. 266-L and M) remarks:

"Subsequently, in the same examination (printed record pp. 1422-1423) Gen.
Marshall stated that Gen. Gerow had a direct responsibility in this matter and that
he had full responsibility as chief of staff. Gen. Marshall was very fair. He ad­
mitted that a tragic mistake had been made, and while it was the direct responsi­
bility of Gen. Gerow, chief of war plans, to have 'caught' Gen. Short's reply and
to have immediately advised his chief of staff, yet Gen. Marshall as chief of staff
did assume over-all responsibility for failure of the Washington headquarters to
interpret and evaluate Gen. Short's reply and to see to it that he was on an all­
out alert in accordance with the command directive issued in the message from
Marshall to Short on Nov. 27. The Secretary of War saw, noted and initialed Gen.
Short's reply (Ex. 46). It was the responsibility of Gen. Marshall to see that Gen.
Short was properly alerted (Tr., p. 3723). Gen. Short, after being ordered to re­
port his state of readiness to Gen. Marshall, was entitled to assume that his state
of readiness was satisfactory to the chief of staff unless he heard to the contrary
(Tr., p. 3443). Neither Gen. Marshall, Gen. Gerow, nor Secretary of War Stimson
made any criticism or suggestion to Gen. Short about the condition of his alert in
Hawaii in the ten-day period prior to the attack. Because of their silence Gen.
Short was led to believe that the chief of staff approved his alert against sabotage.
I believe that Secretary Stimson, and Generals Marshall and Gerow, understood the
nature of his alert which was plainly indicated in the reply itself. I further be­
lieved they were satisfied with Gen. Short's alert until the blow fell on Hawaii."

51. Tr., p. 7953.
52. Tr., p. 2888.
53. JCC, Ex. 53, pp. 1-3.
54. Tr., pp. 7996-98.
55. Tr., pp. 8539-42.
56. Tr., pp. 8542-44.

NOTES ON CHAPTER XVIII: THE LIGHT THAT FAILED

1. FM 100-5, dated May 22, 1941, p. 40.
2. Tr., p. 7981.
3. JCC, Nov. 29, 1945.
4. Tr., p. 7985.
5. ICC, Jan. 24, 1946.
6. Ibid., Nov. 29, 1945. The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee

(Conclusion 7, pp. 26-27) says:
"Army and Navy information which indicated growing imminence of war was

delivered to the highest authorities in charge of national preparedness for meeting
an attack, among others, the President, the Secretaries of State, War, and Navy,
and the chief of staff and the chief of naval operations.

"The 'Magic' intelligence was regarded as preeminently confidential and the
policy with respect to its restricted distribution was dictated by a desire to safe­
guard the secret that the Japanese diplomatic codes were being broken. Delivery
of the English texts of the intercepted messages was limited, within the War De­
partment, to the Secretary of War, the chief of staff, the chief of the war plans
division, and the chief of the military intelligence division; within the Navy, to
the Secretary of the Navy, the chief of naval operations, the chief of the war plans
division, and the director of naval intelligence; to the State Department; and to
the President's naval aide for transmittal to the President. By agreement between
the Army and Navy in Washington, the Army was responsible for distribution of
'Magic' within the War Department and to the State Department; the Navy for
distribution within the Navy Department and to the White House.
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"The President requested the original raw messages in English, examining

them personally, and on Dec. 6 had his naval aide on special night duty to receive
and deliver them to him.

"The dissemination of 'Magic' materials did not include the commanders at
Hawaii, but on a few occasions material derived therefrom was dispatched by the
Navy Department to Adm. Kimmel. The War Department did not send the
'Magic' to the field. A large amount of other intelligence obtained from various
sources within and without the country was not sent to either of the commanders
in Hawaii."

7. JCC, Feb. 8, 1946.
8. Tr., pp. 2091-92.
9. APH, p. 32.

10. JCC, Nov. 29, 1945.
11. Ibid., Nov. 30.
12. Ibid., Jan. 29, 1946.
13. Ibid.
14. The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (pp. 59, 62, 63) states:

"Evidence set forth in this report in detail is ample to show that in the period
approximately from May, 1940, to Dec. 7, 1941, the high authorities at Washing­
ton assumed so much of the direction of affairs at Hawaii as to remove many of
the basic responsibilities from the commanders in the field. The resul t was to re­
duce the discretion of the commanders in the field by those things which they
were ordered to do by directions from Washington and not to do certain things
unless they were so ordered from Washington. Another result of this practice was
to lull the commanders in the field into awaiting instructions from Washington.

"Being charged with the responsibility attaching to the highest command in
Washington and having taken so much of the responsibility and direction of affairs
away from the commanders in the field, the high authorities in Washington them­
selves failed in the performance of their responsibilities, as the evidence in the
conclusions of this report clearly shows....

"High Washington authorities took over so much of the detailed direction of
affairs respecting operations of the Pacific fleet and of the Hawaiian naval base as
to limit narrowly the discretion and freedom allowed to the Hawaiian commanders.
Having thus weakened the individual obligations of the Hawaiian commanders
and having failed correspondingly to provide them with clear and adequate orders,
high Washington authorities reduced the responsibility of the Hawaiian commanders
in the defense of Pearl Harbor. . • •

"Having assumed so much of the detailed direction of affairs relating to Ha­
waiian defense, Washington authorities had the obligation to correct all wrongful
decisions at Hawaii which had been made in response to Washington orders. A
crucial decision of this kind was made by Gen. Short when he alerted his com­
mand only against sabotage in response to orders in the message of Nov. 27, 1941.
With superior knowledge of impending danger and having the immediate obliga­
tion to correct Gen. Short's error of judgment, Washington authorities, particularly
Gen. George C. Marshall and Gen. Leonard T. Gerow, did not do so but permitted
Gen. Short to ~ssume that he had done all that had been required of him. This
error, as later proved, left the defenses at Hawaii particularly vulnerable to external
attack."

15. JCC, Jan. 29, 1946.
16. Cramer report of Nov. 25, 1944: JCC, Dec. 12, 1945.
17. Tr., pp. 8000-8001.
18. APH, p. 56.
19. Tr., pp. 8585-87.
20. Peace, p. 136.
21. How War Came, p. 303.
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22. The minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (pp. 15-16) points out
that, once having taken the decision to abandon a modus vivendi and to submit
to Japan conditions which were known to be inacceptable, it was more than ever
incumbent upon high authorities in Washington to put into effect an all-out war
alert:

"On Nov. 26, 1941, Secretary Hull, with the approval of President Rooseve1 t,
rejected the Japanese proposal of Nov. 20 for a temporary agreement, sometimes
called a modus vivendi, and presented to Japan his memorandum of that date.
The secretary recognized, and said, that there was then 'practically no possibility
of an agreement being achieved with Japan.' Having reached this conclusion, the
secretary, according to his account of what happened, declared on Nov. 25 and
on Nov. 28, at meetings of high officials of this government, 'that the matter of
safeguarding our national security was in the hands' of the Army and Navy' (Peace
and War, 1943, p. 144). This was presumptively a warning to the War Depart­
ment and the Navy Department to make ready for war. Accepting it as such the
two departments sent to Gen. Short and Adm. Kimmel messages which, the de­
partments claimed, ordered the commanders to put into effect a due alert for war
-a possible Japanese attack.

"The President, the Secretary of State, the Secretary of War, and the Secretary
of the Navy were, therefore, certainly bound by the duties of their respective offices
to be on the alert day and night after Nov. 26, 1941, for the receipt of any word
or message from Japan and for the receipt of any intercepts or other information
respecting Japanese designs and intentions that were indicative of a breach of re­
lations and war. They were also bound by their duties to alert and to keep on
the alert for sudden attack their immediate subordinates and the outpost com­
manders having duties in connection with war operations."

23. JCC, Feb. 15, 1946.
24. Ibid., April 9, 1946.
25. Ibid., May 31, 1946.
26. John T. Flynn, "The Final Secret of Pearl Harbor," p. 9.
27. JCC, April 9, 1946.
28. Ibid., Dec. 11, 1945.
29. Representative Keefe inquires (Maj., pp. 266 H and G):

"Why did the high command in Washington fail to disclose promptly to Adnl.
Kimmel, Gen. Short, and other American commanders in the field the information
available in Washington, Saturday night and early Sunday morning? In seeking
the answer to this question we have encountered failures of memory and changes
in sworn testimony....

"Gen. Marshall, chief of staff of the Army, had the 'pilot message' available
to him on the afternoon of Saturday, Dec. 6. This placed on him an obligation to
make sure he would promptly receive the subsequent information which the pilot
message indicated would be soon forthcoming. He did not do so. In placing
himself outside of effective contact with his subordinates for several hours on Sun­
day morning, he failed to exercise the care and diligence which his position re­
quired.

"The alleged failure of the chief subordinates of Adm. Stark and Gen. Marshall
to furnish them promptly with the intercepted messages on Saturday night was
unusual for two reasons. First, it was a departure from the usual routine for the
distribution of intercepts. Second, these two were the only usual recipients of
intercepts who testified that the messages were not brought to their attention on
Saturday night. Neither Adm. Stark nor Gen. Marshall made any effort thereafter
to ascertain why such a colossal breakdown should occur in the functioning of
their staffs on the eve of war" (Tr., pp. 3490-91, 6215).

30. APH, p. 52.
31. NYT, Oct. 11, 1945, 1:7.
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32. APH, p. 53.
33. Ibid., p. 36. One of the remarkable features of the Pearl Harbor story is that, al­

most without exception, those who played the administration's side in the contro­
versy prospered, while everyone who showed a less accommodating spirit failed to
win promotion and pay.

Adm. Standley, member of the Roberts Commission, was decorated with the
distinguished service medal by President Roosevelt after signing the report against
Kimmel and Short. Later he was appointed ambassador to Russia.

Adm. Reeves, a member of the Roberts Commission, was retired as a rear
admiral in 1936. Five and one-half years later, and five months after signing the
report, he was advanced to admiral for "eminent and conspicuous service in the
Spanish-American war." Mr. Roosevelt discovered his heroic contributions forty­
four years after they were made.

Gen. McCoy, a member of the Roberts Commission, subsequently was appointed
chairman of the Far Eastern advisory commission.

Col. McNarney, a member of the commission, was shortly promoted to lieuten­
ant general. After serving as chairman of the War Department reorganization
committee in 1942, he was appointed Assistant Chief of Staff to General Marshall.
At the end of the war he had been promoted four grades and installed as Com­
manding General of American Occupation Forces in Germany.

When a new classification of five-star generals of the Army was devised, Chief
of Staff Marshall headed the list.

When five-star admirals of the fleet were created at the same time, Adm. King,
who blamed the American people for Pearl Harbor, became one of'them.

Adm. Ingersoll, deputy to Adm. Stark in naval operations, later was appointed
commander of the Western Sea Frontier.

. Col. Clarke, who carried the Marshall message to Gov. Dewey, was promoted
to Brigadier General.

Adm. Stark, after serving as chief of naval operations, was given an assignment
as commander of United States Naval Forces in Europe and was decorated with
his second distinguished service medal by Roosevelt.

Gen. Gerow, who was castigated in three different Pearl Harbor reports for his
conduct of the war plans division of the War Department, was, nevertheless, pro­
moted from Brigadier General to Lieutenant General, placed in command of the
15th Army in Europe, and, at the end of the war, appointed Commandant of the
Command and General Staff School at Fort Leavenworth.

Roosevelt, of course, got a fourth term.
Secretary of State Hull, whose diplomacy hurried the country into war, re­

ceived the most ironic award. The Nobel Peace Prize and the large cash award
that goes with it were conferred upon him in 1945.

Cols. Bratton and Sadtler and Capt. Safford, in comparison with these gentle-
men, did not get ahead in the world.

34. JCC, Dec. 17, 1945.
35. Ibid., Jan. 19, 1946.
36. Ibid., Jan. 29, 1946.
37. Ibid., Feb. 5, 1946.
38. Tr., pp. 6223, 6245.
39. JCC, Feb. 14, 1946.
40. APH, p. 6.
41. Min., p. 27.
42. JCC, Feb. 6, 1946.
43. APH, p. 6.
44. Tr., Vol. 69, p. 13988.
45. Ibid., p. 13989.
46. Maj., p. 266-J.



400 PEARL HARBOR

47. JCC, April 11, 1946.
48. Ibid.
49. JCC, Feb. 14, 1946.
50. Ibid., Dec. 17, 1945.
51. Ibid., Jan. 30, 1946.
52. Cramer report submitted to JCC Dec. 12, 1945.
53. Tr., p. 6223.
54. JCC, Feb. 6, 1946.
55. See CT, Nov. 7, 1945,1:7; Nov. 9,1945,11:3; Nov. 15, 1945, 1:1. Capt. Kramer

for almost a month before the opening of the congressional investigation was con­
fined in the neuropsychiatric ward at the naval hospital at Bethesda, Md. Repre­
sentatives Keefe and Gearhart, members of the committee, asserted on the floor of
the House that he been "badgered and grilled" into a nervous breakdown by high
Navy officers who sought to make him change his testimony about events in Wash­
ington preceding the Pearl Harbor attack. Kramer was retired by the Navy shortly
after the end of regular daily hearings by the congressional committee.

56. The shilly-shallying in Washington on the morning of December 7 is emphasized
in the minority report of the Joint Congressional Committee (p. 35):

"In the early morning of Dec. 7, 1941, about 5:00 A.M. Washington time, the
message fixing the hour for delivery of the Japanese note as 1:00 P.M., Washington
time, was available in the Navy Department in Washington (Tr., Vol. 56, pp.
10694-10701). This was 8Y2 hours before the attack on Pearl Harbor. Adm.
Stark and his principal subordinates have testified before us that they had knowledge
of this message about 10:30 A.M. (Tr., Vol. 26, p. 4675; Vol. 49, pp. 9146-48;
Vol. 55, p. 10469). This was 5Y2 hours after it had been received in the Navy
Department. It was about 3 hours before the attack.

"The relation of 1:00 P.M. Washington time to early morning in Hawaii was
pointed out to Adm. Stark (Tr., Vol. 49, pp. 9146-48, 9154-56, 9236-54; Vol. 26,
pp. 4679, 4685). It meant dawn in Hawaii-the strategic time at which to launch
an attack. Adm. Stark was urged by the director of Naval intelligence to send a
warning to the fleet (Tr., Vol. 26, p. 4673). The chief intelligence officers of the
Army had the '1 :00 P.M. message' by 9:00 A.M. Washington time, immediately
appreciated its significance, but did not succeed in bringing it to Gen. Marshall's
attention until nearly several hours later (Tr., Vol. 62, pp. 12077-78, 12079-81).
Marshall was horseback riding in Virginia. No action was taken by the Army un­
til he saw and read the 1:00 P.M. message and related intercepts, at which time he
sent a message to Gen. Short which went over commercial facilities and was re­
ceived after the Pearl Harbor attack (Tr., Vol. 18, pp. 2935-39, Vol. 45, p. 8396).
Adm. Stark took no action on this information except to agree to the inclusion in
the belated Army message of instructions to Gen. Short to advise Adm. Kimmel
of its contents (Tr., Vol. 32, pp. 5814-16).

"Mr. Hull, Mr. Stimson, and Mr. Knox had the 1:00 P.M. message at their
conference about 10:30 A.M. Washington time, Dec. 7 (Tr., Vol. 55, p. 10473).
The relation of Washington time to time in Hawaii and the Philippines was
brought to their attention (Tr., Vol. 55, pp. 10473-75)."

57. Tr., p. 7943.
58. Ibid., pp. 7943-44.
59. APH, p. 32. The assertion that Gen. Marshall warned the Philippines by scrambler

telephone was made by Gen. Short before the Roberts Commission (R., p. 310).
It was accepted by the Army Pearl Harbor Board. The majority report of the
congressional committee (p. 225) says that Marshall considered calling Gen. Mac­
Arthur, but did not use the phone at all.

60. Ibid.
61. Tr., pp. 8523-27.
62. Tr., p. 8530.
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63. JCC, Dec. 10, 1945.
64. APH, p. 27.
65. Tr., pp. 7949-50.
66. JCC, Dec. 10, 1945.
67. Tr., pp. 8680-84.
68. Ibid., pp. 8682-83.
69. Ibid., pp. 8685-89. Of the manifest failures in Washington, the minority report of

the Joint Congressional Committee (pp. 62-65) observes:
"High Washington authorities did not communicate to Adm. Kimmel and

Gen. Short adequate information of diplomatic negotiations and of intercepted
diplomatic intelligence which, if communicated to them, would have informed
them of the imminent menace of a Japanese attack in time for them to fully alert
and prepare the defense .of Pearl Harbor. . . .

"In the critical hours from -the afternoon of Dec. 6 to 10:30 A.M. on Dec. 7,
Washington authorities failed to take the instant action called for by their special
knowledge of Japanese messages on those days, which would have placed the
Hawaiian commanders on the specific alert for probable danger to Hawaii. . . •

"In extenuation of failures on the part of high authorities in Washington two
statements were often made by witnesses who appeared before the committee. First,
it is easy to see now the mistakes and failures made by high authorities but this
is merely 'hindsight.' Second, those high authorities were busy men carrying heavy
burdens in their respective offices-burdens so heavy that many failures on their
part must be excused.

"Undoubtedly, hindsight is often easier and better than foresight. But the ex­
ercise of prudence and foresight with reference to knowledge in his possession is
a bounden duty imposed on every high authority in the government of the United
States by the powers and obligations of his office. For every failure to exercise
prudence and foresight with reference to knowledge in his possession he must bear
a corresponding burden of responsibility for the consequences that flow from that·
fail ure. By virtue of his office he is presumed to have special competence and
knowledge; to act upon his special knowledge, and to be informed and alert in
the discharge of his duties in the situation before him.

"The introduction of hindsight in extenuation of responsibility is, therefore,
irrelevant to the determination of responsibility for the catastrophe at Pearl Harbor.

"The question before this committee is: What did high authorities in Washing­
ton know about Japanese designs and intentions; what decisions did they make on
the basis of their knowledge; and what actions did they take to safeguard the
security of the American outposts?

"With regard to Gen. Marshall and Adm. Stark, they were certainly carrying
heavy burdens in preparing the armed forces of the United States for war; in" mak­
ing war plans; in building up an Army and Navy (which they knew were not yet
ready for war), and in struggling for a postponement of the war until the Army
and Navy were better prepared to cope with the foe. With regard to the President,
the Secretary of State, the Secretary of War, and the Secretary of the Navy, it may
be said justly that they were carrying heavy burdens also. But all these officials,
as Secretary Stimson's diary demonstrates, spent many days before Dec. 7 in gen­
eral discussions which led to no decisions. This they did at a time when they
possessed special knowledge of Japanese designs and were acquainted with their
own intentions and resolves and certainly had the leisure to do the one obvious
duty dictated by common sense--:-that is, draw up a brief plan for telling the
outpost commanders just what to do in a certain contingency on receipt of orders
from Washington.

"That contingency was a Japanese attack on American possessions somewhere.
Secretary Stimson records that 'the question (during those days) was how we (the
President, Secretary Hull, Secretary Stimson, Secretary Knox, Gen. Marshall, and
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Adm. Stark) should maneuver them (the Japanese) into the position of firing the
first shot without allowing too much damage to ourselves.' In any event, inasmuch
as the President decided against appealing to Congress for a declaration of war on
Japan, they were all waiting for the Japanese to fire the first shot,· and in those
circumstances it was their duty to prepare definite plans and procedures for action
in meeting that attack.

"This is exactly what they did not do at any time before Dec. 7. They had
plans for action or actions by the armed forces of the United States if Congress
declared war or if by some process the United States got into or entered the war.
War plans (for example, Rainbow No.5 which was WPL 46) were to go into
operation only after war had begun and were not intended for preparation in
meeting a surprise attack.

"They prepared no plan giving the outpost commanders instructions about the
measures they were to take in preparing for. and meeting a Japanese attack on
American possessions when and if it came. This plan could have been drawn up
in a few hours at most and set down in two or three typewritten pages at most.
With modifications appropriate to the various outposts this plan could have been
sent to the respective commanders by couriers or swifter means of communication.
And a procedure could have been adopted for instructing the commanders by one
word in code, or a few words, to put plans for meeting Japanese attack into effect.
No such plan was drawn up or at all events no such plan was sent to the com­
manders. No procedure for giving them the code word or words for action under
any plan or procedure was ever adopted by the authorities in Washington whose
official duty it was to prepare, with all the resources at their command, for meet­
ing the Japanese attack which they privately recognized as an imminent menace."
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1. JCC, Ex. 16-A.
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standing their apparent ignorance of the full meaning of Japanese movements in
the Southeastern Pacific, Washington authorities knew or should have known from
their understandings of parallel action with the British and Dutch, that a Japanese
attack on the Philippines, Thai, or the Kra Peninsula meant war with America."
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39. Ibid., p. 56.
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41. Maj., p. 397. The proposed message consisted of some twenty typewritten pages,

excerpts from which follow:
"GENTLEMEN OF THE CONGRESS: I have come before you to report to you on

serious danger which is threatening this country and its interests in the Far East.
Relations between the United States and the Japanese empire have reached a stage
where I consider it incumbent upon me to lay before you the essential facts of the
situation and their extremely serious implications."

It said of Japanese movements:

"Today they are openly threatening an extension of this conquest into the
territory of Thailand. That step, if taken, would place them where they would
directly menace, to the north, the Burma Road, China's lifeline, and, to the south,
the port and Straits of Singapore through which gateway runs the commerce of
the world, including our own, between the Pacific and the Indian Ocean.

"To the eastward of the Philippines, Japan has extended her threatening activi­
ties through the Caroline and Marshall Islands where, in violation of the mandate
under which she received the custody of those islands, she has been secretly estab­
lishing naval and air bases and fortifications directly on the line between the United
States and the Philippines.

"By these steps Japan has enveloped with threatening forces the western, north­
ern, and eastern approaches to the Philippines. Should this process go further, it
will completely encircle and dangerously menace vital interests of the United
States...•

"This situation, precipitated solely by Japanese aggression, holds unmistakable
threats to our interests, especially our interest in peace and in peaceful trade, and
to our responsibility for the security of the Philippine Archipelago. The successful
defense of the United States, in a military sense, is dependent upon supplies of vital
materials which we import in large quantities from this region of the world. To
permit Japanese domination and control of the major sources of world supplies of
tin and rubber and tungsten would jeopardize our safety in a manner and to an
extent that cannot be tolerated. Along with this would go practical Japanese con­
trol of the Pacific.

"Unless the present course of events in the Far East is halted and considerations
of justice, humanity, and fair dealing are restored, we will witness in that region
of the world precisely what has already transpired throughout the continental
limits of Europe where Hitler seeks dominion by ruthless force....

"If the Japanese should carry out their new threatened attacks upon, and were
to succeed in conquering, the regions which they are menacing in the southwestern
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Pacific, our commerce with the Netherlands East Indies and Malaya would be at
their mercy and probably cut off. Our imports from those regions are of vital
importance to us. We need those imports in time of peace. With the spirit of
exploitation and destruction of commerce which prevails among the partners in
the axis alliance, and with our needs what they are now in this period of emer­
gency, an interruption of our trade with that area would be catastrophic."

The message concluded with an expression of confidence that "it is within our
capacity to withstand any attack which anyone may make upon us ..." (ICC,
Ex. 19).
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NOTES ON CHAPTER XX: WHO WAS GUILTY?

1. APH, p. 56. The board said:
"The extent of the Pearl Harbor disaster was due primarily to two causes:
"1. The failure of the Commanding General of the Hawaiian Department ade­

quately to alert his command for war, and
"2. The failure of the War Department, with knowledge of the type of alert

taken by the Commanding General, Hawaiian Department, to direct him to take
an adequate alert, and the failure to keep him adequately informed as to the de­
velopments of the United States-Japanese negotiations, which in turn might have
caused him to change from the inadequate alert to an adequate one.

"We turn now to responsibilities:
"1. The Secretary of State-the Honorable Cordell Hull. The action of the

Secretary of State in delivering the counter-proposals of November 26, 1941, was
used by the Japanese as the signal to begin the war by the attack on Pearl Harbor.
To the extent that it hastened such attack it was in conflict with the efforts of the
War and Navy departments to gain time for preparations for war. However, war
with Japan was inevitable and imminent because of irreconcilable disagreements
between the Japanese empire and the American government.

"2. The Chief of Staff of the Army, General George C. Marshall, failed in his
relations with the Hawaiian Department in the following particulars:

"(a) To keep the Commanding General of the Hawaiian Department fully
advised of the growing tenseness of the Japanese situation which indicated an in­
creasing necessity for better preparation for war, of which information he had an
abundance and Short had titde.

"(b) To send additional instructions to the Commanding General of the Ha­
waiian Department on Nov. 28, 1941, when evidendy he failed to realize the im­
port of General Short's reply of Nov. 27, which indicated clearly that General
Short had misunderstood and misconstrued the message of Nov. 27 (472) and had
not adequately alerted his command for war.

"(c) To get to General Short on the evening of Dec. 6 and the early morning
of Dec. 7, the critical information indicating an almost immediate break with
Japan, though there was ample time to have accomplished this.

"(d) To investigate and determine the state of readiness of the Hawaiian Com­
mand between Nov. 27 and Dec. 7, 1941, despite the impending threat of war.

"3. Chief of the War Plans Division, War Department General Staff, Major
General Leonard T. Gerow, failed in his duties, in the following particulars:

"(a) To keep the Commanding General, Hawaiian Department, adequately in­
formed on the impending war situation by making available to him the substance
of the data being delivered to the War Plans Division by the Assistant Chief of
Staff, G-2.

"(b) To send to the Commanding General of the Hawaiian Department on
November 27, 1941, a clear, concise directive; on the contrary he approved the
message of November 27, 1941, (472) which contained confusing statements.

"(c) To realize that the state of readiness reported in Short's reply to the
November 27th message was not a state of readiness for war, and he failed to take
corrective action.

U(d) To take the required steps to implement the existing joint plans and
agreements between the Army and Navy to insure the functioning of the two
services in the manner contemplated.

"4. Commanding General of the Hawaiian Department, Lieut. Gen. Walter C.
Short, failed in his duties in the following particulars:

"(a) To place his command in a state of readiness for war in the face of a
war warning by adopting an alert against sabotage only. The information which
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he had was incomplete and confusing but it was sufficient to warn him of the tense
relations between our government and the Japanese empire and that hostilities
might be momentarily expected. This required that he guard against surprise to
the extent possible and make ready his command so that it might be employed to
the maximum and in time against the worst form of attack that the enemy might
launch.

"(b) To reach or attempt to reach an agreement with the Admiral command­
ing the 14th Naval District for implementing the Joint Army and Navy plans and
agreements then in existence which provided for joint action by the two service~.

One of the methods by which they might have become operative was through the
joint agreement of the responsible commanders.

"(c) To inform himself of the effectiveness of the long-distance reconnaissance
being conducted by the Navy.

"(d) To replace inefficient staff officers."
2. APH, p. 60.
3. NCI, p. 86. This view that the American people were to blame had previously

been asserted by Adm. King. "It is true," he said (NCI, p. 77), "that the country
as a whole is basically responsible in that the people were unwilling to support an
adequate Army and Navy until it was too late to repair the consequences of past
neglect in time to deal effectively with the attack that ushered in the war." The
same view was echoed before the joint congressional committee by Rear Adm.
Inglis (Tr., Vol. 2, pp. 197-200). Cf. his examination by Senator Ferguson:

"Senator Ferguson: Do you think the people were to blame?
"Admiral Inglis: My opinion is that they did contribute to some extent to

the Pearl Harbor attack.
"Senator Ferguson: Well, now, you explain how that contributed to the

Pearl Harbor attack.
"Admiral Inglis: Because the armed forces were not as strong as they

might have been had the country been unified and had the appropriations been
larger for the Army and Navy."

4. Ibid., p. 71. The court expressed belief that Adm. Stark "failed to display the
sound judgment expected of him in that he did not transmit to Adm. Kimmel
... during the very critical period 26 November to 7 December, important infor­
mation which he had regarding the Japanese situation and, especially, in that, on
the morning of 7 December, 1941, he did not transmit immediately information
which appeared to indicate that a break in diplomatic relations was imminent, and
that an attack in the Hawaiian area could be expected soon."

The court absolved Adm. Kimmel, stating, "The court is of the opinion that
Admiral Kimmel's decision, made after receiving the dispatch of 24 November, to
continue the preparations of the Pacific fleet for war, was sound in the light of
the information then available to him." It asserted that the "war warning" mes­
sage of November 27 "directed attention away from Pearl Harbor rather than
toward it."

5. Ibid., pp. 78, 86.
6. Kimmel, pp. 105-08.
7. Ibid.
8. Tr., p. 8549.
9. Ibid., pp. 8549-53.

10. Ibid., pp. 8601-2.
11. Ibid., pp. 8602-13. The charges and Short's responses to them follow:

"1. Failure to provide an adequate inshore aerial patrol.
"Short: Not guilty. I did have an adequate patrol. The air people were satis­

fied and had full control. The purpose was anti-submarine defense, and the patrol
was not designed for air defense. We had one observation squadron, six planes, in
commission, and we were operating them several hours a day. I would say we
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were using them all we should use them. In addition to that, there was a lot of
observation that accomplished the same thing because our pursuit training was all
over Oahu, pretty much around the perimeter, and they were all given to under­
stand that they should learn to observe for submarines.

"2. Failure to provide adequate anti-aircraft defense.
"Short: Not guilty. We would have had an adequate anti-aircraft defense if

the War Department had given us the equipment, and had given us the informa­
tion which indicated imminent attack. Or, if they had replied to my report and
indicated any desired modification.

"3. Failure to set up an interceptor command.

"Short: Not guilty. We were training personnel as fast as we could to operate
an effective interceptor command, and it ,vas set up and operating as effectively
as it could. (The general might have added that the Army high command, having
given tacit approval by its silence to his report that he had decreed an alert only
against sabotage, was itself responsible for the fact that few of his planes were
able to get into the air Dec. 7, because they had been grouped wing-tip to wing-tip,
according to the most recent Army studies of the best means of defense against
sabotage.)

"4. Failure to provide a proper aircraft warning service.
"Short: Not guilty. We were training our personnel as fast as we could to set

up an effective aircraft warning service. It was in operation. [Short testified else­
where that the warning service picked up the rap attacking formation 132 miles
from Oahu, but that the warning was disregarded by a young Army Air Corps
officer who, under the Army's curious system of recognizing merit, was subse­
quendy promoted from second lieutenant to lieutenant colonel. Short further testi­
fied that this mistake was occasioned by the fact that the officer at the radar in­
formation center assumed that the planes shown on the radar screen were B-24's
coming in from the mainland, although they were far off course. He stated that,
inasmuch as all of our planes were equipped with radio, this error in judgment
could have been obviated if the Army radio had simply contacted the planes and
asked them whether they were enemy or friend. Short also testified that radar in­
stallations at strategic sites selected by Signal Corps officers had been held up for
ten months because Secretary Ickes' Department of the Interior insisted that the
design of buildings going into the national parks must agree with its standards for
preserving scenic beauty.]

"5. Failure to provide for the transmission of appropriate warnings to interested
agencies.

"Short: Not guilty. We were restricted by direct order from Marshall from
transmitting the Nov. 27 warning to any other than the minimum essential officers.

"6. Failure to establish a proper system of defense by co-operation and co­
ordination with the Navy.

"Short: Not guilty. We had full, complete plans for defense in co-operation
with the Navy which had been approved by Gen. Marshall and Adm. Stark, and
they would have been carried out 100 per cent if they [Marshall and Stark] would
have given us the information they had.

"7. Failure to issue adequate orders to his subordinates as to their duties in
case of sudden attack.

"Short: Not guilty. I could not tell subordinates to expect a sudden attack
which neither I nor the War Department nor anyone else expected. Our informa­
tion regarding impending possible action was, by direction of the chief of staff,
limited to the minimum essential officers. Our standard operating procedure of
Nov. 5, 1941, prescribed fully the duties of all personnel in event of any sudden
attack. [This extended to the length, Short said, that the legislature of Hawaii
had passed M-day legislation governing the conduct of the entire civilian popu)a-
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tion in the event of war. It was put into effect eleven hours after the attack on
Dec. 7.]

"8. Failure to take adequate measures to protect the fleet and naval base at
Pearl Harbor.

"Short: Not guilty. 1 took every measure 1 thought necessary to protect the
fleet and naval base against sabotage. 1 so reported to the War Department. Mar­
shall testified that 1 was reasonable in assuming that 1 was doing exactly what he
wanted, because otherwise he would have notified me that he wanted more meas­
ures taken.

"9. Failure to have his airplanes dispersed in anticipation of a hostile attack,
after having been warned of the danger thereof.

"Short: Not guilty. 1 was never warned of any imminent danger of an air
attack. The planes were therefore grouped for more adequate protection against
hostile action in the form of sabotage.

"10. Failure to have his airplanes in a state of readiness for attack.
"Short: Not guilty. My aircraft were not in a state of readiness for a surprise

attack, but were protected against sabotage as directed by the War Department in
the sabotage-alert messages of Nov. 27 and 28, and as reported to the War De­
partment by me. If they had been equipped with ammunition, grouped as they
were, and a sabotage attack had been made, there would have been much more
damage by exploding ammunition.

"11. Failure to provide for the protection of military personnel, their families,
etc., and of civilian employees on various reservations.

"Short: We made a quite elaborate plan for evacuating the families of civilians
on the military reservation. We asked the War Department for money to establish
a camp some 4 miles east of Schofield. I wrote a personal letter to the chief of
staff and told him that we were asking for the money to establish these camps on
the basis of recreation camps, and the different units, different families, would be
assigned to different locations, but our real purpose was to get ready for a possible
attack and this would give us a chance to acquaint everybody with the details
without advertising what we were doing. He answered my letter and stated that
funds were needed worse for other purposes.

"'I notice,' said Ferguson, 'that you left out the words "Not guilty" to this
last one. Is there any reason?'

"'No, sir. I plead not guilty.'"
12. Ibid., p. 8590.
13. Ibid., pp. 8590-91.
14. Ibid., pp. 8591-93.
15. ICC, Ex. 140; Tr., p. 8599.
16. Tr., p. 8599.
17. Ibid., pp. 8599-8600.
18. Ibid., pp. 8692-93.
19. Ibid., pp. 8617-18.
20. Ibid., pp. 8618-19.
21. Ibid., pp. 8614-16.
22. Min., prefatory note.
23. Maj., pp. 251-52. The report states:

"Specifically, the Hawaiian commands failed-
"(a) To discharge their responsibilities in the light of the warnings re­

ceived from Washington, other information possessed by them, and the prin­
ciple of command by mutual co-operation.

"(b) To integrate and co-ordinate their facilities for defense and to alert
properly the Army and Navy establishments in Hawaii, particularly in the light
of the warnings and intelligence available to them during the period Nov. 27
to Dec. 7, 1941.
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U(c) To effect liaison on a basis designed to acquaint each of them with
the operations of the other, which was necessary to their joint security, and to
exchange fully all significant intelligence.

U(d) To maintain a more effective reconnaissance within the limits of their
equipment.

U(t') To effect a state of readiness throughout the Army and Navy estab­
lishments designed to meet all possible attacks.

U(I) To employ the facilities, materiel, and personnel at their command,
which were adequate at least to have greatly minimized the effects of the at­
tack, in repelling the Japanese raiders.

U(g) To appreciate the significance of intelligence and other information
available to them.
UThe errors made by the Hawaiian commands were errors of judgment and

not derelictions of duty.
uThe War Plans Division of the War Department failed to discharge its direct

responsibility to advise the commanding general he had not properly alerted the
Hawaiian Department when the latter, pursuant to instructions, had reported ac­
tion taken in a message that was not satisfactorily responsive to the original direc­
tive.

"The Intelligence and War Plans Divisions of the War and Navy Departments
failed:

U(a) To give careful and thoughtful consideration to the intercepted mes­
sages from Tokyo to Honolulu of Sept. 24, Nov. 15, and Nov. 20 (the harbor
berthing plan and related dispatches) and to raise a question as to their sig­
nificance. Since they indicated a particular interest in the Pacific Fleet's base
this intelligence should have been appreciated and supplied the Hawaiian com­
manders for their assistance, along with other information available to them,
in making their estimate of the situation.

U(h) To be properly on the qui vive to receive the 'one o'clock' intercept
and to recognize in the message the fact that some Japanese military action
would very possibly occur somewhere at 1:00 P.M., Dec. 7. If properly appreci­
ated, this intelligence should have suggested a dispatch to all Pacific outpost
commanders supplying this information, as Gen. Marshall attempted to do
immediately upon seeing it.
"Notwithstanding the fact that there were officers on twenty-four hour watch,

the committee believes that under all of the evidence the War and Navy Depart­
ments were not sufficiently alerted on Dec. 6 and 7, 1941, in view of the immi­
nence of war."

The majority report submitted twenty-five principles for increased efficiency in
national defense to preclude a repetition of Pearl Harbor (Maj., pp. 253-66). They
were:

"1. Operational and intelligence work requires centralization of authority and
clear-cut allocation of responsibility.

"2. Supervisory officials cannot safely take anything for granted in the alerting
of subordinates.

"3. Any doubt as to whether outposts should be given information should
always be resolved in favor of supplying the information.

"4. The delegation of authority or the issuance of orders entails the duty of
inspection to determine that the official mandate is properly exercised.

uS. The implementation of official orders must be followed with closest super­
vision.

"6. The maintenance of alertness to responsibility must be insured through
repetition.

"7. Complacency and procrastination are out of place where sudden and de­
cisive action are of the essence.



410 PEARL HARBOR

"8. The co-ordination and proper evaluation of intelligence in times of stress
must be insured by continuity of service and centralization of responsibility in
competent officials.

"9. The unapproachable or superior attitude of officials is fatal; there should
never be any hesitancy in asking for clarification of instructions or in seeking ad­
vice on matters that are in doubt.

"10. There is no substitution for imagination and resourcefulness on the part
of supervisory and intelligence officials.

"II. Communications must be characterized by clarity, forthrightness, and ap­
propriateness.

"12. There is great danger in careless paraphrase of information received and
every effort should be made to insure that the paraphrased material reflects the
true meaning and significance of the original.

"13. Procedures must be sufficiently flexible to meet the exigencies of unusual
situations.

"14. Restriction of highly confidential information to a minimum number of
officials, while often necessary, should not be carried to the point of prejudicing
the work of the organization.

"15. There is great danger of being blinded by the self-evident.
"16. Officials should at all times give subordinates the benefit of significant

information.
ce 17. An official who neglects to familiarize himself in detail with his organiza­

tion should forfeit his responsibility.
"18. Failure can be avoided in the long run only by preparation for any

eventuality.
"19. Officials, on a personal basis, should never countermand an official in­

struction.
"20. Personal or official jealousy will wreck any organization.
"21. Personal friendship, without more, should never be accepted in lieu of

1iaison or confused therewith where the latter is necessary to the proper function­
ing of two or more agencies.

"22. No considerations should be permitted as excuse for failure to perform
a fundamental task.

"23. Superiors must at all times keep their subordinates adequately informed
and, conversely, subordinates should keep their superiors informed.

"24. The administrative organization of any establishment must be designed to
locate failures and to assess responsibility.

"25. In a well-balanced organization there is close correlation of responsibility
and authority."

David Lawrence (Chicago Daily News, July 23, 1946, 10:3) comments:
"Despite the impressions which the concluding part of the report seeks to

establish, the headings of the document fix responsibility as plainly as if names
had been called.... Future historians cannot fail to read those tell-tale headings,
for each one states an impersonal conclusion out of which only one inference can
he made-namely, that the persons who had the responsibility for each task and
did not perform it efficiently are being blamed.

"Thus there is language in the conclusion of the report itself, signed by the
majority, which absolves certain individuals, but there is no such evasiveness in
the headings.... Particularly significant are Nos. 17, 23, 24, and 25....

"All that the historian of tomorrow needs to do is find out who, on Dec. 7,
1941, was chief of staff of the Army, chief of naval operations and in command
of subordinate positions in the War and Navy Departments, and who was com­
mander-in-chief of the Army and Navy and then read the main headings of the
report on Pearl Harbor.

"He will find that Republicans and Democrats were unanimous about the
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headings, but politeness, courtesy, and deference caused the omission of the names
of the personalities involved, in the case of the majority who signed the report,
whereas the minority just named those responsible."

24. Maj., p. 251, Conclusions 4 and 5:
"4. The committee has found no evidence to support the charges, made before

and during the hearings, that the President, the Secretary of State, the Secretary
of War, or the Secretary of Navy tricked, provoked, incited, cajoled, or coerced
Japan into attacking this nation in order that a declaration of war might be more
easily obtained from the Congress. On the contrary, all evidence conclusively
points to the fact that they discharged their responsibilities with distinction, ability,
and foresight and in keeping with the highest traditions of our fundamental for­
eign policy.

"5. The President, the Secretary of State, and high government officials made
every possible effort, without sacrificing our national honor and endangering our
security, to avert war with Japan."

25. Min., pp. 78-79.
26. Ibid., Conclusion 16, pp. 46-49.
27. Ibid., Conclusion 11, p. 36.
28. Ibid., Conclusion 5, pp. 19-20.
29. Ibid., Conclusion 19, pp. 70-71.
30. Ibid., Conclusion 21, pp. 76-78.
31. "Conclusions of Fact and Responsibility" as set forth in the minority report of the

Joint Congressional Committee (pp. 9-12) are as follows:
"1. The course of diplomatic negotiations with Japan during the months pre­

ceding Dec. 7, 1941, indicated a growing tension with Japan and after Nov. 26
the immediate imminence of war.

"2. By Nov. 7, 1941, President Roosevelt and his Cabinet had reached the
unanimous conclusion that war tension had reached such a point as to convince
them that 'the people would back us up in case we struck at Japan down there
(in the Far East)! They then took under consideration 'what the tactics would be'
(Tr., Vol. 70, p. 14415). Unless Japan yielded to diplomatic representations on the
part of the United States, there were three choices on tactics before the President
and the Cabinet; they could wait until Japan attacked; they could strike without
a declaration of war by Congress; or the President could lay the issue of peace or
war before Congress (Tr., Vol. 70, p. 14415 if.).

"3. So imminent was war on November 25, that the President in a conference
with Secretary Hull, Secretary Knox, Secretary Stimson, Gen. Marshall, and Adm.
Stark, 'brought up the event that we were likely to be attacked perhaps (as soon
as) next Monday' (Dec. 1); and the members of the conference discussed the
question 'How we should maneuver them (the Japanese) into the position of fir­
ing the' first shot without allowing too much danger to ourselves' (Tr., Vol. 70,
p. 14418).

"4. Having considered without agreeing upon the proposition that a message
on the war situation should be sent to Congress, the President and the Secretary of
State, the Secretary of War, and the Secretary of the Navy, pursued from Nov. 25
to Dec. 7 the tactics of waiting for the firing of 'the first shot' by the Japanese.

"5. The appropriate high authorities in Washington had the organization for
working in such close co-operation during the days immediately prior to the Japa­
nese attack on Dec. 7 that they had every opportunity to make sure that identical
and 'precise instructions warranted by the imminence of war went to the Hawaiian
commanders.

"6. Through the Army and Navy Intelligence Services extensive information
was secured respecting Japanese war plans and designs, by intercepted and decoded
Japanese secret messages, which indicated the growing danger of war and increas­
ingly after Nov. 26 the imminence of a Japanese attack.
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"7. Army and Navy information which indicated growing imminence of war
was delivered to the highest authorities in charge of national preparedness for meet­
ing an attack, among others, the President, the Secretaries of State, War, and
Navy, and the chief of staff and the chief of naval operations.

"8. Judging by the military and naval history of Japan, high authorities in
Washington and the commanders in Hawaii had good grounds for expecting that
in starting war the Japanese government would make a surprise attack on the
United States.

"9. Neither the diplomatic negotiations nor the intercepts and other informa­
tion respecting Japanese designs and operations in the hands of the United States
authorities warranted those authorities in excluding from defense measures or from
orders to the Hawaiian commanders the probability of an attack on Hawaii. On
the contrary, there is evidence to the effect that such an attack was, in terms of
strategy, necessary from the Japanese point of view and in fact highly probable, and
that President Roosevelt was taking the probability into account-before Dec. 7.

"10. The knowledge of Japanese designs and intentions in the hands of the
President and the Secretary of State led them to the conclusion at least 10 days
before Dec. 7 that an attack by Japan within a few days was so highly probable as
to constitute a certainty and, having reached this conclusion, the President, as
Commander-in-Chief of the Army and Navy, was under obligation to instruct the
Secretary of War and the Secretary of the Navy to make sure that the outpost
commanders put their armed forces on an all-out alert for war.

"11. The decision of the President, in view of the Constitution, to await the
Japanese attack rather than ask for a declaration of war by Congress increased the
responsibility of high authorities in Washington to use the utmost care in putting
the commanders at Pearl Harbor on a full alert for defensive actions before the
Japanese attack on December 7, 1941.

"12. Inasmuch as the knowledge respecting Japanese designs and operations
which was in the possession of high authorities in Washington differed in nature
and volume from that in the possession of the Pearl Harbor commanders it was
especially incumbent upon the former to formulate instructions to the latter in
language not open to misinterpretation as to the obligations imposed on the com­
manders by the instructions.

"13. The messages sent to Gen. Short and Adm. Kimmel by high authorities
in Washington during November were couched in such conflicting and imprecise
language that they failed to convey to the commanders definite information on the
state of diplomatic relations with Japan and on Japanese war designs and positive
orders respecting the particular actions to be taken--orders that were beyond all
reasonable doubts as to the need for an all-out alert. In this regard the said high
authorities failed to discharge their full duty.

"14. High authorities in WashingtoQ failed in giving proper weight to the evi­
dence before them respecting Japanese designs and operations which indicated that
an attack on Pearl Harbor was highly probable and they failed also to emphasize
this probability in messages to the Hawaiian commanders.

"15. The failure of Washington authorities to act promptly and consistently in
translating intercepts, evaluating information, and sending appropriate instructions
to the Hawaiian commanders was in considerable measure due to delays, misman­
agement, nonco-operation, unpreparedness, confusion, and negligence on the part
of officers in Washington.

"16. The President of the United States was responsible for the failure to en­
force continuous, efficient, and apnropriate co-operation among the Secretary of
War, the Secretary of the Navy, the chief of staff, and the chief of naval opera­
tions, in evaluating information and dispatching clear and positive orders to the
Hawaiian commanders as events indicated the growing imminence of war; for the
Constitution and laws of the United States vested in the President full power, as



APPENDIX

Chief Executive and Commander-in-Chief, to compel such co-operation and vested
this power in him alone with a view to establishing his responsibility to the people
of the United States.

"17. High authorities in Washington failed to allocate to the Hawaiian com­
manders the material which the latter often declared to be necessary to defense and
often requested, and no requirements of defense or war in the Atlantic did or
could excuse these authorities for their failures in this respect.

"18. Whatever errors of judgment the commanders at Hawaii committed and
whatever mismanagement they displayed in preparing for a Japanese attack, at­
tention to chain of responsibility in the civil and military administration requires
taking note of the fact that they were designated for their posts by high authorities
in Washington-all of whom were under obligation to have a care for competence
in the selection of subordinates for particular positions of responsibility in the
armed forces of the United States.

"19. The defense of Hawaii rested upon two sets of interdependent responsi­
bilities: (1) The responsibility in Washington in respect of its intimate knowledge
of diplomatic negotiations, widespread intelligence information, direction of affairs
and constitutional duty to plan the defense of the United States; (2) the responsi­
bility cast upon the commanders in the field in charge of a major naval base and
the fleet essential to the defense of the territory of the United States to do those
things appropriate to the defense of the fleet and outpost. Washington authorities
failed in (1); and the commanding officers at Hawaii failed in (2).

"20. In the final instance of crucial significance for alerting American outpost
commanders, on Saturday night, Dec. 6, and Sunday morning, Dec. 7, the Presi­
dent of the United States failed to take that quick and instant executive action
which was required by the occasion and by the responsibility for watchfulness and
guardianship rightly associated in law and practice with his high office from the
establishment of the Republic to our own times.

"21. The contention coming from so high an authority as President Truman
on August 3, 1945, that the 'country is as much to blame as any individual in
this final situation that developed in Pearl Harbor,' cannot be sustained because
the American people had no intimation whatever of the policies and operations
that were being undertaken."

The body of the report reviews these conclusions with supporting evidence.
32. Stimson, pp. 31-33.
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tary of War, on Pearl Harbor attack,
49

Atlantic Charter, 87, 122
Atlantic Charter Conference, 117-26; sub­

sidiary agreement of, on dealing with
Japan, 369-70

Axis, 7
Axis consular staffs, ousting of, from

United States, 87

Axis funds, freezing of, 87
Azores, American plan for seizure of, 88

Balloon barrage defense at Pearl Harbor.
lack of, 249, 250, 251 .

Bellinger, Patrick N. L., prophecy of, of
attack on Pearl Harbor, 74-76

"Bomb plot" message of Japanese, 248­
49, 393-94

Bratton, Colonel R. S., aggressiveness of,
in handling vital information, 170; at­
tempt of, to inform Marshall of break
in diplomatic relations with Japan, 171,
275; failure of, to win advancement,
271, 399; delivery by, of "bomb plot"
message, 393

British imperialism in Asia and Pacific,
American protection of, 128-29

Canary Islands, British plan for seizure
of, 88

Canton-Enderbury deal between Britain
and United States, lOS

Cape Verde Islands, British plan for seiz­
ure of, 88

Casualties at Pearl Harbor, 37, 39, 310,
327

Chamberlain, Neville, and Anglo-Polish
relations, 5-6

Chiang Kai-shek: "dancing to the tune of
Britain, America, and communism,"
152; opposition of, to modus vivendi
of Hull, 155-59, 287, 288, 377

China: American aid to, in war with
Japan, 98-100; and "parallel declara­
tions" of United States, Britain, and
Holland, 121-22; disorganization of, 4;
Japanese peace tender to, terms of,
130-31

"China Incident," 4
Churchill, Winston: appointment of, as

prime minister, 52-53; boasts of, at en-
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tanglement of United States in war
with Japan, 115-16; on lend-lease as
handicap to American defense, 93; and
"parallel declarations," 118, 119, 123­
24; on "parallel" action of Great Brit­
ain against Japan, 123-24, 370-71

Clarke, Colonel Carter W.: and Pearl
Harbor investigations, 201; inquiry by,
on Pearl Harbor disaster, on behalf of
General Marshall, 201, 316, 384

Clausen, Major Henry C., activities of,
in establishing blame for Pearl Harbor
disaster, 109-110, 200-201; 315; at­
tempts of, to induce witnesses to change
testimony, 200-201; investigation by,
of validity of "winds" message, 220

Colonial empires of white nations, Japa­
nese threat to, 101

Congress: adjournment of, on December
4-5, 1941, 300; appropriations of, for
national defense, 1934-41, 362; not
responsible for loss of Guam, 366-67

Conley, E. T., estimate by, of enemy plan
for attack on Pearl Harbor, 74

Conscription, first peacetime, 46
Cramer, Major General Myron C.: and

Pearl Harbor investigations, 199-200,
201; and validity of "winds" message,
201, 220-21

Cryptanalysis or "Magic", 168; legisla­
tion on, in form of Senate Bill 805,
171-72; withdrawal of bill, 172

Declaration of war: against Germany,
Congressional vote on, 39; against
Great Britain by Japan, time of, 164;
against Italy by United States, Congres­
sional vote on, 39; against Japan by
United States, Congressional vote on,
38; against Japan by United States,
deadline for, 289-91; against Japan by
United States, time of, 38; against
United States by Germany and Italy,
time of, 39; against United States by
Japan, and first overt act, 253, 273,
275; against United States by Japan,
time of, 38, 164; by United States,
British expectations of, after 1940 elec­
tion, 86

Diplomatic negotiations between United
States and Japan, see Peace negotiations
between United States and Japan

"Do-don't" warnings to commanders at
Hawaii, 223-42

Drum, Hugh A., prophecy of surprise aIr
attack on Pearl Harbor, 74

Dutch Guiana, American occupation of,
87; Japanese reaction to, 115

"East wind rain" message, see under
"Winds" message

Economic sanctions against Japan, Ameri­
can program of, 99, 119, 132-37, 147,
148,283, 310

Executive, plurality in, T he Federalist,
iv, 321. See also President

Fleet,' at Pearl Harbor, attack upon, dic­
tated by logic, 358-59; damage to, tab­
ulation of, 356-57. See also Pearl
Harbor attack, damage during; disposi­
tion of, Japanese spy messages concern­
ing, 248-52; disposition of, on Decem­
ber 6-7, 1941, 91, 274-75; "ships in
harbor" reports to Tokyo, 248-52

Forrestal, Secretary of Navy: endeavor
of, to discredit "winds" message, 199;
private investigation by, on Pearl Harbor
disaster, 202 ff., 313, 384-85; setting
aside by, of Navy Court of Inquiry
verdict on Kimmel, 313

Four-power entente, plan of, 6-7
France, weakness of, 4

General staff, responsibility of, for en­
forcement of orders, 84

German blitzkrieg in the west, date of, 52
Germany: defeat of, as main objective of

Allies, 107, 110-11; "nonaggression"
treaty with Russia, 6; and the tri­
partite alliance, 6-7

Gerow, General: failure of, to discharge
duties as war plans officer, 265; promo­
tion of, 265; responsibility of, for in­
forming Short of imminence of attack,
230, 264-65, 388; responsibility of,
for Pearl Harbor defenses, 256, 396:
responsibility of, for Pearl Harbor dis­
aster, 319

Gesell, Gerhard, and Pearl Harbor inves­
tigation, 201

Great Britain: American aid to, during
1940 and 1941, 86, 87, 88; Anglo­
Polish relations, 5-6; faults of, 4

Greater East Asia Co-Prosperity Sphere,
11, 374

Greenland, American occupation of, 87;
American belligerent action in, before
declaration of war, 88

Grew, Joseph C.: on American isolation­
ism, 125; criticism by, of Roosevelt
policy toward Japan, 145-46; on diplo­
matic relations with Japan, 127-29;
on economic sanctions against Japan,
133; on fleet at Pearl Harbor as de­
terrent to Japan, 62; "green light" tele­
gram on economic sanctions, 133-34;
on proposed Roosevelt-Konoye meeting,
139, 142-43; on surprise attack by
Japan, 273-74

Guam, loss of, conceded in Singapore
agreement, 109; fortification of, testi­
mony of Admiral Stark on, 366-67



INDEX

Hart, Admiral, inquiry conducted by, into
Pearl Harbor disaster, 347-48

Hawaiian commanders, choosing of, by
Roosevelt, 321. See also Kimmel;
Richardson; Short

Hawaiian defenses: alerting of, against
sabotage and subversive activities, 229­
31, 232-33, 257; on all·out alert in
June and July, 1940, 53-54, 229, 246,
247, 387; proposal to weaken, to pro·
vide defense for Wake, Midway, and
other islands, 233-35. See also Pearl
Harbor defenses

Hewitt, Admiral, and Pearl Harbor in·
vestigations, 202 if., 384-85

Hirohito, Emperor, reply of, to Roose­
velt's appeal of December 6, 1941, 164­
65

Hitler: desire of, not to engage United
States in war, 90, 94, 283; informed
by Japan of imminence of war, 326;
military fraud of, on the Japanese, 96­
97, 189

Hopkins, Harry, allocation by, of patrol
bombers, to Britain, 93

Hull, Secretary of State: belief of, in im­
minence of war with Japan, 266, 273;
complaint of, on Japanese treachery,
190; criticisms of, in "appeasingtJ Japan,
157-60; deception by, in reporting
progress of peace negotiations with
Japan, 299; demands of, on Japan, 11;
on fleet at Pearl Harbor as deterrent
to Japan, 60; on Japanese reply to
American proposals of November 26,
1941, 166; modus vivendi of: abandon­
ment of, 154-59, 287-88, 377, Chinese
opposition to, 155-59, 287, 288, 377,
toeflect three months' truce with
Japan, 154, 286; terms of, 375-77, 380;
on possibility of surprise attack by
Japan, 273, 274; proposals of, to Japan,
on November 26, 1941, 152-53, 160­
61, 186, 187, 285, 310, 377-80; see
Japanese diplomatic note, final, to
United States; on proposed Roosevelt­
Konoye meeting, 139-40; responsibility
of, for diplomacy leading to Pearl
Harbor disaster, 319; on treachery of
Pearl Harbor attack, 166

Iceland, America assumes garrisoning of,
87 .

Indo-China: Japanese occupation of,
98, 115, 137, 173; proposed neutraliza­
tion of, 120-21

Ingersoll, Admiral, testimony of, on
"winds" message, 215

Intelligence, importance of, to conduct of
war, 260-61, 281-82

Italy, declaration of war by, as "stab in
back" of France, 86

Japan: American proposals to, November
26, 1941, 160-61, Japanese reply to,
165-66; blockade of, by United States,
59, 60; and China, 11; economic sanc­
tions against, American program of, 99,
119, 132-37, 147, 148, 283, 310; final
proposals of, for understanding with
United States, 150-51; first overt act
by, as desire of Roosevelt administra­
tion, 271, 292-93, 387, 388, 402; first
overt act by, simultaneous with declara­
tion of war, 253, 395; foreign assets of,
freezing of, 11, 132, 147, 148, 173,
179-80, 284; foreign policy of, in
November, 1941, 180; "incident" on
part of, as object of Roosevelt, 301-4;
modus vivendi of November 20 and 21,
1941, 150-51; oil embargo against,
134-36; "parallel declarations" to, by
United States, Britain, and Holland,
117-25, 188; policy of, to keep peace
with United States, 174; policy of
totalitarian expansion of, in South Seas,
98; position of, in Far East, just before
Pearl Harbor attack, 177-78; relations
with United States, deterioration of, 98­
103; seizure by, of Indo-China, 98; sur­
plus population of, problem of, 101-2;
surprise attack by, anticipation of, by
high officials in Washington, 273, 395;
surprise attack by, forecast of, for week­
end or holiday, 210-11, 385; surprise
attack by, prophecies of, 163; and tri·
partite alliance, see Tripartite alliance;
ultimatum to, by Roosevelt, in August,
1941, 122-23, 125; ultimatums to, by
United States, 125-26

Japanese aggression in Far East: and
ABC D powers, 105-16; and "parallel
declarations" of United States, Britain
and Holland, 117-25; "deadlines" for,
established by agreement of United
States, Britain, and Holland, 289-92,
335 (map)

Japanese diplomatic note, final, to United
States, 165-66, 188, 192, 194-196,
253, 269, 275

Japanese expeditions in Far East, probable
objectives of, 291-92

Japanese fleet: at Pearl Harbor attack, 16;
en route to Pearl Harbor, 163

Japanese fourteen-part note, see under
Hull, Secretary of State

Japanese militarists, ambitious designs of,
144, 373

Japanese naval situation, Navy intelligence
report on, dated December 1, 1941,
236-37
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Japanese people, determination of, to fight
to finish, in any war, 176

Japanese secret code: "Climb Mount Nii­
taka" message, 16, 22; cracking of, be­
fore Pearl Harbor, 13, 43, 168, 169-70;
code machine destruction, 191, 192,
193, 194; order from Tokyo, for de­
truction of, 215, 217

Japanese secret code intercepts, 42-43, 44,
49; decoding and distribution of, in
Washington, 196; disclosure in full of,
173-85; distribution of, to small circle
in Washington, 261-62, 396; evaluation
of, by Roosevel t and his circle, 263-64,
397; final message on December 7, 1941,
196; first reports of, on July 2, 1941,
173; full disclosure of, 173 fl.; impor­
tance of, 390-91; knowledge of, given
to British Admiralty but denied to
Hawaiian commanders, 252; nature and
content of, revealed by Representative
Gearhart, 172; plan for attack on Pearl
Harbor indicated by, 248-52; secrecy
in Washington surrounding, 262-63;
sequence of, from November 24 to
December 7, 1941, and interpretation,
186-97; spy messages between Tokyo
and Hawaii, concerning Pearl Harbor
defenses, 248-52, 392-95; indications
in, of time and place of initial Japanese
attack, 195-97; use of, in Pearl Harbor
investigations, 49; withholding of, from
Hawaiian commanders, 260-66. See
also "Winds" message

Japanese submarines, activity of, before
Pearl Harbor attack, 28-29, 32-33

Japanese telephone code, 187, 188
Joint Congressional Committee: observa­

tions on, by Burton K. Wheeler, 349­
50; statement on, by Representative
Keefe, 352; restrictions placed upon,
by President Truman, 348-49; testi­
mony before, on Pearl Harbor attack,
198-211, 212-22; witnesses appearing
before, 337-38

Joint Congressional Committee, majority
report of: on designs of Japanese mili­
tarists, 373; on "east wind rain" mes­
sage, 383-84; on guilt in Pearl Harbor
disaster, 318, 408-11; on Pearl Harbor
disaster, 318, 348; Representative Keefe
on, 352-53

Joint Congressional Committee, minority
report of: on American-Japanese diplo­
matic negotiations, 127-28; on attack
on fleet at Pearl Harbor, 358-59; "Con­
clusions of Fact and Responsibility" of,
411-13; difficul ties encountered by,
348-52; on importance of "Magic,"
390-91; on Japanese spy messages, 393­
95; on Pearl Harbor defenses, 91-92,

318-19; on responsibility of high officials
for Pearl Harbor dis:lster, 318-19; on
,var warnings to Hawaiian commanders,
240; on "winds" message, 386

Jones, E. Stanley: on Roosevelt adminis­
tration and peace with Japan, 100-103:
on solution for disposal of surplus popu­
lation of Japan, 101-2

Keefe, Representative: on assessment of
hlame for Pearl Harbor disaster, 352­
53; on tactics in retiring Kimmel and
Short, 48-50

Kimmel, Admiral: appointment of, as com­
mander of Pacific fleet, 63, 69; on basing
of fleet at Pearl Harbor, as deterrent
to Japan, 67; blaming of, for failure
of defense against torpedoes, 83; con­
demnation of, by Roosevelt, 40-42:
court-martial of, threat of, 46, 48, 311;
exoneration of, by Navy Court, 49, 311,
312; messages to, concerning defense
of Wake and Midway islands, 233-34:
not informed of most important diplo­
matic steps of 1941, 388; not sent most
vital Japanese code intercepts, 245 fl.,
391; persecution of, 46; on reconnais­
sance requirements for island base, 72­
73; references to, in Knox report, 40:
removal of, from command, 41, 42,
311, 312; responsibility of, for Pearl
Harbor disaster, 319; retirement of,
46, 311; as scapegoat, 40, 49, 50, 311:
testimony of, on "winds" message, 221­
22; on vulnerability of fleet at Pearl
Harbor, 65; on weakness of Pearl Har­
bor defenses, 69-70. See also War warn­
ings to Hawaiian commanders

Kita, Nagoa, Consul General at Honolulu,
spy messages of, concerning American
ship movements, 248-52

Kintner, Robert, on nondeclared war in
Atlantic, 94-95

"Known impending war," situation of,
after November 26, 1941, 243 fl., 390
if.

Knox, Secretary of Navy: as agent in re­
tirement of Kimmel and Short, 46; an­
nouncement of, to President, of Pearl
Harbor attack, 15; appointment of, 86:
inquiry conducted for, into Pearl Har­
bor disaster, 49, 347-48; "lost" message
from, to Kimmel on night of Decem­
ber 6, 1941, 272; official report of, on
damage at Pearl Harbor, 40; on possi­
bility of torpedo attack on Pearl Har­
bor, 81-82; on two-ocean navy, 15:
receipt by, of thirteen-part Japanese
message, 271; report of, to Roosevelt,
on "midnight warning" of Decen1ber
7, 1941, 272; responsibility of, for
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Pearl Harbor disaster, 318-19; secret
report of, to Roosevel t, 40, and re­
marks in, on impairment of Pearl Har­
bor defenses, 92

Konoye, Prince: cabinet of, resignation of,
143, 176; and four-power agreement,
6; meeting with Roosevelt, proposals
for, 138-43; resignation of, 18; suicide
of, 143

Kra Peninsula, threatened attack on, by
Japan, 236, 304, 305

Kramer, Capt. Alwin D.: pressure upon,
and reversal of testimony, 276, 400;
on Japanese message of December 6-7,
1941, 266-67, 269,271; note from, to
Knox, on expected attack on Pearl
Harbor, 276; testimony of, at Pearl
Harbor investigations, 212, 213-15, 218;
and "winds" message, 199, 206

Kurusu, Saburo: attempts of, at nega­
tions with United States, 146-47, 149­
51; 182-84; reaction of, to American
proposals of November 26, 1941, 161­
62

Leahy, Admiral, on fleet at Pearl Harbor
as deterrent to Japan, 65

Lend-lease Act, enactment of, 87
Lend-lease: as cause of impairment of

Pearl Harbor defenses, 91-93; opinions
of minority and majority reports con­
cerning, 360-62; proposals for, by
Roosevel t, 86

Lyttelton, Capt. Oliver, American provo­
cation of Japan, statement on, 116

McCollum, Captain A. H.: on likelihood
of Japanese attack on American fleet,
354; and message prepared for dispatch
to Kimmel, 208, 219, 385; and "winds"
message, 208, 218

"Magic" intelligence, see Japanese code
intercepts; "Winds" message; Cryptan­
alysis

Malay barrier, defense of, plans for, 106,
107

Malaya, threatened attack on, 304
Manila harbor, enlargement of, to accom­

modate British naval units, 112
Marines, ordering of, into Iceland, 87
Marshall, General: absence of, at time of

delivery of Japanese final note, 275;
appeal of, to Governor Dewey, on
cracking of Japanese code, 201-2; on
America's entry into European war, 90;
bungling by, of last-minute warning
to Hawaii, 44, 238-40, 241, 277 fl.,
390, 400; criticism of, by Army Board
and by Short, 277-78; failure of, to
use scrambler phone or other quick
means of warning Hawaii, 238, 277

if., 390; recollections of, on happenings
of night of December 6, 1941, 269;
responsibility of, in matter of alerting
Hawaii for possible attack, 230, 388;
responsibility of, for Pearl Harbor de­
fenses, 254-259, 396; responsibility of,
for Pearl Harbor disaster, 319; on re­
tirement of Short, 45; charge of tam­
pering by, with evidence relating to
Pearl Harbor, 316

Marshall Islands, raids against, anticipa­
tion of, 237, 243

Martin, Major General: message from, to
Washington, on Hawaiian alert against
sabotage, 233; prophecy of, of attack
on Pearl Harbor, 74-76; removal of,
frotn command, 41

Merchant ships, arming of, 87
Miles, Major General, on distribution of

Japanese code intercepts, 261-63
Mitchell, William D., and Pearl Harbor

investigation, 202
Molotov, Vyacheslav, and four-power

agreement, 7, 353-54
Mussolini, and support of Japan, 96, 193

National defense, appropriations for, by
Congress, 1934-41, 362; curtailment of
appropriations for, by Roosevelt, 362

National Guard, mustering of, by Roose­
velt, 86

National Park Service, cause of delay in in­
stallation of radar service, 71

Navy: ordering of, to shoot at Axis ships
on sight, 87; two-ocean, authorization
of, by Congress, 53

Navy Court of Inquiry: appointment of,
347; exoneration by, of Kimmel, 49,
311, 312; report of, to Secretary of
Navy, on Pearl Harbor attack, 49, 168

Navy establishment, possible motives of,
for making war, 327

Neutrality act, revision of, to permit "cash
and carry" of arms shipments, 86

Neutrality of American people, as a bar
to declaration of war, 293-94

"North wind cloudy" message, see under
"Winds" message

Nomura, Admiral: on attitude of Japanese
people toward United States, 162, 164;
and diplomatic relations between United
States and Japan, 129-36; last attempts
of, to further peace negotiations with
United States, 180-82; on preparations
of ABC D powers in Southwest
Pacific area, 164; on proposed Roose­
vel t-Konoye meeting, 138; summoned to
White House, to receive ultimatum, 122

"Nonaggression" treaty of Hitler and
Stalin, 6

Noyes, Admiral: action by, upon receipt
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of "winds" message, 206 if.; testimony
of, on "winds" message, 216, 217

Oil embargo against Japan, 134-36
"Overt act" restriction, 278-79, 388

Pacific fleet, basing of, at Pearl Harbor,
51-67; as deterrent to Japan, 54, 55­
58, 60, 62, 63, 65, 67, 358; Joint Con­
gressional Committee minority view of,
65-67, 358-59; in belief of its safety,
65; objections of Admiral Richardson
to, 55, 56, 65-67, 358; State Depart­
ment influence on Navy, 60-62; tradi­
tional, on West Coast, 51, 52

Pacific fleet, command of, transferring
of, to Kimmel, 63, 69; fueling of, 65;
inferiority of, to Japanese fleet, on De­
cember 7, 1941, 93; insecurity of, at
Pearl Harbor, 51; sending of, to Pearl
Harbor, 54 if.; splitting of, 12; strength
of, bottled in Pearl Harbor, 13; stripping
of, for Atlantic war, 90; units of, at
Pearl Harbor, subject of spy messages
between Hawaii and Tokyo, 248-52;
vulnerability of, at Pearl Harbor, 54,
63, 65; weakening of, by Roosevelt, 94

Panama Canal: closing of, to Japanese
shipping, 100, 147; concerning defense
message to, alert, 278

"Parallel declarations" to Japan: Ameri­
can public unaware of, 122, 123; Brit­
ish action on, no record of, 124, 370;
by United States, Britain, and Holland,
117-25, 188

Patrol planes, for Pearl Harbor defense,
shortage of, 92-93

Peace negotiations between United States
and Japan before Pearl Harbor attack,
9, 126-43; breaking oif of, 183 if.,
189-90, 253, 275; failure of, 162, 178­
85, 186; Japanese "deadline" on, 179
if., 182, 184, 186, 187, 248, 276, 298;
Japanese urgency concerning, 148-50,
180 if.; last attempts at understanding,
146-54, 178-85; mere play-acting after
November 28, 1941, 190, 191, 247,
248; proposals of Hull to Japan, on
November 26, 1941, 152-53, 160-61,
186, 187; Japanese reply to, 165-66,
188, 192, first thirteen parts, 194-95,
266-67, fourteenth part, 196, 269;
stalemate of, 137-38

Pearl Harbor: as base for Pacific fleet,
objections to, 65-67; conversion of, in­
to fleet base, 52; future, prevention of,
327; state of unreadiness at, on De­
cember 7, 1941, 83-84; as strategic
position, in Pacific, 62; surprise air
attack on, prophecies of, 74-76

Pearl Harbor attack: American losses dur­
ing, 34, 37; claims of Japanese on, 39;
first government report by Roosevelt on,
39; Roosevelt's reports to cabinet and
to public on, 39

Pearl Harbor attack: berthings of fleet
during (map), 333; casualties at, 37,
39, 310; damage during, 37, by dive­
bombers, 36, to fleet, 356-57, by
horizontal bombers, 36, by large
armor piercing shells, 36, by torpedoes,
35-36, Japanese estimate of, 37, official
report on, by Knox, 40; incidents just
preceding, 27-33; as issue in Congres­
sional election of 1942, 48; Japanese
planes used in, number of, 16, 355;
Japanese plans for, 18 if.; Japanese
strategy during, 24-26; Kimmel and
Short not solely responsible for failure,
322; limited conditions of readiness
of Army and Navy, 31-32, 34 if.;
"lost" documents concerning, 43, 199,
207, 216, 219, 222, 350; "no one in
Washington expected an attack," 223;
objectives of, at island of Oahu (map),
332; phases of, 35-36; plan for, indi­
cation of, in spy messages between
Tokyo and Hawaii, 248-52; prophecy
of, on January 27, 1941, given no
credence, 246, 252; radar warning of,
30-31; radio warnings of, 3; repelling
of, as a possibility, 258-59; ships in
harbor, at time of, 34-35; strategic ob­
jective of, 24; time and place of, indi­
cation of, in Japanese reply of Decem­
ber 6-7, 1941, 243; time and place of,
knowledge available to Roosevelt, Hull,
and others concerning, 167; time and
place of, learned from Japanese code
intercepts, 172; time of (start), 34, 164;
time of (start), warnings of, in Japa­
nese secret code intercepts, 195-97;
time of (finish), 36; unpreparedness
of Army and Navy in Hawaii at time
of, 31; weapons used by Japanese in,
35, 36; "winds" message as warning
of, 210-11

Pearl Harbor defenses: Admiral Yarnell's
test of, in 1932, 17-18, 51; anti-aircraft
crews, firing on own planes, 80; anti­
aircraft weapons for, 78, 79, 80, 92;
balloon barrage defense, lack of, 250,
251; distance reconnaissance, absence
of, 72; failure of, due to obsolete ideas
of high command in Washington, 81;
impairment of, through lend-lease and
other diversions, 91-93, 360-62; joint
Army-Navy coastal frontier defense plan,
69; not properly alerted for surprise
attack, 31-32, 169, 229, 242, 247,
254-58, 260, 323; Oahu Army garri-
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son, duties of, 69; patrol planes for,
diversion of, under lend-lease, 77; pa­
trol planes for, shortage of, 92-93;
radar for, installation of, delays in,
70, 71; radar for, hours of operation
of, on December 7, 1941, 72; readiness
of, as clear responsibility of Washing­
ton, 185; readiness of, dependent upon
foreknowledge of attack, 253; recon­
naissance equipment, absence of and re­
sponsibility of Washington for, 77;
reconnaissance requirements for, Kim­
mel testimony on, 72-73; spy messages
concerning, between Tokyo and Ha­
waii, 248-52; strength of, Martin­
Bellinger comment on, 76; strengthen­
ing of, allowances to Short for, 70:
strengthening of, requested by Short,
70; weakening of, by Roosevel t, 94 ;
weakness of, in February, 1941, 69.
See also Hawaiian defenses

Pearl Harbor disaster: blame for, placing
of, by Roberts Commission, 44-45 ;
primarily failure of men, not of laws
or powers, 327; "responsibility" for, of
American people, 325-26; responsibility
for, of high administration officials,
318-19; responsibility for, of Roose­
velt, 318 ff.

Pearl Harbor investigations, v-ix; secret
investigations, by Secretaries of War
and Navy, 49; testimony at, conflict­
ing, 212-222; testimony at, reversal
of, by key witnesses, 50, 200, 212-22;
withholding of vital information from
Joint Congressional Committee, 352;
witnesses at, intimidation of, 200-201,
213-14, 222. See also Army Board of
Investigation; Navy Board of Inquiry;
"Winds" message

Pearl Harbor records, destruction of, 199,
207, 216, 219, 222, 350

Philippines, loss of, envisioning of, at
Singapore staff conference, 108-9

Poland, Anglo-Polish relations, 5-6
President of United States: appointment

by, of all high military and naval
officers, 320; conducting by, of all dip­
lomatic negotiations on behalf of
United States, 320; power of, to organ­
ize and unify all subsidiary agencies,
325; power of, to issue orders and in­
structions to civil secretaries, and chief
of staff and of naval operations, 320­
21; powers and duties of, in connection

_with military establishments, 320-21;
vesting in, by Congress, of whole and
indivisible executive power, 320

President's Commission to investigate
Pearl Harbor disaster, see Roberts Com­
mission

Prisoners of war, first, in American non­
declared war, 88

Promotion of officers on administration
side of Pearl Harbor investigation, 270­
71; 399

Puleston, W. D., on splitting of United
States fleet, 53

Radar at Pearl Harbor: hours of operation
of, on December 7, 1941, 72; installa­
tion, delays in, 70, 71

Rankin, Jeanette, dissenting vote of, on
war with Japan, 38; abstention of, in
vote on war with Germany and Italy,
39

Reconnaissance, see Pearl Harbor defenses
Ribbentrop, Joachim von, and four-power

agreement, 6-7, 353-54; on Japanese
relations with America and Britain, 96

Richardson, Admiral: on alliance with
Great Britain, 63; on fleet at Pearl Har­
bor as deterrent to Japan, 62, 64; ob­
iections of, to basing of fleet at Pearl
Harbor, 55, 56, 65-67; opposition of,
to war with Japan, 63; protests of, to
Roosevelt, on basing of fleet at Pearl
Harbor, 56-57; removal of, for opposi­
tion to Roosevelt on basing of fleet, 63,
64

Roberts, Justice, Owen J., on interception
of Japanese messages, 42-43

Roberts Commission: appointment of, by
Roosevelt, 41; avoidance of, of criticism
of Washington in Pearl Harbor matter,
44; Congressional Investigating Com­
mittee on, report of, 42-43; criticism
by, of Kimmel and Short, 43, 311;
faults of, 43; jurisdiction of, 42; Kim­
mel on, 45; members of, 41, honors
and favor for, by Roosevelt administra­
tion, 41-42, 399; misinformation given,
43; report of, effect of, 48; report of,
on war warnings to Hawaiian com­
manders, 44, 240-42; verdict of, con­
cerning Kimmel and Short, 42; white­
washing by, of General Marshall's part
in Pearl Harbor disaster, 44

Roosevelt, Franklin D., President: on
American protection of British colonial
empire, 128; announcement by, that
America is in the war "all the way,"
167; announcement of, that "the shoot­
ing has started," October 27, 1941, 87;
appointment by, of Secretaries of State,
War, and Navy, 321; approval by, of
joint Anglo-American war plans, 109­
10, 113; attempts of, to bring about
Japanese "incident," 301-304; back door
entry by, into war, 95, 283; and
blockade of Japan, 59, 60; choice by,
of Hull, Stimson, Knox, Marshall, and



422 INDEX

others, 322; as center of movement
toward war, 103; defender of British
and Dutch imperialism, 10~ desire of,
for war with Hitler, 94, 283; desire of,
for war with Japan, 116; determination
of, to prepare American people for ac­
ceptance of war, 295-97; direct apneal
of, to Hirohito on December 6, 1941,
"for the record," 164, delivery of,
twenty minutes before Pearl Harbor
attack, 164, Hirohito's reply, 164-65;
in "do-don't" message to Short, "Japan
to commit first overt act," 227, 229;
failure of, to place Hawaiian defenses
on all-out alert, 323; on fleet at Pearl
Harbor as deterrent to Japan, 58, 258;
fleet split by, 12; handling by, of retire­
ment of Kimmel and Short, 40, 42, 48;
deception by, in speeches to American
people concerning war with Japan, 299~

"I hate war," August 19, 1936, 85;
Japanese "mistake" as casus belli for
United States, 58, 283-84; on Japanese
aggression, 162, 163, 164; Japanese
solution of dilemma of, in Pearl Harbor
attack, 308-9; message of, to Congress
declaring war on Janan, 38, 39; mes­
sage of, to Hirohito, December 6, 1941,
9, 10, 284, 295-96, 307-8; concealed
purpose of, 307-8; message of, to Hitler,
April, 1939, 9; motives of, for making
war, 327, Albert Jay Nock on motives
for, 283; and "parallel declarations,"
119; orders from. for undeclared Atlan­
tic war, 89; pledge of, "again and
again and again : Your sons . . . not
... to be sent into any foreign wars,"
58-59, 86, 284; pledges of, not to
wage foreign war, 85; policy of, toward
Japan, as seen by Capt. Oliver Lyttelton
of Britain, 116; policy of, which took
United States into war, 309; power of,
in diplomatic negotiations, 322; power
of, to issue military and naval orders,
321; power of, to reorganize War and
Navy Departments, 322; pretense of,
of surprise at Pearl Harbor attack, 14­
15, 166-67, 190-91; proposed message
by, to be delivered to Congress in De­
cember, 1941, 296, 403-404, never
used, 326; "quarantine" speech of, on
October 5, 1937, 85; rejection by, of
proposed meeting with Prince Konoye,
140, 142; responsibility of, for basing
fleet at Pearl Harbor, 54, 62, 65; re­
sponsibility of, for evaluation of Japa­
nese code intercepts, 263-64, 397; re­
sponsibility of, for failure to alert Pearl
Harbor defenses for attack, 318-20,
323 ff., 398, see also under Pearl Har­
bor defenses; responsibility of, for Pearl

Harbor disaster, 318-19, 329, report on,
by Joint Congressional Committee, 319­
20; on responsibility of President, 321 ~

secret agreements of, with ABC D
powers, 104-16; secret agreements of,
with British and Dutch, 110, 284, 288,
367; secret diplomacy of, 117-26, 310;
secret warlike acts of, 88; selection by,
of all chiefs of staff and of naval op­
erations, 321, of all commanders in
Hawaiian area, 321; speeches on peace
and schemes for war, 85-88; stage set
by, at time of Pearl Harbor attack,
276-77, 308; and surprise attack, 13,
14, 15; on two-ocean navy, 53; ulti­
matum of, to Japan, on August 17,
1941, 122-23, 125, 187, 192, 290,
294-95, 371; ultimatum of, to Japan,
on November 26, 1941, see under Hull,
Secretary of State; visit to, by King and
Queen of England, 85. See also Presi- .
dent of United States.

Roosevel t administration: desire of, that
Japan commit first overt act, 271, 292­
93, 328, 387, 388

Roosevelt-Konoye meeting: proposals for,
138-43; urging of, by Grew, 175; urg­
ing of, by Sir Robert Craigie, 174-75;
urging of, by Tokyo, 174

Russia: American support of, against Ger­
many, 87; expansion program of, 353­
54; and the tripartite alliance, 6, 7;
faults of, 5; neutrality of, to be respect­
ed by Japan, 193; "nonaggression"
treaty with Germany, 6

Sabotage at Pearl Harbor, see under War
warnings

Sadder, Colonel Otis K.: aggressiveness
of, in handling of vital information,
170; advancement of, failure to win,
271; testimony of, on "winds" message,
215-16

Safford, Commander Laurance F.: Navy
award to, of Legion of Merit, 214-15;
testimony of, on "winds" message, 199,
202-11, 218-19

Sanctions, see Economic sanctions
Shapiro, L. S. B., on Russian program

for expansion, 353-54
"Ships in harbor" reports to Tokyo, by

consul general in Honolulu, 248-52,
265

Short, General Wal ter C.: allowances to,
for improving Pearl Harbor defenses,
70; comments of, on "do-don't" mes­
sage from Stimson, November 27, 1941,
229; condemnation of, by Roosevelt,
42; court-martial of, threat of, 46, 48,
311, 313-14, 317 ; exoneration of, by
judge advocate general, 315; fastening



INDEX

on, of blame for Pearl Harbor disaster,
by high officers in War Department,
316; message from, to Washington, on
Hawaiian alert against sabotage, 230,
233, 388, 397; message to, concerning
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